
 
Location: 
 
REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
1105 Terminal Way, 1st Floor Great Room, Reno, NV 
Date/Time: 10:00 A.M., Friday, August 16, 2024 
 
 
 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF WASHOE COUNTY 

BOARD MEETING AGENDA 
 

I. The Regional Transportation Commission Great Room is accessible to individuals with disabilities. Requests for 
auxiliary aids to assist individuals with disabilities should be made with as much advance notice as possible. For 
those requiring hearing or speech assistance, contact Relay Nevada at 1-800-326-6868 (TTY, VCO or HCO). 
Requests for supporting documents and all other requests should be directed to Michelle Kraus at 775-348-0400 
and you will receive a response within five business days. Supporting documents may also be found on the RTC 
website: www.rtcwashoe.com.  

II. This meeting will be televised live and replayed on RTC’s YouTube channel at: bit/ly/RTCWashoeYouTube 
III. Members of the public in attendance at the meeting may provide public comment (limited to three minutes) after 

filling out a request to speak form at the meeting. Members of the public that would like to provide presentation aids 
must bring eight (8) hard copies to be distributed to the Board members at the meeting.  Alternatively, presentation 
aids may be emailed, in PDF format only, to mkraus@rtcwashoe.com prior to 4:00 p.m. on the day preceding the 
meeting to be distributed to the Board members in advance of the meeting.  Members of the public may also provide 
public comment by one of the following methods: (1) emailing comments to: rtcpubliccomments@rtcwashoe.com; 
or (2) leaving a voicemail (limited to three minutes) at (775) 335-0018. Comments received prior to 4:00 p.m. on the 
day preceding the meeting will be entered into the record. 

IV. The Commission may combine two or more agenda items for consideration and/or may remove an item from the 
agenda or delay discussion relating to an item on the agenda at any time. 

V. The supporting materials for the meeting will be available at https://rtcwashoe.com/news/board-meeting-notes/. In 
addition, a member of the public may request supporting materials electronically from Michelle Kraus at the 
following email address: mkraus@rtcwashoe.com. 

 
 
 

1. Call to Order:  
1.1. Roll Call 
1.2. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
2. Public Comment:  Public comment taken under this item may pertain to matters both on and 

off the agenda. The Chair may take public comment on a particular item on the agenda at the 
time it is discussed. Comments are to be made to the Board as a whole and not to individual 
commissioners. 

 
3. Approval of Agenda (For Possible Action) 

 
4. Consent Items (For Possible Action):  

4.1. Minutes 
4.1.1 Approve the meeting minutes for the 07/19/2024 RTC Board meeting. (For 

Possible Action) 
 
 
 
 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCPr-AJ62P9b3ejt74A3UBcg
mailto:mkraus@rtcwashoe.com
mailto:rtcpubliccomments@rtcwashoe.com
https://rtcwashoe.com/news/board-meeting-notes/
mailto:mkraus@rtcwashoe.com


 
 

4.2. Reports 
4.2.1 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Procurement Activity Report. (For Possible 

Action) 
4.2.2 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Planning Activity Report. (For Possible 

Action) 
4.2.3 Acknowledge receipt of the Summary Report for the Technical, Citizens 

Multimodal, and Regional Road Impact Fee Advisory Committees. (For Possible 
Action) 

4.2.4 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Engineering Activity Report. (For Possible 
Action) 

4.2.5 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Public Transportation and Operations Report 
for August 2024. (For Possible Action) 

4.2.6 Acknowledge receipt of monthly Community and Media Outreach Activities 
Report. (For Possible Action) 

 
4.3. Planning Department 

4.3.1 Approve the South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development (TOD) Plan. 
(For Possible Action) 

 
4.4. Engineering Department 

4.4.1 Approve a contract with Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc., to provide engineering 
services on the ITS Program Support Project through August 31, 2025, in an 
amount not-to-exceed $430,000. (For Possible Action) 

4.4.2 Approve a contract with Lumos and Associates, Inc., for engineering services 
associated with updating the Standard Specifications for Public Works 
Construction (SSPWC), also known as the Orange Book, in an amount not-to-
exceed $283,200. (For Possible Action) 

4.4.3 Approve a contract with Headway Transportation, LLC for design and optional 
engineering during construction services (EDC) for the Sparks Boulevard / Ion 
Drive Traffic Signal Project, and to perform various traffic studies, in an amount 
not-to-exceed $449,300. (For Possible Action) 

4.4.4 Approve an administrative settlement of up to $440,680 authorizing RTC to 
acquire a fee simple interest in the entirety of APN: 013-082-15 from Robert F. 
and Evelyn J. Gunn Living Trust for the Mill Street Capacity and Safety Project. 
(For Possible Action) 

 
4.5. Public transportation/Operations Department 

4.5.1 Approve a contract with Carahsoft Technology Corporation to provide a 
subscription to Swiftly’s transit data platform to share real-time passenger 
information, manage day-to-day operations and improve service performance for 
public transportation utilizing the State of Nevada Cloud Services procurement 
contract No. 99SWC-NV24-17504, in an amount not-to-exceed $472,526.60. 
(For Possible Action) 

4.5.2 Approve a contract with New Flyer to purchase ten (10) hybrid diesel-electric 
buses utilizing the State of Washington’s Cooperative Purchasing Agreement for 
Transit Buses Master Contract No. 06719-0110, in an amount not-to-exceed 
$10,492,211.40. (For Possible Action) 

4.5.3 Acknowledge receipt of this quarterly Construction/Maintenance update on 
Transit Stops as presented to the Citizens Multimodal Advisory Committee on 
August 7, 2024. (For Possible Action) 

 
 
 



 
4.6. Executive, Administrative and Finance Department 

4.6.1 Approve a Memorandum of Understanding between the Regional Transportation 
Commission (RTC) and Washoe County to formalize the terms and conditions 
upon which RTC will purchase employee health insurance coverage from 
Washoe County. (For Possible Action) 

4.6.2 Acknowledge receipt of the Asset Donation Log for the fourth quarter of calendar 
year 2023 through the second quarter of calendar year 2024. (For Possible 
Action) 

4.6.3 Acknowledge receipt of a report regarding quarterly progress on the RTC 
Agency Goals and Strategic Roadmap - FY 2024 (Q4). (For Possible Action) 

 
5. Public Hearing:  

5.1. Conduct a public hearing and adopt a resolution approving a purchase and sale 
agreement for the sale of property (APN 004-082-18; APN 004-061-29; APN 004-061-
20; APN 004-061-26; APN 004-061-22; and APN 035-033-02) to the City of Reno. (For 
Possible Action) 

a. Staff Presentation 
b. Public Hearing 
c. Action 

 
6. Discussion Items and Presentations:  

6.1. Receive a presentation from staff regarding the draft Regional Freight Plan. (For Possible 
Action) 

6.2. Receive a presentation from staff regarding the 2050 Regional Transportation Plan 
(RTP) update. (For Possible Action) 

6.3. Receive a presentation from staff regarding the draft Active Transportation Plan. (For 
Possible Action) 

 
7. Reports (Information Only):  

7.1. Monthly verbal update/messages from RTC Executive Director Bill Thomas - no action 
will be taken. 

7.2. Monthly verbal update/messages from Paul Nelson, RTC Government Affairs Officer on 
federal matters related to the RTC - no action will be taken. 

7.3. Monthly verbal update/messages from NDOT Director Tracy Larkin Thomason or 
designated NDOT Deputy Director - no action will be taken. 

 
8. Commissioner Announcements and Updates:  Announcements and updates to include 

requests for information or topics for future agendas. No deliberation or action will take place on 
this item. 

 
9. Public Comment:  Public comment taken under this item may pertain to matters both on and 

off the agenda. The Chair may take public comment on a particular item on the agenda at the 
time it is discussed. Comments are to be made to the Board as a whole and not to individual 
commissioners. 

 
10. Adjournment (For Possible Action) 

 
Posting locations: RTC, 1105 Terminal Way, Reno, NV, RTC website: www.rtcwashoe.com, State website: https://notice.nv.gov/ 
 

https://notice.nv.gov/


  

 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.1.1

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Michelle Kraus, Clerk of the Board

  SUBJECT: Draft Meeting Minutes for 07/19/2024 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve the meeting minutes for the 07/19/2024 RTC Board meeting. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

See attached for Background and Discussion 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this item. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



     

 
 

 
    

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

 
  

  
 
 
 

   
 

 
 

   
 

  
  

 
   

 
  

   
 

 
 

  
    

  
    

     
   

   
    

  
  

   
    

   

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
WASHOE COUNTY, NEVADA 

FRIDAY 10:00 A.M. July 19, 2024 

PRESENT: 
Ed Lawson, Mayor of Sparks 

Alexis Hill, Vice Chair, Washoe County Commissioner 
Mariluz Garcia, Washoe County Commissioner 

Devon Reese, Reno City Council 
Bill Thomas, RTC Executive Director 

Adam Spear, Legal Counsel 
Sajid Sulahria, Deputy Director of NDOT 

ABSENT: 
Hillary Schieve, Mayor of Reno 

Tracy Larkin Thomason, NDOT Director 

1stThe regular monthly meeting, held in the Floor Great Room at Regional Transportation 
Commission of Washoe County, Reno, Nevada, was called to order by Vice Chair Hill. The Board 
conducted the following business: 

Item 1 CALL TO ORDER 

1.1 Roll Call 
1.2 Pledge of Allegiance 

Item 2 PUBLIC INPUT 

Chair Lawson opened the meeting to public input and called on anyone wishing to speak on topics 
relevant to the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) that are not included in the current agenda. 

Don Swain, Keolis Manager spoke about team member Scott West. 

Scott West is our one of our utility employees, and he came to us in December of 2023. Like all 
employees who might be operating a vehicle, he took the driver training program which includes 
awareness for human trafficking. Scott was at one of the bus stops at Fourth and Sutro working on 
keeping things squared away, and a gentleman and a young lady came up and were having an 
argument right near him where he could hear it. At one point the lady said, “this is human trafficking”. 
So, that really got Scott in gear to pay attention to what was happening. He kept an eye on the people 
and didn't take any action, which is part of the training. He stayed in the area while they were there and 
saw them come up behind the shelter, and then the lady came out with a wound to her forehead. They 
moved away from the bus stop, and a police car came by and Scott flagged them down. He got the 
Reno PD to take action and get these two people separated to overcome the problem. We don't know 
the details of what happened after that, but we do know that Scott got a couple of letters from local 
agencies that support Women in Crisis thanking him for the action that he took. This was a pretty 
remarkable thing to do out there on the road. Scott was really there to make sure that the stops are 
comfortable for our riders, but he took the extra step to make sure that that the people around him were 

July 19, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 1 



     

     
 

 
   

 
    

  
 

   
 

  
     

  
 

  
   

 
   
  

  
 

  
 

    
 

  
 

 
   

  
 
 

  
  

 
  

  
   

  
  

 
   

 
  

  
 

 
   

 

safe. It's a great thing, and we've been congratulating Scott since it happened on May 23rd. Thank you 
Scott! 

Item 3 APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

On motion of Commissioner Reese to approve agenda, seconded by Vice Chair Hill, which motion 
unanimously carried, Chair Lawson ordered that the agenda for this meeting be approved. 

Items 4 CONSENT ITEMS 

4.1 Minutes 
4.1.1 Approve the meeting minutes for the 06/21/2024 RTC Board meeting. 

(For Possible Action) 

4.2. Reports 
4.2.1 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Procurement Activity Report. (For Possible 

Action) 
4.2.2 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Planning Activity Report. (For Possible Action) 
4.2.3 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly summary report for the Technical, Citizens 

Multimodal, and Regional Road Impact Fee Advisory Committees. (For Possible 
Action) 

4.2.4 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Engineering Activity Report. (For Possible 
Action) 

4.2.5 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Public Transportation and Operations Activity 
Report. (For Possible Action) 

4.2.6 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Outreach Report from the Communications staff. 
(For Possible Action) 

4.3 Engineering Department 
4.3.1 Authorize staff to pursue efforts to deliver the Sierra Street Bridge Replacement Project 

using the Construction Manager at Risk (CMAR) project delivery method, on a parallel 
path with planned and ongoing efforts to use the Design-Bid-Build project delivery 
method. (For Possible Action) 

4.3.2 Approve an Interlocal Cooperative Agreement with the University of Nevada, Reno for 
research and engineering support activities from the Pavement Engineering and Science 
(PES) program in the amount of $250,000. (For Possible Action) 

4.3.3 Approve an administrative settlement in the amount of $92,118 authorizing RTC to 
acquire certain property interests related to APN: 013-084-01 from Jentz Family Trust 
for the Mill Street Capacity and Safety Project. (For Possible Action) 

4.3.4 Adopt a resolution declaring an intention to sell property (APN 004-082-18; APN 004-
061-29; APN 004-061-20; APN 004-061-26; APN 004-061-22; and APN 035-033-02) 
to the City of Reno. (For Possible Action) 

4.4 Public Transportation/Operations Department 
4.4.1 Approve Amendment #1 to the contract with Spare Labs, Inc., (Order Form #SL-5055) 

for the Spare Platform software and services that RTC uses to manage its FlexRIDE 
service, to integrate additional modules (Spare Engage, Spare Dispatch, and 
Optimization Pro) and extend the contract term through July 31, 2027. (For Possible 
Action) 

July 19, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 2 



     

    
   

 
 

  
  

 
 

   
 

   
 

  
  
  
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
   

 
            

 
 

 
     

           
  

   
   

 
 

 
  

 
   

     
 

 
   

 
  

 
 

  
 

4.4.2 Approve a contract with Token Transit, Inc., to upgrade the mobile fare collection 
hardware and software across all services, in an amount not-to-exceed $429,500. (For 
Possible Action) 

On motion of Vice Chair Hill to accept the consent items, seconded by Commissioner Reese, which 
motion unanimously carried, Chair Lawson ordered that the consent items for this meeting be 
approved. 

Item 5 PUBLIC HEARING 

5.1 Conduct a public hearing regarding approval of Amendment No. 3 to the 2050 Regional 
Transportation Plan (RTP); adopt a resolution approving Amendment No. 3 to the 2050 
Regional Transportation Plan (RTP). (For Possible Action) 

a. Staff Presentation 
b. Public Hearing 
c. Action 

Xuan Wang, RTC Planning Manager presented Amendment No. 3 on the 2050 RTP.  The RTP is a 
long range plan, which was adopted in March of 2021.  We had two amendments completed in January 
2023 and January 2024. We are now working on a full update aiming for adoption in March 2025. 

Amendments are needed when we add new projects or change schedules for some projects in the 
RTP. This amendment is for the I-80 East, Vista Boulevard to USA Parkway widening. There was 
a public hearing last month and that was for the environmental and design phase of this project. 
This hearing is for the construction portion of the project. We modeled this project originally for 
the 2015 model year, and now because of the schedule change, we're going to move it to the 2040 
model year based on industry request. 

An air quality conformity analysis was conducted according to the requirements, and the project is 
found to be in conformance with the requirements. The Interagency Air Quality Consultation 
Group met on June 18th and approved the Air Quality Analysis. We had a public comment period 
which started on Wednesday, June 26th and ended on Tuesday, July 16th. We presented this 
amendment to the CMAC and the TAC and this public hearing today. I'm happy to answer any 
questions and we also have NDOT project manager, Chris Kuhn, on the line for additional 
questions. Thank you. 

There were no comments by the Commissioners, so Chair Lawson opened the public hearing up to 
anyone wishing to make public comment on this item. 

Being no public comment, on motion of Vice Chair Hill to accept the report, seconded by 
Commissioner Reese, which motion unanimously carried, Chair Lawson ordered that Item 5.1 is 
approved. 

Item 6 DICUSSION ITEMS AND PRESENTATIONS 

6.1 Discuss and provide potential direction to staff regarding any legislative measures to be 
considered by the 83rd Session of the Nevada Legislature (2025). (Discussion Only) 

Mr. Michael Hillerby of Kaempfer Crowell, who represents the RTC for legislative matters, gave a 
brief discussion on the legislative session. 

July 19, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 3 



     

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

  

 
 

   
   

 
 

     
  

 
 

   
      

  
 

  
  

 
    

       
   

             
   

 
    

   
      

  
 

      
    
  

 
    

     
 

  
   

6.2 Approve a Construction Manager-at-Risk (CMAR) contract with Granite Construction 
Company for the construction of the Arlington Avenue Bridges Project for a Guaranteed 
Maximum Price of $32,340,102. (For Possible Action) 

Brian Byrne, RTC Project Manager, gave an update and presentation on Arlington Avenue Bridges 
project. 

This project is to address the structurally deficient bridges on Arlington over the Truckee River. 
This is also to preserve the hydraulic capacity of the Truckee River, provide safe and ADA 
compliant multimodal improvements, and of course, align with the adopted regional and 
community plans. 

We have two bridges over the Truckee River on Arlington. The North Bridge is currently a two 
pier system with two piers in the water, we've changed that to be a single pier. In doing so, we 
have redesigned the kayak park to accommodate these features. We've made some pedestrian 
improvements under the under the North bridge with the pedestrian walkway and made that ADA 
accessible. The South Bridge is a clear span bridge. We will be matching that in kind with the clear 
span bridge. The esthetic features were voted on by the public and they selected the railing type, 
lighting and the pylons. 

On our construction budget, we received congressionally directed spending of $2 million. We were 
successful in getting a Raise Grant of $7 million and our STB budget of $5.9 million. This totals 
federal funding of $14.9 million, with the total project budget of 32.7 million. 

We finalized our design in May of 2024. We have completed our NEPA process and that received 
a categorical exclusion. This project aligns with the federal requirements regarding Build America 
and Buy America through all of our specifications and federal requirements. Currently, our 
easements and our agreements for utilities and rights of entry are being finalized and reviewed 
with the Nevada Division of State Lands. Those are expected to wrap up by the end of the year. 
Our section 408 404 and 401 permits are currently being reviewed with the Army Corps of 
Engineers and NDP. Those are on track to be finalized by the end of the year, prior to next spring 
for construction. With that, I will hand it over to Amanda Callegari. 

Amanda Callegari, RTC Engineering Manager. Our CMAR process kicked off in November of 
2023, after procuring Granite Construction as our construction manager. Involvement of the 
construction manager, as well as the Independent Cost Estimator (ICE), in the pre-construction 
phase really provides constructability and a different type of estimating. The CMAR process is a 
cyclical process that includes incorporating design innovations, holding workshops where we can 
identify risks and innovations, and work to mitigate those risks at certain design milestones. At 
certain design milestones, the construction manager, the independent cost estimator and the 
engineer submit Opinion of Probable Construction (OPC) cost estimates, and then the process 
concludes when all three parties reach a fair and reasonable construction price. 

RTC developed ten key goals that we wanted to achieve through this project with the collaboration 
of Granite Construction, ICE and Jacobs Engineering, our designer. 

A few goals that I would like to highlight include completing the construction of both bridges in 
one season from July to October to work within the ordinary high water mark. Secondly, our goal 

July 19, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 4 



     

        

         
 

 
    

   
 

   
   

      
 

  
 

   
   

 
 

  
 

         
   

  
         

           
  

         
  

  
 

          
 

 
 

  
  

 
 

     
 

   
         

   
    

 
 

  

was to limit noise impacts downtown. The third goal was that we didn't want any environmental 
compliance findings through the implementation of the identified mitigation measures and permit 
requirements. Involving our contractor throughout design, we were able to get their input 
incorporated into those permit applications and get our questions answered quicker and fast track 
the acceptance and approval of those permits. So, through integration of these contractor generated 
value and innovations during design, as well as understanding all the project unknowns and having 
a better understanding of risk, we were able to reach all ten of these goals. 

Our construction was anticipated to extend into two full construction seasons, which would have 
impacted Wingfield Park for two full summers. Implementing the CMAR delivery method has 
enabled us to reduce this anticipated schedule to a single in-river working season, with 
construction completion anticipated to be in June of 2026. With that, our recommendation to the 
board today is to approve our CMAR contract with Granite Construction for the construction of the 
Arlington Avenue Bridges project for a GMP of $32 million. 

On motion of Vice Chair Hill to accept the report, seconded by Commissioner Reese, which motion 
unanimously carried, Chair Lawson ordered that Item 6.2 is approved. 

6.3 Acknowledge receipt of a presentation on the South Virginia Street Transit Oriented 
Development (TOD) Plan. (For Possible Action) 

Graham Dollarhide, RTC Planning Manager, gave a presentation and presented the results of the 
draft South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development plan. The concept behind the South 
Virginia Transit Oriented Development, or TOD Plan, was to envision the future extension of the 
Virginia Line Bus Rapid Transit, or BRT route from Meadowood Mall to South Reno, and to 
develop the land use planning tools that will encourage a walkable transit supportive development 
pattern that meets the growth and development needs of the region. Establishing a plan for transit 
expansion and multimodal infrastructure now will hopefully guide development patterns in the 
desired direction for the future. I'd also like to note that the extension of the Virginia Line was part 
of the Unfunded Transit Vision in the 2050 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP). 

Over the past 30 years, South Reno has experienced substantial growth, going from about 1500 
population to about 43,000. While these types of percentage and even numerical gains are not 
expected over the next 30 years, some level of significant growth can still be expected. 

In the near term, the RTC will be incorporating comments from the Board, Advisory Committees 
and the public into the final plan, which is anticipated to be ready for adoption in August. RTC 
staff has presented the draft plan to TAC, CMAC and now the Board and has made the draft 
available for review and comment to all bodies, including the public. 

Vice Chair Hill, I think there are opportunities for RTC, if the Board is willing to do it, to sit down 
with some of these private property owners of vacant properties and see how we can leverage 
federal dollars to see if we can get multifamily and I also saw hotel usage as a recommended usage 
down there. I think we need more non-gaming, nonsmoking properties in town too. I'd love if this 
Board was willing to give staff direction to kind of have those discussions and see how we can be a 
leader in that and see how we can leverage our resources to support what we want to see down 
there, which is more public transit and rapid public transit. 

Chair Lawson, we will be coming back next month for an actual action on this. Thank you. 

July 19, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 5 



     

   
   

 
  
  

  
 

  
        

   
                

  
 

 
   

 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 
   

   
 

   
 

 
 

             
 

 
 

  
 

  
  

  
 

 
 
 

      
 

 

6.4 Acknowledge receipt of the RTC Strategic Roadmap for FY 2025-2027 and provide input and 
direction regarding next steps. (For Possible Action) 

Bill Thomas, RTC Executive Director, as a reminder for the Board and those who watch RTC and 
are involved in RTC, this is our third year in using the roadmap. Very simply, the roadmap is the 
strategic plan for the organization. It's intended to reflect the board direction that comes out of 
your annual retreat, and we use it here as your staff, as basically the benchmark or the guidepost 
for how we act over the next year. While this document may not be in the deepest detail, it really is 
the document that's most important to us when we talk about the goals in shaping how we as an 
organization operate over the next year. We've been very pleased with Erica and her organization's 
ability to work with you as the Board and us as the staff to facilitate the conversations that lead to 
what we believe is a very effective and powerful tool to reflect where we're going as an 
organization. 

Eric Olson, OnStrategy Consultant gave a presentation and summary on the Strategic Goals for the 
next three years, which included: 

• Expanding Public Transportation Utilization 
• Promoting Neighborhood Mobility 
• Exploring Truckee River as a Mobility Corridor 
• Proactively Managing Construction 
• Improving Network Safety 
• Sustainable Maintenance of our Roads 
• Being an Engaged Organization. 

On motion of Vice Chair Hill to accept the report, seconded by Commissioner Reese, which motion 
unanimously carried, Chair Lawson ordered that Item 6.4 is approved. 

6.5 Approve the RTC Goals for Fiscal Year (FY) 2025 (July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2025). (For 
Possible Action) 

Bill Thomas, RTC Executive Director, in your packet and clearly in the public record for those 
who want to go into detail, are our ambitious, yet very committed 32 goals for next year. I would 
encourage people to go and look at each and every one of those goals. I don't have a presentation, 
but I wanted to touch on a few and give you some highlights and particularly on the ones that I 
know are of interest to you. 

We're going to be beginning the design of the Keystone Avenue Bridge. We're going to start 
construction on Arlington Avenue Bridge, Sparks Boulevard widening and the Mill Street 
widening, which are pretty significant projects in our community that will start next year. They'll 
obviously be impactful, but they'll make a real difference in the community's ability to move 
around. We will finish construction on Steamboat Parkway, Somerset Parkway and South Virginia 
I-580 to Longley. 

We'll begin the BLM application process for both the Tri Center to La Posada and the Pyramid 
Way to Lemmon Drive roadways. That'll put us in a better place for those two roads that will be 
important to our future. We will continue to make Sun Valley Boulevard our highest priority for 
federal funding. 

July 19, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 6 



     

  

 
 

 
 

  
  

 
 

     
      

    
  

 
    

  
       

 
 

          
    

  
         

 
 

 
   

       
   

  
 

            
  

  
 

   
     

 
    

 
  

  
 

  
  

 
  

    

We're working very closely this year with our Lake Tahoe Transportation partners to define our 
transit role and level of support, as well as studying things such as Park and Ride opportunities to 
address transportation to and from Lake Tahoe, particularly the Washoe County area of Lake 
Tahoe. 

We are looking at the Truckee River Corridor and how it can function as part of the transportation 
network. We'll be bringing the Active Transportation Plan to the Board for adoption, which will 
then be quickly followed up with two neighborhood plans where we can start implementing our 
strategy. 

We have a lot of stuff on our plate and the staff is eager to get our teeth into some of these and I’m 
very proud of the work that the staff does and their ability to perform. Like I said, 32 is a lot of 
goals. I push a lot as your Executive Director, and they respond very well and I'm very proud of 
our staff for keeping up with the pace. I'm asking today for the Board's approval of these goals. 

Vice Chair Hill, this is so ambitious and exciting, so great work by the team. I have just a couple 
comments. At Washoe County and Reno, and my understanding is Sparks as well, we all have tree 
programs now through Urban Canopy Programs and giving trees to residents. I'm wondering if on 
our neighborhood plan, and we may already be doing this, but can we go to our lower income 
neighborhoods to get trees to those neighborhoods while we're doing that Planning. There's 
definitely a deficit in some of these neighborhoods. Also, on the Kids Ride for Free Program, 
which I'm so excited about that we started this summer, can we analyze and see if we want to do 
that moving forward as well, and not just do the pilot? Those are my only two comments and I'm 
just thrilled that Sun Valley and Lake Tahoe and all the other programs are on this list. So great 
work. 

Commissioner Garcia, I'm very supportive of what Commissioner Hill just said, and I really 
appreciate that perspective. Thank you, Bill, so much for prioritizing and going after those grants 
to fund and support those Sun Valley Boulevard projects. There are so many significant needs out 
there for the community and I know that they'll be pleased to hear that you're fighting for them. So, 
I appreciate that. 

Chair Lawson, my only comment is I'd like to see a quarterly progress report towards the goals so 
that we can see how we're doing. On the trees, we are actually giving away 300 trees in Sparks this 
year. Pretty sweet. 

On motion of Vice Chair Hill to approve, with the suggested changes, seconded by Commissioner 
Reese, which motion unanimously carried, Chair Lawson ordered that Item 6.5 is approved. 

Item 7 REPORTS (Informational Only) 

7.1 RTC Executive Director Report 
1. I’m very happy to announce that Congressman Mark Amodei included one million dollars for the 

RTC in the Fiscal Year 25 THUD Appropriations Bill. 
• We’ll receive this Community Project Funding if Congress approves it as part of the 

budget. The funding will go towards construction of the Eagle Canyon Safety and 
Operations Project. The project will extend a shared use path, improve lighting, signage and 
striping, and could include safety enhancements at five pedestrian crosswalks. 

2. July 26th will mark the 34th anniversary of the signing of the Americans with Disabilities Act. 

July 19, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 7 



     

  

 
  

  
     

  
  

  
    

    

   
  

  
  

  
  

 
  

  
     

  
 

 
 

  
 

  
   

 
 

   
    

  
 

 
  

  
  

 
 

 
 

    
    

 

• To observe this historic law, the RTC will offer free public transit on that day. The ADA 
became law in 1990. It prohibits discrimination against people with disabilities in many 
areas of public life, including transportation. We are proud to do our part to improve 
transportation accessibility and safety in all of our road projects and public transit. 

3. We will also provide free public transit during Hot August Nights on four of our fixed routes. 
• Those include the Virginia and Lincoln Lines – and Routes 1 and 11 from August 6th 

through the 11th. These routes run up and down Virginia Street – and Fourth and Prater. 
ACCESS will also be free at Centennial Plaza and the 4th Street Station. With so many cars 
heading to the hotel properties, this is a great way for visitors and locals to get around town 
for the events. 

4. I am thrilled to welcome three new employees to the RTC. 
• Vanessa Lacer started on Monday as our new Director of Planning. She comes to us from 

Wilmington, North Carolina where she has worked in both Metropolitan Planning 
Organizations, as well as cities and towns in transportation and long-range planning. Most 
recently, she has been a Senior Transportation Planner for the Wilmington Urban Area 
MPO.  She also has transit system experience as the Mobility Manager for the Cape Fear 
Transit Authority, known as Wave Transit. 

5. Please welcome Jamie Borino to the team. 
• Jamie also started Monday as RTC’s next Safety and Security Administrator. He has 

extensive safety and risk management experience. He will be working with Rob Reeder 
over the next several weeks to develop relationships with our contractors and learn about 
RTC’s policies and requirements. As you know, Rob is retiring in September. Thank you, 
Rob, for your help in the transition of this very important role. 

6. Finally, James Okorocha rejoined the Planning Department for a summer internship on July 1st. 
• This is his second time interning with us, so some of you may remember him from last 

summer. James is currently pursuing a Ph.D. in Geography at the University of Nevada, 
Reno, and has a keen interest in GIS and Transportation Planning and Modeling. Welcome 
back, James! 

7. Congratulations to Dale Keller on his anniversary at RTC. 
• Dale passed the five-year mark July 8th. He is doing an incredible job as our Deputy 

Executive Director and Director of Engineering. 
8. And a big congratulations to Jennifer Meyers for 20 years at RTC July 12th. 

• Jennifer is our D.B.E Liaison Officer. Thank you for all of your hard work over the last two 
decades. Congratulations to both of you and keep up the great work. 

9. Please join us in congratulating Cathy Gardner as the MTM Employee of the Month for June. 
• Cathy has been part of the team since January 2018. Before that, she was a RIDE driver for 

many years. She enjoys helping the more vulnerable members of our community, getting to 
know the customers, and providing a safe service. Cathy has a great sense of humor and is 
likely to be found joking with her coworkers at the end of her day. She spends her free time 
with her Granddaughter and enjoys going to rock concerts. 

10. Donald Clay is the Keolis Driver of the Month. 
• Don’s accomplishments in June consist of a 96 percent on-time performance, zero 

preventable accidents, and no customer complaints. He is originally from Philadelphia and 
moved to Reno in the 90s. He has worked as a bus operator for Ride since August of 2022. 
Don enjoys engaging with his passengers and making his coworkers laugh. He is a huge 
sports fan and loves to root for the Philadelphia Eagles. 

11. The Keolis Driver of the Month receives a 250-dollar gift card and a parking spot. 
12. The Technician and Utility Worker of the Month both receive a 250-dollar gift card, as well. 

July 19, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 8 



     

  
 

 
 

  
 

 
             

  
 

          

 
  

           
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

     
 

  
  
    
  
  

 
     

 
   
  

 
 

   
 

  
  

 
     

             
   

 
    

   
   

7.2 RTC Federal Report 

Paul Nelson, RTC Government Affairs Officer. Last week we submitted our application for the 
Smart Grant and we're applying for $1.1 million. This will go towards the Plumb Lane corridor, 
where we're going to be looking at the feasibility of using AI for some pedestrian detection 
systems. This is our second time applying for this, and we're hoping for a successful application 
this time around. 

The House of Representatives is still working to pass its 12 appropriations bills before the August 
recess. That plan is in doubt because it failed to pass the legislative branch appropriations bill last 
week. It also has one less week to work on that because of the Republican National Convention 
that's happening this week. The Senate started its appropriations process a little bit later than the 
House did, and the schedule still isn't clear. We do expect the Senate and the House bills to look 
quite a bit different. So, we'll be expecting a continuing resolution into the next fiscal year, just 
like we saw in the last couple of years. The House funding bill does include cuts to the SIG 
program and the transit earmark pool. It is providing enough SIG funding to cover all the existing 
full funding grant agreements. Though the FTA recently released the Enhancing Mobility 
Innovation with almost $2 billion available. These grants are meant to improve customer 
convenience, and they can be used for concept development and demonstration projects, or for 
software solutions projects, and that concludes my report. 

7.3 NDOT Director Report 

NDOT Deputy Director Sajid Sulahria gave a presentation and gave a summary on the following 
topics: 

• U.S. 395 Northbound Dandini Ramp Closure 
• University Way Resurfacing/Reconfiguration 
• North McCarran Resurfacing – North Virginia to Clear Acre 
• Pyramid Highway Shared Use Path 
• Union Pacific “Big Boy” Whistle Stop Visit 

Item 8 COMMISSIONER ANNOUNCEMENTS AND UPDATES 

Vice Chair Hill asked if RTC is interested in EV Chargers at the administrative building.  If so, I can 
put you in touch with NV Energy because that is a Grant we can apply for and support staff and 
visitors who are driving EV’s . 

Item 9 PUBLIC INPUT 

Chair Lawson opened the meeting to public input and called on anyone wishing to speak on topics 
relevant to the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) that are not included in the current agenda. 

Dora Martinez, I really enjoyed the first public comment from your staff on Scott West. I just want 
to say thank you so much to James Gee for hearing us and making sure that the ADA anniversary 
on July 26th is free for all. We appreciate that move and thank you to Bill and all of the 
Commissioners for agreeing to do that. As constituents we like to be as everybody's email says, 
building a better community through quality transportation, and I really do appreciate that 
statement. We want to thank Susi Trinidad for everything she does. I went to Florida and 
Paratransit here is so much better than some of the counties out there. So, kudos to RTC folks, 

July 19, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 9 



     

                
 

        

    
 

   
          

 
 

    
   

   
 

   
  

 
 

  
 

    
 

 
 

 
 

  

______________________________ 

RTC Access and the bus drivers. I want to put in a plug that Access drivers because they do a lot. 
They help us do the door and make sure that we don't fall on the steps when we get on the bus, and 
the dog doesn't get his toes run over by wheelchairs. So hopefully Mr. Gee and whoever's running 
that show will give them an increase. I want to thank Mr. Khalil Wilson from City of Reno and 
Ms. Kapuler, who was here in RTC, and she moved to NDOT. We have been requesting the 
crosswalk on Mason and Coit Plaza and they are being fixed because this little guy, he is trained to 
go on ramps and he is trained to walk within crosswalk. I hate to be a victim of a person that the 
driver didn't see the crosswalk. So please make sure that they are repainted. Thank you so much 
for all that you do. 

Juan Martinez, we live up on North McCarran Boulevard in West Seventh Street. There is a bus 
stop there on the corner of North McCarran Boulevard that does not have a bench and there are a 
lot of shopping carts that are scattered around that bus stop that riders use. They flip the carts over 
to sit on. So please, if you can, I'm requesting a bench to be put on there so us blind folks don't run 
into those shopping carts that are tipped over. Also, if you do put the bus bench there to make sure 
it's not overlapping the sidewalk, so we don't hit our kneecaps on those as we're walking by. Thank 
you. 

Item 10 ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to come before the Board, the meeting was adjourned at 11:30 a.m.  

ED LAWSON, Vice Chair 
Regional Transportation Commission 

**Copies of all presentations are available by contacting Michelle Kraus at mkraus@rtcwashoe.com. 

July 19, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 10 

mailto:mkraus@rtcwashoe.com


  

 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.2.1

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Christian Schonlau, Director of Finance/CFO

  SUBJECT: Procurement Activity Report 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Procurement Activity Report. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Procurement Activity Report. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



 

 

ATTACHMENT A 

PROJECTS CURRENTLY ADVERTISED 

Invitations for Bids (IFB) 

Project Due Date 
N/A 

Request for Proposals (RFP) 

Project Due Date 
Tahoe Reno Industrial Center (TRIC) Rail Study August 16, 2024 
Sparks Boulevard Capacity Improvement Project, Phase 2 August 28, 2024 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES/CONSULTING AGREEMENTS 

Per RTC’s Management Policy P-13 Executive Director has authority to approve contracts greater than $25,000 
and less than (or equal to) $100,000. 

Project Contractor Contract Amount 

Legal Services Zev Kaplan $100,000 

Legal Services Taft Stettinius $100,000 

Legal Services Dickinson Wright $100,000 

RTC Properties Landscaping Town and Country Landscaping $26,180 

North Hills Boulevard CA Group Inc. $89,985 

Two Portable Charging Sleds/Skids ChargePoint Inc. $98,028 

Portable Charging Stations ChargePoint Inc. $88,078 

CHANGE ORDERS AND CONTRACT AMENDMENTS WITHIN EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S 
RTC’s P-13 PURCHASING POLICY AUTHORITY 

Project Contractor Approval 
Date 

CO / 
Amend. 
Number 

CO / Amend. 
Amount 

Revised Total 
Contract 
Amount 

4SS & Centennial Plaza 
Display Kiosks Vontas 7/18/2024 Amend. 2 $56,571 $650,846 



  

 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.2.2

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Xuan Wang, PHD, PE, PTP, RSP2, Planning Manager

  SUBJECT: Planning Activity Report 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Planning Activity Report. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

See Attachment A for Background and Discussion. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



 

 
  

 

    

 
    

 
  

 
  

 

I 

I 

I 

I 

1----

PLANNING STUDIES 

Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development (TOD) Planning Study 
Graham Dollarhide, Project 
Manager 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-corridor-plan/south-
virginia-street-transit-oriented-development-tod-study/ 

Status: Final comments incorporated along with final revisions ahead of August adoption. 

Active Transportation Plan 
Marquis Williams, Project 
Manager 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-reports/active-
transportation-plan/ 

Status: Draft to open for public review in July 2024 along with a virtual public presentation to be 
posted on the project webpage. Anticipated adoption is scheduled for September 2024. 

Regional Freight Study 
Marquis Williams, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/planning/regional-planning/regional-

freight-plan/ 
Status: Revised draft document is under review by RTC and local agency partners. The 
corresponding public survey is open until late July 2024, with a scheduled Board date of 
September 2024. 

RTC Regional Travel Characteristics Study 
Xuan Wang, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-reports/survey2023/ 
Status: Data collection has been completed. The consultant team is working on processing the 
data and developing the project report. 

RTC Regional Travel Demand Model Update 
Xuan Wang, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-reports/model2023/ 
Status: A base year model has been built. The project team is working on developing refined 
employment data and calibration targets. 

RTC Regional Transportation Plan Update 
Xuan Wang, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/planning/regional-planning/rtp/ 
Status: An AWG meeting was held to review public outreach results and draft RTP chapters. The 
project team is working on developing the project listing and project evaluation method. 

RTC Intersection Safety Improvement Prioritization 
Xuan Wang, Project Manager N/A 
Status: 20 signalized intersections and 20 unsignalized intersections are identified. Project team is 
reviewing the draft list and report for final report preparation. 

ONGOING PROGRAMS 

Data Collection Program 
Xuan Wang, Project Manager https://dlm.maps.arcgis.com/apps/mapviewer/ 

index.html?webmap=06f3673e1e40454cbabbb57e67b424e2 
Status: Data collection started for scheduled sites. Continue to identify sites for data collection. 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-corridor-plan/south-virginia-street-transit-oriented-development-tod-study/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-corridor-plan/south-virginia-street-transit-oriented-development-tod-study/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-reports/active-transportation-plan/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-reports/active-transportation-plan/
https://rtcwashoe.com/planning/regional-planning/regional-freight-plan/
https://rtcwashoe.com/planning/regional-planning/regional-freight-plan/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-reports/survey2023/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-reports/model2023/
https://rtcwashoe.com/planning/regional-planning/rtp/
https://dlm.maps.arcgis.com/apps/mapviewer/index.html?webmap=06f3673e1e40454cbabbb57e67b424e2
https://dlm.maps.arcgis.com/apps/mapviewer/index.html?webmap=06f3673e1e40454cbabbb57e67b424e2


 

 
 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Planning 
RTC Planning and Engineering 
Staff 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/metropolitan-planning/ 

Status: Ongoing collaboration with partner agencies on several initiatives to improve bicycle and 
pedestrian safety & facilities: 

 Coordinating with Engineering to develop design details on roadway network concepts and 
outreach activities. 

Vision Zero Truckee Meadows 
RTC Planning Staff https://visionzerotruckeemeadows.com/ 

Status: Application for SS4A planning funds to update the Action Plan and High Injury Network 
submitted 5/16/24; application results anticipated August 2024. Next Task Force meeting 
tentatively scheduled for 8/12/24. 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/metropolitan-planning/
https://visionzerotruckeemeadows.com/


  

 

  

 

 
 

    

 
  

     
 

 
 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.2.3

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Xuan Wang, PHD, PE, PTP, RSP2, Planning Manager

  SUBJECT: Advisory Committee Report 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Acknowledge receipt of the Summary Report for the Technical, Citizens Multimodal, and Regional Road 
Impact Fee Advisory Committees. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

The RTC has three advisory committees that provide input on a wide range of policy and planning issues 
as well as key planning documents and the RTC Budget.  The committees include: 

• The Citizens Multimodal Advisory Committee (CMAC), which includes members from the 
community.  The RTC Board approves appointments to this advisory committee.  

• The Technical Advisory Committee (TAC), which includes local public works directors, 
community development directors, and staff from other key agencies. 

• The Regional Road Impact Fee Technical Advisory Committee (RRIF TAC), which was created to 
oversee and advise the local governments regarding land use classification assumptions and the 
Capital Improvements Plan (CIP) used in the impact fee program. The RRIF TAC consists of three 
representatives from each local entity, two RTC representatives, and four private sector members 
who are appointed by the RTC Board. 

The TAC met on 08/01/2024. The committee received a presentation on the RTC Active Transportation 
Plan. Committee members expressed concerns about areas lacking access to active transportation in 
overlooked areas such as Sun Valley. RTC staff discussed ongoing projects with multimodal components, 
including the Sun Valley Boulevard project. The committee received a presentation on the Regional 
Freight Plan. Members discussed the potential impacts of truck idling, especially during cold weather and 
in residential areas, on noise and air quality, and commented on improving intermodal and regional rail 
access, emphasizing preserving rail access in Sparks and the North Valleys. The committee also received 
a presentation on the 2050 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) Update. 



 
 

 

  

Advisory Committee Report 
Page 2 

The CMAC met on 08/07/2024. The committee provided information and advice regarding the 
construction, installation and maintenance of benches, shelters and transit stops for RTC passengers. 
Members voiced concerns about the removal of the 4th and Ralston bus stop due to landscaping changes. 
Members also recommended improvements to bus stops to make them more accessible to people with 
disabilities. The committee received a presentation on the RTC Active Transportation Plan. The group 
discussed ways to improve community outreach and public participation in the Neighborhood Network 
Planning approach. The committee received presentations on the Regional Freight Plan and the 2050 
Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) Update. 

There has not been a RRIF TAC meeting since the Board previously met. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



  

 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.2.4

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Dale Keller, Director of Engineering

  SUBJECT: Engineering Activity Report 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Engineering Activity Report. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

See Attachment A for Background and Discussion. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



   
 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
    

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
   

 
    

 
 
 

 
 

     
  

 
 
 
 
 

1----

1------

ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENTS 

Biggest Little Bike Network 
Sara Going, Project Manager www.downtownrenomicromobility.com 

Status: Preliminary design for the project is underway. The public will have the first opportunity to 
provide input on the 30% design in September 2024. 

Truckee River Shared Use Path 
Scott Gibson, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/truckee-river-

shared-use-path-project/ 

Status: The RTC is continuing to coordinate with the Reno Sparks Indian Colony (RSIC) for the 
maintenance, security, and property rights necessary for the pathway.  There is no update on this 
during last reporting period. 

CAPACITY/CONGESTION RELIEF PROJECTS 

Buck Drive Circulation 
Maria Paz Fernandez, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/buck-drive-

circulation/ 

Status: Kimley Horn is the selected firm for design and construction engineering services. Ongoing 
coordination with City of Reno staff. Sixty percent (60%) design plans expected by the end of October. 
Construction is tentatively scheduled for spring 2025. 

Butch Cassidy Drive Extension 
Kim Diegle, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/butch-cassidy-drive-

extension/ 

Status: Preliminary design is underway. 

Eagle Canyon Safety and Operations 
LaShonn Ford, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/eagle-canyon-safety-and-operations/ 

Status: The project design is 60% complete. Construction is scheduled for summer 2025. 

Geiger Grade Realignment 
Kim Diegle, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/geiger-

grade-road-realignment/ 

Status: RTC has selected J-U-B Engineers, Inc. to perform a feasibility study to further investigate 
preliminary design alternatives, traffic, and environmental impacts. This effort will be kicked off in 
summer 2024. 

http://www.downtownrenomicromobility.com/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/truckee-river-shared-use-path-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/truckee-river-shared-use-path-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/buck-drive-circulation/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/buck-drive-circulation/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/butch-cassidy-drive-extension/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/butch-cassidy-drive-extension/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/eagle-canyon-safety-and-operations/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/geiger-grade-road-realignment/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/geiger-grade-road-realignment/


 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
   

  
    

 
 

   
 

     
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

        
 
 

 
  

 
 

      

 
 

 
 

 
  

   
      

  
 
 

  
  

 
     
   

 
 
 
 

1------

1------

1-----

Kietzke Lane ITS 
Garrett Rodgers, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/kietzke-lane-

its-project/ 

Status: Bids were opened April 25, 2024. Sierra Nevada Construction (SNC) was awarded the 
Contract. Pre-construction coordination is ongoing. Construction activities are anticipated to begin 
August 12, 2024. 

Military Road Capacity & Safety 
Austin McCoy, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/military-road-capacity-safety/ 

Status: Intermediate design is complete. Right of Way Setting is scheduled and Project team is 
advancing towards 90% Design Submittal.     

North McCarran Boulevard & Pyramid Hwy Fiber 
Alex Wolfson, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/n-mccarran-boulevard-pyramid-

highway-fiber/ 

Status: Construction is substantially complete; contractor is working on punch list items. 

North Valleys North Virginia Street Capacity 
Garrett Rodgers, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/north-valleys-

north-virginia-street-capacity/ 

Status: The traffic analysis study and conceptual design is complete. Project team is advancing 30% 
Design Submittal.  

Pembroke Drive Capacity & Safety 
Maria Paz Fernandez, Project 
Manager 

https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/pembroke-drive-capacity-safety/ 

Status: Nichols Consulting Engineers (NCE) was the selected design consultant. Preliminary design 
alternatives were updated to include widening to two (2) lanes in each direction. Sixty percent (60%) 
design plans are expected to be submitted to the City of Reno by the end of October. 

Sparks Intelligent Corridors 
Alex Wolfson, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/sparks-intelligent-corridor/ 

Status: Installation of the new fiber is substantially complete. Testing of software for the notification 
system and dynamic traffic signal control is in progress. 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/kietzke-lane-its-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/kietzke-lane-its-project/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/military-road-capacity-safety/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/n-mccarran-boulevard-pyramid-highway-fiber/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/n-mccarran-boulevard-pyramid-highway-fiber/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/north-valleys-north-virginia-street-capacity/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/north-valleys-north-virginia-street-capacity/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/pembroke-drive-capacity-safety/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/sparks-intelligent-corridor/


 

 
 

 
 

 
 

    
  

 
  

 
 

 
       

    
 

 
 

  
 

     
 

  
 

  
 

   
 

 
 

 
   

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
  

    
 

 
   

  
 

  
   

 

1--

Pyramid Highway Operations Improvements 
Jessica Dover, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/pyramid-highway-

operations-improvements/ 

Status: Preliminary Engineering ongoing; RTC is coordinating with NDOT to develop preferred 
preliminary alignment alternative. 

Pyramid Way, Sparks Boulevard, Highland Ranch Interchange 
Austin McCoy, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/pyramid-way-sparks-boulevard-

highland-ranch-intersection/ 

Status: NDOT LPA Agreement has been executed and a notice to proceed from NDOT has been 
received. Data collection, traffic analysis, and preliminary design is underway with Parametrix. 

South Meadows Traffic Enhancements 
Austin McCoy, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/south-

meadows-traffic-enhancements/ 

Status: Sierra Nevada Construction (SNC) has achieved substantial completion. 

South Virginia Street & I-580 Exit 29 Capacity & Safety 
Maria Paz Fernandez, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/south-virginia-street-and-i-

580-exit-29-capacity-and-safety/ 

Status: Q&D Construction started the construction on June 17; completion is expected by the end of 
October. Construction is ongoing. Traffic has been shifted with the northbound lane closed. 

Sparks Boulevard Project 
Garrett Rodgers, Project Manager SparksBLVDproject.com. 

Status: One hundred percent (100%) Design Submittal received in May 2024. Final Design Submittal 
expected later this summer. Right-of-way acquisition is under way.   

Sparks Boulevard/Ion Drive Traffic Signal Project 
LaShonn Ford, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/sparks-boulevard-ion-drive-traffic-

signal/ 

Status: Headway Transportation, LLC has been selected as the design consultant for this project. The 
Professional Services Agreement (PSA) will appear as an agenda item for the August Board Meeting. 

Steamboat Parkway Improvement 
Garrett Rodgers, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/steamboat-parkway-

improvement-damonte-ranch-pkwy-to-veterans-pkwy/ 

Status: Construction started April 2, 2024. Crews are performing utility relocations and preparing for 
roadway widening operations. 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/pyramid-highway-operations-improvements/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/pyramid-highway-operations-improvements/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/pyramid-way-sparks-boulevard-highland-ranch-intersection/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/pyramid-way-sparks-boulevard-highland-ranch-intersection/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/south-meadows-traffic-enhancements/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/south-meadows-traffic-enhancements/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/south-virginia-street-and-i-580-exit-29-capacity-and-safety/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/south-virginia-street-and-i-580-exit-29-capacity-and-safety/
https://sparks-boulevard-project.constantcontactsites.com/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/sparks-boulevard-ion-drive-traffic-signal/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/sparks-boulevard-ion-drive-traffic-signal/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/steamboat-parkway-improvement-damonte-ranch-pkwy-to-veterans-pkwy/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/steamboat-parkway-improvement-damonte-ranch-pkwy-to-veterans-pkwy/


 

 
 

 
   

 
   

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

   
 

  
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

1-----
Traffic Signal Fiber 25-01 
Austin McCoy, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/traffic-signal-fiber-25-01/ 

Status: Preliminary design is underway. Project team is advancing towards 60% design submittal. 

Traffic Signal Installations 23-01 
Alex Wolfson, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-

installations-23-01/ 

Status: Work is substantially complete at all locations in Reno and Sparks. 

Traffic Signal Modifications 23-01 
Sara Going, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-

modifications-23-01/ 

Status: Summit Line Construction, Inc. began construction on the project in July 2024. Construction 
will continue on the 19 project locations through October. 

Traffic Signal Modifications 24-01 
Sara Going, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-

modifications-24-01/ 

Status: The project design is 60% complete. Next month, the project will advance to 90% design and 
begin right-of-way acquisition. 

Traffic Signal Modifications 25-01 
LaShonn Ford, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/traffic-signal-modifications-25-

01/ 

Status: Preliminary design of the improvements is in progress.  In addition, the consultant is working 
on intersection evaluations at several locations. 

Traffic Signal Timing 7 
Alex Wolfson, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-

timing-7-project/ 

Status: New signal timing plans have been implemented on the following corridors: 
- Golden Valley Rd between Beckwourth Dr and North Virginia St 

Veterans Parkway ITS 
Austin McCoy, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/veterans-

parkway-its/ 

Status: Intermediate design is complete. Project team is advancing towards 90% Design Submittal 

https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/traffic-signal-fiber-25-01/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-installations-23-01/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-installations-23-01/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-modifications-23-01/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-modifications-23-01/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-modifications-24-01/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-modifications-24-01/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/traffic-signal-modifications-25-01/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/traffic-signal-modifications-25-01/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-timing-7-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-timing-7-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/veterans-parkway-its/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/veterans-parkway-its/


 

 
 

  
 

   
 

       
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

   
 

  
  

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

   
   

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 
 
 
 

Veterans Roundabout Modifications 
Jessica Dover, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/veterans-

roundabout-modifications/ 

Status: Preliminary Design (30%) submittal to NDOT, local agencies and Utilities for review Summer 
2024; 60% design submittal Fall 2024. 

Vista Boulevard/Disc Drive Intersection Improvement 

Alex Wolfson, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/vista-boulevard-disc-drive-
intersection-improvements/ 

Status: Final design and right of way acquisition is in progress. 

Vista Boulevard/Prater Way ITS 
Garrett Rodgers, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/vista-

boulevard-prater-way-its/ 

Status: Final design is underway. 

CORRIDOR IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS 

Arlington Avenue Bridges 
Bryan Byrne, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arlington-

avenue-bridges-project/ 

Status: The CMAR Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) was approved on July 19, 2024. The project 
team is finalizing the contract and is tentatively scheduled to begin construction in May of 2025. 

Keystone Bridge Replacement 
Sara Going, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/keystone-

avenue-bridge-replacement/ 

Status: In July, the project team held a public meeting at McKinley Arts and Culture Center to receive 
feedback on the proposed project alternatives. The public meeting materials can be viewed at 
KeystoneBridgeProject.com . 

Lemmon Drive Traffic Improvements and Resiliency 
Bryan Byrne, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/lemmon-drive-traffic-

improvements-and-resiliency/ 

Status: The project is making significant progress in conducting the required NEPA studies. The 
project team is incorporating public feedback and working towards the 60% design submission. 
Additionally, the team is coordinating the next public meeting, scheduled for August 21, 2024. 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/veterans-roundabout-modifications/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/veterans-roundabout-modifications/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/vista-boulevard-disc-drive-intersection-improvements/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/vista-boulevard-disc-drive-intersection-improvements/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/vista-boulevard-prater-way-its/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/vista-boulevard-prater-way-its/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arlington-avenue-bridges-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arlington-avenue-bridges-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/keystone-avenue-bridge-replacement/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/keystone-avenue-bridge-replacement/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/lemmon-drive-traffic-improvements-and-resiliency/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/lemmon-drive-traffic-improvements-and-resiliency/


 

 
 

   
  

 
      

  
 

 
 

  
 

   
  

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
  

  
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 
    

 
 

   
  

 
 

    
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

1---

1---

1---

Mill Street Capacity & Safety (Kietzke Lane to Terminal Way) 
Kimberly Diegle, Project Manager http://millstreetwidening.com 

Status: Final design is underway. The right-of-way acquisition activities and utility coordination is 
ongoing. Construction is anticipated to start in spring 2025 

McCarran Boulevard Safety and Operational Improvements 
Jessica Dover, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/mccarran-boulevard-safety-and-

operational-improvements/ 

Status: Project Prioritization Phase underway; Prioritization Working Group Meeting No. 1 Summer 
2024. Preliminary design anticipated summer 2025. 

Oddie/Wells Multimodal Improvements 
Maria Paz Fernandez, Project Manager http://oddiewellsproject.com/ 

Status: 
Phase 1 (Pyramid Way to Sullivan Lane in Sparks) 
Phase 2 (Sullivan Ln in Sparks to Silverada Blvd in Reno) 
Phase 3 (Silverada Blvd to east of US 395 in Reno) 
Phase 4 (Sutro Street to I-80) 

Project was substantially completed in July. 

Punchlist work items with intermittent lane closures are expected throughout the corridor. 

Sierra Street Bridge Replacement 
Bryan Byrne, Project Manager https://sierrastreetbridge.com/ 

Status: The project team has engaged our Aesthetic Stakeholders Working Group to outline aesthetic 
design features to take to the public for voting. This will be open for voting from August 5th to 
September 27th . 

Sun Valley Boulevard Corridor Improvements – Phase 2 
Jessica Dover, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/sun-valley-

boulevard-corridor-improvements-phase-2/ 

Status: Preferred Alternatives resulting from the Draft Conceptual Drainage Design Report advancing 
to the next level of analysis.  Categorical Exclusion for Geotech ongoing. 

West Fourth Street Downtown 
Scott Gibson, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/west-fourth-

street-downtown/ 

Status: Thirty percent (30%) design plans have been completed and Reno comments are being 
reviewed and addressed. 

http://millstreetwidening.com/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/mccarran-boulevard-safety-and-operational-improvements/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/mccarran-boulevard-safety-and-operational-improvements/
http://oddiewellsproject.com/
https://sierrastreetbridge.com/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/sun-valley-boulevard-corridor-improvements-phase-2/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/sun-valley-boulevard-corridor-improvements-phase-2/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/west-fourth-street-downtown/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/west-fourth-street-downtown/


 

 
 

 
 

 
 

      
    

 
 

 
 

  
   

 
   

 
 

   
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

  
 

 
 

      

 
 

  
 

 
    

 
   

 
 

 
 

 
   

 

 

I 

1-----

1----

West Fourth Street Safety 
Scott Gibson, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/west-fourth-

street-safety/ 

Status: Wood Rodgers has submitted 60% design plans for review. Work on NEPA and coordination 
with NDOT environmental division continues. Coordination with UPRR is ongoing. 

PAVEMENT PRESERVATION PROJECTS 

2024 Preventive Maintenance Program 
Jessica Dover, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/2024-preventive-maintenance-project/ 

Status: Construction ongoing; Substantial Completion anticipated in fall/winter 2024. 

2025 Bridge Maintenance 
Scott Gibson, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/2025-bridge-maintenance/ 

Status: Preliminary design is underway. 

Arrowcreek/Wedge Rehabilitation 
Jessica Dover, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arrowcreek-

parkway-wedge-rehabilitation/ 

Status: Preliminary design (50%) anticipated summer 2024. 

Las Brisas and Los Altos Resurfacing 
Jessica Dover, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/las-brisas-and-

los-altos-resurfacing/ 

Status: Las Brisas Boulevard mill and overlay (Robb Drive to Brittania Drive) and signage throughout 
the corridor has achieved Final Acceptance.  Los Altos Parkway mill and overlay (S. Vista Boulevard 
to Goodwin Road) and utility adjustments throughout the corridor has achieved Final Acceptance.  
Anticipate Substantial Completion of slurry and associated remaining Contract Items at both locations 
Summer 2024. 

Meadowood Rehabilitation 
Garrett Rodgers, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/meadowood-rehab/ 

Status: Preliminary design is underway. 

N Virginia Street University Rehabilitation 
Bryan Byrne, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/north-virginia-

street-university-rehabilitation/ 

Status: The construction bid was awarded to Granite Construction.  Construction is underway and is 
scheduled to be completed in mid-August 2024. 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/west-fourth-street-safety/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/west-fourth-street-safety/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/2024-preventive-maintenance-project/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/2025-bridge-maintenance/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arrowcreek-parkway-wedge-rehabilitation/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arrowcreek-parkway-wedge-rehabilitation/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/las-brisas-and-los-altos-resurfacing/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/las-brisas-and-los-altos-resurfacing/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/meadowood-rehab/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/north-virginia-street-university-rehabilitation/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/north-virginia-street-university-rehabilitation/


 

 
 

 
 

 
 

      
 

 
 

  
   

 
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

   
 

  
 

 

  
 

 
 

 
    

    

    

    

 

 
    

    

1---

I I 

Raleigh Heights Rehabilitation 
Austin McCoy, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/raleigh-

heights-rehabilitation/ 

Status: Construction is tentatively scheduled to start in August and go through November 2024. 

Somersett Parkway Corrective Project 
Scott Gibson, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/2024-corrective-maintenance-

somersett/ 
Status: Construction will begin in August and continue throughout the fall. 

OTHER PROJECTS 

4th Street Station Expansion 
Ian Chamberlain, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/4th-street-

station-expansion/ 

Status: This project is on hold due to issues with property acquisition for proposed improvements. 

Virginia Line BRT Improvements 
Kimberly Diegle, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/virginia-

line-brt-improvements/ 

Status: Sixty percent (60%) design is complete. Coordination with the City of Reno, FTA, and affected 
utility companies continues. NEPA re-evaluation of the original Virginia Street Bus RAPID Transit 
Extension project is anticipated to be completed this summer. 

REPORT ON NEGOTIATED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS FOR THE ACQUISITION OF 
PROPERTY 

Project Property Owner Purchase 
Amount 

Amount 
Over 

Appraisal 
Sparks Boulevard Improvement Kitchen Family Trust $1,000.00 $0 

Sparks Boulevard Improvement Cristina Buick $1,000.00 $0 

CONTRACTS UP TO $100,000 

Project Vendor Scope Amount 
n/a 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/raleigh-heights-rehabilitation/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/raleigh-heights-rehabilitation/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/2024-corrective-maintenance-somersett/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/2024-corrective-maintenance-somersett/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/4th-street-station-expansion/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/4th-street-station-expansion/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/virginia-line-brt-improvements/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/virginia-line-brt-improvements/


61=:sStreetSaver· 

100 

90 82 81 81 80 80 79 Arterial - PCI: 79 \ I 
80 • • • • • 40 60 ' 
70 

60 Collector - PCI: 78 '20 

PCI 79/o" 50 

40 Other - PCI: 77 
30 

-0 6/30/2024 100-
20 

10 Residential/Local - PCI: 80 

0 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Current 0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100 

100 

90 
. AC 

80 \ 
22.8% AC/AC 

' 20\ AC/PCC ~ 70 
0 

PCC 
C'l 60 81% 80% '10 40/ (I,) 83% 83% 86% 82% 
+-" 
ta 50 

(.) 

t: 40 RSL22 ·-
~ 0 30 

20 -o 6/30/2024 50-

10 13% 14% 15% 15% 17% 
12% 

0 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
WASHOE COUNTY RTC 

Powered by: 

PAVEMENT AREA 

3.63 
SQUARE MILES 

CENTERLINE MILES 

445.82 

LANE MILES 

1141.32 

SECTIONS 

1199 

*PEER COMPARISON AS OF: 6/30/2024 

62 
SIMILAR SIZE AGENCY PCI 

%90
YOUR PERCENTILE RANK 

HISTORICAL PAVEMENT CONDITION TRENDS CURRENT PCI BY: FUNCTIONAL CLASS **CURRENT PCI 

1 since 12/31/2023 

PERCENT OF AREA BY: SURFACE TYPE HISTORICAL NETWORK CONDITION TRENDS 

Very Good 
80% 

-2 

Good 
17% 

2 

Poor 
3% 

0 

Very Poor 
0% 

0 

AS OF 12/31/2023 

REMAINING SERVICE LIFE (YEARS) 

No Change since 12/31/2023 

*Based on the closest peers in your geographic location with a comparable number of Sections. **For display purposes only, Current PCI graph shows Condition Category colors based on default PCI Breakpoint values of 70, 50 and 25. Please Note: Historical PCI values are calculated as of 12/31 of the year shown. 



  

 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.2.5

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: James Gee, Director of Public Transportation and Operations

  SUBJECT: Public Transportation and Operations Monthly Report 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Public Transportation and Operations Report for August 2024. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

See Attachment A for background and discussion. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this item. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



  
 

 

   
   

 

 

  
 

 

  

laI!I -
FREE RIDE 

to --~ / ~ r. liiil 

August 4 - 11, 2024 

RAPID Virginia Line, RAPID Lincoln Line, 
Route 1 & Route 11 

View schedule information at rtcwashoe.com. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION  ATTACHMENT A 

Highlights  -

RTC to Provide Free Bus Rides to the Rib Cook Off – RTC will 
provide free transportation on the RAPID Lincoln Line, Route 11, and 
ACCESS transit services from Wednesday, August 28, through 
Monday, September 2, all day, each day to the Best in the West Nugget 
Rib Cook Off, in partnership with The Nugget Casino Resort. 

RTC Provides Free Bus Rides to Hot 
August Nights – RTC provided free transportation on the RAPID 
Virginia Line, RAPID Lincoln Line, Route 1, Route 11, and 
ACCESS transit services Tuesday, August 6, through Sunday, 
August 11, all day, each day in partnership with Hot August Nights. 
The FREE RIDE routes served RTC 4TH STREET STATION and 
RTC CENTENNIAL PLAZA. 

RTC’s RAPID Lincoln Line and Route 11 service runs from 
downtown Reno to downtown Sparks on 4th Street and Prater Way. 
RTC’s RAPID Virginia Line and Route 1 service runs along 

Virginia Street from Meadowood Mall to the University of Nevada, Reno. 

Don’t Drive, Arrive! to special events in our community. There are plenty of alternatives to driving 
your car to events, including taking transit, walking, biking, or using rideshare. Events like these 
help to attract new transit passengers and reduce congestion on our roadways. 

RTC RIDE Key Highlights – July 

 13 trainees released to Operations for revenue service 
 Driver of the Month:  Donald Clay 
 99% service hours and trips 
 Northwest Reno Structure Fire 

Evacuation 
 Driver bid commenced on 7/29 for 

September Service Change 
 Employee Engagement: 

o National Hot Dog Day, July 17 
 1 Grievance filed (June) and 1 withdrawn.  No new ULP filed in June 
 Collective Bargaining Agreement Ratified, Wednesday July 24 



 
 

 

 

 

Keolis represented staffing headcount as of July 29, 2024: 
Position Total 

Employed 
#Needed 

Coach Operator Trainees 13 2+ 
Coach Operators 168 2 
Dispatchers 7 0 
Road Supervisors 4 0 
Mechanic A 6 0 
Mechanic B 4 0 
Mechanic C 4 0 
Facilities Technician 2 0 
EV Technician 1 0 
Utility Worker 13 0 
Electronics Tech 2 0 
Body Technician 1 0 

RTC ACCESS Key Highlights – July 

Classes: Class held July 9, 2024 (4 in revenue service/2 resigned as of July 29) 

Safety: 
 Accidents: 

o  4 - Preventable 
o  0 - Non-Preventable 

 Incidents 
o  0 

 Injuries: 
o 0 

 YTD Preventable Accident Count:    11 
 YTD Injury Count:  2 

 July Safety Blitz 
o Fixed objects and parked cars 

 July Safety Meeting 
o FTA Drug Abuse Awareness video presentation 

MTM represented staffing headcount as of July 29, 2024: 
Position Total Employed #Needed 
Drivers 56FT – 4PT 7-10 FT – 0 PT 
Dispatchers 4 FT 0 
Reservationists 3FT - 2 PT 1 FT 
Mechanic A 3 FT 0 
Maintenance Technician 1 0 
Utility Worker 1 0 



 

 
 

 
  

 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

I~ -~ I II II I~ 11 I~ 111 ~I 111 ~ j 
■ 

TRANSIT DEMAND MANAGEMENT (TDM) Update 

 Vanpools remained at 335. Staff continues to work with a group in Tahoe to increase the 
number of vans to that area of which currently there are 19 vans serving the Lake Tahoe area. 

 Staff meets weekly with RTC’s marketing consultant, Celtis to discuss deliverables for the 
ED Pass program. They have delivered 2 new “ED Pass” tablecloths, and are working on 
posters, updated Smart Trips brochures, and digital and social media ads. 

Ridership numbers from the ED Pass Program through the month of June 2024: 

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun 
FY 2019 4 521 3,669 4,198 3,137 2,178 2,227 3,017 3,200 3,217 2,890 1,993 
FY 2020 2,779 5,218 8,159 9,127 6,808 6,592 7,312 9,084 5,873 1,818 1,877 2,410 
FY2021 2,991 3,723 4,156 4,185 3,502 3,455 3,329 3,409 3,881 4,471 4,333 4,330 
FY2022 4,670 3,581 6,584 0 0 2,447 3,376 4,924 5,936 6,410 5,716 6,033 
FY2023 6,539 7,482 11,046 11,291 8,857 7,399 6,215 7,973 8,138 9,470 7,640 6,833 
FY2024 7,650 8,824 13,841 13,631 11,414 9,231 8,864 11,077 10,309 11,024 8,445 7,516 

0 

2,000 

4,000 

6,000 

8,000 

10,000 

12,000 

14,000 

16,000 

FY 2019 

FY 2020 

FY2021 

FY2022 

FY2023 

FY2024 

UNR Ridership by Month 



  

  

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

18 
16 

14 

12 

10 
8 

6 

4 

2 
0 

Weighted Avg. Daily Ridership 

Jun 202.3 Jun 2024 Jul 2022 - Jul 2023 -
Jun 2023 Jun 2024 

25 

20 

15 

10 

5 

0 

Rides Per Vehicle Revenue Hour 

20.9 21.2 

Jun 2023 Jun 2024 Jul 2022 - Jul 2023 -
Jun 2023 Jun 2024 

100% 

95% 

90% 

85% 

80% 

75% 

On-Time Performance 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

70% -f---~--~--~---
Jun 2023 Jun 2024 Jul 2022 - Jul 2023 -

Jun 2023 Jun 2024 

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun 
FY2019 6 431 3,582 4,798 3,648 2,516 1,767 4,206 4,049 4,491 4,456 3,241 
FY2020 1,933 4,086 8,193 9,311 7,479 5,413 5,945 9,668 6,227 2,193 1,968 2,310 
FY2021 2,414 3,090 3,187 3,535 1,712 2,493 2,402 2,459 2,800 3,225 3,126 3,124 
FY2022 2,208 1,584 3,516 0 0 1,480 1,858 2,875 3,773 3,889 3,585 3,287 
FY2023 2,533 3,913 5,233 5,103 4,231 3,195 3,335 4,690 4,213 4,314 5,051 4,292 
FY2024 4,725 7,045 7,727 8,596 7,244 5,440 6,081 8,520 7,569 8,768 8,510 6,384 

0 

2,000 

4,000 

6,000 

8,000 

10,000 

12,000 

FY2019 

FY2020 

FY2021 

FY2022 

FY2023 

FY2024 

TMCC Ridership by Month 

Ridership remains strong at both campuses. UNR ridership for the year was up 23.2%, and TMCC 
ridership was up 72.9%. Both colleges had all-time highs for the year. The programs are embarking 
on a new campaign and look forward to increasing those numbers even more in the coming year. 

JUNE 2024 TRANSIT PERFORMANCE 

RTC RIDE 



  

  

 

 

320 

310 

300 

290 

280 

270 

260 

Weighted Avg. Daily Ridership 

250 +---~---~--~----, 
June'23 June '24 Jut '22 - Jul '23-

June '23 June '24 

Weighted Avg. Daily Ridership 

350 311 
295 

300 

250 

200 

150 

100 

50 

0 
Jun 2023 Jun 2024 Jul 2022 - Jul 2023 -

Jun 2023 Jun 2024 

Weighted Avg. Daily Ridership 

Jun 2023 Jun 2024 Jul 2022 - Jul 2023 -
Jun 2023 Jun 2024 

Monthly Trips 

70 

60 

so 
40 

30 

20 

10 

Jun 2023 Jun 2024 Jul 2022 - Jul 2023 -
Jun 2023 Jun 2024 

Rides per Vehicle Revenue Hour 

2.0 1 1.8 
1.9 

1.5 \ 

1.0 -(1 
0.5 .y1 
0.0 ~ 

4.0 

3,0 

2.0 

1.0 

0,0 

350 

300 

250 

200 

150 

100 

so 
0 

June '23 June'24 Jij '22 - Jut '23-
June '23 June '24 

Rides per Vehicle Revenue Hour 

3.4 

Jun 2023 Jun 2024 Jul 2022 • Jul 2023 • 
Jun 2023 Jun 2024! 

Rides per Vehicle Revenue Hour 

Jun 2023 Jun 2024 Jul 20 22 - Jul 2023 -

Jun 2023 Jun 2024 

Number of Vans 

320 
334 

Jun 2023 Jun 2024 

100% 

95% 

90% ,, 

On-Time Performance 

:t __ _ 
70% v 

June '23 June'24 Jul '22 - Jul '23 -
June '23 June'24 

Median Wait Time (M inutes) 

20 -I 18.2 

15 r· 
10 -r 

y 
5 

J; 0 
Jun 2023 Joo 2024 Jul 2022 - JtA 2023 -

Jun 2023 Jun 2024 

RTC ACCESS 

RTC FlexRIDE 

TART 

RTC VANPOOL 



  

 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.2.6

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Josh MacEachern, Public Information Officer

  SUBJECT: Community and Media Outreach Activities July 2024 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Acknowledge receipt of monthly Community and Media Outreach Activities Report. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

See attached for Background and Discussion. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



  

  

 

  

 

  

   

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
      

 

    

    

   

     

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

   

  

 

 

  
 

 

 

     

    

   

   

   

   

    

 

    

COMMUNITY AND MEDIA OUTREACH ACTIVITIES 

July 2024 

Outreach Summary (Josh MacEachern, PIO): 

July saw an increase in outreach for the Keystone Bridge Replacement Project, free rides for 

the Fourth of July and free rides in celebration of the 34th anniversary of the Americans with 

Disabilities Act. The Somersett Parkway Rehabilitation and Maintenance Public Meeting 

was a resounding success thanks to the efforts of Councilmember Reese and Project Manager 

Scott Gibson. 

Outreach Activities 

Josh MacEachern, Project Manager 
Status: RTC staff conducted the following outreach activities from July 1 through July 31 

Press Releases 

7.1.24 – Free Rides for Star Spangled Sparks 

7.10.24 – Join RTC for our Second Keystone Bridge Public Meeting 

7.17.24 – Construction Begins on Vista Blvd. 

7.24.24 – Free Rides Celebrate the 34th Anniversary of the Americans with Disabilities Act 

Public Outreach 

7.8.24 – Keystone Bridge Replacement Project Door-to-Door Walk (Sara, Josh, Paul) 

7.11.24 -Keystone Bridge Replacement Public Meeting #2 (Sara, Josh, Paul) 

7.17.24 – Joint Interim Standing Committee on Growth & Infrastructure and Health & 

Human Services on Complete Streets Program and Walking Audits (Paul, Graham, Dale) 

7.17.24 – Sparks Citizens Advisory Committee, Public Transportation, Planning, and 

Engineering Projects in Sparks (Paul, Jeff) 

7.24.24 – Arlington Bridges Groundbreaking Walkthrough (Paul, Josh) 

7.30.24 – Somersett Parkway Rehabilitation and Maintenance Public Meeting (Scott, Josh, 

Paul) 

Media Mentions 

Josh MacEachern, Project Manager 

7.2.24 (KOLO 8) – RTC offering free rides Thursday for the Fourth of July 

7.4.24 (KTVN 2) – Office Closures for Fourth of July Holiday 

7.10.24 (ThisisReno.com) – More public input wanted for new Keystone Bridge Design 

7.11.24 (KTVN 2) - Keystone Avenue Bridge Project 

7.18.24 (KTVN 2) - Vista Boulevard Pavement Maintenance Begins Today 

7.24.24 (News 4) – Washoe County celebrates ADA anniversary with free transit day 

7.24.24 (KTVN 2) – RTC Celebrates 34th Anniversary of The Americans with Disabilities 

Act with Free Shuttle Rides 

7.24.24 (KOLO 8) – RTC offering free rides this Friday 



   

 

 

 

    

  

   

  

  

   
 

Social Media engagement and reach has increased across all platforms. 

Informational Materials and Video Production 

Paul Nelson, Project Manager 

Status: Five (5) topics were broadcast on KOLO-TV for The Road Ahead with RTC. 

• Fourth of July Free Rides 

• Dancing In the Streets 

• Preventative Maintenance 

• UNR Signal Timing 

• Free Transit for Hot August Nights 



  

 

 

 
 

  
 

 
 

   

 

  
   

 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.3.1

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Graham Dollarhide, Planning Manager

  SUBJECT: South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development Plan 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve the South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development (TOD) Plan. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

The RTC, in partnership with the City of Reno, has developed the South Virginia Street Transit Oriented 
Development (TOD) Plan to determine the feasibility of extending the Virginia Line Bus Rapid Transit 
(BRT) service to South Reno and to develop land use planning tools that will encourage a walkable, transit-
supportive development pattern that meets the growth and development needs of the region. 

Public and stakeholder involvement was an important component throughout the development of the plan. 
Public feedback was collected during a set of workshops early in the process and through online surveys 
and a presentation to the City of Reno Neighborhood Advisory Board for Ward 2. Additionally, the RTC 
coordinated with the Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT) as part of its Safety Management Plan 
focused on much of the same South Virginia Street corridor. RTC staff made a presentation on the TOD 
Plan during NDOT’s SMP public meeting, interacted with attendees, and collected feedback. 

The draft plan was then presented to the project technical advisory committee, the RTC CMAC and TAC, 
and the RTC Board, with comments incorporated into the final plan. While these comments led to 
clarifications of some of the information presented in the draft plan, no substantive changes were necessary. 

The final plan includes analyses and other information necessary to develop recommendations that 
ultimately conclude that the Virginia Line BRT should not be extended, without the proper land use to 
support high intensity transit operations. Other recommendations include continued partnership with the 
City of Reno and Truckee Meadows Regional Planning Agency (TMRPA) to monitor and shape growth 
and development patterns in the study area, and further consideration of the mix of transit in the area 
through additional plans and studies such as the Transportation Optimization Plan Strategies or a transit 
alternatives analysis. 



   
    

South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development Plan 
Page 2 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funding for the South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development Plan was included in Amendment 1 
to the FY 2022 – FY 2023 Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP) and carried forward to the current 
UPWP. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

07/19/2024 Acknowledged receipt of a presentation on the South Virginia Street Transit Oriented 
Development (TOD) Plan. 

04/21/2023 Approved the FY 2024-2025 UPWP. 
12/16/2022 Approved the Professional Services Agreement (PSA) for the South Virginia Street Transit 

Oriented Development Plan. 
02/18/2022 Approved Amendment No. 1 to the FY 2022-2023 UPWP. 





TABLE OF CONTENTS 

CHAPTER 1 

INTRODUCTION........................................................................................................................................ 2 

Why TOD? ......................................................................................................................................................................................2 

TOD Guiding Principles ......... .................................. ..................................................................................................................4 

Existing Plan and Studies ......................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Study Area ................................................................................................................................................................................. 9 

Plan Corridor........................................................................................................................................ .. ............................ . ... 11 

Corridor Roadway Sections ...................................................................................................................................................12 

Active Transportation Facilities ............................................................................................................................................14 

Bus Facilities ................................................................................................................................................................................15 

Safety..............................................................................................................................................................................................16 

Existing Demographics ............................................................................................................................................................ 16 

CHAPTER 2 

Opportunities in the Corridor................................................................................................................ 18 

Historic Trends ............................................................................................................................................................................19 

Planning for Future Growth ...................................................................................................................................................20 

Current Land Invetory..............................................................................................................................................................21 

Master Plan and Relmagine Reno Area Specific Policies ..........................................................................................22 

Zoning ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 25 

Supporting Transit Along Virginia Street.........................................................................................................................29 

The Benefits of TOD .................................................................................................................................................................30 

Characteristics of Transit-Supportive Development. ...................................................................................................30 

Supporting Criteria in Study Area .......................................................................................................................................34 

Existing Density Housing and Employment....................................................................................................................35 

Transit Encouraging Developments ...................................................................................................................................36 

Less Transit-Supportive Developments ............................................................................................................................37 

Public Outreach Summary .....................................................................................................................................................38 

CHAPTER 3 

The Future of the Corridor.....................................................................................................................40 

TOD Opportunities ...................................................................................................................................................................41 

Vacant Land Opportunities ...................................................................................................................................................42 

Transit Focused Area ...................... ..........................................................................................................................................43 

Application of Land Use Tools Along the Corridor......................................................................................................44 

Transit Focus Area Opportunities .......................................................................................................................................45 

■ • 



CHAPTER 4 

Connecting South Virginia Street ......................................................................................................... 55 

Transit Supportive Land Use .................................................................................................................................................56 

Future Development and Transit in the Study Area ....................................................................................................56 

Scenario 1..................................................................................................................................................................................... 59 

Scenario 2 .....................................................................................................................................................................................60 

Scenario 3 .....................................................................................................................................................................................61 

Future Transit Route .................................................................................................................................................................62 

Efforts to Support Development Scenarios ....................................................................................................................62 

CHAPTER 5 

Moving South Virginia Street Forward ................................................................................................. 64 

What will the Next 30 Years Bring? ....................................................................................................................................65 

Implementation Plan................................................................................................................................................................66 

Tables 

Table 1.1: Transportation Plans and Studies 

Table 2.1: South Virginia Context Relative to Criteria for Transit-Supportive Development 

Table 3.1: Land Use Tools Summary 

Table 4.1: Projected Transit Ridership 

Table 5.1: SVTOD Action Plan 

Figures 

Figure 1.1: SVTOD Plan Process Timeline 

Figure 1.2: Study Area 

Figure 1.3: Roadway Sections 

Figure 1.4: Typical Section A 

Figure 1.5: Typical Section B 

Figure 1.6: Typical Section C 

Figure 1.7: Typical Section D 

Figure 1.8: Existing Sidewalk 

Figure 1.9: Existing Bike Facilities 

Figure 1.10: Existing Transit Facilities 

Figure 1.11: Collision Heatmap 

Figure 1.12: Crash Types 

Figure 1.13: Population by Block Group 

Figure 1.14: Median Income by Block Group 

Figure 2.1: Historic Growth Patterns 

Figure 2.2: Current Land Inventory Map 

Figure 2.3: Employment Areas 

Figure 2.4: Community Centers 

Figure 2.5: Potential Existing Site Improvements for Community/Neighborhood Centers 

Figure 2.6: Study Area Zoning Designations 

Figure 2.7: Mixed-Use Suburban (MS) Design Standards (City of Reno) 

■ • 



Figure 2.8: City of Reno Zoning 

Figure 2.9: Washoe County Zoning 

Figure 2.10: TOD Influences 

Figure 3.1: Vacant Land Zoning 

Figure 3.2: TOD Redevelopment Opportunities 

Figure 3.3: Transit Focus Areas 

Figure 3.4: Meadowood Mall Transit Focus Area 

Figure 3.5: Longley Lane Transit Focus Area 

Figure 3.6: South Meadows Pkwy Transit Focus Area 

Figure 3.7: McCabe Drive Transit Focus Area 

Figure 3.8: Damonte Ranch Pkwy Transit Focus Area 

Figure 3.9: Downtown Damonte Transit Focus Area 

Figure 3.10 Pioneer Parkway Transit Focus Area 

Figure 3.11: Summit Mall Transit Focus Area 

Figure 4.1: Land Use Characteristics vs Transit Service Typology 

Figure 4.2: Development Scenario 1 

Figure 4.3: Development Scenario 2 

Figure 4.4: Development Scenario 3 

Figure 4.5: SMP Improvements 

Figure 4.6: SMP Corridor, E. Patriot Blvd to Mount Rose Highway 

Appendix 
Appendix A: Existing Conditions Technical Memo 

Appendix B: Land Use Technical Memo 

Appendix C: Transit Technical Memo 

Appendix D: Public Outreach and Online Survey Results Memo 

■ • 



~7 
WOOD -RODGER::S 

■ 



[This Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

■ • 



_,..:SV1®>=-:.:.:~Q---------------------- -

South Virginia Street TOD • 



------------------------------------------------ -
SV1@l) 

Introduction 

The South Virginia Street Transit-Oriented Development (SVTOD) Plan is a collaboration between the Regional Transportation Commission 

(RTq of Washoe County, the City of Reno, and other state and federal stakeholders. The goal of the plan is to expand opportunities for 

TOD and mixed-use development along South Virginia Street. This initiative will support a southern extension of the Virginia Line Bus 

Rapid Transit (BRT) route, which currently runs from the University of Nevada, Reno, through downtown and Midtown Reno, ending at 

Meadowood Mall. The TOD study aims to create a framework that promotes walkable and transit-supportive development on vacant and 

underutilized land within the study area. 

Why is the Project Needed? 

• Lack of transit service for existing and future growth along South Virginia Street and surrounding areas . 

• Vehicle dependent development patterns and lack of multi-modal connectivity . 

• Safety concerns for all users. 

• Support regional growth plans such as the Relmagine Reno Master Plan and Truckee Meadows Regional Plan . 

• Lack of affordable housing and access barriers to transit dependent populations . 

What is the Purpose of the Project? 

• Extend next generation transit service to South Virginia Street . 

• Serve existing and future growth areas, improve access to employment opportunities . 

• Improve multimodal infrastructure and safety for all users. 

• Accommodate regional growth plans . 

• Encourage new housing and redevelopment opportunities through supportive transit, walking and biking improvements . 

What is TOD? 

Transit Oriented Development (TOD) is a form of city planning focused on creating vibrant and pedestrian-oriented communities. This is 

done through mixed-use developments, walkable infrastructure, and availability of public transportation options to reduce dependency 

on cars as the primary mode of transportation. The RTC and its partners have utilized TOD to improve the transit options for Nevadans 

across Reno, Sparks, and Washoe County. As part of the TOD planning efforts, the RTC has solicited public input and feedback on TOD 

options for the South Virginia Street corridor to inform future planning efforts (see Chapter 2 for public outreach summary). 

Over the last thirty years, South Virginia Street, from South McCarran Boulevard to Mount Rose Highway (SR 431), has evolved from a 

rural highway connecting Reno and Carson City into a growing corridor with a mix of uses including high-density housing, commercial 

centers, industrial, and variety of other less intense uses. This transition is ongoing along the South Virginia Street Corridor and establishing 

opportunities to create a multi-modal, transit-supportive pattern will help meet the growth and development needs of the region. 

South Virginia Street TOD D 



----------------------------------------------------- -
SV"l@l> 

...... . 

Transit Oriented Development in the Study Area 

The Federal Transit Administration (FTA} is supportive of TOD development, stating: 
0 The success of transit systems in rural, urban, and suburban neighborhoods is critical to the 
economic health andsustainable growth ofAmerica's communities. Transit systems should address 
the needs of everyone and help people get to jobs, school, healthcare, and visit friends and family. 
Transit-oriented development (TOD) is where those two areas intersect to create real change." 

South Virginia Street TOD D 



------------------------------------------------ - -
TOD Guiding Principles 

The South Virginia Street TOD includes a diverse group of key jurisdictional partners with individual focuses, but it shares one common 

goal; improving safety and multimodal transportation options accessible for all. 

REN0 8 
lond use 

RTP 2050 Vision 

"Extend Virginia Line RAPID to Mt. Rose Highway - Providing transit connectivity to employment, education, commercial, 

and residential centers in south Reno would improve access to opportunities, expand travel options, and encourage transit 

supportive development along South Virginia Street." 



_________________________________________________ _, 
SV'l@I) 

Project Goals 

• WALK/CYCLE - Provide infrastructure improvements along Virginia Street to improve the non-motorized transportation 
networks in the corridor. 

• CONNECT - Locate future transit stops in areas that promote walking and cycling to access transit and maximize corridor 
connectivity. 

• TRANSIT- Expand transit service to better serve existing and future residents and employees along South Virginia Street. 

• MIX - Encourage economic development and plan for mixed uses, income, and demographics . 

• DENSIFY - Optimize density on vacant and infill properties and encourage redevelopment opportunities to support transit in 
the corridor. 

• COMPACT- Optimize transit service in the corridor to improve ridership . 

• SHIFT - Transform South Virginia Street to accommodate all users and increase safe, non-auto mobility in the corridor . 

The Eight Principles of a TOD 

Walk 
Development that promotes walking 

A Connect 
Close key gaps in sidewalks and paths 

Mix 
Plans for mixed uses, income, and demographics 

lu Compact 
Create regions with short transit commutes 

Cycle 
Promote nonmotorized transportation networks 

Q 
Transit 
Locate development near high-quality public 
transportation 

-g- Densifym m Optimize density and match transit capacity 

Shift .. Increase mobility options, encourage development~ 
standards and complete streets that support a shift 
from auto dependency 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------- -
SV'l§J> 

SVTOD Plan Process 

Corridor 
Improvements 

Draft 

Stakeholder 
Engagement TOD Plan 

Review 

Existing Conditions 
TOD PlanAnalysis 

Draft Report 
Safety • Transit • Land Use 

Figure 1.1 SVTOD Plan Process Timeline 

Existing Plan and Studies 

The study area has been analyzed in several existing studies and future plans may include portions of the study area. Therefore, it is 

important to recognize and coordinate with these plans where appropriate. This approach ensures that this study considers the 

recommendations of previous plans while acknowledging changing conditions in the study area and the evolving relevance of some older 

documents. The Transportation Plans and Studies in Table 1.1 highlights the sections of documents relevant to the South Virginia Street 

corridor. The two most important plans that influence this plan are the City of Reno's Relmagine Reno Master Plan, and the Nevada 

Department of Transportation (NDOTI Safety Management Plan (SMP). 

In 2006, to keep up with development patterns, the City of Reno adopted a TOD Plan for South Virginia Street, which changed the zoning 

along South Virginia Street to mixed-use to intensify development to support transit Following the Great Recession, the market conditions 

forced the City of Reno to rethink a variety of past planning efforts, leading to the adoption of the 2017 Relmagine Reno Master Plan. As 

a result of the Relmagine Reno Plan, the 2006 South Virginia Street TOD Plan was removed and the TOD overlay zoning within the study 

area was converted to a zoning designation of Suburban Mixed-Use. In theory, the zoning change was meant to keep a transit supportive, 

mixed-use zoning without needing an overlay with unlimited density and commercial floor area. However, the zoning change did remove 

the minimum density and commercial floor area requirements, essentially opening the door for a broader range of uses including less 

transit supportive, low intense development. Master Planned Developments in south Reno remained as part of the Relmagine Reno Plan, 

which have seen higher density (both single and multi-family units) completed or under construction the past several years in Damonte 

Ranch. The first mixed-use type of development was recently announced for Damonte Ranch, which is identified as 'Downtown Damonte". 

The proposed mixed-use district will include retail, shops, restaurants, office space, and residential apartments 

(www.downtowndamonte.com). The Pioneer Parkway Master Planned Community south of Downtown Damonte on the future extension 

of Damonte Ranch Parkway has not yet started construction but would allow for additional high density or mixed-use development. 

The NDOT is responsible for maintaining more than sixty percent of the study area right of way from Patriot Boulevard to the Mount Rose 

Highway. As part of improving safety along this stretch of the corridor, NDOT has been performing a Safety Management Plan (SMP) to 

analyze the traffic safety for all road users. This plan includes identifying low, medium, and high-priority implementable improvements 

that can be applied to this section of the South Virginia Street corridor. Many of the proposed improvements support the efforts of this 

study and the SMP has been working in tandem with this SVTOD plan. Although the NDOT SMP follows the timeline of this study it is a 

separate study and only applies to a portion of the South Virginia Street, however, the proposed improvements suggested from this study 

will be supported by this document. 

South Virginia Street TOD D 

www.downtowndamonte.com


---------------------------------------------- -
SV'l§.D 

Table 1.1: Transportation Plans and Studies 

'Ti ;,ruport.i tioii'!J•r,fos_anil lud ~~ 

Document 

Virginia Street Corridor 

Investment Plan 

Transit Oriented Development in 

the Truckee Meadows: Bridging 

the Gap Between Planning and 

Implementation 

2050 Regional Transportation 

Plan 

City of Reno Bicycle and 

Pedestrian Master Plan 

South Meadows Multimoclal 

Transportation Study 

Mt. Rose Corridor Plan 

South Virginia Street Transit 

Oriented Development Corridor 

Plan 

Reno Sparks ADA Right-of-Way 

Transition Plan 

Transportation Optimization 

Plan Strategies (TOPS) 

South Virginia Street Safety 

Management Plan (SMP) 

Descriptionl·Ni,MM 
RTC The Virginia Street Corridor Investment Plan identifies near term 

and long-term transportation improvements that will be made 

along Virginia Street from North McCarran Boulevard to Mount 

Rose Highway. 

TMRPA The primary purpose of this paper is to assist stakeholders in the 

Truckee Meadows in bridging the gap between TOD planning and 

implementation. 

RTC The 2050 RTP identifies the long-term transportation investments 

that will be made in the urbanized area of Reno, Sparks, and 

Washoe County, Nevada, also known as the Truckee Meadows. 

RTC Guides bicycle an pedestrian facilities in the City of Reno. 

RTC The purpose of this multimodal study is to identify needs and 

long-term transportation improvements for regional roads and 

intersections in the South Meadows area. 

NDOT This Corridor Plan is focused on potential improvement concepts 

between Veterans Parkway and Douglas Fir Drive. 

City of The South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development (TOD) 

Reno Corridor Plan is divided into two sections: the Corridor Plan and 

Station Area Plans. 

RTC The Reno Sparks ADA Right-of-Way Transition Plan provides a 

roadmap to making pedestrian facilities accessible to persons with 

disabilities. 

RTC The Transit Optimization Plan Strategies (TOPS) serves as the basis 

for changes to RTC's public transportation services over the next 

five years (FY23-FY27). 

NDOT A Safety Management Plan (SMP) is a transportation analysis that 

focuses on traffic safety for all road users. 

Status 

Final April 

2014 

Revised July 

2009 

Update In

Process 

Final June 

2017 

Final April 

2020 

Final April 

2022 

Draft 

November 

2006 

Draft 2019 

Final July 

2022 

Final 

Anticipated 

(September 

2024) 

Document 

Truckee Meadows Regional 

Plan 

Relmagine Reno: City of Reno 

Master Plan 

Envision Washoe 2040 

Descriptionl·Ni:MM 
TMRPA In relation to the South Virginia Street TOD Study, this plan 

addresses infill development scenarios along the study corridor. 

City of The Master Plan reflects the ideas, values, and desires of the 

Reno community, aligning these with a range of plans, policies, and 

initiatives in place or underway in both Reno and the wider region. 

Washoe The Master Plan is used to determine the most desirable location 

County of each type of development. The plan has policies and maps 

designed to define development suitability and conserve natural 

resources. 

Status 

Final 2019 

Final 

November 

2021 

Adopted 

January 2024 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------ -
SV'l@D 

Ozone Advance Path Forward U.S. EPA The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) establishes Updated April 

health-based National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS) for 2016 

six criteria pollutants including ozone. Ozone concentrations are 

strongly linked to population, employment, and on-road vehicle 

miles traveled (VMT). Long-term initiatives focused on shaping 

land use development patterns and the built environment. 

Complete Streets Master Plan RTC The purpose of the Complete Streets Master Plan is to identify the July 2016 

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County's (RTQ 

long range strategy for complete street treatments in the Reno-

Sparks metropolitan area. 

Study Area 

The study corridor extends 5.5 miles along South Virginia Street from the existing Virginia Line BRT route's current terminus at the 

Meadowood Mall transfer station to Mount Rose Highway (SR 431). This section of road will be identified as the 'study area' throughout 

this document. A majority of the study area has already been developed (S. McCarran Blvd. to S. Meadows Pkwy), but the area south of 

South Meadows Parkway remains mostly vacant with several high-density projects being planned specifically around Damonte Ranch 

Parkway. Therefore, an alternate study route has been included as the Damonte Ranch Parkway Alternative which appears to be the one 

area adjacent to South Virginia Street providing TOD level development. The study area follows these corridors and includes any property 

located within a walking distance of 1/2 mile as depicted in Figure 1.2. 

South Virginia Street TOD II 



___..:SV'l@l>~Q~---------------------- -

I 

-==--

) 
I 

' \ 

= [~-_] TOD Study Area 

~~ Study Corridors 
1 
- South Virginia Street 

C1C1CE1 Damonte Alternative 

0 0.5 

Miles 

/
f 

,?' 

/, 

,.., 

/' 

Figure 1.2: Study Area 

South Virginia Street TOD 



........,_______________________________________________,__SV1®> 

Plan Corridor 

Vacant tract at South McCarran Boulevard and South Virginia Street 

South Virginia Street Study Area: Extends from half a mile north of Meadowood Mall in the north to half a mile south of the Summit 

Shopping District in the south. Specifically, the ±5.5 mile corridor includes South Virginia Street from Meadowood Mall Way to Mount 

Rose Highway (SR 431). 

Damonte Ranch Parkway across from Downtown Damonte 

Damonte Ranch Parkway Alternative: An alternative corridor that was analyzed is adjacent to many existing multi-family developments, 

includes Damonte Ranch Parkway from South Virginia Street to the terminus of Damonte Ranch Parkway. It also includes the future 

extension of Damonte Ranch Parkway which will connect to Geiger Grade Road and continues west along the Mount Rose Highway (SR 

431) to the Summit Mall. 

South \/irginic Str·eet TOD 



-------------------------------------------------- - -SV'fsI> 

• 

-

-

• 

Existing Cross Sections 

Section A 

Section B 

SectionC 

Future Extension (Section TBD) 

Section D 

0 0.5 

Miles 

-

\ 

Figure 1.3: Roadway Sections 

South Virginia Street TOD Ill 



-------------------------------------------------- -
SVl'el> 

Corridor Roadway Sections 

The study area and the existing cross sections are generally identified in Figure 1.3 above showing the approximate location for each 

section and Figure 1.4 thru 1.7 below display the details of each typical section. 

Sldewalk Travo,JLane I Travel Lane Travel lane Travel Laroe Sidewalk 

CG 

. . 
Figure 1.4: Typical Section A 

Section A of South Virginia Street extends from Meadowood Mall Circle to East Patriot Boulevard and includes four travel lanes and 

center median/turn lane within a relatively confined corridor. Speed limits range from 35-45 miles per hour (MPH). Section A is within the 

City of Reno owned right of way and has been generally controlled by development standards as developments/redevelopments have 

occurred over the years on a property-by-property basis, leading to a variety of sidewalk widths, absence of curb and gutter in older areas, 

and inconsistent bike lanes/multimodal facilities. Despite the inconsistencies, sidewalk and bike lanes are generally provided throughout 

this section. The right of way width for Section A is generally 90-125 feet, making it the most restrictive within the study area corridors. 

l l t f 

Travo,I Lane Travel Lane Travel Lane 
CG;ide_,.-.,1<1• 

.. . • J 

Figure 1.5: Typical Section B 

Section B extends from E. Patriot Blvd. to Mt. Rose Hwy. (SR 431) and is owned by NDOT. Speed limits range from 45 to 55 miles per 

hour. The right of way is less restricted in this section and ranges from 120 to 220 feet in width. This portion of the study area is still largely 

reflective of the rural highway that South Virginia Street was constructed to serve as. There are several long stretches of the corridor that 

lack curb and gutter, sidewalks, and bicycle lanes. However, unlike in Section A, in sections that do have bicycle and pedestrian facilities 

South Virginia Street TOD 



----------------------------------------------------- -
SV1@l) 

there is more consistency where recent developments have all met the same design standards. Improvements to Section B are being 

proposed as part of NDOT's SMP. 

Right of Way 

l t t l 

Medlan T1aveI Lane 

l 

Travel Lane 

l 

Travel Lane Bilre Side- Landscape 
Lane CG walk 

Figure 1.6: Typical Section C 

Section C follows Damonte Ranch Parkway as an alternative to the South Virginia Street corridor. This section is a six-lane road with 

landscape medians and includes sidewalks and bike lanes. Speed limits range from 35 to 45 miles per hour and have been designed to 

accommodate the development from Damonte Ranch at full buildout. It is anticipated that the future extension of Damonte Ranch 

Parkway will narrow to four travel lanes from its current terminus to Geiger Grade Road (SR 341). 

Ditch 

Figure 1.7: Typical Section D 

Section D includes Mount Rose Highway (SR 431) from the roundabout at Veterans Parkway/Geiger Grade (SR 341) to Herz Boulevard at 

the Summit Mall. The right of way within this section is also owned by NDOT and provides ample room for any configuration. Currently, 

the speeds along this section range from 45-55 mph and there is a separated ten-foot wide multi use path on the northside from South 

Virginia Street to Wedge Parkway. 

South Virginia Street TOD • 



-------------------------------------------------- - -
SV1@J) 

Active Transportation Facilities 

The study area is a developing corridor with several gaps in the bike and pedestrian network. Currently, sidewalks exist on only 52% of 

the corridors with gaps on both sides of the street as shown in Figure 1.8. Additionally, bike facilities shown in Figure 1.9 are entirely 

absent on approximately 18% of the corridors, although there is at least one bike lane or path on one side of the street in some areas. 

This inconsistency results in unreliable conditions for biking along South Virginia Street. Furthermore, the existing bike lanes vary in size 

and markings throughout the study area, potentially not accurately reflecting the intended facility standards. 

Existing Sidewalks Existing Bike Facilities 

- No Sidewalk -====- Existing Bike Facilities 

- sidewalk 
0.5 

0 0.5 
Miles 

Miles 

Figure 1.8: Existing Sidewalk Figure 1.9: Existing Bike Facilities 

The Damonte Ranch Parkway Alternative has been mostly developed within Planned Unit Developments (PUDs) which required bike 

and pedestrian connectivity and has consistent sidewalk, pedestrian paths, and bike lanes throughout the community. Bike facilities are 

also provided along the majority of the South Virginia Street corridor with an existing bike trail along Mount Rose Highway. These facilities 

connect to a larger network found throughout the residential development to the east and will help connect pedestrians to areas outside 

of the study area. 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------ -SV"©> 

Bus Facilities 

Existing bus services are limited 

in South Reno south of 

Meadowood Mall. In fact, 
Route 56 is the only fixed route 

service in this portion of the 

study area (see Figure 1.10). 

Route 56 is limited to half-hour 

frequencies during peak times 

on the weekdays and has 

limited service after 8:00pm and 

during the weekends. There are 

a limited number of bus stops 

along Route 56 within the study 

area. 

Another very limited service 

along the Study Area is 

provided by the Carson City 

regional route which runs the 

entirety of the South Virginia 

Street corridor from the 

Meadowood Mall transfer 

station to the Summit Mall. 

However, this is a commuter 

route connecting riders from 

Reno to Carson City and only 

runs during the weekdays in the 

mornings and evenings. This 

limits service along a majority 

of the study area for existing 

businesses and residents reliant 

on transit. FlexRIDE service is 

available and provides on

demand service from the 

neighborhoods to the east to 

portions of the study area 

including the Summit Mall, and 

areas around Damonte Ranch 

Parkway and South Meadows 

Parkway. 

Existing Bus Routes 
~ Flex Ride Service Area 

"'=" 
RTC Bus Routes 

- Virginia Line 

= Route56 

- Carson Regional Route 

-- All Other Bus Routes 

0 0.5 

Miles 

j 

t 
!== 

/, 

I 
I 

ft 
,l 

Figure 1.10: Existing Transit Facilities 

South Virginia Street TOD 



-------------------------------------------------- - -
SV1@D 

Safety 

Five-year crash data between the years 2016-2020 were analyzed along the South Virginia Street corridor and included over 1,000 crash 

reports that resulted in Equivalent Property Damage Only (EPDO). EPDO is a range of severity based on the equivalent cost of a crash in 

terms of property damage only, not including injury. As shown in Figure 1.11, crashes along South Virginia Street are concentrated at the 

major intersections. The map below, Figure 1.12, shows recorded pedestrian crashes including vehicle vs. pedestrian and vehicle vs. 

bicyclist. The data shows these concentrations are mostly occurring between existing signalized intersections and in areas that allow full 

movement with high-speed limits and six lanes of traffic. More importantly, these areas are also located in areas where multimodal 

infrastructure, including sidewalks and bike lanes are limited or do not exist. 

Crash Density 
Equivalent Property Damage Only (EPDO) 

Sparse 

Dense 

@ Signalized Intersections 

0 0.5 

Miles 

Crash Type 

0 Cyclist 

I) Pedestrian 

@ Signalized Intersections 

0 05 

Miles 

Figure 1.11: Collision Heatmap Figure 1.12: Crash Types 

Existing Demographics 

The demographics within the study area will help to identify potential ridership and will be important to consider as riders in areas of high 

population, and low to moderate median income tend to be the population to most likely benefit from BRT. Analyzing the 2020 US Census 

data has developed a clear understanding of the existing population within the study area as shown below in Figure 1.13. The Census 

block groups which are located within the study area show a clear correlation between housing type and population, with the block 

South Virginia Street TOD 



----------------------------------------------------- -
svr§D 

groups with the most population, having the most multi-family or high-density housing. Therefore, a better indication for possible 

dependent riders should be looking at areas with existing multi-family or high-density housing within the study area. 

Figure 1.14 shows distribution of household income within the study area. The areas with higher proportions of low-income households 

are generally considered to be those more likely to be reliant on public transit and should be considered priority locations for future 

transit stops. Regardless of income or age, areas of high population density are also notable when targeting choice riders as a certain 

percentage of the population will use transit, especially when it comes to BRT since this service is supposed to be an equal or more 

attractive option to personal modes of transportation. Finally, when planning for the future needs, areas of vacant land should also be 

considered as these areas will influence the study area demographics in the future and could lead to an increase·need for transit services 

in an area that is currently not identified. 

Population by Block Group 

C--~---! TOD Study Area 

Study Corridors 

... South Virginia Sfreet 

ca::z::J Demonte Alternative 

0,5 

Median Income by 
Block Group 

:_-_-_-_] TOD Study Area 

Study Corridors 

... South Virginia Street 

c:c:::c Demonte Alternative 

Inc ome 

0 0,5 

t,.'\ile~ 

Figure 1.13: Population by Block Group Figure 1.14: Median Income by Block Group 

After considering the existing conditions, the following chapter will discuss the opportunities in the study area including an overview of 

the existing land use, development patterns, and future growth scenarios and how they influence transit services in the study area. 

South Vlrclnia Stree t TOD 



__...:SV'l@DQ -:.:..,;~~----------------------

South Virginia Street TOD 



---------------------------------------------- -
SV1@D 

Historic Trends 

Over the past three decades and post the completion of Interstate 580 (I-580), the stretch of South Virginia Street extending from S. 

McCarran Boulevard to the Mount Rose Highway (SR 431) has transformed from a rural highway linking Reno and Carson City into a 

suburban arterial connecting nodes of development. This transition has resulted in a diverse mix of land uses and outdated infrastructure 

that has not kept up with the regional changes. Over the past thirty years, from 1990 to 2020, the population in the study area exploded 

from a population of ±1,500 to ±43,000 people (U.S. Census). 

Before the 1990s, the study area was predominantly rural with limited development, including some low-density large lot residential areas 

under Washoe County jurisdiction, as well as large ranch lands. By the year 2000, construction was underway to extend U.S. 395 (now 

known as 1-580), and planned developments in the South Meadows area were in progress, with the planning of Damonte Ranch also 

beginning. These initiatives allowed most commuters to bypass South Virginia Street and marked a shift from rural to typical suburban 

development serving the surrounding neighborhoods. During the following decade, from 2000 and 2010, major master planned 

developments such as Damonte Ranch, Curti Ranch, and Carmella Ranch began to take shape. South Reno continues to transform into a 

highly desirable community within the region, which has led to an increase in development along the Study Area. 

Development within the study area experienced a slowdown following the Great Recession but has since rebounded significantly over the 

past decade. The resurgence in development in south Reno has been driven largely by the region's expanding employment opportunities, 

particularly from Tesla and the Tahoe Reno Industrial Center (TRIC). Over the past decade, there has been a significant increase in 

development and population growth in south Reno. This shift has led to higher-density development patterns, characterized by smaller 

lots and an increase in single-family attached and multifamily residences. This trend is ongoing in South Reno. Figure 2.1 below illustrates 

the comparison of population and development patterns within the project study area over the past 30 years. 

C: 
0 ? 

-·-ta 
::, 

• 

a. 
0 

0.. 
L.. 
0 

"'C·c:: 
8 
L.. 

Pop: ±1,500 Zoning: 
Zoning: Commercial/TOD 
Rural/Commercial 

Decade 1990 20202000 2010 

70,000 

60,000 

50,000 

40,000 

30,000 

20,000 

10,000 

Pop: ±20,000 
Zoning: 
TOD/Mixed-Use 
Suburban (MS) 

Pop: ±43,000 
Zoning: 
Mixed-Use Urban 
(MU) and MS 

Figure 2.1 Historic Growth Pattern 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------ -
SV1@I> 

Planning for Future Growth 

According to the Truckee Meadows Regional Planning Agency (TMRPA), the region is projected to add 100,000 residents and over 68,000 

jobs between 2022 and 2042. This growth will significantly impact the study area. As Reno's growth continues, collaborative planning 

efforts led by TMRPA and the City of Reno prioritize sustainable development practices, as outlined in the Relmagine Reno guiding 

principles. These include responsible and well-managed growth (Guiding Principle 2), vibrant neighborhoods and centers through infill 

and mixed-use development (Guiding Principle 4), and enhanced multimodal connectivity (Guiding Principle 5). The upcoming sections 

will delve into city and regional planning strategies, particularly their focus on promoting Transit-Oriented Development (TOD) along 

South Virginia Street. 

$fr 

REIMAGINERENO 
The City of Reno Master Plan 



__:SV"l@X>=----------------------- -::.:;~Q 
Current Land Inventory 

The current land inventory can 

help plan for future growth as well 

as identify what the current needs 

may be. Typically, BRT is favorable 

to mixed-use land designations, 

which promote high density 

development including multi

family, single family attached 

housing, large commercial 

developments, employment 

centers, and street networks with 

robust multimodal transportation 

infrastructure. Within this study 

area, identifying vacant land or 

areas for future redevelopment 

can help to determine future 

growth areas and the types of 

development that can be 

expected. The current land 

inventory map, shown in Figure 

2.2, identifies vacant land and 

redevelopment opportunities. 

By analyzing the master plan and 

zoning designations set by the 

city or county, the influences on 

the vacant land within the study 

area will help to understand the 

types of existing developments 

and identify future developments 

within the study area that may be 

favorable to BRT. Within the study 

area, these include the City of 

Reno master plan and zoning 

designations throughout the 

majority of the study area to the 

west and portions that are under 

Washoe County jurisdiction to the 

west. 

Land Inventory 

Study Corridors 

..,. South Virginia Street 

••••• Damonte Alternative 

Land Inventory 

Vacant Land/ 
Redevelopment 
Opportunities 

Vacant Planned 
Development 

Existing Commercial/ 
Employment 

r-7 Existing Multi-Family 
1=.......J Residential 

Existing Single-Family 
- Medium Density 

Residential 

Existing Parks 

0 0.5 

Miles 

) 
II Ii 

Figure 2.2 Current Land Inventory Map 

I 

South Virginia Street TOD 



-------------------------------------------------- - -
SV1@t> 

Master Plan and Relmagine Reno Area Specific Policies 

The Relmagine Reno Master Plan identifies South Virginia Street as a suburban corridor. Suburban corridors encourage a mix of higher

density residential, retail, commercial, and other employment- and service-oriented uses. While the corridor is currently suburban, the 

Area Specific Policies outlined below support its gradual transition to an urban corridor. These policies provide flexibility in development 

patterns and intensity in the near term, encouraging nodes of higher-intensity development which is more supportive of transit. This 

approach aims to enhance access to services, expand housing options, and support expanded transit service over time. 

Employment Areas 
Employment areas support live-work opportunities for the local workforce and reduce the need for cross-town trips. The connectivity 

between these employment areas and the study area can influence the demand for additional housing within the study area and increase 

transit ridership. There are two Employment Areas adjacent to the study area (blue shaded areas in Figure 2.3). 

Regional Centers 

Meadowood Mall in the north is identified as a 

r=r~cdt'.Vdopmt•nt n1--,\r1ch 

Regional Center (Figure 2.3). Regional centers serve 

residents of the City of Reno and the broader region, 
._, Url)illl [:orridor-.., as well as visitors from across the state and country . 

Regional centers include a diverse mix of uses of 
high-density office, residential, hotel, entertainment 

(including gaming), retail, and supporting uses. Are 
well-served by the region's multimodal 
transportation network and serve as a hub for service 

to other destinations within the region. 

Outer Neighborhoods 

The study area provides connectivity for several 

surrounding outer neighborhoods as outlined in 

Relmagine Reno Master Plan. Outer neighborhoods 

include the city's older suburban areas, generally 

outside or adjacent to the McCarran loop, as well as 

newer suburban developments. They are generally 

comprised of single-family detached homes and have 

a cohesive character. While new development 

continues to occur in some outer neighborhoods, 

others are in need of revitalization and reinvestment. 

Significant capacity for future residential 
development lies in outer neighborhoods. 

Opportunities to encourage a broader mix of 
housing types and supporting non-residential uses 
and amenities in outer neighborhoods are encouraged 

in order to meet changing community needs. 

Figure 2.3: Employment Areas 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------ -
N1@D 

Community/Neighborhood Centers 

The study area includes several community/ 
neighborhood centers (Figure 2.4). In the study 
area these include: 

• Meadowood Mall 
• South Meadows Parkway ..• Downtown Damonte ' 
• Summit Mall 

Community/neighborhood centers provide 
opportunities for supporting services (e.g. 

restaurants, cafes, small retail stores, medical 
offices) intended to meet the needs of the 
immediate neighborhood. Walkable, small

scale neighborhood centers exist in several of 
the city's central neighborhoods, while larger 
community centers such as those anchored by 

a grocery store or other large retail tenant may 
include a vertical or horizontal mix of c.c;_\rran 
residential and/or office uses in addition to 
retail/commercial uses. 

Community/neighborhood centers should 
have a cohesive and pedestrian-oriented 
design that features public/community 
gathering spaces and enhanced pedestrian/ 
bicycle connections to the surrounding 
neighborhoods. The design principles that 
follow (see Figure 2.5) provide general 

guidance to support the revitalization of 
existing centers, and can inform the design of 
new centers. The identified centers within the 
study area (Meadowood Mall, South Meadows 

Parkway, Downtown Damonte, and the Summit 
Mall), have large parking areas that have the 
potential for revitalization and added density 
and a greater mix of uses that would also help 

Figure 2.4: Community Centers 
encourage transit-oriented development 
according to the Reimagine Reno Master Plan. 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------- -

llllliti!ii!P. 
1IIN'ol!i lf 
~~ ·····- J-■-• ,I ;.,,...:,;;....- -· . 

SV'l@D 

Existing Community Center Revitaltzed Community Center 

■ nrrn11111mm 

• l! I 
I 
I 
I 

WJllil fltHtHltttff 
11111111111mm 
llllllliiiiliilll 

1111111lll111111111111 
UllJlllJIIIIII IUIIII 

illlilllliillllillllll 

1111111111111111111111 

1111111111111111111111 

111111111 HIIHfffffll 

1111111111111111111111 

1111111111111111111111 

Existing Neighborhood Center 
,, ~,.■ ••• 

•=~ 
&ii 1 11111111111111111 

- -WllllllW !!l•llllhmiiilll 
11111111111111111 

Revitalized Neighborhood Center 

■ •••-· . 

Revitalization of Existing Centers. The diagrams illustrate potential opportunities for site improvements and infill on 
surface parking lots to accommodate a greater mix of uses and promote the revitalization of existing centers. To achieve 
required parking for uses that replace surface parking lots, tuck-under and/or structured parklng are to be utilized. 

Figure 2.5 Potential Existing Site Improvements for Community/Neighborhood Centers 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------ -
5V1@l> 

Zoning 

The majority of the master plan designations within the study area are classified as Suburban Mixed Use (SMU), which promotes a mixed

use zoning designation that is favorable to BRT services. The underlying zoning typically associated with this master plan designation 

allows commercial or high-density residential development. The map below shows the distribution of the zoning districts throughout the 

study area. Figure 2.6 shows the three major City of Reno zoning designations within the study area are Mixed-Use Urban (MU), Mixed

Use Suburban (MS), and Planned Unit Development (PUD). While the MU zoning designation is traditionally most favorable to BRT, 

the SMU designation, which has no minimum density requirement, may not inherently encourage high-density development but still has 

design standards which support multimodal transportation. The PUD zoning is unique as it refers to a specific planned community with 

varying development standards throughout the study area, some of which may promote design elements favorable to transit. 

Each Planned Unit Development (PUD) is unique and typically 

has different development standards than those found in the 

City of Reno development code. The three PUDs within the study 

area-Double Diamond PUD, Damonte Ranch PUD, and 

Pioneer Parkway PUD-have specific development standards 

detailed in their respective PUD Handbooks. These generally 

allow for high-density development but, like the SMU zoning 

designation, may lack minimum density standards to encourage 

consistent high-density development within the study area. 

Importantly, the PUDs encompass the largest areas of vacant 

land within the study area and will significantly influence future 

development in the southern part of the area. Predicting future 

development patterns is challenging due to the wide range of 

potential densities. According to Relmagine Reno, the SMU 

master plan designation does not require a minimum density, 

though it encourages concentrated nodes of high-intensity 

development. While the SMU designation includes several 

conforming "Base Zoning Districts," the study area is 

predominantly under one; Mixed-Use Suburban (MS). The 

current zoning map within the study area is shown in Figure 2.8 

for the City of Reno and Figure 2.9 for Washoe County. 

Figure 2.6 Study Area Zoning Designations 

Parks, Recreation, & Open Spa 
(OS, PGOS, & PR} 

Public Facility 

Other 
(GR, UT-5) lndustrail/Employ 

ment (I, IC, & ME} 

(PF& PSP} 

Large Lot 
Residential 

(LDS, LLR-1, & 
LLR2.5} 

Medium Lot 

Residential / 
(MDS, HDR, 

SF-5, & SF-3} , 

Small Lot 
Residential 

(HDS, LDU, SF-
11, & SF-8} 

Multi-Family 
(MF14, MF21, 

&MF30} 

______ ..,,.,,., 

South Virginia Street TOD Figure 2.7 Mixed-Use Suburban (MS) Design Standards (City of Reno) 



-----------------------------------------------------
SV'l@D 

2! City of Reno Zoning 

Multi-Family Residential (30 
U nils Per Acre) 

• • • • • Damonle Alternative 
- Neighborhood Commercial 

- Parks, Greenways and 
Open Space 

Planned Unit Development 
Industrial Commercial 

- Professional Office 
Large-Lot Residential (0.5 
Acre) - Public Facilities 

Large-Loi Residential (1 Single-Family Residential 
Acre) (11 Units Per Acre) 

Large-Loi Residential (2.5 Single-Family Residential (3 
Acres) U nils Per AcreJ 

~ Mixed Employment Single-Family Residential (5 
Units Per Acre)B:zl Mixed-Use Airport 
Single-Family Residential (8 
Units Per Acre) 

~ Mixed-Use Urban Specific Plan District 

Multi-Family Residential (14 Unincorporated Transition 
Units Per Acre) (40 acres) 

Unincorporated Transition 
(5 acres) 

0 0.5 

L 

Figure 2.8 City of Reno Zoning 

South Virginia Street TOD 



__:svr@D=-::..:~Q---------------------- -
Washoe County Zoning 

...,.. South Virginia Street - GC • General Commercial 

Damonte Alternative i •• : NC - Neighborhood 
- Commercial 

LDR - Low Density Rural - TC - Tourist Commercial 

MDR • Medium Density I• Industrial 
Rural 

PSP - Public and Semi
HDR - High Density Rural Public Facilities 

LDS • Low Density Suburban - PR - Parks and Recreation 

MDS • Medium Density OS • Open Space
Suburban 

HDS • High Density 
GR • General Rural 

Suburban RR - Rural Residential 

LDU - Low Density Urban Dry Lake 

MDU • Medium Density 
Urban 

LDS2 - Low Density 
Suburban (2 du/ac) 

HDU • High Density Urban MDS4 • Medium Density 
Suburban (4 du/ac) 

-0 0.5 

Miles 

" 

\ 

Figure 2.9 Washoe County Zoning 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------ -
The MS zoning does not mandate minimum or maximum residential density or floor area ratio (FAR) and has very permissive, sometimes 

non-existent, setback requirements. There is no stated building height limit, though buildings over 55 feet require site review. These 

standards are conducive to transit-oriented development, which typically seeks to maximize allowable density. However, the absence of 

minimum density and FAR requirements poses a challenge when encouraging transit supportive development. This flexibility can lead to 

developments that are less supportive of transit, undermining the goals of transit-supportive land use policies. 

In addition to the MS zoning, the southern end of the Study Area, including Damonte Ranch and its surroundings, falls under Planned 

Unit Development (PUD) zoning. This zoning specifies land uses and standards for various parts of the master-planned community. Similar 

to MS zoning, PUD zoning offers significant flexibility for use standards, allowing for a broad range of uses that may or may not support 

transit. Unlike South Virginia Street, Damonte Ranch is the only node within the study area that has seen higher density development 

concentrated around commercial areas, including the recently announced plans for the Downtown Damonte mixed-use development. 

In summary, the Reimagine Reno Master Plan provides a framework for the study area to evolve into a more urbanized area, focusing on 

node densification and supporting future transit and multimodal connectivity. However, there is a disconnect between the vision of the 

master plan and the current development within the study area, largely due to the broad range of allowable uses under the existing 

zoning regulations. 

In the north along Virgina Street, MU 
zoning encourages and requires transit 
supportive development with a 
minimum density requirement of0.75 
Floor Area Ratio (FAR) and 18 
dwelling units per acre with no limit 
on the maximum density. 

This zoning is only found within 5% of 
the northern end of the corridor 
around Meadowood Mall. 

Mixed-Use Zoning 

- Mixed-Use Suburban 

- Mixed-Use Urban 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------ - -

---

Significant vacant land 
and redevelopment 
opportunities in the 

t:r/_EVADA
'VJ?OT 

Safety 
Management 

Plan 

SY'©> 

Supporting Transit Along Virginia Street 

One of the key challenges in achieving a long-term vision of TOD along South Virginia Street is bridging the gap between land-use policy 

and actual development. Aside from the planned Downtown Damonte area, there is little momentum for developing compact, walkable, 

mixed-use environments along South Virginia Street. To increase mixed-use development, an understanding of not only the policies but 

also external influences such as the private market, private landowners and developers, and the willingness of political jurisdictions to 

encourage changes in development patterns, is necessary. These factors and influences are shown in Figure 2.10 below and have been 

and will continue to be the main drivers of development along South Virginia Street. 

Figure 2.10 TOD Influences 

South Virginia Street TOD 

Private 
Landowners/ 
Developers 

11.tl). ~ 
·-- ,..-· 

- - - - - ~ 
. Need_ for partn~~hips, 
mce~t1ves, and v1s10~ !or 
mult1modal connect1v1ty corridor 

Complete streets and 
multi-modal improvements 

TOD plan from 2008 

Advocate for the City of 
Reno to support TOD in 

the corridor 

Mixed-Use 
Suburban zoning 

zoning north of 
project area has led 

to TOD level of 
devaelopment 

along most of 
the corridor 

--- Political Influences ___,r-----• Private Market ----

removed in 2017 
Reimagine Reno 

Master Plan 

Land Use & Zoning ____..• 

Prioritizing 
TOD-supportive 

v development is 
challenging without 

transit 

Mix of transit supportive and non-supportive 
developments 

Car Dealerships Multi-family Housing 

Industrial Parks Hotels 



------------------------------------------------ -
SV1@l> 

The Benefits of Transit-Oriented Development 

Characteristics of Transit-Supportive Development 

A transit system and the built environment it operates in are mutually dependent when it comes to realizing the above benefits. Even the 

highest quality vehicles, stations, and operating systems may not attract a sizable number of riders away from auto-reliance unless the 

surrounding land uses and public infrastructure are thoughtfully designed to support, and benefit from, that transit. 

This means thinking about how we design our neighborhoods - from the placement of buildings to the mix of shops, homes, and places 

of work. Ensuring that station areas have sufficient headcounts to generate rides is only one part of an equation that also involves factors 

like non-auto connectivity, physical orientation of uses, safety, and aesthetic desirability; it's about creating vibrant, attractive areas that 

naturally and safely encourage transit use. Here we will explore the key elements that make up a transit-supportive neighborhood and 

why getting these details right is crucial for the success of future transit service and to help achieve broader regional goals and policies. 

Compact and Focused Development: 

General Compactness. Compact development, as opposed to very low-density development, supports transit systems by efficiently 

utilizing land. This approach creates walkable, interconnected neighborhoods that facilitate public transit use. People and destinations are 

the life's blood of transit ridership, and compact design means more individuals and potential destinations per acre of land. 

Focused Intensity Near Stations: An outcome to the criteria of compactness is that station areas should emerge as pulse points of activity 

and development density. Because BRT systems do not make stops between established station areas, adjacent properties that are not 

within walking distance of a station typically do not contribute much to ridership, either in terms of resident riders or destinations for BRT 

passengers. 

South Virginia Street TOD Iii 



-------------------------------------------------- -

RED Development Located at Virginia Street and Plumb Lane 

Development density is therefore less critical for non-station stretches of the study area (meaning that low-density auto-oriented uses 

interested in locating in the study area should be steered to non-station areas to the extent possible). Pleasing, human-friendly 

architecture, landscaping, and site design near stations is critical for making the required density palatable, and even attractive to residents 

and neighbors. 

M ix of Uses: 

A mix of residential, commercial, and recreational spaces within walking distance of transit stations can enhance livability and encourage 

transit use. Not every station needs to include a full mix of residential and commercial uses, but primary stations that serve as end of the 

line points or multi-modal transportation hubs certainly should. 

Example of Mixed Uses Along Virginia Street (Midtown Reno) 

The mix of uses can be horizontal (side-by-side) or vertical (e.g. apartments above ground-floor commercial), as dictated by the market 

and developer preferences, so long as stations can potentially serve a variety of potential riders and destinations. In addition to smoothing 

out the distribution of passenger demand across stations and day-parts, mixed-use environments can enable shared parking opportunities 

and increase the vibrancy and activity levels around stations (which can also have safety benefits). 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------ - -
SV'l'e)) 

Pedestrian and Bicycle-Friendly Design: 

Safe, convenient pedestrian and cycling infrastructure is vital to encourage transit use and support a healthy community. This criterion is 

most important directly adjacent to station areas, physically connecting passengers with the station platforms to and from buildings, trails, 

or parking areas. Design details for those last hundred feet of connections may only appear closer to the actual opening of the system, 

but the wider network of bicycle/pedestrian trails, crosswalks, walkways, lighting, and other elements, both along the route and into the 

city at large, should be planned for and in place well in advance. 

Separated Pedestrian/Bike Path Example Along Carson Street 

Connectivity and Accessibility: 

Easy and direct access to transit stations from a variety of other transportation modes is key for a successful TOD. This criterion overlaps 

with the last in its emphasis on trail networks and other forms of bike/ped connectivity, but crucially also extends to local non-BRT bus 

route connections. Shuttle services to hotels and workplaces located outside the study area should also be cultivated and accommodated 

to and from major stations. Increasingly, station areas will also need to plan for ride-share and other taxi-like travel modes with convenient, 

non-disruptive pick-up/drop-off zones (a category of accommodation that will likely grow to include driverless cars). 

BRT Transit Stop Located along Virginia Street (Virginia Line) 

South Virginia Street TOD 



SV'l@l) 

-------------------------------------------------- ~ 
Affordable Housing: 

Incorporating affordable housing near transit stations is critical to attract and support transit-dependent populations, such as lower to 

middle-income riders. In the Reno-Sparks metro, awareness and appreciation of transit is currently limited to lower and middle-income 

populations that already rely heavily on transit to get around. While increased awareness and acceptance of transit may grow through 

education and promotion efforts, operational feasibility of a South Virginia transit line will depend on the ability of significant numbers of 

transit-users to find housing they can afford near future station areas. Most cities with effective transit service consider transit access and 

housing affordability to be integral components that work together as part of a comprehensive approach to building social equity. 

Steamboat Apartments Located Along Geiger Grade (SR 341) 

South Virginia Street TOD 



----------------------------------------------------- -
Supporting Criteria in the Study Area 

The existing study area was analyzed for transit supportive development and scored using the criteria listed above to help identify areas 

that are currently being served and to identify areas that can be improved. 

Table 2.1: South Virginia Context Relative to Criteria for Transit-Supportive Development 

How transit-supportive? (!=not at all l=sllghtly, 3=moderately, 4:=strongly, 5--very strongly) 

Criteria 

Compact& 
Focused 
Development 

Mix of Use 

Pedestrian & 
Bicycle
Friendliness 

Connectivity 

Housing 
Affordability 

Current Context 

1 to 2 - overall 

3 - some multifamily and 
industrial areas (depending on 
station location) 

1 to 2 at likely station areas 
overall. 

3 at Meadowood Mall terminus 
area and a few other potential 
station areas (Longley/Huffaker, 
Holcomb Ranch, McCabe) 

(4 at South Meadows Pkwy and 
Double R, but far from likely 
station areas) 

1 to 2 overall 

1 to 2 overall 
2 to 3 at Meadowood Mall 

1 to 2 overall 

Trajectory 

4 - Downtown Damonte, as 
proposed. 

1 to 3 overall, moderately 
supportive in multifamily 
and industrial/employment 
areas 

4 at Downtown Damonte, as 
proposed 

1 to 2 over much of the 
remaining study area 

3 to 4 
Damonte 

at Downtown 

3 to 4 
Damonte 

at Downtown 

1 to 2 within much of the 
study area 

Notes 

Some recent multifamily developments have increased the 
overall corridor density, but none are particularly compact, 
from a typical TOD perspective. There is considerable job 
density overall in the industrial areas east of Sierra Center 
Parkway, though development is not particularly compact. In 
general, patterns of density are more randomly distributed 
than focused at likely station areas 

Though the study area includes an impressive mix of uses 
overall, there are few developments near possible station 
areas featuring a real mix of close-by uses. Different uses 
near potential stations like McCabe and Holcomb Ranch 
tend to be separated by arterial or collector roads and 
typically at lower, suburban densities. 

Nearly the full extent of South Virginia Street is flanked by 
sidewalks in the north with little sidewalks found south of 
Patriot Boulevard, but except in a few areas around new 
developments. Where sidewalks exist these are directly 
adjacent to the busy arterial traffic and interrupted 
frequently by curb cuts. Crosswalk protection and lighting 
are inconsistent. Some bike trails can be found intersecting 
S. Virginia, but not along it. Plans for Downtown Damonte 
reference being ped/bike friendly, but few details are 
available. 

Unlike older parts of Reno surrounding the existing Virginia 
St. BRT, South Virginia lacks an urban grid of surrounding 
local streets, instead relying on a loose network of parkways, 
partially connected streets, and private roads built to satisfy 
one or two developments at a time with little regard for 
overall connectivity. Meadowood Mall serves an intermodal 
function for 2-3 local bus lines, providing access to the North 
Virginia BRT. 

Several Affordable housing projects exist but almost all have 
no access to transit. Establishing reliable transit service along 
S. Virginia Street will help to incentivize more affordable 
housing projects. 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------ - -
5V'l§J> 

Existing Housing and Employment Densities 

Over the past three decades, the study areas population has boomed from 1,500 to 43,000 (based on US Census tracts located within the 

Study Area). With nearly 700 acres of vacant land still available and more potential for redevelopment in older areas, the study area has 

the potential to absorb much of the regional growth that is anticipated in the Truckee Meadows. How to serve this growth with transit is 

hard to determine since the current zoning standards allow for a broad range of possibilities. High density housing and high employment 

center developments are some of the most important when it comes to supporting transit. 

These developments often: 

• Support a mix of uses 
• Allow for people to work and live within a short distance 
• Decrease reliability on personal vehicles by incorporating multimodal design 
• Have access to a surrounding network of trails/sidewalks, bicycle lanes, and transit services 
• Provide quality service to transit users 

Multi-family Apartments 

Tamarack Casino (High Employment Center) 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------5V1®> 

Transit Encouraging Developments 

Developments that encourage transit ridership are those that utilize design elements that support transit and discourage personal vehicle 
use. These developments typically encourage more choice riders. These developments typically: 

• Allow for people to work and live within a short distance 
• Incorporate multimodal design 
• Have access to a surrounding network of trails/sidewalks, bicycle lanes, and transit services 
• Encourage those who own a personal vehicle to use transit out of convenience rather than necessity 

Transit-Friendly Development along South Virginia Street 

Examples include townhome and condo developments and pedestrian-friendly destination retail centers. Traditional shopping malls favor 
parking and vehicles as the primary mode of travel making it difficult for pedestrians to access. Pedestrian-oriented features include 
placing the buildings outward towards the major arterials reducing the distance for transit and active transportation users to traverse 
improving overall comfort and reducing the sense of scale. 

Townhome/Condo Developments South Creek Retail Center 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------ - -
SVl@l) 

Less Transit-Supportive Developments 

These developments typically do not have any elements incorporated in their design to support transit and are more auto oriented. 

• Parking lots dominate the parcels or are large industrial warehouses with minimal employment 
• Typically only support one type of transportation user 
• Not supported by access to a network of trails\sidewalks, bicycle lanes, or transit services 

Non-Transit-Friendly Development along South Virginia Street 

Examples include car/recreational vehicle sales, single-family homes, industrial warehouses, and big box commercial centers. In less transit 
supportive developments parking lots are the prominent feature on the parcel and are barriers to pedestrian and transit-users for their 
firsVlast mile of travel. 

Car Sales Industrial Park 

South Virginia Street TOD Iii 



------------------------------------------------ -
SV'l@D 

Public Outreach Summary 

Ward 2 City of 
Reno NAB 

On June 5, 2023 two public workshops were held in person within the study area to introduce the SVTOD Study to the public. The focus 

of the meeting was to allow citizens to submit comments in person regarding the existing conditions, educate the public on the benefits 

of TODs and solicit feedback. An online survey and story map was also advertised for anyone who couldn't attend. 

The two meetings took place at two locations along the corridor, the Meadowood Mall and the Tamarack Casino. Representatives from 

Wood Rodgers and RTC were there to walk attendees through the materials and encouraged them to comment. In addition to the 

workshop a survey was hosted online for the month of June for anyone who couldn't attend. A summary of some of the most repeated 

themes include: 

✓ Strong support to see transit extended south of Mccarren Blvd. but no consensus on level of service. 

✓ Strong support for increase in frequency of arrival times and expanded hours for route 56. 

✓ Strong support for a cycle track, separated multi-use path, or buffered pedestrian/bicycle path. 

✓ Strong support for multi-modal improvements, sidewalk, and landscape. 

✓ Strong support for landscaped median for safety and control of turn movements. 

✓ Some support for speed reduction. 

✓ Some support for lane reduction. 

✓ Some support for bus only lane or prioritizing bus service at traffic lights. 

Public Workshop at Meadowood Mall 

South Virginia Street TOD II 



------------------------------------------------ -
SV1@D 

Overall, the reception from the public was supportive. A majority of the comments about development within the study area were mixed 

with some in support of dense mixed-use development. A summary of the public meetings and survey results can be found in Appendix 

D of this report. 

A second round of public outreach occurred during the April 16, 2024 Ward 2 Neighborhood Advisory Board meeting (NAB) along with 

a virtual story map and public feedback component. The materials presented at the NAB meeting included materials discussed in the land 

Use Technical Memo and Transit Technical Analysis Memo which were in draft form. This included the types of developments that typically 

support transit, elements presented in the Relmagine Reno Master Plan, existing zoning, and discussions on the proposed Transit Focus 

Areas. Information and graphics including the proposed cross sections included in the NDOT South Virginia Street SMP and how they 

supported the efforts of the SVTOD were also presented. The NAB members then provided comments, a summary of their comments 

include: 

✓ Support of increased transit service along South Virginia Street 

✓ Support of increased nodes of density at Transit Focus Areas along South Virginia Street 

✓ Support of incorporating elements of the Relmagine Reno Master Plan 

✓ Concerns of the level of future transit service and supporting infrastructure (bus shelter types, bus travel lanes, etc.) 

✓ Concerns with the frequency of service not being frequent enough to encourage choice riders 

Story Maps 

Two story map websites were created to present materials virtually. The first was released in June 2023 in tandem with the public 

workshops, which focused on introducing the SVTOD plan and provide background on the study area and the feasibility of extending the 

Virginia Line Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) service along the South Virginia Street. The second was released in April 2024 which provided an 

update to the plan and included elements discussed in the land Use Technical Memo and Transit Technical Analysis Memo which were 

presented during the Ward 2 NAB. An opportunity to provide feedback was provided on the second story map and the responses generally 

concluded: 

✓ Meadowood Mall is the most beneficial Transit Focus Area 

✓ Development Scenario 3 was the most supported growth scenario 

✓ Support for dense transit supportive development along South Virginia Street 

~ W~'...~\L:1in!..> ~.. t Ic~~"I0:.-,,0,-,:l ~ .....:o,.:,:r.n l!I.OD,.,_________ 

South Virginia Street Transit 
Oriented Development 
(SVTOD) 
S, McCarran Blvd to Mt. Rose Hwy: Creating a community 
vision for supporting transit in Reno's South Virginia Street 
Corridor 

-'l'rll::!.02-1 

A1•r111Z024 

Story Map Website 

South Virginia Street TOD 



__SV'IC§D~~------------------- -:?!,!Q 

l 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------ -
SV1@) 

TOD Opportunities 

A total of nearly 700 acres of vacant land has been identified within the study area, which includes both areas that are planned and not 

yet planned for development. The mixed use zoning designations do not have a maximum density and the two PUDs with the most vacant 

land (Damonte Ranch and Pioneer Parkway) have a maximum residential density of 105 du/ac. The comparison between acres of vacant 

land for the most popular zoning districts is shown below in Figure 3.1. The potential growth within these areas will be difficult to predict. 

However, utilizing proposed development data from the City of Reno, as well as using data associated with future development projections 

conducted by the Truckee Meadows Regional Planning Agency (TMRPA) in the 2019 Regional Plan, there is the potential to anticipate an 

additional increase of over 4,000 residential units, and over 400 acres of nonresidential development that will be added to the study area. 

To help understand the potential growth of the study area it will be important to work closely with landowners, the City of Reno, Washoe 

County, and TMRPA. 

Mixed-Use Public Facilities .,.. _ Professional 
Urban ----.: .1% ...._ ~ Office 
1.3% 0.3% 

Mixed-Use 
Suburban 

Medium 18.4% 
Density 

Suburban 
2.7% 

I 
Low-Density_ 

Urban 
0.2% 

Figure 3.1 Vacant Land Zoning 

Proposed Developments 

The study area, while predominantly suburban, includes a mix of vacant parcels and potential redevelopment sites as identified in Figure 

3.2. Until recently, almost all developments along the inner portions of the study area were commercial - ranging across retail, auto 

dealerships, low-rise office, lodging/casino, and light industrial. More recently over the past five years Reno, like much of the Western U.S. 

experienced a boom in multifamily residential development. Examples of which can now be found along the central portions of the study 

area amid commercial uses. In fact, many of the remaining empty land assemblies and identified redevelopment possibilities include 

medium to high density residential as part of the proposed use plans. Planned developments are primarily concentrated around Damonte 

Ranch. While some planning and design has been discussed much of the acreage has yet to see actual building permits filed and could 

change depending on market conditions. 

South Virginia Street TOD IEI 



__________...,.________________________________________ _ 

Legend 

Virginia Street TOD 
..,. South Virginia Street 

Damonte Alternative 

□ Existing Multi-Family Residential 

Redevelopment Opportunities (76 Acres) 

Vacant Planned Development (514 Acres) 

Vacant Land ( 162 Acres) 

\ 
N 

~--IMiles 
0 0.5 

Figure 3.2 TOD Opportunities 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------ - -
SV'l@D 

Transit Focus Areas 

In support of the Relmagine Reno 

Master Plan which encourages 

increased density along the 

Community/Neighborhood Centers, 

as identified in Chapter 2 

(Meadowood Mall, South Meadows 

Parkway, Downtown Damonte, and 

Summit Mall), the plan also 

encourages this development to 

occur at major intersections within 

the study area, (Longley Lane and 

Damonte Ranch Parkway). The 

SVTOD Study expands on these areas 

identified in the Relmagine Reno 

Master plan and includes the addition 

of two more (McCabe Drive and 

Pioneer Parkway) based on a number 

of other factors including availability 

of vacant land, existing employment, 

existing multi-family developments, 

projected population growth, and 

projected employment growth within 

the study area. Figure 3.3 displays 

the transit focus area locations within 

the study area. 

0 0.5 

Miles 

( 

Figure 3.3 Transit Focus Areas 

South Virginia Street TOD 



---------------------------------------------- -SV1®> 

Application of Land Use Tools 

The Transit Focus Areas in Figure 3.3 are intended to be where the main application of the land use tools is encouraged to help stimulate 

and encourage transit supportive development. However, these tools may be applied within any portion of the study area to play a part 

in encouraging transit-supportive elements in a suburban environment. 

Land Use Tools to Increase Transit Supportive Development in the Study Area 

Recapping the Policy Challenges of Reno's Existing Zoning 

The current Reno Master Plan (2021) encourages alternate forms of transportation as a strategy for incorporating transit-oriented 

development, indicating the City will: 

Prioritize transit-oriented development in regional and employment centers, along urban 
corridors and other locations that are currently served by or are planned to be served byhigh
frequency transit service (t:e., peak hour headways of 15 minutes or less) and/or fixed-route 
transit (i.e., bus rapid transit). Continue to encourage transit-supportive development in more 
remote employment centers, suburban corridors, and other locations that are currently served 
by high-frequency transit during peak hours. 

Addressing the challenge of extending transit service into suburban south Reno, requires a multi-faceted approach. Since zoning 

regulations already permit a high degree of density and flexibility but the current development pattern isn't aligning with transit-oriented 

goals, the Land Use Technical Memo provides a land use toolkit that highlights some strategies that the city might consider. By employing 

a combination of these strategies within the transit focus areas, future developments will be more aligned with promoting a transit

supportive environment even in areas that currently exhibit suburban, auto-centric characteristics. 

Meadowood Mall RTC Transfer Station 

South Virginia Street TOD 



SV1@l) 

------------------------------------------------ - -== 
Toolkit Recommendations 

Tools for promoting transit-supportive development can be grouped into at least four main categories: Land Use, Economic (including 

Incentives and Financing), Public Outreach, and System Related as shown in the TOD Toolkit table found in Appendix B - Table 13 of the 
land Use Tech Memo. There are many overlaps and dependencies across the various tools and they are intended to be used in 
combination, leveraging one another towards the goal steering transit-oriented and transit-supportive development Below is a summary 

of the land use tools: 

(W; - ' ....- - ~i::'.i ..... ~-7.-r.r. ;-F..~ 
'-----U 

Land Use Planning, Design Station Area Plans 
Involve elements of the City of Reno Reimagine Reno Master Plan, Focused Rezoning or Overlay Zones at Transit Focus Areas 
land use regulations, and approaches to urban design. 

Balancing Regulation with Incentives 

Economic Tools Infrastructure Improvements 

Covers an overlapping set of real estate approaches, funding 
mechanisms, and selective favorable treatments that help to bridge 
economic feasibility gaps for desired projects. 

Public-Private Partnerships & Joint Development 

Affordable and Workforce Housing 

Outreach and Public Relations Community Engagement and Education: 
Involves community outreach and engagement, being a cheerleader 
for successful transit supportive development, and educating the 
public on the importance of transit supportive development. 

Engage Developers to Leverage Existing Projects 

Community Support and Advocacy 

System-Related Early Express-Only Phase 
Involves the logistics of system operations and the surrounding 
transportation infrastructure. 

Transit Prioritization 

Table 3.1: Land Use Tools Summary 

Transit Focus Area Opportunities 

The Transit Focus Areas identified in Figure 3.3 have been analyzed to highlight the opportunities where the land use tools can be 

applied. Although this may not represent a full list of opportunities this incorporates a list of goals jurisdictions and developers can 

pursue to help support transit within the study area: 

Meadowood Mall 

The Meadowood Mall transit focus area (Figure 3.4) exhibits multiple qualities that indicate the potential for future transit-supportive 

and transit-oriented development. The RTC transfer station is located at the mall which is surrounded by the mixed-use urban zoning. 
The majority of the redevelopment opportunities as shown in the map are located adjacent to Meadowood Mall and along South Virginia 

St at the retail hubs including the mall which may be appropriate for redevelopment. Although it includes a concentration of jobs and are 
popular travel destinations for shoppers, suburban shopping malls like Meadowood Mall, at the northern end of the Study Area are not 
developed with transit service in mind. Although Meadowood is, in fact, the southern terminus of the existing Virginia Street BRT line, that 
station area is within a commercial development dominated by surface parking and auto-oriented interior transportation facilities. 

In the near term, that property may continue to expand its bike and pedestrian amenities and other transit-supportive design 
accommodations, which should help improve its functional role as a potential multimodal hub. Over the longer planning horizon, 
Meadowood is a good candidate for more dramatic redevelopment, following in the path of many aging suburban enclosed malls across 

the country - shifting away from a purely retail destination function to a mix of land uses including residential, scaled-back and more 
neighborhood-serving retail, along with "other" uses and services that could include educational. medical, entertainment or even tech
oriented employment. 

With a property roughly the same size as the planned Downtown Damonte (nearly 70 acres within the Meadowood Mall Circle), such a 
repurposing, if planned with transit service as an integral component, could make the Meadowood Mall property an excellent source for 
(and beneficiary of) future BRT ridership. 

South Virginia Street TOD 



---------------------------------------------------------- - --SV1@I> 

Meadowood Mall/RTC Xfer Center 
C] City of Reno Limits Future Opporlunites Multi-Family Residential (21 Units Per ■ Professional Office 

Acre)
Vacant/Infill@ Signalized Intersections ½ Mixed-Use Airport 
Development Multi-Family Residential (30 Units Per 
Opportunity Acre) ■ Industrial CommercialC:) Existing Bus Stops 
Redevelopment/Infill Large-Lot Residential (2.5 Acres) ■ Public Facilities 
Opportunity 

~ Mixed-Use Urban
Study Corridors 

Expand City Boundary/ L Planned Unit Development 
- South Virginia Street MS Zoning ".S Mixed-Use Suburban Specific Plan District 
ca:c Damonte Alternative TOD Level ■ General Commercial

Development (Existing/Opportunity Area 
Proposed)

tzzl 1nfill 

IS::SJ Vacant 

Figure 3.4 Meadowood Mall Transit Focus Area 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------------- -
SV1@I> 

1,000 

Feet 

Longley Lane 
tc::] City ot Reno Limits 

@ Signalized Intersections 

C!) Existing Bus Stops 

~ Potential Transit Node 

Study Corridors 

- South Virginia Street 

i::::1:1:1:1 Damon le Alternative 

Opportunity Area 

[ZZJ Infill 

[S:SJ Vacan1 

Future Opportunttes Single-Family Residential (3 Units Per 
Acre)

Va conl/lnfill 
DevelOpment Single-Family Residential (8 Units Per 
Oppot1unity Acre) 

Redevelopmenl/lnfitl Mulli-Farnily Residential {14 Units Per 
Opportunity Acre) 

Expand Cily Boundary/ Multi-Family Residential (30 Units Per 
MS Zoning Acre) 

TOD Level Large-Loi Residential (2 ,5 Acres) 
Development (Existing/ 
Proposed) ~ ''. Mixed.Use Suburban 

Figure 3.5 Longley Lane Transit Focus Area 

Neighborhood Commercial 

■ General Commercial 

■ Professional Office 

ffl Industrial Commerc ial 

!_ . Planned Unit Development 

Specmc Plan Dislricl 

The Longley Lane transit focus area consists primarily of MS zoning along South Virginia Street and features a large concentration of 

multi-family residential (30 units per acre) housing developments. Additional multi-family housing is under construction within the study 

area and the rest is dominated by a mix of old and new retail . To the east is a mix of medium and low-density housing and farther up 

Longley Lane there is a large industrial zoning. Redevelopment opportunities for TOD exist on smaller lots close to Virginia St. and is 

mostly infill. 

South Virginia Street TOD Iii 



---------------------------------------------------------- - -SV1@J> 

Feet 

South Meadows Pkwy 
~ City of Reno Limi1s Future Opportunites Single-Family Residential (3 Uni1s Per Lmge-Lot Residential [ 1 Acre) 

,4 .cre)
Vacant/Infill Laige-Lot Residential (2.5 Acres) @ Sianalizcd lnlcr'.icc1ions Developrner it Single-Family Residential (8 Uni1s Per 
Oppor1unity Acre) 1V1ixed-Use SuburbanC!) 

Q 
Existing Bus Stops 

Redevelopmcnl/lnfill Single Family Residential 111 Units Per Iii General Commercial 
Opportunity ,'lcre)

Potentiol Tronsi' I\Jode 
Fxpond City Boundary/ Multi-Family Residential I14 Units Per ■ Public Facilities 

Study Corridors MS Zoning Acree) Planned Uni! Dcveloprnen1 
TOD Level r...~ulti-Family Residential (30 Units Per- South Virginia Street 
Developrnent (Existin9/ Acre) 

c::a::::ci Damon1e Alternalive Proposed) 

Opportunity Area 

IZZJ lnlill 

rs:sJ Vocam 

Figure 3.6 South Meadows Parkway Transit Focus Area 

The predominant zoning along South Virginia Street in this area is MS consisting of largely traditional commercial operators including car 

dealerships, RV sales, public storage, and big box stores. The South Creek Retail Center located at the intersection of South Meadows 

Pkwy and South Virginia St is newer mixed-use development with an enhanced focus on pedestrian access. Redevelopment opportunities 

are available across the street from the South Creek Retail Center and on vacant infill lots. The City limits may be expanded here to increase 

the redevelopment opportunities. 

So ut h \/ irgir1ir:: S\·reet TOD D 



------------------------------------------------------- -
SV'l@l> 

McCabe Drive 
□ City ot Reno Limits future Opporlunites Multi-Family Residential (14 Units Per Acre) 

Vacant/Infill Multi-Family Residential (21 Units Per Acre)@ Signalized lntersec1ions Development 
Opportunity ~ Mixed-Use Suburban C!) Existing Bus Stops 
Redevelopment/Infill

Q ■ General Commercial
Opportunity

Potential Transit l"Jode 
Expand Cify Boundary/ ii Public Facilities 

Study Corridors MS Zoning ! Planned Unit Development 

... South Virginia Street TOD Level 
Devetop(llent (Existing/ 

CCICICI Damonle Alternalive P<Opoledl 

Opportunity Area 

IZZJ Infill 

l:s:sJ Vacant 
Figure 3.7 McCabe Drive Transit Focus Area 

The zoning along South Virginia Street is largely MS but this area has the largest available vacant land along South Virginia Street. A 

large vacant lot recommended for TOD exists across from two high density multi-family residential developments, one of which is 

currently under construction. Other older developments exist in this area and Bishop Manogue Catholic High School, located in Washoe 

County is surrounded by less transit supportive car dealerships. Any future transit-supportive projects in this area could enhance the 

transit opportunities and serve the existing transit supportive residential. 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------------- - ~ 

Demonte Ranch Pkwy 
C City of Reno Limils Future Opportunites Mixed-Use Suburban 

Vacant/Infill ■ Public Facilities @ Signalized lntersec1ions Development 
Opportunity Planned Unit DevelopmentC:) Existing Bus Stops 
Redevelopment/In till 

Q 
Specific Plan Dislrict

Opportunity
Potential Transit Node 

Expand City Boundary/ 
Study Corridors MS Zoning 

TOD Level- South Virginia Street 
Development (Existing/ 

r:::a:::ci Damonte Alternative Proposed) 

Opportunity Area 

fZZI Infill 

cs:sJ Vacanl 
Figure 3.8 Damonte Ranch Parkway Transit Focus Area 

The area is primarily MS and PUD zoning to the east supporting a big box retail development with a light industrial business park. These 

large parking lots may eventually be feasible for infill redevelopment, but these opportunities are limited based on the age of the existing 

retail. The TOD opportunities are largely infill lots to the west of South Virginia Street and include opportunities to expand the City Limits 

into Washoe County to increase the MS zoning. The Tamarack Casino is largely reliant on transit for many of its employees and as the 

area develops additional opportunities for expansion and redevelopment around the casino exist. These future developments can take 

advantage of transit supportive development and serve the existing multifamily that exists along Arrowcreek Parkway. 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------ - -
SV'l@J) 

Downtown Damonte 

The Downtown Damonte transit focus area (Figure 3.9) falls almost entirely within the Damonte Ranch PUD zoning with small sections of 

public facilities zoning. There are currently no redevelopment opportunities that exist due to the PUD built-out. The most important single 

Study Area planned development. in terms of transit-supportive land use, is Downtown Damonte, the planned mixed-use focal point for 

the broader Damonte Ranch cluster of residential development in south Reno. The developer partnership of Nevada Pacific Development 

Corp. and The Di Loreto Companies describe the project in their site planning materials as "a walkable canvas of dining, housing, office, 

retail, medical, recreational, and commercial opportunities with a target occupancy date of late 2024 to early 2025." 

That 73-acre project, as proposed, would include up to 900 residential units - almost one fifth of the total residential unit development 

in the larger Damonte Ranch master-planned development. As such, the Downtown Damonte area alone could account for as many future 

added residents as are projected for the entire northern two-fifths of the Study Area, above Foothills Blvd./South Meadows Pkwy. 

In short, Downtown Damonte, despite not being a prototypical pedestrian-focused TOD, has a great deal of promise for being a TOD 

catalyst given its planned future density of housing units, employment, and likely clustering of dining and shopping. While employees of 

the development's lodging and retail establishments would be possibly transit-dependent, most of the new pool of prospective riders 

would likely include mostly riders-by-choice, given the upscale nature of most of the conceived project components for the site therefore 

requiring a significant increase in awareness and acceptance of mass transit use among the higher wage earners. 

Downtown Damonte Concept Drawing 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------------- - -
SY'©> 

N 

Feet A 
Downtown Demonte 

Damonte Parkway 
Connection (Future) 

C City of Reno Limits 

@ s;gnalized Intersections 

(!) Existing Bus Stops 

Q Potential Tran:,:t l'>lode 

Study Corridors 

- South Virgin·,a Street 

CICl:CI Damonte Alternative 

Opportunity Area 

E:ZJ Infill 

[SSI Vacant 

Future Opporlunites 

Vacant/Infill 
Development 
Opportunity 

Redevelopment/Infill 
Opportunity 

Expand City Boundary/ 
MS Zoning 

TOD Level 
Developmenl (Existing/ 
Proposed) 

•:•·_ Mixed-Use Suburban 

■ Public Facilities 

CJ Planned Unit Development 

Figure 3.9 Downtown Damonte Transit Focus Area 

South Vir·ginia Street TOD 



---------------------------------------------------------- -

Pioneer Parkway 
-,-- Damonte Parkway Opportunity Area Single-Family Residentia l (5 Units Pei 
__ Connection (Fuwre) Acre)EZJ Infill 

Single-lan,i;y Residen1ia, (8 Unils r}er
cs:sl Vacanr Acre) 

Signalized lntersec1Klns 

C City of Reno Limiis 

Future Opportunites l-/1ixed-Use Suburban 

Vacant/Infill 
Development 
Opp0liiJnity ■ Gcn121·a1 Con..,,morcial 

Existing Bus Stoos ~leighborhood Commercial 

Poten tial Tramii t-!-cde 
Redevelopment/Infill Parks. Greenways and Open Space

Study Corridors 0ppor1unity 
Public Facilitiesfxpand City Boun dary/ 

MS Zoning 
- Sourh Virginia St1ee~ 

Planned Unit Development
c::ccci Damonie Alternaiive 

10D Levei 
[)cvclopm un! (l:xislinQ/ Specific Plan District 

Proposed) 
Figure 3.10 Pioneer Parkway Transit Focus Area 

The Pioneer Parkway transit focus area is located in the heart of the Pioneer Parkway PUD and consists entirely of the PUD zoning. This 

development was approved in 2008 but has yet to break ground. The connection from the terminus of Damonte Ranch Parkway to the 

Veterans Parkway/Geiger Grade (SR 341)/Mount rose Highway (SR 431) roundabout is anticipated to be completed as part of this 

development. With the potential to add thousands of residential units, this focus area can encourage transit supportive design into the 

future development, including serving the existing affordable housing project located along Gieger Grade (SR 341). 

.South Virgi ri iu SL:•ee t TOD Iii 



----------------------------------------------------- -
SW§?> 

Summit Mall 
Dari1on:e Parkv,1ay Opportunity Area Single-Family Resider,tial (5 Units Per 
Connecrion (Future) Acre)

CZ]1nfill 
□ City of Reno Limits Single•-F-amily !,.;esiderdial (8 Units Percs::sl Acre)Vacan1

@ Signalized lnterseclior.s Future Opportunites Mixed. Use Suburban 

Vacant/lnfi:i 
Oevelooment 

Q Opportunity ■ Ge neral Con·irncrcioi 

(:) Exl::.ting Bus Stops t·leiqhborhood Con1mercial 

Potential Transit Node 
Redevelooment/lnrili Industrial 

Study Corridors Opportunity 

Parks. Greenv✓ ays ana Open Space 
- Sou1h Virginia S1reet Expand Ci !y Boundary/ 

MS Zoning Public Facililies 
c:a::::cl Damon:e Alterria1ive 

TOD Level 
P1onncd Unil DcveloDmcntOevcloor,1enl /Fxi-;linn/ 

Proposed) 
Figure 3.11 Summit Mall Transit Focus Area 

The tentative southern terminus is located within a regional lifestyle retail center known as The Summit Mall which includes 65 stores with 

just over 500,000 square feet of surface-parked retail space representing a concentration of possible employment and the !nova 

Apartment complex that includes a portion of units dedicated to affordable housing. A large industrial employment center to the south 

is currently planned but the more notable opportunities for a future transit supportive development include revitalizing existing centers 

where large parking areas could be converted to vertical parking with additional commercial added. 

South Virginie Street TOD 



__:SV'l@D=-- -::.:;~Q---------------------

-

J 
I 

South Virginia StreetTOD 



_________________________________________________ ._,,., 

Transit Supportive Land Use 

Transit exists to get people where they want to go, such as home, work, school, a friend's house, or an appointment. In other words, there 

must be a market for transit to serve. Transit demand is strongly related to six factors: 

■ Population and Population Density: Transit relies on having more people in close proximity to service. Higher population density 

makes it possible to provide higher levels of transit service. 

■ Socioeconomic Characteristics: People may be more or less likely to use transit based on socioeconomic characteristics. For 

example, households with one or no cars are much more likely to use transit than households with several cars. 

■ Jobs and Job Density: Traveling to and from work often accounts for the most frequent type of transit trip. As a result, the location 

and density of jobs is a strong indicator of transit demand and the level of transit service that is possible. 

■ Land Use Patterns: In all cities, there is a strong correlation between land use patterns and transit ridership. In areas with denser 

development, mixed-use development, and a good pedestrian environment, transit can be very convenient for more people. 

■ Major Activity Centers: Large employers, universities, tourism destinations, and other high-activity areas attract large volumes of 

people and can generate a large number of transit trips. 

■ Travel Flows: People use transit to get from one place to another. Major transit lines such as rapid transit services or high 

. frequency bus routes are designed to serve trips or corridors with high volumes of travel. 

Of these six factors, population and job density are the most important when it comes to demand for transit and how much service is 

feasible to provide. This is because transit viability hinges on the intensity and distribution of land use. 

Future Development and Transit in the Study Area 

Looking to the future, the TMRPA's 2022 Washoe County Consensus Forecast anticipates the county to grow at a rate of 0.92 percent. 

This would result in an increase in population of 98,299 and an increase in employment totaling 68,000 jobs from 2022 to 2042. 

Considering the range of development that is allowed in the zoning that was discussed earlier, and considering there are nearly 700 acres 

of vacant land with the potential of more through redevelopment, the amount of growth that is absorbed within the study area will 

depend on the type of development that occurs in these areas. Therefore, the best way to plan for future growth will be through analyzing 

several development scenarios. These scenarios will help to predict the types of population and job growth that the study area can 

anticipate over the next thirty years to help better predict the type of transit that can be supported within the study area. 

The following scenarios are based on the Traffic Analysis Zones (TAZ) that intersect the study area. From the TAZs the forecasted 

population growth and job growth were then projected based on specific scenarios impacting land use changes within the study area. 

This allowed each scenario to project where the population and job growth would occur throughout the study area. In all a total of ninety 

(90) TAZs were analyzed as part of this process. Under each scenario specific population growth rates and job rates were applied to the 

existing TAZ totals based on the opportunity areas identified in Chapter 3 (Figure 3.2). A comparison of the scenarios and change in each 

TAZ group by scenario can be referenced in Appendix B- land Use Tech Memo. 

It should be noted that these growth scenarios will be used to model future transit routes and the anticipated ridership. While the types 

of development proposed in these scenarios directly impacts the population and job growth, the total population and jobs will help to 

determine the type of transit that can serve the study area and how the future growth patterns represent the development scenarios. To 

determine which transit service would best serve the study area, Figure 4.1 shows the correlation and accompanying thresholds between 

the study area land use characteristics (e.g., population and job densities) and transit service types and treatments. The main takeaway 

from this research is that denser corridors are more supportive of high capacity and more frequent transit service. For example, a low

density development found adjacent to the corridor in Washoe County may have a subdivision which allows one-third acre lots, or three 

dwelling units per acre (3 du/ac). At 2.65 persons per household, this would equal eight (8) persons per acre and would be supportive of 

micro transit, rideshare, and volunteer driver program according to Figure 4.1. Conversely for a high-density development in the City of 

South Virginia Street TOD 



---------------------------------------------- -
SV"l@l> 

Reno Mixed Use zoning (MU) requires a minimum of eighteen dwelling units per acre (18 du/ac) along Virginia Steet, or forty-eighty (48) 

people per acre (based on 2.65 persons per household) and would be supportive of BRT, Rapid Transit, or a local bus service. 

LAND USE 

Residents 
Land Use Type per Acre 

uAifff]
Downtowns & 

>45 
High Density Corridors 

30-45 
Urban 

Mixed-Use 

Neighborhood & 
Surburban Mixed-Use 

Mixed 10-15 
Neighborhoods 

d't)~,ift 
Low Density 2-10 

<2 

Jobs 
per Acre 

>25 

15-25 

5-10 

2-5 

TRANSIT 

Appropriate 
Types of Transit 

I 

~ 
Ught 
Rail 

BRT 

Local 
Bus 

Local 
Bus 

Micro• 
transit 

Q Q 
BRT Rapid 

Bus 
Local 
Bus 

p p 
Rapid 

Bus 
Local 
Bus 

Micro
transit 

~ (iii) 
Rldeshare Volunteer 

Driver Pgm 

Frequency 
of Service 

~ 10 mins 
or better 

10-15 
minutes 

30-60 
minutes 

60mins 
or less or 

• On Demand 

<2 on Demand 
Rldeshare Volunteer 

Drtver Pgm 

Figure 4.1: Land Use Characteristics vs Transit Service Typology 

Looking at the types of development supported in each development scenario in Figures 4.2, 4.3, and 4.4 and comparing it to appropriate 

transit in Figure 4.1, it provides support that by encouraging more transit supportive development, which includes greater housing 

density (residents per acre) and employment Gobs per acre), the more likely a BRT style of transit service would be supported in the future. 

Another way to look at these scenarios and how they support transit is to predict the potential ridership based on the surrounding 

population of the existing Lincoln Line and Virginia Line and comparing those percentages to the proposed scenarios. Table 4.1 shows 

the existing Lincoln Line supports around 4.5% of the surrounding population and the Virginia Line supports 6.5%. The RTC generally 

considers these ridership numbers successful when supporting BRT and have been applied to the development scenarios to determine 

which level of population would be most supportive of transit in the study area. 

South Virginia Street TOD 



SV1@l)--=---------------------------------.._.....,_,...,___..,....,.....,___ _ 
Table 4.1: Projected Transit Ridership 

Existing South Virginia Street Corridor 43,0001 

Development Scenario 14 58,000 

Development Scenario 24 64,000 

Future Growth Scenario 34 75,000 

Notes: 
1. 2020 population of census tracts adjacent to each corridor 
2. 2019 average daily ridership 

1,290 - 2,150 

1,740 - 2,900 

1,920- 3,200 

2,400 - 4,000 

3. Forecast potential South Virginia Street ridership based on corridor population 

3-5% 

3-5% 

3-5% 

3-5% 

4. Forecasted 2050+ o ulation based on land use scenarios and level of future infill/redevelo ment 

The three potential development scenarios for how the study area will grow over the next three decades utilize current zoning designations 

and vacant land and redevelopment opportunities in the TAZ. Each scenario anticipates how the type of future development can impact 

the potential to add additional population and job growth which then affect the types of transit that can be supported in the study area. 

The projected population and job growth in the following scenarios are based on a percentage of the total estimated regional growth 

forecasted by the Truckee Meadows Regional Planning Agency. The forecasted numbers were then expanded upon in Scenario 2 and 3 

using the appropriate TAZ to calculate a more accurate representation of how the area can grow when applying the land use tools 

provided in Table 3.1. This data projects the growth for the years 2020 through 2050 and pick up where the last census data leaves off. 

Similarly looking at the development pattern of the previous thirty years (1990-2020), as analyzed in Chapter 1. How much regional 

growth is absorbed within the study area will depend on the level of density constructed on the vacant and redeveloped land. The 

development scenarios shown in Figures 4.2, 4.3, and 4.4 show how the types of future development impact population and job growth 

within the study area and how this projection impacts the estimated number of riders per day. 

Scenario 1, which anticipates growth to continue as it has historically with a mix of transit supportive and non-transit supportive 

development throughout the study area assumes a population and job growth rate of one percent (1%), the projected population would 

at minimum support a fixed route. Scenario 2, which applies the land use tools to encourage transit supportive development at the transit 

focus areas assumes a population growth rate of one and a half percent (1.5%) and a job growth rate of more than one percent (1.2%) 

and starts to support a population that could support a transit service that is more like BRT. Scenario 3, which anticipates transit supportive 

development throughout the study area even outside of the transit focus areas, assumes a growth model which is typically seen with the 

Mixed-Use Urban (MU) zoning designation which includes a minimum density requirement of 0.75 Floor Area Ratio (FAR) for non

residential development and 18 dwelling units per acre (du/acre) for residential. The population and job growth rate under this scenario 

is near two percent (2.0%) and estimates a population that is the most supportive of BRT. A detailed analysis of the projected growth is 

further outlined in Appendix B - Land Use Technical Memo. 

South Virginia Street TOD 



-------------------------------------------- - -
SV1@X> 

SCENARIO 1 

Scenario 1 anticipates development of vacant 

land/redevelopment under the status quo. Future 

development within vacant land along South Virginia 

Street will continue to be a broad range of uses and 

densities that may or may not support transit. 

Population Increase: 15,000 

Job Growth: 15.000 

Route 56 & Regional 
Connector

Transit Service 

WJll9 

Riders Der Day* 

S. Virginia St. Development 

Projected 2050 
Population 

Land 
Use/Zoning 

~Hftt~,~ 
Mixed 

Neighborhoods 

~C@ 
. ~;:_,~~h~~ 
'I• 1[, 1(~1 

S. Virginia 
Fixed-Route Transit 

9......t ...<t •••91 
I 

±2,000 
(3.5% of projected 

population) 

I 
Scenario 1 

±58,000 

Mixed Use 
Suburban 

Appropriate 

Types of TransitLand Use Type 

Nel l)hborhood 8 
Surbu•b~n Mlxcd-v,c 

Residents Jobs Frequency 

Per Acre Per Acre of Service 

T0-7S 
Local 
Bus 

Figure 4.2: Development Scenario 1 

South Virginia Street TOD 



----------------------------------------- -SVl@l> 

SCENARIO 2 

Scenario 2 antid pates a mere active role using the Transit Focus 

Areas discussed in Chapter 3 to help guide t ransit supportive 

developments within the study area. Development outside the 

Transit Focus Areas are anticipated to remain a mix of non-t ransit 

and transit supportive development. This scenario assumes: 

Population Increase: 21,000 

Job Growth: 19,000 

Route 56 & Regional S. Virginia 
Connector Fixed-Route Transit 

Transit Service 
WO·Q• • - - --L9mamaGla.tmm ..9_______..,_____, 
±1,000 ±2,000 

Riders Der Day* (2% of projecte_d (3.5% of projected 
population)_· population) 

S. Virginia St. Development Scenario 1 

±43,000
Projected 2050 

(2020 us Census ±58,000 
Population population). 

Land Mixed Use Transit Focus 
Use/Zoning Suburban Areas 

Residents Jobs Appropriate Frequency 
Land Use Type Per Acre Per Acre Types ofTransit of Service 

10-15
30-45 15-25 minutesUrban BRT Rapid Local 

Mixed-Us Bus Bus 

Figure 4.3: Development Scenario 2 

South Virginia Street TOD 



Transit Focus 
Areas 

Mixed Use 
Urban 

SV'l@D 

----------------------------------=====-=-- - -
SCENARIO 3 

~ o aantJd.pates Infill transit SJJP~rtlve development~lang 

the_ en'ti~ S~uth Viftlinia Ceri'ldor with ~oncenttated nod'~ af 
higher dev~l0pmijr,¢ at the identifi~ T~nsit Faaas A~ in 
Scenaria 2. Jn this scenarfa developmenttl\roughaut the study area 
is similar tG> that Wlthin, the Mixed l)se Ur-ban (MU) ,za,ning 
designation, north of the study area. This stenano assumes: 

~pulation lm:rease: 32,000 
Job Growth: 30,000 5V1@) 

Route 56 & Regional S. Virginia Bus Rapid Transit Connector Fixed-Route Transit 
Transit Service 

Q W.QliJl
ll•••••••••a•• 

±2,000 
Riders Der Day* (3.5% of projected 

population) 

S. Virginia St. Development Scenario 1 

Projected 2050 ±58,000Population 

Land Mixed Use 
Use/Zoning Suburban 

Residents Jobs Appropriate Frequency 
Land Use Type Per Acre Per Acre Types ofTransit of Service 

Q Q (!) 10 mins>45uAffl >25 ~ or betterDowntowns& Ught BRT Rapid Local 
High o.,,,lty Corridors Rall Bus Bui 

Figure 4.4: Development Scenario 3 

±43,000 -
(2020 US Census 

population) 

South Virginia Street TOD D 



---------------------------------------------- -
5V1@D 

Future Transit Route 

Although the number of average daily riders based on the current population seems promising, there are many factors that influence 

ridership beyond population. When performing the Simplified Trips-on-Project Software (STOPS) modeling for this corridor based on the 

existing ridership data, the model concluded that at minimum a fixed route may be supported in the corridor, but due to the lack of transit 

in this area, the modeling data wasn't conclusive and further analysis and modeling should be required prior to proposing any type of 

BRT transit service. At minimum, adding a fixed route may help to generate the ridership data needed for more accurate modeling and if 

successful would be the first step towards providing BRT service in the study area as transit should be introduced in a phased approach. 

This process has already begun with the introduction of the FlexRIDE service that currently provides on demand service to portions of the 

study area, as well as Route 56 which currently runs along a portion of the corridor. 

The success of a fixed route service in the study area will depend on serving the most populated areas. A detailed analysis of four (4) 

alternative routes the details of the STOPS model are discussed in detail in Appendix C - Transit Technical Memo. Currently the most 

logical extension would include stops at Meadowood Mall in the north, and the Downtown Damonte area in the south. Providing two 

ridership generators the at the beginning and end of a future transit route, the transit supportive developments surrounding Meadowood 

Mall and the transit supportive development proposed at Downtown Damonte, would be critical to the success of BRT and would help to 

provide the ridership proposed in Table 4.1. However, as development continues throughout the corridor, this should be monitored to 

ensure these developments continue to support transit. 

Efforts to Support Development Scenarios 

Success of transit in the study area is not only influenced by land use decisions made outside jurisdictional control. The use of right of 

way and context of the roadway corridor will also have an impact on the level of transit that can be supported along South Virginia Street. 

As noted throughout the plan, NDOT is finalizing its SMP, the recommendations for which, once implemented, could have a profound 

effect on future transit and development. 

Improvements Being Considered 

Corridor-Wide 
Improvements: 

• New speed limit 

• New mid-block 
crossings 

• ADA improvements 

• Improved lighting 

• And more! 

Side Running 
Transit 

Center 
Running Transit 

Recreational 
Trail 

Buffered 
Bicycle Lanes 

Figure 4.5: SMP Improvements 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------ -
Safety Management Plan 

As part of the SVTOD plan improvement considerations were given to recommendations made in the Roadway Safety Audit (RSA) of 

South Virginia Street from East Patriot Blvd to Mount Rose Highway. Safety improvements will be evaluated for inclusion in the updated 

Nevada Department ofTransportation Safety Management Plan as shown in Figure 4.S. The proposed improvements will be incorporated 

into the NDOT right of way in the future to increase safety and plan for transit within the South Virginia Street corridor shown in Figure 

4.6. 

Certain elements of the proposed improvements being considered can be included in any portion of the NDOT right-of-way. Since the 

NDOT SMP was being conducted during the same time as the SVTOD plan, RTC and NDOT staff worked closely during this process to 

ensure that efforts being considered complement one another. The final preferred alternative for this portion of the corridor will be outline 

in the NDOT SMP. Any element shown in Figure 4.5 above can be mixed and matched throughout the corridor and may be provided in 

a phased approach. Therefore, ongoing coordination between NDOT and RTC to ensure each agency's needs will be met and to preserve 

right of way for future transit enhancements will continue. The addition of bike/ped facilities and improved safety (crosswalks, lighting, 

reduced speeds, etc.) will also go a long way to providing transit-supportive infrastructure. This will influence and encourage additional 

transit-supportive development as is supported in this plan. 

c:.J TOD Study Area 

Study Corridors 

00 SVTOD = NDOTS!udy 

Figure 4.6: SMP Corridor, E. Patriot Blvd to Mount Rose Highway 

South Virginia Street TOD 



- ~~~------------------- -SV'l§J)Q 

J 

q .. '. ·_. " 



------------------------------------------------ - -
SV'l@l) 

What will the Next 30 Years Bring? 

Over the past three decades, the study area population has boomed from 1,500 to 43,000 (based on US Census tracts located within the 

Study Area). With nearly 700 acres of vacant land still available and more potential for redevelopment in older areas, the study area has 

the ability to absorb much of the regional growth that is anticipated in the Truckee Meadows. Planning now for the future growth will 

allow the infrastructure to support a more multimodal, walkable corridor with higher density development concentrated around transit 

focus areas. The Mixed Use Suburban Zoning provides the framework for higher density to support a more robust transit system; however, 

transit supportive development patterns have been slower to take shape. Action items to help encourage transit supportive development 

have been identified in Table 5.1 below. Many of these action items will require ongoing support and continued partnership among the 

agencies with various responsibilities within the study area; both from an implementation perspective as well as working together to find 

opportunities to encourage more sustainable growth patterns. 

Table 5.1: SVTOD Action Plan 

Land Use Strategies 

LU1 Expand City boundary to include opportunity s City of Will require a Regional Plan and City 

areas into Mixed Use Suburban Zoning Reno/TMRPA Master Plan. 

LU2 Expand Mixed Use Urban Zoning F City of Reno Currently ends at Meadowood Mall. 

LU3 Support for expansion services in tier 1 areas 0 City of Reno/RTC Consider transit service as a whole 

for the region and prioritize needs 

Transportation Strategies 

T1 Analyze opportunity for a fixed route service s RTC 

along S. Virginia Street 

T2 Continue partnership to implement Safety S/F NDOT/RTC/City of 

Management Plan recommendations Reno 

T3 Continue to coordinate efforts to design funding M NDOT/RTC 

for the S. Virginia Street corridor 

T4 Construct multimodal design concept to L NDOT/RTC 

encourage transit supportive development along 

S. Virginia Street 

TS Consider future feeder services to support BRT L RTC/City of Reno Establish feeder routes that connect 

to future transit along S. Virgina St. 

Investments in TOD Strategies 

I1 Consider vacant and redevelopment parcels for F RTC/City of Reno Seek grant funding 

opportunity to purchase for future TOD/Bus 

Station 

12 Continue to monitor growth and development in Annually RTC/City of Collaborate on annual report that 

the corridor Reno/TMRPA displays changes in growth and 

density patterns and correlate to 

appropriate levels of transit service. 

13 Explore public/private partnerships with F RTC/City of Reno 

landowners/developers 

Timing: 

S - Short Term (Complete by2027) 

M- Medium Term (Complete by2030) 

L - Long Term (Complete by2050) 

F - Future, No Timeline (,4s funding/partnering/opportunity is available) 

0 - Ongoing, No Expiration Date 

South Virginia Street TOD 



------------------------------------------------ -
SV1@:) 

Implementation 

The SVTOD further builds on the framework for improving the South Virginia Street corridor to accommodate future growth as identified 

in the 2019 Truckee Meadows Regional Plan and the City of Reno Reimagine Master Plan. The SVTOD provides direction on how to 

accomplish a sustainable growth pattern for the South Virginia Street corridor supported by transit and multimodal options by targeting 

three major categories as outlined in the SVTOD Action Plan (Table 5.1), Land Use, Transportation, and Investment in Transit Oriented 

Development. 

Land Use Strategies: 

• The Study Area has favorable zoning of Mixed Use Suburban to encourage transit supportive development. Expand that zoning area 

where feasible to try and encourage redevelopment and infill around identified transit focus areas. This includes incorporating some 

of the Washoe County area into City of Reno in order to expand the Mixed Use Suburban zoning. 

The current zoning does allow less intense non-transit supportive uses. Focus efforts on working with the City of Reno to identify 

ways to incentivize or gradually increase development standards for the transit focus areas to encourage higher density uses. 

Transportation Strategies: 

• Continue partnership with NDOT to transform South Virginia Street into a multimodal corridor. Transforming the right of way into a 

complete street will increase land values and encourage more transit supportive development patterns. Adding bike and pedestrian 

amenities as a first step will be a major improvement in the corridor. 

• Providing transit service to currently proposed higher intense developments such Downtown Damonte will provide quick wins and 

show an investment in transit for the Study Area. 

• Continue to increase the level of transit service as growth occurs in the corridor. 

Investment in TOD Strategies: 

• Continue to collaborate with the City of Reno, developers, and landowners around transit focus areas to explore opportunities to 

encourage transit supportive development patterns. Identifying infrastructure or financial incentives, providing a funding partnership 

opportunity for increased density, or simply reserving area for future transit amenities are some examples of helping maximize transit 

oriented development. 

• Identify opportunity parcels around transit focus areas and explore funding opportunities to acquire the land for a future transit 

supportive development. Explore partnering opportunities with publicly owned parcels, some of which are owned by the Washoe 

County School District. 

• Collaborate with existing underutilized infill site landowners and developers to explore partnerships for redevelopment and 

incorporating transit and multimodal connectivity opportunities. Meadowood Mall parking areas could be a great candidate for a 

future partnership where mixed use higher density housing and vertical parking provide an opportunity to support a mobility hub 

without impacting the existing mall. 

The evolution of South Virginia Street is largely dependent on outside influences and will continue to respond to growth and the private 

market. Planning for and continuing to encourage sustainable growth is essential to ensure this corridor is a testament to the vibrant 

changes shaping our community. It starts with investments in the infrastructure, followed by collaboration and public/private partnerships, 

and continuing to phase in transit to support the future housing and employment opportunities in the corridor. 

South Virginia Street TOD 





--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

EXISTING CONDITIONS ......................................................................................................................................... 1 

Background .................................................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Study Purpose and Need .......................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Study Area ................................................................................................................................................................................. ..................... 1 

Existing Roadway Conditions .................................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Existing Traffic Conditions ........................................................................................................................................................................ 9 

Existing Land Use ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 12 

Existing Demographics ............................................................................................................................................................................ 17 

Existing Plans and Studies ...................................................................................................................................................................... 18 

Tables 

Table 1: Transportation Plans and Studies 

Figures 

Figure 1: Study Area 

Figure 2: Influences Along the Corridors 

Figure 3: Roadway 

Figure 4: Existing Sidewalk 

Figure 5: Existing Bike Facilities 

Figure 6: Existing Transit Facilities 

Figure 7: Signalized 

Figure 8: Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT) 

Figure 9: Crash Density (2016-2020) 

Figure 10: Pedestrian/Bicycl ist/Vehicle (2016-2020) 

Figure 11: Jurisdiction Map 

Figure 12: Master Plan 

Figure 13: Zoning 

Figure 14: Vacant Land 

Figure 15: Age by Block Group 

Figure 16: Median Income by Block Group 

Figure 17: Population by Block Group 

Figure 18: Existing Conditions Executive Summary 

<r 
W □□ D -R □ Dc:3E:::R::S • 



South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech MemoSV1®> 
EXISTING CONDITIONS 

Background 

Virginia Street runs from Red Rock Road in the north valleys to Mount Rose Highway in the south valleys and is 

also considered US 395 Alternative Highway and was the historical north/south connection through Reno up until 

the construction of Interstate-580 (I-580). Virginia Street is famous for the Virginia Street Bridge, the Reno Arch 

and connects the downtown core, University of Nevada Reno, Midtown, and North/South Reno. 

Study Purpose and Need 

Virginia Street within the McCarran Ring (N. McCarran Blvd to S. McCarran Blvd), has been developed as a major 

corridor, complete with multi-modal transportation elements including the Virginia Line Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) 

service, The BRT currently runs along Virginia and Center Street with service arriving every ten minutes taking 

passengers from the University of Nevada Reno in the north to the Meadowood Mall in the south. As the area 

continues to grow and additional density is being developed along Virginia Street, there may be a need to expand 

the BRT service to the south. 

South Virginia Street, from S. McCarran Boulevard to the Mount Rose Highway (SR 431) has transitioned over the 

last 50 years from a rural highway connecting Reno and Carson City, to a high-density mixed-use corridor. This 

transition is still underway. Resulting in a patchwork of transit elements throughout the S. Virginia Street corridor. 

Identifying the existing conditions within the study area will help to establish opportunities and needs and identify 

how the future extension of the BRT can create a multi-modal, transit-supportive development pattern that meets 

the growth and development needs of the region. 

Study Area 

The study corridor extends along South Virginia Street from the BRT route's current terminus at the Meadowood 

Mall transfer station to the Mount Rose Highway (SR 431 ). A majority of the corridor has already been developed 

(S. McCarran Blvd. to S. Meadows Pkwy) but the area south of Damonte Ranch Parkway remains mostly vacant 

with several high-density projects being planned. Therefore, an alternate study route has been included to see if 

an alternative BRT route, off Virginia Street, could be more successful. This corridor is identified as 

Damonte/Wedge Alternative. The project boundary, or study area, is based on an approximate three-quarter 

mile walking distance from the South Virginia Street and Damonte/Wedge Alternative corridors using existing 

streets. The entire study area includes 6,025 acres. A majority of which is within the City of Reno jurisdiction with 

portions of Unincorporated Washoe County to the west. 

Corridors: 

South Virginia Street: Is bound by Meadowood Mall in the north and the Summit Mall in the south. 

Specifically, the ±5.61 miles are between South M cCarran Boulevard to Mount Rose Highway (SR 431 ). 

Damonte/Wedge Alternative: A circular corridor that is adjacent to many multi-family developments, the RTC 

Park and Ride in the Summit Mall, and the University of Nevada Redfield Campus. The ±6.31 miles including 

WOOD -RODGERS • 



-- =- ==-, 
portions of Damonte Ranch Parkway from South Virginia Street to the terminus of Damonte Ranch Parkway. 

Future Damonte Ranch Parkway which includes a connection from Steamboat Parkway to Mount Rose 

Highway/Geiger Grade Road. Mount Rose Highway (SR 431) from Geiger Grade Road to Wedge Parkway; 

Wedge Parkway from SR 431 to Arrowcreek Parkway; and Arrowcreek Parkway from Wedge Parkway to South 

Virginia Street. 

South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

,-------------~~----------------

• • Damonte/Wedge Alt 
0 0 Damonte Parkway Connection (Future) 

Cl Study Area 

Figure 1: Study Area / y 
WOOD -RODGERS • 



SVl@l) South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Figure 2: Influences Along the Corridors 

,---f" 
WOOD -RODGERS • 



--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Existing Roadway Conditions 

A r r o 11 c r e e k 

) 

- Section A (6 lanes) 
- section B (4 lanes) 

- Section C ( 4 lanes) 
- section D (6 lanes) 
- section E (2 lanes) 
• Future Connection 

c::J Study Area 

Figure 3: Roadway 

<r 
WOOD -RODGERS • 



--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech MemoSV1®> 
Cross Sections: 

The South Virginia Street Corridor transitions from a four to six lane street with intermittent sidewalk and bike 

lanes. Generally, the vacant properties along the corridor have a shoulder and drainage ditch where newer 

developments have curb and gutter. Sections A, B, & C identified below, are found throughout the corridor. 

Speeds range from 45 miles per hour to 55 mph. The Damonte/Wedge Alt Corridor is a wider range of street 

sections with six lane roads found along Damonte Ranch Parkway and the Mount Rose Highway, with smaller 

collector streets at Wedge Parkway and Arrowcreek Parkway (Sections C, D, and E). Speeds range from 35 mph 

to 55 mph. 

Sldowolki 
CG 

Bus 
LanefTurn 

Lane 

Travel Lane J Travel Lane Median Travel Lane Travel Lane 

Section A 

Section B 

r ij> 
WCICID -R □ DGER::S 



South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech Memo--

I Bike Travel Lane Travel Lane Travel Lane M~lan Turn Lane ! Travel Lane Travel Lane Travel Lane 
ShOUldar,. Lane CC6h0\Jldart• 
Sidewalk/ Sidewalk/
'Landscape Landscape 

Section C 

Shoulder/ Travel Lane Travel lane Travel Lane Median Travel Lane Travel Lane Travel Lane Bike ISide- Landscape 
Sidewalk/ Lane CG. walk 

/Landscape + 
Section D 

Shoulder/
Sidewalk/

/Landscape 

Side
walk CG 

Travel Lane Travel Lane Shoulder/-

CG ,E~~~~~~~ 

Section E 



South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech MemoSV1®> 
Sidewalk/Pedestrian Path and Bike Facilities: 

The South Virginia Corridor has been developed over many years and under many different land use policies 

resulting in an incomplete pedestrian network. Currently only 52% of the corridor has existing sidewalk on either 

side of the street. Bike facilities area missing completely on about 18% of the corridor with at least one bike lane 

or path existing on at least one side of the street. Resulting in unreliable bike travel along South Virginia Street. 

Furthermore, the existing bike lanes are inconsistent in size and markings throughout the corridor and may not 

be a good representation of an existing facility. 

The Damonte/Wedge Alternative has been mostly developed within Planned Unit Developments (PU D's) and 

therefore are more well served by consistent existing sidewalk/pedestrian paths with 78% of the corridor with a 

sidewalk/pedestrian path on either side. Bike facilities are also provided on nearly the entire corridor with an 

existing bike trail along Mount Rose Highway, these facilities connect to a larger network found throughout the 

residential development to the east and will help connect pedestrians to areas outside of the study area. 

Figure 4: Existing Sidewalk Figure 5: Existing Bike Facilities 

Bus Facilities: 

Existing bus services are limited south of McCarran Boulevard with Route 56 Serving South Virginia from South 

Meadows Parkway to Damonte Ranch Parkway. This route mainly serves the employment areas to the east of 

South Virginia Street along Double R Boulevard. The Carson City Route runs the entirety of the South Virginia 

Street Corridor from the Park and Ride at the Summit Mall to Meadowood Mall Transfer Station. However, this 

<:r 
WOOD -RODGE:R:S • 



--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech MemoSV1®> 
is a commuter route connecting riders from Reno to Carson City and only runs during the weekdays in the 

mornings and evenings. Limited bus stops are located along South Virginia Street and one bus stop and the RTC 

Park and Ride is located along the Damonte/Wedge Alternative Corridor. 

· Bus Routes 
1 

9 

56 

·~,-· N. Virginia BRT 

All Other Bus Routes 

Figure 6: Existing Transit Facilities 

/:j> 
WOOD -RDDGE:R:S • 



---SV1@l) South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Existing Traffic Conditions 

The study area was analyzed for existing traffic conditions and other road user data. This information is used to 

identify areas where traffic conditions could benefit from BRT and identify potential ridership. 

Signalized Intersections: 

There are fourteen (14) signalized intersections along the South Virginia Street Corridor and 13 located along 

the Damonte/Wedge Alternative with the majority of them located along Damonte Ranch Parkway to the 

west. 

CJ Project BoundaryaSignalized Intersections 

<r Figure 7: Signalized 

DWOOD -RODGERS 



--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Signalized intersections are important when considering BRT as they are the biggest influence on travel times 

and are generally associated with higher traffic volumes and higher crash rates. When considering this, one 

important dataset is the annual average daily traffic (AADT), which was obtained from NDOT's Traffic Records 

Information Access (TRINA) application. The traffic counts mapped over the corridor segments over a 5-year 

period and is summarized in the map below. 

AADT 5 Year Average (2017-2021) 

• 200- 6,400 

• 6,401- 13,140 

• 13,141 - 19,000 

• 19,001 - 23,100 

23,101 - 26,920 

Figure 8: Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT) 
<..y -

WDDD -RDDGER:S 



South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech MemoSV1®> 
• • ,=---. 

The map shows the segments with the highest traffic along the South Virginia Corridor are located between 

Longley Lane and South Meadows Parkway with AADT volumes above 20,000. The Damonte/Wedge Alt 

Corridor shows the highest AADT count located between South Virginia Street and 1-580 with similar counts 

along Damonte Ranch Parkway and Steamboat and the Mount Rose Highway. It is anticipated that the future 

Damonte Ranch Connection will see similar AADT volumes. 

Crash Data: 

Five-year crash data between the years 2016-2020 were analyzed along the corridors and included over one

thousand crash reports. Crashes along the corridors are concentrated at the intersections and areas with higher 

traffic counts. More importantly when looking at BRT, crashes involving pedestrians should be considered with 

greater importance since identifying multi-modal and transit improvement should help to minimize these. The 

map below shows recorded crashes within a five-year period along the corridor and the recorded pedestrian 

crashes including vehicle vs. pedestrian/bicyclist. 

Figure 10: Pedestrian/Bicyclist/Vehicle (2016-2020) 

Figure 9: Crash Density (2016-2020) 

<.j> 
WOOD -RODGE:R::S 



South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech Memo5V1®> --=;._,, 
Existing Land Use 

Land use is dictated by Master Plan and Zoning designations set by the city or county and determines the types 

of development found within the study area. Knowing these designations will help to understand future 

developments within the study area. Typically, BRT is favorable to mixed use land designations which promote 

high density development and encourage multi-family/attached housing, large commercial developments, and 

employment centers with a robust multi-modal transportation network. Within the study area these include the 

City of Reno Master Plan and Zoning with portions to the west that are under Washoe County jurisdiction. 

• 

-

! 
.5 

Figure 11: Jurisdiction Map 

Legend 
S. Vlr9lnL1 Sir('(>! TOD 

-SouU1 V,1gl11l.i St1ec.>t 

• • CMrnonte/Wedi;,e All 
••• D,m10nte Pd1kw.iy Co11~tlo11 (fulu1e) 

Reno City Limits 

• 

-

, 
"",_, Legend 

S V1rg1n1a Street TOD 

- ~jl\'1f0if\lfi~ 

■ ■ Oamontt:/Wedge .t.lt 

• • • Dilmont"' Pilrkway Connection (Future) 

~Reno City Limits 
\'Jashoe County Master Plan 

RURAL 
RURAL RESJDENTI,;L 
SUBURBM~ RESIDEtITTAL 

• URBAN RESJDErmAL 
■ COMMERCJ:.L 

OPEN SPACE 
City of Reno Master P!an ., 

LL 

lil ME 
[E] MF 

MX 
NDLU 

[e PGOS 

!II PQP 
SF 
SMU 

SPA 

I 
L,.. ' __ ' 

• 

Figure 12: Master Plan 

-----r 
WOOD -RDDGE:R:S • 

https://Pd1kw.iy


--
is Suburban Mixed Use (SMU) 

Parks, Recreation, & Open Spac Other 
which 

zoning 

promotes a 

designation 

mixed-use 

that is 
(OS, PGOS, & PR) (GR, UT-5) 

lndustrail/Employ 
ment (I, IC, & ME) 

favorable to BRT services. The 

underlying zoning typically 
Large Lot 

associated with this master plan Residential 

designation allows commercial or (LDS, LLR-1, & 

high-density residential. The map LLR2.5) 

below shows the distribution of 
Medium Lot 

the zoning districts throughout 
Residential / 

the study area. The three major (MDS, HDR, 

zoning designation within the 
SF-5, & SF-3) 

study area are Mixed Use Urban Small Lot 

(MU), Mixed Use Suburban (SMU), 
Residential 

(HDS, LDU, SF-
and Planned Unit Development 11, & SF-8) 

(PUD). While the MU zoning 

designation 

favorable to 

is 

BRT, 

traditionally 

the SMU 
& MF30) 

designation, which has no 

Public Facility ______ 

(PF & PSP) ------

Multi-Family 

(MF14, MF21, 

I 

South Virgina Street TOD Study Existing Conditions Tech MemoSV1®> 
Master Plan and Zoning: 

The majority of the Master Plan Study Area Zoning Designations 
designations within the study area 

minimum density requirement may not be as favorable to encourage high density development on its own. The 

third, the PUD zoning is unique since it refers to a specific planned community with varying development standards 

throughout the study area. 

Each PUD is unique and typically has different development standards than those found in the standard City of 

Reno Zoning Code. The three PUD's within the study area include Double Diamond PUD, Damonte Ranch PUD, 

and Pioneer Parkway PUD. The development standards are detailed in the respective PUD Handbooks and 

generally allow high density development within the study area. But like the SMU zoning designation, may not 

have minimum density standards to encourage high density along the corridor. More importantly, the PUD's are 

the largest area of vacant land within the study area and will largely determine the future development of the 

study area in the south. What the future development looks like may be hard to predict since the density range is 

so large. 

~r 
WOOD -RODGERS 



--SV1@l> South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

.,~---
,.}i.. J 

I ~ 
I_\_: 

r-
L...., .r 1 
,- I I 
\ r, -i-1 

I - ,"-~J r-

'-,
"r--11,,.. ...,,_~ 

\\'olrnun 
(;nlr<:lnh 

Legend 
Washoe County Zoning Large Lot Residential (2.5 acres) LLR-2.5 

- HDR - High Density Rural Q Mixed Employment ME 
LDS - Low Density Suburban Multi-Family Residential ( 14 units/ acre) MF-14 

' _·: MDS - Medium Density Suburban 1111 Multi-Family Residential (21 units/ acre) MF-21 

■ HDS - High Density Suburban Multi-Family Residential (30 units/acre) MF-30 

LDU - Low Density Urban ~ Mixed Use Suburban MS 

■ GC - General Commercial G,l Mixed-Use Urban MU 

■ NC - Neighborhood Commercial ■ Neighborhood Commercial NC 

PSP - Public and Semi-Public Facilities ■. Public Facilities PF 

■ PR - Parks and Recreation Parks, Greenways, and Open Space PGOS 

OS - Open Space ■ Professional Office PO 

GR - General Rural @I PUD 

Single-Family Residential ( 11 units/ acre) SF- I I City of Reno Zoning Clip 
Single-Family Residential (3 units/ acre) SF-3 

Single-Family Residential (5 units/ acre) SF-5 
■ General Commercial GC 

Single-Family Residential (8 units/ acre) SF-8 

Large Lot Residential ( I acre) LLR-1 

■ Industrial Commercial IC 
Specific Plan District SPD 

Unincorporated Transition (5 acres) UT-5 

I
L ____ I ,_ I - -

I 

'- ----- -, 

,-1 I 
I ~--

) 

I 

'1 

r--r, __ I 
/ 

Figure 13: Zoning 

• 



--SV1@l) South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Vacant Land: 

A total of 940 acres of vacant land has been identified 

within the study area. The mixed use zoning designations 

do not have a maximum density and the two PU D's with the 

most vacant land (Damonte Ranch and Pioneer Parkway) 

have a maximum residential density of 105 du/ac. The 

potential growth within these areas will be difficult to 

VACANT LAND ZONING (940 

ACRES} 

MDS (12MU (26 
Acres)Acres) - , 

predict. However, utilizing proposed development data 

from the City of Reno, as well as using data associated with 

future development projections conducted by the Truckee 

Meadows Regional Planning Agency Regional (TMRPA) in 

the 2019 Regional Plan, there is the potential to anticipate 

an additional increase of over 4,000 residential units, and 

over 400 acres of nonresidential that will be added to the 

study area over the next 20 years. To help understand the 

potential growth of the study area it will be important to 

communicate with landowners, the City of Reno, Washoe 

County, and TMRPA to better understand and predict the 

potential growth. 

Approved Tentative Maps in Study Area 

Dwelling 
Units 

Name Remaining 
Pecetti Ranch Townhomes 79 
Damonte Ranch Village 21 80 
Rancharrah Villaqe 6A 12 
Braesview Custom 23 
The Village at ArrowCreek 124 
Gateway at Galena 361 

Total 679 

Approved PUD's Residential Growth 
Potential in Study Area 

Name Dwelling Units 
South Meadows Ill 1,000 
Rancharrah 300 
Damonte Ranch 1,500 

Double Diamond 200 
Pioneer Parkway 750 

Total 3,750 

<-r 
WCICID -R □ Dc:;ER:S 



--SV1@) South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

I __. 
r-.' ,r 

\ n<
;___1 

I..-

I/ff 
~ 

• 

·--1 

Legend 
S. Virginia Street TOD 
...South Virginia Street 

■ ■ Damonte/Wedge Alt 
• ■ 1 Damonte Parkway Connection (Future) 

uReno City Limits 
■,-Vaca nt,Land 

\:L-, ,I __ 
I 
I 
I 

- - ------- Cl --,I I 
Expansion ~ I 

(under constmction) \ l 
I------, 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
IL_ _ _ 

r,i,... 
Multi-Family 

(under consn·uction) 

; .-, :# I __ _. 
~o .,' 

Multi -Family 
{planned) 

• 

Summit 
Mall Infill 

\ 
\ I ,--··---,__ ~, 

I 

r• 
I 

Figure 14: Vacant Land 

<j> 
WCICID -RDDGER:S • 



South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech MemoSV©> --
Existing Demographics 

The demographics within the study area will help to identify potential ridership and will be important to consider 

as riders in areas of high population, low to mid median income, and between the ages of 18-35 tend to be the 

population to most likely benefit from BRT. Analyzing the 2020 US Census data can help to understand the 

existing population but areas of vacant land should also be considered as these areas will most likely see the 

demographics change in the future. 

Legend 

Age by Block 
Group 

■ ■ 1 Damontc/Wcdgc 
Alt 
Damonte - U-.C.,,18 

- ~ISIOJ.4
• •• Parkway Im]....,. i,mt>4Conned:ion 

- N,:&)~(Future) 

_, ")~:;~ ~7 
•:. 

Legend 

□ Project Boundary I 
Median Income by 
Block Group 

$34,000 
$170,000 

Figure 15: Age by Block Group 

Figure 16: Median Income by Block Group 

/r 
W □□ D -R □ DGER:S 



SVl@l> South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Legend 

■ ■ , Oamonte/Wedge 
Al t-· 

Figure 17: Population by Block Group 

□ Project.B o u ndary 

PoplJlationbyBIOck 
Group 

0561-817 
~ B:8-1,227 
- 1,228 · 1,61 1 

- l,61 2- 2,025 

- 2,026 · 2,862 

Existing Plans and Studies 

The study area has been analyzed in several existing studies and future plans which may include portions of the 

study corridors. Therefore, it is important to recognize these plans and to coordinate resources where 

appropriate. This process ensures that this study considers the recommendations of previous plans and at the 

same time recognizes changing conditions in the study area and the ensuing changes to the relevance of some 

of these older documents. The Transportation Plans and Studies Table highlights the sections of documents that 

are relevant to the Virginia Street Corridor. 

It should be noted that the Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT) is currently conducting a Safety 

Management Plan from Mount Rose Highway to Patriot Boulevard that will focus on improving safety along the 

South Virginia Street Corridor. This study will communicate with NDOT Staff to coordinate any efforts to 

collaborate BRT improvements that are identified with this study. 

/ r' IIWOOD -RDDGER::S 



--SV1@) South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Table 1: Transportation Plans and Studies 

Transportation Plans and Studies 

Document Owner Description Status 

Virginia Street Comdor RTC 

Investment Plan 

Transit Oriented TMRPA 

Development in the 

Truckee Meadows: Bridging 

the Gap Between Planning 

and Implementation 

The Virginia Street Corridor Investment Plan identifies 

near term and long term transportation improvements 

that will be made along Virginia Street from North 

McCarran Boulevard to Mount Rose Highway. These 

recommended improvements will be included in the 

Regional Transportation Plan 2013-2035 for 

implementation. The study follows a context sensitive 

approach that identifies: 

• Decision-making process 

• Virginia Street context, including geography 

and community values 

• Vision and goals 

• Area needs 

• Investment plan 

The primary purpose of this paper is to assist 

stakeholders in the Truckee Meadows in bridging the 

gap between TOD planning and implementation. 

Accordingly, this paper contains four parts. Part I 

provides a brief macro-scale framework for TOD and 

serves as an introduction to potential policy 

considerations in the Truckee Meadows. Part II 

contains a more focused assessment of the current 

status of Centers and TOD Corridors in the Truckee 

Meadows. 

Building on the introductory framework in Part I and 

summary of current conditions in Part II, the bulk of 

the paper is found in Part III where policy, planning, 

and implementation approaches are considered that 

may better support TOD in the Truckee Meadows. 

Part III describes the current challenges facing 

transit-oriented development in the Truckee 

Meadows and presents a series of innovative 

approaches being employed in various metropolitan 

areas around the country. Part IV concludes this 

paper with a series of approaches for moving 

forward. 

Final April 

2014 

Revised July 

2009 

2050 Regional RTC The 2050 RTP identifies the long-term transportation 

Transportation Plan investments that will be made in the urbanized area of 

Reno, Sparks, and Washoe County, Nevada, also 

WOOD -RODGER:S 



--SV1@J> South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Transportation Plans and Studies 

Document Owner Description Status 

known as the Truckee Meadows. The RTP presents 

transit investments such as the Virginia Street RTC 

RAPID project. 

City ofReno Bicycle and Final JuneRTC The Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan is part of the 

Regional Transpiration Commission's (RTC) Regional 2017 

Transportation Plan (RTP). The RTP guides 

transportation investments in Reno, Sparks, and part 

of Washoe County over a 20-30 year period. This 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan is the official 

policy document addressing the development of 

bicycle and pedestrian facilities for transportation 

purposes in the Truckee Meadows. 

Pedestrian Master Plan 

Final 2017Bicycle, Pedestrian, & RTC This 2017 Annual Report for the RTC Bicycle, 

Wheelchair Data Collection Pedestrian, and Wheelchair Data Collection Program 

Program Annual Report ("Program") provides a detailed review of bicycling, 

walking and wheelchair use at key locations 

throughout Reno, Sparks, and Washoe County. This 

ongoing collection of active transportation data 

supplements data for motorized traffic and transit 

ridership data to develop a more complete picture of 

overall travel behavior in our communities. The data 

collection methodology, collection times, and analysis 

factors follow the National Bicycle and Pedestrian 

Documentation Project (NBPDP). 

Final AprilSouth Meadows The purpose of this multimodal study is to identifyRTC 

Multimodal Transportation needs and long-term transportation improvements 2020 

Study for regional roads and intersections in the South 

Meadows area. This study focuses on traffic 

operations analysis and capacity improvements, safety 

improvements, pedestrian and bicycle connectivity, 

and transit service needs. The goals of the study are 

the following: 

• Improve roadway safety for all users 

• Plan regional roadway and intersection 

capacity improvements 

• Expand pedestrian and bicycle connectivity 

• Enhance public transportation connectivity 

and travel options 

Final April 

improvement concepts between Veterans Parkway 

Mt Rose Corridor Plan NDOT This Corridor Plan is focused on potential 

2022 

and Douglas Fir Drive. This segment of highway forms 

a transition from an urban setting on the east to a 

more suburban and rural feel on the west. Mt. Rose 

<j> 
WOOD -RODGER::S • 



South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech MemoSV1®> 
Transportation Plans and Studies 

Document Owner Description Status 

Highway is a primary travel route from Reno to Incline 

Village and the Lake Tahoe North Shore, resulting in a 

mixture of local commuters and tourists utilizing the 

roadway. 

A critical area facing current and future congestion is 

the segment between S. Virginia Street and the 

Veterans Parkway roundabout. This segment serves as 

a primary connection to a significant residential area, 

as well as to SR 341, which provides access to Virginia 

City. Working closely with the RTC, the study team 

identified needed operational improvements to the 

existing roundabout. The improvement would not 

only enhance the operations of the roundabout, but 

also provide better lane utilization along the west 

approach. 

South Virginia Street Transit City of The South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Draft 

Oriented Development Reno Development (TOD) Corridor Plan is divided into two November 

Corridor Plan sections: the Corridor Plan and Station Area Plans. The 2006 

Corridor Plan describes the boundary, time frame, 

relationship to other plans and identifies policies for 

development within this TOD. The development 

concept, circulation, land use, and zoning that apply 

to the parcels are included in the plan for each station 

area. Development standards and processing 

provisions are included in the Reno Municipal Code. 

Reno Sparks ADA Right-of RTC The Reno Sparks Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan ADA Draft 2019 

Way Transition Plan Transition Plan of 2011 provides a roadmap to making 

pedestrian facilities accessible to persons with 

disabilities. The plan inventories bicycle and 

pedestrian ADA deficiencies, categorizes the severity 

of those deficiencies, and translates those 

determinations into sets of needs. Virginia Street 

deficiencies identified in the plan's analysis include 

transit stops, driveways, and sidewalk obstructions 

and deficiencies. 

Transportation RTC The Transit Optimization Plan Strategies (TOPS) serves Final July 

Optimization Plan as the basis for changes to RTC's public transportation 2022 

Strategies (TOPS) services over the next five years (FY23-FY27). It also 

sets out the work plan for RTC's Public Transportation 

Division during this period. This document analyzes 

the existing public transportation services operated by 

RTC. It also helps determine the merit for potential 

<j> 
WOOD -RDDGE:R:S 



--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech MemoSV1®> 

Land Use and Area Plans 

Truckee Meadows Regional 

Plan 

TMRPA The Regional Plan describes the type, location, and 

pattern of growth and development that local 

governments and agencies in the region believe will 

best deliver the multiple aspects of quality of life 

desired by current and future residents of our area. In 

relation to the South Virginia Street TOD Study, this 

plan addresses infill development scenarios along the 

study corridor. 

Final 2019 

Relmagine Reno: City of City of The Relmagine Reno process was an opportunity to Final 

Reno Master Plan Reno assess and explore trends and key issues that would 

influence the City's future, as well as an opportunity to 

articulate a shared, community-wide vision for the 

future and to explore potential trade-offs associated 

with that vision. The result is a Master Plan that 

provides a road map for the City as it continues to 

grow and evolve. The Master Plan reflects the ideas, 

values, and desires of the community, aligning these 

with a range of plans, policies, and initiatives in place 

or underway in both Reno and the wider region. 

Moving forward, the Master Plan will help guide both 

day-to-day decision-making, short-term actions, and 

longer-term initiatives and strategies to achieve the 

community's vision. 

This Plan describes existing conditions along the 

Virginia Street corridor as well as recommendations 

and implementation strategies. 

November 

2021 

Washoe County Master 

Plan 

Washoe 

County 

The Master Plan is used to determine the most 

desirable location of each type of development. The 

plan has policies and maps designed to define 

development suitability and conserve natural 

resources (e.g. protect critical environmental areas, 

define water resources, enhance visual and scenic 

corridors, etc.) It also includes growth forecast as well 

as policies and maps reflecting desires related to land 

uses and transportation. Finally, the Master Plan has 

standards and maps to guide provisions of public 

services and facilities. The public services and facilities 

Final 

November 

2020 

~y 
WOOD -RCJDGER::S 



--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech MemoSV1®> 
Transportation Plans and Studies 

Document Owner Description Status 

are implemented through the Capital Improvement 

Program. 

Ozone Advance Path U.S. EPA The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Updated 

Fotward April 2016 

Standards (NAAQS) for six criteria pollutants including 

ozone. Ozone concentrations are strongly linked to 

population, employment, and on-road vehicle miles 

traveled (VMD. Growth in these three categories 

increases air pollutant emissions and ozone 

concentrations. Ever since EPA promulgated the 2008 

ozone NAAQS, the Washoe County Health District, Air 

Quality Management Division (AQMD) has been very 

proactive to encourage voluntary initiatives to 

improve air quality and avoid violating the ozone 

standard. Short-term initiatives targeted technology 

(i.e., smog check programs and clean school busses) 

and behavior (i.e., Employee Trip Reduction and Safe 

Routes to School). Long-term initiatives focused on 

shaping land use development patterns and the built 

environment. These initiatives were intended to 

increase transportation choices and reduce the 

impacts of on-road motor vehicles. 

establishes health-based National Ambient Air Quality 

July 2016 Complete Streets Master RTC The purpose of the Complete Streets Master Plan is to 

Plan identify the Regional Transportation Commission of 

Washoe County's (RTC) long range strategy for 

complete street treatments in the Reno-Sparks 

metropolitan area. This plan addresses: 

• Safety 
• Traffic flow 

• Connections for all modes of travel 

/ j> 
LJ..JCJCJD -RCJDGE:R:S 



.

South Virgina Street TOD Study I Existing Conditions Tech MemoSV©> --
Figure 18: Existing Conditions Executive Summary 

,. ,. ,, ,.. ... ,.,,._, .. 
,.,, .. .. ,.",. ,. 

I f •, • ..-r 

-- ... _. ----·-•- · · ...·----

----- -~~ ----·---

<:;> 

Opportunities & Constraints 
RTC South VirginiaTOD Study 

~2023 

upM ..,...__ 
Sa.Ahv.y.....Sti...i - -- l1N, Vlr-;n.BRT """"""""' ,_.. - - " D.all'oGP••bo1Jc..nn.ctu,(N.bnJ · '"""'"'---.,,.,....._1:1 ~"""'~ 

~ ...,..er4~ 

- N<>~l c!j,=lv~'--:l('J.IO.-a..l 
- E.,-.gSor..... I ....~~ 

C..ncb-Pwdntna,,.,,_,.. 

,..,_ 
- Ear&tngi-e 

() 
WOOD R OOOE:RS=~.,;._9 _..,.._ 

WOOD -RDDGER:S 





South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

INTRODUCTION ........................................................ .......... ...- .......................................................................................................... 1 

Plan Purpose.............................................................................................................................................................................1 

Project Goals ............................................................................................................................................................................ 1 

TOD Guiding Principles ..................................... ................................................................................................................... 1 

STU DY AREA ............................................................................................................................................ 2 

Existing Transit in the Corridor.......................................................................................................................................... 3 

Existing Land Use and Historical Growth.......................................................................................................................4 

Reno's Projected Growth and Land Use Policy Environment for South Virginia Street .............................. 5 

SUPPORTING TRANSIT ALONG SOUTH VIRGINIA STREET .............................................................. 11 

Characteristics of Transit-Supportive Development .............................................................................................. 12 

TOD Opportunities for the South Virginia Street Corridor ................................................................................. 15 

How Supportive of Transit are the Current and Expected Patterns of Corridor Development? ........... 18 

Future Development Scenarios ...................................................................................................................................... 20 

Other Factors Influencing Future Transit Demand ................................................................................................. 23 

Land Use Tools to Increase TOD Level Development in the Corridor. ............................................................ 24 

Tables 

Table 1: South Virginia Context Relative to Criteria for Transit-Supportive Development 

Figures 

Figure 1: Study Area 

Figure 2: Existing Conditions 

Figure 3: Corridor Population 

Figure 4: Suburban Corridor 

Figure 5: Regional Corridor 

Figure 6: Neighborhood Corridor 

Figure 7: Multi-Modal Hubs 

Figure 8: Zoning 

Figure 9: Growth Opportunities 

Figure 10: TAZ Groups and Growth Opportunities 

Figure 11: Users of the Existing Meadowood BRT Platform by Home Location and Wage Quartile, 2023 

Figure 12: Where Industrial Employees Live and Work in the Region 

Figure 13: Key Policy Mix Recommendations by Tentative Station Location 

~i> 
WOOD -RDDGE:R::S I! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP • 



SV1@l) South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo 

INTRODUCTION 

Plan Purpose 

The South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development Study's (South Virginia TOD) purpose is to analyze the 

need for future transit service in the South Virginia Street corridor (Corridor) from Meadowood Mall to Mt. Rose 

Highway based on regional demand, and current and future growth. The South Virginia TOD will also analyze the 

land use planning tools that will encourage a walkable, transit-supportive development pattern that meets the 

growth and development needs of the region. 

The purpose of this Land Use Technical Memorandum is to provide an overview of existing land use, development 
patterns, and future growth scenarios and how they may influence transit service in the Corridor. 

Project Goals 

The goals of the South Virginia TOD are to: RTP 2050 Transit Vision: 

■ Promote multimodal transportation within the corridor "Extend Virginia Line RAPID to 

• Create continuity throughout the corridor Mt. Rose Highway - Providing 

• Allow for the safe movement of all forms of transportation transit connectivity to 
■ Improve transit service employment, education, 
■ Encourage mixed use development commercial, and residential 

centers in South Reno would 
This memo focuses on the analysis and recommendations that would 

improve access to 
support the goals related to improving transit service and 

opportunities, expand travel multimodal transportation options. 
options, and encourage transit 

supportive .development along TOD Guiding Principles 
South Virginia Street." ✓ WALK /CYCLE- Provide infrastructure improvements along 

Virginia Street to improve the nonmotorized transportation 

networks in the corridor. 

✓ CONNECT - Locate future transit stops in areas that promote 

walking and cycling to access transit and maximize corridor connectivity. 

✓ TRANSIT - Expand transit service to better serve existing and future residents and employees along South 

Virginia Street. 

✓ MIX - Encourage economic development and plan for mixed uses, income, and demographics. 

✓ DENSIFY - Optimize density on vacant and infill properties and encourage redevelopment opportunities to 

support transit in the corridor. 

✓ COMPACT - Optimize transit service in the corridor to improve ridership. 

✓ SHIFT - Transform South Virginia Street to accommodate all users and increase safe non-auto mobility in 

the corridor. 

~r 
WOOD -RDDGER:S l! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP • 



--SV1@l) South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo 

STUDY AREA 

The Corridor begins at its intersection with S. McCarran Blvd at Meadowood Mall and extends ±6 miles south to 

the Mount Rose Highway (SR 431) intersection. In addition to the Corridor, the Damonte Ranch Parkway and 

Wedge Parkway corridors are also included as these areas have seen recent multifamily development as well as 

current planned developments that have the potential to be transit supportive. The general study area follows 

these corridors and includes a walking distance of up to 1/2-mile as depicted in Figure 1 below. 

Figure 7: Study Area 

,<r 
WOOD -RDDGER::S l! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech MemoSV1®> 
Existing Transit in the Corridor 

Transit services in south Reno, south of Meadowood Mall, are very limited compared to services along north 

Virginia, north of Meadowood Mall. RTC operates the existing Virginia Line Bus Rapid Transit (BRTI from the 

University of Nevada, Reno to the Meadowood Mall transfer center on 10-minute service intervals between 6 am 

to 1 am, and there are several connecting routes as well. Looking at South Virginia Street, RTC has limited service 

(Figure 2 below) via Route 56 which deviates from South Virginia Street, and the RTC Regional Connector which 

is focused only on morning and afternoon commuters between Reno and Carson. Route 56 provides 30 min service 

from 5:30 am to 4:30 pm and hourly service from 5 pm to 10 pm. Additionally, FlexRIDE service was introduced to 

portions of the study area this year, and provides on demand transit service. 

South Reno continues to grow and transit service has not expanded to match that growth. It was noted during the 

initial project visioning public workshops that a few of the employers in South Reno struggled to retain employees 

as the lack of timely transit has created conflicts for employee schedules. 

Existing Bus Routes 
,,.._,::::,,,,,=1 ~ flex Ride Service Area 

RTC Bus Routes 

- Virginia line 

~ Route56 

- Carson Regional Roule 

- All Other Bus Routes 

0 o.s 

Figure 2: Existing Conditions 

<j> 
WOOD -RODGERS I! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech MemoSV1®> 
Existing Land Use and Historical Growth 

Over the past three decades and post the completion of Interstate 580 (1-580), the stretch of South Virginia Street 

extending from S. McCarran Boulevard to the Mount Rose Highway (SR 431) has transformed from a rural highway 

linking Reno and Carson City into a suburban arterial connecting nodes of development. This transition has 

resulted in a diverse mix of land uses and outdated infrastructure that has not kept up with the regional changes. 

Over the past thirty years, from 1990 to 2020, the population in the study area exploded from a population of 

± 1,500 to ±43,000 people (US Census). 

Pre 1990s the corridor was rural with limited development, some low-density large lot residential under Washoe 

County jurisdiction, and large ranch land. By 2000, the extension of US 395 (1-580 today) was under construction, 

planned developments in the South Meadows area were underway with planning of Damonte Ranch in process 

transforming the land use from rural to a typical suburb of Reno. The following decade, between 2000 and 2010 

major master planned developments including Damonte Ranch, Curti Ranch, and Carmella Ranch began to take 

shape, along with the completion of the US 395 extension to Mt Rose Highway, changing South Reno into a very 

desirable community in the region. 

Development hit a slowdown following the Great Recession but has largely recovered over the past decade as 

development in South Reno has exploded. Primarily fueled by the region's growth in employment from Tesla and 

the Tahoe Reno Industrial Center (TRIC). The surge in development and population over the last decade has 

transitioned development patterns to higher density including smaller lots and an increase in single family 

attached and multifamily, a trend that is continuing for South Reno. Figure 3 below provides a comparison of 

population and development patterns within the project study area over the past 30 years. 

Population: ±1,500 Population: ±3,000 Population: ±20,000 Population: ±43,000 
Land Use: Suburban/Rural Land Use: Suburban/Rural Land Use: SVTOD Corridor Land Use: Mixed Use 
• South Meadows Business Park SVTOD (2006) Corridor: SVTOD Corridor Suburban (MS) 

(1992) Damonte Ranch PUD (2000) End (2018) change to MS Corridor: 940 acres Vacant 
• Double Diamond PUD (1995) • Curti Ranch PUD (2004) Land (372 Ac. in PUD 530 Ac.Corridor: US 395 to Patriot • Pioneer Parkway PUD (2008) 

• Carmella Ranch PUD (2009) in MS)
Blvd 

Corridor: Freeway to Mt Rose 

Figure 3: Corridor Population 

/? •WOOD -RODGER::S l! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



--SV1@J> South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo 

Past Planning Efforts for South Reno 

To keep up with development patterns, the City of Reno adopted a Transit Oriented Development (TOD) Plan for 

South Virginia Street in 2006 which changed the zoning along South Virginia Street to mixed-use to intensify 

development to support transit. Following the Great Recession, the market conditions led the City of Reno to 

rethink a variety of past planning efforts leading to the adoption of the 2017 Reimagine Reno Master Plan. As a 

result of the Reimagine Reno Plan, the 2006 South Virginia Street TOD Plan was removed and the TOD overlay 

zoning along the Corridor was converted to a zoning designation of Suburban Mixed Use. The zoning change 

was meant to keep, in theory, a transit supportive mixed-use zoning without needing an overlay with unlimited 

density and commercial floor area. However, the zoning change did remove the minimum density and commercial 

floor area requirements essentially opening the door for a broader range of uses including less transit supportive, 

low intense development. Master Planned Developments in South Reno remained as part of the Reimagine Reno 

Plan which have seen higher density (both single and multifamily units) completed or under construction the past 

several years in Damonte Ranch. The first mixed-use type development was recently announced for Damonte 

Ranch identified as 'Downtown Damonte". The proposed mixed-use district will include retail, shops, restaurants, 

office space, and residential apartments (www.downtowndamonte.com). The Pioneer Parkway Master Planned 

Community south of Downtown Damonte on the future extension of Damonte Ranch Parkway has not yet started 

and would allow for additional high density or mixed-use development. 

Reno's Projected Growth and Land Use Policy Environment for South Virginia Street 

Reno is a fast-growing city within the booming Truckee Meadows region of Northern Nevada, which is expected 

to continue to grow as a result of the employment boom triggered by Tesla and TRIC east of Reno and Sparks. 

According to the Truckee Meadows Regional Planning Agency (TMRPA) the region is expected to grow by 100,000 
people and over 80,000 jobs in the next 20 years. That growth will continue to influence the Corridor. As Reno 

continues to grow, regional planning efforts by TMRPA and the City of Reno continue to emphasize more 

sustainable development patterns (Reimagine Reno Guiding Principle 2-Respsonible and Well Managed Growth) 

including focusing on infill and mixed-use development (Reimagine Reno Guiding Principle 4-Vibrant 

Neighborhoods & Centers) and improving multimodal connectivity (Reimagine Reno Guiding Principle 5-Well

Connected City & Region). City and regional planning efforts are further analyzed in the following sections as 

these documents specifically relate to encouraging TOD for South Virginia Street. 

South Virginia Street's Role Within the Reimagine Reno Master Plan 

Reno's master plan, Reimagine Reno identifies regional centers, corridors, and nodes that will support regional 
growth. Within that framework, planning for the Study Area is, wholly or in part, influenced and guided by multiple 

classifications. These classifications each have an Area Specific Policy related to each. The Area Specific Policies 

related to the Study Area: 

• Is identified as a Suburban Corridor providing connectivity to a growing South Reno, 

• Identifies the Meadowood Mall area as a connecting Regional Center, 
• Provides connectivity to four Community/Neighborhood Center hubs, 

• Connects two Industrial/Logistics or Employment Areas, and 

• Connects Outer Neighborhood areas offset from the corridor itself. 

Each of these Area-Specific Policies in the Reimagine Reno Master Plan includes descriptions of desired character, 

along with policy guidance for development density and land use typologies, which are discussed below. 

rr •WOOD -R □ DGER::S I! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 

www.downtowndamonte.com


South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech MemoSV1®> 

Figure 4: Suburban Corridor 

Figure 5: Regional Centers 

Comd'ors 

■ • • • • Subt.in:,,{).n Corudon, 

~Jet9t1~rhood Cci•T~ 

Area Specific Policy: Suburban Corridor 

The Corridor is identified as a Suburban corridor (Figure 4). 

Suburban corridors are auto oriented in character and serve 
areas generally outside the McCarran loop. A mix ofhigher 
density residential, retail, commercial, and other 
employment- and service-oriented uses is encouraged along 
suburban comdors. Although the corridor is classified as 
suburban, the Area Specific Policies that follow below 
support the gradual transition of the city's suburban 
comdors over time by providing a greater degree of 
flexibility in development patterns and intensity in the near
term (as the S. Virginia Corridor transitions to an urban 
comdor}, encourages nodes of higher-intensitv 
development to enhance access to services, housing 
options, and support expanded transit service over time. 

Area Specific Policy: Employment Areas 

(Industrial/logistics areas) 

There are two Employment Areas adjacent to the Corridor 

(blue shaded areas in Figure 5). Access to housing options 
and services within close proximity of industrial/logistics 
areas plays an important role in supporting live-work 
opportunities for the local workforce and reducing the 
need for cross-town trips. These employment areas and their 

connectivity to the Corridor may help influence the need for 

additional housing along the corridor, as well as generate 

additional transit ridership. 

Area Specific Policy: Regional Centers 

The north end of the Corridor includes a Regional Center 

(Figure 5). Regional centers serve residents of the City of 
Reno and the broader region, as well as visitors from across 
the state and country. Regional centers include a diverse 
mix of uses, including, but not limited to high-densitv 
office, residential, hotel, entertainment (including gaming), 
retail, and supporting uses. Regional centers are well
served bv the region's multi-modal transportation 
network and serve as a hub for service to other destinations 
within the region. 

<j> 
WOOD -RODGE:R::S L! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech MemoSV1®> 
Nc-1:,1hborhoe>d 

Figure 6: Neighborhoods 

Figure la: Community/Neighborhood Centers 

,,,,.,.r 
WOOD -RODGER:S 

Area Specific Policy: Outer Neighborhoods 

The Corridor provides connectivity for several surrounding 
outer neighborhoods (Figure 6). As outlined in Relmagine 
Reno, Outer neighborhoods include the city's older suburban 
areas, generally outside or adjacent to the McCarran loop, as 
well as newer suburban developments. They are generally 
comprised of single family detached homes and have a 
cohesive character. While new development continues to occur 
in some outer neighborhoods, others are in need of 
revitalization and reinvestment Significant capacitv for 
future residential development lies in outer neighborhoods. 
Opportunities to encourage a broader mix of housing 
types and supporting non-residential uses and amenities in 
outer neighborhoods are encouraged in order to meet 
changing community needs. 

Area Specific Policy: Community/Neighborhood Centers 

The Corridor includes several community/neighborhood 
centers (Figure 7a). Community/neighborhood centers 
provide opportunities for supporting services (e.g. restaurants, 
cafes, small retail stores, medical offices) intended to meet the 
needs of the immediate neighborhood Walkable, small-scale 
neighborhood centers exist in several of the city's central 
neighborhoods, while larger community centers such as those 
anchored by a grocery store or other large retail tenant may 
include a vertical or horizontal mix of residential and/or 
office uses in addition to retail/commercial uses. 
Community/neighborhood centers should have a cohesive 
and pedestrian-oriented design that features public/ 
community gathering spaces and enhanced 
pedestrian/bicvcle connections to surrounding 
neighborhoods. The design principles that follow provide 
general guidance to support the revitalization of existing 
centers (Figure 7b) and the design of new centers. The 
Corridor has several existing centers with large parking areas 
that have the potential for revitalization and added density and 

a greater mix of uses that would also help encourage transit 
supportive development. 

L! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP • 



--SV1@J> South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo 

Existing Community Center•.1,
WWIJ HllltftllllH 

, :== 
;;1 ll11111111111 111111 111 

UUUUUIUU Utl iU 

mmmmm h lii tlililliiiiilil h 

I: IHllll!UIU!l!Hltll 
11 11111111 1111111 111 11 

lllllll!Ul!HIIHltll 
Ul.l1IJ.W.U lllllll!IHtlUIHltll- lllllllllllll llll lll ll 

Revitalized Community Center 

111155 
I = !!I- ;;; 

I 
I 

Existing Neighborhood Center Revitalized Neighborhood Center 

■ •••I 11 ■•- J ■ ••• -,-· .• -· . -· . 
...... • -= ;1-_.,,. ,,.
,i~i: r,a, 

,;:;; 11 l 111' 

= -1•• 
Revitalization of Existing Centers. The diagrams illustrate potential opportunities for site improvements and infill on 
surface parking lots to accommodate agreater mix of uses and promote the revitalization of existing centers To achieve 
required parking for uses that replace surface parking lots. tuck-under and/or structured parking are to be utilized. 

Figure lb: Revitalization of Existing Centers 

Land Use Designation and Zoning 

While the southern half of the Study Area includes some residential and related parcels along its western edge 

that lie within unincorporated Washoe County, most of the Study Area - including all parcels adjacent to either 
South Virginia Street - fall within the land-use policy jurisdiction of the City of Reno. Under Reimagine Reno, the 

"SMU: Concentrated nodes of higher-intensity development are 
encouraged at major intersections, near existing or planned transit 

dominant master 

designation for 

plan 

the 

stations... Residential development at a density greater than 30 Corridor is Suburban 
dwelling units per acre is appropriate in these locations 11 Mixed-Use (SMU), with 

zoning to match (MS, 
- Relmagine Reno Master Plan 2021 Mixed-Use Suburban). 

/r •WOOD -RDDGER:S I! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo 

Legend 
Washoe Councy Zoning Large Lot Resldemlnl (2.S ~cres) LLR-2.5 

HOR • High DeMlty Rural ~ M,xed Employment ME 
LOS . Low Density Suburb~n Muld-F.imily Residential (14 un lu/-acre) MF- I ◄ 

MOS• Medium Density Suburban Mui -F:,mily Resldentlal {21 units/ acre) MF-21 
■ HOS • High Density Suburban Multi-F:lmlly Rcsldcntlnl (30 units/ac.rc) MF-30 

LOU • Low Density Urban Oil Mixed Use Suburban MS 
■ GC - General Commercial 172 Mlxcd-Use Urban MU 
■ NC · N ghborhood Commercial ■ Neighborhood ComJ11c"l~I NC 

~--- ,-=: PSP - Publlc :ind Sc:mlAPubllc Fac1Uc1es ■ Pu bile Fatllitle:s PF 
,...'1:-. I Parks. Grecnw~ys. and Open Spac:cc PGOS 

I ~ ■ Prcfcsslcnal Offfce PO 
I

_\__ • GeMral Rul"1'll [i] PUD 
S1nglc-F:lm1ly Rcsldcndal ( 11 units/ auc) SF-I Iof Reno Zoning Clip 
Single-Family Resldcntta l 3 units/ >ere) SF-3neral Commerclnl GC 
Single-Family Residential (S unlrsl acre) SF-S 

I- I I . Singlc-F.imily Resldcntinl (8 units/ acre) SF,8 
L... ..r1 ,, 
,-

... -,-,- , Large Lot Rcsldcncial ( I acre) LLR-1 Spec iAc Plan District SPD 
•--· r- Unlncorpor;itedTrans ldon (5 ac.res) UT-5'-, .,, 

""r - _,, .,.._,_,....., u,-,"-""•1-
I
L ____ I I 

I - . 

I 

l ______ l 

I 
I 

I 
.----·I 

I 
,- - .J 

\\'ulrllun 
Golrcluh I 

r--r, __ I 

I 

Figure 8: Zoning 

<r 
WOOD -RDDGE:R::S l! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP II 

https://units/ac.rc


--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech MemoSV1®> 
The SMU master plan designation is described as follows in Reimagine Rena. 

Low to moderate density with no minimum density requirements. Concentrated nodes of higher-intensity 
development are encouraged at major intersections, near existing or planned transit stations, and in other 
intensely developed areas ofthe city. Residential development at a density greater than 30 dwelling units peracre 
is appropriate in these locations. 

Furthermore, the characteristics of the SMU master plan designation encourage transit supportive densities along 

the corridor. Provides an opportunity for a broader mix ofuses in a more suburban context while also preserving 
opportunities for higher-density infill and redevelopment in the future (for example, if transit services are 
expanded to serve the area). 

Although the SMU designation includes several conforming "Base Zoning Districts," the Study Area is 

predominantly under just one, Mixed-Use Suburban (MS). Requirements for development in the MS zone is 

excerpted from the City's zoning ordinance below: -
18.02.308 MS: Mixed-Use Suburban Zoning 

(a) Purpose The MS district is intended to 
accommodate a mix of low-intensity, auto
oriented uses, while supporting the gradual 
transition of the city's suburban corridors to a mix 
of higher-density residential, retail, commercial, 
and other employment- and service-oriented 
uses. 

The MS zoning does not require a minimum or maximum for residential density or floor area ratio (FAR) and has 

very permissive setback requirements (if any, in some cases). There is no stated height limit.just a requirement for 

site review for buildings over 55 feet. These standards are conducive to transit-oriented development, which is 
often pushing the limits of allowable density. Unfortunately, the no minimum density and FAR presents a serious 

challenge to the type of zoning that would normally be a principal component of a set of transit-supportive land 

use policies as it allows for developments that are less transit supportive. To date the MS zoning along South 
Virginia Street has produced large scale autocentric developments including car dealerships with large asphalt 

parking areas, large industrial developments, and scattered multifamily projects with little to no multimodal 

connectivity to the surrounding area. 

In addition to the MS zoning, at the south end of the Study Area Damonte Ranch and the surrounding areas have 

their own Planned Unit Development (PUD) zoning, which identifies specific land uses and standards for various 

parts of the master planned community. Similar to the MS zoning the PUD provides the upmost flexibility for use 

standards and would allow for a broad range of uses that may or may not be transit supportive. Unlike South 

Virginia Street, the Damonte Ranch area is the only node within the project corridor to date that has seen higher 

density development concentrated around commercial including the Downtown Damonte mixed-use 

development recently announced. 

In conclusion, the Reimagine Reno Master Plan provides a framework for the Corridor to grow into a more 
urbanized corridor with a focus on node densification and supporting future transit and multi modal connectivity. 

The zoning within the corridor is largely where the disconnect occurs between what is being constructed in the 

corridor and the vision of the master plan as a result of a wide spectrum of what is allowed. 

,,--;> 
WOOD -RDDGE:R:S I! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



SV1@) South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo 

?• 

ii 

SUPPORTING TRANSIT ALONG SOUTH VIRGINIA STREET 
One of the most important challenges to overcome to achieve a long-term vision of TOD along South Virginia 

Street relates to the current disconnect between land-use policy and actual on-the-ground development. 

Specifically, except the planned Downtown Damonte area, there seems to be little momentum favoring the 

development of compact, walkable, mixed-use built environments along South Virginia Street. To increase actual 

mixed-use development understanding the policies are only part of the equation. Understanding outside 

influences such as the private market, private landowners and developers, and the desire of the political 

jurisdictions to encourage shifts in development patterns have been and will continue to be the main components 

driving certain development along South Virginia Street. 

Private Market Influences: 

Development patterns along South Virginia Street have largely been left 

up to the private market with no standards or requirements for 
enhancing multimodal connectivity or setting minimum standards for 

mixed-use development. This has led to a mix of both transit supportive 

development: Multi-family developments, hotels, some walkable 

commercial (South Creek Crossing); and non-transit supportive 

development: Industrial park, recent increase in car dealerships. This 

creates a challenge for multimodal connectivity and continues to keep 

the corridor more autocentric. It also creates challenges for transit 

planning and understanding how future development patterns will 

continue. Given the broad range of uses allowed under the mixed-use 

zoning it is likely that development patterns will continue to change 
annually based on regional demand. 

Private Landowners/Developers: 

There are over 950 acres of vacant land and redevelopment opportunities as well as several planned projects in 
the Corridor (identified in Figure 9), some of which are planned to be more transit supportive such as the 

"Downtown Damonte" mixed-use development. Transit has not been a priority and is not at the top of mind for 

future development projects. Continuing to explore opportunities for partnerships, incentives, and garnering 

support around a vision for future multimodal connectivity and its benefits will be key to helping shape future 

development patterns. With the current flexibility of mixed-use zoning landowners and developers will lean more 

towards keeping it that way and will not favor new regulations or zoning standards that may limit their options 

for a future project or land sale. 

Political Influences: 

The TOD plan from 2008 was removed as part of the 2017 Reimagine Reno Master Plan, and the Mixed-Use 

Suburban (MS) zoning along this corridor allows for unlimited density but does not require minimum density 

standards. At this time, the City of Reno staff does not anticipate changes to the zoning code to make a shift to 

require minimum density on residential and commercial floor area requirements within the study area. It was 

expressed by City staff that the Reimagine Reno Master Plan and MS zoning does allow for support of TOD 

development within the corridor and has indicated that they are supportive of transit within the study area, as well 
as the proposed land use tools discussed in this document. 

,,,,.-r 
W□□ D -RDDGE:R:S I! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP • 



•• 

South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo SV1®> --· NDOT: 

The Nevada Department of Transportation (Noon has a Safety Management Plan underway within the Study 
Area that is exploring future multimodal enhancements within the South Virginia Street right of way, which is 

controlled by NDOT. Leveraging the partnership with NDOT to continue to improve multi modal enhancements in 
the corridor will be key to supporting future transit and overall connectivity for bike and pedestrians along South 

Virginia Street. Enhanced roadway improvements may also increase the likelihood of more mixed-use type 
developments. 

Encouraging TOD without the help of more defined zoning tools will require focusing on nodes that have the most 

potential to support transit rather than the entire corridor; education on the benefits of TOD's, public and private 

partnerships, and leveraging incentives that can help influence development patterns, as well as working with 

agency partners such as NDOT to improve multimodal connectivity through infrastructure projects. These tools 

will allow the existing zoning to remain while influencing more transit supportive developments along the nodes 
identified in the Reimagine Reno Master Plan. 

The benefits of TOD for the corridor: 

Reduced Traffic Congestion: Enhanced public transit options like BRT which can significantly decrease 

the reliance on personal vehicles, leading to less congested roads and smoother traffic flow. 

Health and Lifestyle Improvements: Reduced pollution levels and the promotion of more active 

modes of transportation, like walking and biking to transit stops, can contribute to healthier bodies 

and minds in the community. 

Environmental Advantages: Public transit systems are instrumental in reducing greenhouse gas .. 
emissions and local air pollution, contributing to a cleaner, healthier urban environment. 

Local Economic Growth: Effective transit not only boosts property values and business attractiveness 
but also stimulates broader economic development by better connecting industry to the workforce it 

El relies on. 

Increased Social Equity: A well-implemented transit system democratizes mobility, offering more 

equitable access to employment, education, and services across all socio-economic groups, especially 

when connected with affordable housing efforts. 

The following sections further analyze the characteristics of and opportunities for future transit supportive 

development along South Virginia Street. 

Characteristics of Transit-Supportive Development 

A transit system and the built environment it operates in are mutually dependent when it comes to realizing the 

above benefits. Even the highest quality vehicles, stations, and operating systems may not attract a sizable number 

of riders away from auto-reliance unless the surrounding land uses and public infrastructure are thoughtfully 

designed to support, and benefit from, that transit. 

This means thinking about how we design our neighborhoods - from the placement of buildings to the mix of 

shops, homes, and places of work. Ensuring that station areas have sufficient headcounts to generate rides is only 

one part of an equation that also involves factors like non-auto connectivity, physical orientation of uses, safety, 

and aesthetic desirability; it's about creating vibrant, attractive areas that naturally and safely encourage transit 

<r 
WOOD -RDDGER:S I! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP • 



South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo 

use. Here, we will explore the key elements that make up a transit-supportive neighborhood and why getting these 

details right is crucial for the success of future transit service and to help achieve broader regional goals and 
policies. 

Compact and Focused Development 

General Compactness. Compact development, as 

opposed to very low-density development, supports 

transit systems by efficiently utilizing land. This approach 

creates walkable, interconnected neighborhoods, 

facilitating public transit use. People and destinations are 

the life's blood of transit ridership, and compact design 

means more individuals and potential destinations per 
acre of corridor land. 

Focused Intensity Near Stations: An outcome to the 

criteria of compactness is that station areas should 

emerge as pulse points of activity and development 

density. Because BRT systems do not make stops between established station areas, corridor-adjacent properties 

that are not within walking distance of a station typically do not contribute much to ridership, either in terms of 
resident riders or destinations for BRT passengers. 

Development density is therefore less critical for non-station stretches of corridor (meaning that low-density auto

oriented uses interested in locating on the corridor should be steered to non-station areas to the extent possible). 

Pleasing, human-friendly architecture, landscaping, and site design near stations is critical for making the required 

density palatable, and even attractive to residents and neighbors. 

Mix of Uses 

A mix of residential, commercial, and recreational spaces 

within walking distance of transit stations can enhance 

livability and encourage transit use. Not every station 
needs to include a full mix of residential and commercial 

uses, but primary stations that serve as end of the line 
points or multi-modal transportation hubs certainly 

should. 

The mix of uses can be horizontal (side-by-side) or 

vertical (e.g. apartments above ground-floor 

commercial), as dictated by the market and developer 

preferences, so long as stations can potentially serve a 

variety of potential riders and destinations. In addition to 

smoothing out the distribution of passenger demand across stations and dayparts, mixed-use environments can 

enable shared parking opportunities and increase the vibrancy and activity levels around stations (which can also 
have safety benefits). 

/.j> 
WOOD -RDDGE:R:S l! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech MemoSV1®> 
Pedestrian and Bicycle-Friendly Design 

Safe, convenient pedestrian and cycling infrastructure 

is vital to encourage transit use and support a healthy 

community. This criterion is most important directly 

adjacent to station areas, physically connecting 

passengers with the station platforms to and from 

buildings, trails, or parking areas. Design details for 

those last hundred feet of connections may only 

appear closer to the actual opening of the system, but 

the wider network of bicycle/pedestrian trails, 

crosswalks, walkways, lighting, and other elements, 

both along the route and into the city at large, should 

be planned for and in place well in advance. 

Connectivity and Accessibility 

Easy and direct access to transit stations from a variety 

of other transportation modes is key for a successful 

TOD. This criterion overlaps with the last in its emphasis 

on trail networks and other forms of bike/ped 

connectivity, but crucially also extends to local non-BRT 
bus route connections. Shuttle services to hotels and 

workplaces located outside the corridor should also be 

cultivated and accommodated to and from major 

stations. Increasingly, station areas will also need to plan 

for ride-share and other taxi-like travel modes with 

convenient, non-disruptive pick-up/drop-off zones (a 

category of accommodation that will likely grow to 
include driverless cars). 

Affordable Housing 

Incorporating affordable housing near transit stations is critical to attract and support transit-dependent 

populations, such as lower to middle-income riders. In the Reno-Sparks metro, awareness and appreciation of 

transit is currently limited to lower and middle-income populations that already rely heavily on transit to get 

around. While increased awareness and acceptance of transit may grow through education and promotion efforts, 

operational feasibility of a South Virginia transit line will depend on the ability of significant numbers of transit

users to find housing they can afford near future station areas. Most cities with effective transit service consider 

transit access and housing affordability to be integral components that work together as part of a comprehensive 

approach to building social equity. 

WOOD -RDDGE:R:S l! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech MemoSV1®> 
TOD Opportunities for the South Virginia Street Corridor 

The Corridor, while predominantly suburban, includes a mix of vacant parcels and potential redevelopment sites. 

Currently, there are over 230 acres of identified vacant land and redevelopment opportunities as well as over 500 

acres of planned developments along the Study Area as identified in Figure 9. Until quite recently, almost all 
developments along the inner 

portions of the corridor were 
commercial - ranging across retail, 

auto dealerships, low-rise office, 

lodging/casino, and light industrial. 
More recently over the past five or so 

years Reno, like much of the Western 

U.S. experienced a boom in 

multifamily residential development. 

Examples of which can now be found 
along the central portions of the 

corridor amid commercial uses. In 

fact, many of the remaining empty 
land assemblies and identified 

redevelopment possibilities include 

medium to high density residential 

as part of the proposed use plans. 

Planned developments are primarily 
concentrated around Damonte 

Ranch. While some planning and 

design has been discussed much of 

the acreage has yet to see actual 
building permits filed and could 

change depending on market 

conditions. 

Some of the more notable 

opportunities for a future TOD 

include revitalizing existing centers 

as outlined in the Reimagine Reno 
Master Plan such as Meadowood 

Mall and Summit Mall where large 

parking areas could be converted to 

vertical parking with additional 
commercial added. There is one TOD 

mixed-use development planned in 

the corridor on Damonte Ranch 

Parkway, Downtown Damonte, which 

could provide a great opportunity to 

work with the developers to better 

serve that planned project in the 

<r 
WOOD -RODGE:R:S 

Legend 

Virginia Street TOD 

.... South Virginia Street 

•••• Damonte Alternative 

[i:5l Existing Multi-Family Residential 

~ Redevelopment Opportunities (76 Acres) 

g Planned Development (514 Acres) 

111!!1 Vacant Land (162 Acres) 

\ 
N 

._I___,! Miles 

0-5 1 A 

• 
0 

Figure 9 - TOD Opportunities 

I! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



--SV1@X) South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo 

near future. These notable TOD projects are further described below and would provide a great opportunity to 
create book ends for the corridor to help encourage transit ridership and improve the potential for expanding the 
Virgina BRT line south of Meadowood Mall. 

Opportunities for Infill/Revitalizing an Existing Center - Meadowood Mall 

Though they include a concentration of lower-paying 
jobs and are popular travel destinations for shoppers, 
suburban shopping malls like Meadowood, near the 

northern end of the Study Area are not developed 
with transit service in mind. Although Meadowood is, 

in fact, the southern terminus of the existing Virginia 
Street BRT line, that station area is within a 

commercial development dominated by surface 
parking and auto-oriented interior transportation 
facilities. 

In the near term, that property may continue to 
expand its bike and pedestrian amenities and other 
transit-supportive design accommodations, which 
should help improve its functional role as a potential 
multimodal hub. Over the longer planning horizon, 

Meadowood is a good candidate for more dramatic redevelopment, following in the path of many aging suburban 
enclosed malls across the country - shifting away from a purely retail destination function to a mix of land uses 
including residential, scaled-back and more neighborhood-serving retail, along with "other" uses and services that 
could include educational, medical, entertainment or even tech-oriented employment. 

With a property roughly the same size as the planned Downtown Damonte (nearly 70 acres within the mall 
perimeter road), such a repurposing, if planned with transit service as an integral component, could make the 
Meadowood Mall property an excellent source for (and beneficiary of) future BRT ridership. 

Opportunities for Infill/Revitalizing an Existing Center- Summit Mall 

The tentative southern terminus for the proposed system 
extension would be located within a regional lifestyle retail center 

known as The Summit Mall. The center, largely completed in 
2007, includes some 65 stores with just over 500,000 square feet 
of surface-parked retail space. Adjacent to the retail, a 132-room 
upscale Hyatt Place hotel is under construction, due for 
completion later in 2024. 

Also adjacent, just south and west of the retail center, but within 
easy walking distance to a likely BRT station location, are the 
recently completed (2019) Innova apartments, with 581 units. 

Apartments in the project are primarily market-rate, but 10 
percent of units are reserved as affordable. Alongside the 
apartments is a 100,000-square foot self-storage facility and a 
park-and-ride surface lot serving existing bus system riders. Just 

to the south, across Mount Rose Highway, approximately one 

I! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 
/':r 

WOOD -RODGE:R:S 



SV1@) South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo 

million square feet of industrial space is under construction, with plans for additional future industrial or 
commercial on the remaining land parcels. 

While the development at this node is quite suburban in density and layout, the property does represent a 

concentration of possible transit-dependent employment in the retail and hospitality sectors, with future additions 

of industrial employees likely to be less transit-dependent. In combination with residents from the large apartment 

project, the site has the potential to contribute significant ridership to a future BRT terminus station. 

Because of the relatively recent vintage of retail development on the site, this node may not have as much potential 
in the foreseeable future for aggressive, blank-slate redevelopment as the older Meadowood Mall property 

(previously discussed). That said, the abundance of surface parking could be viewed as land with at least some 

good mixed-use redevelopment potential, including added housing density, over the long term - provided some 
structured parking is added to the mix. 

Planned TOD Development - Downtown 

Damonte 

The most important single Study Area planned 
development, in terms of transit-supportive land use, 

is Downtown Damonte, the planned mixed-use focal 

point for the broader Damonte Ranch cluster of 
residential development in south Reno. The 

developer partnership of Nevada Pacific 

Development Corp. and The Di Loreto Companies 
describe the project in their site planning materials 

as "a walkable canvas of dining, housing, office, retail, 

medical, recreational, and commercial opportunities 

with a target occupancy date of late 2024 to early 
2025." 

That 73-acre project, as proposed, would include up 

to 900 residential units - almost one quarter of the total residential unit development in the larger Damonte Ranch 

master-planned development. As such, the Downtown Damonte area alone could account for as many future 

added residents as are projected for the entire northern two-fifths of the Study Area, above Foothills Blvd./South 

Meadows Pkwy. 

The mix of uses in Downtown Damonte would be primarily horizontal in nature, as opposed to a vertical mix 

having living units above storefront retail. As of late 2022 site plans, there would be 244,000 square feet of retail 

in the form of specialty shopping, dining, and bars, together with 150,000 square feet of class A office space. 
Adding to this trip-generating potential would be 180 new hotel rooms. 

Adjacent to Downtown Damonte are parcels under development as a technology campus to be either wholly or 

largely occupied by Ridgeline Inc., a financial technology company that is anticipated to have more than 1,500 

employees. That campus is very likely to be surfaced parked and not particularly compact - built to serve a 
workforce primarily expected to commute in by automobile. Nevertheless, it represents a large pool of relatively 

concentrated workers, some of which could be attracted to conveniences of BRT over time. 

In short, Downtown Damonte, despite not being a prototypical pedestrian-focused TOD (or even directly reflecting 

the possibility of a transit station in its planning materials), has a great deal of promise for being a TOD catalyst 

<j> 
WOOD -RDDGER:S l! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP • 



SV1@D South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo-
given its planned future density of housing units, employment, and likely clustering of dining and shopping. While 

employees of the development's lodging and retail establishments would be possibly transit-dependent, most of 

the new pool of prospective riders would likely include mostly riders-by-choice, given the upscale nature of most 

of the conceived project components for the site. As such, converting that planned new density into future transit 

ridership would require a significant increase in awareness and acceptance of mass transit use among the higher 

wage earners likely to make up the majority of new residents, shoppers, diners, hotel guests, and office employees 

in Downtown Damonte. 

How Supportive of Transit are the Current and Expected Patterns of Corridor Development? 

The following table summarizes how the existing and likely future built environment stack up against criteria for 

being transit-supportive. Because most station area locations are still tentative at this point, commentary relative 

to potential individual stations is necessarily limited. 

,,,,-:r 
WOOD -RODGE:R:S I! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP • 



--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech MemoSV1®> 
Table 1: South Virginia Context Relative to Criteria for Transit-Supportive Development 

Haw transit-supportive? (1=nat at all, 2=slight/y, 3=maderately, 4=strangly, 5=very strongly} 

Criteria 

Compact & 

Focused 
Development 

Mix of Use 

Pedestrian & 
Bicycle
Friendliness 

Connectivity 

Housing 
Affordability 

Current Context 

1 to 2 - overall 

3 - some multifamily and 
industrial areas (depending 
on station location) 

1 to 2 at likely station areas 
overall. 

3 at Meadowood Mall 
terminus area and a few 
other potential station areas 
(Longly/Huffaker, McCabe, 
South Meadows Pkwy and 
Damonte, but far from likely 
future transit station areas) 

1 to 2 overall 

1 to 2 overall 
2 to 3 at Meadowood Mall 

1 to 2 overall 

Trajectory 

4- Downtown Damonte, 
as proposed. 

1 to 3 overall, 
moderately supportive 
in multifamily and 
industrial/employment 
areas 

4 at Downtown 
Damonte, as proposed 

1 to 2 over much of the 
remaining corridor 

3 to 4 at Downtown 
Damonte (Potential for 
5 should NDOT 
implement separated 
facilities as identified by 
the South Virginia Street 
Safety Management 
Plan) 

3 to 4 at Downtown 
Damonte 

1 to 2 over much of the 
corridor 

Notes 

Some recent multifamily developments have 
increased the overall corridor density, but none are 
particularly compact, from a typical TOD 
perspective. There is considerable job density overall 
in the industrial areas east of Sierra Center Parkway, 
though development is not particularly compact. In 
general, patterns of density are more randomly 
distributed than focused at likely station areas 

Though the corridor includes an impressive mix of 
uses overall, there are few developments near 
possible transit focus areas featuring a real mixed
use type development outside of the proposed 
Downtown Damonte. Most multifamily 
developments are separated by horizontal 
commercial or industrial uses, and generally are not 
well connected to services. 

Nearly the full extent of South Virginia Street is 
flanked by sidewalks in the north with little sidewalks 
found south of Patriot Boulevard, but except in a few 
areas around new developments. Where sidewalks 
exists these are directly adjacent to the busy arterial 
traffic and interrupted frequently by curb cuts. 
Crosswalk protection and lighting are inconsistent. 
Some bike trails can be found intersecting S. Virginia, 
but not along it. Plans for Downtown Damonte 
reference being ped/bike friendly, but few details are 
available. NDOT is in the process of a Safet y 
Management Plan for South Virginia, which has 
proposed a separated bike path and larger sidewalks. 

Unlike older parts of Reno surrounding the existing 
Virginia St. BRT, South Virginia lacks an urban grid of 
surrounding local streets, instead relying on a loose 
network of parkways, partially connected streets, 
and private roads built to satisfy one or two 
developments at a time with little regard for overall 
connectivity. Meadowood Mall serves an intermodal 
function for 2-3 local bus lines, providing access to 
the North Virginia BRT. 

Several Affordable housing projects exist but almost 
all have no access to transit. Establishing reliable 
transit service along S. Virginia Street will help to 
incentivize more affordable housing projects. 

WOOD -RODGE:R::S l! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech MemoSV1®> 
Future Development Scenarios 

Looking to the future, the TMRPA and the 2022 Washoe County Consensus Forecast anticipates the county to 

grow at a rate of 0.92 percent. This would result in an increase in population of 98,299 and an increase in 

employment totaling 38,000 jobs from 2022 to 2042. Considering the range of development that is allowed in the 
zoning that was discussed earlier, and considering there are over 700 acres of vacant and redevelopment 

opportunities, the amount of growth that is absorbed within the study area will depend on the type of 

development that occurs in these areas. Therefore, the best way to plan for future growth will be through analyzing 

several development scenarios. These scenarios will help to predict the types of population and job growth that 

the corridor can anticipate over the next 20+ years to help better predict the type of transit that can be supported. 

The following scenarios are based on the Traffic Analysis Zones (TAZ) that intersect the study area. From the TAZ 

the forecasted population growth and job growth were then projected based on specific scenarios impacting land 

use changes within the opportunity areas within the corridor. The data originated from the Truckee Meadows 

Regional Plan projections and were modified based on growth scenarios further described in the Scenario Growth 
Opportunity by T AZ Group Table on page 22. In all a total of ninety (90) TAZ were analyzed as part of this process. 

Under each scenario specific population growth rates and job rates were applied to the existing TAZ totals based 

on the opportunity areas identified in Figure 9. Figure 10 shows groups of TAZs that were analyzed for growth 

potential based on opportunities for future development and an estimated increase in population and 

employment were calculated for each TAZ group based on a certain percent increase in population (Scenario 1 -

1%, Scenario 2 - 1.5%, and Scenario 3 - 2%). A comparison of the scenarios and change in each TAZ group by 

scenario are provided on the following pages. 

It should be noted that these growth scenarios will be used to model future transit routes and the anticipated 

ridership. While the types of development proposed in these scenarios directly impact the population and job 

growth, the total population and jobs will help to determine the type of transit that can serve the study area. 

Existing South Virginia Street Corridor 43,0001 

Future Growth Scenario 1 58,000 

Future Growth Scenario 2 64,000 

Future Growth Scenario 3 75,000 

1Based on 2020 US Census Tracts in the study area. 

r.j> 
WOOD -RODGERS I! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech MemoSV1®> 

Legend 

c::J TAZGroup 

Redeve:op,n,,nt 
] Opportunities (76 

Acres) 

Existing Multi-Family 
Residential 

al Vacant Land (162 
Acres) 

~ Planned Development 
-· (514 Acres) 

c::J Project Boundary 

~Miles 
0 0.3 0.6 

Figure 70: TAZ Groups and Growth Opportunity Areas 

<r 
WOOD -RODGE:R::S l! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



--
~ -~, ~ ~ ..--j 

~~ F\!Ure Population 
GmlMII •Scenario 2 

76 

~Employmenf 
Growth - Scenario a 

1,094 

~ \P.op~latiOI) 
Gniwth,• Scenario 3 

1 1,139 78 1,103 73 

2 380 679 368 662 365 637 

3 1,264 320 1,225 312 1,214 300 

4 1,721 525 1,667 512 1,907 3,216 

5 1,142 204 1,106 789 1,217 952 

6 810 457 785 445 782 443 

7 2,376 1,711 2,302 1,667 2,282 1,607 

8 431 142 417 211 424 456 

9 2,555 189 2.475 184 2.454 177 

10 713 1,860 283 2,413 997 5,019 

11 776 3,812 2,799 3,158 2,796 3,110 

12 146 1,181 663 1,592 659 1,933 

13 197 128 191 474 189 457 

14 782 2,558 973 1,527 975 1,569 

SV1@l> South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo 

Table: Scenario Growth Opportunities by TAZ Group ==-~ -~~-

Scenario 1: Historic Development Patterns 

Scenario 1 anticipates a growth scenario that anticipates historic development patterns along the corridor to 

continue. This assumes that a broad range of intensities and developments ranging from car dealerships which 

are less transit supportive, to multi-family housing which is more transit supportive are anticipated to occur in the 
vacant land. This scenario assumes little to no infill/ redevelopment within the corridor. The population and job 

growth rate is assumed at one percent (1.0%). This results in a net increase of 14,866 people and 14,868 jobs 

throughout the study area. 

Scenario 2: Transit Focus Areas 

Scenario 2 assumes a growth model similar to the one highlighted in the Relmagine Reno Master Plan that allows 

a broad range of intensities to continue along the corridor but provides an increase in mixed-use developments 

that are more transit supportive around the major nodes (Figure 13 - Transit Focus Areas) and a mix of less transit 

supportive developments outside of these areas. The population growth rate under this scenario is approximately 

one and a half percent (1.5%) and a job growth rate of a little more than one percent (1.2%). This results in a net 

increase of 21,005 people and 18,747 jobs throughout the study area. 

Scenario 3: Urban Corridor 

Scenario 3 assumes transit supportive development anticipated along the full corridor, not just at the proposed 

transit focus areas. This assumes a growth model which is typically seen with the Mixed-Use Urban (MU) zoning 

designation which includes a minimum density requirement of 0.75 Floor Area Ratio (FAR) for non-residential 

development and 18 dwelling units per acre (du/acre) for residential. The population and job growth rate under 

this scenario is near two percent (2.0%). This results in a net increase of 26,005 people and 23,433 jobs throughout 

the study area. 

~r 
WOOD -RODGER:S l! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



--

~

; ·

• • 

:: 
... 

"'.,, 

••' . 
~ 

• . ~. 

·.~. • 
...- . .,,,.,,," . 

"' -

~ ,. .-.... -
!~;•. 

-~;· ,A'-6" 
·a..•.\.:J..• .; . . 

~ ..-•.~.~ · ~ •. 
~e:,.,·:: ·. ···:-~· : ..,~ \ .. .- ~ .. 

· .:~ \ . 

... . 

South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo 

Other Factors Influencing Future Transit Demand 

Two crucial factors affecting potential ridership involve conditions outside the corridor study area. One factor 

relates to the home locations of current users of BRT, as related to income and wage levels, and how that is likely 

to impact future ridership and justify the need for additional affordable housing choices in the corridor. The second 
involves the scattered nature of employment destinations within the Reno market. 

"Adding affordable housing at station areas 
would allow the corridor to even out the 
demand tor service and add new riders." 

Transit-Dependence and Affordable Housing 

To better understand the critical role which affordable housing may play in a future South Virginia BRT system, 

Placer.ai cellphone geofencing data was utilized to look at the home locations of people who had visited the 

existing Meadowood platform over the past year (and thus presumably used the existing BRT serving downtown). 

That ridership "catchment" area was then overlayed on a map of residents by wage levels at a census block level. 

Figure 77: Users of the Existing Meadowood BRT Platform 

The map at left shows a dark outline encompassing T 

households accounting for the majority (actually, 70 

percent) of platform visits. Note that ridership, by this 

0 

• ' \ 
- ~ i9~!Ii'" · :.. · J . ... 

.. ""' 

measure, is very closely tied to a census block being • ' • I, 

~ in the lowest regional quartile for wages. This strongly ho'!'e catchment ., "-• 
suggests that BRT ridership in Reno is, at least area for current 

currently, heavily driven by transit-dependent platform visitors 

residents. (70·%•of~isits) ~ 

Transit dependence, in turn, is logically tied to a need 

for affordable housing. While there are a few 

affordable multifamily projects along the Corridor, 

housing in the study area is predominantly market 

• ~ ./:41 . ~ . .....-~ .. . ~. 
• : • .. .. .. :ii. . .... ,

..• •• tit 

,,~i:J . . .i 
. -: • _, o;'•· .;.".,' 

. •., . ~~~ 

rate, limiting the number of would-be transit users on 

the corridor. Without additions of affordable housing, 

the ridership dynamic would likely be largely made 

.. ·. . 
.. -" •• : ... ,..,. ~ ~ . 

up of lower-income commuters living north of 

Meadowood Mall commuting south to work in the 

industrial employment concentration lying east of the 

interstate or the large retail centers on the corridor 

itself. Adding affordable housing at station areas 

would allow the corridor to more quickly be a source 

Meadowood 

. 
e Top Wage Quartile 

e Bottom Wage Quartile 

.· • •~ • • 

. \ . ~- . 
• • ;~ . .-#'-.z·•• 
·; ·',;,-y

I 

~ = "• I e 

• · ,./ ~' • ~.,:..~ ··· .. . . • ,--1I 
of northbound commuters, helping to even out the ·· - ... · · 

demand for service and add new riders. by Home Location and Wage Quartile, 2023 

~j> 
WOOD -RODGE:R::S l! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 

https://Placer.ai


SV1@l> South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo 

Scattered Worksite Destinations 

While the corridor itself contains (or is adjacent to) a substantial concentration of industrial and retail jobs, most 

potential workplace destinations for prospective future corridor residents are not accessible via the north or future 

south BRT segments. In the case of industrial, other than the jobs found in or near the northeast reaches of the 

study area, most workplace locations can be found either in south Sparks or far north and east in Storey County. 

Without a strong complement of transfer buses or shuttles, most of this area employment will be unreachable via 

South Virginia BRT. 

.f • • 
Storey 

County 

@ Industrial Job Locations 

r- ~ ' Industrial Worker Home Locations 

r 
/ I 

Figure 12: Where Industrial Employees Live and Work in the Region 

Land Use Tools to Increase TOD Level Development in the Corridor 

Recapping the Policy Challenges of Reno's Existing Zoning 

The Relmagine Reno Master Plan identifies the encouragement of alternate forms of transportation as a strategy 

element include some language on Transit-oriented/transit-supportive development, with just a paragraph under 

5.4C saying that the City should ... 

Prioritize transit-oriented development in regional and employment centers, along urban 
corridors and other locations that are currently served by or are planned to be served by high
frequency transit service (fo., peak hour headways of 15 minutes or less) and/or fixed-route 
transit (i.e., bus rapid transit). Continue to encourage transit-supportive development in more 
remote employment centers, suburban corridors, and other locations that are currently served 
by high-frequency transit during peak hours. 

Addressing the challenge of extending transit service into suburban south Reno, requires a multi-faceted 
approach. Since zoning regulations already permit a high degree of density and flexibility but the current 

development pattern isn't aligning with transit-oriented goals, the table below highlights some strategies that the 

WOOD -RODGER:S I! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech MemoSV1®> 
city might consider. By employing a combination of these strategies, Reno can encourage developments that are 
more aligned with promoting a transit-supportive environment even in areas that currently exhibit auto-centric, 

suburban characteristics. 

Toolkit Recommendations 

Tools for promoting transit-supportive development can be grouped into four main categories: Land Use, 

Economic (including Incentives and Financing), Public Outreach, and System Related as shown in the following 

TOD Toolkit table. There are many overlaps and dependencies across the various tools and they are intended to 

be used in combination, leveraging one another towards the goal steering transit-oriented and transit-supportive 

development. 

Phased Implementation: Consider a phased approach to implementing any of the tools shown below. Particularly 

in the case of overlay, or focused re-zoning, which can be perceived as particularly onerous. Start with less stringent 

requirements and gradually increase them, allowing developers time to adjust and plan for the changes. 

Monitor and Adjust Policies: Continuously monitor the impact of major program elements such as overlay zoning 

and be willing to adjust policies if they are not working as intended. This adaptive approach shows developers 
that the city is responsive to their needs and the market realities. 

TOD Toolkit 

Land Use 
Planning, Design 

Tools involving 
elements of the 
City's general 
plan, land use 
regulations, and 
approaches to 
urban design 

Master Plan Designations: 
Municipal land use planning begins with the master plan. 
The City should consider changes to the way South Virginia 
Street is categorized under Reno's master plan framework. 
Current designations may place too much emphasis on the 
corridor's suburban nature, downplaying its potential as a 
valuable extension of the existing BRT line to the north. 

Canyon Park (Bothell, WA) -
General Plan Designation -
Swift Green Line (BRT) -
Subarea Plan (part of the city's 
Comprehensive plan) identifies 
the neighborhood as a 
transportation hub (2020) 

2230 North Station (Provo, 
UT) - Station Area Plan -
Utah Valley Express (BRT) -
Station Area Plan being 
completed to guide mixed-use 
and commercial development 
near an existing station 
adjacent to a Walmart 
Neighborhood Market (2024) 

Transit Overlay District 
(Vancouver, WA) -
Rezoning/Overlay Zones - C
TRAN (BRT) - District 

Station Area Plans: 
One of the most important elements in successful transit 
projects across the country is dedicated individual station 
area planning. This can be a valuable incentive tool for 
developers already contemplating projects around station 
areas that include transit-supportive elements. These plans, 
typically co-sponsored by the transit agency and 
municipality, involve a process that brings community 
stakeholders to the table early to become better informed as 
to the goals and benefits of transit and the key 
characteristics of transit supportive development. 

By soliciting input about desires and concerns from station 
area neighbors, the process helps to secure community buy-
in and overcome resistance through transparent problem-
solving. A station area plan may or may not involve an 
actively interested developer or developers but should 

/r •WOOD -RDDGER:S l! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech MemoSV1®> 

always yield important insights into potential development established along BRT lines, 
challenges and opportunities at the individual site level. with Tier 1 density allowed 
Timing is important for station area planning. There needs to adjacent to stations and lower
be some degree of certainty, usually in the form of secured intensity Tier 2 density allowed 
funding, that the transit systems will be built, with elsewhere along the lines 
preliminary decisions already made relative to system (2021) 
elements and platform locations. 

Focused Rezoning or Overlay Zones: Murray Fireclay Area TOD 
Either as complement to, or instead of, individually (Murray, UTI - Design
negotiated development agreements (described in the next Guidelines - Utah Valley 
section, Economic Tools), consider implementing overlay Express (BRTI - Streetscape, 
zones at key arterial intersections intended for station areas. building, and pedestrian
These overlays can set more specific guidelines or environment design guidelines 
requirements for development in these areas, focusing on for TOD areas (2021)
mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly designs that support BRT 
usage. Any design standards included in overlay regulations 
should be flexible enough to accommodate a range of 
potential development concepts. 

While overlay zoning directly addresses the primary 
observed challenge (lack of density, compactness, and land 
use mix around most prospective station areas), it does carry 
some risk of unintended consequences - potentially adding 
levels of bureaucracy and cost that may actually discourage 
station-area development relative to non-station areas. This 
can be countered by offering clear guidelines and assistance 
for developers navigating the overlay zoning regulations, 
including workshops, detailed guides, or dedicated city staff 
to help with compliance questions. 

Balancing Regulation with Incentives: 
Ensure that any additional regulations introduced by overlay 
zoning are balanced with incentives. This could mean 
offering tax abatements, density bonuses, or other financial 
incentives to developers who comply with the overlay 
requirements. The key is to make compliance more attractive 
than avoiding it. 

Urban Design Guidelines: 
As part of a program of zoning overlays, or separately, 
develop urban design guidelines that encourage 
developments to be pedestrian-friendly and easily accessible 
to BRT stations. This should include guidelines on building 
orientation, street frontages, and connectivity. 

--r 
WOOD -RODGERS l! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech MemoSV1®> 

Reimagining Reno speaks to this, but in fairly general terms 
that could be spelled out in more concrete design terms, 
with recommendations and illustrations offering guidance 
on dimensions, materials, and key functional 
interrelationships of urban amenities. 
A set of urban design guidelines for BRT stations was 
developed in 2009 as part of planning efforts for the existing 
northern portion of the system. Those guidelines should be 
revisited and updated in light of the contextual differences 
along South Virginia south of McCarran. 

Economic Tools Infrastructure Improvements: Division Transit Project 

(incl. Incentives Public sector investments in infrastructure improvements (Portland, OR) -

& Financing) represent one of the most important categories of incentives Infrastructure Improvements 

available to make areas around future BRT stations more - TriMet Frequent Express 

These tools cover an attractive for development. Such spending may come (BRTI - New BRT line 

overlapping set of directly from the City as part of its capital improvements plan accompanied by safety 
real estate or can be channeled through mechanisms like tax-increment improvements near stations, 
approaches, funding financing (see below). including new sidewalks, bike 
mechanisms, and lanes, and crosswalks (2022) 
selective favorable Either way, these investments can help encourage desired 
treatments that help 
to bridge economic 
feasibility gaps for 
desired projects. 

private sector projects by taking on costs that would 
otherwise be borne by the developer. Even for nearby off
site costs that private developers would not be expected to 

SR 522 TOD (Kenmore, WA) 
- Public-Private Partnerships 
- City of Kenmore (BA TI -

bear, public investments such as streetscaping, pedestrian The City of Kenmore invested 

and bicycle pathways, and public spaces, can also improve $80 million in infrastructure 

the value of TOD projects while signaling a degree of improvements along SR 522, 

permanence and commitment on the part of the City to including BAT lanes to improve 

supporting a high-quality built environment. bus service. The City 
assembled property downtown 

Development Agreements: and sold it to developers who 
These are commonly used as a means of formalizing built 230 new TOD units (2010) 
negotiated commitments between the City and developers, 
such as trading public infrastructure investment for LA County Land Banking 
developer adjustments to site design and land use mix. Pilot (Los Angeles, CA) -
These may range from complex agreements spanning Land Bank - Metro and LA 
multiple topics to relatively simple ones. For a simple County (new transit stations) 
example, a city might agree to pay for undergrounding of - Metro and LA County are 
electrical utility lines serving a project in exchange for collaborating on a pilot 
dedication of a certain percentage of multifamily units as program to make surplus land 
permanently affordable. acquired for new transit 

facilities available for joint 
A development agreement, and the related memoranda of development (2022) 
understanding (MOU) represent a more individualized 
means to encourage desired transit-supportive Metro TOD Program 
characteristics in private developments. Such case-by-case (Portland, OR) - Land Bank -
negotiating of policies and requirements stands in contrast 

r y-
w□□ o -RODGER:S e LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech MemoSV1®> 

------------------------, Ride KC (streetcar) - KCATA 

to more strictly applied frameworks such as a detailed 
overlay zoning district with pre-specified use and design 
requirements and little room for custom tailoring. 

For the highly varied assortment of potential station area 
environments along South Virginia, the development 
agreement approach may be preferred for its flexibility -
perhaps accompanied by a set of TOD overlay standards that 
are more focused on guidelines and incentives than 
prohibitions or requirements. 

Public-Private Partnerships & Joint Development: 
Engage with developers through public-private partnerships. 
This approach can ensure that new developments are 
aligned with the city's transit goals. For instance, the city 
might offer land or development rights at a reduced cost in 
exchange for developments that incorporate specific transit-
friendly features. This notion of public-private partnerships 
pervades the TOD landscape around U.S. transit systems. 

This approach would typically work hand-in-hand with the 
value incentive of public sector investments in infrastructure 
improvements and would require a custom case-by-case 
approach - finding publicly-funded improvement that 
developers find sufficiently valuable to warrant tweaking 
project elements in a transit-supportive direction. 

Land Banking: 
If feasible, the City or RTC could consider purchasing 
additional key parcels of land along the BRT route, especially 
around planned station areas. This gives the City more 
control over how these areas are developed in the future and 
allows for value capture - allowing the City to realize gains 
in residual land value that can be passed on to developers as 
incentives or used to fund other incentive elements listed 
here. 

RTC already controls two large land parcels on the east side 
of South Virginia near where a terminal station facility 
(potentially including a park & ride lot) might be located. The 
City and/or RTC could investigate the potential of acquiring 
a similar land assembly on the Meadowood Mall property 
that would eventually be part of BRT (or intermodal) facilities 
at that terminus. More aggressive assembly could seek to 
control a future TOD development site adjacent to that 
station, setting the stage for a potential joint development 

Metro Regional Government 
(all transit stations) -
Program includes a variety of 
TOD-targeted incentives, 
including Metro acquisition of 
land for future affordable 
housing (1998) 

Jamestown Square (Kansas 
City, MO) - Tax Abatement -

approved bonds for two 
apartment projects near a 
planned streetcar stop to 
provide private developer with 
20-year tax abatement (2022) 

North College MAX BRT 
Corridor (Fort Collins, CO) -
Tax-Increment Financing -
North College Urban 
Renewal Authority - TIF 
district established in 2004 and 
expires in 2029. Currently has 
$20 million to support 
priorities within the plan area, 
including gap financing for 
affordable housing (2004) 

rr 
WOOD -R □ DGE:R::S I! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



SV1@l) South Virgina Street TOD Study Land Use Tech Memo-
assuming there is market feasibility in support of a full mall 
redevelopment along TOD lines. 

Tax Abatement & Fee Waivers: 
One of the simplest tools for encouraging development is 
allowing the removal of certain taxes or fees that would 
otherwise be paid by the developer for projects that meet 
certain specific TOD criteria. This approach obviously 
requires the City to forego some portion of a currently 
applicable revenue stream. From the developer's 
perspective, temporary property tax abatement and/or 
waiving of certain impact fees may be more enticing than 
the payment-in-kind structure of targeted public 
infrastructure investments. To the extent that the savings 
freed up by abatement can be spent across a variety of 
development costs (as opposed to earmarked for a specific 
infrastructure item), it can be seen as more flexible money. 
Tax-abatement incentives for desired TOD projects is a 
common element in BRT and LRT policy across many systems 
in the U.S. 

Tax-Increment Financing: 
TIF is one of the most common funding mechanisms used to 
help finance transit-supportive development projects. In 
general, TIF programs identify blighted and under
performing real estate in the City, produce redevelopment 
plans, and work with private developers to implement those 
plans by reinvesting a portion of new, incremental property 
and sales tax revenues generated from new real estate 
development. 

In Reno, the Economic Development/Redevelopment 
Agency (RDA) administers such programs, identifying 
blighted areas, developing plans, and coordinating the 
allocation of TIF funds across infrastructure investments, 
land assembly, and other allowed spending items. This 
approach can function as the primary vehicle for making 
transit-supportive infrastructure investments of the kind 
described in the section above. 

South Virginia Street (both above and below McCarran) is 
already identified as a priority area by the RDA, which 
explicitly references the need to work towards 
accommodating a future BRT right-of-way and implement 
Complete Streets along the corridor. 

r.-j> 
WOOD -RDDGER:S I! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo5V1®> 

Eventual redevelopment of the Meadowood mall property 
could be an excellent candidate for future use of TIF funding 
in line with the RDA's stated mission. 

Selective Project Streamlining: 
Once preliminary station area locations are solidified, the 
City can institute a policy of prioritizing consideration and 
streamlining of approvals processes for projects that are 
located near stations and that include qualifying transit
supportive elements. Uncertainties in the entitlement (and 
even construction/inspection) phases present risks for 
developers and lenders that may deter transit-supportive 
project elements. Streamlining can help reduce that risk. 

Marketing Assistance: 
To the extent that the City (and potentially RTC) can take on 
some costs of marketing for critical transit-supportive 
developments, such as multifamily housing at station areas, 
they can help developers by increasing the pace of lease-up 
(for apartments) and sales absorption (for condos). This can 
be very appealing to lenders motivated to minimize their 
time to payoff. This incentive would necessarily come later in 
the process as station area planning begins to spur 
development projects. Direct marketing support would 
almost certainly require a budget line item for the public 
sector participant, so the City or RTC would need to weigh 
those costs against the "quick win" type benefits of 
encouraging rapid absorption or lease-up for a high
visibility project. 

Affordable and Workforce Housing: 
Coordinating with State and other jurisdictions on low-cost 
affordable housing loans and other affordable housing 
incentives addresses a critical source of future ridership and 
is central to the with the big picture of transit's economic 
benefits. The Nevada Housing Division has the ability to 
issue tax-exempt housing revenue bonds and non
competitive tax credits for qualified housing projects, 
lowering the cost of capital and improving proforma project 
feasibility. 

An important requirement of the Division's program is that 
local jurisdictions must put up 50 percent of the needed 
bonding authority. Such programs require a high degree of 
coordination between state and local authorities but 
represent an important part of the finance puzzle for 
developers of affordable housing. 

,,,--:;~> 
WOOD -RODGE:R::S I! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech MemoSV1®> 

Outreach and Community Engagement and Education: 
Public Relations A general lack of awareness of likely BRT benefits for 

commuters and developers appears to be a major potential 
shortfall constraining interest in transit supportive 
development. The City and RTC can step up efforts to work 
with local communities to educate them about the benefits 
of transit-oriented development. Community support can be 
a powerful tool in encouraging developers to consider 
transit-oriented projects. This type of outreach would be 
most focused during system planning but would presumably 
continue through early-phase BRT service rollout. 

Engage Developers to Leverage Existing Projects: 
Work with private sector developers of existing and planned 
projects to incorporate transit-friendly features. This could 
include improving pedestrian access to BRT stations or 
providing amenities like bike-sharing stations. This strategy 
could be especially important in helping to shape last-mile 
amenities and infrastructure within the Downtown Damonte 
and Pioneer Parkway development area. In the more distant 
future, eventual redevelopment of the Meadowood Mall 
property (and potentially some densification/infill at The 
Summit) should involve extensive cooperation with transit 
planning. 

Success Stories and Demonstrations: 
Look for "quick win" possibilities. Be prepared to showcase 
successful developments that have complied with the 
overlay zoning (or other policy changes) as examples and 
enjoyed added real estate value as a result. Demonstrating 
the potential benefits and feasibility can encourage others to 
follow suit. 

Community Support and Advocacy: 
Build community support for developments within station 
area nodes, when local residents and businesses advocate 
for such developments, it can create a more favorable 
environment for developers and may help reduce resistance 
to regulatory burdens such as overlay zones. 

Finding Shared Parking Opportunities: 
Major manufacturing and other industrial employment 
projects planned for the portions of the study area may be 
good locations for shared parking taking advantage of 
predictable large-scale work shift arrangements. These can 
be taken into consideration for targeted reductions in 
parking requirements at key locations. 

,,,--i> 
WOOD -RODGE:R:S e LELAND CONSULTING GROUP • 



--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech MemoSV1®> 

System-Related 

Operational Tools 
involving the 
logistics of system 
operations and the 
surrounding 
transportation and 
parking 
environment 

Early Express-Only Phase: 
Awareness of and existing attitudes towards mass transit in 
Reno may currently limit prospects for attracting riders-by
choice, it may be especially important to enhance the 
convenience and commuting speed of the transit system. 
This can be done by significantly reducing the total number 
of stops so as to create more of an express service between 
key TOD focus areas such as The Summit, Downtown 
Damonte, and the current Meadowood terminus (which 
would presumably become more of a multi-model hub). 

Transit Prioritization: 
Another way to enhance perceptions of convenience (and 
actual convenience/timeliness) for BRT is to aggressively add 
signalization priority for BRT vehicles at normally congested 
intersections. This is a fairly common BRT advantage across 
U.S. systems and one that may see opportunities for 
increased efficiency and effectiveness through advances in 
AI-supported software. 

Lane Dedication: 
One advantage of the more suburban environment along 
South Virginia is that there may be more opportunities to 
find stretches of right-of-way suitable for BRT-only travel. In 
combination with signal prioritization, any chance to allow 
buses to circumvent auto congestion via dedicated lanes will 
improve system efficiency and speed - in turn improving the 
perceived value of BRT among choice riders. 

Parking Regulations: 
Revisit parking regulations. Reducing minimum parking 
requirements for developments near BRT stations can 
discourage car use and encourage developers to use land 
more efficiently. 

Recommended Policy Tool Combinations Across Likely Transit Focus Areas 

Each of the above policy tools have the potential to play a role in steering the built environment of the Corridor 

to be more transit-supportive and better positioned to benefit from the presence of transit. Those transit

supportive characteristics are primarily important around future station areas, or likely nodes focused on transit, 

where residents and businesses can take advantage of pedestrian and other non-auto access to the service. 

Because each of the prospective nodes has its own unique combination of opportunities and challenges, the mix 

of policy tools for promoting transit-supportive development will need to be tailored to work across each separate 

node. The following Figure13 applies policy approaches across the current set of tentative transit focus areas. 

/:,> 
WOOD -RODGER:S L! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



--

,

SVl@J> South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo 

Meadowood Mall 
Land Banking anticipating future mall redevelopment, ensuring platform-area site control 

and enabling value capture, in conjunction with future Tax Increment Financing. 

Explore PPP & Joint Development around aggressive Station Area Planning as mixed-use 

TOD, including Workforce & Affordable Housing Incentives for residential components. 

Station Area Planning and Design Guidelines to ensure transit-supportive elements for 

redevelopment, with selective Infrastructure Improvements as negotiating lever. 

Encourage Redevelopment of parking lot at Meadowood Mall to consolidate parking into 

parking garages and add high density residential development with some public amenity use. 

1--

1 Interior Arterial Stations 
I 

Design Guidelines to differentiate station areas from other corridor land 

use, promoting compactness, transit-orientation, connectivity. 

Workforce & Affordable Housing Incentives to help steer high-likelihood 

riders closer to transit access. 

Consider offering Infrastructure Improvements as incentive for including 

transit-supportive elements in private sector projects. 

Corridor-Wide 
General Plan Designations to better identify and 

Downtown Damonte 

align as TOD corridor. Engage Developers to spotlight transit 

and tweak last-mile design elements to 
Community Outreach, educating and boosting 

address station access, safety, and 
BRT/TOD awareness among public and 

wayfinding.
development community of transit benefits/value. □ DUBLE 

DIAMOND Quick Win. Despite late start, position
Offer Workforce & Affordable Housing 

Incentives in station areas to increase potential 
development as early TOD success to 

encourage similar project density at other 
ridership support. 

station areas. 
Pursue Infrastructure Improvements that 

Consider Marketing Assistance to help
prioritize completing pedestrian and bike network 

jump-start lease-up and reward transit
connectivity between station areas and 

supportive design considerations, while 
surrounding neighborhoods. 

associating BRT benefits with development. 
RTC should pursue Land Acquisition for joint land 

partnerships near transit focus areas. Summit Sierra 
Unlike Meadowood, this newer center may not 

fully redevelop, so focus on optimizing transit

supportiveness of few remaining parcels (and 

piecemeal redevelopment sites) via Design 

Guidelines and Community/Developer 

Outreach. 

,,. Consider adding structured parking as a publicly 

~"'" I ~ ;

/4' /;
E---

funded Infrastructure Improvement to reduce 

surface parking footprint and enable some 

incremental infill. r I 

A'gure 13: Key Policy Mix Recommendations by Tentative Station Location .__________________. 

WOOD -RDDGER:S I! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



SV1@l) South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo 

Suburban BRT is Cutting Edge 

Although the above recommendations mention other (typically BRn transit systems there are no good "success 

stories" to apply to the present context under consideration. The transit extension down South Virginia would 

involve a foray into a more suburban environment. There are a few newly opened lines (in Vancouver, Washington, 

and Ogden, Utah, for example) that serve areas with similar suburban characteristics and several proposed or 

under construction suburban BRTs (in Fort Collins, Colorado, and metro Seattle, for example), but none of those 

have accumulated a body of performance evidence relative to the transit system or the corridor's success in 

promoting suburban TOD. As such, the recommendations given in this memo are based on professional 

judgement given the conditions and constraints faced on South Virginia, informed by some case study BRT 

systems that share similarities but are typically less suburban in character. 

The suburban context of the proposed extension of the South Virginia BRT line limits the range of potential case 

studies that can be looked at for meaningful comparison. A number of cities across the Western U.S. have suburban 

BRT lines that are either in planning stages or are very recently opened. As such, those routes have yet to establish 

a record of ridership performance on which to attribute system "success". Proposed and new suburban BRT 

systems include: 

• Tucson, AZ. - proposed BRT extension north from downtown/university campus north to suburban foothills 

(an alignment that more closely resembles the existing northern segment of the South Virginia line). 

• Fort Collins, CO - two planned extensions from their existing MAX BRT, one connecting the main CSU campus 

with a planned western satellite campus eager to participate in transit planning. 

■ Vancouver, WA - Red Line and Mill Plain Line additions in largely suburban settings, both opened in 2023. 

Another line addition still in conceptual planning would extend service nine miles north across a context 

resembling the proposed South Virginia extension. 
• Metro Seattle, WA- several proposed BRT (and related bus-based) lines envisioned for suburban settings, but 

not yet constructed. 

Suburban BRT Case Study Focus: Provo-Orem Utah Valley Express BRT 

Only the Utah Valley Express (UVX), a BRT system opened in 2018, connecting Provo and Orem, has a reasonably 

similar suburban operating environment to the South Virginia setting and enough ridership track record to 

evaluate performance. That line is generally considered a ridership success story, with an impressive 14,600 daily 

riders just one year after opening. Part of the high ridership for the UVX line has been due to the policy of free 

fares, a policy which the Utah Transit Authority is in the process of transitioning to a sliding scale based on a set 

of affordability factors. The UVX line, as it is now known, offers frequent headways --service every six minutes at 

peak times, and every 10 minutes off-peak. About half its 10.5-mile route is in exclusive travel lanes for buses not 

shared with other vehicles. Like other BRT systems, buses have extra doors and limited stops. Buses are also longer 

than normal - 60 feet instead of 40. 

Land Use Framework: 

Although similarly suburban, the land use context along the UVX alignment differs significantly from that found 

along the South Virginia study area. The major difference is the UVX line includes both the Brigham Young 

University (a mid-point stop), as well as the Utah Valley University, a largely commuter college facility with 

enrollment of over 43,000 students. In addition, UTA and constituent local governments have been quite 

aggressive in terms of promoting transit-oriented development, largely through the use of joint development 

ventures leveraging land purchased well in advance of system planning and intentionally integrated into station 

area land use planning in cooperation with developers and public institutions. 

<? 
WOOD -RDDGER::S ~ LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 



--South Virgina Street TOD Study I Land Use Tech Memo 

Population per Sq. Mi. 

8,000 7,228 

RenoSV 2020 Reno SV Growth Reno SV Growth UVX (Provo Reno - Virginia 
Scenario 1 Scenario 3 Orem) 2020 Street between 
Projections Projections Meadowood Mall 

and UNR 

Source: U.S. Census, ESRI, and Leland Consulting Group 

Employment Density Comparison: South Virginia Extension Service Area vs. Provo-Orem UVX Service Area 

Employment per Sq. Mi. 

14,000 13,091 

Reno SV 2020 Reno SV Growth Reno SV Growth UVX (Provo Reno -Virginia 
Scenario 1 Scenario 3 Orem) 2020 Street between 
Projections Projections Meadowood 

Mall and UNR 

Source: U.S. Census, ESRI, and Leland Consulting Group 

Although generally suburban in nature, the Provo-Orem line was built to serve an area far more densely used than 

the South Virginia study area. As the figure above illustrates, as of 2020, the UVX line's half-mile service area has 

nearly 3.7 times the population density as the comparable service area for the proposed South Virginia BRT 

extension alignment and approximately 1.7 times the employment density. Even without growth assumed for the 

Provo-Orem Line, under the more aggressive "Option 3" scenario for South Virginia, the UVX catchment area will 

still have more than double the population density and a 25% higher employment density. This case study shows 

that South Virginia Street, while continues to grow, still has a way to go in terms of density required to generate 

ridership that would support future BRT level transit. 

<.r 
WOOD -RODGER::S I! LELAND CONSULTING GROUP 

Population Density Comparison: South Virginia Extension Service Area vs. Provo-Orem UVX Service Area 

7,000 

6,000 

5,000 

4,000 

3,000 
1,965 

2,000 

1,000 

0 

3,117 
3,431 

6,218 

12,000 

10,000 

8,000 

6,000 

4,000 

2,000 

0 

5,336 5,677 

4,122 

7,014 





South Virginia TOD Study-Transit Technical Memo 
RTC Washoe 

1 Introduction & Background ........................................................................................... 1 

Memo Purpose ................................................................................................................................................. 1 

Study Area & Project Goals ............. ......................... ................................................................................... 1 

2 Transit Supportive Land Uses ......................................................................................... 5 

Transit Ridership Factors............................................... ................................................................................ 5 

South Viriginia Corridor Population ............................................... ................................. ....... .................. 7 

3 Existing Conditions .......................................................................................................... 8 

Characteristics of Regional Transit Riders ..... ......................................................................................... 8 

Existing Transit Service in the Study Area ....................... ................ ............................. ........................ 10 

4 BRT Conceptual Alternatives ........................................................................................ 16 

Operations Planning Concepts .................................................................................................................16 

EXISTING VIRGINIA LINE BRT.................................................................................................................... 16 

Proposed Stop Locations............................................................................................................................17 

Alternative 1 - Summit Mall ........................................................ ..............................................................22 

Alternative 2 - Damonte Ranch ...............................................................................................................24 

Alternative 3 - Summit Mall / Damonte Ranch Loop......................................................................26 

Alternative 4 - Extension of Existing Virginia Line BRT to damonte ranch ............................. 29 

Alternatives Comparison .............................................................................................................................31 

5 Corridor Ridership Forecasts ........................................................................................ 34 

STOPS Ridership Modeling Forecasts ......................................................................_. .............................34 

6 Recommendations for Next Steps ............................................................................... 36 

FTA Alternatives Analysis ..................................................................... ........... ............................................36 

Opportunities to Build Transit Ridership Prior to BRT lnvestment.............................................37 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates 11 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

1 INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 

MEMO PURPOSE 
The South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development (TOD) Study's purpose is to analyze the need 

for future transit service in the South Virginia Street corridor from Meadowood Mall to Mt. Rose 

Highway based on regional demand, and current and future growth. The TOD Study will also analyze 

the land use planning tools that will encourage a walkable, transit-supportive development pattern 

that meets the growth and development needs of the region. 

The purpose of this Transit Technical Memorandum is to provide an overview of transit alternatives 

that could be considered to support that visioning for an expansion of RTC's Virginia Line Bus Rapid 

Transit (BRD service along the South Virginia Street corridor. The following sections of the memo 

present existing conditions influencing current transit service and potential future BRT service, existing 

Virginia Line BRT ridership trends north of the study area, and transit service phasing recommendations 

that would support the future vision to implement BRT within the study area. 

STUDY AREA & PROJECT GOALS 

Study Area 
The study area for the South Virginia TOD Study extends along South Virginia Street within Reno and 

portions of unincorporated Washoe County between Meadowood Mall in the north and Summit Mall 

in the south, including a small portion of Mt Rose Highway at the far southern end. The study area 

expands to the east on the southern end of the corridor to include the Downtown Damonte area 

encompassing higher density housing and retail destinations. The full study area is shown in Figure 

1. 

As shown in Figure 2, land adjacent to the South Virginia Street corridor is zoned for a mix of uses 

throughout, with a primarily mixed-use urban designation north of Neil Road and a primarily mixed

use suburban designation to the south. The Damonte Ranch area is zoned as planned unit 

development and residential uses of varying intensity with the highest densities being in the 

Downtown Damonte area. 

Project Goals 
The goals of the South Virginia TOD Study are to: 

• Promote multimodal transportation within the corridor 

• Create continuity throughout the corridor 

• Allow for the safe movement of all forms of transportation 

• Improve transit service 

• Encourage mixed-use development 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates 11 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

This memo focuses on the analysis and recommendations that would support the goals related to 

improving transit service and multimodal transportation options. 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 2 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

en o-Tahoe _
1 1 
: . II {I I IO II fl / •f 

Route 56
i r po r I 

- Carson City (Regional Connector) 

All other Bus Routes 

stling Bus Ra 
e~th Virginia TOil> Study 

Mat1sh i 024:, 

Figure 1 - Existing Transit Service in relation to the Study Area 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 3 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Legend 
W:uhoe County Zoning 

HOR - High Density Rural 
LDS - Low Density Suburt>an 
MOS - Medium Density Suburt>an 

• HOS - High Density Suburban 

LOU - Low Density Urban 
■GC - General Como1erc.ial 

• Ne - Neighborhood Commercial 

Larg• Lot R•s1donttal (2..S acru) LLR-l..S 

@!Mbced Employment ME 

Multl-Family Residonlial (14 units/ acre) MF- I ◄ 

■ Mult ~ Family Residential (21 units/ acre) MF-21 

Mulu-Family Residential (30 umtslacre) Mf-30 

C!!l Mlxe<! Uie Suburban MS 
l'.'..!Mbcell-Use Urb,m MU 

Neighborhood Commercial NC 

.....~ 

,-
t.;: ,,r 
I I 
\ n-

1 
\._ .... 

'-,
jfil ., 

llulf lluu 
c;nl!Cluh 

.J 

PSP - Public a.nd Semi.Public Faclllties ■ Public fac ilities PF 

• PR - Parils-and Recreadon 

OS - Open Spac.e 
GR - General Rural 

City of Reno Zoning Clip 
■ General Commercial GC 

Industrial I 

• 1ndu.strlal Commercial IC 
Large Lot Res1d.,ntial (1 acre) Ll.R-1 

Parks. Greenways. and Op<-n Space PGOS 
■ Professional Office PO 

[]PUD 
SingJ,.Family Residential ( 11 unilll acre) Sf- I I 

Single-Family Residential Cl units/ acre) SF-3 
Single-Family Reside.nti.1! (S units/ acre) SF-5 
Single-Family Residential (8 unitsJ acre) SF-8 
Specific Plan District SPD 
Un lncorporatedTransmon (5 acres) UT-5 

., 

·-- -- ---,
I 

,- - - -~I 

I 

1--.J 
,-1 I 
I ~--

) 

I 

'1 

~--r , __ I 
I 

Zoni'ng ~ 
WOOD -RODGERSRTC SouthV'll'ginia1'0D Study .1,u ru•" ••• ... . ........ I•• no,• • "'O-'•~• •• • ,..,.. 
131 i Corpor.il<' 1)01,1,..,..,rri T,gl n5,i:;:.3 <100~l'iclbrilary 2-oia fkau. N\' il!:150:! fa• 11G: o:u ◄ 0(.lj, 

Figure 2 • Zoning in the Study Area 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates 14 

https://Corpor.il


South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

2 TRANSIT SUPPORTIVE LAND USES 

TRANSIT RIDERSHIP FACTORS 
Transit exists to get people where they want to go, such as home, work, school, a friend 's house, or an 
appointment. In other words, there must be a market for transit to serve. 

Transit demand is strongly related to six factors: 

• Population and Population Density: Transit relies on having more people in close proximity 

to service. Higher population density makes it possibl~ to provide higher levels of transit 

service. 

• Socioeconomic Characteristics: People may be more or less likely to use transit based on 

socioeconomic characteristics. For example, households with one or no cars are much more 

likely to use transit than households with several cars. 

• Jobs and Job Density: Traveling to and from work often accounts for the most frequent 

type of transit trip. As a result, the location and density of jobs is a strong indicator of transit 

demand and the level of transit service that is possible. 

• Land Use Patterns: In all cities, there is a strong correlation between land use patterns and 

transit ridership. In areas with denser development, mixed-use development, and a good 

pedestrian environment, transit can be very convenient for more people. 

• Major Activity Centers: Large employers, universities, tourism destinations, and other high

activity areas attract large volumes of people and can generate a large number of transit 

trips. 

• Travel Flows: People use transit to get from one place to another. Major transit lines such as 

rapid transit services or high frequency bus routes are designed to serve trips or corridors 

with high volumes of travel. 

Of these six factors, population and job density are the most important when it comes to 

demand for transit and how much service is feasible to provide. 

This is because: 

• The reach of bus transit is generally limited to one-quarter mile of a bus stop. 

• As a result, the size of the transit market depends on how many people or jobs are within 

that area. Higher densities near a transit stop mean that there are more people or jobs within 

that area, which means that there is a larger market for transit service. 

• Larger markets support more frequent service, while smaller markets with fewer people or 

jobs can support only less frequent service. 

Based on research conducted by Nelson\Nygaard, Figure 3 shows the correlation and accompanying 

thresholds between corridor land use characteristics (e.g., population and job densities) and transit 

service types and treatments. The main takeaway from this research is that denser corridors are more 

supportive of high capacity and more frequent transit service. 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 5 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

LAND USE TRANSIT 

Residents Jobs Appropriate Frequency 
Land Use Type per Acre per Acre Types of Transit of Service 

~ 10 mins .i&la ; Q Q>45 >25 or betterDowntowns & Light BRT Rapid Local 
High Density Corridors Rail Bus Bus 

10-15Q Q 30-45 15-25 ~ minutesUrban BRT Rapid Local 
Mixed-Use Bus Bus 

Neighborhood & Local 
Surburban Mixed-Use Bus 

30-60rn Q10-15 5-10Mixed minutesLocal Micro-
Neighborhoods Bus transit 

• 60minslff,lff,'tffl ; (iii} ~ or less or2-10 2-5Low Density Micro- Ride share Volunteer On Demand 
transit Driver Pgm 

lf!i f♦t <2 <2 
Rural 

(iii} {.) On Demand 
Rtdeshare -Volunteer 

Orl verPgm 

Figure 3 - Land Use Characteristics vs Transit Service Typology 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 6 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

SOUTH VIRIGINIA CORRIDOR POPULATION 
The South Virginia Street corridor is targeted in the City of Reno Master Plan for future growth, which 

has held true with an increase in population and employment over the past decade. However, growth 

in transit service has not matched the recent growth in population and employment in the corridor. 

To better understand future ridership potential in the corridor current population and future growth 

scenarios (further described in the South Virgina TOD Land Use Tools Memorandum) were developed 

based on current land use and the land available for infill and redevelopment opportunities. To 

calculate the potential ridership for the South Virginia Street corridor, population were analyzed for 

the existing BRT routes. Figure 4 provides a comparison of the existing BRT Line populations along 

with the existing and projected populations for the South Virginia Street corridor growth scenarios. 

Based on the average daily ridership observed for the two existing BRT lines, daily ridership is 4.5% -

6.5% of the corridor population. It is reasonable to assume that the proposed Virginia Line extension 

would serve a slightly lower percentage of the corridor population when compared to the existing 

Virginia Line based on its lower overall density. 

RTC Route 

Lincoln Line 

Average Daily % of Riders Per 
Corridor Population 1 "d p2R1 ers op. 

50,700 2,280 4.5% 

Virginia Line 67,300 4,250 6.5% 

Study Area 
Ridership % of Riders Per 

Corridor Population 
Potential3 Pop. 

Existing South Virginia 

Street Corridor 
43,0001 1,290 - 2,150 3-5% 

Future Growth Scenario 14 58,000 1,740- 2,900 3-5% 

Future Growth Scenario 24 64,000 1,920 - 3,200 3-5% 

Future Growth Scenario 34 80,000 2,400 - 4,000 3-5% 

Notes: 

1. 2020 population of census tracts adjacent to each corridor 

2. 2019 average daily ridership 

3. Forecast potential South Virginia Street ridership based on corridor population 

4. Forecasted 2050+ population based on land use scenarios and level of future 

infill/redevelopment 

Figure 4- Corridor Population Compared to Existing BRT Lines 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I7 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

3 EXISTING CONDITIONS 

CHARACTERISTICS OF REGIONAL TRANSIT 
RIDERS 
Replica1 data for Washoe County from Spring 2023 was analyzed to better understand the trip-making 

and demographic characteristics of the transit market. The Replica dataset includes detailed attributes 

for all trips by primary mode. 

This data is meant to augment the ridership modeling and forecasting results and to help inform any 

future service planning and phasing recommendations. 

Figure 5 provides a summary of high-level findings from the regional Replica data and additional 

detail is provided below. 

Percent of All Trips by Primary Mode Percent of All Trips by Purpose 

Home 32.0%Private auto 63.2% 
Shop - 17.2%

Auto passenger - 18.5% 
Work • 12.7% 

Walking ■ 11.2% Eat ■ 8.1% 
Social ■ 6.4%Commei-cial vehicle ... I 4.5% 
Other I 5.7% 

Biking 1.2% School I 5.0% 

Other 0.8% Commercial (freight) I 4.5% 

Recreation I 3.2%Public transit 0.5% 
Errands I 3.2% 

Taxi;TNC 0.2% I 2.1%Lodging (hotels etc.) 

Figure 5 - Existing Trip Characteristics in Reno 

1 Replica is a data platform that provides simulations of the complete activities and movements of residents, visitors, 

and commercial vehicle fleets in a region and season on a typical day. The output of each simulation is a complete, 

disaggregate trip and population table for an average weekday and average weekend day in the subject season (e.g., 

Fall 2021). The model represents a 24-hour period with second-by-second temporal resolution, and point-of-interest

level spatial resolution. This data is used in planning work to understand the mobility trends and specific demographic 

characteristics of the population in a given study area. 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 8 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

• Trip Purpose. 42% of transit trips are made for the purpose of going to work, which is 

significantly higher than the 12% for all modes. 

o There are employment centers along the South Viriginia corridor that are not currently 

served by frequent transit suggesting that there may be an opportunity to maximize 

ridership along South Virginia by ensuring that service is provided to employment 

centers. 

• Trip Duration. The average duration of a transit trip is 39.9 minutes, 16.6 minutes for auto

based trips, and 13.5 minutes for active trips. 2 

• Trip Distance. The average distance of a transit trip is 5.1 miles, an auto-based trip is 6.2 miles 

and an active trip is 1 mile. 

• Vehicle Availability. 76% of transit trip takers did not have a vehicle available for the trip, 

meanwhile less than 3% of the remaining trip takers did not have a vehicle available. 

• Household Income. The median household income of transit trip takers is $54,800, an auto

based trip taker is $91 ,600, and an active trip taker is $75,200. 

• Household Size. 34% of transit trip takers are from single-person households, whereas auto

based trip takers are from a single-person household only 11 % of the time. 

• Age. The average age of a transit trip taker is 46; meanwhile, the average age of an auto-based 

trip taker is 41 and 37 for an active trip taker. 

• Sex. 58% of transit trip takers are male and 42% are female. This proportion is more balanced 

for auto-based and active trips with male trip takers accounting for 51 % of the trips and female 

for 49%. 

• Tenure. 71% of transit trip takers are renters whereas only 38% of non-transit trip takers are 

renters. 

• Commute Mode. 53% of transit trip takers already commute via public transit versus less than 

1% of auto-based trips commuting by public transit. 

• Employment Status. 90% of transit trip takers are employed. This is higher than the 70% of 

auto-based trip takers and 61% of active trip takers. 

• Time of Day. Almost half of all transit trips occur during the typical peak travel periods. 22% 

occur between 6:00 am and 9:00 am and 25% occur between 4:00 pm and 7:00 pm. 36% of 

trips occur during the middle of the day, from 9:00 am to 4:00 pm. 

• Land Use. 65% of transit trips originate from these top three land uses: retail (27%), multi

family (25%), and mixed use (14%). Single-family residential land uses account for 11% of 

transit trips. A deeper dive into the destination land use of work trips revealed that 33% went 

to retail land uses, suggesting that retail workers represent a significant transit market. 

2 Auto-based trips include trips taken by auto, taxi or TNC. Active trips include biking and walking trips. 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 9 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

EXISTING TRANSIT SERVICE IN THE STUDY 
AREA 
RTC provides public transit services to the greater Reno-Sparks area. RTC has a fleet of 65 buses for 

fixed-routes services and provides approximately five million transit rides per year on 20 routes. Most 

of the Local routes in the RTC system operate 30-minute or hourly service seven days per week, with 

the operating hours varying based on the corridor. 

RTC currently operates BRT service on Virginia Street (Virginia Line) and 4th Street/Prater Way (Lincoln 

Line). These corridors have proven to be successful with the Viriginia Line (along with the Route 1 Local 

underlay service) providing over one million rides per year on the five-and-a-half-mile route between 

the University of Nevada, Reno and Meadowood Mall. The Lincoln Line is a shorter route at 

4thapproximately three-and-a-half-miles between the Street Station in Downtown Reno and 

Centennial Plaza in Downtown Sparks. The Lincoln Line (along with the Route 11 Local underlay service) 

provides over 700,000 annual rides. The BRT Lines provide frequent service with headways of 10 

minutes throughout the day on weekdays and 12 minutes on weekends. The span of service for the 

two BRT Lines varies with the Viriginia Line providing service into the late evening hours past midnight. 

The Lincoln Line service operates from approximately 6 am to 8:30 pm. Along with a premium level of 

service, the BRT Lines include enhanced stations with larger shelters and real-time passenger 

information, among other amenities consistent with BRT service. 

RTC also operates FlexRIDE microtransit, vanpool, Access ADA paratransit service, and partners with 

taxis and transportation network companies (TNCs), such as Uber and Lyft to provide service that can 

provide more flexibility for ADA passengers. 

The South Virginia Street Study Area is currently served by Route 56, a standard fixed route, and the 

Regional Connector, which is a commuter route that operates between Reno and Carson City. 

Paratransit service is also available in the area, as well as RTC's vanpool and taxi/TNC programs. RTC 

plans to add FlexRIDE to the Damonte Ranch area in May 2024, but does not have any other immediate 

plans for expansion in the area. These services are described below as it will be critical to integrate 

them with the potential future extension of the Virginia Line. 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates 110 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Route 56 
Local bus service within the South 

Meadows and Damonte Ranch areas is 

currently provided by Route 56, 

operating between Meadowood Mall in 

the north and Damonte Ranch in the 

south (see Figure). Route 56 operates at 

the following frequencies: 

• Monday- Friday 

5:30am - 5pm: 30 minutes 

5pm - 10pm: 60 minutes 

• Saturday 

- 6am - 8pm: 60 minutes 

• Sunday 

- 7am - 6pm: 60 minutes 

Route 56's alignment largely parallels 

the S. Virginia Street corridor to the east, 

including a clockwise loop along Double 

R Boulevard, Damonte Ranch Parkway, 

S. Virginia Street, and South Meadows 

Parkway in the southern portion of the 

route. As of October 2019, Route 56 was 

observed to have an average weekday 

ridership of approximately 750 

boardings. This places Route 56 on the 
lower range of average ridership for an 

C'.o1immim 

0 PruEs\~IZ54. 
RTCF!ffiKlNll. 
mlllll:100& 
RTCIMD 

'LineNO!iTH 

I 
.s 

RTC RIDE & RTC RAPID o,>tml_~ on Saturday/level 
Holiday schedules during tht lollowlng holldays: 

Presklenfs Day lndlgenou. P.aples" Day 

-~ Nevada Day

RJ~1:~~!:~e~~::1~:\~1~~~:!1:;.~I 
New Year's Day Veblm's Day 
Uei11n LJdw King Jr. ~D-, 

- D-, Femlly Day (Day llller 
Th~) 

Independence Day Chrls1mes Dev 
Labor Day 

CUstome, Ser.ice /s Closed on Sundsy Haidays. 
Holidsy schedule Iii/Ibe re,i...d ennus/y. 

Figure 6 . RTC Route S6 Map 

Legend- -56 
~ (,mR>t<

!.il:~br~iTE 
i>..5deparlsttis"1lp 

-o- -.m..1rms,m-g-- Dindmoltu;lliM!I 
Parto(irafres! 

• BusSnps 

RTC route. There are eight routes in the post-2020 network that average fewer daily riders than Route 

56. 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 11 



0 

South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

RTC Regional Connector 
Regional, commuter-focused bus 

service along the S Virginia Street 

corridor is currently provided by 

the RTC Regional Connector, 

operating between Downtown 

Reno in the north and Carson City 

in the south (see Figure 7). The 

Regional Connector operates at 

the following frequencies: 

• Monday- Friday 

- Southbound 

o 5:45am - 6:45am: 

30 minutes 

o 3pm - 5:30pm: 60 

-90 minutes 

Northbound 

o 6:50am - 7:50am: 

30 minutes 

o 4:15pm - 6:45pm: 

60 - 90 minutes 

Primarily traveling on Interstate 

580 between Reno and Carson 

City, the Regional Connector has 

several stops along S Virginia 

-

-
e 

--0- -Jntsmrg 
\f{\\\alll

Dra:tionarustraw,1 . I\Jirto!ntere,; 
51hStlu;SlrjlS• Utlleln~.Tr.'L 

MIRDreltNy 

r 

Legend 
Pool! PBllONALCOONECTOR 

fllli!Fnrl'• 
S.:,,l'<t<liJ,frrtm, 

busd'4Btsthis~ 

RENO 

Figure 7 - RTC Regional Connector Route Map
Street, including at Meadowood 

Mall and Summit Mall. 

RTC FlexRIDE 
FlexRIDE is RTC's curbside-to-curbside on-demand transit service, operating seven days a week in 

select areas of Sparks/Spanish Springs, SomersettNerdi, and North Valleys. This type of on-demand 

service can function both as first- and last-mile travel to and from fixed-route transit hubs, and as a 

means of providing transit in areas that cannot support fixed-route service, such as those with low 

population densities, irregular street networks, or unique and challenging geographies. Connections 

to fixed-route service are provided at transit hubs, transfer points, and other key bus stops. 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 12 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 
RTC Washoe 

While no FlexRIDE service is 
BRT Conceptual 

currently provided in the South Reno Alternatives 

Proposed Darnonte Meadows and Damonte Ranch Ranch FlexRIDE 
Service Area areas, RTC is planning to 

• 
Potential BRT

implement FlexRIDE service in Station/FlexRIDE 
Connectionthese areas in May 2024(see 

Figure 8)3 In addition to the 

service area itself, FlexRIDE is 

anticipated to provide 'service to 

the following destinations outside 

of the service area: 

• Raley's at Galena Junction Proposed 

• UNR Redfield Campus Damonte Ranch 
FlexRIDE Service Area 

• South Valleys 

Library/Sports Complex 

• Reno Ice 

• South Meadows Walmart 

• IGT WZolezzi Lr, 

■ DMV 

■ WinCo 

■ Smith's 

■ United States Post Office 

Summit,MaU • 

Data Sources: RTC Washoe 0.45 0.9Miles ® 
Figure 8 • Proposed Damonte Ranch RTC FlexRIDE Service Area 

Meadowood Mall Transfer Center 
The Meadowood Mall Transfer Center is located between the south end of the mall and Meadowood 

Mall Circle. The transfer center is comprised of seven bays, serving RTC Routes 1, 9, 12, 54, and 56, as 

well as the Virginia Line and the Regional Connector. Amenities at the transfer center include three 

shelters, benches, and trashcans. RTC is currently in the process of designing a new transfer center at 

Meadowood Mall to the east of the existing location (see Figure 9). 

3 The Damonte Ranch FlexRIDE service area is preliminary and will be undergoing a formal RTC Washoe public 

participation and review process. 

Nelson\Nygaard Co nsulting Associates I 13 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Figure 9 - Proposed Meadowood Mall Transfer Center Relocation 

Bus Stops 
Outside of the Meadowood Mall Transfer Center, existing bus stops within the study area are currently 

served by RTC Route 56 and the Regional Connector. Stops are primarily comprised of a bus stop flag 

on the sidewalk, with roughly half of the stops including a bench and two with a shelter. Figure 10 

displays the current level of amenities for existing bus stops on S Virginia Street, and Figure 11 lists 

the details of all existing stops within the study area. Only two stops along the corridor currently have 

shelters. 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates j 14 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Figure10 - Existing Bus Stops on SVirigina Street for Route 56 &the Regional Connector 

Stop Name IDirection IRoutes I Amenities 

Meadowood Mall Cir and S Virginia St EB 1, 9 Flag, sidewalk 

S Virginia St and Longley Ln NB Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk 

S Virginia St and Longley Ln SB Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk 

S Virginia St and E Patriot Blvd SB Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk 

S Virginia St and Holcomb Ranch Ln SB Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk 

S Virginia St and South Meadows Pkwy 
(Winco Entrance) 

NB Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk, shelter, bench 

S Virginia St and Artisan Means Way NB 56 Flag, sidewalk 

s Virginia St and McCabe Dr (Auto 
Center Dr) 

NB 56, Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk 

S Virginia St and McCabe Dr SB Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk, bench 

S Virginia St and Trinity Ln NB 56, Regional Connector 
Flag, sidewalk, shelter, bench, 

trashcan 

S Virginia St and Trinity Ln SB Regiona l Connector Flag, sidewalk, bench 

S Virginia St and Damonte Ranch Pkwy NB Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk, bench 

S Virginia St and Damonte Ranch Pkwy 
(Arrowcreek Pkwy) 

SB Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk, bench 

Figure 11 - Existing Bus Stops and Amenities on SVirginia Street 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 15 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

4 BRT CONCEPTUAL ALTERNATIVES 

OPERATIONS PLANNING CONCEPTS 
Four conceptual BRT service alternatives were developed for this study to illustrate the level of 

operations investment that would be needed by RTC to support a new BRT line serving the South 

Virginia Street and Damonte Ranch destinations. The operational investment is one of the key pieces 

of information that is necessary when determining whether to move forward with a transit capital 

project. These concepts are intended to be a starting point that could be used for future corridor 

planning including a formal Alternatives Analysis that would be required to seek federal funding to 

support a BRT transit capital investment for the South Viriginia Street corridor. 

Remix transit planning software was used to calculate the operating statistics and estimated operations 

costs for all service alternatives in this study. The annual operations costs from Remix were evaluated 

for accuracy compared to actual RTC operations cost and were deemed to be within reason and valid 

for planning purposes to evaluate service options as part of this analysis. 

EXISTING VIRGINIA LINE BRT 
The existing Virginia Line BRT service operates within the City of Reno between the University of 

Nevada, Reno (UNR) in the north and Meadowood Mall in the south. Primarily traveling on Virginia 

Street, the Virginia Line BRT connects UNR, RTC's 4th Street Station, Downtown Reno, the Riverwalk 

District, Midtown Reno, and Meadowood Mall as it travels north to south. Operational statistics for the 

existing Virginia Line BRT are shown in Figure 10. 

Existing Virginia Line BRT 

Peak Operational Vehicles 7 

Roundtrip Length (mi) 12.34 

Stations (total) 26 

Average Station Spacing (mi) 0.51 

Weekday Frequency (min) 10.6 min (6am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 - 10pm) / 60 
min (10 - 11 :59pm) 

Saturday Frequency (min) 12.3 min (6am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 -10pm) / 60 
min (10 - 11 :59pm) 

Sunday Frequency (min) 12.3 min (6:30am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 - 9pm) / 
60 min (9 - 11 pm) 

Annual Operating Cost Estimate $3.10 million (Remix estimate) I $3.43 million 
(RTC 2019-2020 estimate) 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 16 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Annual Operating Hours Estimate 30,966 

Figure 12 - Existing Virginia Line BRT Operations Summary 

PROPOSED STOP LOCATIONS 
The proposed stop locations for each alternative are based on a combination of regional growth plans, 

best practices including the current spacing found with the Virginia Line, and an analysis of current 

and future land uses. Based on the City of Reno Relmagine Reno Master Plan, which was updated in 

2021, the South Virginia Street corridor is mostly identified as Suburban Mixed Use (SMU) which 

encourages "concentrated nodes of higher-intensity development...at major intersections." 

Furthermore, the plan identifies four multi-modal hubs which shall, "incorporate transit stops and other 

multi-modal facilities." The four areas are located at the Meadowood Mall, South Meadows Parkway, 

Damonte Ranch Parkway, and the Summit Mall as shown in Figure 13. 

0 Commun:ty'Neog~i:>ort'OO<l 
Cer,ler5 

Figure 13: Multi-Modal Hubs identified in the Relmagine Reno Master Plan 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 17 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

In addition to the multi modal hubs identified in the Relmagine Reno Master Plan, many of the major 

intersections including Longley Lane, South Meadows Parkway, and Damonte Ranch Parkway were 

prioritized because of connectivity to.the surrounding neighborhoods. Further, best practices indicate 

stops should be placed approximately one-half mile apart to decrease travel times and increase 

ridership. This approach is consistent with RTC's existing BRT stop spacing. Finally, existing and future 

conditions were considered including the potential for development of higher densities, employment 

nodes, and areas of future growth potential. 

Figure 14 shows the composite of the current and future conditions and the relationship with the 

proposed stop locations. As the figure shows, the highest growth opportunity within the study corridor 

shows a deviation from South Virginia Street along Damonte Ranch Parkway. The proposed stop 

locations align with the locations with the highest density or planned growth along the corridor 

including the stop along Damonte Ranch Parkway. A few of the stops are in less dense segments of 

the corridor to maintain consistent stop spacing and should be considered for targeted growth 

locations in the future. 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates j 18 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

/ i> 
WOOD -RODGER:S 

Zul ni 1,u 

PROPOSED STOP LOCATIONS 
Ilk" SOUTH VIRGINIA STREET TOD 

REHO 
SOUTHEAST 

RENO, NV 
MARCH 2024 

l luh 

...-. 
~ 

Legend 

© Proposed 
Stops 

Vacant Land 

Sparse 

Existing Multi
Family 

Sparse 

Dense 

~'- Population 
\'-"\' Growth 

(2020-2050) 

Sparse 

Dense 
,. 

Empolyment 

~ Growth 
(2020-2050) 

f!!_i] Sparse 

JQ[ 
Dense 

" 

Figure 14: Land use analysis composite relative to proposed stop locations 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 19 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Figure 15: Stop Locations and Names 

Considering all of the above criteria a total of eight stop locations were identified, six stop locations 

along South Virginia Street and two which deviate from South Virginia Street at Damonte Ranch 

Parkway and follow the planned connection between Damonte Ranch Parkway and Veterans Parkway. 

These eight stop locations and the opportunities that surround them are shown in Figure 16. 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 20 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Relmagine 

Reno 
Proposed Vacant Land orMulti- Existing Future Future 
Stop RedevelopmentMajor Modal Employment Existing Population Employment 
Location Intersection Hub Node Multifamily Opportunities Growth Growth 

Meadowood X X X XX X XMall 

Longley 
X X X XLane 

South 

Meadows X X X X X X 
Parkway 

McCabe 
X X X X XDrive 

Damonte 

Ranch X X X X 
Parkway 

Downtown 
X X X X X X XDamonte 

Pioneer 
X X XParkway 

Summit 
X X X X X X XMall 

Figure 16: Factors influencing recommended stop locations. 

The table identifies three major stop locations that include all criteria of an ideal stop location. The two 

north and south anchor points, Meadowood Mall in the north and the Summit Mall in the south justify 

the beginning and end of the proposed route. The third, in the area identified as Downtown Damonte, 

currently has the highest potential for concentration of riders and the greatest opportunity to include 

future development that will serve riders for transit along the corridor. Therefore, as part of this effort, 

alternatives explore the possibility of a transit route deviating from South Virginia Street to capture 

and serve the current and future population near Downtown Damonte. 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 21 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

ALTERNATIVE 1 - SUMMIT MALL 

Route Description 
Alternative 1 would provide service along S 

Virginia Street between Meadowood Mall in 

the north and Summit Mall in the south, as 

shown in Figure 17. 

Stations would be at Longley Lane, South 

Meadows Parkway, McCabe Drive, Trinity 

Lane, and Damonte Ranch Parkway, and 

would connect riders to Bishop Manogue 

High School, Tamarack Casino, and various 

residential, retail and employment 

destinations along S Virginia Street. 

To estimate the operational statistics shown 

in Figure 8, daily service frequency was 

assumed to be 15 minutes between 6am and 

7pm and 30 minutes between 7pm and 

1 0pm. 15-minute headways is the minimum 

level of service that would be considered BRT. 

Operational statistics were also estimated for 

a "Robust Service Level Option" where service 

levels and spans match those of existing 

Virginia Line BRT. In this scenario, buses 
would operate at the frequencies and spans 

indicated in Figure 9. 

Alternative 1 - Summit Mall 

Peak Operational Vehicles 

RTC TRANSFER CENTER 
and Meadowood Mall 

NorlhC!m 
Nevada S,eria 
Mcdic,11Center 

Huff.1 ker Hill~ 
Open Space 

Figure 17 · Alternative 1Alignment & Stations 

Car.at Ave 

4 

Roundtrip Length (mi) 11 .92 

Stations (total) 12 

Average Station Spacing (mi) 0.98 

Frequency (min) 15 min (6am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 - 10pm) 

Annual Operating Cost Estimate $2.05 million 

Annual Operating Hours Estimate 20,500 

Figure 18 •Alternative 1Operations Summary 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 22 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 
RTC Washoe 

Alternative 1 - Summit Mall - Robust Service Level Option 

Peak Operational Vehicles 6 

Roundtrip Length (mi) 11.92 

Stations (total) 12 

Average Station Spacing (mi) 0.98 

Weekday Frequency (min) 10.6 min (6am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 -10pm) / 60 

min (10 -11:59pm) 

Saturday Frequency (min) 12.3 min (6am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 - 1 0pm) / 60 

min (10 -11:59pm) 

Sunday Frequency (min) 12.3 min (6:30am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 - 9pm) / 

60 min (9 - 11 pm) 

Annual Operating Cost Estimate $2.79 million 

Annual Operating Hours Estimate 27,851 

Figure 19 -Alternative 1Robust Service Levels Operations Summary 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 23 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

ALTERNATIVE 2 DAMONTE RANCH 

Route Description 
Alternative 2 would provide service along 

South Virginia Street and Damonte Ranch 

Parkway between Meadowood Mall in the 

north and Damonte Ranch Town Center in 

the south, as shown in Figure 20. 

Stations would be at Longley Lane, South 

Meadows Parkway, McCabe Drive, and 

Trinity Lane, and would connect riders to 

Bishop Manogue High School, and various 

residential, retail and employment 

destinations along S Virginia Street, mixed 

use retail and employment at the Damonte 

Ranch Town Center, and residences along 

Damonte Ranch Parkway. 

To estimate the operational statistics 

shown in 21, daily service frequency was 

assumed to be 15 minutes between 6am 

and 7pm and 30 minutes between 7pm 

and 10pm. 

Operational statistics were also estimated 

for a "Robust Service Level Option" where 

service levels and spans match those of 

existing Virginia Line BRT. In this scenario, 
buses would operate at the frequencies 

RTC TRANSFER CENTER 
and Meadowood Mall 

Nonhern 
Nevada Sierra 
Medical Center 

Hufl.11~~ H,11.. 
Qll'r,ASP-lltr 

S w-eado"""' 

Renown South 
'vieadow!; 

Medical Center Carat Ave 

-f, 
n Center 

3000ft 

[B [i@:jijiOO 
re 

Figure 20 - Alternative 2Alignment & Stations 

and spans indicated in Figure 22. The proposed stop and route within Damonte Ranch is preliminary 

and would need to be finalized as the project moves forward. 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 24 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Alternative 2 - Damonte Ranch Town Center 

Peak Operational Vehicles 4 

Roundtrip Length (mi) 11.07 

Stations (total) 10 

Average Station Spacing (mi) 1.11 

Frequency (min) 15 min (6am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 - 1 0pm) 

Annual Operating Cost Estimate $1.95 million 

Annual Operating Hours Estimate 19,400 

Figure 21 -Alternative 2 Operations Summary 

Alternative 2 - Damonte Ranch Town Center - Robust Service Level Option 

Peak Operational Vehicles 6 

Roundtrip Length (mi) 11.07 

Stations (total) 10 

Average Station Spacing (mi) 1.11 

Weekday Frequency (min) 10.6 min (6am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 - 1 0pm) / 60 

min (10 - 11 :59pm) 

Saturday Frequency (min) 12.3 min (6am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 - 1 0pm) / 60 

min (10-11:59pm) 

Sunday Frequency (min) 12.3 min (6:30am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 - 9pm) / 

60 min (9 - 11 pm) 

Annual Operating Cost Estimate $2.64 million 

Annual Operating Hours Estimate 26,378 

Figure 22 -Alternative 2 Robust Service Levels Operations Summary 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 25 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

ALTERNATIVE 3 -SUMMIT MALL/ DAMONTE 
RANCH LOOP 

Route Description 
Alternative 3 would operate as two independent loop routes, differentiated by a clockwise or 

counterclockwise direction of travel around the loop created by S Virginia Street, Damonte Ranch 

Parkway, Sage Hill Road, and Veterans Parkway. Each trip for both routes would begin and terminate 

at Meadowood Mall, extending to Summit Mall in the south, as shown in Figure. 

Stations would be at Longley Lane, South Meadows Parkway, McCabe Drive, Trinity Lane, Damonte 

Ranch Parkway, Damonte Ranch Town Center, and Veterans Drive, and would connect riders to Bishop 

Manogue High School, Tamarack Casino, and mixed-use retail and residential destinations along S 

Virginia Street, Damonte Ranch Parkway, and Veterans Parkway. 

To estimate the operational statistics shown in Figure 24, daily service frequency was assumed to be 

15 minutes between 6am and 7pm and 30 minutes between 7pm and 1 0pm.4 

Operational statistics were also estimated for a "Robust Service Level Option" where service levels and 

spans match those of existing Virginia Line BRT. In this scenario, buses would operate at the 

frequencies and spans indicated in the table below. 

4 Each loop route would operate independently at a 30-minute frequency from 6am - 7pm and a 60-minute 

frequency from 7 - 1 0pm. Service for both loop routes would overlap along S Virginia Street between Meadowood 

Mall and Damonte Ranch Parkway, creating 15-minute frequency from 6am - 7pm and 30-minute frequency from 7 -

10pm along that portion of the route. Bi-directional service along the loop portion of the route would operate at a 

30-minute frequency from 6am - 7pm and a 60-minute frequency from 7 - 10pm. 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 26 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 
RTC Washoe 

RTC TRANSFER CENTER 
and Meadowood Mall 

Nonhem 
Neva da Sierra 
Medica l Center 

S Virginia Street and 
Longley Ln 

Huffaker Hill s 
Open Space 

~-.."" 
stJieado"""" 

Renown South 
Meadows 

Ca rat Ave Med ical Center 

Figure 23 -Alternative 3Alignment & Stations 

Alternative 3 - Summit Mall / Damonte Ranch Loop 

Peak Operational Vehicles 4 

Roundtrip Length (mi) 13.5 

Stations (total) 15 

Average Station Spacing (mi) 1.04 

Frequency (min) 15 min (6am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 - 1 0pm) 

Annual Operating Cost Estimate $2.16 million 

Annual Operating Hours Estimate 21,700 

Figure 24 - Alternative 3Operations Summary 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 27 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Alternative 3 - Summit Mall / Damonte Ranch Loop - Robust Service Level Option 

Peak Operational Vehicles 6 

Roundtrip Length (mi) 13.5 

Stations (total) 15 

Average Station Spacing (mi) 1.04 

Weekday Frequency (min) 5 10.6 min (6am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 -10pm) / 60 

min (10 -11:59pm) 

Saturday Frequency (min)6 12.3 min (6am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 - 10pm) / 60 

min (10 - 11 :59pm) 

Sunday Frequency (min)7 12.3 min (6:30am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 - 9pm) / 

60 min (9 - 11 pm) 

Annual Operating Cost Estimate $2.90 million 

Annual Operating Hours Estimate 29,046 

Figure 25 •Alternative 3 Robust Service Levels Operations Summary 

5 On weekdays, each loop route would operate independently at a 21.2-minute frequency from 6am - 7pm, a 60-

minute frequency from 7 - 10pm, and a 120-minute frequency from 10 - 11 :59pm. Service for both loop routes would 

overlap along S Virginia Street between Meadowood Mall and Damonte Ranch Parkway, creating a 10.6-minute 

frequency from 6am - 7pm, a 30-minute frequency from 7 - 1 0pm, and a 60-minute frequency from 10 - 11 :59pm 

along that portion of the route. Bi-directional service along the loop portion of the route would operate at a 21.2-

minute frequency from 6am - 7pm, a 60-minute frequency from 7-10pm, and a 120-minute frequency from 10-

11:59pm. 

6 On Saturdays, each loop route would operate independently at a 24.6-minute frequency from 6am - 7pm, a 60-

minute frequency from 7 - 10pm, and a 120-minute frequency from 10 -11:59pm. Service for both loop routes would 

overlap along S Virginia Street between Meadowood Mall and Damonte Ranch Parkway, creating a 12.3-minute 

frequency from 6am - 7pm, a 30-minute frequency from 7 - 1 0pm, and a 60-minute frequency from 10 - 11 :59pm 

along that portion of the route. Bi-directional service along the loop portion of the route would operate at a 24.6-

minute frequency from 6am - 7pm, a 60-minute frequency from 7 - 1 0pm, and a 120-minute frequency from 10 -

11:59pm. 

7 On Sundays, each loop route would operate independently at a 24.6-minute frequency from 6:30am - 7pm, a 60-

minute frequency from 7 - 9pm, and a 120-minute frequency from 9 - 11 pm. Service for both loop routes would 

overlap along S Virginia Street between Meadowood Mall and Damonte Ranch Parkway, creating a 12.3-minute 

frequency from 6:30am - 7pm, a 30-minute frequency from 7 - 9pm, and a 60-minute frequency from 9 - 11 pm along 

that portion of the route. Bi-directional service along the loop portion of the route would operate at a 24.6-minute 

frequency from 6:30am - 7pm, a 60-minute frequency from 7 - 9pm, and a 120-minute frequency from 9 -11 pm. 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 28 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

ALTERNATIVE 4 - EXTENSION OF EXISTING 
VIRGINIA LINE BRT TO DAMONTE RANCH 
Alternative 4 would extend the existing Virginia Line BRT south of Meadowood Mall, creating a 

continuous route between the University of Nevada, Reno in the north and Damonte Ranch in the 

south, as shown in Figure 7. 

Between Meadowood Mall and Damonte Ranch, Alternative 4 would provide service along S Virginia 

Street and Damonte Ranch Parkway, with stations located at Longley Lane, South Meadows Parkway, 

McCabe Drive, and Trinity Lane. These stations would connect riders to Bishop Manogue High School, 

various residential, retail and employment destinations along S Virginia Street, mixed use retail and 

employment at the Damonte Ranch Town Center, and residences along Damonte Ranch Parkway. 

Alternative 4 operational statistics were estimated through assuming service levels and spans that 

match those of existing Virginia Line BRT as shown in Figure. Buses would operate at the frequencies 

and spans indicated in the table below. 

Alternative 4 - Damonte Ranch 

Peak Operational Vehicles 10 

Roundtrip Length (mi) 23.43 (12.36 miles of the existing Viriginia Line 

with 11.07 being new service) 

Stations (total) 36 

Average Station Spacing (mi) 0.69 

Weekday Frequency (min) 10.6 min (6am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 - 10pm) / 60 
min (10 - 11 :59pm) 

Saturday Frequency (min) 12.3 min (6am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 -10pm) / 60 

min (10 - 11 :59pm) 

Sunday Frequency (min) 12.3 min (6:30am - 7pm) / 30 min (7 - 9pm) / 
60 min (9 - 11 pm) 

Annual Operating Cost Estimate $4.81 million 

Annual Operating Hours Estimate 48,085 

Figure 26 •Alternative 4 Operations Summary 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 29 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Reno 

Reno-Sparks 
Livestock 

Events Center 

+ 
RNO 

Sparks 

Glendale 

Hidd 

3000ft A 
r2zl~ 

Figure 37 - Alternative 4 Alignment &Stations 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 30 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

ALTERNATIVES COMPARISON 
A snapshot of the service and passenger experience pros and cons related to the four BRT service 

alternatives is provided below in Figure 8. As this corridor continues to develop, the potential service 

options could be updated to align station locations with new developments or pedestrian and bicycle 

facilities. These will be important factors in developing a final BRT service recommendation. 

Opportunities to connect with the planned FlexRIDE or Route 56 should be considered when 

comparing the benefits of potential service plans. 

Alternative Pros Cons 

• Fewest destinations served, 

does not directly serve 

Downtown Damonte missing a 

large ridership opportunity
■ Shorter roundtrip length 

(lowest ridership potential of
resulting in lower estimated 

the alternatives) 
annual operating costs 

Alternative 1 - Summit • Would require connecting
■ Most direct BRT route staying

Mall transit service or FlexRIDE to 
on the South Viriginia corridor 

reach the Damonte Ranch 
■ 

destinations. 
■ 

• Would require passengers 

traveling from the North 

Viriginia corridor to transfer to 

a new route. 

• Shortest roundtrip length 

• Lowest estimated annual
Alternative 2 

operating cost
Damonte Ranch 

• Serves one of the highest 

ridership nodes 

■ Fewer destinations served 

including existing density near 

Summit Mall (lower ridership 

potential) 

• Would require connecting 

transit service or FlexRIDE to 

reach the Summit Mall 

destinations. 

• Would require passengers 

traveling from the North 

Viriginia corridor to transfer to 

a new route. 

Alternative 3 - Summit ■ Greatest number of • Longest roundtrip length 

Mall/Damonte Ranch destinations served (highest • Highest estimated annual 
Loop ridership potential) operating cost 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 31 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Alternative Pros 

■ Largest geographic coverage 

that would likely be more 

productive for generating 

ridership than connecting 

service that would require a 

transfer. 

Alternative 4 

Extension of Current 

Virginia Line BRT to 

Damonte Ranch8 

■ Fewest number of peak 

operational vehicles required 

compared to scenarios where 

Alternatives 1, 2, or 3 and 

existing Virginia Line BRT 

service would be operated as 

separate routes 

■ Shortest roundtrip travel time 

compared to scenarios where 

Alternatives 1, 2, or 3 and 

existing Virginia Line BRT 

service would be operated as 

separate routes 

■ Lowest estimated annual 

operating cost compared to 

scenarios where Alternatives 1, 

2, or 3 and existing Virginia 

Line BRT service would be 

operated as separate routes 

■ Passengers would not need to 

transfer for trips to the north 

Viriginia corridor 

Cons 

■ Lower level of service in loop 

portion of route 

■ Would require passengers 

traveling from the North 

Viriginia corridor to transfer to 

a new route. 

■ Fewer destinations served 

including existing density near 

Summit Mall (lower ridership 

potential) 

■ Would require connecting 

transit service or FlexRIDE to 

reach the Summit Mall 

destinations. 

8 Alternatives 1, 2, and 3 above assume that BRT service south of Meadowood Mall would be provided through a 

separate bus route than that of the existing Virginia Line BRT north of Meadowood Mall. In contrast, Alternative 4 is 

an extension of the existing Virginia Line BRT, combining service north and south of Meadowood Mall into one bus 

route. Because of this, the "Pros" and "Cons" listed for Alternative 4 compare against scenarios where existing Viriginia 

Line service would be maintained and a new, separate BRT line south of Meadowood Mall, either Alternative 1, 2, or 3, 

would operate concurrently (i.e., for comparison with Alternative 4, operational statistics for Alternatives 1, 2, or 3 

assume that two separate routes are operated and are combined with the statistics of the existing Virginia Line BRT). 

Assumed service levels and spans for Alternative 4 match those of the existing Virginia Line BRT. 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 32 



South Virginia TOD Study -Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Figure 48 • Pros and Cons of BRT Service Alternatives 

Figure 9 displays a comparison of estimated operational statistics for the four BRT service alternatives, 

assuming service levels and spans that match those of the existing Virginia Line BRT. To provide an 

accurate comparison between Alternative 4, which includes the full Virginia corridor between the 

University of Nevada, Reno and Damonte Ranch, and the other three alternatives, operational statistics 

for Alternatives 1, 2, and 3 were combined with those of the existing Virginia Line BRT. This ensures 

that, for comparison purposes, each alternative considers the full Virginia corridor from the University 

of Nevada, Reno in the north to either Summit Mall or Damonte Ranch in the south. 

As shown in Figure 9, there would be cost efficiencies associated with operating BRT service in the 

Virginia Street corridor south of Meadowood Mall as an extension of the existing Virginia Line BRT 

(Alternative 4) compared to operating service north and south of Meadowood Mall as two 

independent routes (Alternatives 1, 2, and 3). When determining whether to operate service south of 

Meadowood Mall as an extension of existing service, the ability to maintain on-time performance along 

the full route between the University of Nevada, Reno and Summit Mall or Damonte Ranch would need 

to be considered. 

Annual 
Peak 

Alternative 
Operating 

Cost 
Operational 

Vehicles 
Estimate 

Existing Virginia Line + Alt 1 

- Summit Mall 
$5.89 million 13 

Existing Virginia Line + Alt 2 

- Damonte Ranch 
$5.74 million 13 

Existing Virginia Line+ Alt 3 

- Summit Mall/ Damonte $6.00 million 13 
Ranch Loop 

Alt 4 - Existing Virginia Line 
$4.81 million 10 

Extension to Damonte Ranch 

Figure 59 - Operations Comparison of BRT Service Alternatives 

Roundtrip 

Length 

24.26 mi 

23.41 mi 

25.84 mi 

23.43 mi 

Stations 

38 

38 

41 

36 

Annual 

Operating 

Hours 

Estimate 

58,817 

57,344 

60,012 

48,085 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 33 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

5 CORRIDOR RIDERSHIP FORECASTS 
STOPS Ridership Modeling Forecasts 
The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) has developed the Simplified Trips-on-Project Software 

(STOPS) that can be used to develop ridership forecasts for transit corridor projects. As part of this 

study, multiple STOPS model approaches were developed for the South Virigina Street corridor to 

evaluate ridership potential of the conceptual BRT service alternatives. The STOPS-based approaches 

relied on underlying Census data and a transit rider origin -destination survey conducted in 2017. Given 

the limited existing transit service/historical ridership and existing development in the project study 

area, using STOPS to forecast ridership for the South Viriginia corridor, especially the southern end of 

the corridor, proved challenging. The results were nonetheless useful in providing high-level 

verification of four conceptual BRT alignments and potential ridership scenarios identified in the 

population analysis shown in Figure 9. However, the STOPS model would need to be refined for a more 

formal FTA Alternatives Analysis, which is necessary if the RTC were to apply to the FTA for discretionary 

grants to fund a future extension of the Virginia Line. 

Four conceptual alignment/service alternatives were evaluated with the STOPS model. The conceptual 

alternatives are described in greater detail in the next section (Section 3) of the report. In addition to 

the four conceptual BRT alternatives, two land use alternatives were developed, tested, and analyzed 

to determine the impact that transit-supportive land use outcomes might have on ridership forecasts. 

And finally, STOPS includes a setting that represents the "visibility" of various levels of partial-fixed 

guideway transit services, such as BRT. Higher visibility settings are intended to represent features that 

improve the reliability and attractiveness of BRT, such as exclusive lane and/or signal priority treatment. 

Multiple variations of the visibility setting were tested to determine the potential impact that BRT 

service enhancements might have on ridership forecasts. 

Initial forecasts based off the STOPS model indicate that the BRT service alternatives could generate 

between 1,000 and 2,000 additional daily riders in the South Virginia Street corridor by 2050. The lower 

end of the range would represent basic BRT service without a transit-supportive land use future, while 

the higher end of the range includes enhanced BRT service along with the realization of transit

supportive land uses. 

While the overall magnitude of the STOPS-based forecasts is lower than the population-based 

ridership projections discussed in Figure 9, it is perhaps more useful to focus on the significant 

percentage changes in ridership that emerged from the STOPS modeling and testing. Those 

percentage changes in ridership outcomes are discussed in further detail below, but overall, initial 

STOPS modeling suggests that ridership forecasts could increase by 46% to 53% over initial 

baseline forecasts. 

Several key findings that emerged from the STOPS modeling have broader implications for subsequent 

phases of this project, as noted below: 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 34 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

• By a large margin, the existing Virginia Line consistently shows up as the strongest performer 

in terms of ridership. This is not only the case for near-term ridership forecasts, but also for the 

long-term. This confirms the existing Virginia Line as a logical foundational choice to build off 

and extend future service. 

• Transit-supportive land uses matter. Sensitivity testing conducted with additional land use 

alternatives indicated that complementary land uses could boost ridership 15%-22%. 

• Stop location/spacing positively influences ridership. Average stop spacing for the existing 

Virginia Line is every half-mile. Proposed average stop spacing for the four conceptual BRT 

alternatives under consideration in this study is one-mile. Sensitivity testing conducted with 
the STOPS model during the latter phases of this study indicated that stop spacing closer 
to the existing Virginia Rapid Line could yield ridership gains of 15%-20%. 

• BRT enhancement treatments mean additional ridership. A visibility factor of .15 was used to 

calibrate the current year STOPS model. This factor represents the current level of visibility for 

the existing Virginia and Lincoln Lines. Factors of .30 and .SO were tested to determine the 

potential impact that enhancements might have on ridership outcomes for the four conceptual 

BRT alternatives under consideration in this study. The results of the sensitivity testing 

indicated that BRT treatment enhancements such as exclusive lanes and/or signal 
prioritization could mean a ridership bump of 10%-26%. 

Should this project advance for further study, additional model calibration and refinement will be 

required to utilize.STOPS for this corridor and for any FTA discretionary grant processes. In particular, 

the model would greatly benefit from a post-pandemic rider survey to update current behavior and 

more refined assumptions around future station access. While the forecasts based off the STOPS 

model are lower than the population-based ridership potential discussed in the previous section, they 

provide useful data points and findings to consider for the evaluation of the corridor for future BRT 

service. 

The table below represents projected ridership from the STOPs model of the overall Virginia Line 

assuming a full route was in place from the UNR campus to Damonte Ranch/Summit Mall. 

2020 Baseline 2050 (Low) 2050 (High) 

Virginia Virginia Virginia 

Line Project Total Line Project Total Line Project Total 

Alternative 1 6,900 1,000 7,900 8,450 1,250 9,700 8,800 1,900 10,700 

Alternative 2 6,850 950 7,800 8,350 1,200 9,550 8,800 1,900 10,700 

Alternative 3 6,850 950 7,800 8,350 1,200 9,550 8,800 1,850 10,650 

Alternative 4 6,700 850 7,550 8,250 1,050 9,300 8,650 1,500 10,150 

Figure 30 - STOPS Model Forecasts for Alternatives 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 35 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

6 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR NEXT 
STEPS 

FTA ALTERNATIVES ANALYSIS 
Based on the preliminary ridership forecasts completed as part of this effort along with the 

recommendations for TOD supportive land use improvements, the corridor could be a candidate for 

future BRT capital investment. A full Alternatives Analysis incorporating an updated STOPS ridership 

model should be completed as a first step in determining the feasibility for a full BRT investment. The 

service alternatives outlined in Section 3 should be used as a starting point for options to evaluate. 

An important part of an Alternatives Analysis process is to determine capital and operating funding 

sources to support a new transit capital investment. This should include an evaluation of whether to 

pursue a Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Small Starts Capital Investment Grant (CIG). Figure 31 
shows a summary of the evaluation criteria that are used to evaluate projects for eligibility and award 

of federal CIG grants. 

CIG ProjeGt Evaluation and Rating 

Individual 
OverallSummaryCriteria 
RatingRatingsRatings 

Overall Project Rating j 

Figure 31- Capital Investment Grant Evaluation Criteria Summary 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 36 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

OPPORTUNITIES TO BUILD TRANSIT 
RIDERSHIP PRIOR TO BRT INVESTMENT 
In addition to continuing with further study, there are opportunities to make incremental 

improvements to transit service along the South Virginia Street corridor that could build ridership to 

further support the future investment. These improvements could be made in coordination with new 

development along the corridor. 

Phase 1 - Implement a Fixed Route Along on South Viriginia 
Prior to the delivery of full BRT service along the South Virginia Street corridor south of Meadowood 

Mall, interim service at frequencies lower than that of full BRT but greater than service levels provided 

by the Regional Connector could be introduced between Meadowood Mall, Summit Mall, and 

Damonte Ranch. 

This would be beneficial if funding for operating transit service along the corridor becomes available 

ahead of funding for capital expenditures associated with full BRT service and passenger amenities. 

Introducing a route along South Virginia Street could also assist RTC in starting to build a ridership 

base along the corridor south of Meadowood Mall that could help build community and funding 

support for full BRT service delivery. This interim service could supplement the existing, or work in 

conjunction with a modified Route 56 service. Introducing service as a local route prior to a full BRT 

investment is also an opportunity to evaluate which stops are the most productive and would be good 

candidates for capital investments or to help inform how many stations would be needed for a future 

BRT route. 

Phase 2 - Bus Stop Improvements 
An interim step for enhancing transit service within the study area could be the improvement of 

passenger amenities at existing bus stops along the portions of Route 56 and the RTC Regional 

Connector that overlap with any of the proposed alternatives described above. Within the quickly 

growing study area, RTC Washoe could coordinate with those responsible for the development of 

properties adjacent to existing or potential bus stops on the improvement of passenger facilities and 

safe access to them. 

Phase 3 - BRT Service Implementation 
After the implementation of interim transit service along the South Virginia Street corridor, ridership 

should be monitored to gauge the potential viability of BRT service within the study area. This interim 

service ridership, along with future ridership potential driven by planned changes in land use intensity 

and the enhanced service levels and passenger amenities associated with BRT, should be considered 

key factors in determining when BRT should be implemented. 

In connecting the planned FlexRIDE on-demand service area to South Virginia Street BRT within the 

study area, considerations would need to be given to the provision of space within BRT station 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 37 



South Virginia TOD Study - Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

footprints for on-demand transit use, the deployment of rides to align with fixed-route schedules, and 

the maintenance of sufficient vehicle capacity to handle peak-period demand connecting to fixed

route service. Potential connection points between FlexRIDE and South Virginia Street BRT are shown 

in Figure 8. 

The analysis in this study suggests extending the existing Virginia Line route may be a good option to 

provide enhanced transit service to the South Viriginia study area. This could be done incrementally 

with an initial extension to Damonte Ranch. The service could be modified to serve additional stops or 

destinations in response to continued development along the corridor. 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates I 38 



Memorandum WOOD -RODGER::S 
BUILDING RELATIONSHIPS ONE PROJECT AT A TIME 

To: Graham Dollarhide 
Regional Transportation Commission (RTC Washoe) 

From: Eric Hasty 
Wood Rodgers, Inc. 

Date: June 06, 2023 

Subject: Overview ofSVTOD Public Outreach Workshops (June 5th, 11am-2pm & 3pm-6pm) 

On June 5, 2023, two public workshops were held in person along the South Virginia Street Corridor to 
introduce the SVTOD Study to the public. The focus of the meeting was to allow citizens to submit 
comments in person regarding the existing conditions, educate the public on what transit oriented 
development (TOD) can bring to a corridor, and to solicit feedback. An online survey and story map was 
also advertised for anyone who couldn't attend. 

Both meetings were advertised on the local news networks and on RTC social media pages. The two 
meetings took place at two locations along the corridor. The first which was held from 11am to 2pm was 
located within the common space of the Meadowood Mall. The second meeting which took place from 3pm 
to 6pm was located at the banquet room in the Tamarack Casino. 

Both meetings had similar attendance with a total ofnine members of the public contributing public 
comment. Representatives from Wood Rodgers and RTC were there to walk attendees through the 
materials and encouraged to provide comment. Almost all members who attended submitted their 
comments. Below is a summary of some of the most repeated themes: 

Strong support for a cycle track, separated multi-use path, or buffered pedestrian/bicycle path. 
Strong support for multi-modal improvements, sidewalk, and landscape. 
Strong support for landscaped median for safety and control of turn movements. 
Strong support to see transit extended south of Mccarren Blvd. but no consensus on level of service. 
Comments included interest in flex ride, full BRT along Virginia Street to Mt. Rose Highway, and the 
increase in frequency of arrival times and expanded hours for route 56. 
Some support for speed reduction. 
Some support for lane reduction. 
Some support for bus only lane or prioritizing bus service at traffic lights. 

Overall, the reception from the public was supportive. Most of the comments about development along the 
corridor were mixed with some in support of dense mixed-use development and others in support ofless 
development. The online survey, which was launched on June 1st and will be open until June 30th will be 
advertised online and through various marketing channels through the month of June. A second round of 
public outreach meetings will occur at the end of the year and will provide more specific details of the TOD 
elements that will be proposed with this study. Copy of all materials including comments, sign in sheet, and 
link to online story map and survey are attached to this memo. 

1 ofl 



South Virginia Transit Oriented Development 

page 1134 



Results 

Survey 186249 

Number of records in this query: 40 
Total records in survey: 40 
Percentage of total: 100.00% 

page 2 / 34 



Summary for zipcode 

What is the zip code of your primary residence? 

Answer Count Percentage 

Answer 35 87.50% 
No answer 5 12.50% 

ID Response 

1 89521 
18 89523 
28 89502 
31 89511 
34 89509 
36 89512 
38 89432 
40 89441 
44 89511 
47 89436 
48 89511 
52 89431 
54 89706 
57 89519 
59 89511 
65 89509 
73 89704 
74 89436 
77 89512 
82 89511 
83 89509 
85 89503 
86 89521 
107 89501 
110 89511 
119 89521 
120 89511 
123 89436 
124 89506 
130 89509 
136 89509 
137 89502 
142 89521 
148 89511 
150 89511 

page 3 / 34 



Summary for zipcode 

What is the zip code of your primary residence? 

• O (Answer) 
• 1 (No answer) 

page 4/ 34 



Summary for Age 

How old are you? 

Answer Count Percentage 

Under 18 (AO01) 1 2.50% 
18-34 (AO02) 10 25.00% 
35-49 (AO03) 13 32.50% 
50-64 (AO04) 9 22.50% 
65+ (AO05) 6 15.00% 
No answer 1 2.50% 

Summary for Age 

How old are you? 

13 

12 

11 

10 

9 

s 

7 

6 

5 

4 

3 

? 

1 

0 

• o (Under 18) 
• 1 (18-34) 
■ 2 (35-49) 
~ 3 (50-64) 
• 4 (65+) 
• 5 (No answer) 

page 5 / 34 



Summary for Race 

How do you identify? 

Answer 

American Indian or Alaskan Native (AO01) 
Asian or Asian American (AO02) 
Black or African American (AO03) 
Hispanic, Latino/a/x, or Spanish origins (AO04) 
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander (AO0S) 
White (AO06) 
Other 
No answer 

ID Response 

Count 

2 
1 
0 
3 
1 
30 
2 
1 

Percentage 

5.00% 
2.50% 
0.00% 
7.50% 
2.50% 
75.00% 
5.00% 
2.50% 

Summary for Race 

How do you identify? 

-

■ O (American Indian or Alaskan Native) 
■ 1 (Asian or Asian American) 
■ 2 (Black or African American) 
■ 3 (Hispanic, L..atino/a/x, or Spanish origins) 
■ 4 (Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander) 
• 5 (White) 

6 (other) 
■ 7 (No answer) 

page 6 / 34 



--

Summary for Income 

What is your household's total annual earnings? 

Answer 

Less than $25,000 (AO01) 
$25,000 to $49,999 (AO02) 
$50,000 to $74,999 (AO03) 
$75,000 to $99,999 (AO04) 
$100,000 to $149,999 (AO0S) 
$200,000 or more (AO06) 
I prefer not to answer (AO07) 
No answer 

Count 

3 
2 
11 
8 
6 
1 
8 
1 

Percentage 

7.50% 
5.00% 
27.50% 
20.00% 
15.00% 
2.50% 
20.00% 
2.50% 

Summary for Income 

What is your household's total annual earnings? 

■ o (Less than $25,000) 
■ 1 ($25,000 to $49,999) 
■ 2 ($50,000 to $74,999) 

3 ($75,000 to $99,999) 
• 4 ($100,000 to $149,999) 
e 5 ($200,000 or more) 

6 (I prefer not to answer) 
■ 7 (No answer) 

page 7 / 34 



Summary for HouseholdNum 

Including yourself, how many people live in your household? 

Answer Count Percentage 

Answer 38 95.00% 
No answer 2 5.00% 

ID Response 

3 
18 2 
23 2 
28 4 
31 4 
34 1 
36 3 
38 3 
40 2 
44 4 
47 2 
48 4 
52 2 
54 2 
57 1 
59 2 
65 2 
73 1 
74 2 
77 2 
82 2 
83 4 
84 1 
85 4 
86 5 
107 4 
110 2 
119 3 
123 4 
124 3 
126 2 
130 2 
136 1 
137 1 
141 
142 2 
148 2 
150 3 

page 8 / 34 



Summary for HouseholdNum 

Including yourself, how many people live in your household? 

• 0 (Answer) 
• 1 (No answer) 

page 9 / 34 



Summary for ACNDTravelOften 

How often do you travel through the South Virginia Street Corridor? 

Answer Count Percentage 

Daily (daily) 14 35.00% 
A few times per week (week) 16 40.00% 
A few times per month (month) 6 15.00% 
Rarely (rare) 1 2.50% 
Never (never) 2 5.00% 
No answer 1 2.50% 

Summary for ACNDTravelOften 

How often do you travel through the South Virginia Street Corridor? 

• O!Daily) 
• 1 IA few times per week) 
• 2 (A few times per month) 
• 3 (Rarely) 
• 4 (Never) 
• 5 (No answer! 

page 10 / 34 



Summary for ACNDConnection 

What is your connection with the South Virginia Street Corridor? 

Answer Count Percentage 

I live nearby (SQ001) 18 47.37% 
I work nearby (SQ002) 14 36.84% 
I go to the businesses, restaurants, and services nearby (SQ003) 26 68.42% 
I own a business or property nearby (SQ004) 2 5.26% 
I pass through but don't spend time there (SQ005) 4 10.53% 
Other 2 5.26% 

ID Response 

85 I visit friends and family 
142 I would like to access the South Virginia Corridor more frequently via transit but don't 

currently have easy options to do so. 

Summary for ACNDConnection 

What is your connection with the South Virginia Street Corridor? 

li 

■ o (I live nearby) 
■ 1 (I work nearby) 
■ 2 (I go to the businesses, restaurants, and services nearby) 
0 3 (1 own a business or property nearby) 
• 4 (I pass through but don't spend time there) 
, 5 (other) 

page 11 / 34 



Summary for BCNDTransportMethod 

What methods of transportation do you use along the South Virginia Street corridor? 

Answer Count Percentage 

Personal Vehicle (PersVeh) 32 80.00% 
Bicycle/Scooter/Micromobility (Bike) 9 22.50% 
Walk(Walk) 11 27.50% 
Public Transportation (PubTrans) 12 30.00% 
Ride Share (Uber, Lyft, Etc.) (RShare) 9 22.50% 

Summary for BCNDTransportMethod 

What methods of transportation do you use along the South Virginia Street corridor? 

• O (Personal Vehicle) 
■ 1 (Bicycle/Scooter/Micromobility) 
• 2 (Walk) 
• 3 (Public Transportation) 
• 4 (Ride Shara (Uber, Lyft, Etc.)) 

page 12 / 34 



Summary for BCNDBarriersBus 

What barriers exist that prevent you from using transit? 

Answer Count Percentage 

Parking issues/lack of park and ride services (SQ001) 4 14.81% 
Transit takes too long (SQ002) 20 74.07% 
Inconvenient stop locations (SQ003) 15 55.56% 
Prefer not to use transit (SO004) 7 25.93% 

Summary for BCNDBarriersBus 

What barriers exist that prevent you from using transit? 

20 

18 

16 

14 

12 

10 

0 

■ o (Paricing issues/lack of pane and ride services) 
■ 1 (Transit takes too long) 
■ 2 (Inconvenient stop locations) 
, 3 (Prefer not to use transit) 

page 13 / 34 



18 

Summary for BCNDBarrierBike 

What barriers exist that prevent you from using bicycles? 

Answer Count Percentage 

Lack of bike facilities connecting to surrounding areas (SQ001) 
Lack of bike facilities along South Virginia Street (SQ002) 
Safety concerns (SQ003) 
Disability (SQ004) 
Prefer not to bike (SQ005) 
Other 

10 
12 
17 
2 
10 
5 

35.71 % 
42.86% 
60.71 % 
7.14% 
35.71 % 
17.86% 

ID Response 

28 
40 
47 

57 
130 

To far out south and dangerous 
have a car 
Distance from primary residence to desired services. Not realistic to utilize a bicycle for 
transportation to & from this area of town. 
terain 
Distances between things worth biking to are too large. Denser development would make me 
want to bike more. 

Summary for BCNDBarrierBike 

What barriers exist that prevent you from using bicycles? 

16 

14 

12 

10 

0 

• O (Lack of bike facilities connecting to surrounding areas) 
• l (Lack of bike facilities along South Virginia street) 
• 2 (Safety concerns) 
• 3 (Disability) 
• 4 (Pn!ler not to bike) 
• s (Other) 

page 14 / 34 



Summary for BCNDBarrierWalk 

What barriers exist that prevent you from walking? 

Answer Count Percentage 

Lack of sidewalk along South Virginia Street (SQ001) 
Safety concerns (SQ002) 
Prefer not to walk (SQ003) 
Disability (SQ004) 
Other 

11 
11 
3 
1 
9 

42.31% 
42.31% 
11.54% 
3.85% 
34.62% 

ID Response 

28 
31 
40 

To far to walk 
Long distances 
have a car 

47 Distance from primary residence to desired services. Not realistic to walk to & from this area 
of town. Or alternatively, lack of access to park-and-walk areas - which would be 
counterintuitive. 

65 Length of trip 
73 I hate getting hassled by the homeless. 
84 Too Far 
86 destinations too far away 
130 Distances between things worth walking to are too large. Denser development would make 

me want to walk more. 

page 15 / 34 



Summary for BCNDBarrierWalk 

What barriers exist that prevent you from walking? 

• o (Lack of sidewalk along South Virginia Street) 
• 1 (Safety concerns) 
• 2 (Prefer not to walk) 
• 3 (Disability) 
• 4 (other) 

page 16/ 34 



Summary for BCNDWorkingVehicle 

Do you have access to a working motor vehicle at home that you can reliably use? 

Answer Count Percentage 

Yes (SO001) 1 12.50% 
No (SO002} 4 50.00% 
Other 2 25.00% 

ID Response 

38 only one vehicle 
52 sometimes 

Summary for BCNDWorkingVehicle 

Do you have access to a working motor vehicle at home that you can reliably use? 

page 17 /34 



■ o (Yes) 
■ 1 (Nol 
■ 2 (other) 

page 18 / 34 



Summary for BCNDRouteUsed 

Which public transportation route or method have you used along the corridor? 

Answer Count Percentage 

Regional Connector (S0001) 
Route 56 (SQ002) 
Other 

8 
6 
1 

66.67% 
50.00% 
8.33% 

ID Response 

77 Virginia line or Route 1 

Summary for BCNDRouteUsed 

Which public transportation route or method have you used along the corridor? 

8 

6 

5 -

4 

2 

o .L..___ 

■ o (Regional Connector) 
■ 1 (Route 56) 
■ 2 (other) 

page 19 / 34 



Summary for RAPIDExtlikely 

How likely are you to use RAPID Line service on South Virginia St if it is extended to Mount Rose Hwy? 

Answer Count Percentage 

Very likely, I prefer public transit (AO01) 14 35.00% 
Somewhat likely, I might consider using it occasionally (AO02) 14 35.00% 
Unlikely, I prefer other methods (AO03) 5 12.50% 
Not at all (AO04) 6 15.00% 
No answer 1 2.50% 

Summary for RAPIDExtlikely 

How likely are you to use RAPID Line service on South Virginia St if it is extended to Mount Rose Hwy? 

• o (Very likely. I prefer public transit) 
• l (Somewhat likely. I might consider using it occasionally) 
• 2 (Unlikely, I prefer other methods) 
• 3 (Not at all) 
• 4 (No answer) 

page 20 / 34 



Summary for BusServicelmps 

What improvements or amenities would make you inclined to use bus service on South Virginia Street? 

Answer Count Percentage 

More frequent service and extended operating hours (S0001) 28 70.00% 
Dedicated bus lanes for faster travel times (SQ002) 14 35.00% 
Enhanced stations with better shelters, seating, and lighting (S0003) 10 25.00% 
Improved integration with other modes of transportation (biking, walking, etc.) (S0004) 10 25.00% 

Summary for BusServicelmps 

What improvements or amenities would make you inclined to use bus service on South Virginia Street? 

■ 0 (More frequent service and extended operating hours) 
■ l (Dedicated bus lanes for faster travel times) 
■ 2 (Enhanced stations with better sheltera. seating. and lighting) 
■ 3 (Improved integration with other modes of transportation (biking. walking. etc.)) 

page 21 / 34 



Summary for SpecificAreas 

Are there any specific areas or neighborhoods in south Reno where you think public transit should serve? 

Answer Count Percentage 

Answer 17 42.50% 
No answer 23 57.50% 

ID Response 

31 Public transit should serve public services like South Valleys Regional Sports Complex and 
South Valleys Library. I think it should also serve the UNR Redfield campus, Galena High 
School, and prioritize service to multi family and higher density developments. 

40 no 
44 Curti Ranch to south virgina 
48 Near Tamarack casino for employees and guest 
52 Sierra Summit Mall and Mt Rose Highway 
54 Damonte Ranch 
59 Higher density neighborhoods near Geiger Grade and Veterans Pkwy 
65 S. McCarran and Talbot area, for the medical buildings in that area. 
77 Areas near The Summit Mall, The Reno Tahoe Airport 
82 If its RAPID then what are connections from neighborhoods to the main line for it to be 

successful unless housing density along the route is not built as well? 
85 In addition to S Virginia St, there should be service along South Meadows, as well as service 

to area around Veterans and Steamboat and the area around Mt Rose and Wedge. 
120 No. 
126 USA parkway 
130 The multifamily developments and commercial areas, especially places with food and alcohol. 
137 None. 
142 Yes! Transit is needed for the residential areas not currently served by the 56 bus. 

Specifically, the residential area bordered by South Meadows Parkway to the north, Veterans 
Parkway to the east, Steamboat Parkway/Damonte Ranch Parkway to the south, and Double 
R to the west has limited transit connectivity. I would like to have transit options to the South 
Virginia TOD corridor from streets such as Carat Ave, Double Diamond Parkway, and/or 
Wilbur May Parkway. An alternative could be a bus rapid transit option on Veterans Parkway, 
but I would prefer to just expand access to the future South Virginia bus corridor. 
For context, my nearest stop on the 56 bus route is about a 25 minute walk from my home. It's 
a better use of my time to walk about 40 minutes each way to South Virginia Street. Biking is 
an option for me, but biking along South Virginia Street is terrifying. I end up driving to places 
like the post office and Moana Nursery because there is no safe or easy alternative. I'd like to 
be able to take transit there instead, and to connect via transit all the way from my home to 
midtown, downtown, and other places in South Reno. 

150 I think that having the Virginia city line run straight down to summit shopping center is a 
logical choice. Taking the 56 is a bit ridiculous just to the Walmart or that area on South 
Virginia. 

page 22 / 34 



Summary for SpecificAreas 

Are there any specific areas or neighborhoods in south Reno where you think public transit should serve? 

■ o (Answer] 
■ 1 (No answer)22 

.:::..U 

rn 

16 

1.1 

1(1 

.j 

0 

page 23 / 34 



Summary for AddlComments 

Do you have any additional suggestions or comments regarding a RAPID Line extension or public transit 
on South Virginia Street? 

Answer Count Percentage 

Answer 17 42.50% 
No answer 23 57.50% 

ID Response 

31 I think that RTC should anticipate potential ridership on the extended corridor as compared to 
other stretches of the Virginia Line and determine if more buses would be required to 
maintain existing frequency. RTC should avoid expanding coverage if it means reducing 
today's frequencies or negatively impacting reliability on the Virginia Line. 

34 A bus stop in front of Tamarack Casino would be extremely beneficial. Many employees over 
the years have used bus transportation and have to walk from the nearest stop on Damonte. 
The extension and new stop would better serve our employees and guests. 

We have also lost numerous candidates for employment due to bus service and accessibility 
Uust 4 this past week in fact). 

40 i have a car. 
47 Expansion of the BTR supports the localized movement of patrons that reside adjacent to the 

corridor. For the large amount of the local population that reside in the outlying suburbs and 
residential corridors, but travel to this area for consumer needs, it is unrealistic (if not 
unattainable) to utilize the BRT system. Proposed solutions such as dedicated bus lanes will 
only futher encumber the corridor. Demand of passanger vehicles is unlikely to change, 
though roadway capacity would be decreased with a dedicated lane. Additions such bike 
lanes and sidewalk enhancements could be minimally invasive to the overall corridor, but 
some cosVbenefit anaysis should be done to look at the realistic demand for these additions 
vs. the unwarranted spending of taxes for an idealistic multimodal corridor. 

54 Make the bus run on a dedicated, separated right of way, similar to the LA Metro Orange line. 
Make it as fast as you can!!! Must be time competitive to cars in order to draw usage. No one 
likes taking twice as long versus a car!!! 

65 No 
73 Extending the bus line would benefit my business. I own a small restaurant right off of Mt. 

Rose Highway. One of the barriers to employing folks who lack transportation is that the 
closet bus stop if over a mile away. By not having a bus line that services the Mt. Rose 
Highway area, at least to the Raley's shopping center, I'm limited by who can work for me. 
Potential employees have to have their own vehicles or similar mode of transit. People who 
apply that live in downtown/Midtown that don't drive are turned away because their isn't 
adequate public transportation for them to get reasonably close to the store. I have to turn 
away at least 1 0-15 people a year who want to work for me but can't get to my location off Mt. 
Rose Highway. I'm sure other businesses in the area have had similar experiences to me. 
Thanks for your consideration! 

77 More frequent buses or dedicated bus lane or bike lane 
82 People don't know what RAPID service means or why/how it can benefit them. Tough to 

compete with a car if most residents have them and depend on them. Who are the best 
prospective riders in the corridor? 

85 The dedicated bus lanes should be extended much further north towards Meadowood than 
currently proposed. Most of the route has a wide enough shoulder that it could be done 
without having to drastically widen the pavement. 

110 Public transportation on south Virginia Street to Mt Rose will undoubtedly increase the 
homeless moving into these areas, which is already happening. 

120 Not sure if the proposed transit extension is going to go this far south but it looks like the very 
southern boundary of the land use study includes land next to the Ormat Geothermal facility. 
One important consideration for this study is Washoe APN: 049-450-51. This land is owned 
by the State of Nevada and is managed a critical habitat for Steamboat Buckwheat 
(Eriogonum ovalifolium var. williamsiae). The City of Reno has designated this property with 
an Industrial land use, but this property is managed and used for habitat for Steamboat 
Buckwheat. Any future transit service and development at the south end of the study area 
and near the Redfield campus should carefully consider habitat for Steamboat Buckwheat. 

page 24/ 34 



Future developers in this area should work with a qualified botanist to survey the site, map 
endangered and/or protected species. If survey results indicate that habitat disturbance or 
potential take may occur related to the proposed action, the applicant shall submit an 
application for a Conditional Permit for Disturbance or Destruction of Critically Endangered 
Species to the Nevada Division of Forestry pursuant to NRS 527.270. 

124 If the time could be extended longer on weekends for those who work late 
126 No 
130 Safer bike routes, especially a path if car speed stay the same, would make a big difference 

for me. 
137 People in South Reno are affluent and don't take transit. Bus service should focus on more 

frequent service to neighborhoods that depend on bus service not people in million-dollar 
homes and two or more cars. Any time bus service is provided for affluent neighborhoods, it 
takes away opportunities to increase service in neighborhoods that depend on bus service as 
their only affordable mode of transportation. During Recessions, bus service is taken away, 
and it doesn't make sense to take away service from neighborhoods that depend on bus 
service to keep service in affluent neighborhoods where people have the option of driving 
their cars. Geographically expanding any type of bus service also requires you to extend 
paratransit services which is considerably more expensive, and that too takes away service 
from people who have no other affordable transportation options. We live in an auto-centric 
society that discriminates against people who can't drive or can't afford to drive, and we are 
just making it worse by diluting bus service to serve those who can drive, who can afford to 
drive, or who can afford to take rideshare or taxis. It's like a food equity program where we 
feed people who are starving. Why would we go around South Reno and ask them if they 
need food when we know for a fact people are starving elsewhere and are not adequately 
served? 

142 Please spend time on east-west connections that would enable as many people as possible 
to ride the RAPID line, not just those who live on existing bus lines or on South Virginia 
Street! Thanks so much for your work! 

page 25 / 34 



Summary for AddlComments 

Do you have any additlonal suggestions or comments regarding a RAPID Line extension or public transit 
on South Virginia Street? 

2 4 

22 

20 

18 

16 

14 

12 

10 

8 

b 

2 

o ~---

• O (Answer) 
• 1 {No answer) 

page 26 / 34 



Summary for PedBikelmps 

Pedestrian and Bicycle Improvements. Please select the top one to three elements you feel are most 
important to help improve pedestrian and bicycle facilities. 

Answer 

Wider sidewalks (SQ001) 
ADA Improvements (People with Disabilities) (SQ002) 
Safer street crossings (SQ003) 
Buffers between bicyclists/pedestrians and traffic (SO004) 
Bicycle lanes (SQ005) 
Shared use path (SO006) 
Other 

ID Response 

57 in fill missing sections 
73 More bright flashing lights at every crosswalk! 
142 Secure bicycle parking for RAPID riders/commuters 

Count Percentage 

15 37.50% 
6 15.00% 
20 50.00% 
22 55.00% 
15 37.50% 
14 35.00% 
3 7.50% 

Summary for PedBikelmps 

Pedestrian and Bicycle Improvements. Please select the top one to three elements you feel are most 
important to help improve pedestrian and bicycle facilities. 

■ O (Wider sidewalks) 
■ l (ADA Improvements (People with Disabilities)) 
■ 2 (safer street crossings) 
• 3 (Buffers between bicyclists/pedestrians and traffic) 
• 4 (Bicycle lanes) 
• 5 (Shared use path) 

6 (Other) 

page 27 / 34 



Summary for DISABLEDTransit 

Public Transit Improvements Please select the elements which you feel are most important to help 
improve public transit along South Virginia Street [question disabled] 

Answer Count Percentage 

More frequent services (and/or more routes) (SQ001) 0 0.00% 
Bus only lanes (S0002) 0 0.00% 
Transit priority at stop lights (S0003) 0 0.00% 
Improved connectivity (S0004) 0 0.00% 
Improved bus stop (shelters, level boarding, payment kiosk, etc.) (SQOOS) 0 0.00% 
Improved bus arrival/schedule information (S0006) 0 0.00% 
Park-n-Ride areas (similar to My Ride to Work, Regional Connector, Tahoe/recreational 0 0.00% 
service, etc.) (S0007) 
Other 0 0.00% 

ID Response 

Summary for DISABLEDTransit 

Public Transit Improvements Please select the elements which you feel are most important to help 
improve public transit along South Virginia Street [question disabled] 

Sorry, but this question has no responses yet so a graph cannot be shown. 

page 28 / 34 



Summary for Vehiclelmps 

Vehicular Improvements Please select the issues that you currently experience and would like to see 
improved when driving along South Virginia Street 

Answer Count Percentage 

Pedestrian and cyclist safety/low visibility at night (SQ001) 
Entering/exiting destinations along the corridor (turn lanes, driveways, intersection spacing) 
(SQ002) 
Delays at traffic signals/inefficient signal timing (SQ003) 
Lack of new technology such as electric vehicle charging infrastructure (SQ004) 
Other 

26 
20 

11 
5 
3 

65.00% 
50.00% 

27.50% 
12.50% 
7.50% 

ID Response 

57 
73 
77 

uniform enforecement of all modes of travel 
Virginia St. south of Patriot to Summit Mall is generally easy to traverse! Thanks for that. 
Bikes have to compete with cars on the road because of the lack of buffers on bike lanes. 
And people blocking bike lanes 

Summary for Vehiclelmps 

Vehicular Improvements Please select the issues that you currently experience and would like to see 
improved when driving along South Virginia Street 

■ O (Pedestrian ;and cycl ist saf11tyjlow visibility at night} 
• 1 IEntering/elCitinq destinations .along the corridor (turn lanes, driveways, interu(tion spacing)) 
■ 2 !Delays at traffic signals/ineffrc1ent signal bming) 
= 3 (Lack of new technology such as electric vehicle charging infrastructure) 
• 4 (other) 

page 29 / 34 



Summary for DISABLEDDevelopment 

Development in the Corridor Please select the top elements which you feel are most important to shape 
future development in the South Virginia Corridor [question disabled] 

Answer Count Percentage 

Landscape along the street frontage (S0001) 0 0.00% 
Landscape medians (S0002) 0 0.00% 
Higher mix of commercial and housing that encourages a more walkable corridor (S0003) 0 0.00% 
Improve housing options (S0004) 0 0.00% 
Orientation of development to encourage pedestrian/bicycle access from the street (S0005) 0 0.00% 
Active outdoor public spaces to encourage a more walkable corridor (S0006) 0 0.00% 
Density the corridor (S0007) 0 0.00% 
Improve overall connectivity and sustainability of local services and employment (S0008) 0 0.00% 
Other 0 0.00% 

ID Response 

Summary for DISABLEDDevelopment 

Development in the Corridor Please select the top elements which you feel are most important to shape 
future development in the South Virginia Corridor [question disabled] 

Sorry, but this question has no responses yet so a graph cannot be shown. 

page 30 / 34 



Summary for Developmentlmps 

Development in the Corridor Please select the top elements which you feel are most important to shape 
future development in the South Virginia Corridor 

Answer Count Percentage 

Improved roadway aesthetics (landscaping and benches along sidewalks and in the center 
median) (SQ001) 
Mixed-use development along the corridor (a mix of shops, housing, office space, and parks) 
(SQ002) 
More public space (outdoor public spaces that encourage spending time outside) (SQ003) 
Strip mall and car dealership development (further growth of big box stores and car lots along 
the corridor) (SQ004) 
Other 

23 

26 

27 
2 

7 

57.50% 

65.00% 

67.50% 
5.00% 

17.50% 

ID Response 

47 Access controls and improvements to signal timing to further increase the saturation flow rate 
through the corridor. The corridor already has quality development, and will continue to 
encourage development with improvements to traffic operations to encourage ease-of 
-access 

65 
83 
85 

110 
137 
142 

Improve the road surface 
Protected bike lanes that meet FHWA Bikeway Selection Guide Standards 
Less strip mall and car dealership development, possibly a moratorium on new strip malls 
and car dealerships. 
Stop the development! 
wider sidewalks and bicycle lanes 
Infill development for underused spaces such as large parking lots. Integrated, safe bicycle 
and pedestrian infrastructure that makes the corridor appealing. 

page 31 / 34 



Summary for Developmentlmps 

Development in the Corridor Please select the top elements which you feel are most important to shape 
future development in the South Virginia Corridor 

• o (Improved roadway illl8$lhetics llilllndscaping ilnd benches along Mdewalks and in the c~ter mediillln)) 
■ 1 (Mixed-us• development •lono the corridor la mix of shops, housing, off.ca space, •nd partcs)) 
■ 2 (Mon! public space (outdoor public sp•ces that encourage spending tJme oubid@)) 
• 3 {strip mall ilnd car dealership development lfurthergrowth of big bo,r stores and car lots along the corridor)> 
■ 4 (other) 

page 32 / 34 



Summary for GeneralComments 

Please let us know if there is anything else you would like to see when it comes to improving the South 
Virginia Street Corridor. You may leave this blank and complete the survey. 

Answer Count Percentage 

Answer 12 30.00% 
No answer 28 70.00% 

ID Response 

23 More walkable areas, no parking minimums, reliable public transit, more public spaces where 
people don't necessarily have to spend money 

28 The is a big need for employee transportation to the south of town. The routes need to go 
farther south with expanded hours 

48 More Street light 
54 Speeding is a major concern, slow people down! 

-The lack of sidewalks (or poor quality [narrow, right next to road]) is appalling. 
-Lack of lighting in areas (dark) 
lncohesive design, this area showcases how ugly and non-cohesive Reno Architecture is. 
- too many slip and turn lanes causes pedestrian nightmare trying to cross a street. 
- Bike lanes should be removed from vehicular traffic whereever possible, separate them from 
the roadway! 

BRT should extend to carson city. Maybe not with a 1 O minute frequency , but at least every 
hour? 

59 In your planning considerations, please think about cyclists and pedestrians when they travel 
up and down the corridor, but also when they want to cross over the corridor from east to 
west. Provide safe and effective crossing points for cyclists and peds that connect to useful 
east/west routes. 

65 With rapid growth in the south, S. Virginia is to narrow. It needs to be at least 3 lanes just for 
traffic and then extra width for bicycles and busses. 

77 Dedicated bike and walking roads. Not primarily for vehiclesDoesn't necessarily need to be 
on Virginia. 

82 I don't want to see this corridor become another Kietzke Lane or the rest of Virginia Street, all 
commercial strip. Mixed use that transitions into the southwest and PUD development of the 
south valley should be encouraged with a transportation corridor that can handle the traffic 
demand, but also have multi-modal options making it safely usable by pedestrian, cyclists, 
transit, and motorists yet matches the aesthetic of this part of the Truckee Meadows. 

83 Similar to a vehicle travel lane, the bicycle travel lane should be consistent from the projects 
end to end. That means following the FHWA Bikeway Selection Guide not just where it is 
convenient for drivers. Parking, loading zones can remain and bus loading and unloading 
zones can be moved out to preserve the consistency of the bicycle travel lane. Bus platforms 
are in use in Washington DC that move the loading zone out of the bus drop off. Vehicle traffic 
can wait behind a bus until passengers have unloaded. This would improve safety for all road 
users. 

85 I honestly find it deeply concerning that this survey had questions about my connection to the 
South Virginia Street Corridor and it has the option for "I just pass through" but not an option 
for having friends and family living in the area and gave an option for wanting to see more 
strip malls and car dealerships in an area that is supposed to be transit oriented, which 
almost every study of urban spaces has found that strip malls and car dealerships are about 
the worst things you can build if you are trying to have a transit oriented neighborhood. It 
honestly feels like whoever developed this survey is not taking the study seriously. 

142 I would like to see more Mobility Hubs, including at South Virginia and South Meadows, and I 
would like them to include bicycle infrastructure and connectivity. Currently, I am not aware of 
any secure bike parking at the Meadowood Mall transit center. Since the 56 bus is not 
convenient to me, and I'm not sure how to safely store my bike at the transit center, I end up 
driving to South Virginia Street destinations on the existing RAPID line. I'd like to have access 
to bicycle storage along the future RAPID extension, as well as safe bicycle connectivity 
options, such as a bike lane on South Meadows between South Virginia Street and Double 
Diamond Parkway. 

page 33 /34 



150 Mainly a better bus line option, bike lanes and wider frequent sidewalks for all pedestrians 

Summary for GeneralComments 

Please let us know if there is anything else you would like to see when it comes to improving the South 
Virginia Street Corridor. You may leave this blank and complete the survey. 

■ O (Answer) 
■ 1 (No answer) 

page 34 / 34 



  

 

 

  
 

   
  

  
  

   
   

 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.4.1

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Alex Wolfson, Project Manager

  SUBJECT: ITS Program Support Master Services Agreement 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve a contract with Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc., to provide engineering services on the ITS 
Program Support Project through August 31, 2025, in an amount not-to-exceed $430,000. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

This is a "master services agreement" (MSA) with Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. to provide 
professional design and engineering services on ITS Program Support projects as needed for a one year 
period. This MSA contract structure will allow RTC to issue task orders for specific work/projects during 
that period in a cumulative amount of up to $430,000. The RTC Director of Engineering must approve 
any task orders. 

The RTC is completing work on the Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Strategic Master Plan. As 
part of that plan, 24 different deployment strategies were recommended to be implemented by the RTC to 
enhance the regional traffic network through capital investments and proactive operations. This MSA 
would begin the process of implementing these recommendations to operate and improve the regional ITS 
infrastructure. 

Possible tasks to be carried out through this MSA include: 
 On-call maintenance of the Center-to-Center system (This is the system that allows for network 

communications between RTC and the local agencies) 
 Design and review of fiber optic splices and other network infrastructure 
 Update of RTC standard details and specifications for ITS and traffic signals 
 ITS Network Master Plan update, including a new 5-year project list for fiber upgrades 
 ITS and traffic signal inventory and asset management update, including health of existing 

infrastructure 
 Traffic management center equipment procurement 
 On-call traffic counting services, including bicycles and pedestrians 



 
   

 

   
 

ITS Program Support Master Services Agreement 
Page 2 

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. was selected from the qualified Traffic Engineering Design and 
Construction Management Services list to perform these services. This will be a one-year agreement with 
services projected to start in September 2024 and conclude in August 2025. 

The item supports Strategic Roadmap Goal #4, "Proactively manage congestion" and FY2025 RTC Goal, 
"Begin implementation of ITS Master Plan and standup of Traffic Management Center." 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Fuel tax appropriations for this item are included in the FY 2025 budget. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

3/18/2022 Approved the qualified list of consultants to provide civil engineering, design, and 
construction management services for the Traffic Engineering Program and the Intelligent 
Transportation Systems (ITS) Program. 



   

         
  

  

 

  
    

     

 
      

  

 
 

   

    
 

    
  

   
 

   
   

 
   

 
 

  
 
 

  
  

 

   
      

  

MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 

This agreement (this “Agreement”) is dated and effective as of , 2024, by and 
between the Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County (“RTC”) and Kimley-Horn 
and Associates, Inc. (“CONSULTANT”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, RTC has selected CONSULTANT from the 22-07 Traffic Engineering Design and 
Construction Management Services shortlist to perform ITS engineering design and support 
services in connection with RTC ITS Program Support (the “Project”); and 

WHEREAS, CONSULTANT will perform services on an as-needed basis, subject to annual 
funding availability, as specified in separate task orders (each a “Task Order”) to be agreed upon 
and executed by CONSULTANT and RTC. 

NOW, THEREFORE, RTC and CONSULTANT, in consideration of the mutual covenants and 
other consideration set forth herein, do hereby agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1 - ENGAGEMENT AND TERM 

1.1. CONSULTANT will perform the work using the project team identified in the Proposal. 
Any changes to the project team must be approved by RTC’s Project Manager. 

1.2. CONSULTANT will promptly, diligently and faithfully execute the work to completion in 
accordance with applicable professional standards subject to any delays due to strikes, acts 
of God, act of any government, civil disturbances, or any other cause beyond the reasonable 
control of CONSULTANT. 

1.3. CONSULTANT shall not proceed with work under a Task Order until both parties have 
executed the Task Order and a purchase order has been issued to CONSULTANT.  If 
CONSULTANT violates that prohibition, CONSULTANT forfeits any and all right to 
reimbursement and payment for that work and waives any and all claims against RTC, its 
employees, agents, and affiliates, including but not limited to monetary damages, and any 
other remedy available at law or in equity arising under the terms of this Agreement. 
Furthermore, prior to execution and issuance of a purchase order, CONSULTANT shall 
not rely on the terms of this Agreement in any way, including but not limited to any written 
or oral representations, assurances or warranties made by RTC or any of its agents, 
employees or affiliates, or on any dates of performance, deadlines, indemnities, or any term 
contained in this Agreement or the Task Order. 

1.4. Task Orders must be approved and executed by RTC’s Director of Engineering 

1.5. The term of this Agreement shall be from the date first written above through August 31, 
2025, unless terminated at an earlier date, or extended to a later date, pursuant to the 
provisions herein.  A new Task Order cannot be issued subsequent to that expiration date; 



  
 

 

   

  

 
 

   

 
 

  

 
   

   
 
 

 

  

  

  
 

  

       
 

  
  

   
  

   

 

however, the period of performance of a Task Order may extend beyond that expiration 
date for the term specified in the Task Order.  The provisions of this Agreement will remain 
in full force and effect during the term of the Task Order.  

ARTICLE 2 - SERVICES OF CONSULTANT 

2.1. SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Tasks and subtasks shall be completed in accordance with the schedule in the Task Order. 
Any change(s) to the schedule must be approved by RTC’s Project Manager. 

2.2. SCHEDULE OF SERVICES 

Tasks and subtasks shall be completed in accordance with the schedule in the Task Order.  
Any change(s) to the schedule must be approved by RTC’s Project Manager. 

2.3. TASK ORDERS 

Task Orders shall be prepared using the templates in Exhibit B.  Task Orders shall address 
the scope of services, deliverables, costs, schedule of performance, term, and any other 
material items for performance of the specified work. A budget and not-to-exceed costs 
for tasks and subtasks shall be negotiated and specified in the Task Order.  In the event of 
a conflict between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and a Task Order, the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement will control.    

2.4. CONTINGENCY 

Contingency line items identified in a Task Order are for miscellaneous increases within 
the scope of work.  Prior to the use of any contingency amounts, CONSULTANT shall 
provide a letter to RTC’s Project Manager detailing the need, scope, and not-to-exceed 
budget for the proposed work.  Work to be paid out of contingency shall proceed only with 
the RTC Project Manager’s written approval.  

2.5. OPTIONS 

RTC shall have the right to exercise its option(s) for all or any part of the optional tasks or 
subtasks identified in a Task Order.  CONSULTANT will prepare and submit a detailed 
scope of services reflecting the specific optional services requested, a schedule for such 
services, and a cost proposal. RTC will review and approve the scope of services and RTC 
and CONSULTANT will discuss and agree upon compensation and a schedule. 
CONSULTANT shall undertake no work on any optional task without written notice to 
proceed with the performance of said task. RTC, at its sole option and discretion, may 
select another individual or firm to perform the optional tasks or subtasks identified in a 
Task Order. 

-2-



  

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

 

 
  

   
  

    
   

 

  

  

  
  

  
 

   
 

  

  
     

 

     
     

  
 

2.6. PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS 

Any and all design and engineering work furnished by CONSULTANT shall be performed 
by or under the supervision of persons licensed to practice architecture, engineering, or 
surveying (as applicable) in the State of Nevada, by personnel who are careful, skilled, 
experienced and competent in their respective trades or professions, who are professionally 
qualified to perform the work, and who shall assume professional responsibility for the 
accuracy and completeness of documents prepared or checked by them, in accordance with 
appropriate prevailing professional standards. Notwithstanding the provision of any 
drawings, technical specifications, or other data by RTC, CONSULTANT shall have the 
responsibility of supplying all items and details required for the deliverables required 
hereunder. 

All sampling and materials testing shall be performed by an approved testing laboratory 
accredited by AASHTO or other ASTM recognized accrediting organization in the 
applicable test methods. If any geotechnical or materials testing is performed by a sub-
consultant, that laboratory shall maintain the required certification.  Proof of certification 
shall be provided to RTC with this Agreement.  If certification expires or is removed during 
the term of this Agreement, CONSULTANT shall notify RTC immediately, and propose a 
remedy.  If an acceptable remedy cannot be agreed upon by both parties, RTC may 
terminate this Agreement for default. 

CONSULTANT shall provide only Nevada Alliance for Quality Transportation 
Construction (NAQTC) qualified personnel to perform field and laboratory sampling and 
testing during the term of this Agreement.  All test reports shall be signed by a licensed 
NAQTC tester and notated with his/her license number. 

2.7. ERRORS AND OMISSIONS 

CONSULTANT shall, without additional compensation, correct or revise any deficiencies, 
errors, or omissions caused by CONSULTANT in its analysis, reports, and services. 
CONSULTANT also agrees that if any error or omission is found, CONSULTANT will 
expeditiously make the necessary correction, at no expense to RTC.  If an error or omission 
was directly caused by RTC, and not by CONSULTANT and RTC requires that such error 
or omission be corrected, CONSULTANT may be compensated for such additional work. 

ARTICLE 3 - COMPENSATION 

3.1. CONSULTANT shall be paid for hours worked at the hourly rates and rates for testing in 
Exhibit C.  RTC shall not be responsible for any other costs or expenses except as provided 
in Exhibit C. 

3.2. The maximum amount payable to CONSULTANT to complete tasks in a Task Order shall 
be specified as a not-to-exceed amount in the Task Order. CONSULTANT can request in 
writing that RTC’s Project Manager reallocate not-to-exceed amounts between tasks.  A 
request to reallocate not-to-exceed amounts must be accompanied with a revised fee 

-3-



  
 

   

  
   

 
 

 
 

  

  

  
  

 

      
 

   
   

  

   

  
 

  

  
  

 

  

  
  

 

schedule, and must be approved in writing by RTC’s Project Manager prior to performance 
of the work.  

3.3. The maximum amount payable to CONSULTANT for all Task Orders resulting from this 
Agreement shall not exceed $430,000. 

3.4. RTC may issue Task Orders for CONSULTANT to provide services in connection with 
preparing for and/or appearing in any litigation.  CONSULTANT shall not receive 
compensation for preparing for and/or appearing in the litigation: (1) if such litigation costs 
are incurred by CONSULTANT in defending its work or services or those of any of its 
sub-consultants; or (2) as may be required by CONSULTANT’s indemnification 
obligations.  Compensation for litigation services requested by RTC shall be paid at a 
mutually agreed upon rate and/or at a reasonable rate for such services. 

ARTICLE 4 - INVOICING 

4.1. CONSULTANT shall submit monthly invoices in the format specified by RTC.  Invoices 
must be submitted to accountspayable@rtcwashoe.com RTC’s payment terms are 30 
days after the receipt of the invoice. Simple interest will be paid at the rate of half a 
percent (0.5%) per month on all invoices approved by RTC that are not paid within thirty 
(30) days of receipt of the invoice. 

4.2. RTC shall notify CONSULTANT of any disagreement with any submitted invoice for 
consulting services within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice.  Any amounts not in 
dispute shall be promptly paid by RTC. 

4.3. CONSULTANT shall maintain complete records supporting every request for payment 
that may become due.  Upon request, CONSULTANT shall produce all or a portion of its 
records and RTC shall have the right to inspect and copy such records. 

ARTICLE 5 - ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND PROPERTY 

5.1. Upon request and without cost to CONSULTANT, RTC will provide all information that 
is reasonably available to RTC and pertinent to the Project including surveys, reports and 
any other data relative to design and construction of the Project. 

5.2. RTC will provide access to and make all provisions for CONSULTANT to enter upon RTC 
facilities and public lands, as required for CONSULTANT to perform its work under this 
Agreement. 

ARTICLE 6 - OWNERSHIP OF WORK 

6.1. Plans, reports, studies, tracings, maps, software, electronic files, licenses, programs, 
equipment manuals, and databases and other documents or instruments of service prepared 
or obtained by CONSULTANT in the course of performing work under this Agreement, 
shall be delivered to and become the property of RTC. Software already developed and 

-4-

mailto:accountspayable@rtcwashoe.com


 
 

  
  

 
   

 
 

    

   
  

    
 

 

  
 

 
 

  
   

 

 

  

  

    
     

    
  

    
 

 

      
 

  

purchased by CONSULTANT prior to the execution of the Project that will be used in the 
project and services rendered under this Agreement, is excluded from this requirement. 
CONSULTANT and its sub-consultants shall convey and transfer all copyrightable 
interests, trademarks, licenses, and other intellectual property rights in such materials to 
RTC upon completion of all services under this Agreement and upon payment in full of all 
compensation due to CONSULTANT in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 
Basic survey notes, sketches, charts, computations and similar data prepared or obtained 
by CONSULTANT under this Agreement shall, upon request, also be provided to RTC. 

6.2. CONSULTANT represents that it has secured all necessary licenses, consents, or approvals 
to use the components of any intellectual property, including computer software, used in 
providing services under this Agreement, that it has full legal title to and the right to 
reproduce such materials, and that it has the right to convey such title and other necessary 
rights and interests to RTC. 

6.3. CONSULTANT shall bear all costs arising from the use of patented, copyrighted, trade 
secret, or trademarked materials, equipment, devices, or processes used on or incorporated 
in the services and materials produced under this Agreement. 

6.4. CONSULTANT agrees that all reports, communications, electronic files, databases, 
documents, and information that it obtains or prepares in connection with performing this 
Agreement shall be treated as confidential material and shall not be released or published 
without the prior written consent of RTC; provided, however, that CONSULTANT may 
refer to this Project in connection with its promotional literature in a professional and 
commercially reasonable manner.  The provisions of this subsection shall not apply to 
information in whatever form that comes into the public domain.  The provisions of this 
paragraph also shall not restrict CONSULTANT from giving notices required by law or 
complying with an order to provide information or data when such order is issued by a 
court, administrative agency, or other entity with proper jurisdiction, or if it is reasonably 
necessary for CONSULTANT to defend itself from any suit or claim. 

ARTICLE 7 - TERMINATION 

7.1. CONTRACT TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT 

If CONSULTANT fails to perform services in the manner called for in this Agreement or 
a Task Order or if CONSULTANT fails to comply with any other provisions of this 
Agreement or Task Order, RTC may terminate this Agreement for default.  Termination 
shall be effected by serving a notice of termination on CONSULTANT setting forth the 
manner in which CONSULTANT is in default. CONSULTANT will only be paid the 
contract price for services delivered and accepted, or services performed in accordance 
with the manner of performance set forth in this Agreement. 

If it is later determined by RTC that CONSULTANT had an excusable reason for not 
performing, such as a fire, flood, or events which are not the fault of or are beyond the 
control of CONSULTANT, RTC, after setting up a new performance schedule, may allow 

-5-



 

   
 

 
   

 
    

      
 

     
   

  
   

 
   

 
    

 
  

 
   

 
   

 
    
 

  
  

 
 

    
 

   
   

   
 

 
 

  
   

 
   

 
 

  
   

  

CONSULTANT to continue work, or treat the termination as a termination for 
convenience. 

7.2. CONTRACT TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE 

RTC may terminate this Agreement or any Task Order, in whole or in part, at any time by 
written notice to CONSULTANT when it is in RTC’s best interest. CONSULTANT shall 
be paid its costs, including contract closeout costs, and profit on work performed up to the 
time of termination. CONSULTANT shall promptly submit its termination claim to RTC 
to be paid CONSULTANT. If CONSULTANT has any property in its possession 
belonging to RTC, CONSULTANT will account for the same, and dispose of it in the 
manner RTC directs. 

ARTICLE 8 - INSURANCE 

8.1. CONSULTANT shall not commence any work or permit any employee/agent to 
commence any work until satisfactory proof has been submitted to RTC that all insurance 
requirements have been met. 

8.2. In conjunction with the performance of the services/work required by the terms of this 
Agreement, CONSULTANT shall obtain all types and amounts of insurance set forth in 
Exhibit D, and shall comply with all provisions set forth therein. 

ARTICLE 9 - HOLD HARMLESS 

9.1. CONSULTANT’s obligation under this provision is as set forth in Exhibit D.  Said 
obligation would also extend to any liability of RTC resulting from any action to clear any 
lien and/or to recover for damage to RTC property. 

ARTICLE 10 - EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 

10.1. During the performance of this Agreement, CONSULTANT agrees not to discriminate 
against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, 
age, disability, or national origin.  CONSULTANT will take affirmative action to ensure 
that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated fairly during employment, 
without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, age, disability, or national origin.  Such 
action shall include, but not be limited to, the following:  employment, upgrading, 
demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates 
of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. 
CONSULTANT agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and 
applicants for employment, notices to be provided by RTC setting forth the provisions of 
this nondiscrimination clause. 

10.2. CONSULTANT will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on 
behalf of CONSULTANT, state that well qualified applicants will receive consideration of 
employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex, age, disability, or national origin. 

-6-



    
 

   

  

   

 
 

 

  

 
  

 
 
 

  
  

 
 

  
    

 

 
  

    
  

 
 

  

 
 

   

10.3. CONSULTANT will cause the foregoing provisions to be inserted in all sub-agreements 
for any work covered by this Agreement so that such provisions will be binding upon each 
sub-consultant. 

ARTICLE 11 - RESOLUTION OF CLAIMS AND DISPUTES 

11.1. NEGOTIATED RESOLUTION 

In the event that any dispute or claim arises under this Agreement, the parties shall timely 
cooperate and negotiate in good faith to resolve any such dispute or claim. Such 
cooperation shall include providing the other party with all information in order to properly 
evaluate the dispute or claim and making available the necessary personnel to discuss and 
make decisions relative to the dispute or claim. 

11.2. MEDIATION 

If the parties have been unable to reach an informal negotiated resolution to the dispute or 
claim within thirty (30) days following submission in writing of the dispute or claim to the 
other party, or such longer period of time as the parties may agree to in writing, either party 
may then request, in writing, that the dispute or claim be submitted to mediation (the 
“Mediation Notice”).  After the other party’s receipt or deemed receipt of the Mediation 
Notice, the parties shall endeavor to agree upon a mutually acceptable mediator, but if the 
parties have been unable to agree upon a mediator within ten (10) days following receipt 
of the Mediation Notice, then each party shall select a mediator and those two selected 
mediators shall select the mediator.  A mediator selected by the parties’ designated 
mediators shall meet the qualification set forth in as provided in Rule 4 of Part C., “Nevada 
Mediation Rules” of the “Rules Governing Alternative Dispute Resolutions adopted by the 
Nevada Supreme Court.”  Unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, in writing, the 
mediator shall have complete discretion over the conduct of the mediation proceeding. 
Unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, in writing, the mediation proceeding must take 
place within thirty (30) days following appointment of the mediator. The parties shall share 
the mediator’s fee and any filing fees equally. The mediation shall be held in Washoe 
County, Nevada, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, in writing.  Agreements reached 
in mediation shall be enforceable as settlement agreements in any court having jurisdiction 
thereof. 

11.3. LITIGATION 

In the event that the parties are unable to settle and/or resolve the dispute or claim as 
provided above, then either party may proceed with litigation in the Second Judicial 
District Court of the State of Nevada, County of Washoe. 

-7-



 

  
 

 
  

 
 

   
 

     
  

   
 

    
 

  
   

 
   

 
  

 
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
   
 

   
  
   
  
     
   

 
   

 
   

 
     

  
  
  

 

11.4. CONTINUING CONTRACT PERFORMANCE 

During the pendency of any dispute or claim the parties shall proceed diligently with 
performance of this Agreement and such dispute or claim shall not constitute an excuse or 
defense for a party’s nonperformance or delay. 

ARTICLE 12 – PROJECT MANAGERS 

12.1. RTC’s Project Manager is Alex Wolfson, P.E., PTOE, RSP1 or such other person as is later 
designated in writing by RTC.  RTC’s Project Manager has authority to act as RTC’s 
representative with respect to the performance of this Agreement. 

12.2. CONSULTANT’ Project Manager is Michael Mosley P.E., PTOE or such other person as 
is later designated in writing by CONSULTANT.  CONSULTANT’s Project Manager has 
authority to act as CONSULTANT’s representative with respect to the performance of this 
Agreement. 

ARTICLE 13 - NOTICE 

13.1. Notices required under this Agreement shall be given as follows: 

RTC: Bill Thomas, AICP 
Executive Director 
Alex Wolfson, P.E., PTOE, RSP1 
RTC Project Manager 
Regional Transportation Commission 
1105 Terminal Way 
Reno, Nevada 89502 
(775) 335-1880 

CONSULTANT: Michael Mosley P.E., PTOE 
Vice President 
Kimley-Horn and Associates 
6671 Las Vegas Blvd South, Suite 320 
Las Vegas, NV 89119 
(702) 862-3626 

ARTICLE 14 - DELAYS IN PERFORMANCE 

14.1. TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE 

It is understood and agreed that all times stated and referred to herein are of the essence. 
The period for performance may be extended by RTC’s Executive Director pursuant to the 
process specified herein.  No extension of time shall be valid unless reduced to writing and 
signed by RTC’s Executive Director. 

-8-



  

 
 
 

 
 

  
  

  

   

     
   

   
 

  

   
   

 
       

   

   

  

 
 
 

  
 

  
   

 

  

 
 

 

14.2. UNAVOIDABLE DELAYS 

If the timely completion of the services under this Agreement should be unavoidably 
delayed, RTC may extend the time for completion of this Agreement for not less than the 
number of days CONSULTANT was excusably delayed.  A delay is unavoidable only if 
the delay is not reasonably expected to occur in connection with or during 
CONSULTANT’s performance, is not caused directly or substantially by acts, omissions, 
negligence or mistakes of CONSULTANT, is substantial and in fact causes 
CONSULTANT to miss specified completion dates, and cannot adequately be guarded 
against by contractual or legal means. 

14.3. NOTIFICATION OF DELAYS 

CONSULTANT shall notify RTC as soon as CONSULTANT has knowledge that an event 
has occurred or otherwise becomes aware that CONSULTANT will be delayed in the 
completion of the work. Within ten (10) working days thereafter, CONSULTANT shall 
provide such notice to RTC, in writing, furnishing as much detail on the delay as possible 
and requesting an extension of time. 

14.4. REQUEST FOR EXTENSION 

Any request by CONSULTANT for an extension of time to complete the work under this 
Agreement shall be made in writing to RTC.  CONSULTANT shall supply RTC 
documentation to substantiate and justify the additional time needed to complete the work 
and shall provide a revised schedule. RTC shall provide CONSULTANT with notice of 
its decision within a reasonable time after receipt of a request. 

ARTICLE 15 - GENERAL PROVISIONS 

15.1. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

RTC and CONSULTANT bind themselves and their successors and assigns to the other 
party and to the successors and assigns of such party, with respect to the performance of 
all covenants of this Agreement.  Except as set forth herein, neither RTC nor 
CONSULTANT shall assign or transfer interest in this Agreement without the written 
consent of the other.  Nothing herein shall be construed as creating a personal liability on 
the part of any officer or agent or any public body which may be a party hereto, nor shall 
it be construed as giving any rights or benefits hereunder to anyone other than RTC and 
CONSULTANT. 

15.2. NON TRANSFERABILITY 

This Agreement is for CONSULTANT’s professional services, and CONSULTANT’s 
rights and obligations hereunder may not be assigned without the prior written consent of 
RTC. 

-9-



 

  
 

  
 

     
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
    

  
 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

 
     

  
 

  
   

  
  

  
 

 
  

 
   

 

15.3. SEVERABILITY 

If any part, term, article, or provision of this Agreement is, by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, held to be illegal, void, or unenforceable, or to be in conflict with any law of 
the State of Nevada, the validity of the remaining provisions or portions of this Agreement 
are not affected, and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and enforced 
as if this Agreement did not contain the particular part, term, or provision held invalid. 

15.4. RELATIONSHIP OF PARTIES 

CONSULTANT is an independent contractor to RTC under this Agreement.  Accordingly, 
CONSULTANT is not entitled to participate in any retirement, deferred compensation, 
health insurance plans or other benefits RTC provides to its employees.  CONSULTANT 
shall be free to contract to provide similar services for others while it is under contract to 
RTC, so long as said services and advocacy are not in direct conflict, as determined by 
RTC, with services being provided by CONSULTANT to RTC. 

15.5. WAIVER/BREACH 

Any waiver or breach of a provision in this Agreement or a Task Order shall not be deemed 
a waiver of any other provision and no waiver is valid unless in writing and executed by 
the waiving party.  An extension of the time for performance of any obligation or act shall 
not be deemed an extension of time for the performance of any other obligation or act.  This 
Agreement inures to the benefit of and is binding upon the parties to this Agreement and 
their respective heirs, successors and assigns. 

15.6. REGULATORY COMPLIANCE 

A. CONSULTANT shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local 
government laws, regulations and ordinances.  CONSULTANT shall be 
responsible for obtaining all necessary permits and licenses for performance of 
services under this Agreement. Upon request of RTC, CONSULTANT shall 
furnish RTC certificates of compliance with all such laws, orders and regulations. 

B. CONSULTANT represents and warrants that none of the services to be rendered 
pursuant to this Agreement constitute the performance of public work, as that term 
is defined by Section 338.010(17) of the Nevada Revised Statutes.  To the extent 
CONSULTANT does engage in such public work, CONSULTANT shall be 
responsible for paying the prevailing wage as required by Chapter 338 of the 
Nevada Revised Statutes. 

15.7. EXCLUSIVE AGREEMENT 

There are no verbal agreements, representations or understandings affecting this 
Agreement, and all negotiations, representations and undertakings are set forth herein with 

-10-



 
 

  

 
 

  

   
   

   
 

   
   

  

   

 
   

  
  

  

   
 

  

  

   
   

   

 

the understanding that this Agreement constitutes the entire understanding by and between 
the parties. 

15.8. AMENDMENTS 

No alteration, amendment or modification of this Agreement or any Task Order shall be 
effective unless it is in writing and signed by both parties. 

15.9. CONTINUING OBLIGATION 

CONSULTANT agrees that if, because of death or any other occurrence it becomes 
impossible for any principal or employee of CONSULTANT to render the services 
required under this Agreement, neither CONSULTANT nor the surviving principals shall 
be relieved of any obligation to render complete performance.  However, in such event, 
RTC may terminate this Agreement if it considers the death or incapacity of such principal 
or employee to be a loss of such magnitude as to affect CONSULTANT’s ability to 
satisfactorily complete the performance of this Agreement. 

15.10. APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE 

The provisions of this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the State of Nevada.  The exclusive venue and court for all lawsuits concerning this 
Agreement shall be the Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, County of 
Washoe, and the parties hereto submit to the jurisdiction of that District Court. 

15.11. ATTORNEYS’ FEES 

In the event of a dispute between the parties result in a proceeding in any Court of Nevada 
having jurisdiction, the prevailing party shall be entitled to an award of costs and any 
reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

15.12. CERTIFICATION REQUIRED BY NEVADA SENATE BILL 27 (2017) 

CONSULTANT expressly certifies and agrees, as a material part of this Agreement, that 
it is not currently engaged in a boycott of Israel.  CONSULTANT further agrees, as a 
material part of this Agreement, it will not engage in a boycott of Israel for the duration of 
this Agreement.  If, at any time during the formation or duration of this Agreement, 
CONSULTANT is engaged or engages in a boycott of Israel, it will constitute a material 
breach of this Agreement. 

-11-



 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

         
 

 
 
       
 

 
         

 
 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this Agreement the day and 
year first above written. 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF WASHOE COUNTY 

By: 
Bill Thomas, AICP, Executive Director 

KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 

By: 
Michael Mosley, P.E., PTOE, Vice President 

-12-



 

 

Exhibit A 

Scope of Services 



 

 

 
  

   

   
  

  
 

 
 

  
  

 

 
 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
FOR 

RTC ITS PROGRAM SUPPORT 

This scope of services includes planning, design, and construction support of the Intelligent 
Transportation System (ITS) infrastructure within in the City of Reno, City of Sparks, Washoe 
County, and NDOT.  All work that is performed will be based on scope of services and schedule 
as part of approved Task Orders. 

Services that could be provided by the CONSULTANT through Task Orders include, but are not 
limited to: 

1. Fiber optic splice planning, design, and review 
2. Standard details / special provisions updates for ITS 

a. Single mode to multi-mode standard 
b. Support updates through workflow annually 

3. ITS Network Master Plan Update (5-year project list) 
a. Categories for types of projects 
b. Possible ITS architecture plan/document 

4. ITS/Signal Asset Management (Update annually) 
a. Update GIS files for general use of mapping 

i. Consider fiber management software 
1. 3GIS could be an option in coordination with NDOT 

ii. Prepare City of Reno splice records 
b. Maintenance needs study 
c. Possible life-cycle replacement candidates list 

i. Age of signal, when should it be replaced? 
d. Safety deficient signals 

i. MUTCD non-compliant 
5. TMC equipment procurement 

a. Special provisions/requirements for new equipment 
b. Facility design / permitting, etc. 

6. Traffic counts requests as needed 
7. C2C Maintenance - Network maintenance in general 

a. Network integration of software and services through C2C 
b. NDOT connection 

8. Other support as needed 

1 



 

 

Exhibit B 

Task Order Template 



 

     
 

  
 

      

   

  
   

   

 

 
  

 

 

Task Order No. # 
Master Services Agreement dated ________, 2024 

This Task Order No. # (this “Task Order”) is dated and effective as of ______, 20**, in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Master Services Agreement dated ________, 20** 
(the “Agreement”), by and between the Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County 
(“RTC”) and Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. (“CONSULTANT”). 

WHEREAS, the parties entered into the Agreement for CONSULTANT to perform design 
and engineering design and construction management services in connection with RTC 
ITS Program Implementation support through August 2025; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, RTC and CONSULTANT agree as follows: 

1. TERM 

The term of this Task Order shall be from the date first written above through ***, 20**, 
unless terminated at an earlier date, or extended to a later date, pursuant to the provisions 
of the Agreement. 

2. SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The scope of services consist of the tasks and deliverables set forth in Exhibit A. 

3. SCHEDULE OF PERFORMANCE 

Tasks shall be completed in accordance with the schedule agreed to by the RTC Project 
Manager.  Any change(s) to the schedule must be approved by RTC’s Project Manager. 

4. COSTS 

CONSULTANT shall be paid for hours worked at the hourly rates in Exhibit B.  RTC shall 
not be responsible for any other costs or expenses except as provided in Exhibit B. 

5. MAXIMUM COMPENSATION 

The maximum amount payable to CONSULTANT to complete each task is equal to the 
not-to-exceed amounts identified in the Master Service Agreement.   CONSULTANT can 
request in writing that RTC’s Project Manager reallocate not-to-exceed amounts between 
tasks.  A request to reallocate not-to-exceed amounts must be accompanied with a revised 
fee schedule, and must be approved in writing by RTC’s Project Manager prior to 
performance of the work.  In no case shall CONSULTANT be compensated in excess of 
the following not-to exceed amount for this Task Order:  $[_____________]. 



   
  

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

6. OTHER PROVISIONS 

All other provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect during the term 
of this Task Order, as if fully set forth herein. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this Agreement the day and 
year first above written. 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF WASHOE COUNTY 

By: 
Bill Thomas, AICP, Executive Director 

KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 

By: 
Michael Mosley, P.E., PTOE, Vice President 

-2-



 

 

Exhibit C 

Hourly Rates and Rates 



Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. 

Hourly Labor Rate Schedule 

Classification Rate 
Support Staff $117 
Technical Support $130 
Analyst I $150 
Analyst II $185 
Senior Technical Support $190 
Professional $225 
Senior Professional I $285 
ITS Systems Manager/ 
Senior Professional II $330 

Effective through December 31, 2024 
Subject to annual adjustment thereafter 
Reimbursable Expenses will be charged per the Contract 
Sub-Consultants will be billed per the Contract 

kimley horn.com 7900 Rancharrah Parkway, Suite 100, Reno, NV 89511     

  
 

    

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  

    

 
 

  
  

-

Kimley>>> Horn 

____________________________________ 

775 200 1967 



  

 

Exhibit D 

Indemnification and Insurance Requirements 



 

 
 

 

   
  

 
   

  

  
 

   
 

  

  

 

 
  

  

 
 

   
   

   
 

    
  

 

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENTS 

[NRS 338 DESIGN PROFESSIONAL] 

1. INTRODUCTION 

IT IS HIGHLY RECOMMENDED THAT CONSULTANTS CONFER WITH THEIR 
INSURANCE CARRIERS OR BROKERS TO DETERMINE THE AVAILABILITY OF THESE 
INSURANCE CERTIFICATES AND ENDORSEMENTS IN ADVANCE OF PROPOSAL 
SUBMISSION. IF THERE ARE ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THESE INSURANCE 
REQUIREMENTS, IT IS RECOMMENDED THAT THE AGENT/BROKER CONTACT 
RTC’S FINANCE DIRECTOR AT (775) 335-1845. 

2. INDEMNIFICATION 

CONSULTANT agrees, subject to the limitations in Nevada Revised Statutes Section 338.155, to 
save and hold harmless and fully indemnify RTC, Nevada Department of Transportation, Washoe 
County, City of Reno and City of Sparks including their elected officials, officers, employees, and 
agents (hereafter, “Indemnitees”) from and against any and all claims, proceedings, actions, 
liability and damages, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and defense costs incurred in any action 
or proceeding (collectively “Damages”) arising out of the: 

A. Negligence, errors, omissions, recklessness or intentional misconduct of CONSULTANT 
or CONSULTANT’s agents, employees, officers, directors, subconsultants, or anyone else 
for whom CONSULTANT may be legally responsible, which are based upon or arising 
out of the professional services of CONSULTANT; and 

B. Violation of law or any contractual provisions or any infringement related to trade names, 
licenses, franchises, patents or other means of protecting interests in products or inventions 
resulting from the use by the Indemnitees of any materials, devices, processes, equipment, 
or other deliverable (including software) supplied by CONSULTANT under or as a result 
of this Agreement, but excluding any violation or infringement resulting from the 
modification or alteration by the Indemnitees of any materials, devices, processes, 
equipment, or other deliverable (including software) not consented to by CONSULTANT. 

CONSULTANT further agrees to defend, save and hold harmless and fully indemnify the 
Indemnitees from and against any and all Damages arising out the negligence, errors, omissions, 
recklessness or intentional misconduct of CONSULTANT or CONSULTANT’s agents, 
employees, officers, directors, subconsultants, or anyone else for whom CONSULTANT may be 
legally responsible, which are not based upon or arising out of the professional services of 
CONSULTANT. 

The Damages shall include, but are not limited to, those resulting from personal injury to any 
person, including bodily injury, sickness, disease or death and injury to real property or personal 
property, tangible or intangible, and the loss of use of any of that property, whether or not it is 
physically injured.   

1 



 

  
    

  

  
 

  
 

   
  

 
 

 

   
 

 
   

     
 

 

   
   

  
  

 

 
 
 

    
     

     
   

  
 

 

If the Indemnitees are involved in defending actions of CONSULTANT or anyone else for whom 
CONSULTANT is legally responsible, CONSULTANT shall reimburse the Indemnitees for the 
time spent by such personnel at the rate of the Indemnitees pay or compensation for such services. 

If an Indemnitee is found to be liable in the proceeding, then CONSULTANT’S obligation 
hereunder shall be limited to the proportional share of the liability attributed to CONSULTANT. 

In determining whether a claim is subject to indemnification, the incident underlying the claim 
shall determine the nature of the claim. 

In the event of a violation or an infringement under paragraph 2.B above and the use is enjoined, 
CONSULTANT, at its sole expense, shall either (1) secure for the Indemnitees the right to continue 
using the materials by suspension of any injunction or by procuring a license or licenses for the 
Indemnitees; or (2) modify the materials so that they become non-infringing. This covenant shall 
survive the termination of the Professional Services Agreement. 

The provisions of this Agreement are separate and severable and it is the intent of the Parties hereto 
that in the event any provision of this Agreement should be determined by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void, voidable or too restrictive for any reason whatsoever, the remaining 
provisions of this Agreement shall remain valid and binding upon said Parties. It is also understood 
and agreed that in the event any provision should be considered, by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, to be void because it imposes a greater obligation on CONSULTANT than is 
permitted by law, such court may reduce and reform such provisions to limitations which are 
deemed reasonable and enforceable by said court. 

3. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

Prior to the start of any work on a RTC project, CONSULTANT shall purchase and maintain 
insurance of the types and limits as described below insuring against claims for injuries to persons 
or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the work 
hereunder by CONSULTANT, its subconsultants, or their employees, agents, or representatives.  
The cost of all such insurance shall be borne by CONSULTANT. 

4. VERIFICATION OF COVERAGE 

CONSULTANT shall furnish RTC with a certificate(s) of insurance, executed by a duly authorized 
representative of each insurer, showing compliance with the insurance requirements set forth 
herein, on forms acceptable to RTC.  All deductibles and self-insured retentions requiring RTC 
approval shall be shown on the certificate.  All certificates and endorsements are to be addressed 
to RTC’s Finance Director and be received by RTC before work commences.  Upon request, 
CONSULTANT agrees that RTC has the right to review CONSULTANT’S and the Sub’s 
insurance policies, or certified copies of the policies. Copies of applicable policy forms or 
endorsements confirming required additional insured, waiver of subrogation and notice of 
cancellation provisions are required to be provided with any certificate(s) evidencing the required 
coverage. 

2 



 

 
  

 
  

 
    

 
   

 
   

 
  

       
   

  
  

 

  
   

 
 

    
  

  
 

 
  

 
 

      
 

  
  

   
 

  
 

 
    

    
   

  
 

 

5. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION 

CONSULTANT or its insurers shall provide at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice to RTC 
prior to the cancellation or non-renewal of any insurance required under this Agreement. An 
exception may be included to provide at least ten (10) days’ written notice if cancellation is due to 
non-payment of premium. CONSULTANT shall be responsible to provide prior written notice to 
RTC as soon as practicable upon receipt of any notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in 
required limits or other material change in the insurance required under this Agreement. 

6. SUBCONSULTANTS & SUBCONTRACTORS 

CONSULTANT shall include all Subcontractors and Subconsultants (referred to collectively as 
“Subs”) as insureds under its liability policies OR shall cause Subs employed by CONSULTANT 
to purchase and maintain separate liability coverages and limits of the types specified herein. If 
any Subs maintain separate liability coverages and limits, each shall include the RTC, Washoe 
County, City of Reno and City of Sparks as additional insureds under its commercial general 
liability policy, subject to the same requirements stated herein, without requiring a written contract 
or agreement between each of the additional insureds and any sub-consultant or sub-contractor. 
Any separate coverage limits of liability maintained by Subs shall be at least $1,000,000 per 
occurrence and at least $2,000,000 for any applicable coverage aggregates or the amount 
customarily carried by the Sub, whichever is GREATER.  If any Subs provide their own insurance 
with limits less than required of the Contractor, Contractor shall include Subs in their coverage up 
to the full limits required of the Contractor. When requested by RTC, CONSULTANT shall 
furnish copies of certificates of insurance evidencing coverage for each subconsultant. 
CONSULTANT need not require its non-design subcontractors to carry Professional Errors and 
Omissions Liability insurance. 

7. DEDUCTIBLES AND SELF-INSURED RETENTIONS 

Any deductibles or self-insured retentions that exceed $25,000 per occurrence or claim must be 
declared to RTC’s Finance Director prior to signing this Agreement. RTC is entitled to request 
and receive additional documentation, financial or otherwise, prior to giving its approval of the 
deductibles and self-insured retentions. Any changes to the deductibles or self-insured retentions 
made during the term of this Agreement or during the term of any policy must be declared to 
RTC’s Finance Director prior to the change taking effect. 

8. ACCEPTABILITY OF INSURERS 

Required insurance is to be placed with insurers with a Best's rating of no less than A-VII and 
acceptable to RTC.  RTC may accept coverage with carriers having lower Best's ratings upon 
review of financial information concerning CONSULTANT and the insurance carrier. RTC 
reserves the right to require that CONSULTANT'S insurer(s) be licensed and admitted in the State 
of Nevada or meet any applicable state and federal laws and regulations for non-admitted insurance 
placements. 

3 



 

  
 

   
 

 
    

 
 

 
  

 
 

    
 

    
 

 
    

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

    
    

 
 

 
   

 
 

  
 

   
    

 
   

 

  

9. OTHER CONDITIONS 

A. Failure to furnish the required certificate(s) or failure to maintain the required insurance 
may result in termination of this Agreement at RTC’s option. 

B. If CONSULTANT fails to furnish the required certificate or fails to maintain the required 
insurance as set forth herein, RTC shall have the right, but not the obligation, to purchase 
said insurance at CONSULTANT's expense. 

C. Any waiver of CONSULTANT's obligation to furnish such certificate or maintain such 
insurance must be in writing and signed by an authorized representative of RTC. Failure 
of RTC to demand such certificate or other evidence of full compliance with these 
insurance requirements or failure of RTC to identify a deficiency from evidence that is 
provided shall not be construed as a waiver of CONSULTANT's obligation to maintain 
such insurance, or as a waiver as to the enforcement of any of these provisions at a later 
date. 

D. By requiring insurance herein, RTC does not represent that coverage and limits will 
necessarily be adequate to protect CONSULTANT, and such coverage and limits shall not 
be deemed as a limitation on CONSULTANT's liability under the indemnities granted to 
RTC in this contract. 

E. If CONSULTANT’S liability policies do not contain the standard ISO separation of 
insureds condition, or a substantially similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide 
cross-liability coverage. 

10. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY 

CONSULTANT shall maintain commercial general liability (CGL) and, if necessary, commercial 
umbrella insurance with a limit of not less than $2,000,000 each occurrence. If such CGL insurance 
contains a general aggregate limit, it shall be increased to equal twice the required occurrence limit 
or revised to apply separately to this project. 

CGL insurance shall be written on ISO occurrence form CG 00 01 04 13 (or a substitute form 
providing equivalent coverage) and shall cover liability arising from premises, operations, 
products-completed operations, personal and advertising injury, and liability assumed under an 
insured contract (including the tort liability of another assumed in a business contract). 

RTC and any other Indemnitees listed in Section 2. INDEMNIFICATION of this Agreement shall 
be included as an additional insured under the CGL, using ISO additional insured endorsement 
CG 20 10 07/04 or CG 20 33 07/04 or a substitute providing equivalent coverage, and under the 
commercial umbrella, if any. 

This insurance shall apply as primary insurance with respect to any other insurance or self-
insurance programs afforded to RTC or any other Indemnitees under this Agreement. 

4 



 

 
 

  
  

  
 

  
 

 
    

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
   

   
  

 
  

 
 

  
    

   
   

 

 
  

   
 

 
  

  
 

    
 

 
 

    
  

  

CONSULTANT waives all rights against RTC and any other Indemnitees listed in section 2. 
INDEMNIFICATION of this Agreement for recovery of damages to the extent these damages are 
covered by the commercial general liability or commercial umbrella liability insurance maintained 
pursuant to this agreement. CONSULTANT’s insurer shall endorse CGL policy to waive 
subrogation against RTC with respect to any loss paid under the policy. 

11. COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY 

CONSULTANT shall maintain automobile liability and, if necessary, commercial umbrella 
liability insurance with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 each accident. Such insurance shall 
cover liability arising out of any auto (including owned, hired, and non-owned autos). 

Coverage shall be written on ISO form CA 00 01, CA 00 05, CA 00 25, or a substitute form 
providing equivalent liability coverage for all owned, leased, hired (rented) and non-owned 
vehicles (as applicable).  RTC may agree to accept auto liability for non-owned and hired (rented) 
vehicles under the CGL if CONSULTANT does not own or operate any owned or leased vehicles. 

CONSULTANT waives all rights against RTC, its officers, employees and volunteers for recovery 
of damages to the extent these damages are covered by the automobile liability or commercial 
umbrella liability insurance obtained by CONSULTANT pursuant to this Agreement. 

12. INDUSTRIAL (WORKER’S COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYER’S LIABILITY) 
INSURANCE 

It is understood and agreed that there shall be no Industrial (Worker’s Compensation and 
Employer’s Liability) Insurance coverage provided for CONSULTANT or any subconsultants by 
RTC.  CONSULTANT, and any subconsultants, shall procure, pay for and maintain the required 
coverages. 

CONSULTANT shall maintain workers’ compensation and employer’s liability insurance meeting 
the statutory requirements of the State of Nevada, including but not limited to NRS 616B.627 and 
NRS 617.210. The employer’s liability limits shall not be less than $1,000,000 each accident for 
bodily injury by accident or $1,000,000 each employee for bodily injury by disease. 

CONSULTANT shall provide a Final Certificate for itself and each subconsultant evidencing that 
CONSULTANT and each subconsultant maintained workers’ compensation and employer’s 
liability insurance throughout the entire course of the project. 

If CONSULTANT, or any subconsultant is a sole proprietor, coverage for the sole proprietor must 
be purchased and evidence of coverage must appear on the Certificate of Insurance and Final 
Certificate. 

CONSULTANT waives all rights against RTC, its elected officials, officers, employees and agents 
for recovery of damages to the extent these damages are covered by the workers compensation and 
employer’s liability or commercial umbrella liability insurance obtained by Tenant pursuant to this 

5 



 

 
 

 
  

    
 

  
 

 

     
 

 
  

  
    

    
 

agreement. CONSULTANT shall obtain an endorsement equivalent to WC 00 03 13 to affect this 
waiver. 

13. PROFESSIONAL ERRORS AND OMISSIONS LIABILITY 

CONSULTANT shall maintain professional liability insurance applying to liability for a 
professional error, omission, or negligent act arising out of the scope of CONSULTANT’S 
services provided under this Agreement with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 each claim and 
annual aggregate. CONSULTANT shall maintain professional liability insurance during the term 
of this Agreement and, if coverage is provided on a “claims made” or “claims made and reported” 
basis, shall maintain coverage or purchase an extended reporting period for a period of at least 
three (3) years following the termination of this Agreement. 

14. NETWORK SECURITY AND PRIVACY LIABILITY 

If CONSULTANT will have access to RTC computer or network systems for any reason and/or 
data including personal information (as defined in NRS 603A.040) or confidential information, 
CONSULTANT shall maintain network security and privacy liability insurance insuring against 
loss resulting from (1) privacy breaches [liability arising from the loss or disclosure of confidential 
information] (2) system breach (3) denial or loss of service (4) introduction, implantation, or 
spread of malicious software code (5) unauthorized access to or use of computer systems and (6) 
system failure. Coverage shall be provided with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 per claim and 
annual aggregate. 

6 



  

 

   

 

 

  

 

 

 
  

  
 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.4.2

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Amanda Callegari, Engineering Manager

  SUBJECT: Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction ("Orange Book") Update PSA 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve a contract with Lumos and Associates, Inc., for engineering services associated with updating the 
Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction (SSPWC), also known as the Orange Book, in an 
amount not-to-exceed $283,200. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

The Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) has outlined a process to update and publish the new 
version of the Orange Book. To achieve this, the RTC has established the Specifications Review 
Committee (SRC), which includes representatives from the RTC, City of Reno, City of Sparks, and 
Washoe County. Lumos will act as an extension of this committee, assisting the SRC in planning, process, 
communication, coordination, compilation, and document control throughout the project. 

The primary goal of this project is to develop an updated and practical document for standard public works 
projects. Additional stakeholders, including other agencies, consultants, contractors, utilities, associations, 
and material suppliers, will be identified and given opportunities to review and provide feedback for 
possible inclusion in the revised document. 

The update process will begin with the 2012 Revision 8 version of the Orange Book as the baseline 
template, incorporating agreed-upon specifications from the 2016 Revision 9 version to establish a new 
baseline document. This will serve as the foundation for the update process. 

Lumos was selected from the Civil Engineering Design and Construction Management Services for the 
Streets & Highways Qualified List as a qualified firm to perform these design services. The complete scope 
of services is included in Exhibit A attached the Professional Services Agreement. Lumos' scope, schedule, 
and fee indicate the amount for design services is within the appropriated budget. While the schedule may 
fluctuate, the targeted schedule for these services is as follows: 



Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction ("Orange Book") Update PSA 
Page 2 

Task 1 - Project Management: Duration of the Project 
Task 2 - Develop Baseline Document: October 2024 
Task 3 - Specifications Outreach and Update: September 2025 
Task 4 - Stakeholder Vetting: February 2026 
Task 5 - Finalize and Publish Update: February 2026 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Fuel Tax appropriations for this item are included in the FY 2025 budget. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

6/17/2022 Approved the Qualified Consultant List for Engineering Design and Construction 
Management Services. 



 

 
 

 
 

           
   

  
 

 
 

     
     

 
  

 
 

 
 

   
 

  
 
  

 
    

  
   

  
 

  
  

 
  

 
    

  
 
 

 
 

    
 

  
 
   

AGREEMENT 
FOR 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

This agreement (this “Agreement”) is dated and effective as of , 2024, by and 
between the Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County (“RTC”) and Lumos and 
Associates, Inc. (“CONSULTANT”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, RTC has selected Lumos and Associates, Inc. from the Streets and Highways 
Engineering and Construction Services shortlist to perform Engineering services, research, 
coordination and technical writing in connection with updating the Standard Specifications for 
Public Works Construction “Orange Book.” 

NOW, THEREFORE, RTC and CONSULTANT, in consideration of the mutual covenants and 
other consideration set forth herein, do hereby agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1 – TERM AND ENGAGEMENT 

1.1. The term of this Agreement shall be from the date first written above through 
December 31, 2026, unless terminated at an earlier date, or extended to a later date, 
pursuant to the provisions herein. 

1.2. CONSULTANT will promptly, diligently and faithfully execute the work to completion in 
accordance with applicable professional standards subject to any delays due to strikes, acts 
of God, act of any government, civil disturbances, or any other cause beyond the reasonable 
control of CONSULTANT. 

1.3. CONSULTANT shall not proceed with work until both parties have executed this 
Agreement and a purchase order has been issued to CONSULTANT.  If CONSULTANT 
violates that prohibition, CONSULTANT forfeits any and all right to reimbursement and 
payment for that work and waives any and all claims against RTC, its employees, agents, 
and affiliates, including but not limited to monetary damages, and any other remedy 
available at law or in equity arising under the terms of this Agreement. Furthermore, prior 
to execution and issuance of a purchase order, CONSULTANT shall not rely on the terms 
of this Agreement in any way, including but not limited to any written or oral 
representations, assurances or warranties made by RTC or any of its agents, employees or 
affiliates, or on any dates of performance, deadlines, indemnities, or any term contained in 
this Agreement or otherwise. 

ARTICLE 2 - SERVICES OF CONSULTANT 

2.1. SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The scope of services consist of the tasks set forth in Exhibit A. 

-1-



 

   
 
    

 
 

  
 

  
  

    
 

 
  

 
    
 

 
  

 
 

 

 
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
  

   
  

 
   

   
 

   
 

   
   

 

2.2. SCHEDULE OF SERVICES 

Tasks and subtasks shall be completed in accordance with the schedule in Exhibit B.  Any 
change(s) to the schedule must be approved by RTC’s Project Manager. 

2.3. CONTINGENCY 

Contingency line items identified in the scope of services are for miscellaneous increases 
within the scope of work.  Prior to the use of any contingency amounts, CONSULTANT 
shall provide a letter to RTC’s Project Manager detailing the need, scope, and not-to-
exceed budget for the proposed work.  Work to be paid for out of contingency shall proceed 
only with the RTC Project Manager’s written approval.  

2.4. ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

CONSULTANT will provide additional services when agreed to in writing by RTC and 
CONSULTANT. 

2.5. PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS 

Any and all design and engineering work furnished by CONSULTANT shall be performed 
by or under the supervision of persons licensed to practice architecture, engineering, or 
surveying (as applicable) in the State of Nevada, by personnel who are careful, skilled, 
experienced and competent in their respective trades or professions, who are professionally 
qualified to perform the work, and who shall assume professional responsibility for the 
accuracy and completeness of documents prepared or checked by them, in accordance with 
appropriate prevailing professional standards. Notwithstanding the provision of any 
drawings, technical specifications, or other data by RTC, CONSULTANT shall have the 
responsibility of supplying all items and details required for the deliverables required 
hereunder. 

2.6. ERRORS AND OMISSIONS 

CONSULTANT shall, without additional compensation, correct or revise any deficiencies, 
errors, or omissions caused by CONSULTANT in its analysis, reports, and services. 
CONSULTANT also agrees that if any error or omission is found, CONSULTANT will 
expeditiously make the necessary correction, at no expense to RTC.  If an error or omission 
was directly caused by RTC, and not by CONSULTANT and RTC requires that such error 
or omission be corrected, CONSULTANT may be compensated for such additional work. 

ARTICLE 3 - COMPENSATION 

3.1. CONSULTANT shall be paid for hours worked at the hourly rates in Exhibit C.  RTC shall 
not be responsible for any other costs or expenses except as provided in Exhibit C.  

-2-



 

  
     

  
   

 
 

   
 

     
  

  
  

  
   

  
   

 
  

 
   

   
  

  
 

    
 
 

 
 

 
   

 
  

  
  

 
 

 
      

 
 

 
   

   
  

3.2. The maximum amount payable to CONSULTANT to complete each task is equal to the 
not-to-exceed amounts identified in Exhibit C. CONSULTANT can request in writing 
that RTC’s Project Manager reallocate not-to-exceed amounts between tasks.  A request to 
reallocate not-to-exceed amounts must be accompanied with a revised fee schedule, and 
must be approved in writing by RTC’s Project Manager prior to performance of the work.  
In no case shall CONSULTANT be compensated in excess of the following not-to exceed 
amounts: 

Description Fee 
Project Management $66,200 
Develop Baseline Document $60,800 
Specifications Outreach and Update $65,600 
Stakeholder Vetting $50,050 
Finalize and Publish Update $25,550 
Contingency (OPTIONAL) $15,000 
Total Not-to-Exceed Amount: $283,200 

3.3. For any work authorized under Section 2.4, “Additional Services,” RTC and 
CONSULTANT will negotiate not-to-exceed amounts based on the standard hourly rates 
in Exhibit C.  Any work authorized under Section 2. 4, “Additional Services,” when 
performed by persons who are not employees or individuals employed by affiliates of 
CONSULTANT, will be billed at a mutually agreed upon rate for such services, but not 
more than 105% of the amounts billed to CONSULTANT for such services. 

3.4. CONSULTANT shall receive compensation for preparing for and/or appearing in any 
litigation at the request of RTC, except: (1) if such litigation costs are incurred by 
CONSULTANT in defending its work or services or those of any of its sub-consultants; or 
(2) as may be required by CONSULTANT’s indemnification obligations.  Compensation 
for litigation services requested by RTC shall be paid at a mutually agreed upon rate and/or 
at a reasonable rate for such services. 

ARTICLE 4 - INVOICING 

4.1. CONSULTANT shall submit monthly invoices in the format specified by RTC.  Invoices 
must be submitted to accountspayable@rtcwashoe.com. RTC’s payment terms are 30 days 
after the receipt of the invoice.  Simple interest will be paid at the rate of half a percent 
(0.5%) per month on all invoices approved by RTC that are not paid within thirty (30) days 
of receipt of the invoice. 

4.2. RTC shall notify CONSULTANT of any disagreement with any submitted invoice for 
consulting services within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice.  Any amounts not in 
dispute shall be promptly paid by RTC. 

4.3. CONSULTANT shall maintain complete records supporting every request for payment 
that may become due.  Upon request, CONSULTANT shall produce all or a portion of its 
records and RTC shall have the right to inspect and copy such records. 

-3-

mailto:accountspayable@rtcwashoe.com


 

 
    

 
   

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
   

 
  

  

 
   

  
 
 

   
 

 
 

    

   
  

 
 

    
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

  
  
   

  

  

ARTICLE 5 - ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND PROPERTY 

5.1. Upon request and without cost to CONSULTANT, RTC will provide all pertinent 
information that is reasonably available to RTC including surveys, reports and any other 
data relative to design and construction. 

5.2. RTC will provide access to and make all provisions for CONSULTANT to enter upon RTC 
facilities and public lands, as required for CONSULTANT to perform its work under this 
Agreement. 

ARTICLE 6 - OWNERSHIP OF WORK 

6.1. Plans, reports, studies, tracings, maps, software, electronic files, licenses, programs, 
equipment manuals, and databases and other documents or instruments of service prepared 
or obtained by CONSULTANT in the course of performing work under this Agreement, 
shall be delivered to and become the property of RTC. Software already developed and 
purchased by CONSULTANT prior to the Agreement is excluded from this requirement. 
CONSULTANT and its sub-consultants shall convey and transfer all copyrightable 
interests, trademarks, licenses, and other intellectual property rights in such materials to 
RTC upon completion of all services under this Agreement and upon payment in full of all 
compensation due to CONSULTANT in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 
Basic survey notes, sketches, charts, computations and similar data prepared or obtained 
by CONSULTANT under this Agreement shall, upon request, also be provided to RTC. 

6.2. CONSULTANT represents that it has secured all necessary licenses, consents, or approvals 
to use the components of any intellectual property, including computer software, used in 
providing services under this Agreement, that it has full legal title to and the right to 
reproduce such materials, and that it has the right to convey such title and other necessary 
rights and interests to RTC. 

6.3. CONSULTANT shall bear all costs arising from the use of patented, copyrighted, trade 
secret, or trademarked materials, equipment, devices, or processes used on or incorporated 
in the services and materials produced under this Agreement. 

6.4. CONSULTANT agrees that all reports, communications, electronic files, databases, 
documents, and information that it obtains or prepares in connection with performing this 
Agreement shall be treated as confidential material and shall not be released or published 
without the prior written consent of RTC; provided, however, that CONSULTANT may 
refer to this scope of work in connection with its promotional literature in a professional 
and commercially reasonable manner.  The provisions of this subsection shall not apply to 
information in whatever form that comes into the public domain.  The provisions of this 
paragraph also shall not restrict CONSULTANT from giving notices required by law or 
complying with an order to provide information or data when such order is issued by a 
court, administrative agency, or other entity with proper jurisdiction, or if it is reasonably 
necessary for CONSULTANT to defend itself from any suit or claim. 

-4-



 

 
   

 
  

 
    
    

 
    

    
  

 
 

      
 

  
   

 
 

  
 

   
      

  
    

   
   

 
 

   
 

    
 

  
 

   
 

   
 
    
 

  
  

 
 

ARTICLE 7 - TERMINATION 

7.1. CONTRACT TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT 

If CONSULTANT fails to perform services in the manner called for in this Agreement or 
if CONSULTANT fails to comply with any other provisions of this Agreement, RTC may 
terminate this Agreement for default.  Termination shall be effected by serving a notice of 
termination on CONSULTANT setting forth the manner in which CONSULTANT is in 
default.  CONSULTANT will only be paid the contract price for services delivered and 
accepted, or services performed in accordance with the manner of performance set forth in 
this Agreement. 

If it is later determined by RTC that CONSULTANT had an excusable reason for not 
performing, such as a fire, flood, or events which are not the fault of or are beyond the 
control of CONSULTANT, RTC, after setting up a new performance schedule, may allow 
CONSULTANT to continue work, or treat the termination as a termination for 
convenience. 

7.2. CONTRACT TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE 

RTC may terminate this Agreement, in whole or in part, at any time by written notice to 
CONSULTANT when it is in RTC’s best interest. CONSULTANT shall be paid its costs, 
including contract closeout costs, and profit on work performed up to the time of 
termination. CONSULTANT shall promptly submit its termination claim to RTC to be 
paid CONSULTANT.  If CONSULTANT has any property in its possession belonging to 
RTC, CONSULTANT will account for the same, and dispose of it in the manner RTC 
directs. 

ARTICLE 8 - INSURANCE 

8.1. CONSULTANT shall not commence any work or permit any employee/agent to 
commence any work until satisfactory proof has been submitted to RTC that all insurance 
requirements have been met. 

8.2. In conjunction with the performance of the services/work required by the terms of this 
Agreement, CONSULTANT shall obtain all types and amounts of insurance set forth in 
Exhibit D, and shall comply with all provisions set forth therein. 

ARTICLE 9 - HOLD HARMLESS 

9.1. CONSULTANT’s obligation under this provision is as set forth in Exhibit D.  Said 
obligation would also extend to any liability of RTC resulting from any action to clear any 
lien and/or to recover for damage to RTC property. 

-5-



 

    
 

   
   

   
 

 
 

   
   

 
   

 
 

  
   

  
 

    
 

 
 

   
 

  
 

  

  
 

 
 

   
 

    
  

 
 

    
 

  
   

  

ARTICLE 10 - EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 

10.1. During the performance of this Agreement, CONSULTANT agrees not to discriminate 
against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, 
age, disability, or national origin.  CONSULTANT will take affirmative action to ensure 
that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated fairly during employment, 
without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, age, disability, or national origin.  Such 
action shall include, but not be limited to, the following:  employment, upgrading, 
demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates 
of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. 
CONSULTANT agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and 
applicants for employment, notices to be provided by RTC setting forth the provisions of 
this nondiscrimination clause. 

10.2. CONSULTANT will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on 
behalf of CONSULTANT, state that well qualified applicants will receive consideration of 
employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex, age, disability, or national origin. 

10.3. CONSULTANT will cause the foregoing provisions to be inserted in all sub-agreements 
for any work covered by this Agreement so that such provisions will be binding upon each 
sub-consultant. 

ARTICLE 11 - RESOLUTION OF CLAIMS AND DISPUTES 

11.1. NEGOTIATED RESOLUTION 

In the event that any dispute or claim arises under this Agreement, the parties shall timely 
cooperate and negotiate in good faith to resolve any such dispute or claim. Such 
cooperation shall include providing the other party with all information in order to properly 
evaluate the dispute or claim and making available the necessary personnel to discuss and 
make decisions relative to the dispute or claim. 

ARTICLE 12 – PROJECT MANAGERS 

12.1. RTC’s Project Manager is Amanda Calegari, PE or such other person as is later designated 
in writing by RTC.  RTC’s Project Manager has authority to act as RTC’s representative 
with respect to the performance of this Agreement.  

12.2. CONSULTANT’ Project Manager is Alex Greenblat, P.E. or such other person as is later 
designated in writing by CONSULTANT.  CONSULTANT’s Project Manager has 
authority to act as CONSULTANT’s representative with respect to the performance of this 
Agreement. 

-6-



   

  

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

  

   

    
  

  
  

  

 
 
 

 
  

  
  

ARTICLE 13 - NOTICE 

13.1. Notices required under this Agreement shall be given as follows: 

RTC: Bill Thomas, AICP 
Executive Director 
Amanda Calegari, PE 
RTC Engineering Manager 
Regional Transportation Commission 
1105 Terminal Way 
Reno, Nevada 89502 
Email: acalegari@rtcwashoe.com 
(775)335-1881 

CONSULTANT: Alex Greenblat 
Senior Project Manager 
Lumos and Associates, Inc. 
950 Sandhill Rd., Suite 100 
Reno, NV 89521 
Email: agreenblat@lumosinc.com 
(775)827-6111 

ARTICLE 14 - DELAYS IN PERFORMANCE 

14.1. TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE 

It is understood and agreed that all times stated and referred to herein are of the essence. 
The period for performance may be extended by RTC’s Executive Director pursuant to the 
process specified herein.  No extension of time shall be valid unless reduced to writing and 
signed by RTC’s Executive Director. 

14.2. UNAVOIDABLE DELAYS 

If the timely completion of the services under this Agreement should be unavoidably 
delayed, RTC may extend the time for completion of this Agreement for not less than the 
number of days CONSULTANT was excusably delayed.  A delay is unavoidable only if 
the delay is not reasonably expected to occur in connection with or during 
CONSULTANT’s performance, is not caused directly or substantially by acts, omissions, 
negligence or mistakes of CONSULTANT, is substantial and in fact causes 
CONSULTANT to miss specified completion dates, and cannot adequately be guarded 
against by contractual or legal means. 

-7-

mailto:agreenblat@lumosinc.com
mailto:acalegari@rtcwashoe.com


     
   

   
 

  

   
   

 
       

   

   

  

 
 
 

  
 

  
   

 

  

 
 

 

  

  
 

    
 

  

 

   14.3. NOTIFICATION OF DELAYS 

CONSULTANT shall notify RTC as soon as CONSULTANT has knowledge that an event 
has occurred or otherwise becomes aware that CONSULTANT will be delayed in the 
completion of the work. Within ten (10) working days thereafter, CONSULTANT shall 
provide such notice to RTC, in writing, furnishing as much detail on the delay as possible 
and requesting an extension of time. 

14.4. REQUEST FOR EXTENSION 

Any request by CONSULTANT for an extension of time to complete the work under this 
Agreement shall be made in writing to RTC.  CONSULTANT shall supply to RTC 
documentation to substantiate and justify the additional time needed to complete the work 
and shall provide a revised schedule. RTC shall provide CONSULTANT with notice of 
its decision within a reasonable time after receipt of a request. 

ARTICLE 15 - GENERAL PROVISIONS 

15.1. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

RTC and CONSULTANT bind themselves and their successors and assigns to the other 
party and to the successors and assigns of such party, with respect to the performance of 
all covenants of this Agreement.  Except as set forth herein, neither RTC nor 
CONSULTANT shall assign or transfer interest in this Agreement without the written 
consent of the other.  Nothing herein shall be construed as creating a personal liability on 
the part of any officer or agent or any public body which may be a party hereto, nor shall 
it be construed as giving any rights or benefits hereunder to anyone other than RTC and 
CONSULTANT. 

15.2. NON TRANSFERABILITY 

This Agreement is for CONSULTANT’s professional services, and CONSULTANT’s 
rights and obligations hereunder may not be assigned without the prior written consent of 
RTC. 

15.3. SEVERABILITY 

If any part, term, article, or provision of this Agreement is, by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, held to be illegal, void, or unenforceable, or to be in conflict with any law of 
the State of Nevada, the validity of the remaining provisions or portions of this Agreement 
are not affected, and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and enforced 
as if this Agreement did not contain the particular part, term, or provision held invalid. 

15.4. RELATIONSHIP OF PARTIES 

CONSULTANT is an independent contractor to RTC under this Agreement.  Accordingly, 
CONSULTANT is not entitled to participate in any retirement, deferred compensation, 
health insurance plans or other benefits RTC provides to its employees.  CONSULTANT 

-8-



 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
   

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

     
  

 
  

   
  

  
  

 
 

  
 

   
 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 
   

   
   

 

shall be free to contract to provide similar services for others while it is under contract to 
RTC, so long as said services and advocacy are not in direct conflict, as determined by 
RTC, with services being provided by CONSULTANT to RTC. 

15.5. WAIVER/BREACH 

Any waiver or breach of a provision in this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of any 
other provision in this Agreement and no waiver is valid unless in writing and executed by 
the waiving party.  An extension of the time for performance of any obligation or act shall 
not be deemed an extension of time for the performance of any other obligation or act.  This 
Agreement inures to the benefit of and is binding upon the parties to this Agreement and 
their respective heirs, successors and assigns. 

15.6. REGULATORY COMPLIANCE 

A. CONSULTANT shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local 
government laws, regulations and ordinances.  CONSULTANT shall be 
responsible for obtaining all necessary permits and licenses for performance of 
services under this Agreement. Upon request of RTC, CONSULTANT shall 
furnish RTC certificates of compliance with all such laws, orders and regulations. 

B. CONSULTANT represents and warrants that none of the services to be rendered 
pursuant to this Agreement constitute the performance of public work, as that term 
is defined by Section 338.010(17) of the Nevada Revised Statutes.  To the extent 
CONSULTANT does engage in such public work, CONSULTANT shall be 
responsible for paying the prevailing wage as required by Chapter 338 of the 
Nevada Revised Statutes. 

15.7. EXCLUSIVE AGREEMENT 

There are no verbal agreements, representations or understandings affecting this 
Agreement, and all negotiations, representations and undertakings are set forth herein with 
the understanding that this Agreement constitutes the entire understanding by and between 
the parties. 

15.8. AMENDMENTS 

No alteration, amendment or modification of this Agreement shall be effective unless it is 
in writing and signed by both parties. 

15.9. CONTINUING OBLIGATION 

CONSULTANT agrees that if, because of death or any other occurrence it becomes 
impossible for any principal or employee of CONSULTANT to render the services 
required under this Agreement, neither CONSULTANT nor the surviving principals shall 
be relieved of any obligation to render complete performance.  However, in such event, 

-9-



 

   
   

  
 

    
 

 
   

  
  

 
  

 
   

  
  

 
  

 
   

   
   

 
 

 
 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 

         
 

 
 
      
 

 
         

 
 

 
 

RTC may terminate this Agreement if it considers the death or incapacity of such principal 
or employee to be a loss of such magnitude as to affect CONSULTANT’s ability to 
satisfactorily complete the performance of this Agreement. 

15.10. APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE 

The provisions of this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the State of Nevada.  The exclusive venue and court for all lawsuits concerning this 
Agreement shall be the Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, County of 
Washoe, and the parties hereto submit to the jurisdiction of that District Court. 

15.11. ATTORNEYS’ FEES 

In the event of a dispute between the parties result in a proceeding in any Court of Nevada 
having jurisdiction, the prevailing party shall be entitled to an award of costs and any 
reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

15.12. CERTIFICATION REQUIRED BY NEVADA SENATE BILL 27 (2017) 

CONSULTANT expressly certifies and agrees, as a material part of this Agreement, that 
it is not currently engaged in a boycott of Israel.  CONSULTANT further agrees, as a 
material part of this Agreement, it will not engage in a boycott of Israel for the duration of 
this Agreement.  If, at any time during the formation or duration of this Agreement, 
CONSULTANT is engaged or engages in a boycott of Israel, it will constitute a material 
breach of this Agreement. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this Agreement the day and 
year first above written. 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF WASHOE COUNTY 

By: 
Bill Thomas, AICP, Executive Director 

LUMOS AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 

By: 
Timothy Russel, P.E., WRS, Director of 
Engineering 

-10-



 

 

 

  

Exhibit A 

Scope of Services 



                     
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

                    
         

  
   
   

 
           

       
  

 
    

        
 

  
 

                  
              

             
 

                 
            

          
           

                
               

            
   

 
           

 
  

               
         

 
      

  
            

     
      

 
               

          

LUMOS 
& ASSOCIATES 

EXHIBIT A 
Carson City • El Dorado Hills • Fallon • Lake Tahoe • Reno www.LumosInc.com 

Reno 
950 Sandhill Road, Suite 100 
Reno, Nevada 89521 
775.827.6111 

July 3, 2024 

Amanda Callegari, P.E. LA24.474 
Engineering Manager 
RTC of Washoe County
1105 Terminal Way 
Reno, NV 89502 

Subject: Proposal for Engineering Services for the RTC Orange Book Update 

Dear Amanda: 

Lumos and Associates, Inc. is pleased to provide you with this proposal for Engineering Services in 
relation to the RTC Orange Book Update Process. 

Project Understanding 

The RTC has outlined a process to update and publish the new version of the Orange Book. The RTC 
has created a core group referred to as the Specifications Review Committee (SRC) consisting of the 
RTC, City of Reno, City of Sparks, and Washoe County. Lumos’ role will be an extension of this 
committee and will help the SRC in the planning, process, communication, coordination, compilation, 
and document control of this project. The goal and purpose of the project is to develop an updated 
and usable document intended for application on standard public works projects. Additional 
stakeholders will be identified, including other agencies, consultants, contractors, utilities, 
associations, and material suppliers, whom will have opportunities to review and provide feedback 
for possible inclusion into the revised document. The 2012 Revision 8 version of the Orange Book 
will be the baseline template of the update and will incorporate agreed upon specifications of the 
2016 Revision 9 version to establish a new baseline document to begin working through the update 
process. 

We propose the following tasks to assist you with your project: 

Project Scope 
The scope of work is based off the process outline provided by the RTC dated 5/23/2024. This 
process has been attached to this proposal. 

Task 1 – Project Management 
Management of the overall project will include scheduling of Lumos staff resources, coordinating with 
agencies, specifically RTC, City of Reno, City of Sparks, Washoe County, Agency liaisons, scheduling, 
invoicing, and general project administration. Detailed monthly invoices will be prepared to document 
work performed during the invoicing period. 

Lumos Project Manager will facilitate and assist in coordination of: Project Kick off meeting with the 
SRC, baseline document comment review, updated specification document comment review 

www.LumosInc.com


 
  

  
 

 

    
    

 
             
              

         
 

  
   

 
   

      
      

 
     
               

            
          

             
 

        
            
       
    
              

      
            
           

  
  

   
            

  
 

      
                

     
                

              
   

               
 

 
  

 
            

www.Lumoslnc.com 

Orange Book Update
July 3, 2024

Page 2 

meetings, and stakeholder comment review meetings with the SRC. Lumos will compile agendas and 
provide meeting minutes. 

Lumos Project Manager will keep the RTC Project Manager well informed of Project progress with bi-
weekly informal briefings via email or phone call. Formal progress meetings will be conducted monthly 
or as directed by the RTC Project Manager. 

Meetings with other stakeholders are not included in this Task and will be incorporated into Task 3 
and Task 4. 

Deliverables: 
• Various meeting agendas and minutes 
• Monthly invoices and summaries 

Task 2 – Develop Baseline Document 
Lumos will utilize the 2012 Rev. 8 and 2016 Rev. 9 versions of the Orange Book and any related or 
referenced documents and analyze and compare these specifications. Items which may be 
addressed for incorporation into the new baseline document are as follows: 
• Agreed upon specifications from 2016 Rev. 9 that provide benefit to remain in new baseline 

document 
• Outdated sections, gaps, or areas needing improvement 
• Updates to standards and best practices, without adding in specialty work 
• Advancements in technologies and methodologies 
• Potential policy changes 
• Known feedback from the SRC on common issues, areas of concern, or lessons learned from 

past projects (misapplication or misunderstandings of specs) 
• Expansion in content to address these issues or provide more guidance 
• Formatting and organization to improve useability (reorder sections, new sections, revising 

layout of information) 

Deliverables: 
• New baseline document with potential updates and improvements identified to advance to 

Task 3 

Task 3 – Specifications Outreach and Update 
For the select portions of the specifications identified for updates in Task 2, the SRC will prioritize 
those sections and determine which should move forward to be updated in this version and which 
can be held for future consideration. For the select sections that are prioritized to move forward, 
Lumos will reach out to stakeholders (SRC liaisons on the current Title Sheet of the Orange Book) to 
gather industry feedback on the prioritized list of updates. Once the feedback has been received, the 
updates may be re-prioritized, and a final list of updates will be brought to the SRC and liaisons for 
concurrence. 

Subcommittees will be created by the SRC for specific focused reviews based upon their expertise. 
Resources will be identified for possible inclusion in the Orange Book update, such as, recent 
specifications utilized by the SRC and upcoming NDOT Standard modifications. Detailed research will 



 
  

  
 

 

               
  

 
                 

   
          

 
 

   
          

 
            

 
 

         
    
          
          
               

 
 

    
            

           
              
              
              

             
  

 
 

    
          
          

 
     
              

          
             

               
               
      

 
    
       
            

 

www.Lumoslnc.com 

Orange Book Update
July 3, 2024

Page 3 

be performed to ensure any updates are based on the latest standards, technologies, and best 
practices. 

The updates will be drafted clearly and concisely and adhere to the format and style guidelines of 
the new baseline document established in Task 2. This will allow for a smoother review of the drafted 
updates by the SRC for feedback on the revisions. 

Once the SRC members have provided feedback, the SRC core will collaborate to address any 
discrepancies, concerns, or conflicts as well as any cooperation required with SRC liaisons and key 
industry partners to reach a consensus on the proposed updates. 

Once consensus is reached, the draft updates will be formally approved. 

Deliverables: 
• Document with a summary of the prioritized list of updates 
• Compiled feedback matrices 
• Draft update document utilizing new baseline document style and format 
• Approved updated baseline document to advance to Task 4 
• Three (3) presentations will be prepared and conducted with the SRC team as part of the 

Roadshow efforts 

Task 4 – Stakeholder Vetting 
The approved updated baseline document will then be provided to additional stakeholders, 
including other external agencies, consultants, contractors, utilities, public works associations, and 
material suppliers. A draft of the new document will be provided for review and feedback. This 
feedback will be collected and compiled for the SRC review. If agreed upon, the comments, 
concerns, and suggestions will be addressed and incorporated into the revised draft document. A 
final review will be performed by the SRC core and eventual adoption of the new Orange Book 
update. 

Deliverables: 
• Compiled feedback matrices 
• Revised update document incorporating approved changes by the SRC Core 
• Approved revised baseline document to advance to Task 5 

Task 5 – Finalize and Publish Update 
Once the SRC core adopts the Orange Book Update, Lumos will develop and provide a change 
summary report of the compiled documented changes made, including rationale, stakeholder 
feedback, and SRC commentary. The final document will be published to the designated platforms 
and distributed to the SRC liaisons. The detailed summary report will be shared with all relevant 
parties and other stakeholders. A presentation will be created that can be distributed to ensure 
smooth adoption of the updated specifications. 
Deliverables: 
• Change Summary Report 
• Final version of the Orange Book Update 
• Two (2) presentations will be prepared and conducted with the SRC team 



 
  

  
 

 

 
    

               
             

               
             

                
         

 
  

          
                   
              

       
             

  
                  

 
 

     
           

 
   

     
      
       
     
       
     

  
 

 
              

    
     
      
     
      
      

 
             

   
                
                 

                   
                 

www.Lumoslnc.com 

Orange Book Update
July 3, 2024

Page 4 

Task 6 - Contingency (OPTIONAL) 
This task is a contingency for miscellaneous increases within the scope of this contract in the 
performance of services under Tasks 1 through 5 if authorized. If Lumos determines that it is 
necessary to perform work to be paid out of contingency, Lumos will provide a letter detailing the 
need, scope, and not-to-exceed budget for any proposed work. Work under this task shall proceed 
only with the RTC Project Manager’s prior written approval. Work will be performed on a time and 
materials basis in accordance with Lumos’ fee schedule. 

Assumptions / Exceptions 
Lumos has made the following assumptions in preparation of this proposal: 

• RTC to provide word documents for the 2012 Rev. 8 & 2016 Rev. 9 versions of Orange Book 
• If reviewing agencies exceed the allotted time for document review and feedback, the 

schedule may need to be adjusted accordingly. 
• Five (5) presentations will be prepared and conducted along with RTC and other SRC 

members 
• The NTP will be after approval of the contract at the August 16th, 2024, Board Meeting. 

Fees 
The tasks described in the Scope of Work will be completed on a time and materials basis and will 
not exceed the following amounts without approval of an amendment from the Client: 

Task Description Fee 
Task 1 Project Management $66,200 
Task 2 Develop Baseline Document $60,800 
Task 3 Specifications Outreach and Update $65,600 
Task 4 Stakeholder Vetting $50,050 
Task 5 Finalize and Publish Update $25,550 
Task 6 Contingency (OPTIONAL) $15,000 

Total: $283,200 

Schedule 
Reference the attached modified schedule based upon the draft schedule provided by RTC. 
NTP: August 17, 2024 
Task 1 completion: Duration of the Project 
Task 2 completion: October 17, 2024 
Task 3 completion: September 25, 2025 
Task 4 completion: February 5, 2026 
Task 5 completion: February 27, 2026 

If this proposal is acceptable, please provide an executed purchase order. Any additional services 
requested but not covered by this Scope of Work can be provided by an amendment to this proposal. 
Lumos and Associates, Inc. will send monthly progress billings on this project. The amount of these 
billings will be based upon the percentage of work completed. The terms are ‘Due Upon Receipt’ 
and accounts are past due after 30 days. Accounts over 30 days old will be subject to interest at the 
rate of 1 ½% per month and such collection action as may be necessary to collect the account. 



 
  

  
 

 

                   
         

 
                  

       
 

 
 
 
 

      
             

         
 

       

www.Lumosinc.com 

Orange Book Update
July 3, 2024

Page 5 

In addition, a “Stop Work Order” may be issued on past due accounts. In this case, no further work 
will be performed until the account is brought current. 

Thank you again for allowing Lumos and Associates to provide you with this proposal. Please do not 
hesitate to call me if you have questions. 

Sincerely, 

_________________________ _________________________ 
Dan Stucky, P.E. 
Group Manager 

Tim Russell, P.E., WRS 
Director 

Encl: RTC Process dated 5/23/2024, and modified schedule 



  

 

   

    

         
 

    

    

    
 

     
     

       
   

    
      

  

   
 

 

 
        

    
           

 

        
  

   

   
      

        
      

 

 

   

STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC WORKS 
CONSTRUCTION (ORANGE BOOK) UPDATE PROCESS 05/23/2024 

Step 1: Establish the Review Team (SRC) 

1.1 Iden�fy Key Par�cipants 

• Iden�fy core members for Specifica�ons Review Commitee (SRC) from public agencies that will 
be impacted by or have a stake in the specifica�ons update. 
o RTC – Amanda Callegari (SRC Lead), o Washoe County – Janelle Thomas, Michon 

Jeff Wilbrecht Reede, Mitchell Fink 
o City of Sparks – Bob Schricker o City of Reno – Hans Meyer, Khalil Wilson 

• Iden�fy other public agencies/jurisdic�ons that will be impacted by or have a stake in the 
specifica�ons update and iden�fy point of contacts who will serve as SRC liaisons through the 
update process. These will include en��es iden�fied on Orange Book �tle sheet. 

• Iden�fy key industry partners (i.e. agreed upon consultants, AGC representa�ves, etc.) who will 
provide benefit and exper�se in the update process. 

1.2 Define Roles and Responsibili�es: 

• Assign roles (Team Leaders, Subject Mater Experts (SMEs), Document Managers, etc.) 
• Clarify the specific responsibili�es of each member. 

1.3 SRC Ini�al Mee�ng: 

• Ini�al mee�ng to discuss the scope, objec�ves, and �meline of the update process. 
• Establish a communica�on plan for regular updates and mee�ngs. 
• Define main goals of update. 

o Develop an updated and usable document intended for applica�on on standard public 
works projects. 

1.4 Consultant Procurement: 

• Begin procurement of consultant to support the RTC through update process. 
o Consultant will help in the planning, process, communica�on, coordina�on, compila�on, 

and documenta�on control. 

1.5 SRC Agency Kick-off Mee�ng: 

• A�er re-baseline document is complete and the SRC has iden�fied necessary changes and 
improvements, a kick-off mee�ng will be held with all impacted public agencies, consultant, and 
key industry partners with a stake in the specifica�on update. Kick-off mee�ng intent is to 
discuss goals, schedule, process for input and gathering feedback. 

• No�fy public works associa�ons of process commencement. 

Step 2: Develop Baseline Documents 

2.1 Gather Exis�ng Documents: 

• Collect the current available versions of the specifica�ons. 

1 | P a  g  e  



  

 

     
 

   

   

 
     
    

   
     

   
 

 
  

 
  

  

      

   

      
   

     

  
 

  
        

  

  

     
 

  

STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC WORKS 
CONSTRUCTION (ORANGE BOOK) UPDATE PROCESS 05/23/2024 

• Gather any related documents and previous update records. 
• Iden�fy baseline document (Orange Book 2012 v8) 

2.2 Review and Analyze: 

• Analyze/compare the exis�ng specifica�ons (2012 v8 and 2016) 
• Iden�fy specifica�ons from 2016 that provide benefit to incorpora�on in re-baseline document. 
• Re-baseline: Update 2012 v8 with agreed upon specifica�ons from 2016. 
• Iden�fy outdated sec�ons, gaps, or areas needing improvement. 
• Iden�fy changes for considera�on including: 

o Updates to standards and best prac�ces 
o Advancements in technologies and methodologies (materials, ITS, etc.) 
o Any known policy changes? 
o Gather feedback from the current users of the document to understand common issues, 

areas of concern, or lessons learned from past projects (misapplica�on or 
misunderstandings of specs). 

o Expansion in content to address issues or provide more guidance. 
o Forma�ng and organiza�on to improve useability (reorder sec�ons, new sec�ons, 

revising layout of informa�on 

Step 3: Select Specifica�ons Needing Update 

3.1 Create a List: 

• SRC to create a comprehensive list of specifica�ons iden�fied for update. 
• SRC to priori�ze the list based on impact, urgency, and resources available. 

o Changes to be incorporated in this update. 
o Changes for future considera�on. 

3.2 Vet and Finalize the List: 

• Perform stakeholder (AGC, BANN, Consultant) outreach “Roadshow” to gather key industry 
partner feedback on priori�zed list of updates. 

• A�er outreach reanalyze priori�za�on 
• Review final list of updates and get concurrence from SRC liaisons. 

Step 4: Research and Dra� Updates 

4.1 Subcommitee Development: 

• Assign specific sec�ons or topics to SRC team members based on their exper�se. 
• SRC will help in the development of subcommitees. 

4.2 Conduct Research: 

2 | P a  g  e  



  

 

   

  

      
   

  

  

  

 

  

     
      

  

  

   

  

  
      

   

 

  

      
 

   

STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC WORKS 
CONSTRUCTION (ORANGE BOOK) UPDATE PROCESS 05/23/2024 

• Perform detailed research to ensure updates are based on the latest standards, technologies, 
and best prac�ces. 

• Coordinate with industry SMEs. 

4.3 Dra� Updates: 

• Dra� the proposed updates clearly and concisely. 
• Ensure that each dra� adheres to the format and style guidelines of the Re-baselined document. 

Step 5: Reach Concurrence on Updates 

5.1 Internal Review: 

• Share the dra� updates with the core review team for ini�al feedback and revisions. 

5.2 Collabora�on: 

• Collaborate closely to address any discrepancies, concerns, or conflicts with exis�ng 
specifica�ons. 

• Cooperate with SRC liaisons and key industry partners. 
• Reach a consensus on the proposed updates. 

5.3 Approval: 

• Once consensus is reached, formally approve the updated dra�s within the core review team. 

Step 6: Vet Updates with Stakeholders 

6.1 Iden�fy Stakeholders: 

• Iden�fy all relevant stakeholders, including other external agencies, consultants, contractors, 
u�li�es, public works associa�ons, materials suppliers, etc. 

6.2 Distribute Dra�s: 

• Distribute the dra� updates to the iden�fied stakeholders for review and feedback. 

6.3 Collect Feedback: 

• Collect and compile feedback from all stakeholders (AGC, BANN, Consultants, APWA, ASCE). 
• Address any comments, concerns, or sugges�ons. 

6.4 Revise Dra�s: 

3 | P a  g  e  



  

 

 

   

  

   

  

   

  

    
 

  

    

          

   

        

   

        

  

   

 
 

 

    

    
 

STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC WORKS 
CONSTRUCTION (ORANGE BOOK) UPDATE PROCESS 05/23/2024 

• Revise the dra� updates based on stakeholder feedback. 

Step 7: Final Review and Approval 

7.1 Final Review: 

• Conduct a final review of the revised dra�s within the core review team. 

7.2 Approval Process: 

• SRC members agree on adop�on of Orange Book update. 

7.3 Document Changes: 

• Document all changes made, including ra�onale and stakeholder feedback. 
• Develop a change summary report. 

Step 8: Publish and Communicate Updates 

8.1 Publish Updated Document: 

• Publish the updated specifica�ons document in the designated format and pla�orms. 

8.2 Communicate Changes: 

• Communicate the changes to all relevant par�es and stakeholders, including detailed 
summaries. 

8.3 Training and Support: 

• Provide presenta�ons to support and ensure smooth adop�on of the updated specifica�ons. 

Step 9: Monitor and Review 

9.1 Monitor Implementa�on and Feedback: 

• Monitor the implementa�on of the updated specifica�ons to ensure compliance and iden�fy 
any issues. 

• Establish process for feedback and collec�on of input from users and stakeholders. 

9.2 Plan for Future Updates: 

• Keep records of feedback and start planning for the next update cycle (every 5 years) to ensure 
the document remains current and relevant. 

4 | P a  g  e  



 

Exhibit B 

Schedule 



Exhibit B

ID Task 
Mode 

Task Name Duration Start 

1 Establish Review Team 72 days Thu 5/23/24 

2 SRC Initial Meeting 1 day Thu 5/23/24 

3 Consultant Procurement 40 days Fri 6/21/24 

4 Consultant Kickoff 1 day Fri 8/16/24 

5 Identify Industry Partners 10 days Fri 8/16/24 

6 SRC/SRC Liaison Kick-Off 1 day Fri 8/30/24 

7 Develop Baseline Document 45 days Fri 8/16/24 

8 Gather Existing Documents / Establish 
SRC Liaisons 

1 day Fri 8/16/24 

9 Re-Baseline 2012 v8 45 days Fri 8/16/24 

10 Review and Analyze 95 days Fri 10/18/24 

11 Identify changes and improvements 45 days Fri 10/18/24 

12 Create list of of specs to update 5 days Fri 12/20/24 

13 Prioritize changes 5 days Fri 12/27/24 

14 Industry Partner Kick-Off/Feedback 20 days Fri 1/3/25 

15 Develop consensus on changes 20 days Fri 1/31/25 

16 Research and Draft Updates 105 days Fri 2/28/25 

17 Subcommittee Development 5 days Fri 2/28/25 

18 Research and Coordination 80 days Fri 3/7/25 

19 Draft Updates 80 days Fri 4/4/25 

20 Roadshow 80 days Fri 3/7/25 

21 Concurrence on Updates 45 days Fri 7/25/25 

22 Internal Review 20 days Fri 7/25/25 

23 Address concerns and conflicts 15 days Fri 8/22/25 

24 Approve Updates 10 days Fri 9/12/25 

25 Vet Updates with Stakeholders 95 days Fri 9/26/25 

26 Compile Updates with Re-Baseline 15 days Fri 9/26/25 

27 Stakeholder Review and Comment 60 days Fri 10/17/25 

28 Draft Revisions 20 days Fri 1/9/26 

29 Final Document Compilation 15 days Fri 2/6/26 

30 Change Summary Report 15 days Fri 2/6/26 

31 Publish Updated Orange Book 1 day Fri 2/27/26 

SRC Initial Meeting 

Consultant Procurement 

Consultant Kickoff 

Identify Industry Partners 

SRC/SRC Liaison Kick-Off 

Gather Existing Documents / Establish SRC Liaisons 

Re-Baseline 2012 v8 

Identify changes and improvements 

Create list of of specs to update 

Prioritize changes 

Industry Partner Kick-Off/Feedback 

Develop consensus on changes 

Subcommittee Development 

Research and Coordination 

Draft Updates 

Roadshow 

Internal Review 

Address concerns and conflicts 

Approve Updates 

Compile Updates with Re-Baseline 

Stakeholder Review and Comment 

Draft Revisions 

Final Document Compilation 

Change Summary Report 

Publish Updated Orange Book 

121926 2 9 162330 7 142128 4 111825 1 8 152229 6 132027 3 101724 1 8 152229 5 121926 2 9 1623 2 9 162330 6 132027 4 111825 1 8 152229 6 132027 3 10172431 7 142128 5 121926 2 9 162330 7 142128 4 111825 1 8 1522 1 8 152229 5 121926 3 10172431 7 1421 
y '24 Jun '24 Jul '24 Aug '24 Sep '24 Oct '24 Nov '24 Dec '24 Jan '25 Feb '25 Mar '25 Apr '25 May '25 Jun '25 Jul '25 Aug '25 Sep '25 Oct '25 Nov '25 Dec '25 Jan '26 Feb '26 Mar '26 Apr '26 May '26 Jun '26 

Task 

Split 

Milestone 

Summary 

Project Summary 

Inactive Task 

Inactive Milestone 

Inactive Summary 

Manual Task 

Duration-only 

Manual Summary Rollup 

Manual Summary 

Start-only 

Finish-only 

External Tasks 

External Milestone 

Deadline 

Critical 

Critical Split 

Progress 

Manual Progress 

Project: Orange Book Update Process Schedule 
Date: Wed 7/31/24 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

~ 

~ 

~ 

~ 

.,t-

~ ~ 

I---

♦ 

[ 

] 

~--L 

Page 1 



 

Exhibit C 

Fees 



Fee Schedule 
Exhibit C-1 

Engineering Per Hour 
Director $295 
Group Manager 280 
Project / Senior Project Manager 235/250 
Staff / Project / Senior Engineer 185/200/215 
Project / Senior Project Coordinator 180/190 
Project / Senior Project Designer 160/170 
Engineering Technician I / II / III 110/140/150 

Construction/Testing/Inspection Per Hour 
Director $295 
Materials Engineering Manager 255 
Senior Project Manager 250 
Geotechnical Engineer 200 
Senior Project Coordinator 190 
Geotechnician 170 
Inspector / Senior Inspector 155/160 
Construction Technician II /III 130/140 
Materials Technician II / III 120/130 

Surveying Per Hour 
Director $295 
Project Manager 235 
Photogrammetry Manager 190 

Administrative Per Hour 

 
 

  
  

 
 

 

      
 

 
    

    
    

    
      

 
     

 
   

   
  

   
 

    
    

      
 

     
 

 
  

 
      

  

LUMOS 
& ASSOCIATES 

Administrative Support $125 



 RTC Orange Book Update 
Fee Breakdown - Exhibit C-2 

DATE: 7/3/2024

 BUDGET ESTIMATE 
MANAGEMENT ENGINEERING ADMIN OTHER TOTALS 

FEE 
TITLE 

$280 $250 $215 $190 $150 $125 
GROUP SR. PROJECT SR. PROJECT SR. PROJECT ENGR ADMINISTRATOR CONTINGENCYTASK MANAGER MANAGER ENGINEER COORDINATOR TECH III TOTAL 

1 - Project Management 
Sub Total Hrs. 40 220 260 

Sub Total $ $11,200 $55,000 $66,200 
2 - Develop Baseline Document 

Sub Total Hrs. 10 30 120 30 110 20 320 
Sub Total $ $2,800 $7,500 $25,800 $5,700 $16,500 $2,500 $60,800 

3 - Specifications Outreach and Update 
Sub Total Hrs. 40 75 70 40 70 20 315 

Sub Total $ $11,200 $18,750 $15,050 $7,600 $10,500 $2,500 $65,600 
4 - Stakeholder Vetting 

Sub Total Hrs. 10 45 20 80 110 265 
Sub Total $ $2,800 $11,250 $4,300 $15,200 $16,500 $50,050 

5 - Finalize and Publish Update 
Sub Total Hrs. 10 30 50 30 10 130 

Sub Total $ $2,800 $7,500 $9,500 $4,500 $1,250 $25,550 
6 - Contingency (OPTIONAL) 

Sub Total Hrs. 
Sub Total $ $15,000 $15,000 

Total Hrs. 110 400 210 200 320 50 1290 
TOTAL DESIGN SERVICES $30,800 $100,000 $45,150 $38,000 $48,000 $6,250 $15,000 $283,200 

Page 1 of 1 



  Exhibit D 

Indemnification and Insurance Requirements 



 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  

 

 

 
 

 

 

ATTACHMENT D 

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENTS 

[NRS 338 DESIGN PROFESSIONAL] 
2022-07-08 Version 

1. INTRODUCTION 

IT IS HIGHLY RECOMMENDED THAT CONSULTANTS CONFER WITH THEIR 
INSURANCE CARRIERS OR BROKERS TO DETERMINE THE AVAILABILITY OF THESE 
INSURANCE CERTIFICATES AND ENDORSEMENTS IN ADVANCE OF PROPOSAL 
SUBMISSION.  IF THERE ARE ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THESE INSURANCE 
REQUIREMENTS, IT IS RECOMMENDED THAT THE AGENT/BROKER CONTACT 
RTC’S FINANCE DIRECTOR AT (775) 332-9511. 

2. INDEMNIFICATION 

CONSULTANT agrees, subject to the limitations in Nevada Revised Statutes Section 338.155, to 
save and hold harmless and fully indemnify RTC, including their elected officials, officers, 
employees, and agents (hereafter, “Indemnitees”) from and against any and all claims, 
proceedings, actions, liability and damages, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and defense costs 
incurred in any action or proceeding (collectively “Damages”) arising out of the: 

A. Negligence, errors, omissions, recklessness or intentional misconduct of CONSULTANT 
or CONSULTANT’s agents, employees, officers, directors, subconsultants, or anyone else 
for whom CONSULTANT may be legally responsible, which are based upon or arising 
out of the professional services of CONSULTANT; and 

B. Violation of law or any contractual provisions or any infringement related to trade names, 
licenses, franchises, patents or other means of protecting interests in products or inventions 
resulting from the use by the Indemnitees of any materials, devices, processes, equipment, 
or other deliverable (including software) supplied by CONSULTANT under or as a result 
of this Agreement, but excluding any violation or infringement resulting from the 
modification or alteration by the Indemnitees of any materials, devices, processes, 
equipment, or other deliverable (including software) not consented to by CONSULTANT. 

CONSULTANT further agrees to defend, save and hold harmless and fully indemnify the 
Indemnitees from and against any and all Damages arising out the negligence, errors, omissions, 
recklessness or intentional misconduct of CONSULTANT or CONSULTANT’s agents, 
employees, officers, directors, subconsultants, or anyone else for whom CONSULTANT may be 
legally responsible, which are not based upon or arising out of the professional services of 
CONSULTANT. 

The Damages shall include, but are not limited to, those resulting from personal injury to any 
person, including bodily injury, sickness, disease or death and injury to real property or personal 
property, tangible or intangible, and the loss of use of any of that property, whether or not it is 
physically injured. 



 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

  

If the Indemnitees are involved in defending actions of CONSULTANT or anyone else for whom 
CONSULTANT is legally responsible, CONSULTANT shall reimburse the Indemnitees for the 
time spent by such personnel at the rate of the Indemnitees pay or compensation for such services. 

If an Indemnitee is found to be liable in the proceeding, then CONSULTANT’S obligation 
hereunder shall be limited to the proportional share of the liability attributed to CONSULTANT. 

In determining whether a claim is subject to indemnification, the incident underlying the claim 
shall determine the nature of the claim. 

In the event of a violation or an infringement under paragraph 2.B above and the use is enjoined, 
CONSULTANT, at its sole expense, shall either (1) secure for the Indemnitees the right to continue 
using the materials by suspension of any injunction or by procuring a license or licenses for the 
Indemnitees; or (2) modify the materials so that they become non-infringing. This covenant shall 
survive the termination of the Professional Services Agreement. 

The provisions of this Agreement are separate and severable and it is the intent of the Parties hereto 
that in the event any provision of this Agreement should be determined by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void, voidable or too restrictive for any reason whatsoever, the remaining 
provisions of this Agreement shall remain valid and binding upon said Parties. It is also understood 
and agreed that in the event any provision should be considered, by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, to be void because it imposes a greater obligation on CONSULTANT than is 
permitted by law, such court may reduce and reform such provisions to limitations which are 
deemed reasonable and enforceable by said court. 

3. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

Prior to the start of any work on a RTC project, CONSULTANT shall purchase and maintain 
insurance of the types and limits as described below insuring against claims for injuries to persons 
or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the work 
hereunder by CONSULTANT, its subconsultants, or their employees, agents, or representatives. 
The cost of all such insurance shall be borne by CONSULTANT. 

4. VERIFICATION OF COVERAGE 

CONSULTANT shall furnish RTC with a certificate(s) of insurance, executed by a duly authorized 
representative of each insurer, showing compliance with the insurance requirements set forth 
herein, on forms acceptable to RTC. All deductibles and self-insured retentions requiring RTC 
approval shall be shown on the certificate.  All certificates and endorsements are to be addressed 
to RTC’s Finance Director and be received by RTC before work commences.  Upon request, 
CONSULTANT agrees that RTC has the right to review CONSULTANT’S and the Sub’s 
insurance policies, or certified copies of the policies. Copies of applicable policy forms or 
endorsements confirming required additional insured, waiver of subrogation and notice of 
cancellation provisions are required to be provided with any certificate(s) evidencing the required 
coverage. 

2 



 
 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

  
 

 

 

  

5. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION 

CONSULTANT or its insurers shall provide at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice to RTC 
prior to the cancellation or non-renewal of any insurance required under this Agreement. An 
exception may be included to provide at least ten (10) days’ written notice if cancellation is due to 
non-payment of premium. CONSULTANT shall be responsible to provide prior written notice to 
RTC as soon as practicable upon receipt of any notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in 
required limits or other material change in the insurance required under this Agreement. 

6. SUBCONSULTANTS & SUBCONTRACTORS 

CONSULTANT shall include all Subcontractors and Subconsultants (referred to collectively as 
“Subs”) as insureds under its liability policies OR shall cause Subs employed by CONSULTANT 
to purchase and maintain separate liability coverages and limits of the types specified herein. If 
any Subs maintain separate liability coverages and limits, each shall include the RTC as additional 
insured under its commercial general liability policy, subject to the same requirements stated 
herein, without requiring a written contract or agreement between each of the additional insureds 
and any sub-consultant or sub-contractor. Any separate coverage limits of liability maintained by 
Subs shall be at least $1,000,000 per occurrence and at least $2,000,000 for any applicable 
coverage aggregates or the amount customarily carried by the Sub, whichever is GREATER.  If 
any Subs provide their own insurance with limits less than required of the Contractor, Contractor 
shall include Subs in their coverage up to the full limits required of the Contractor.  When requested 
by RTC, CONSULTANT shall furnish copies of certificates of insurance evidencing coverage for 
each subconsultant. CONSULTANT need not require its non-design subcontractors to carry 
Professional Errors and Omissions Liability insurance. 

7. DEDUCTIBLES AND SELF-INSURED RETENTIONS 

Any deductibles or self-insured retentions that exceed $25,000 per occurrence or claim must be 
declared to RTC’s Finance Director prior to signing this Agreement. RTC is entitled to request 
and receive additional documentation, financial or otherwise, prior to giving its approval of the 
deductibles and self-insured retentions. Any changes to the deductibles or self-insured retentions 
made during the term of this Agreement or during the term of any policy must be declared to 
RTC’s Finance Director prior to the change taking effect. 

8. ACCEPTABILITY OF INSURERS 

Required insurance is to be placed with insurers with a Best's rating of no less than A-VII and 
acceptable to RTC. RTC may accept coverage with carriers having lower Best's ratings upon 
review of financial information concerning CONSULTANT and the insurance carrier.  RTC 
reserves the right to require that CONSULTANT'S insurer(s) be licensed and admitted in the State 
of Nevada or meet any applicable state and federal laws and regulations for non-admitted insurance 
placements. 

3 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

9. OTHER CONDITIONS 

A. Failure to furnish the required certificate(s) or failure to maintain the required insurance 
may result in termination of this Agreement at RTC’s option. 

B. If CONSULTANT fails to furnish the required certificate or fails to maintain the required 
insurance as set forth herein, RTC shall have the right, but not the obligation, to purchase 
said insurance at CONSULTANT's expense. 

C. Any waiver of CONSULTANT's obligation to furnish such certificate or maintain such 
insurance must be in writing and signed by an authorized representative of RTC. Failure 
of RTC to demand such certificate or other evidence of full compliance with these 
insurance requirements or failure of RTC to identify a deficiency from evidence that is 
provided shall not be construed as a waiver of CONSULTANT's obligation to maintain 
such insurance, or as a waiver as to the enforcement of any of these provisions at a later 
date. 

D. By requiring insurance herein, RTC does not represent that coverage and limits will 
necessarily be adequate to protect CONSULTANT, and such coverage and limits shall not 
be deemed as a limitation on CONSULTANT's liability under the indemnities granted to 
RTC in this contract. 

E. If CONSULTANT’S liability policies do not contain the standard ISO separation of 
insureds condition, or a substantially similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide 
cross-liability coverage. 

10. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY 

CONSULTANT shall maintain commercial general liability (CGL) and, if necessary, commercial 
umbrella insurance with a limit of not less than $2,000,000 each occurrence. If such CGL insurance 
contains a general aggregate limit, it shall be increased to equal twice the required occurrence limit 
or revised to apply separately to this project. 

CGL insurance shall be written on ISO occurrence form CG 00 01 04 13 (or a substitute form 
providing equivalent coverage) and shall cover liability arising from premises, operations, 
products-completed operations, personal and advertising injury, and liability assumed under an 
insured contract (including the tort liability of another assumed in a business contract). 

RTC and any other Indemnitees listed in Section 2. INDEMNIFICATION of this Agreement shall 
be included as an additional insured under the CGL, using ISO additional insured endorsement 
CG 20 10 07/04 or CG 20 33 07/04 or a substitute providing equivalent coverage, and under the 
commercial umbrella, if any. 

This insurance shall apply as primary insurance with respect to any other insurance or self-
insurance programs afforded to RTC or any other Indemnitees under this Agreement. 

4 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

CONSULTANT waives all rights against RTC and any other Indemnitees listed in section 2. 
INDEMNIFICATION of this Agreement for recovery of damages to the extent these damages are 
covered by the commercial general liability or commercial umbrella liability insurance maintained 
pursuant to this agreement. CONSULTANT’s insurer shall endorse CGL policy to waive 
subrogation against RTC with respect to any loss paid under the policy. 

11. COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY 

CONSULTANT shall maintain automobile liability and, if necessary, commercial umbrella 
liability insurance with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 each accident. Such insurance shall 
cover liability arising out of any auto (including owned, hired, and non-owned autos). 

Coverage shall be written on ISO form CA 00 01, CA 00 05, CA 00 25, or a substitute form 
providing equivalent liability coverage for all owned, leased, hired (rented) and non-owned 
vehicles (as applicable). RTC may agree to accept auto liability for non-owned and hired (rented) 
vehicles under the CGL if CONSULTANT does not own or operate any owned or leased vehicles. 

CONSULTANT waives all rights against RTC, its officers, employees and volunteers for recovery 
of damages to the extent these damages are covered by the automobile liability or commercial 
umbrella liability insurance obtained by CONSULTANT pursuant to this Agreement. 

12. INDUSTRIAL (WORKER’S COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYER’S LIABILITY) 
INSURANCE 

It is understood and agreed that there shall be no Industrial (Worker’s Compensation and 
Employer’s Liability) Insurance coverage provided for CONSULTANT or any subconsultants by 
RTC. CONSULTANT, and any subconsultants, shall procure, pay for and maintain the required 
coverages. 

CONSULTANT shall maintain workers’ compensation and employer’s liability insurance meeting 
the statutory requirements of the State of Nevada, including but not limited to NRS 616B.627 and 
NRS 617.210. The employer’s liability limits shall not be less than $1,000,000 each accident for 
bodily injury by accident or $1,000,000 each employee for bodily injury by disease. 

CONSULTANT shall provide a Final Certificate for itself and each subconsultant evidencing that 
CONSULTANT and each subconsultant maintained workers’ compensation and employer’s 
liability insurance throughout the entire course of the project. 

If CONSULTANT, or any subconsultant is a sole proprietor, coverage for the sole proprietor must 
be purchased and evidence of coverage must appear on the Certificate of Insurance and Final 
Certificate. 

CONSULTANT waives all rights against RTC, its elected officials, officers, employees and agents 
for recovery of damages to the extent these damages are covered by the workers compensation and 
employer’s liability or commercial umbrella liability insurance obtained by Tenant pursuant to this 
agreement. CONSULTANT shall obtain an endorsement equivalent to WC 00 03 13 to affect this 
waiver. 

5 



 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

13. PROFESSIONAL ERRORS AND OMISSIONS LIABILITY 

CONSULTANT shall maintain professional liability insurance applying to liability for a 
professional error, omission, or negligent act arising out of the scope of CONSULTANT’S 
services provided under this Agreement with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 each claim and 
annual aggregate. CONSULTANT shall maintain professional liability insurance during the term 
of this Agreement and, if coverage is provided on a “claims made” or “claims made and reported” 
basis, shall maintain coverage or purchase an extended reporting period for a period of at least 
three (3) years following the termination of this Agreement. 

6 



  

 

 

   
  

  
 

 

  

 
 

  
   

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.4.3

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: LaShonn Ford, Project Manager

  SUBJECT: Sparks Boulevard / Ion Drive Traffic Signal Project PSA 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve a contract with Headway Transportation, LLC for design and optional engineering during 
construction services (EDC) for the Sparks Boulevard / Ion Drive Traffic Signal Project, and to perform 
various traffic studies, in an amount not-to-exceed $449,300. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

This Professional Services Agreement (PSA) with Headway Transportation, LLC, is for professional 
design services for the Sparks Boulevard/Ion Drive Traffic Signal Project in the amount of $183,140, 
optional engineering during construction services (EDC) in the amount of $140,300, and various traffic 
studies in the amount of $95,860. Project contingency in the amount of $30,000 is also included in the 
agreement. The project includes the design and construction of a new traffic signal on Sparks Boulevard 
at the Ion Drive/Sawgrass Lane intersection in order to improve safety and traffic operations. Additionally, 
Headway Transportation, LLC will perform traffic studies at several locations in order to identify possible 
future traffic engineering improvements. 

Headway Transportation, LLC, was selected from the qualified Traffic Engineering Design and 
Construction Management Services list to perform engineering, construction management, and quality 
assurance. Headway Transportation's scope, schedule, and budget indicated the amount for design services 
is within the appropriated budget. 

 Design Kickoff: September 2024 
 50% Design Submittal:  January 2025 
 100% Design Submittal:  May 2025 
 Construction:  Fall 2025 



  

 
   

Sparks Boulevard / Ion Drive Traffic Signal Project PSA 
Page 2 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Fuel tax appropriations for this item are included in the FY 2025 budget. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

12/17/2021 Authorized the procurement of a qualified list of consultants to provide civil engineering, 
design, and construction management services for the Traffic Engineering Program and the 
Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Program. 



 

 
 

 
 

           
   

  
 

 
 

   
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

  
      

 
 

    
 

 
    

  
   

  
 

  
  

 
  

 
    

  
 
 

 
  

AGREEMENT 
FOR 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

This agreement (this “Agreement”) is dated and effective as of , 2024, by and 
between the Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County (“RTC”) and Headway 
Transportation, LLC (“CONSULTANT”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, RTC has selected CONSULTANT from the 22-07 Traffic Engineering Design and 
Construction Management Services shortlist to perform engineering design, Engineering During 
Construction (EDC), and traffic studies in connection with the SPARKS / ION TRAFFIC SIGNAL 
PROJECT. 

NOW, THEREFORE, RTC and CONSULTANT, in consideration of the mutual covenants and 
other consideration set forth herein, do hereby agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1 – TERM AND ENGAGEMENT 

1.1. The term of this Agreement shall be from the date first written above through June 30, 
2026, unless terminated at an earlier date, or extended to a later date, pursuant to the 
provisions herein. 

1.2. CONSULTANT will perform the work using the project team identified in Exhibit B. Any 
changes to the project team must be approved by RTC’s Project Manager. 

1.3. CONSULTANT will promptly, diligently and faithfully execute the work to completion in 
accordance with applicable professional standards subject to any delays due to strikes, acts 
of God, act of any government, civil disturbances, or any other cause beyond the reasonable 
control of CONSULTANT. 

1.4. CONSULTANT shall not proceed with work until both parties have executed this 
Agreement and a purchase order has been issued to CONSULTANT.  If CONSULTANT 
violates that prohibition, CONSULTANT forfeits any and all right to reimbursement and 
payment for that work and waives any and all claims against RTC, its employees, agents, 
and affiliates, including but not limited to monetary damages, and any other remedy 
available at law or in equity arising under the terms of this Agreement. Furthermore, prior 
to execution and issuance of a purchase order, CONSULTANT shall not rely on the terms 
of this Agreement in any way, including but not limited to any written or oral 
representations, assurances or warranties made by RTC or any of its agents, employees or 
affiliates, or on any dates of performance, deadlines, indemnities, or any term contained in 
this Agreement or otherwise. 

-1-



 

 
    

 
  

 
   
 

   
 
   

 
 

  
 

  
  

    
 

 
  

 
       

   
 

   
  

 
   

  
 

 
  

 
    
 

 
  

 
 

 

 
  

  
 

 

ARTICLE 2 - SERVICES OF CONSULTANT 

2.1. SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The scope of services consist of the tasks set forth in Exhibit A. 

2.2. SCHEDULE OF SERVICES 

Tasks and subtasks shall be completed in accordance with the schedule in Exhibit A.  Any 
change(s) to the schedule must be approved by RTC’s Project Manager. 

2.3. CONTINGENCY 

Contingency line items identified in the scope of services are for miscellaneous increases 
within the scope of work.  Prior to the use of any contingency amounts, CONSULTANT 
shall provide a letter to RTC’s Project Manager detailing the need, scope, and not-to-
exceed budget for the proposed work.  Work to be paid for out of contingency shall proceed 
only with the RTC Project Manager’s written approval.  

2.4. OPTIONS 

RTC shall have the right to exercise its option(s) for all or any part of the optional tasks or 
subtasks identified in Exhibit A.  CONSULTANT will prepare and submit a detailed scope 
of services reflecting the specific optional services requested, a schedule for such services, 
and a cost proposal. RTC will review and approve the scope of services and RTC and 
CONSULTANT will discuss and agree upon compensation and a schedule. 
CONSULTANT shall undertake no work on any optional task without written notice to 
proceed with the performance of said task. RTC, at its sole option and discretion, may 
select another individual or firm to perform the optional tasks or subtasks identified in 
Exhibit A. 

2.5. ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

CONSULTANT will provide additional services when agreed to in writing by RTC and 
CONSULTANT. 

2.6. PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS 

Any and all design and engineering work furnished by CONSULTANT shall be performed 
by or under the supervision of persons licensed to practice architecture, engineering, or 
surveying (as applicable) in the State of Nevada, by personnel who are careful, skilled, 
experienced and competent in their respective trades or professions, who are professionally 
qualified to perform the work, and who shall assume professional responsibility for the 
accuracy and completeness of documents prepared or checked by them, in accordance with 
appropriate prevailing professional standards. Notwithstanding the provision of any 
drawings, technical specifications, or other data by RTC, CONSULTANT shall have the 

-2-



 

 
 

 
 

  

   
  

    
   

 
 

  

  
 

  
 

  
   

  
 

   
   

 
   

 
  

    
 

 
  

   
  

   
 

 
   

 
  

  
  

  
 

  
 

responsibility of supplying all items and details required for the deliverables required 
hereunder. 

Any sampling and materials testing shall be performed by an approved testing laboratory 
accredited by AASHTO or other ASTM recognized accrediting organization in the 
applicable test methods. If any geotechnical or materials testing is performed by a sub-
consultant, that laboratory shall maintain the required certification.  Proof of certification 
shall be provided to RTC with this Agreement.  If certification expires or is removed during 
the term of this Agreement, CONSULTANT shall notify RTC immediately, and propose a 
remedy.  If an acceptable remedy cannot be agreed upon by both parties, RTC may 
terminate this Agreement for default. 

CONSULTANT shall provide only Nevada Alliance for Quality Transportation 
Construction (NAQTC) qualified personnel to perform field and laboratory sampling and 
testing during the term of this Agreement.  All test reports shall be signed by a licensed 
NAQTC tester and notated with his/her license number. 

2.7. ERRORS AND OMISSIONS 

CONSULTANT shall, without additional compensation, correct or revise any deficiencies, 
errors, or omissions caused by CONSULTANT in its analysis, reports, and services. 
CONSULTANT also agrees that if any error or omission is found, CONSULTANT will 
expeditiously make the necessary correction, at no expense to RTC.  If an error or omission 
was directly caused by RTC, and not by CONSULTANT and RTC requires that such error 
or omission be corrected, CONSULTANT may be compensated for such additional work. 

ARTICLE 3 - COMPENSATION 

3.1. CONSULTANT shall be paid for hours worked at the hourly rates and rates for testing in 
Exhibit B.  RTC shall not be responsible for any other costs or expenses except as provided 
in Exhibit B.  

3.2. The maximum amount payable to CONSULTANT to complete each task is equal to the 
not-to-exceed amounts identified in Exhibit B.  CONSULTANT can request in writing 
that RTC’s Project Manager reallocate not-to-exceed amounts between tasks.  A request to 
reallocate not-to-exceed amounts must be accompanied with a revised fee schedule, and 
must be approved in writing by RTC’s Project Manager prior to performance of the work.  
In no case shall CONSULTANT be compensated in excess of the following not-to exceed 
amounts: 

Design Services $279,000.00 
Design Contingency $20,000.00 
Optional Engineering During Construction Services $140,300.00 
Engineering During Construction Services Contingency $10,000.00 

Total Not-to-Exceed Amount $449,300.00 

-3-

https://449,300.00
https://10,000.00
https://140,300.00
https://20,000.00
https://279,000.00


 

  
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

    
 
 
 
 

 
 

   
 

  
  

  
 

 
 

      
 

 
 

   
   

  
 

    
 

   
 

 
 

  
  

 
 

   
 

  
  

 
   

3.3. For any work authorized under Section 2.5, “Additional Services,” RTC and 
CONSULTANT will negotiate not-to-exceed amounts based on the standard hourly rates 
and rates for testing in Exhibit B.  Any work authorized under Section 2.5, “Additional 
Services,” when performed by persons who are not employees or individuals employed by 
affiliates of CONSULTANT, will be billed at a mutually agreed upon rate for such 
services, but not more than 105% of the amounts billed to CONSULTANT for such 
services. 

3.4. CONSULTANT shall receive compensation for preparing for and/or appearing in any 
litigation at the request of RTC, except: (1) if such litigation costs are incurred by 
CONSULTANT in defending its work or services or those of any of its sub-consultants; or 
(2) as may be required by CONSULTANT’s indemnification obligations.  Compensation 
for litigation services requested by RTC shall be paid at a mutually agreed upon rate and/or 
at a reasonable rate for such services. 

ARTICLE 4 - INVOICING 

4.1. CONSULTANT shall submit monthly invoices in the format specified by RTC.  Invoices 
must be submitted to accountspayable@rtcwashoe.com. RTC’s payment terms are 30 days 
after the receipt of the invoice.  Simple interest will be paid at the rate of half a percent 
(0.5%) per month on all invoices approved by RTC that are not paid within thirty (30) days 
of receipt of the invoice. 

4.2. RTC shall notify CONSULTANT of any disagreement with any submitted invoice for 
consulting services within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice.  Any amounts not in 
dispute shall be promptly paid by RTC. 

4.3. CONSULTANT shall maintain complete records supporting every request for payment 
that may become due.  Upon request, CONSULTANT shall produce all or a portion of its 
records and RTC shall have the right to inspect and copy such records. 

ARTICLE 5 - ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND PROPERTY 

5.1. Upon request and without cost to CONSULTANT, RTC will provide all pertinent 
information that is reasonably available to RTC including surveys, reports and any other 
data relative to design and construction. 

5.2. RTC will provide access to and make all provisions for CONSULTANT to enter upon RTC 
facilities and public lands, as required for CONSULTANT to perform its work under this 
Agreement. 

ARTICLE 6 - OWNERSHIP OF WORK 

6.1. Plans, reports, studies, tracings, maps, software, electronic files, licenses, programs, 
equipment manuals, and databases and other documents or instruments of service prepared 
or obtained by CONSULTANT in the course of performing work under this Agreement, 
shall be delivered to and become the property of RTC. Software already developed and 
purchased by CONSULTANT prior to the Agreement is excluded from this requirement. 

-4-

mailto:accountspayable@rtcwashoe.com


 

  
 

 
   

 
 

 
    

   
  

 
 

    
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

  
  
   

  

  
 

   
 

  
 

    
    

 
    

    
  

 
 

      
 

  
   

 
 
 

CONSULTANT and its sub-consultants shall convey and transfer all copyrightable 
interests, trademarks, licenses, and other intellectual property rights in such materials to 
RTC upon completion of all services under this Agreement and upon payment in full of all 
compensation due to CONSULTANT in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 
Basic survey notes, sketches, charts, computations and similar data prepared or obtained 
by CONSULTANT under this Agreement shall, upon request, also be provided to RTC. 

6.2. CONSULTANT represents that it has secured all necessary licenses, consents, or approvals 
to use the components of any intellectual property, including computer software, used in 
providing services under this Agreement, that it has full legal title to and the right to 
reproduce such materials, and that it has the right to convey such title and other necessary 
rights and interests to RTC. 

6.3. CONSULTANT shall bear all costs arising from the use of patented, copyrighted, trade 
secret, or trademarked materials, equipment, devices, or processes used on or incorporated 
in the services and materials produced under this Agreement. 

6.4. CONSULTANT agrees that all reports, communications, electronic files, databases, 
documents, and information that it obtains or prepares in connection with performing this 
Agreement shall be treated as confidential material and shall not be released or published 
without the prior written consent of RTC; provided, however, that CONSULTANT may 
refer to this scope of work in connection with its promotional literature in a professional 
and commercially reasonable manner.  The provisions of this subsection shall not apply to 
information in whatever form that comes into the public domain.  The provisions of this 
paragraph also shall not restrict CONSULTANT from giving notices required by law or 
complying with an order to provide information or data when such order is issued by a 
court, administrative agency, or other entity with proper jurisdiction, or if it is reasonably 
necessary for CONSULTANT to defend itself from any suit or claim. 

ARTICLE 7 - TERMINATION 

7.1. CONTRACT TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT 

If CONSULTANT fails to perform services in the manner called for in this Agreement or 
if CONSULTANT fails to comply with any other provisions of this Agreement, RTC may 
terminate this Agreement for default.  Termination shall be effected by serving a notice of 
termination on CONSULTANT setting forth the manner in which CONSULTANT is in 
default.  CONSULTANT will only be paid the contract price for services delivered and 
accepted, or services performed in accordance with the manner of performance set forth in 
this Agreement. 

If it is later determined by RTC that CONSULTANT had an excusable reason for not 
performing, such as a fire, flood, or events which are not the fault of or are beyond the 
control of CONSULTANT, RTC, after setting up a new performance schedule, may allow 
CONSULTANT to continue work, or treat the termination as a termination for 
convenience. 

-5-



 

  
 

   
      

  
    

   
   

 
 

   
 

    
 

  
 

   
 

  
 
    
 

 
  

 
 

    
 

   
   

   
 

 
 

  
   

 
   

 
 

  
   

  
 

    
 

 
 

7.2. CONTRACT TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE 

RTC may terminate this Agreement, in whole or in part, at any time by written notice to 
CONSULTANT when it is in RTC’s best interest. CONSULTANT shall be paid its costs, 
including contract closeout costs, and profit on work performed up to the time of 
termination. CONSULTANT shall promptly submit its termination claim to RTC to be 
paid CONSULTANT.  If CONSULTANT has any property in its possession belonging to 
RTC, CONSULTANT will account for the same, and dispose of it in the manner RTC 
directs. 

ARTICLE 8 - INSURANCE 

8.1. CONSULTANT shall not commence any work or permit any employee/agent to 
commence any work until satisfactory proof has been submitted to RTC that all insurance 
requirements have been met. 

8.2. In conjunction with the performance of the services/work required by the terms of this 
Agreement, CONSULTANT shall obtain all types and amounts of insurance set forth in 
Exhibit C, and shall comply with all provisions set forth therein. 

ARTICLE 9 - HOLD HARMLESS 

9.1. CONSULTANT’s obligation under this provision is as set forth in Exhibit C.  Said 
obligation would also extend to any liability of RTC resulting from any action to clear any 
lien and/or to recover for damage to RTC property. 

ARTICLE 10 - EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 

10.1. During the performance of this Agreement, CONSULTANT agrees not to discriminate 
against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, 
age, disability, or national origin.  CONSULTANT will take affirmative action to ensure 
that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated fairly during employment, 
without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, age, disability, or national origin.  Such 
action shall include, but not be limited to, the following:  employment, upgrading, 
demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates 
of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. 
CONSULTANT agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and 
applicants for employment, notices to be provided by RTC setting forth the provisions of 
this nondiscrimination clause. 

10.2. CONSULTANT will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on 
behalf of CONSULTANT, state that well qualified applicants will receive consideration of 
employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex, age, disability, or national origin. 

10.3. CONSULTANT will cause the foregoing provisions to be inserted in all sub-agreements 
for any work covered by this Agreement so that such provisions will be binding upon each 
sub-consultant. 

-6-



 

   
 

  
 

  

  
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
 
 

  
  

 
 

  
    

    
 
 

  
    

  
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

    
 

  
 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

ARTICLE 11 - RESOLUTION OF CLAIMS AND DISPUTES 

11.1. NEGOTIATED RESOLUTION 

In the event that any dispute or claim arises under this Agreement, the parties shall timely 
cooperate and negotiate in good faith to resolve any such dispute or claim. Such 
cooperation shall include providing the other party with all information in order to properly 
evaluate the dispute or claim and making available the necessary personnel to discuss and 
make decisions relative to the dispute or claim. 

11.2. MEDIATION 

If the parties have been unable to reach an informal negotiated resolution to the dispute or 
claim within thirty (30) days following submission in writing of the dispute or claim to the 
other party, or such longer period of time as the parties may agree to in writing, either party 
may then request, in writing, that the dispute or claim be submitted to mediation (the 
“Mediation Notice”).  After the other party’s receipt or deemed receipt of the Mediation 
Notice, the parties shall endeavor to agree upon a mutually acceptable mediator, but if the 
parties have been unable to agree upon a mediator within ten (10) days following receipt 
of the Mediation Notice, then each party shall select a mediator and those two selected 
mediators shall select the mediator.  A mediator selected by the parties’ designated 
mediators shall meet the qualification set forth in as provided in Rule 4 of Part C., “Nevada 
Mediation Rules” of the “Rules Governing Alternative Dispute Resolutions adopted by the 
Nevada Supreme Court.” Unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, in writing, the 
mediator shall have complete discretion over the conduct of the mediation proceeding. 
Unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, in writing, the mediation proceeding must take 
place within thirty (30) days following appointment of the mediator. The parties shall share 
the mediator’s fee and any filing fees equally. The mediation shall be held in Washoe 
County, Nevada, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, in writing.  Agreements reached 
in mediation shall be enforceable as settlement agreements in any court having jurisdiction 
thereof. 

11.3. LITIGATION 

In the event that the parties are unable to settle and/or resolve the dispute or claim as 
provided above, then either party may proceed with litigation in the Second Judicial 
District Court of the State of Nevada, County of Washoe. 

11.4. CONTINUING CONTRACT PERFORMANCE 

During the pendency of any dispute or claim the parties shall proceed diligently with 
performance of this Agreement and such dispute or claim shall not constitute an excuse or 
defense for a party’s nonperformance or delay. 

-7-



 

   
 

     
 

 
 

    
 

  
   

 
   

 
  

 
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
   
   
 

  
  
  
  
  
   
  

 
   

 
   

 
     

  
  
  

 
  

 
 
 
 

 

ARTICLE 12 – PROJECT MANAGERS 

12.1. RTC’s Project Manager is LaShonn Ford or such other person as is later designated in 
writing by RTC.  RTC’s Project Manager has authority to act as RTC’s representative with 
respect to the performance of this Agreement.  

12.2. CONSULTANT’ Project Manager is Loren Chilson or such other person as is later 
designated in writing by CONSULTANT.  CONSULTANT’s Project Manager has 
authority to act as CONSULTANT’s representative with respect to the performance of this 
Agreement. 

ARTICLE 13 - NOTICE 

13.1. Notices required under this Agreement shall be given as follows: 

RTC: Bill Thomas, AICP 
Executive Director 
LaShonn Ford, PE 
RTC Project Manager 
Regional Transportation Commission 
1105 Terminal Way 
Reno, Nevada  89502 
Email: lford@rtcwashoe.com 
(775) 322-2136 

CONSULTANT: Loren Chilson, PE 
Principal 
Headway Transportation, LLC 
5482 Longley Lane, Suite B 
Reno, Nevada 89511 
Email: lchilson@headwaytransportation.com 
Phone: (775) 322-4300 

ARTICLE 14 - DELAYS IN PERFORMANCE 

14.1. TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE 

It is understood and agreed that all times stated and referred to herein are of the essence. 
The period for performance may be extended by RTC’s Executive Director pursuant to the 
process specified herein.  No extension of time shall be valid unless reduced to writing and 
signed by RTC’s Executive Director. 

14.2. UNAVOIDABLE DELAYS 

If the timely completion of the services under this Agreement should be unavoidably 
delayed, RTC may extend the time for completion of this Agreement for not less than the 
number of days CONSULTANT was excusably delayed.  A delay is unavoidable only if 
the delay is not reasonably expected to occur in connection with or during 

-8-

mailto:lchilson@headwaytransportation.com
mailto:lford@rtcwashoe.com


 

 
  

  
  

 
   

 
     

   
   

 
 

 
  

 
   

   
 

       
   

 
   

 
  

 
 
 
 

  
 

  
   

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

   
 

    
 

 
 

CONSULTANT’s performance, is not caused directly or substantially by acts, omissions, 
negligence or mistakes of CONSULTANT, is substantial and in fact causes 
CONSULTANT to miss specified completion dates, and cannot adequately be guarded 
against by contractual or legal means. 

14.3. NOTIFICATION OF DELAYS 

CONSULTANT shall notify RTC as soon as CONSULTANT has knowledge that an event 
has occurred or otherwise becomes aware that CONSULTANT will be delayed in the 
completion of the work. Within ten (10) working days thereafter, CONSULTANT shall 
provide such notice to RTC, in writing, furnishing as much detail on the delay as possible 
and requesting an extension of time. 

14.4. REQUEST FOR EXTENSION 

Any request by CONSULTANT for an extension of time to complete the work under this 
Agreement shall be made in writing to RTC.  CONSULTANT shall supply to RTC 
documentation to substantiate and justify the additional time needed to complete the work 
and shall provide a revised schedule. RTC shall provide CONSULTANT with notice of 
its decision within a reasonable time after receipt of a request. 

ARTICLE 15 - GENERAL PROVISIONS 

15.1. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

RTC and CONSULTANT bind themselves and their successors and assigns to the other 
party and to the successors and assigns of such party, with respect to the performance of 
all covenants of this Agreement.  Except as set forth herein, neither RTC nor 
CONSULTANT shall assign or transfer interest in this Agreement without the written 
consent of the other.  Nothing herein shall be construed as creating a personal liability on 
the part of any officer or agent or any public body which may be a party hereto, nor shall 
it be construed as giving any rights or benefits hereunder to anyone other than RTC and 
CONSULTANT. 

15.2. NON TRANSFERABILITY 

This Agreement is for CONSULTANT’s professional services, and CONSULTANT’s 
rights and obligations hereunder may not be assigned without the prior written consent of 
RTC. 

15.3. SEVERABILITY 

If any part, term, article, or provision of this Agreement is, by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, held to be illegal, void, or unenforceable, or to be in conflict with any law of 
the State of Nevada, the validity of the remaining provisions or portions of this Agreement 
are not affected, and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and enforced 
as if this Agreement did not contain the particular part, term, or provision held invalid. 

-9-



 

  
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

   
 
 

  
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

     
  

 
  

   
  

  
  

 
 

  
 

   
 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  

15.4. RELATIONSHIP OF PARTIES 

CONSULTANT is an independent contractor to RTC under this Agreement.  Accordingly, 
CONSULTANT is not entitled to participate in any retirement, deferred compensation, 
health insurance plans or other benefits RTC provides to its employees.  CONSULTANT 
shall be free to contract to provide similar services for others while it is under contract to 
RTC, so long as said services and advocacy are not in direct conflict, as determined by 
RTC, with services being provided by CONSULTANT to RTC. 

15.5. WAIVER/BREACH 

Any waiver or breach of a provision in this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of any 
other provision in this Agreement and no waiver is valid unless in writing and executed by 
the waiving party.  An extension of the time for performance of any obligation or act shall 
not be deemed an extension of time for the performance of any other obligation or act.  This 
Agreement inures to the benefit of and is binding upon the parties to this Agreement and 
their respective heirs, successors and assigns. 

15.6. REGULATORY COMPLIANCE 

A. CONSULTANT shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local 
government laws, regulations and ordinances.  CONSULTANT shall be 
responsible for obtaining all necessary permits and licenses for performance of 
services under this Agreement. Upon request of RTC, CONSULTANT shall 
furnish RTC certificates of compliance with all such laws, orders and regulations. 

B. CONSULTANT represents and warrants that none of the services to be rendered 
pursuant to this Agreement constitute the performance of public work, as that term 
is defined by Section 338.010(17) of the Nevada Revised Statutes.  To the extent 
CONSULTANT does engage in such public work, CONSULTANT shall be 
responsible for paying the prevailing wage as required by Chapter 338 of the 
Nevada Revised Statutes. 

15.7. EXCLUSIVE AGREEMENT 

There are no verbal agreements, representations or understandings affecting this 
Agreement, and all negotiations, representations and undertakings are set forth herein with 
the understanding that this Agreement constitutes the entire understanding by and between 
the parties. 

15.8. AMENDMENTS 

No alteration, amendment or modification of this Agreement shall be effective unless it is 
in writing and signed by both parties. 

-10-



 

 
  

 
   

   
   

 
   

   
  

 
    

 
 

   
  
  

 
  

 
   

  
  

 
  

 
   

   
   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15.9. CONTINUING OBLIGATION 

CONSULTANT agrees that if, because of death or any other occurrence it becomes 
impossible for any principal or employee of CONSULTANT to render the services 
required under this Agreement, neither CONSULTANT nor the surviving principals shall 
be relieved of any obligation to render complete performance.  However, in such event, 
RTC may terminate this Agreement if it considers the death or incapacity of such principal 
or employee to be a loss of such magnitude as to affect CONSULTANT’s ability to 
satisfactorily complete the performance of this Agreement. 

15.10. APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE 

The provisions of this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the State of Nevada.  The exclusive venue and court for all lawsuits concerning this 
Agreement shall be the Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, County of 
Washoe, and the parties hereto submit to the jurisdiction of that District Court. 

15.11. ATTORNEYS’ FEES 

In the event of a dispute between the parties result in a proceeding in any Court of Nevada 
having jurisdiction, the prevailing party shall be entitled to an award of costs and any 
reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

15.12. CERTIFICATION REQUIRED BY NEVADA SENATE BILL 27 (2017) 

CONSULTANT expressly certifies and agrees, as a material part of this Agreement, that 
it is not currently engaged in a boycott of Israel.  CONSULTANT further agrees, as a 
material part of this Agreement, it will not engage in a boycott of Israel for the duration of 
this Agreement.  If, at any time during the formation or duration of this Agreement, 
CONSULTANT is engaged or engages in a boycott of Israel, it will constitute a material 
breach of this Agreement. 

/// 
/// 
/// 
/// 
/// 

-11-



 

 
 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 

         
 

 
 
      
 

 
         

 
 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this Agreement the day and 
year first above written. 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF WASHOE COUNTY 

By: 
Bill Thomas, AICP, Executive Director 

HEADWAY TRANSPORTATION, LLC 

By: 
Loren E. Chilson, PE, Principal 

-12-



 

 

 

  

Exhibit A 

Scope of Services 



  

 
 

  
  

  
 
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
 

   
    
  

 
  

   
   
   

 
 

 
 

  
 

  
           

          
 

  
 

  
 

               

 
 

  
 

 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
FOR 

SPARKS / ION TRAFFIC SIGNAL PROJECT 

DESIGN SERVICES 

CONSULTANT will provide design, plans, specifications, and engineer’s estimates for 
traffic signal construction at the Sparks Blvd/Ion Drive intersection and minor geometric 
revisions of the intersection. 

CONSULTANT will also provide traffic studies for the following intersections: 

• Sullivan Ln/Byrd Dr (Intersection Control Evaluation) 
• Robb Dr/7th Street (Intersection Control Evaluation) 
• McCarran Blvd/Mae Anne Ave (Operations Study to evaluate feasibility of 

converting eastbound Mae Anne to triple left turn lanes by converting the through 
lane to a left-through lane and associated signal phasing changes) 

• Sharlands Ave/Ambassador Dr (Signal Warrant Study) 
• N. Virginia St/Talus Way (Signal Warrant Study) 
• Sparks Blvd/Henry Orr Parkway (Signal Warrant Study) 

The traffic study locations may be revised through mutual consent of the RTC and 
CONSULTANT prior to CONSULTANT beginning work at a study location. 

Task 1 - Project Management 

1. Coordination with RTC project manager and staff will be ongoing throughout the 
project. Project management and coordination meetings or conference calls will be held 
with the RTC and other agencies/parties as necessary. CONSULTANT will coordinate 
kick-off meeting and hold progress meetings during the course of the project. A 30-
minute coordination/status meeting once per month is included. 

2. Coordination with Utilities and appropriate agencies will be ongoing throughout the 
project. Coordination with property owners will also be performed throughout this 
project to keep owners apprised of the project and address access to their personal sites. 

CONSULTANT will organize and attend up to four (4) agency coordination meetings. 

Deliverables: 

Invoicing and progress reports. 

1 



  

  
 

   
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
   

 
 
 
 

  
 

 
 

 
     

 
 

   
 

  
 
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

   
 

   
           

 
  

Task 2 - Preliminary Design (50% & 90%) 

1. Investigate Existing Conditions and Field Inventory 

CONSULTANT will evaluate the existing intersection conditions and determine 
potential issues associated with constructing a signal system and other contemplated 
improvements. 

2. Topographic Survey 

CONSULTANT will perform a Topographic Survey locating the physical features in 
the Sparks Blvd / Ion Drive intersection area. 

3. Subsurface Utility Investigation/Depiction 

CONSULTANT will investigate and locate subsurface utilities within the roadway 
right-of-way, and areas reasonably affected, in accordance with the American Society 
of Civil Engineers Standard guideline for the Collection and Depiction of Existing 
Subsurface Utility Data, Quality Level C. Additionally, CONSULTANT will 
coordinate with Utility Owners to remove lids of surface features and document depth 
of utility device, or invert of pipe, within such surface features. Deliverables will 
include a depiction of subsurface utilities on the plan sheets. 

Potholing is not included in this scope of work but can be included under the design 
contingency task if deemed necessary by RTC and CONSULTANT. 

4. Utility Coordination 

Based on field investigation, CONSULTANT will provide the RTC with a list of 
utility companies whose utilities are likely to be within the project limits or 
reasonably affected by the project. RTC will issue the initial notification to the utility 
agencies on the list and CONSULTANT will coordinate with the utility agencies for 
upcoming work, facility relocation and new installation, and to ensure utilities likely 
affected by the project are included in the plans, evaluate potential conflicts through 
field investigation, and investigate conflict resolution strategies. 

CONSULTANT will provide utility coordination and manage utility permitting. 

5. Right-of-Way and Easements 

CONSULTANT will conduct a Boundary Survey of existing right-of-way and 
easement information and identify where existing and new equipment may be, or need 
to be located, outside existing right-of-way/easements. If right-of-way or new 
easements are to be acquired, CONSULTANT will provide title reports, legal 
descriptions/exhibits, and supporting items. CONSULTANT will not be required to set 
parcel corners or file a Record of Survey, the boundary information will be used and 
shown on the topographic map. 

2 



  

 
               

 
  

 
   

 
  

  

   
  

  
 

            
 

     
   

 
 

  
 

   
 

 

   
 

 
 

 
  

 

  
 

  

The Washoe County assessor’s parcel lines/maps will be used as the first review step. 
Findings will be reported to the RTC project manager. This task includes up to four (4) 
title reports and four (4) legal descriptions. Additional locations, if any, are to be 
included under the design contingency task. 

6. Plans, Specifications, and Estimates (50% & 90%) 

Prior to beginning the traffic signal design work, CONSULTANT will prepare a 30% 
geometric design of the Sparks Blvd/Ion Drive proposed intersection revisions for 
agency approval. The geometric plan will illustrate revisions to channelized right turn 
lane islands, addition of a left turn lane on Sawgrass Lane, crosswalks on all four legs, 
and revisions to through lanes and buffer areas to add right turn lanes on Sparks Blvd 
if possible. 

Prepare preliminary plans, an outline of technical specifications, and a preliminary cost 
estimate suitable for RTC and Local Agency review. Construction plans shall cover 
an area sufficient for contractor's later use as a base for traffic control plans, e.g., 
coverage should include traffic control taper areas across intersections. 

A geometric plan will be provided at the 30% design level. Submittals of the traffic 
signal PS&E package will be made at the 50% and 90% design levels. 

CONSULTANT will prepare 11” x 17” format plan sheets for the Sparks Blvd / Ion 
Drive intersection. 

CONSULTANT will perform a project walk through prior to the 90% submittal to 
evaluate that every aspect of the project scope has been captured. 

Develop quantities and opinion of probable costs for major items of work. 

Upon receipt of comments from the RTC and City of Sparks, CONSULTANT will 
incorporate comments into the final design. 

Deliverables: 

Electronic copies of plans in PDF format to each reviewing agency and the RTC. 

3 



  

  
 

   
 

   

 
           

  
 

                 
 

             
 

 
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

 
  

   
           

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
  

                  
      
     
     
     
    

             
  

Task 3 - Final Design 

1. Prepare Final Plans and Specifications 

a. Prepare Final Construction Plans, Contract Documents, and Technical 
Specifications suitable for construction bid advertisement for the selected 
intersection improvements in accordance with RTC standards and requirements. 
RTC will provide the boilerplate Contract Documents in MS Word format. The 
RTC, Local Entity, and Quality Control review comments will be incorporated into 
the Final Plans and Specifications. 

The final construction plans will be on 11" x 17" size sheets and will show all elements 
of the project construction, including signal modifications, trenching, signing and 
striping, right-of-way lines, and surface treatments. The final plan set will include, as a 
minimum: 

• Cover Sheet 
• Location Map 
• Notes & Details Sheets 
• Technical Specifications 
• Intersection Modification Plan Sheets 
• Traffic Signal Plan Sheets 
• Pedestrian Ramp Grading 
• Signing & Striping Plan Sheets 

The Contract Documents and Technical Specifications will reference the latest edition 
of Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction (Orange Book) for standard 
construction items. Technical provisions will be prepared for approved deviations from 
the Orange Book and unique construction items not adequately covered in the Orange 
Book. The final plans and specifications will be signed and sealed by a Nevada 
Registered Professional Civil Engineer in responsible charge of preparation. Plans and 
specifications will be submitted to the RTC, Local Entities, and other affected parties 
for review at the 50%, 90%, and 100% stages of completion per the following: 

• Electronic (pdf) plans and specifications will be acceptable unless hard copies are 
specifically requested. 

• 50% & 90% Plans – One 11” x 17” set to RTC, agencies, and other affected parties 
• 90% Specifications – One set each to RTC and the local agency(s) 
• 100% Plans – One 11”x17” set each to RTC and the local agency(s) 
• 100% Specifications – One set each to RTC and the local agency(s) 
• Final Working Plan Set – One 11”x17” set each to RTC and the local agency(s) 
• Final Working Specification Document – One set each to RTC and the local 

agency(s), one copy in MS Word format of the Contract Documents and Technical 
Specifications to RTC. 

4 



  

   
           

 
  

 
   

 
 

                
  

  
 

   
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

   
 

 
 

 
   

 
 
 
 

    
 

   
 

 
   

 
  

  
 

 

b. Independent Checker. An independent reviewer will check each plan sheet. A 
quality control review of the plans, contract documents and technical specifications 
will be performed which will focus on technical aspects of the plans and 
specifications and will ensure that all items of work are adequately covered. 

2. Final Engineer’s Opinion of Probable Construction Costs and Time. 

Provide a final Engineer's opinion of probable construction costs for the project based 
on the final design and any alternatives or options. The cost opinion will be in the same 
format as the bid proposal form included in the contract documents. A quality control 
review of the cost opinion will be performed by the CONSULTANT. The 
CONSULTANT will also estimate the number of working or calendar days, as 
appropriate, for the construction of the project. 

Deliverables: 

Electronic copies of PS&E package in PDF format to each reviewing agency and the 
RTC. One copy in MS Word format of the Contract Documents and Technical 
Specifications to RTC. Final Engineer’s Estimate. 

Task 4 - Bidding Services 

1. Plan Set and Specification Distribution 

CONSULTANT will provide the RTC with final plans and specifications, including 
addenda, in Portable Document Format (PDF), for use in the Procureware system. 

2. Pre-bid Meeting 

CONSULTANT will be available during the bidding process to answer technical 
questions and will conduct the pre-bid meeting. RTC will prepare the pre-bid meeting 
agenda. All questions and responses will be documented and provided to RTC. 
CONSULTANT will prepare and provide PDF addenda, if required. All questions 
regarding legal aspects of the contract documents will be referred directly to RTC. 
CONSULTANT will prepare and provide a PDF summary of the pre-bid meeting, as 
directed by the RTC. 

3. Bid Opening & Award Support 

CONSULTANT will attend the bid opening and review the bids received for 
irregularities and provide a recommendation for award. CONSULTANT will tabulate 
bid results into a MS Excel spreadsheet and check multiplication and addition of bid 
items for mathematical accuracy. 

5 



  

  
 

   
 

  
 

  
 

 
   

          
 
 
 

  
 

   
  

 
   

 
    

 
           

             
           

   
 

  
 

 
  

  
 

 
  

 
 

Task 5 - Traffic Studies 

1. Intersection Control Evaluation (ICE) Studies 

The study intersections are: Sullivan Ln/Byrd Dr and Robb Dr/7th Street 

CONSULTANT will provide a basic synopsis of intersection control options, identify 
potential improvements to address key issues, and provide a basic ICE study outlining 
the justification for the recommended improvements. 

Basic ICE study work will include: AM and PM peak hour traffic counts, operations 
analysis, preliminary signal warrant analysis (4-hour vehicular volume), traffic volume 
forecasting, alternatives development, preliminary layout for up to two (2) 
configurations (10% design level), identification of major cost items, identification of 
significant issues for construction, statement of benefits and challenges, consideration 
of safety, aesthetics, multi-modal accommodation, and other factors. 

Provide a separate brief Draft ICE report for each location, outlining the analysis and 
presenting a recommendation for the intersection configuration. Coordinate review 
and input with the RTC, the Local Agency, and NDOT when applicable. Incorporate 
agency comments and provide a Final ICE report. 

2. Operations Study for McCarran Blvd/Mae Anne Ave Intersection 

CONSULTANT will perform a traffic operations analysis to evaluate the feasibility of 
converting eastbound Mae Anne Ave to triple left turn lanes by converting the through 
lane to a left-through lane and associated signal phasing changes. CONSULTANT will 
also evaluate the conversion of the westbound approach to a left and left-through lane 
for dual left turns. CONSULTANT will assess the geometrics, identify the scope of 
signal modifications, and identify any feasibility issues. CONSULTANT will provide 
AM and PM peak hour traffic counts, truck/design vehicle maneuvering using 
AutoTURN software, and technical analysis to determine level of service and queuing 
with revised lane configurations and signal operations. Operations will be evaluated 
for the 20-year horizon as required by NDOT. 

Provide a Draft Operations Study report summarizing the analysis and presenting a 
recommendation for the intersection configuration. Coordinate review and input with 
the RTC, NDOT and the City of Reno, incorporate agency comments, and provide a 
Final Operations Study report. 

6 



  

   

  

   
   
   

 
  

 
 

    
    
    
   
   

 
  

 

 
 

   
    
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

3. Traffic Signal Warrant Analyses 

The study intersections are: 

• Sharlands Ave/Ambassador Dr 
• N. Virginia St/Talus Way 
• Sparks Blvd/Henry Orr Parkway 

CONSULTANT will perform a signal warrant analysis and prepare a separate report 
for each intersection. The analysis will focus on the following warrants: 

• Warrant 1, Eight-Hour Vehicular Volume (Existing and Future Year) 
• Warrant 2, Four-Hour Vehicular Volume (Existing and Future Year) 
• Warrant 4, Pedestrian Volume (Four-Hour and Peak Hour criteria, Existing Year) 
• Warrant 7, Crash Experience 
• Warrant 8, Roadway Network 

The other warrants will be covered at a cursory level only. 

CONSULTANT will document the study process, analysis, and recommendations. 
The signal warrant analysis report will include: 

• Data collection and traffic volumes 
• Discussion of each evaluated warrant 
• Recommendations 

CONSULTANT will provide a draft letter report, incorporate up to one round of 
consolidated RTC, NDOT when applicable, and local agency review comments, and 
provide a separate final letter report for each location. 

Task 6 - Design Contingency 

1. Contingency 

This is a contingency budget for miscellaneous increases within the scope of this 
contract during the design phase. CONSULTANT shall provide a letter detailing the 
need, scope, and not-to-exceed budget for any proposed work. Work under this task 
shall proceed only with the RTC Project Manager’s written approval. 

7 



  

 
 

   
 

 
  

 
     

 
   
   
    
             

         
  

    
 

  
     
     
   
  

  
   

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
   

 
   
  

 
   
 

  
  

  
   
    
  

   

CONSTRUCTION SUPPORT SERVICES (OPTIONAL) 

The RTC and CONSULTANT shall review Optional Construction Services following the 
completion of final design to determine their appropriateness to the project. 

Task 7 - Contract Administration (Optional) 

1. Provide contract administration services as follows: 

• Attend the preconstruction conference 
• Perform construction coordination 
• Review and provide recommendations on contractor’s traffic control plans 
• Review and comment on or approve contractor's submittals for conformance to the 

contract documents, including plantmix bituminous pavement and Portland Cement 
concrete mix designs 

• Review and provide recommendations on test results 
• Review and provide recommendations on contractor’s construction schedule and 

work progress 
• Review construction for acceptance and/or mitigation 
• Provide verification and approval of contractor’s monthly pay request 
• Supervise the inspection, surveying, and material testing activities 
• Provide recommendations to the RTC for any necessary construction changes due 

to field conditions 
• Assist in change order review and approval 

Task 8 - Construction Surveying (Optional) 

1. Provide construction staking services at the project locations. 

Task 9 - Inspection (Optional) 

1. Provide Inspector 

Provide one full-time inspector during all construction activities. 8-hour workdays 
and a 60 working day contract period are anticipated. The inspector will: 

• Attend the preconstruction conference 
• Monitor the work performed by the Contractor and verify that the work is in 

accordance with the plans and specifications 
• Assist in problem resolution with the RTC, contractor personnel, utility agencies, 

the public and others 
• Prepare daily inspection reports, submitted weekly to RTC. 
• Provide quantity reports and assist in contractor’s monthly progress payments 
• Provide verification of the distribution of public relation notices required to be 

delivered by the contractor, if applicable 

8 



  

   
   

 
 

  
 

   
 

   

 
          

 
 

  
 

    
 

 
  

  
  

 
 

 
  

 
   

 
  

                  
 

  
   

 
             

  
 

  
  

 
  

  
 

  
  

 

• Assist in preparation of the Punch List 
• Maintain a field blueline set of drawings to incorporate contractor record drawing 

mark-ups 

Task 10 - Materials Testing (Optional) 

1. Provide Material Testing 

CONSULTANT will provide material testing for compliance with the specifications 
per the latest edition of the Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction 
(Orange Book) testing requirements. Materials to be tested will include plantmix 
bituminous pavement, aggregate base, native subgrade material, structural fill material 
and Portland Cement Concrete. Test reports, accompanied with CONSULTANT’s 
recommendation regarding acceptance/mitigation of materials, shall be submitted 
promptly to the RTC. 

2. Provide On-site Nuclear Gauge Testing & Sampling 

CONSULTANT will provide on-site nuclear gauge testing and sampling during the 
placement of aggregate base and fill materials, on-site thin-lift Nuclear Gauge testing 
& sampling for plantmix bituminous pavement placement, and on-site PCC testing & 
sampling. 40 hours of field testing are anticipated, and laboratory tests will include 
moisture density curves, Atterberg limits, and sieve analysis. Test frequency shall 
comply with the latest edition of the Orange Book. 

Task 11 - As-Built Information (Optional) 

1. Record Drawings 

Provide as-built record drawings for the completed project. Three sets of electronic 
drawings, in single file PDF format (11” x 17” at 300 dpi), on USB Flash Drive will be 
provided to RTC for its files and distribution to the Local Entities. The PDF file shall 
include all plan sheets in one file with index/bookmark for easy access to different 
sheets or sections of the plan set. 

The final record drawings must be identified, dated, and signed as record drawings and 
must also contain the engineer’s stamp and signature. The Consultant may either: 

A. Provide the final revisions on the original engineer-stamped/signed reproducible 
drawings, which will then also be identified as the record drawings, or 

B. Provide new engineer-stamped/signed reproducible drawings identified as the 
record drawings. 

The Record Drawings shall include a scan of the original title sheet (including the 
appropriate signatures by RTC, local government, signed and stamped by the 
CONSULTANT) and identified as record drawings. 

9 



  

  
 

  
 

   
 

  
 

Task 12 - Construction Contingency 

1. Contingency 

This is a contingency budget for miscellaneous increases within the scope of this contract 
during the construction phase. CONSULTANT shall provide a letter detailing the need, 
scope, and not-to-exceed budget for any proposed work. Work under this task shall 
proceed only with the RTC Project Manager’s written approval. 

10 



 

  
   

 
 

 
 

 
   

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

                              

                              

                              

                              

                              

                              

                              

                              

                              

                              

                        

                              

                              

                              

 
   
      
     
   
   

 
 

 

PROJECT SCHEDULE 
Sparks / Ion Traffic Signal Project 

TASK DESCRIPTION 

SE
PT

20

OC
T

24 

N
O

V

DE
C

JA
N

FE
B

M
A

R

AP
R

M
A

Y

20

JU
NE

25 

JU
LY

AU
G

SE
PT

OC
T

N
O

V

DE
C

JA
N

FE
B

M
A

R

AP
R

M
A

Y

20

JU
NE

26 

JU
LY

AU
G

SE
PT

OC
T

N
O

V

DE
C 

DESIGN SERVICES 
1 Project Management M M M M M 

2 Preliminary Design (50% & 90%) T 30% 50% 90% 

3 Final Design 100% 

Right-of-Way Acquisition RS R/W 

4 Bidding Services BID OPEN 

5 Traffic Studies R R R R R R 
CONSTRUCTION SUPPORT SERVICES 

7 Contract Administration 
8 Construction Surveying 
9 Inspection Site Work Signal Equip Closeout 

10 Materials Testing 
11 As-Built Information 

T Topographic Survey 
M CoordinationMeeting/PlanReviewMeetings 
R Traffic Study Report Submittal 
RS Right of WaySetting 

R/W RTC Complete R/WAcquisition 

7/29/2024 



 

 

 

  

Exhibit B 

Compensation 



    

     

   
 

  
   

              
              

              
           

    
                  

            
               

              
            

             
              

         
   

              
       

             
           

   
                  

                  
                

             
   

              
             

                
                  

                  
                   

           

          

  

   

  
             
               
              

              
                 

         

   

              

•EADWAY • I TRANSPORTATION 

Exhibit B - Schedule of Services 

Sparks / Ion Traffic Signal Project Date: 07/29/2024 

DESIGN SERVICES 
Task 1 - Project Management 

Project Coordination 
Utility Coordination 

Meetings (4 meetings) 

Task 2 - Preliminary Design (50% & 90%) 
Investigate Existing Conditions and Field Inventory 

Topographic Survey 
Subsurface Utility Investigation/Depiction 

Utility Coordination 
Right-of-Way and Easements 

30% Design Geometric Layout 
Plans, Specifications, and Estimate 

Task 3 - Final Design 
Prepare Final Plans and Specifications 

Final Engineer's Opinion of Probable Construction Costs and 
Time 

Task 4 - Bidding Services 
Plan Set and Specification Distribution 

Pre-bid Meeting 
Bid Opening & Award Support 

Task 5 - Traffic Studies 
Sullivan / Byrd ICE Study 

Robb / 7th ICE Study 
McCarran / Mae Anne Operations Study 

Sharlands / Ambassador Signal Warrant Study 
N. Virginia / Talus Signal Warrant Study 

Sparks Blvd / Henry Orr Signal Warrant Study 

Hours 
Design Totals 

Task 6 - Design Contingency 

CONSTRUCTION SUPPORT SERVICES 
Task 7 - Contract Administration (Optional) 
Task 8 - Construction Surveying (Optional) 
Task 9 - Inspection (Optional) 
Task 10 - Materials Testing (Optional) 
Tasks 11 - As-Built Information (Optional) 

Hours 
Construction Totals 

Task 12 Construction Contingency 

Project Total w/ Options and Contingency 

Engineer/ 
Planner 

150 
Principal II Sr Associate Associate Sr Engineer Admin Contingency ODCs/SUBs 

280 210 190 170 90 $ 
Task Total 

10 20 10 7,900 $ 
10 2,100 $ 

Hours 

8 8 8 5,440 $ 
15,440 $ 

8 12 10 5,220 $ 
10 $20,000 22,100 $ 
8 12 3,720 $ 

24 12 7,080 $ 
20 $20,000 24,200 $ 
20 40 10,200 $ 

20 80 60 114 86 66,080 $ 
138,600 $ 

10 40 30 40 22,900 $ 

2 8 2,240 $ 
25,140 $ 

4 840 $ 
2 420 $ 

10 4 2,700 $ 
3,960 $ 

16 30 40 40 24,380 $ 
16 30 40 40 24,380 $ 
6 18 42 26 17,340 $ 
4 40 8 9,920 $ 
4 40 8 9,920 $ 
4 40 8 9,920 $ 

95,860 $ 
100 350 340 150 310 10 

$28,000 $73,500 $64,600 $25,500 $46,500 $900 $0 $40,000 279,000 $ 

$20,000 $20,000 

Inspector 
150 

Principal II Sr Associate Associate Sr Engineer Admin Contingency ODCs/SUBs 
280 210 190 170 90 $ 

Task Total 
10 40 10 10 14,000 $ 

10 $20,000 22,100 $ 
20 480 $5,000 81,200 $ 
10 $15,000 17,100 $ 
20 10 5,900 $ 

10 100 10 10 480 10 
$2,800 $21,000 $1,900 $1,700 $72,000 $900 $0 $40,000 140,300 $ 

$10,000 $10,000 

449,300 $ 



 
 
 

    
 
 
 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 
 
 

   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

TRANSPORTATION 

2024 STANDARD BILLING RATES 

EMPLOYEE CLASSIFICATION HOURLY RATE 

Principal II $280 

Principal $240 

Senior Associate II $220 

Senior Associate I $210 

Associate II $200 

Associate $190 

Senior Engineer / Planner II $180 

Senior Engineer / Planner $170 

Engineer / Planner II $160 

Engineer / Planner $150 

Inspector $150 

Technician $120 

Administrative Assistant $90 

Auto Mileage @ current IRS rate 

Effective January 1, 2024 



    
 

             

                

 

   
  

 

  

 

 

  

   

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

  

  

 

  

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

   

 

  

 

   

    

              

                  
 

                 

 
 

 

 

& ASSOCIATES 

Exhibit B - Schedule of Services 

Standard Fee Schedule 
January 1, 2024 

Engineering Per Hour 

Director $285 

Group Manager 270 

Senior Project Manager – Special Projects 250 

Assistant / Project / Senior Project Manager 195/225/240 

Staff / Project / Senior Hydrogeologist 180/195/205 

Staff / Project / Senior Engineer 180/195/205 

Assistant / Project / Senior Project Coordinator 140/175/185 

Project / Senior Project Designer 155/165 

Engineering Technician I / II / III 105/135/145 

Construction Per Hour 

Director $285 

Materials Engineering Manager 250 

Assistant / Project / Senior Project Manager 195/225/240 

Staff / Project / Senior Geotechnical Engineer 180/195/205 

Construction Services Supervisor / Engineer 160/185 

Assistant / Project / Senior Project Coordinator 140/175/185 

Geotechnician 160 

Inspector / Senior Inspector (includes nuclear gauge) 150/160 

Construction Technician I / II / III 115/125/135 

Materials Technician I / II / III (includes nuclear gauge) 105/115/125 

Administrative Technician 85/95/105 

Surveying Per Hour 

Director $285 

Group Manager 270 

Assistant / Project / Senior Project Manager 195/225/240 

Staff / Project / Senior Surveyor 180/195/205 

Assistant / Project / Senior Project Coordinator 140/175/185 

Photogrammetrist / Photogrammetry Manager 155/180 

GIS Analyst 135 

Surveying Technician I / II / III 90/135/145 

Party Chief 180 

Administrative & Other Services Per Hour 

Administrative Support $125 

Copy & Print Services Cost + 15% 

Mileage (per mile) 0.75 

• Fees for prevailing wage rate projects are available upon request. 

• Map filing, checking, consulting, and other fees paid on behalf of the client shall be billed at cost plus fifteen percent (15%). 

• Overtime hours will be billed at 1.5 times the standard rate whereapplicable. 

• Survey and Field crew billing rates include standard field survey equipment and truck up to 30 mile radius, after which mileage rates 
apply 

• Fees for depositions and testimony will be billed at two (2) times the standard billing rates 

These rates apply to services rendered through December 31, 2024. Services provided after 

this date will be invoiced according to the Standard Fee Schedule in effect at that time. 

NV 



    
 

 

   
  

 

  

  

    

    

     

    

    

  

    

    

      

   

 

     
     

    

      

      

 

   
          

     

     

     

    

     

      

     

       

    

     

    

       

    

      

    

         

     

     

    

      

      

      

      

      

     

 

   
     

     

    

    

     

 

& ASSOCIATES 

Exhibit B - Schedule of Services 

Quality Control Fee Schedule 
January 1, 2024 

Testing/Inspection Per Hour 

Director $285 

Materials Engineering Manager 250 

Assistant / Project / Senior Project Manager 195/225/240 

Staff / Project / Senior Geotechnical Engineer 180/195/205 

Construction Services Supervisor / Engineer 160/185 

Assistant / Project / Senior Project Coordinator 140/175/185 

Geotechnician 160 

Inspector / Senior Inspector (includes nuclear gauge) 150/160 

Construction Technician I / II / III 115/125/135 

Materials Technician I / II / III (includes nuclear gauge) 105/115/125 

Administrative Technician 85/95/105 

Particle Size Testing For Soils/Aggregates Each 
Sieve Analysis (ASTM C-136/C-117) $200 

Wash (ASTM C-117) 150 

Grain Size Analysis Soils (ASTM D-421/422) 300 

Sieve Analysis/Wash (coarse combined) (ASTM C-136/C-117) 250 

Soils & Aggregate Testing Each 
Specific Gravity & Absorption — Coarse or Fine Aggregate (ASTM C-127/C-128) $150 

Sand Equivalent (ASTM D-2419) 200 

Dry Unit Weight of Aggregate (ASTM C-29) 100 

Organic Impurities (ASTM C-40) 100 

Fractured Faces (NDOT T-230) 100 

L.A. Abrasion (ASTM C-131) 250 

Sodium Sulfate Soundness (5 cycles) (ASTM C-88) 500 

Moisture Content (ASTM C-566) 50 

Moisture Content and Unit Density (ASTM D-2937) 100 

Plastic Index (ASTM D-4318) 225 

Expansion Index (ASTM D-4829) 300 

R-Value (ASTM D-2844) 350 

California Bearing Ratio (ASTM D-1883) Quote on request 

Direct Shear (ASTM D-3080) 350 

Unconfined Compression (ASTM D-2166) Quote on request 

Consolidation (ASTM D-2435) 500 

Permeability (4-inch Rigid Wall, Falling head) (ASTM D-4491) Quote on request 

Soluble Sulfates Quote on request 

pH (ASTM D-4972) Quote on request 

Resistivity Quote on request 

Clay Lumps/Friable Parts (ASTM C-142) 100 

Cement Treated Base Mix Design Quote on request 

Cement Treated Base Compression Test 75 

Fine Durability Index (ASTM D-3744) 250 

Coarse Durability Index (ASTM D-3744) 300 

Cleanness Value (CAL 229) 250 

Moisture Density Testing Each 
Compaction (ASTM D-698 or ASTM D-1557) $275 

Rock Correction (ASTM D-4718) 150 

Harvard Miniature (NDOT T-101) 150 

CAL 216 300 

Check Point (ASTM D-1557) 125 



    
 

             

                

 

   
  

 

   
            

            

     

       

 

   
     

     

      

     

    

    

       

     

        

        

       

         

 

    
     

      

     

       

       

    

     

    

   
 

   

   

             

                   

               

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

& ASSOCIATES 

Exhibit B - Schedule of Services 

Quality Control Fee Schedule 
January 1, 2024 

Emulsion Testing Each 
% Residue By Evaporation/Softening Point (Ring & Ball) (AASHTO T-53 & T-59) 24 hr. turnaround $400 

% Residue By Evaporation/Softening Point (Ring & Ball) (AASHTO T-53 & T-59) 3-day turnaround 350 

Saybolt Furol Viscosity Test @ 122˚ (AASHTO T-59) 275 

Rotational Paddle Viscosity (ASTM D-7226 & AASHTO T-382) 550 

Concrete Testing Each 
Compression Concrete Cylinders (ASTM C-39) $40 

Hold Cylinder (Cured but not tested) 30 

Compression, Concrete Core (ASTM C-42) 40 

Flexural Strength of Concrete Beams (ASTM C-78/C-293) 80 

Compression, Grout Cylinder (UBC 24-28) 40 

Compression, Mortar Cylinder (UBC 24-28) 40 

Masonry Block Absorption and Moisture (ASTM C-140) Quote on request 

Shrinkage (ASTM C-426) Quote on request 

Compression, Concrete Masonry Units (ASTM C-140) Quote on request 

Compression, Concrete Masonry Prisms (ASTM C-1314) Quote on request 

Density of Spray Applied Fireproofing Quote on request 

Concrete Mix Design, including Mixing and Casting of Cylinders Quote on request 

Asphalt Concrete Testing Each 
Sieve Analysis (ASTM D-5444) $125 

Unit Weight on Compacted Sample (ASTM D-2726) 50 

Unit Weight on Core (ASTM D-2726) 75 

Marshall Stability & Flow (ASTM D-1559) 50 

Max. Theoretical Specs. Gravity (ASTM D-2041) 100 

Bitumen Content (ASTM D-6307) 150 

Asphalt Concrete Mix Design Quote on request 

A.C. Series (Marshall) 675 

Oven Correction (ASTM D-6307) 300 

• Fees for prevailing wage rate projects available upon request. 

• Map filing, checking, consulting, and other fees paid on behalf of the client shall be billed at cost plus fifteen percent (15%). 

• Overtime hours will be billed at 1.5 times standard rate whereapplicable. 

• Billing rates include standard testing equipment and truck up to 30 mile radius, after which mileage rates apply. 

• Fees for depositions and testimony will be billed at two (2) times thestandard billing rates 

These rates apply to services rendered through December 31, 2024. Services provided after 

this date will be invoiced according to the Standard Fee Schedule in effect at that time. 



 

 

 
  

Exhibit C 

Indemnification and Insurance Requirements 



  
 

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
   

  
 

   
  

 
 

  
 

  
  

       

   
 

  
   

 
  

 
 

 
 

   
 
 

    
 

 
 

   
   

   
 

 
    

  
 

 
 

EXHIBIT C 

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENTS 

[NRS 338 DESIGN PROFESSIONAL] 
2022-07-08 Version 

1. INTRODUCTION 

IT IS HIGHLY RECOMMENDED THAT CONSULTANTS CONFER WITH THEIR 
INSURANCE CARRIERS OR BROKERS TO DETERMINE THE AVAILABILITY OF THESE 
INSURANCE CERTIFICATES AND ENDORSEMENTS IN ADVANCE OF PROPOSAL 
SUBMISSION. IF THERE ARE ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THESE INSURANCE 
REQUIREMENTS, IT IS RECOMMENDED THAT THE AGENT/BROKER CONTACT 
RTC’S FINANCE DIRECTOR AT (775) 335-1845. 

2. INDEMNIFICATION 

CONSULTANT agrees, subject to the limitations in Nevada Revised Statutes Section 338.155, to 
save and hold harmless and fully indemnify RTC and City of Sparks including their elected 
officials, officers, employees, and agents (hereafter, “Indemnitees”) from and against any and all 
claims, proceedings, actions, liability and damages, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and 
defense costs incurred in any action or proceeding (collectively “Damages”) arising out of the: 

A. Negligence, errors, omissions, recklessness or intentional misconduct of CONSULTANT 
or CONSULTANT’s agents, employees, officers, directors, subconsultants, or anyone else 
for whom CONSULTANT may be legally responsible, which are based upon or arising 
out of the professional services of CONSULTANT; and 

B. Violation of law or any contractual provisions or any infringement related to trade names, 
licenses, franchises, patents or other means of protecting interests in products or inventions 
resulting from the use by the Indemnitees of any materials, devices, processes, equipment, 
or other deliverable (including software) supplied by CONSULTANT under or as a result 
of this Agreement, but excluding any violation or infringement resulting from the 
modification or alteration by the Indemnitees of any materials, devices, processes, 
equipment, or other deliverable (including software) not consented to by CONSULTANT. 

CONSULTANT further agrees to defend, save and hold harmless and fully indemnify the 
Indemnitees from and against any and all Damages arising out the negligence, errors, omissions, 
recklessness or intentional misconduct of CONSULTANT or CONSULTANT’s agents, 
employees, officers, directors, subconsultants, or anyone else for whom CONSULTANT may be 
legally responsible, which are not based upon or arising out of the professional services of 
CONSULTANT. 

The Damages shall include, but are not limited to, those resulting from personal injury to any 
person, including bodily injury, sickness, disease or death and injury to real property or personal 
property, tangible or intangible, and the loss of use of any of that property, whether or not it is 
physically injured.  



 

   
    

  
 

  
 

 
  

 
 

    
  

 
 

 
 

   
   

 
   

     
 

 
 

  
 

   
   

  
  

 
 

  
 

 
 
 

    
     

     
   

  
 

 
 
 
 

If the Indemnitees are involved in defending actions of CONSULTANT or anyone else for whom 
CONSULTANT is legally responsible, CONSULTANT shall reimburse the Indemnitees for the 
time spent by such personnel at the rate of the Indemnitees pay or compensation for such services. 

If an Indemnitee is found to be liable in the proceeding, then CONSULTANT’S obligation 
hereunder shall be limited to the proportional share of the liability attributed to CONSULTANT. 

In determining whether a claim is subject to indemnification, the incident underlying the claim 
shall determine the nature of the claim. 

In the event of a violation or an infringement under paragraph 2.B above and the use is enjoined, 
CONSULTANT, at its sole expense, shall either (1) secure for the Indemnitees the right to continue 
using the materials by suspension of any injunction or by procuring a license or licenses for the 
Indemnitees; or (2) modify the materials so that they become non-infringing. This covenant shall 
survive the termination of the Professional Services Agreement. 

The provisions of this Agreement are separate and severable and it is the intent of the Parties hereto 
that in the event any provision of this Agreement should be determined by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void, voidable or too restrictive for any reason whatsoever, the remaining 
provisions of this Agreement shall remain valid and binding upon said Parties. It is also understood 
and agreed that in the event any provision should be considered, by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, to be void because it imposes a greater obligation on CONSULTANT than is 
permitted by law, such court may reduce and reform such provisions to limitations which are 
deemed reasonable and enforceable by said court. 

3. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

Prior to the start of any work on a RTC project, CONSULTANT shall purchase and maintain 
insurance of the types and limits as described below insuring against claims for injuries to persons 
or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the work 
hereunder by CONSULTANT, its subconsultants, or their employees, agents, or representatives.  
The cost of all such insurance shall be borne by CONSULTANT. 

4. VERIFICATION OF COVERAGE 

CONSULTANT shall furnish RTC with a certificate(s) of insurance, executed by a duly authorized 
representative of each insurer, showing compliance with the insurance requirements set forth 
herein, on forms acceptable to RTC.  All deductibles and self-insured retentions requiring RTC 
approval shall be shown on the certificate.  All certificates and endorsements are to be addressed 
to RTC’s Finance Director and be received by RTC before work commences.  Upon request, 
CONSULTANT agrees that RTC has the right to review CONSULTANT’S and the Sub’s 
insurance policies, or certified copies of the policies. Copies of applicable policy forms or 
endorsements confirming required additional insured, waiver of subrogation and notice of 
cancellation provisions are required to be provided with any certificate(s) evidencing the required 
coverage. 

2 



 

  
 

  
 

    

 
   

 
   

 
  

       
   

  
   

  
 

     
   

  
 

  
   

 
 

  
 

 
      

 
  

  
    

 
  

 
 

    
    

   
  

 
  

5. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION 

CONSULTANT or its insurers shall provide at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice to RTC 
prior to the cancellation or non-renewal of any insurance required under this Agreement. An 
exception may be included to provide at least ten (10) days’ written notice if cancellation is due to 
non-payment of premium. CONSULTANT shall be responsible to provide prior written notice to 
RTC as soon as practicable upon receipt of any notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in 
required limits or other material change in the insurance required under this Agreement. 

6. SUBCONSULTANTS & SUBCONTRACTORS 

CONSULTANT shall include all Subcontractors and Subconsultants (referred to collectively as 
“Subs”) as insureds under its liability policies OR shall cause Subs employed by CONSULTANT 
to purchase and maintain separate liability coverages and limits of the types specified herein. If 
any Subs maintain separate liability coverages and limits, each shall include the RTC and City of 
Sparks as additional insureds under its commercial general liability policy, subject to the same 
requirements stated herein, without requiring a written contract or agreement between each of the 
additional insureds and any sub-consultant or sub-contractor. Any separate coverage limits of 
liability maintained by Subs shall be at least $1,000,000 per occurrence and at least $2,000,000 for 
any applicable coverage aggregates or the amount customarily carried by the Sub, whichever is 
GREATER.  If any Subs provide their own insurance with limits less than required of the 
Contractor, Contractor shall include Subs in their coverage up to the full limits required of the 
Contractor. When requested by RTC, CONSULTANT shall furnish copies of certificates of 
insurance evidencing coverage for each subconsultant. CONSULTANT need not require its non-
design subcontractors to carry Professional Errors and Omissions Liability insurance. 

7. DEDUCTIBLES AND SELF-INSURED RETENTIONS 

Any deductibles or self-insured retentions that exceed $25,000 per occurrence or claim must be 
declared to RTC’s Finance Director prior to signing this Agreement. RTC is entitled to request 
and receive additional documentation, financial or otherwise, prior to giving its approval of the 
deductibles and self-insured retentions. Any changes to the deductibles or self-insured retentions 
made during the term of this Agreement or during the term of any policy must be declared to 
RTC’s Finance Director prior to the change taking effect. 

8. ACCEPTABILITY OF INSURERS 

Required insurance is to be placed with insurers with a Best's rating of no less than A-VII and 
acceptable to RTC.  RTC may accept coverage with carriers having lower Best's ratings upon 
review of financial information concerning CONSULTANT and the insurance carrier. RTC 
reserves the right to require that CONSULTANT'S insurer(s) be licensed and admitted in the State 
of Nevada or meet any applicable state and federal laws and regulations for non-admitted insurance 
placements. 

3 



 

  
 

   
 

 
    

 
 

 
  

 
 

    
 

    
 

 
    

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

    
    

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

   
    

 
   

 

  

9. OTHER CONDITIONS 

A. Failure to furnish the required certificate(s) or failure to maintain the required insurance 
may result in termination of this Agreement at RTC’s option. 

B. If CONSULTANT fails to furnish the required certificate or fails to maintain the required 
insurance as set forth herein, RTC shall have the right, but not the obligation, to purchase 
said insurance at CONSULTANT's expense. 

C. Any waiver of CONSULTANT's obligation to furnish such certificate or maintain such 
insurance must be in writing and signed by an authorized representative of RTC. Failure 
of RTC to demand such certificate or other evidence of full compliance with these 
insurance requirements or failure of RTC to identify a deficiency from evidence that is 
provided shall not be construed as a waiver of CONSULTANT's obligation to maintain 
such insurance, or as a waiver as to the enforcement of any of these provisions at a later 
date. 

D. By requiring insurance herein, RTC does not represent that coverage and limits will 
necessarily be adequate to protect CONSULTANT, and such coverage and limits shall not 
be deemed as a limitation on CONSULTANT's liability under the indemnities granted to 
RTC in this contract. 

E. If CONSULTANT’S liability policies do not contain the standard ISO separation of 
insureds condition, or a substantially similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide 
cross-liability coverage. 

10. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY 

CONSULTANT shall maintain commercial general liability (CGL) and, if necessary, commercial 
umbrella insurance with a limit of not less than $2,000,000 each occurrence. If such CGL insurance 
contains a general aggregate limit, it shall be increased to equal twice the required occurrence limit 
or revised to apply separately to this project. 

CGL insurance shall be written on ISO occurrence form CG 00 01 04 13 (or a substitute form 
providing equivalent coverage) and shall cover liability arising from premises, operations, 
products-completed operations, personal and advertising injury, and liability assumed under an 
insured contract (including the tort liability of another assumed in a business contract). 

RTC and any other Indemnitees listed in Section 2. INDEMNIFICATION of this Agreement shall 
be included as an additional insured under the CGL, using ISO additional insured endorsement 
CG 20 10 07/04 or CG 20 33 07/04 or a substitute providing equivalent coverage, and under the 
commercial umbrella, if any. 

This insurance shall apply as primary insurance with respect to any other insurance or self-
insurance programs afforded to RTC or any other Indemnitees under this Agreement. 

4 



 

 
 

  
  

  
 

  
 

 
    

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
   

   
  

 
  

 
 

  
    

   
   

 

 
  

   
 

  
  

  
 

    
 

 
 

    
  

  
 

 
 

CONSULTANT waives all rights against RTC and any other Indemnitees listed in section 2. 
INDEMNIFICATION of this Agreement for recovery of damages to the extent these damages are 
covered by the commercial general liability or commercial umbrella liability insurance maintained 
pursuant to this agreement. CONSULTANT’s insurer shall endorse CGL policy to waive 
subrogation against RTC with respect to any loss paid under the policy. 

11. COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY 

CONSULTANT shall maintain automobile liability and, if necessary, commercial umbrella 
liability insurance with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 each accident. Such insurance shall 
cover liability arising out of any auto (including owned, hired, and non-owned autos). 

Coverage shall be written on ISO form CA 00 01, CA 00 05, CA 00 25, or a substitute form 
providing equivalent liability coverage for all owned, leased, hired (rented) and non-owned 
vehicles (as applicable).  RTC may agree to accept auto liability for non-owned and hired (rented) 
vehicles under the CGL if CONSULTANT does not own or operate any owned or leased vehicles. 

CONSULTANT waives all rights against RTC, its officers, employees and volunteers for recovery 
of damages to the extent these damages are covered by the automobile liability or commercial 
umbrella liability insurance obtained by CONSULTANT pursuant to this Agreement. 

12. INDUSTRIAL (WORKER’S COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYER’S LIABILITY) 
INSURANCE 

It is understood and agreed that there shall be no Industrial (Worker’s Compensation and 
Employer’s Liability) Insurance coverage provided for CONSULTANT or any subconsultants by 
RTC.  CONSULTANT, and any subconsultants, shall procure, pay for and maintain the required 
coverages. 

CONSULTANT shall maintain workers’ compensation and employer’s liability insurance meeting 
the statutory requirements of the State of Nevada, including but not limited to NRS 616B.627 and 
NRS 617.210. The employer’s liability limits shall not be less than $1,000,000 each accident for 
bodily injury by accident or $1,000,000 each employee for bodily injury by disease. 

CONSULTANT shall provide a Final Certificate for itself and each subconsultant evidencing that 
CONSULTANT and each subconsultant maintained workers’ compensation and employer’s 
liability insurance throughout the entire course of the project. 

If CONSULTANT, or any subconsultant is a sole proprietor, coverage for the sole proprietor must 
be purchased and evidence of coverage must appear on the Certificate of Insurance and Final 
Certificate. 

CONSULTANT waives all rights against RTC, its elected officials, officers, employees and agents 
for recovery of damages to the extent these damages are covered by the workers compensation and 
employer’s liability or commercial umbrella liability insurance obtained by Tenant pursuant to this 
agreement. CONSULTANT shall obtain an endorsement equivalent to WC 00 03 13 to affect this 
waiver. 

5 



 

  
 

 
   

    
 

  
 

 
 
 

13. PROFESSIONAL ERRORS AND OMISSIONS LIABILITY 

CONSULTANT shall maintain professional liability insurance applying to liability for a 
professional error, omission, or negligent act arising out of the scope of CONSULTANT’S 
services provided under this Agreement with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 each claim and 
annual aggregate. CONSULTANT shall maintain professional liability insurance during the term 
of this Agreement and, if coverage is provided on a “claims made” or “claims made and reported” 
basis, shall maintain coverage or purchase an extended reporting period for a period of at least 
three (3) years following the termination of this Agreement. 

6 



  

 

 

 
 

 
 

   
 

   
 

 
   

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.4.4

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Dale Keller, Director of Engineering

  SUBJECT: Administrative Settlement - Robert F. and Evelyn J. Gunn Living Trust 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve an administrative settlement of up to $440,680 authorizing RTC to acquire a fee simple interest 
in the entirety of APN: 013-082-15 from Robert F. and Evelyn J. Gunn Living Trust for the Mill Street 
Capacity and Safety Project. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

RTC is in the process of acquiring property needed for the Mill Street Capacity and Safety Project. RTC 
and the property owner have negotiated an agreement to purchase a fee simple interest in the entirety of 
APN 013-082-15 contingent upon Board approval. The RTC originally offered to purchase a portion of 
the parcel at its appraised value of $274,320. Under the settlement, RTC would purchase the entire parcel 
including an interest in a billboard lease on the parcel. The RTC would pay the property owner $705,000 
and up to $10,000 for costs, which represents a proposed administrative settlement of up to $440,680 above 
RTC’s original appraised value and offer. RTC Management Policy P-55 requires Board approval of 
administrative settlements in excess of $50,000.  

Staff recommends approval of the settlement. If the Board approves the settlement, the Executive Director 
will execute an agreement in substantially the form attached hereto and RTC will acquire the parcel. If the 
Board does not approve the settlement, staff will continue to attempt to negotiate for the purchase of the 
property interests it needs for the project until it becomes necessary to file a complaint in eminent domain. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The costs to acquire the subject property interests are included in the FY 2025 budget. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



 

  

 

 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 

 

 
   

  
 
   

 
 

 
   

 

 
  
  

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Project: Mill Street Capacity and Safety Project 
RTC Project No.: 211007 

Parcel: 2060 Mill Street 
APN: 013-082-15 

PUBLIC HIGHWAY AGREEMENT 

This PUBLIC HIGHWAY AGREEMENT (“AGREEMENT”) is made this ______ day of _____________, 
2024, by and between Robert F. Gunn and Evelyn J. Gunn, in their capacities as co-trustees of the ROBERT F. 
AND EVELYN J. GUNN LIVING TRUST (“OWNER”), and the REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF WASHOE COUNTY (“RTC”). 

WITNESSETH: 

1. That the OWNER, for and in consideration of the covenants to be performed and payments to 
be paid as herein provided, represents the following: 

(a) OWNER is the owner of that certain real property located in Washoe County, Nevada, 
described as Assessor’s Parcel Number 013-082-15 (the “OWNER PROPERTY”).  

(b) OWNER owns fee title to OWNER PROPERTY and there are no prior encumbrances, 
liens, restrictions, covenants or conditions applicable to the OWNER PROPERTY which will frustrate or interfere 
with the purposes of this AGREEMENT. 

(c) That there are no leases, licenses, conditions, actions or threatened or pending litigation 
related to the OWNER PROPERTY which will frustrate or interfere with the purposes of this AGREEMENT. 

2. That the OWNER, for and in consideration of the covenants to be performed and payments to 
be paid as herein provided, agrees as follows: 

(a) To sell and convey the OWNER PROPERTY to the RTC, free and clear of any liens or 
encumbrances created by OWNER, by way of a grant, bargain and sale deed in substantially the form 
attached hereto as Schedule 1; this real property is described on Exhibit “A” to Schedule 1 and depicted on 
Exhibit “B” to Schedule 1, attached hereto and made a part hereof (the “LAND”). 

(b) To deposit into escrow with Stewart Title, 5390 Kietzke Lane, Suite 101, Reno, Nevada 
89511 (Attn: Roberta Crown Rogers), hereinafter called (the “ESCROW AGENT”), all the aforementioned 
documents, fully executed and notarized where required, on or prior to September 1, 2024 (the “ESCROW 
CLOSING DATE”). 

(c) To deliver to ESCROW AGENT such other documentation as ESCROW AGENT may 
reasonably require to close the escrow and consummate the real property transfers in accordance with the 
terms of this AGREEMENT. 

(d) To pay through escrow any accrued, due or delinquent property taxes, utility use fees or 
assessments, together with penalties, if any, up to the close of escrow. 

(e) To be responsible for the LAND, including risk and liability for loss and damage, 
including all repairs to the premises prior to the ESCROW CLOSING DATE. 

(f) To acknowledge and hereby does acknowledge, that a public highway and the 
necessary incidents thereto (the “PROJECT”), are to be located upon, over, and across the LAND. 

Page 1 



 

  

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

(g) To waive, and hereby does waive, all claims and rights that OWNER may have to seek 
consequential, special and/or punitive damages in relation to any breach of the obligations contemplated in this 
AGREEMENT and acknowledges that nothing in this AGREEMENT is intended to or shall it be construed to 
waive the rights, limitations and immunities of the RTC under Nevada Revised Statutes Chapter 41. 

3. The RTC, in consideration of the promises and covenants of the OWNER herein set forth, 
agrees as follows: 

(a) Pursuant to the administrative settlement approved by RTC’s Board of Commissioners 
at its meeting on August 16, 2024, RTC shall pay to OWNER through the deposit into escrow the sum of 
SEVEN HUNDRED FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($705,000), and shall pay to OWNER directly up to TEN 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($10,000) for actual costs incurred by OWNER for its appraiser and attorney fees and 
costs. 

(b) RTC shall deliver to ESCROW AGENT such other documentation as ESCROW AGENT 
may reasonably require to close the escrow and consummate the real property transfers in accordance with 
the terms of this AGREEMENT. 

(c) RTC shall pay all escrow and conveyance fees due and owing to ESCROW AGENT. 

(d) RTC shall acknowledge, and hereby does acknowledge, that the real property conveyed 
hereby is transferred and sold “AS IS”, “WHERE IS”, WITH ALL FAULTS AND CONDITIONS THEREON, and 
that OWNER has not made and specifically disclaims any representations, warranties, promises, covenants or 
guaranties of any kind or character whatsoever, whether express or implied, oral or written, past, present or 
future with respect to the LAND, and hereby waives any right to make any claim against OWNER based on 
any of the foregoing. 

4. It is further mutually agreed and understood by the RTC and by the OWNER as follows: 

(a) The laws of the State of Nevada shall be applied in interpreting and construing this 
AGREEMENT. The party’s consent to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of the Second Judicial District 
Court in and for the State of Nevada, located in Washoe County, Nevada, for the enforcement of this 
AGREEMENT. 

(b) This AGREEMENT shall constitute the entire contract between the parties hereto, and 
no modification hereof shall be binding upon the parties unless the same is in writing and signed by the 
respective parties hereto. 

(c) All covenants and agreements herein contained shall extend to and be obligatory upon 
the heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns, as the case may be, of the respective parties. 

(d) As used herein the term OWNER shall include the plural as well as the singular, and the 
feminine as well as the masculine and the neuter. 

of escrow. 
(e) The covenants and agreements expressed in the AGREEMENT shall survive the close 

(f) The regulations pertaining to nondiscrimination and Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964, as contained in Title 23, Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, and Title 49, Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 21, are hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of this AGREEMENT. 

(g) Except as otherwise provided for by law or this AGREEMENT, the rights and remedies 
of the parties hereto shall not be exclusive and are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law 
or equity. 

Page 2 



 

  

 

  

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
    
    

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
   

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

(h) That the persons signing this AGREEMENT and all related documents on behalf of the 
RTC and OWNER are duly authorized to so sign and have the full power and authority to bind them, and to 
enter into and perform the obligations hereunder. 

(i) That this AGREEMENT may be executed in counterpart. 

(j) Notices. Except as otherwise expressly specified in this AGREEMENT, all notices, 
requests, consents, approvals, agreements, authorizations, acknowledgments, waivers and other 
communications required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing to the addresses set forth below and 
shall be deemed given: (i) immediately when delivered by hand; (ii) the next business day when sent by 
overnight delivery by internationally recognized express courier such as Federal Express or UPS; or (iii) 
three (3) days after deposit in the United States mail postage prepaid, registered or certified mail, return 
receipt requested: 

To RTC: To OWNER: 

 Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County
 Attn:  Michele Payne 

ROBERT F. AND EVELYN 
J. GUNN LIVING TRUST 

1105 Terminal Way, Suite 108 
Reno, NV 89502 

Attn: Robert F. Gunn 
3855 Amy Road 
Reno, NV 89510 

Signature Pages Follow 

Page 3 



 

  

 

 

 
   

 

  
 

 
 
 

 
  

 
 

  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

______________________________________ 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this AGREEMENT the day and year first 
above written. 

OWNER: 

ROBERT F. AND EVELYN J. GUNN LIVING TRUST

 By: ___________________________________ 
Name: Robert F. Gunn 
Its: Co-Trustee 

STATE OF NEVADA  ) 
)  ss.  

COUNTY OF WASHOE ) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on ________________________ by Robert F. Gunn, as Co-

Trustee of ROBERT F. AND EVELYN J. GUNN LIVING TRUST. 

S ______________________________________ 
E Notary Public 
A 
L 

My commission expires: 

Other Co-Trustee signature page:  

Page 4 



 

  

 
 
 
 

 
   

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
  

 
 

  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

______________________________________ 

OWNER: 

ROBERT F. AND EVELYN J. GUNN LIVING TRUST

 By: ___________________________________ 
Name: Evelyn J. Gunn 
Its: Co-Trustee 

STATE OF NEVADA  ) 
)  ss.  

COUNTY OF WASHOE ) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on ________________________ by Evelyn J. Gunn, as Co-

Trustee of ROBERT F. AND EVELYN J. GUNN LIVING TRUST 

. 

S ______________________________________ 
E Notary Public 
A 
L 

My commission expires: 

RTC Signature Page Follows 

Page 5 



 

  

 
 

 
  

 
 
 

 

 
  

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

---

________________________________________ 

______________________________________ 

RTC: 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION OF WASHOE COUNTY 

Bill Thomas, Executive Director 

STATE OF NEVADA  ) 
)  ss.  

COUNTY OF WASHOE ) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on __________________________________________ 

by Bill Thomas as Executive Director of the Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County. 

S ______________________________________ 
E Notary Public 
A 
L 

My commission expires: 

Page 6 



 

  

 

 
 

 

SCHEDULE 1 

FORM OF GRANT, BARGAIN AND SALE DEED 



 

       
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 
 
 

  

APN: 013-082-15 

WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO: 
Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County 
Attn: Michele Payne 
1105 Terminal Way, Suite 108 
Reno, NV 89502 

MAIL TAX STATEMENTS TO: 
Exempt 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION PREPARED BY: 
HALANA D. SALAZAR, PLS 
JACOBS ENGINEERING 
50 W. LIBERTY STREET, SUITE 205 
RENO, NV 89501 

Project: Mill Street Capacity & Safety Project 
Project #: 0211007 
Parcel: APN 013-082-15 

GRANT BARGAIN AND SALE DEED 

THIS GRANT BARGAIN AND SALE DEED, made this _______ day of 
____________________, 2024, by and between Robert F. Gunn and Evelyn J. Gunn, in their 
capacities as co-trustees of the ROBERT F. AND EVELYN J. GUNN LIVING TRUST, hereinafter 
called GRANTOR, and the REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION OF WASHOE 
COUNTY, hereinafter called GRANTEE.  

WITNESSETH: 

That the GRANTOR, for and in consideration of the sum of ONE DOLLAR ($1.00), lawful 
money of the United States of America, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt 
whereof is hereby acknowledged, does by this presents grant, bargain, sell and convey unto the 
GRANTEE and to its assigns forever, the real property described in Exhibit “A” and depicted on 
Exhibit “B”, attached hereto and made a part hereof (the “Property”). 

TOGETHER with all and singular the tenements, hereditaments and appurtenances 
thereunto belonging, or in anywise appertaining, and the reversion and reversions, remainder and 
remainders, rents, issues and profits thereof. 

Page 1 of 2 



 

       
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

  
   

 
 

  
  
 

  
 
 
 

 
  

 
 

 
   

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

______________________________________ 

______________________________________ 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD all and singular the Property, together with the appurtenances, 
unto the said GRANTEE and to any of its heirs, successors and assigns forever; and GRANTOR 
does hereby bind GRANTOR, and GRANTOR’s successors and assigns, to WARRANT and 
FOREVER DEFEND, all and singular, the Property, unto GRANTEE, and GRANTEE’s 
successors and assigns, against every person whomsoever lawfully claiming or to claim the same 
or any part thereof, by, through or under GRANTOR, but not otherwise. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF said GRANTOR has hereunto signed on the day and year first 
above written. 

GRANTOR: Robert F. Gunn and Evelyn J. Gunn in their capacities as co-trustees of the 
ROBERT F. AND EVELYN J. GUNN LIVING TRUST

 By: ___________________________________ 
Robert F. Gunn, Co-Trustee 

By: ___________________________________ 
Evelyn J. Gunn, Co-Trustee 

STATE OF NEVADA  ) 

COUNTY OF WASHOE 
)  ss.  
) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on this ________ day 
of______________________, 2024, by Robert F. Gunn and Evelyn J. Gunn, Co-Trustees of 
ROBERT F. AND EVELYN J. GUNN LIVING TRUST.

       Notary  Public  

My commission expires: 

Page 2 of 2 



LEGAL DESCRIPTION PREPARED BY: 
HALANA D. SALAZAR, PLS 
JACOBS ENGINEERING 
50 W. LIBERTY ST., SUITE 205 
RENO, NV 89501 

EXHIBIT "A" 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

All of APN 013-082-15 

Situate, lying and being in the City of Reno,. County of Washoe, State of Nevada, and more 
particularly described as being a portion of the SW 1/4 of Section 7, T. 19 N., R. 20 E., M.D.M.; 
and more fully described by metes and bounds as follows: 

BEGINNING at the northwest corner of Grantor's property, 37.18 feet 
right of and at right angles to the centerline of Mill Street at Highway Engineer's 
Station "M" 99+89.48 P.O.T.; said point of beginning further described as bearing 
S. 36°49'01" W. a distance of 2,969.71 feet from the center quarter corner of said 
Section 7; said corner further described as being a 3 inch brass cap in a survey 
well stamped "Center Sec 7/C ENGR" in Glendale Avenue; thence 
S. 63°53'38" E., along Grantor's northerly boundary line, a distance of 75.00 feet; 
thence S. 25°47'53" W., along Grantor's easterly boundary line, a distance of 
110.00 feet; thence N. 63°53'38" W. along Grantor's southerly boundary line, a 
distance of 75.00 feet; thence N. 25°47'53" E., along Grantor's westerly boundary 
line, a distance of 110.00 feet to the point of beginning; said parcel contains an 
area of 8,250 square feet (0.19 of an acre). 

It is the intent of this document to convey and it does convey the parcel of land 
described in that certain QUITCLAIM DEED, Document No. 2037868, filed for record in 
Book 4693, Page 0848, on October 10, 1996, Official Records Washoe County, Nevada. 

The Basis of Bearing for this description is the NEVADA STATE PLANE COORDINATE 
SYSTEM, NAO 83/94 DATUM, West Zone as determined by the State of Nevada, Department 
of Transportation. 

Page 1 of 1 

https://2,969.71
https://99+89.48


EXHIBIT "B" 
N 

C) 
SCALE: 1 "=50' 

FEE ACQUISITION 

"M" 

27.11' RT. 
"G" 2+16.88 P.O.T. 

27.00' RT./ 
"G" 2+12.63 P.O.T. 

,S 630 
13,0.

'<I'' ~ 

"G" 0+00.00 P.O.T. 6 P/L 
~~ . 

ROBERT F. GUNN AND EVELYN J. GUNN, CO-TRUSTEES OF THE ROBERT F. AND EVELYN J. GUNN 1996 
OWNER: REVOCABLE TRUST DATED SEPTEMBER 12 1996 
ASSESSOR PARCEL NO's: ____ ______ ____________ ___~A~P~N~ 01~3~-0~8=2~-1~5----1 
SECTION, TOWNSHIP, RANGE:_ _ ________ _ ______ _,S=W~ 1~/4~S=E=C,_,_T~IO~N~ 7~T'---'-. ~19~ N~. ~R~. 2=0~E=·-----1 
AREA: _______________________________,8=2=5=0~S~Q=U~A~R=E,_,_F---=E=E"'-T----t 
LOCATION: _______________________=l'---'----'-------"''--'- -== = = ~ "'-~ "'"" '"""A '---'-O=--iC TY OF_,_RENO~C=OUNTY OF_,W,_,_S=H =E 

JOB NO: W7Y47500 

JACOBS.DATE: 07/31/2024
PROPERTY LOCATION MAP 50 W. LIBERTY ST. STE #205 

DRAWN BY: SB RENO, NV 89501 
(775) 329-7300 

CHECKED BY: HS 

013-082-15_PE.dgn 



  

 

  

 

  
 

  
   

  

  

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.5.1

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: James Gee, Director of Public Transportation and Operations

  SUBJECT: Carahsoft Technology Corporation, Swiftly Software Subscription 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve a contract with Carahsoft Technology Corporation to provide a subscription to Swiftly’s transit 
data platform to share real-time passenger information, manage day-to-day operations and improve service 
performance for public transportation utilizing the State of Nevada Cloud Services procurement contract 
No. 99SWC-NV24-17504, in an amount not-to-exceed $472,526.60. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

Swiftly analyzes billions of data points to create the transit industry’s most accurate vehicle location 
information. This platform powers operations and performance insights for efficiencies in our public 
transportation service. The software will seamlessly connect data across RTC’s hardware and software 
platforms. The products are designed to improve service reliability and long-term planning for the agency, 
ultimately improving the passenger experience. The quote dated July 10, 2024 covers annual subscription 
services beginning October 1, 2024 through September 30, 2027. 

This project is in line with the Board’s adoption of the Transit Optimization Plans Strategies (TOPS) 
recommendation to improve technology to improve service delivery and passenger communication. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The software is included in the FY25 budget. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 

https://472,526.60


  

     
    

     
 

    

 

  
 

  
   

 

      
 

 
  

  
   

  
  

    

   
  

 

    
    

     
   

 
   

    
    

 

AGREEMENT FOR SUPPLY OF SWIFTLY SOFTWARE 

This agreement (“Agreement”) is dated and effective as of October 1, 2024, by and between 
the Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County, Nevada (“RTC”) and Carahsoft 
Technology Corporation (“Contractor”). This Agreement implements the purchase of software 
from the State of Nevada Master Agreement # 99SWC-NV24-17504. 

1. Term. The term of this agreement shall commence on the effective date above and shall 
end on September 30, 2027. 

2. Scope of Work.  Contractor shall provide the goods and services described in the scope of 
work attached as Exhibit A. 

3. Time for Performance. Upon issuance of the Purchase Order by the RTC, Swiftly will 
schedule and organize a technical scoping call and kick-off meeting, provide all necessary 
materials and resources for the project team, and the expected schedule will be delivered during 
the kickoff phase and adjusted throughout the project as tasks and milestones are completed as set 
form in Exhibit A. 

4. Compensation. RTC shall pay Contractor for the goods and services pursuant to, and in 
an amount not to exceed, the pricing and fee schedule attached as Exhibit B. 

5. Proceeding with Work. Contractor shall not proceed with work until both parties have 
executed this Agreement and RTC has issued a purchase order.  If Contractor proceeds with work 
before those conditions have been satisfied, Contractor shall forfeit any and all right to 
reimbursement and payment for work performed during that period.  In the event Contractor 
violates this section, Contractor waives any and all claims and damages against RTC, its 
employees, agents, and affiliates, including but not limited to monetary damages, and any other 
remedy available at law or in equity arising under the terms of this Agreement. 

6. Invoices/Payment. Contractor shall submit invoices to accountspayable@rtcwashoe.com. 
RTC’s payment terms are 30 days after the receipt of the invoice.  Simple interest will be paid at 
the rate of half a percent (0.5%) per month on all invoices approved by RTC that are not paid 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of the invoice. 

7. Legal/Regulatory Compliance. 
a. Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local government laws, 

regulations and ordinances.  Contractor shall be responsible for obtaining all necessary 
permits and licenses for performance of services under this Agreement.  Upon request 
of RTC, Contractor shall furnish RTC certificates of compliance with all such laws, 
orders and regulations. 

b. Contractor represents and warrants that none of the services to be rendered pursuant to 
this Agreement constitute the performance of public work, as that term is defined by 
Section 338.010(17) of the Nevada Revised Statutes.  To the extent Contractor does 
engage in such public work, Contractor shall be responsible for paying the prevailing 
wage as required by Chapter 338 of the Nevada Revised Statutes. 

SAMPLE

-1-

mailto:accountspayable@rtcwashoe.com


 

 

        
 
 

  
 

      
  

   
 

    
  

 
    

  
   

   
      

  
 

   
    

  
    

   
 

    
 

   
 

   
   

  
  

  
 

     
   

   
   

  
  

    
 

   
   

 
 

8. Insurance. Contractor shall obtain all types and amounts of insurance set forth in Exhibit 
C, and shall comply with all of its terms.  Contractor shall not commence any work or permit any 
employee/agent to commence any work until satisfactory proof has been submitted to RTC that all 
insurance requirements have been met.  

9. Indemnification. Contractor’s obligations are set forth in Exhibit C.  Said obligation 
would also extend to any liability of RTC resulting from any action to clear any lien and/or to 
recover for damage to RTC property. 

10. Termination. 
a. Mutual Assent. This Agreement may be terminated by mutual written agreement 

of the parties. 
b. Convenience. RTC may terminate this Agreement in whole or in part for 

convenience upon written notice to Contractor. 
c. Default. Either party may terminate this Agreement for default by providing 

written notice of termination, provided that the non-defaulting party must first 
provide written notice of default and give the defaulting party and opportunity to 
cure the default within a reasonable period of time. 

11. Rights, Remedies and Disputes 
a. RTC shall have the following rights in the event that RTC deems the Contractor 

guilty of a breach of any term under the Agreement: 
i. The right to take over and complete the work or any part thereof as agency 

for and at the expense of the Contractor, either directly or through other 
contractors; 

ii. The right to cancel this Agreement as to any or all of the work yet to be 
performed; 

iii. The right to specific performance, an injunction or any other appropriate 
equitable remedy; and 

iv. The right to money damages. 
b. Inasmuch as the Contractor can be adequately compensated by money damages for 

any breach of this Agreement, which may be committed by RTC, the Contractor 
expressly agrees that no default, act or omission of RTC shall constitute a material 
breach of this Contract, entitling Contractor to cancel or rescind the Agreement 
(unless RTC directs Contractor to do so) or to suspend or abandon performance. 

c. Disputes arising in the performance of this Agreement that are not resolved by 
agreement of the parties shall be decided in writing by the authorized representative 
of RTC’s Executive Director. This decision shall be final and conclusive unless 
within 10 days from the date of receipt of its copy, Contractor mails or otherwise 
furnishes a written appeal to RTC’s Executive Director. In connection with any 
such appeal, Contractor shall be afforded an opportunity to be heard and to offer 
evidence in support of its position. The decision of RTC’s Executive Director shall 
be binding upon the Contractor and the Contractor shall abide be the decision. 

d. Unless otherwise directed by RTC, Contractor shall continue performance under 
this Agreement while matters in dispute are being resolved. 

SAMPLE

-2-



 

 

    
  

     
   

  
     

 
    

     
    

  
 

 
      

    
 

 
  

     
 

 
        

   
 

     
   

 
     

  
    

    
 

    
   

 
   

      
 

 
   

 
 

 
    

  
   

  

SAMPLE

12. Ownership of Work. Plans, reports, studies, tracings, maps, software, electronic files, 
licenses, programs, equipment manuals, and databases and other documents or instruments of 
service prepared or obtained by Contractor in the course of performing work under this Agreement, 
shall be delivered to and become the property of RTC. Software already developed and purchased 
by Contractor prior to the execution of the Project that will be used in the Project and services 
rendered under this Agreement, is excluded from this requirement. Contractor and its sub-
contractors shall convey and transfer all copyrightable interests, trademarks, licenses, and other 
intellectual property rights in such materials to RTC upon completion of all services under this 
Agreement and upon payment in full of all compensation due to Contractor in accordance with the 
terms of this Agreement.  Basic survey notes, sketches, charts, computations and similar data 
prepared or obtained by Contractor under this Agreement shall, upon request, also be provided to 
RTC. 

13. Records. Contractor will permit RTC access to any books, documents, papers and records 
of Contractor pertaining to this Agreement, and shall maintain such records for a period of not less 
than three years. 

14. Exhibits.  The exhibits to this Agreement, and any additional terms and conditions 
specified therein, are a material part hereof and are incorporated by reference as though fully set 
forth herein. 

15. Exclusive Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the parties and 
supersedes any prior verbal or written statements or agreements between the parties. 

16. Amendment. No alteration, amendment or modification of this Agreement shall be 
effective unless it is in writing and signed by both parties. 

17. No Assignment. Contractor shall not assign, sublease, or transfer this Agreement or any 
interest therein, directly or indirectly by operation of law, without the prior written consent of 
RTC.  Any attempt to do so without the prior written consent of RTC shall be null and void, and 
any assignee, subleasee, or transferee shall acquire no right or interest by reason thereof. 

18. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by 
the laws of the State of Nevada. 

19. Venue.  Any lawsuit brought to enforce this Agreement shall be brought in the Second 
Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, County of Washoe appropriate court in the State of 
Nevada. 

20. Attorneys’ Fees. In the event of a dispute between the parties result in a proceeding in 
any Court of Nevada having jurisdiction, the prevailing party shall be entitled to an award of costs 
and any reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

21. Certification Required by Nevada Senate Bill 27 (2017).  Contractor expressly certifies 
and agrees, as a material part of this Agreement, that it is not currently engaged in a boycott of 
Israel.  Contractor further agrees, as a material part of this Agreement, it will not engage in a 
boycott of Israel for the duration of this Agreement.  If, at any time during the formation or duration 

-3-



 

 

   
    

 
      

  
  

 
 

  
 
 

      
    
 

 
  

 
 
 
      

   
 

of this Agreement, Contractor is engaged or engages in a boycott of Israel, it will constitute a 
material breach of this Agreement. 

22. Federal Clauses. This Agreement is funded, in whole or in part, with federal funds.  As a 
condition for receiving payment under this Agreement, Contractor agrees to comply with any and 
all applicable federal clauses attached as Exhibit D, and those clauses are incorporated herein by 
reference. 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION 
COMMISSION OF WASHOE COUNTY 

BY: 
Bill Thomas, AICP, Executive Director 

CARAHSOFT TECHNOLOGY 
CORPORATION 

BY: 
Madeline Barfield, Manager, Contracts 
Team 

SAMPLE

-4-



EXHIBIT A 

Implementation Phase Details 

Project Team 

Swiftly 
● Implementation Manager – Project main point of contact and responsible for delivering 

a successful project for the RTC Washoe. Coordinate weekly/biweekly touch points with 
the agency & deliver training for the products before transitioning to AM for graduation. 

● Account Manager – The Account Manager will be present throughout the 
implementation to align on long-term goals to make sure Swiftly is always solving the 
most critical issues for RTC Washoe. The AM will continually expand your return on 
investment, deepen the reach and usage of our solutions, and overall help you get more 
value out of Swiftly’s offerings. The AM will be present at various phases throughout the 
duration of the project, attending occasional project status meetings as-needed. 

RTC Washoe 
● Project Sponsor – The sponsor is accountable for the overall success of the project. To 

achieve this, the sponsor will support by ensuring the business needs are valid, correctly 
prioritized, and provide a point of contact who will support the implementation from the 
agency perspective. The sponsor will also be the main point of contact for escalation 
and reprioritization of resources at the agency. 

● IT Representative – The IT personnel will be the main point of contact from the agency 
perspective. They would be considered a Project Manager from the agency to support 
project activities and drive the project to its graduation phase. 

Scope of Work & Responsibility Matrix 

The following scope of work & responsibility matrix describes Swiftly’s implementation process 
for RTC Washoe. Tasks not defined in this document are considered out-of-scope for this 
project and cannot be accommodated unless an agreed-upon change-order is issued. 

Swiftly’s entire implementation process, as defined below, will be completed remotely by the 
Implementation Manager with no on-site requirement. If an on-site visit is requested of Swiftly, 
such visit will be subject to a fee. 

SAMPLE



What happens? Swiftly Responsibilities & RTC Washoe Responsibilities & 

Deliverables Deliverables 

Kick-Off & Technical Scoping 

Phase 1: Kick-Off & Technical 
Scoping 

Technical scoping is an opportunity to align 
stakeholders, confirm technical details and identify 
roles and responsibilities. This call will set the 
stage for the Kick-Off meeting and project plan. 

During the one-hour virtual kick-off meeting, we 
will review our objectives for this project, clarify 
the implementation process, review the scope of 
work, and establish the next steps to achieve 
success and maintain our implementation 
timeline. 

SAMPLE
Swiftly Team will: 

Schedule and organize a technical scoping call 
and kick-off meeting, inviting all key stakeholders 
to attend. 

Provide all necessary materials and resources for 
the project team to understand the 
implementation process and timeline in detail, 
including next steps and key responsibilities. The 
expected schedule will be delivered during the 
kickoff phase and adjusted throughout the project 
as tasks and milestones are completed. 

RTC Washoe Team will: 

Help coordinate key stakeholders to be available 
for the Technical Scoping call and the Kick-Off 
Meeting. 

Identify the project stakeholder at RTC Washoe 
who will be responsible for maintaining 
accountability for any project tasks that are owned 
by the organization. 

Phase 2: Data Integration 

Data Integration Swiftly Team will: 

Dependency: In order for Operator Reports to be Provide project team with necessary data 
functional, Swiftly will need to have a stable integration documentation. 
source to ingest Operator IDs from RTC Washoe. 

This phase is in place to verify that all necessary 
data sources are integrated into the Swiftly 

Integrate GTFS-static data into the Swiftly 
platform. 

platform, including: Ingest and use operator ID information provided 

● GTFS static files – provided via URL fetch 
location, these files establish scheduled 

by RTC Washoe to display in Swiftly Dashboard 
reports 

services and route alignments for RTC 
Washoe. 

● AVL feed – this dataset is needed to get 
real-time vehicle locations and vehicle 
assignment information. 

RTC Washoe Team will: 

Provide valid GTFS-static to Swiftly staff (should 
be provided via fetch URL or file emailed to Swiftly) 

Provide Swiftly with operator ID information via the 
supported methods: GTFS-rt or other API endpoint 
(endpoints and credentials must be provided to 
Swiftly), or by using Swiftly’s API to post driver ID 
information (requires both driver ID and block ID). 



What happens? Swiftly Responsibilities & RTC Washoe Responsibilities & 

Deliverables Deliverables 

Phase 3: Passenger-Facing Tools 

Setup & Configuration 

Passenger-Facing Tools Setup & Configuration: 

Dependency: The integration of real-time 
predictions into any passenger-facing tools cannot 
happen until Swiftly is receiving stable GPS 
information via Vontas AVL feed and GTFS-static 
integration is complete. 

The following tools will be included in this setup: 

● Transit app, the most popular transit 
prediction app on the market. 

● Google Maps, the most common navigation 
tool available. 

● Swiftly’s Passenger Predictions Map, an 
interactive web map. This is a web-based tool 
that can be embedded within any website or 
hyperlinked from any website. This tool is not 
customizable and is offered as a 
complementary, out-of-the-box tool for 
passengers. 

● Any other desired passenger-facing tools. 
Swiftly provides real-time data in the 
industry-standard GTFS-realtime format, 
making it easy to share with any other tools. 
Swiftly can share the Swiftly API (in GTFS-rt 
format) with any 3rd party of choice, and it is 
the responsibility of those 3rd parties to 
complete that integration. 

SAMPLE
Swiftly Team will: 

Setup and configure the Passenger Predictions 
Map, a web-based predictions tool. 

Work with Transit app to facilitate integration of 
real-time predictions. 

This can take 1-4 weeks for Transit to 
complete this task, and Swiftly does not have 
any control of their timelines for delivery. 

Work with Google to get real-time predictions 
integrated into Google Maps. 

This can take 4-8 weeks to complete, 
primarily due to Google’s own timeline. 
Swiftly does not have any control of their 
timelines for delivery. 

Share the Swiftly Real-time API, which includes 
real-time predictions and vehicle locations, along 
with documentation and training, to any additional 
3rd-party consumers of predictions. 

Swiftly’s responsibility lies in giving access to 
real-time predictions for these 3rd-party 
consumers, completion of the integration into 
these tools is subject to that 3rd-party’s 
timeline. Swiftly is not responsible for these 
timelines. 

Support RTC Washoe with the public launch of 
real-time passenger tools by providing a press kit. 

RTC Washoe Team will: 

Communicate any additional passenger-facing 
tools that are desired to have real-time 
predictions integrated into. 

For passenger-facing tools that are managed 
internally (in-house built or managed), RTC 
Washoe will connect Swiftly with the stakeholder 
to coordinate that integration. 

For Google Maps integration, RTC Washoe will 
need to either: a) give permission to Google (in 
writing) for Swiftly to manage the integration of 
GTFS-RT into this tool, or b) manage the 
integration into Google Maps themselves (if 
desired), with support from Swiftly. 

For any public messaging about the launch of 
real-time predictions, RTC Washoe will send 
mentions or descriptions of Swiftly to the Swiftly 
team for approval. 

Swiftly Dashboard Training Swiftly Team will: RTC Washoe Team will: 

Phase 4: Swiftly Dashboard Through a series of remote virtual training Offer up to 6 hours of live training for RTC Washoe Provide work emails, first and last names, for all 
sessions, Swiftly will provide in-depth, team staff that need Swiftly Dashboard account access. 

Training team-specific training to staff that include basic 
interface functions, advanced techniques, and Schedule and lead training sessions on the Swiftly Help coordinate staff and facilities for remote 
tactical use cases of the following Swiftly Dashboard for all staff, including, but not limited 



What happens? Swiftly Responsibilities & RTC Washoe Responsibilities & 

Deliverables Deliverables 

Dashboard. 

Swiftly will hold live training to cover all of the 
Swiftly Dashboard products. These can be spread 
over remote training sessions. 

All remote training sessions will be recorded and 
shared afterward. 

Training of the Swiftly Dashboard will include the 
following modules: 

● Live Operations 
● Service Adjustments 
● On-Time Performance 
● Run-Times 
● Operator Reports 

Early-Access Swiftly Dashboard Training 

Swiftly will provide early-access training to select 
project team members early on in this project in 
an effort to get RTC Washoe staff value out of this 
tool as early as possible. Expanded training, which 
will cover all other staff members, will commence 
once data validation is complete. 

to: dispatchers, supervisors, administrators, training sessions. 
maintenance technicians, and customer service. 

Assign responsibility of populating and managing 
Create and manage all accounts to access Swiftly the Accounts Sheet with users on an ongoing 
Dashboard. Swiftly will create an Accounts Sheet basis. 
which will allow visibility to RTC Washoe staff on 
who has access to their data and will allow staff to 
request new accounts. 

Provide all necessary materials for remote training 
as well as ongoing education to staff. 

SAMPLE
Phase 5: Data Validation 

Phase Description: Data Validation 

Dependency: Data Validation phase can begin once 
data integration phase is complete. 

This phase ensures that RTC Washoe’s historical 
and real-time data is in excellent quality, ready for 
use by staff and passengers. At this stage of the 
implementation, Swiftly will have the ability to 
review data and take note of changes that could 
improve real-time and historical data outputs. Data 
validation is completed by: 

● Running data health checks to assess 
overall reporting quality and identify areas 
of focus 

● Reviewing GTFS-static files for general 
accuracy (based on operational 
observations over time), providing notes of 
inconsistencies and the effect on Swiftly’s 

Swiftly Team will: 

Analyze data and provide notes to staff on issues 
via Google Sheet log. There are data-related 
issues that may not be within Swiftly’s control to 
fix. For example, problems related to GTFS-static 
accuracy can negatively impact historical data. In 
these cases, it is only Swiftly’s responsibility to 
document the impact of those GTFS-static 
inaccuracies and suggest a fix to the relevant 
project members. 

In cases where it’s feasible, make adjustments to 
Swiftly’s software, as deemed necessary by 
Swiftly, that result from findings from the data 
validation process. 

Convey any GTFS-static related adjustments to 
RTC Washoe for update/correction. 

RTC Washoe Team will: 

Provide information to help Swiftly understand 
operational practices that relate to data quality 
seen in historical reports. 

Make adjustments and updates to GTFS-static per 
requests from Swiftly based on the data validation 
observations. 



What happens? Swiftly Responsibilities & RTC Washoe Responsibilities & 

Deliverables Deliverables 

reporting where issues exist, relaying them 
back to RTC Washoe staff for clarification 
or modification (if applicable). 

● Analyzing historical records to ensure the 
usefulness and overall usability of reports 

Note: Duration of the data validation process can 
vary based on data quality and the number of 
issues discovered. Answering questions during the 
data validation process can greatly help in speeding 
up issue resolution. 

SAMPLEMilestone: System Acceptance & 

Project Graduation 

Implementation Graduation 

This marks the official completion of the 
implementation project. The main point of contact 
is transferred from Implementation Manager to 
Account Manager (AM). 

From this point forward, the Account Manager 
(AM) will continue to work with the Project Team 
and RTC Washoe staff to refine long-term goals, 
continue support, and improve usage and value of 
the Swiftly Dashboard and real-time passenger 
information. 

Swiftly Team will: 

Schedule and lead the implementation graduation 
meeting. 

Gather feedback on the implementation process. 

Provide proper information about communication 
changes from Implementation Manager to 
Account Manager. 

Provide RTC Washoe staff with System 
Acceptance guidance for testing and sign-off of 
project deliverables. 

During graduation, if there are any outstanding 
unresolved items from the implementation 
process, the AM will carry the ownership and 
resolution of those items going forward. 

RTC Washoe Team will: 

Use Swiftly’s System Acceptance guidance to 
provide sign-off on the project deliverables within 
7 days of receipt. 

Help coordinate key stakeholders to be available 
for a 30-minute graduation call. 

Complete brief NPS survey following completion 
of implementation. 

Provide feedback to the Swiftly team on the 
implementation process. 



Post-Implementation Customer Success and 

Support 
After the completion of the implementation, your Account Manager (AM) will continue to be your ongoing 
main point of contact. Your Account Manager will: 

● Be your first point of contact if you have questions, are encountering issues, or need more support 

● Work hard to guarantee that every member of your team is satisfied and find immense value in our 
tools 

● Apply a keen analytical eye to spot trends and proactively communicate problems with the Swiftly 
Product & Engineering team 

Additionally, you’ll have access to our team of technical support representatives, who will be available to 
answer product questions and troubleshoot issues as they arise. 

Swiftly provides a support system that has been reviewed by our customers as industry-leading, with a Net 
Promoter Score (NPS) that is consistently above 59 (deemed “excellent”), reflecting confidence in Swiftly’s 
quality of service. Swiftly’s high-quality support system involves a combination of meetings (in person, over 
the phone, and via Zoom video) and email. Agreed-upon communication comes at no additional cost. With 
your Swiftly contract, RTC Washoe will have unlimited seats/users for the Swiftly platform, and the Swiftly 
Customer Success team offers free ongoing training of the Swiftly dashboard as needed and when new 
users come on board. Swiftly prides itself on building long-lasting partnerships with Transit Agencies—for 
some of our Swiftly success stories, see our blog for how Swiftly helps Transit Agencies every day 
(https://www.goswift.ly/resources). 

Swiftly’s Customer Success & Support Team maintains an SLA of one business day (24/5) for first 
response time for non-emergency email requests. SAMPLE

https://www.goswift.ly/resources


EXHIBIT B 
PRICE QUOTATION 

CARAHSOFT TECHNOLOGY CORP 

11493 SUNSET HILLS ROAD I SUITE 100 I RESTON, VIRGINIA 20190 

PHONE (703) 871-8585 I FAX (703) 871-8505 carahsoft. 
WWW.CARAHSOFT.COM I SALES@CARAHSOFT.COM 

TO: Jim Gee 
Director of Public Transportation 
Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County 
1105 Terminal Wy 
Reno, NV 89502 USA 

EMAIL: jgee@rtcwashoe.com 

PHONE: 

TERMS: Contract Number: 99SWC-NV24-17504 
NASPO Master Contract Number: AR2472 
Additional Terms: Nevada Participating Addendum 
Contract Term: 06/15/2017 to 09/15/2026 
Shipping Point: FOB Destination 
Credit Cards: VISA/MasterCard/AMEX 
Remit To: Same as Above 
Payment Terms: Net 30 (On Approved Credit) 
Sales Tax May Apply 

FROM: Hannah Rose 
Carahsoft Technology Corp. 
11493 Sunset Hills Road 
Suite 100 
Reston, Virginia 20190 

EMAIL: Hannah.Rose@carahsoft.com 

PHONE: (571) 662-3121 

QUOTE NO: 

QUOTE DATE: 

QUOTE EXPIRES: 

RFQ NO: 

SHIPPING: 

TOTAL PRICE: 

TOTAL QUOTE: 

SAMPLE
48599530 

07/10/2024 

08/09/2024 

GROUND 

$472,526.60 

$472,526.60 

LINE NO. PART NO. 

SWFT-CP-RTPP-3-491 

2 SWFT-CS-LO-3-491 

3 SWFT-CS-OTP-3-491 

4 SWFT-CS-RT-3-491 

5 SWFT-CS-OR-3-491 

6 SWFT-CP-SA-3-491 

7 SWFT-PS-IS-3-491 

CONFIDENTIAL 

PAGE 1 of3 

DESCRIPTION 

YEAR 1 OF 3 

Annual subscription per vehicle for Real-Time Passenger 
Predictions. 50-99 vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CP-RTPP-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2024 
End Date: 09/30/2025 

Annual subscription per vehicle for Live Operations. 50-99 
vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CS-LO-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2024 
End Date: 09/30/2025 

Annual subscription per vehicle for On-Time Performance. 
50-99 vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CS-OTP-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2024 
End Date: 09/30/2025 

Annual subscription per vehicle for Run-Times. 50-99 
vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CS-RT-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2024 
End Date: 09/30/2025 

Annual subscription per vehicle for Operator Reports. 50-
99 vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CS-OR-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2024 
End Date: 09/30/2025 

Annual subscription per vehicle for Service Adjustments. 
50-99 vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CP-SA-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2024 
End Date: 09/30/2025 

One-time implementation fee per vehicle, per product. 50-
99 vehicle tier. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-PS-IS-3 

YEAR 1 OF 3 SUBTOTAL: 

QUOTE PRICE QTY EXTENDED PRICE 

$310.75 COOP 70 $21,752.50 

$310.75 COOP 70 $21,752.50 

$310.75 COOP 70 $21,752.50 

$310.75 COOP 70 $21,752.50 

$310.75 COOP 70 $21,752.50 

$456.99 COOP 70 $31,989.30 

$57.20 COOP 350 $20,020.00 

$160,771.80 

QUOTE DATE: 07/10/2024 

QUOTE NO: 48599530 

https://160,771.80
https://20,020.00
https://472,526.60
https://472,526.60
mailto:Hannah.Rose@carahsoft.com
mailto:jgee@rtcwashoe.com
mailto:SALES@CARAHSOFT.COM
WWW.CARAHSOFT.COM


LINE NO. PART NO. 

8 SWFT-CP-RTPP-3-491 

9 SWFT-CS-LO-3-491 

10 SWFT-CS-OTP-3-491 

11 SWFT-CS-RT-3-491 

12 SWFT-CS-OR-3-491 

13 SWFT-CP-SA-3-491 

14 SWFT-CP-RTPP-3-491 

15 SWFT-CS-LO-3-491 

16 SWFT-CS-OTP-3-491 

17 SWFT-CS-RT-3-491 

18 SWFT-CS-OR-3-491 

PRICE QUOTATION 

CARAHSOFT TECHNOLOGY CORP 

11493 SUNSET HILLS ROAD I SUITE 100 I RESTON, VIRGINIA 20190 

PHONE (703) 871-8585 I FAX (703) 871-8505 

WWW.CARAHSOFT.COM I SALES@CARAHSOFT.COM 

DESCRIPTION QUOTE PRICE 

YEAR 2 OF 3 

Annual subscription per vehicle for Real-Time Passenger $332.51 COOP 
Predictions. 50-99 vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CP-RTPP-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2025 
End Date: 09/30/2026 

Annual subscription per vehicle for Live Operations. 50-99 $332.51 COOP 
vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CS-LO-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2025 
End Date: 09/30/2026 

Annual subscription per vehicle for On-Time Performance. $332.51 COOP 
50-99 vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CS-OTP-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2025 
End Date: 09/30/2026 

Annual subscription per vehicle for Run-Times. 50-99 $332.51 COOP 
vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CS-RT-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2025 
End Date: 09/30/2026 

Annual subscription per vehicle for Operator Reports. 50- $332.51 COOP 
99 vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CS-OR-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2025 
End Date: 09/30/2026 

Annual subscription per vehicle for Service Adjustments. $488.98 COOP 
50-99 vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CP-SA-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2025 
End Date: 09/30/2026 

YEAR 2 OF 3 SUBTOTAL: 

YEAR3 OF 3 

Annual subscription per vehicle for Real-Time Passenger $355.78 COOP 
Predictions. 50-99 vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CP-RTPP-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2026 
End Date: 09/30/2027 

Annual subscription per vehicle for Live Operations. 50-99 $355. 78 COOP 
vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CS-LO-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2026 
End Date: 09/30/2027 

Annual subscription per vehicle for On-Time Performance. $355.78 COOP 
50-99 vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CS-OTP-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2026 
End Date: 09/30/2027 

Annual subscription per vehicle for Run-Times. 50-99 $355. 78 COOP 
vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CS-RT-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2026 
End Date: 09/30/2027 

Annual subscription per vehicle for Operator Reports. 50- $355.78 COOP 
99 vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CS-OR-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2026 
End Date: 09/30/2027 

SAMPLE

carahsoft. 

QTY EXTENDED PRICE 

70 $23,275.70 

70 $23,275.70 

70 $23,275.70 

70 $23,275.70 

70 $23,275.70 

70 $34,228.60 

$150,607.10 

70 $24,904.60 

70 $24,904.60 

70 $24,904.60 

70 $24,904.60 

70 $24,904.60 

CONFIDENTIAL QUOTE DATE: 07/10/2024 

QUOTE NO: 48599530PAGE 2 of3 

https://50-$355.78
https://50-$332.51
mailto:SALES@CARAHSOFT.COM
WWW.CARAHSOFT.COM


PRICE QUOTATION 

CARAHSOFT TECHNOLOGY CORP 

11493 SUNSET HILLS ROAD I SUITE 100 I RESTON, VIRGINIA 20190 

PHONE (703) 871-8585 I FAX (703) 871-8505 carahsoft. 
WWW.CARAHSOFT.COM I SALES@CARAHSOFT.COM 

LINE NO. PART NO. DESCRIPTION QUOTE PRICE QTY EXTENDED PRICE 

19 SWFT-CP-SA-3-491 Annual subscription per vehicle for Service Adjustments. 
50-99 vehicle tier. Unlimited agency users. 
Swiftly, Inc - SWFT-CP-SA-3 
Start Date: 10/01/2026 
End Date: 09/30/2027 

VEAR 3 OF 3 SUBTOTAL: 

$523.21 COOP 70 $36,624.70 

$161,147.70 

SUBTOTAL: $472,526.60 

TOTAL PRICE: 

TOTAL QUOTE: 

$472,526.60 

$472,526.60 

The exact service term (the 'Initial Term'): 36 Months (10/1/2024 - 9/30/2027). 

Billing Terms: Annually in Advance 

Year 1 Total Price: $160,771.80 

Year 2 Total Price: $150,607.10 

Year 3 Total Price: $161,147.70 

SAMPLE

CONFIDENTIAL QUOTE DATE: 07/10/2024 

QUOTE NO: 48599530PAGE 3 of3 

mailto:SALES@CARAHSOFT.COM
WWW.CARAHSOFT.COM


   

 
  

  
 

  

  
  

   
   

 
  

  

   
  

  
 

   
 

   
   

 

      
   

  
  

     
   

  
 

     
 

    
 

   
    

 
   

EXHIBIT C 
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR 

SOFTWARE SERVICE AGREEMENTS 
2022-07-08 Version 

1. INTRODUCTION 

IT IS HIGHLY RECOMMENDED THAT CONTRACTORS CONFER WITH THEIR 
INSURANCE CARRIERS OR BROKERS TO DETERMINE THE AVAILABILITY OF THESE 
INSURANCE CERTIFICATES AND ENDORSEMENTS IN ADVANCE OF PROPOSAL 
SUBMISSION.  IF THERE ARE ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THESE INSURANCE 
REQUIREMENTS, IT IS RECOMMENDED THAT THE AGENT/BROKER CONTACT 
RTC’S FINANCE DIRECTOR AT (775) 335-1845. 

2. INDEMNIFICATION 

CONTRACTOR agrees to defend, save and hold harmless and fully indemnify RTC including its 
elected officials, officers, employees, and agents (hereafter, “Indemnitees”) from and against any 
and all claims, proceedings, actions, liability and damages, including attorneys’ fees and defense 
costs incurred in any action or proceeding (collectively “Damages”) arising out of: 

A. Any breach of duty, neglect, error, misstatement, misleading statement or omission 
committed in the conduct of CONTRACTOR’S profession, work or services rendered by 
(i) CONTRACTOR, its employees, agents, officers, or directors, (ii) subcontractors 
(hereafter, “Subs”), or (iii) anyone else for which CONTRACTOR may be legally 
responsible; and 

B. The negligent acts of CONTRACTOR, its employees, agents, officers, directors, Subs, or 
anyone else for which CONTRACTOR is legally responsible; and 

C. The infringement of any patent or copyright resulting from the use by the Indemnitees of 
any equipment, part, component or other deliverable (including software) supplied by 
CONTRACTOR under or as a result of this Agreement, but excluding any infringement 
resulting from the modification or alteration by the Indemnitees of any equipment, part, 
component, or other deliverable (including software) except as consented to by 
CONTRACTOR. 

The Damages shall include, but are not limited to, those resulting from personal injury to any 
person, including bodily injury, sickness, disease or death and injury to real property or personal 
property, tangible or intangible, and the loss of use of any of that property, whether or not it is 
physically injured.  

If the Indemnitees are involved in defending actions, CONTRACTOR shall reimburse the 
Indemnitees for the time spent by such personnel at the rate the Indemnitees pay for such services. 

If an Indemnitee is found to be liable in the proceeding, then CONTRACTOR’S obligation 
hereunder shall be limited to the proportional share of the liability attributed to CONTRACTOR. 

SAMPLE

Exhibit C - 1 



   

  

   
  

 
   

 

  

     
   

  
  
  

  

   
 

    
   

    
    

 
    

 

  

  
 

     
   

 
  

  

     
    

   
   

   
 

     

In determining whether a claim is subject to indemnification, the incident underlying the claim 
shall determine the nature of the claim. 

In the event of a violation or an infringement under paragraph 2.C above and the use is enjoined, 
CONTRACTOR, at its sole expense, shall either (1) secure for the Indemnitees the right to 
continue using the materials by suspension of any injunction or by procuring a license or licenses 
for the Indemnitees; or (2) modify the materials so that they become non-infringing. This covenant 
shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 

3. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

Prior to the start of any work on a RTC project, CONTRACTOR shall purchase and maintain 
insurance of the types and limits as described herein insuring against claims for injuries to persons 
or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the work 
hereunder by CONTRACTOR, its Subs, or their employees, agents, or representatives.  The cost 
of all such insurance shall be borne by CONTRACTOR. 

4. VERIFICATION OF COVERAGE 

CONTRACTOR shall furnish RTC with a certificate(s) of insurance, executed by a duly 
authorized representative of each insurer, showing compliance with the insurance requirements set 
forth herein, on forms acceptable to RTC. All deductibles and self-insured retentions shall be 
shown on the certificate.  All certificates and endorsements are to be addressed to RTC’s Finance 
Director and be received by RTC before work commences.  Upon request, the CONTRACTOR 
agrees that RTC has the right to review CONTRACTOR’S and the Sub’s insurance policies, or 
certified copies of the policies. Copies of applicable policy forms or endorsements confirming 
required additional insured, waiver of subrogation and notice of cancellation provisions are 
required to be provided with any certificate(s) evidencing the required coverage. 

5. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION 

CONTRACTOR or its insurers shall provide at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice to RTC 
prior to the cancellation or non-renewal of any insurance required under this Agreement. An 
exception may be included to provide at least ten (10) days’ written notice if cancellation is due to 
non-payment of premium. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible to provide prior written notice to 
RTC as soon as practicable upon receipt of any notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in 
required limits or other material change in the insurance required under this Agreement. 

6. SUBCONTRACTORS & SUBCONTRACTORS 

CONTRACTOR shall include all Subcontractors and Subconsultants (referred to collectively as 
“Subs”) as insureds under its liability policies OR shall cause Subs employed by CONTRACTOR 
to purchase and maintain separate liability coverages and limits of the types specified herein. If 
any Subs maintain separate liability coverages and limits, each shall include the RTC an additional 
insureds under its commercial general liability policy, subject to the same requirements stated 
herein, without requiring a written contract or agreement between each of the additional insureds 
and any sub-consultant or sub-contractor. Any separate coverage limits of liability maintained by 

SAMPLE

Exhibit C - 2 



   

      
  

  
    

    
 

   

    
 

    
    
   

   

  

 
   

    
     

  
 

  
 

  
 

 
      

   
  

 
      

 
  

   
    

    
 

 
  

  

Subs shall be at least $1,000,000 per occurrence and at least $2,000,000 for any applicable 
coverage aggregates or the amount customarily carried by the Sub, whichever is GREATER.  If 
any Subs provide their own insurance with limits less than required of the Contractor, Contractor 
shall include Subs in their coverage up to the full limits required of the Contractor. When requested 
by RTC, CONTRACTOR shall furnish copies of certificates of insurance evidencing coverage for 
each Sub.  

7. DEDUCTIBLES AND SELF-INSURED RETENTIONS 

Any deductibles or self-insured retentions that exceed $25,000 per occurrence or claim must be 
declared to RTC’s Finance Director prior to signing this Agreement. RTC is entitled to request 
and receive additional documentation, financial or otherwise, prior to giving its approval of the 
deductibles and self-insured retentions. Any changes to the deductibles or self-insured retentions 
made during the term of this Agreement or during the term of any policy must be declared to the 
RTC’s Finance Director prior to the change taking effect. 

8. ACCEPTABILITY OF INSURERS 

Required insurance is to be placed with insurers with a Best's rating of no less than A-VII and 
acceptable to RTC. RTC may accept coverage with carriers having lower Best's ratings upon 
review of financial information concerning CONTRACTOR and the insurance carrier.  RTC 
reserves the right to require that CONTRACTOR'S insurer(s) be licensed and admitted in the State 
of Nevada or meet any applicable state and federal laws and regulations for non-admitted insurance 
placements. 

9. OTHER CONDITIONS 

A. Failure to furnish the required certificate(s) or failure to maintain the required insurance 
may result in termination of this Agreement at RTC’s option. 

B. If CONTRACTOR fails to furnish the required certificate or fails to maintain the required 
insurance as set forth herein, RTC shall have the right, but not the obligation, to purchase 
said insurance at CONTRACTOR's expense. 

C. Any waiver of CONTRACTOR's obligation to furnish such certificate or maintain such 
insurance must be in writing and signed by an authorized representative of RTC. Failure 
of RTC to demand such certificate or other evidence of full compliance with these 
insurance requirements or failure of RTC to identify a deficiency from evidence that is 
provided shall not be construed as a waiver of CONTRACTOR's obligation to maintain 
such insurance, or as a waiver as to the enforcement of any of these provisions at a later 
date. 

D. By requiring insurance herein, RTC does not represent that coverage and limits will 
necessarily be adequate to protect CONTRACTOR, and such coverage and limits shall not 

SAMPLE

Exhibit C - 3 



   

   
  

 
  

  
 

 
  

   
    

  
  

 
 

  

   
    

  
  

  

   
  

  
   

   

  

  
    

 

 
 

  
     

     
 

    

be deemed as a limitation on CONTRACTOR's liability under the indemnities granted to 
RTC in this contract. 

E. If CONTRACTOR’S liability policies do not contain the standard ISO separation of 
insureds condition, or a substantially similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide 
cross-liability coverage. 

10. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY 

CONTRACTOR shall maintain commercial general liability (CGL) and, if necessary, commercial 
umbrella insurance with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 each occurrence. If such CGL insurance 
contains a general aggregate limit, it shall be increased to equal twice the required occurrence limit 
or revised to apply separately to this project. 

CGL insurance shall be written on ISO occurrence form CG 00 01 04 13 (or a substitute form 
providing equivalent coverage) and shall cover liability arising from premises, operations, 
products-completed operations, personal and advertising injury, and liability assumed under an 
insured contract (including the tort liability of another assumed in a business contract). 

RTC and any other Indemnitees listed in Section 2. INDEMNIFICATION of this Agreement shall 
be included as an additional insured under the CGL, using ISO additional insured endorsement 
CG 20 10 07/04 or CG 20 33 07/04 or a substitute providing equivalent coverage, and under the 
commercial umbrella, if any. 

This insurance shall apply as primary insurance with respect to any other insurance or self-
insurance programs afforded to RTC or any other Indemnitees under this Agreement. 

CONTRACTOR waives all rights against RTC and any other Indemnitees listed in Section 2. 
INDEMNIFICATION of this Agreement for recovery of damages to the extent these damages are 
covered by the commercial general liability or commercial umbrella liability insurance maintained 
pursuant to this agreement. CONTRACTOR’s insurer shall endorse CGL policy to waive 
subrogation against RTC with respect to any loss paid under the policy. 

11. COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY 

CONTRACTOR shall maintain automobile liability and, if necessary, commercial umbrella 
liability insurance with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 each accident. Such insurance shall 
cover liability arising out of any auto (including owned, hired, and non-owned autos). 

Coverage shall be written on ISO form CA 00 01, CA 00 05, CA 00 25, or a substitute form 
providing equivalent liability coverage for all owned, leased, hired (rented) and non-owned 
vehicles (as applicable).  RTC may agree to accept auto liability for non-owned and hired (rented) 
vehicles under the CGL if CONTRACTOR does not own or operate any owned or leased vehicles. 

CONTRACTOR waives all rights against RTC, its officers, employees and volunteers for recovery 
of damages to the extent these damages are covered by the automobile liability or commercial 
umbrella liability insurance obtained by CONTRACTOR pursuant to this Agreement. 

SAMPLE

Exhibit C - 4 



   

  

  
    

   
  

    
   

  
 

   

    
  

   

  
  

 
 

    
 

  
     

   
 

 

 

12. NETWORK SECURITY AND PRIVACY LIABILITY 

If CONTRACTOR will have access to RTC computer or network systems for any reason and/or 
data including personal information (as defined in NRS 603A.040) or confidential information, 
CONTRACTOR shall maintain network security and privacy liability insurance insuring against 
loss resulting from (1) privacy breaches [liability arising from the loss or disclosure of confidential 
information] (2) system breach (3) denial or loss of service (4) introduction, implantation, or 
spread of malicious software code (5) unauthorized access to or use of computer systems and (6) 
system failure. Coverage shall be provided with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 per claim and 
annual aggregate. 

13. TECHNOLOGY PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY (ERRORS & OMISSIONS) 

Contractor shall maintain professional liability insurance applying to liability for a professional 
error, omission, or negligent act arising out of the scope of the Contractor’s services provided 
under this Agreement.   Limits shall be not less than $2,000,000 each claim and annual aggregate. 

Coverage shall be included, without limitation, for any form of infringement of copyright or other 
intellectual property misuse including software copyright infringement, as well as errors, 
omissions, or negligent acts in the performance or failure to perform technological services for 
others which result in claims for damage arising out of or alleging programming errors, software 
performance, or Contractor’s failure to perform the services and provide the products that 
Contractor delivers. 

Contractor shall maintain professional liability insurance during the term of this Agreement and, 
if coverage is provided on a “claims made” or “claims made and reported” basis, shall maintain 
coverage or purchase an extended reporting period for a period of at least three (3) years following 
the termination of this Agreement. 

SAMPLE

Exhibit C - 5 



 

  
  

 

    
 

 
   

  

   

     
    

 

   

  
 

 

 

   
  

 

 
 

    
  

 
 

   

 

 
 

  

EXHIBIT D 

FTA REQUIRED CLAUSES 

It is a requirement of the Federal Government that activities financed, in part, with Federal funds and 
performed by a third-party contractor and its subcontractors on behalf of a Federal grantee must be carried 
out in accordance with applicable Federal requirements. 

Activities performed under this Agreement, and any other prior or subsequent amendments thereto, 
may be financed in part, by a grant from the United States Department of Transportation (DOT), Federal 
Transit Administration (FTA) to the Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County (RTC), and if so, 
would therefore be subject to the applicable grant terms, conditions, and regulations. Accordingly, the 
Contractor and its subcontractors performing activities under this Agreement must adhere to the Federal 
requirements stated herein as a condition of satisfactory performance. 

All subcontracts and subcontractors employed as a result of this Agreement are subject to the same 
conditions and requirements as set forth herein unless specifically exempted. The Contractor shall ensure that 
its subcontractors at all tiers are made aware of and comply with these Federal requirements. The Contractor 
will be held liable for compliance failures by its subcontractors. Failure to comply will render the Contractor 
responsible for damages and/or contract termination. 

SAMPLE1 - NO GOVERNMENT OBLIGATION TO THIRD PARTIES 

A. The RTC and Contractor acknowledge and agree that, notwithstanding any concurrence by the 
Federal Government in or approval of the solicitation or award of the underlying Agreement, 
absent the express written consent by the Federal Government, the Federal Government is not 
a party to the Agreement and shall not be subject to any obligations or liabilities to the RTC, the 
Contractor, or any other party (whether or not a part to that Agreement) pertaining to any matter 
resulting from the underlying Agreement. 

B. The Contractor agrees to include the above clause in each subcontract financed in whole or in 
part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. It is further agreed that the clause shall not be 
modified, except to identify the subcontractor who will be subject to its provisions. 

2 - PROGRAM FRAUD AND FALSE OR FRAUDULENT STATEMENTS AND RELATED ACTS 
[49 U.S.C. § 5323(l) (1); 31 U.S.C. §§ 3801-3812; 18 U.S.C. § 1001; 49 C.F.R. part 31] 

A. The Contractor acknowledges that the provisions of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 
1986, as amended, 31 U.S.C. § 3801, et seq., and U.S. DOT regulations, “Program Fraud Civil 
Remedies”, 49 C.F.R. Part 31, apply to its actions pertaining to the Agreement. Upon execution 
of the Agreement, the Contractor certifies or affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of any 
statement it has made, it makes, it may make, or causes to be made, pertaining to the Agreement 
or the FTA assisted project for which the work is being performed. In addition to other penalties 
that may be applicable, the Contractor further acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be 
made, a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification, the Federal 
Government reserves the right to impose the penalties of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act 
of 1986 on the Contractor to the extent the Federal Government deems appropriate. 

B. The Contractor also acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, a false, fictitious, or 
fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification to the Federal Government under a 
contract connected with a project that is financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance 
originally awarded by FTA under the authority of 49 U.S.C. § 5307, the Government reserves 
the right to impose the penalties of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 and 49 U.S.C. § 5323(l)(1) on the 
Contractor, to the extent the Federal Government deems appropriate. 



  

      
 

 

  
 

  
   

  
 

 

    
 

 

  

   

 
 

   
 

    

  
 

    

   

  
  

SAMPLE

C. The Contractor agrees to include the above two clauses in each subcontract financed in whole 
or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. It is further agreed that the clauses shall not 
be modified, except to identify the subcontractor who will be subject to the provisions. 

3 - ACCESS TO RECORDS AND REPORTS [49 U.S.C. § 5325(g); 2 C.F.R. § 200.333; 49 C.F.R. 
part 633] 

The following access to records requirements apply to the Agreement: 

A. The Contractor agrees to provide the RTC, the FTA Administrator, the DOT Office of Inspector 
General, Comptroller General of the United States, or any of their authorized representatives 
access to any books, documents, papers, and records of the Contractor which are directly 
pertinent to the Agreement for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts, and 
transcriptions, and as may be necessary for the RTC to meet its obligations under 2 CFR Part 
200. This access includes timely and reasonable access to personnel for interviews and 
discussions related to the records. This right of access is not limited to the required retention 
period set forth in subsection C below, but continues as long as the records are retained. 

B. The Contractor agrees to permit any of the foregoing parties to reproduce by any means 
whatsoever or to copy excerpts and transcriptions as reasonably needed. 

C. The Contractor agrees to maintain all books, records, accounts, and reports required under the 
Agreement for a period of not less than three years, except in the event of litigation or settlement 
of claims arising from the performance of the Agreement, in which case the Contractor agrees 
to maintain such materials until the RTC, the FTA Administrator, the Comptroller General, or any 
of their duly authorized representatives, have disposed of all such litigation, appeals, claims, or 
exceptions related thereto. The retention period commences after the RTC makes final payment 
and all other pending contract matters are closed. 

D. The Contractor shall include this clause in all subcontracts and shall require all subcontractors 
to include the clause in their subcontracts, regardless of tier. 

4 - FEDERAL CHANGES 

The Contractor shall at all times comply with all applicable FTA regulations, policies, procedures, and 
directives, including without limitation those listed directly or by reference in the Master Agreement 
between the RTC and the FTA, as they may be amended or promulgated from time to time during the 
term of the Agreement. The Contractor’s failure to so comply shall constitute a material breach of the 
Agreement. 

5 - ENERGY CONSERVATION [42 U.S.C. 6321 et seq.; 49 C.F.R. part 622, subpart C] 

The Contractor agrees to comply with the mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency 
that are contained in the State Energy Conservation Plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy 
and Conservation Act (42 U.S.C. § 6321, et seq.). 

6 - CIVIL RIGHTS LAWS AND REGULATIONS 

The Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable civil rights laws and regulations in accordance with 
applicable federal directives. The Contractor agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract 



  
  

 
  

  
 
 

 
 

    
 
 

  
 

   
 

     
  

  
 
 

 
   

 
  

   
   

 
 

  
 

  
  

 
 

   
   

 
  

  
 

 
    

 
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

 

SAMPLE

financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA, modified only if necessary to 
identify the affected parties. These include, but are not limited to, the following: 

A. Nondiscrimination in Federal Public Transportation Programs: 
Contractor shall prohibit discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, sex 
(including gender identity), disability, or age.  Contractor shall prohibit the (i) exclusion from 
participation in employment or a business opportunity for reasons identified in 49 U.S.C. § 5332; 
(ii) denial of program benefits in employment or a business opportunity identified in 49 U.S.C. § 
5332; or (iii) discrimination identified in 49 U.S.C. § 5332, including discrimination in employment 
or a business opportunity.  Contractor shall follow the most recent edition of Federal Transit 
Administration Circular 4702.1, “Title VI Requirements and Guidelines for Federal Transit 
Administration Recipients,” to the extent consistent with applicable Federal laws, regulations, 
requirements, and guidance, and other applicable Federal guidance that may be issued. 

B. Nondiscrimination—Title VI of the Civil Rights Act 

1. Contractor shall prohibit discrimination on the basis of race, color, or national origin. 
2. Contractor shall comply with (i) Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. 

§ 2000d et seq.; (ii) U.S. Department of Transportation regulations, “Nondiscrimination in 
Federally-Assisted Programs of the Department of Transportation—Effectuation of Title VI of 
the Civil Rights Act of 1964,” 49 CFR Part 21; and (iii) Federal transit law, specifically 49 
U.S.C. § 5332. 

3. Contractor shall follow (i) the most recent edition of Federal Transit Administration Circular 
4702.1, “Title VI Requirements and Guidelines for Federal Transit Administration Recipients,” 
to the extent consistent with applicable Federal laws, regulations, requirements, and 
guidance; (ii) U.S. Department of Justice “Guidelines for the enforcement of Title VI, Civil 
Rights Act of 1964,” 28 CFR 50.3; and (iii) all other applicable Federal guidance that may be 
issued. 

C. Equal Employment Opportunity 

1. Federal Requirements and Guidance.  Contractor shall prohibit discrimination on the basis 
of race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, or national origin, and (i) 
comply with Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.; 
(ii) facilitate compliance with Executive Order No. 11246, “Equal Employment Opportunity” 
September 24, 1965, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note, as amended by any later Executive Order that 
amends or supersedes it in part and is applicable to Federal assistance programs; (iii) comply 
with Federal transit law, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332; (iv) comply with Federal Transit 
Administration Circular 4704.1 “Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Requirements and 
Guidelines for Federal Transit Administration Recipients;” and (v) follow other Federal 
guidance pertaining to equal employment opportunity laws, regulations, and requirements, 
and prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of disability. 

2. Specifics.  Contractor shall ensure that applicants for employment are employed and 
employees are treated during employment without discrimination on the basis of their race, 
color, religion, national origin, disability, age, sexual orientation, gender identity, or status as 
a parent, as provided in Executive Order No. 11246 and by any later executive order that 
amends or supersedes it, and as specified by U.S. Department of Labor regulations. 
Contractor shall take affirmative action that includes but is not limited to (i) recruitment 
advertising, recruitment, and employment; (ii) rates of pay and other forms of compensation; 
(iii) selection for training, including apprenticeship, and upgrading; and (iv) transfers, 
demotions, layoffs, and terminations.  Contractor recognizes that Title VII of the Civil Rights 
Act of 1964, as amended, exempts Indian Tribes under the definition of “Employer.” 



  
 
 

   
  

 
   

 
  

  

   
 

 
  

 
  

 
     

 
 

  
    

 
   

   
 

  
 

 
 

    
 

    
 

  
 

 
   

 

   
 

 
 

    
 

  
 

  
 

SAMPLE

3. Equal Employment Opportunity Requirements for Construction Activities.  Contractor shall 
comply, when undertaking “construction” as recognized by the U.S. Department of Labor, 
with (i) U.S. Department of Labor regulations, “Office of Federal Contract Compliance 
Programs, Equal Employment Opportunity, Department of Labor,” 41 CFR Chapter 60; and 
(ii) Executive Order No. 11246, “Equal Employment Opportunity in Federal Employment,” 
September 24, 1965, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note, as amended by any later executive order that 
amends or supersedes it, referenced in 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note. 

D. Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex: 
Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq. and 
implementing Federal regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in Education 
Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance,” 49 CFR Part 25 prohibit 
discrimination on the basis of sex. 

E. Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Age: 
In accordance with section 4 of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended, 
29 U.S.C. §§ 621-634; Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332; the Age Discrimination Act of 
1975, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq.; 49 CFR Part 90, and 29 CFR Part 1625, Contractor 
agrees to refrain from discrimination for reason of age. In addition, Contractor agrees to comply 
with applicable Federal implementing regulations. 

F. Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability: 
In accordance with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 794; 
the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.; the 
Architectural Barriers Act of 1968, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4151 et seq.; and Federal transit 
law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, Contractor agrees that it will not discriminate against individuals on the 
basis of disability.  Contractor further agrees that it will comply with the requirements of U.S. 
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, “Regulations to Implement the Equal Employment 
Provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act,” 29 CFR Part 1630, pertaining to employment 
of persons with disabilities. In addition, Contractor agrees to comply with applicable Federal 
implementing regulations. 

G. Drug or Alcohol Abuse - Confidentiality and Other Civil Rights Protections: 
To the extent applicable, Contractor agrees to comply with the confidentiality and civil rights 
protections of the Drug Abuse Office and Treatment Act of 1972, as amended, 21 U.S.C. § 1101, 
et seq., the Comprehensive Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism Prevention, Treatment, and 
Rehabilitation Act of 1970, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4541, et seq., and the Public Health Service 
Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 290dd-290dd-2. 

H. Access to Services for Persons with Limited English Proficiency: 
Contractor agrees to promote accessibility of public transportation services to persons with 
limited understanding of English by following Executive Order No. 13166, “Improving Access to 
Services for Persons with Limited English Proficiency,” 42 U.S.C. § 2000d-1 note, and U.S. DOT 
Notice, “DOT Policy Guidance Concerning Recipients’ Responsibilities to Limited English 
Proficiency (LEP) Persons,” 70 Fed. Reg. 74087, Dec. 14, 2005. 

7 - INCORPORATION OF FTA TERMS 

The preceding provisions include, in part, certain standard terms and conditions required by DOT, 
whether or not expressly set forth in the preceding contract provisions. All contractual provisions 
required by DOT, as set forth in FTA Circular 4220.1F, and FTA’s Master Agreement, are hereby 
incorporated by reference. Anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, all FTA mandated terms 



  
   

  
 

      
  

 
  

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
   

 
 

   
 

  
   

 
   

 
   
 

   
 

    
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 
   

 
  

 
   

  
 

 
 

  

shall be deemed to control in the event of a conflict with other provisions contained in this Agreement. 
The Contractor shall not perform any act, fail to perform any act, or refuse to comply with any RTC 
requests which would cause the RTC to be in violation of the FTA terms and conditions. 

8 - SAFE OPERATION OF MOTOR VEHICLES [23 U.S.C. part 402; Executive Order No. 13043; 
Executive Order No. 13513; U.S. DOT Order No. 3902.10] 

A. Seat Belt Use. Contractor is encouraged to adopt and promote on-the-job seat belt use policies 
and programs for its employees and other personnel that operate company-owned vehicles, 
company-rented vehicles, or personally operated vehicles. The terms “company-owned” and 
“company-leased” refer to vehicles owned or leased either by Contractor or the RTC. 

B. Distracted Driving. Contractor agrees to adopt and enforce workplace safety policies to decrease 
crashes caused by distracted drivers, including policies to ban text messaging while using an 
electronic device supplied by an employer, and driving a vehicle the driver owns or rents, a 
vehicle Contactor owns, leases, or rents, or a privately-owned vehicle when on official business 
in connection with the work performed under this Agreement. 

C. Contractor shall require the inclusion of these requirements in subcontracts of all tiers. 

9 - PROHIBITION ON CERTAIN TELECOMMUNICATIONS AND VIDEO SURVEILLANCE 
SERVICES OR EQUIPMENT [2 CFR § 200.216] 

Contractor is prohibited from obligating or expending loan or grant funds to: 

A. Procure or obtain; 

B. Extend or renew a contract to procure or obtain; or 

C. Enter into a contract (or extend or renew a contract) to procure or obtain equipment, services, 
or systems that use covered telecommunications equipment or services as a substantial or 
essential component of any system, or as critical technology as part of any system. As described 
in Public Law 115-232, section 889, covered telecommunications equipment is 
telecommunications equipment produced by Huawei Technologies Company or ZTE 
Corporation (or any subsidiary or affiliate of such entities). 

1. For the purpose of public safety, security of government facilities, physical security 
surveillance of critical infrastructure, and other national security purposes, video surveillance 
and telecommunications equipment produced by Hytera Communications Corporation, 
Hangzhou Hikvision Digital Technology Company, or Dahua Technology Company (or any 
subsidiary or affiliate of such entities). 

2. Telecommunications or video surveillance services provided by such entities or using such 
equipment. 

3. Telecommunications or video surveillance equipment or services produced or provided by 
an entity that the Secretary of Defense, in consultation with the Director of the National 
Intelligence or the Director of the Federal Bureau of Investigation, reasonably believes to be 
an entity owned or controlled by, or otherwise connected to, the government of a covered 
foreign country. 

SAMPLE



     
     

 
 

 
    

     
  

 
 

  
  

 
 

  
  

    
 

 
     

  
     

 
  

     
    

 
  

  
 
 

  
   

   
  

 
 

    
  

 
 

   
 
 

   
    

  
 

  
  

 

10 - NOTICE TO FTA AND U.S. DOT INSPECTOR GENERAL OF INFORMATION RELATED TO 
FRAUD, WASTE, ABUSE, OR OTHER LEGAL MATTERS [FTA Master Agreement (28), 
Section 39(b)] 

Notification to FTA; Flow Down Requirement. If a current or prospective legal matter that may affect 
the Federal Government emerges, Contractor must promptly notify RTC, which will promptly notify the 
FTA Chief Counsel and FTA Regional Counsel for the Region in which RTC is located. Contractor must 
include an equivalent provision in its sub-agreements at every tier, for any agreement that is a “covered 
transaction” according to 2 C.F.R. §§ 180.220 and 1200.220. 

A. The types of legal matters that require notification include, but are not limited to, a major dispute, 
breach, default, litigation, or naming the Federal Government as a party to litigation or a legal 
disagreement in any forum for any reason. 

B. Matters that may affect the Federal Government include, but are not limited to, the Federal 
Government’s interests in the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any 
Amendments thereto, or the Federal Government’s administration or enforcement of federal 
laws, regulations, and requirements. 

C. Additional Notice to U.S. DOT Inspector General. Contractor must promptly notify RTC, which 
will promptly notify the U.S. DOT Inspector General in addition to the FTA Chief Counsel or 
Regional Counsel for the Region in which RTC is located, if Contractor has knowledge of 
potential fraud, waste, or abuse occurring on a project receiving assistance from FTA. The 
notification provision applies if a person has or may have submitted a false claim under the False 
Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729, et seq., or has or may have committed a criminal or civil violation 
of law pertaining to such matters as fraud, conflict of interest, bid rigging, misappropriation or 
embezzlement, bribery, gratuity, or similar misconduct involving federal assistance. This 
responsibility occurs whether the project is subject to this Agreement or another agreement 
involving a principal, officer, employee, agent, or Third Party Participant of Contractor. It also 
applies to subcontractors at any tier. Knowledge, as used in this paragraph, includes, but is not 
limited to, knowledge of a criminal or civil investigation by a Federal, state, or local law 
enforcement or other investigative agency, a criminal indictment or civil complaint, or probable 
cause that could support a criminal indictment, or any other credible information in the 
possession of Contractor. In this paragraph, “promptly” means to refer information without delay 
and without change. This notification provision applies to all divisions of Contractor, including 
divisions tasked with law enforcement or investigatory functions. 

11 - GOVERNMENT-WIDE DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION [2 C.F.R. part 180; 2 C.F.R part 
1200; 2 C.F.R. § 200.213; 2 C.F.R. part 200 Appendix II (I); Executive Order 12549; Executive 
Order 12689] 

A. Contractor shall comply and facilitate compliance with U.S. Department of Transportation 
regulations, “Non-procurement Suspension and Debarment,” 2 CFR Part 1200, which adopts 
and supplements the U.S. Office of Management and Budget “Guidelines to Agencies on 
Government wide Debarment and Suspension (Non-procurement),” 2 CFR Part 180. These 
provisions apply to each contract at any tier of $25,000 or more, and to each contract at any tier 
for a federally required audit (irrespective of the contract amount), and to each contract at any 
tier that must be approved by a Federal Transit Administration official irrespective of the contract 
amount.  As such, Contractor shall verify that its principals, affiliates, and subcontractors are 
eligible to participate in this federally funded contract and are not presently declared by any 
Federal department or agency to be: 

SAMPLE



  
  
  
  
  
  

 
   

 
  

 
   

 
 

    
  

 
 

 
     

  
 

     
  

 

  

  
  

  
 

   
 

 
    

 
   

 
 
 

  
  

  
 

  
     

 
 

  
  

 

1. Debarred from participation in any federally assisted award; 
2. Suspended from participation in any federally assisted award; 
3. Proposed for debarment from participation in any federally assisted award; 
4. Declared ineligible to participate in any federally assisted award; 
5. Voluntarily excluded from participation in any federally assisted award; or 
6. Disqualified from participation in any federally assisted award. 

B. Contractor certifies that it and/or its principals, affiliates, and subcontractors are not currently 
debarred or suspended.  Contractor shall promptly inform the RTC of any change in the 
suspension or debarment status of Contractor or its principals, affiliates, and subcontractors 
during the term of the Agreement. Further, Contractor shall include a provision requiring 
compliance with the requirements of 2 CFR Part 180, Subpart C, as supplemented by 2 CFR 
Part 1200 in its lower-tier covered transactions. 

C. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact relied upon by RTC.  If it is later 
determined by the RTC that Contractor knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition 
to remedies available to the RTC, the Federal Government may pursue available remedies, 
including but not limited to suspension and/or debarment. 

D. Contractor agrees to comply with the requirements of 2 CFR Part 180, Subpart C, as 
supplemented by 2 CFR Part 1200, throughout the term of the Agreement. 

12 - LOBBYING RESTRICTIONS [31 U.S.C. § 1352; 2 C.F.R. § 200.450; 2 C.F.R. part 200 appendix 
II (J); 49 C.F.R. part 20] 

Contractors who apply or bid for an award of $100,000 or more shall file the certification required by 49 
C.F.R. Part 20, "New Restrictions on Lobbying." Each tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and 
has not used Federal appropriated funds to pay any person or organization for influencing or attempting 
to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member of Congress, officer or employee of 
Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with obtaining any Federal contract, 
grant, or any other award covered by 31 U.S.C. § 1352. Each tier shall also disclose the name of any 
registrant under the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1995 who has made lobbying contacts on its behalf 
with non-Federal funds with respect to that Federal contract, grant or award covered by 31 U.S.C. § 
1352. Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to the RTC. 

13 - CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT—NON-CONSTRUCTION 

A. Contractor shall comply with all Federal laws, regulations, and requirements providing wage and 
hour protections for non-construction employees, in accordance with 40 U.S.C. § 3702, Contract 
Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, and other relevant parts of that Act, 40 U.S.C. § 3701 et 
seq., and U.S. Department of Labor regulations, “Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to 
Contracts Covering Federally Financed and Assisted Construction (also Labor Standards 
Provisions Applicable to Non-construction Contracts Subject to the Contract Work Hours and 
Safety Standards Act),” 29 CFR Part 5. 

B. Contractor shall maintain payrolls and basic payroll records during the course of the work and 
shall preserve them for a period of three (3) years from the completion of the Agreement for all 
laborers and mechanics, including guards and watchmen, working on the Agreement. Such 
records shall contain the name and address of each such employee, social security number, 
correct classifications, hourly rates of wages paid, daily and weekly number of hours worked, 
deductions made, and actual wages paid. 

SAMPLE



  
 

    
  

 
   

 
     

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 
      

 
  

    
 

   
 

  
 

 
    

 
  

 
 

  
 

     
  

 
 

 
 

  
 

  
   

 
 

   
 

 

C. Such records maintained under this section shall be made available by Contractor for inspection, 
copying, or transcription by authorized representatives of the Federal Transit Administration and 
the U.S. Department of Labor, and Contractor will permit such representatives to interview 
employees during working hours on the job. 

D. Contractor shall require the inclusion of the language of this section in subcontracts of all tiers. 

14 - CLEAN WATER REQUIREMENTS [33 U.S.C. §§ 1251-1387; 2 C.F.R. part 200, Appendix II 
(G)] 

A. The Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders, or regulations issued 
pursuant to the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. § 1251, et seq. The 
Contractor agrees to report each violation to the RTC and understands and acknowledges that 
the RTC will, in turn, report each violation as required to assure notification to FTA and the 
appropriate EPA Regional Office. 

B. The Contractor also agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding 
$150,000 financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. 

15 - CLEAN AIR ACT [42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 – 7671q; 2 C.F.R. part 200, Appendix II (G)] 

A. The Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued 
pursuant to the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401, et seq. The Contractor agrees 
to report each violation to the RTC and understands and agrees that the RTC will, in turn, report 
each violation as required to assure notification to FTA and the appropriate EPA Regional Office. 

B. The Contractor also agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding 
$150,000 financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. 

16 - CARGO PREFERENCE [46 U.S.C. § 55305; 46 C.F.R. part 381] 

If the Contractor uses Federal funds to purchase any capital items from foreign sources under the 
Agreement, the Contractor agrees: 

A. To utilize privately owned United States-flag commercial vessels to ship at least 50 percent of 
the gross tonnage (computed separately from dry bulk carriers, dry cargo liners, and tankers) 
involved, whenever shipping any equipment, materials, or commodities pursuant to this Contract 
to the extent such vessels are available at fair and reasonable rates for United States-flag 
commercial vessels. 

B. To furnish within 20 working days following the date of loading for shipments originating within 
the United States, or within 30 working days following the date of loading for shipment originating 
outside of the United States, a legible copy of a rated, “on-board” commercial ocean bill-of-lading 
in English for each shipment of cargo described in subsection A above to the RTC (through the 
Contractor in case of a subcontractor bill-of-lading) and to the Division of National Cargo, Office 
of Market Development, Maritime Administration, 400 Seventh Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 
20590, marked with appropriate identification of the project. 

C. To include these requirements in all subcontracts issued pursuant to the Agreement which may 
involve the transport of equipment, materials, or commodities by ocean vessel. 

SAMPLE



   
 

  
   

 
 

 
 
 
  

17 - GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION AND RELATED SPATIAL DATA 

If the work or related activity directly or indirectly involves spatial data, or geographic information 
systems, Contractor shall follow U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-16, “Coordination 
of Geographic Information and Related Spatial Data Activities,” August 19, 2002, and U.S. Office of 
Management and Budget Circular A-16 Supplemental Guidance, “Geospatial Line of Business,” 
November 10, 2010. 

SAMPLE



 
  

REQUIRED FEDERAL CERTIFICATIONS 

SAMPLE



 
 
 

 

    
  

 

 

 
   

     

 

       

 

        

 

        

 

         

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

AFFIDAVIT OF NON-COLLUSION 

I hereby swear (or affirm) under penalty of perjury: 

1. That I am the Bidder (if the Bidder is an individual, a partner in the Bid (if the Bidder is a partnership) or an 
officer or employee of the bidding corporation having authority to sign on its behalf (if the Bidder is a 
corporation); 

2. That the attached Bid or Bids has been arrived at by the Bidder independently and have been submitted 
without collusion and without any agreement, understanding or planned common course of action with any 
other vendor of materials, supplies, equipment or service described in the Invitation for Bid, designed to 
limit independent Bids or competition; 

3. That the contents of the Bid or Bids has not been communicated by the Bidder or its employees or agents to 
any person not an employee or agent of the Bidder or its surety on any bond furnished with the Bid or Bids 
and will not be communicated to any such person prior to the official opening of the Bid or Bids; and 

4. That I have fully informed myself regarding the accuracy of the statements made in the affidavit. 

Firm Name: Carahsoft Technology Corp

SAMPLE
Signed: 

Print: 

Date: 



  
 

 
 

  
   

 
 

  
     

    
   

   
 

 
 

    
 

 
    

 
 

  
 

 
 
  

       
 
  

         
   

         
 
 

          
 
 
 
 
 
  

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, 
OTHER INELIGIBILITY AND VOLUNTARY EXCLUSION 

I, ____________________________________ certify to the best of my knowledge and belief, that the 
contractor/primary participant and principals: 
1. Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded 

from covered transactions by any federal department or agency; 
2. Have not, within a three-year period preceding this Bid, been convicted of or had a civil judgment rendered 

against them for commission of a fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to 
obtain, or performing a public function (federal, state or local) transaction or contract under a public 
transaction; violation of federal or state antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, 
bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false statements or receiving stolen property; 

3. Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity (federal, 
state or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (2) of this certification; and 

4. Have not, within a three-year period preceding this bid, had one or more public transactions (federal, state, or 
local) terminated for cause or default. 

[Where the Contractor is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, such Contractor shall 
attach an explanation to this Bid.] 

I DO SOLEMNLY DECLARE AND AFFIRM UNDER THE PENALTIES OF PERJURY THAT THE 
CONTENTS OF THE FOREGOING DOCUMENT ARE TRUE AND CORRECT, AND THAT I AM 
AUTHORIZED, ON BEHALF OF THE ABOVE FIRM, TO MAKE THIS AFFIDAVIT. 

Contractor Name: Carahsoft Technology Corp

SAMPLE

Signature: 

Print: 

Date: 



 

  

  
 

   
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

  

 

CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING 

Certification for Contracts, Grants, Loans and Cooperative Agreements 49 C.F.R. Part 20 that: The undersigned 
Contractor certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, 

(1) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the undersigned, 
to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of 
Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the 
awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering 
into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any 
Federal contract, grant, loan or cooperative agreement. 

(2) If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for 
making lobbying contacts to an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee 
of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or 
cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form—LLL, “Disclosure Form to 
Report Lobbying,” in accordance with its instructions as amended by “Government wide Guidance for New 
Restrictions on Lobbying,” 61 Fed. Reg. 1413 (1/19/96). 

(3) The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 
documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts under grants, loans, and 
cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly. 

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction 
was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this 
transaction imposed by 31 U.S.C. §1352 (as amended by the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1995). Any person who 
fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than 
$100,000 for each such failure. 

[Note: Pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 1352(c)(1)-(2)(A), any person who makes a prohibited expenditure or fails to file 
or amend a required certification or disclosure form shall be subject to a civil penalty or not less than $10,000 and 
not more than $100,000 for each such expenditure or failure. 

The Contractor, Carahsoft Technology Corp , certifies or affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of each statement 
of its certification and disclosure, if any. In addition, the Contractor understands and agrees that the provisions of 31 
U.S.C. § 3801, et seq., apply to this certification and disclosure, if any. 

Signature of Contractor’s Authorized Official: _______________________________________ 

Name and Title of Contractor’s Authorized Official: ________________________,_________________________ 

Date: __________________________________ 

SAMPLE



  

  

  

  

 

  

   

  
  

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.5.2

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: James Gee, Director of Public Transportation and Operations

 SUBJECT: Purchase of Ten (10) Hybrid Diesel-Electric Buses, Transit Buses Master 
Contract No. 06719-0110 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve a contract with New Flyer to purchase ten (10) hybrid diesel-electric buses utilizing the State of 
Washington’s Cooperative Purchasing Agreement for Transit Buses Master Contract No. 06719-0110, in 
an amount not-to-exceed $10,492,211.40. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

RTC currently has a mixed fixed route fleet of battery electric, hybrid electric, and hydrogen fuel cell 
vehicles. Due to poor aftermarket support for the battery electric vehicles, primarily due to the bankruptcy 
of Proterra (the manufacturer of RTC’s electric vehicles) and RTC’s limited experience with hydrogen fuel 
cell vehicles, RTC is seeking to purchase ten (10) replacement hybrid electric vehicles. This purchase will 
be made from the State of Washington joint procurement contract. That procurement method is preferred 
by the Federal Transit Administration and will save RTC grant funds due to the increased purchasing power 
available with the state contract as opposed to purchasing vehicles independently. 

RTC has selected New Flyer hybrid vehicles due to the positive history RTC already has with these buses. 
RTC already operates 33 of these vehicles or approximately 50% of its fleet. From past orders, these 
vehicles have been reliable with excellent product support from the manufacturer. By staying with New 
Flyer, RTC will gain the benefits of reduced inventory, continued reliability, and reduced training 
requirements for our drivers and technicians. 

New Flyer is experiencing significant demand for its vehicles in the wake of the Proterra bankruptcy. If 
the Board approves this contract now, RTC can secure an earlier than expected production date which 
should reduce the delivery timeframe by approximately 9 months. As a result, the expected delivery of 
these vehicles would be April and May of 2025. 

https://10,492,211.40


  
  

Purchase of Ten (10) Hybrid Diesel-Electric Buses, Transit Buses Master Contract No. 06719-0110 
Page 2 

RTC is in the process of finalizing contract terms that will supplement the terms of the State of Washington 
joint procurement contract. Those terms will be consistent with the material terms described in this staff 
report and contained in the attached quote from New Flyer. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funding for these ten buses is contained in the FY25 budget. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



   

 

 

 

 

   
    

 

      

  

 

Cover Page

Regional Transportation Commission 
of Washoe County 

Option Proposal for Ten (10) 40’ 

Hybrid Buses 



       

       

 
 
 
 

    

 

     

     

      

     

     

     

       

     

     

 

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County 

Option for Ten (10) XDE40 Hybrid Buses 

Proposal Table of Contents 

Tab 1, Letter of Transmittal 

Tab 2, Bus Price Summary 

Tab 3, Bus Price Change Detail 

Tab 4, Bus Warranty Proposal 

Tab 5, Bus Training Proposal 

Tab 6, Bus Publications Proposal 

Tab 7, Bus Tools and Diagnostics Proposal 

Tab 8, Bus Delivery Schedule 

Tab 9, Bus Technical Summary 



       

       

 
 
 
 

     

  

 

   

              
 

 

             

         
 

  
 

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County 

Option for Ten (10) XDE40 Hybrid Buses 

Tab 1, Letter of Transmittal 

Solicitation Requirements: 

N/A 

New Flyer Response: 

Please see attached our Letter of Transmittal to the Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe 
County. 

Please indicate your acceptance by providing a Purchase Order to New Flyer, attention: 

Adrian Graca, Business Segment Director – Municipal Transit Fleets 
204.470.5521 
Adrian_Graca@newflyer.com 

mailto:Adrian_Graca@newflyer.com


 
 

 

 

             
              

                
        

          
              

             
             

           
  

           
            

           
              

         
   

 

 

July 11, 2024 

Jim Gee 
Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County (Reno) 
Director, Public Transportation 
Suite 200 - 1105 Terminal Way 
Reno, NV 89502 

Subject: Quotation for Ten (10) 40’ Heavy Duty Low-Floor Hybrid Buses 

Dear Jim, 

New Flyer is pleased to submit an option price quotation for the production of ten (10) forty-foot Heavy-Duty 
Hybrid Transit buses based on New Flyer’s agreement with the State of Washington Contract #06719. 

The proposed buses will be technically configured as per your request for the XDE40. 

The XDE40 price per contract is $1,049,221 USD/bus which includes Warranty, Publications, and Delivery. 

We would like to highlight key elements of our proposal: 

Warranty: New Flyer exceeds the industry standard warranties in many areas such as our 5 year / 300,000 
miles axle warranty (standard warranty is 2 years) and our 3 years / 150,000 miles multiplex warranty 
(standard competitor warranty is 1 year / 50,000 miles). Please see our Warranty Proposal for more 
information. Please note that warranty is included in the bus price. 

Training: New Flyer Training is an organization within the New Flyer Customer Services group, a division of 
New Flyer Industries. As a part of the leading manufacturer of heavy-duty transit buses in the United States 
and Canada, we have access to top design, engineering, propulsion technology, and electrical systems 
professionals. This allows us to offer the service and expertise to maximize the lifetime value of your fleet. 
Please see our Training Proposal for more information. Please note that optional training is not included in 
the bus price. 

Publications: The New Flyer Publications team combines extensive, hands-on technical experience with 
exceptional writing, illustrating, and publishing skills to create the industry’s benchmark in maintenance 
manuals. They supply accurate information in a timely manner, assisting the customer in the performance of 
proper bus maintenance, which adds to the overall reliability and lifetime value of each New Flyer bus on the 
road. Please see our Publications Proposal for more information. Please note that publications are included 
in the bus price. 

Tooling and Diagnostics: Please see our Tools and Diagnostics Proposal for more information. Please note 
that tooling and diagnostics are not included in the bus price. 

Delivery Proposal: New Flyer is proposing a complete delivery by Q3-Q4 of 2025 based on a receipt of a 
Notice to Proceed within 60 days of this submission. Please note that delivery is included in the bus price. 



Payment Terms: Following the terms and conditions of New Flyer’s contract payment terms with the State 
of Washington Contract #06719: 

 Payment terms are Net 30 days 

 Acceptance is within 15 days of delivery 

New Flyer is pleased to offer milestone payments discount as follows: 

Milestone Payment Options (XDE40) 

Terms Payment Net 30 for all 
Milestones 

Percentage Amount Discount 
Net 
Payment 

Option 1 

Engine Installation 75% $786,916 ($8,893) $778,023 

Acceptance 25% $262,305 $0.00 $261,400 

$1,049,221 ($8,893) $1,040,328 

Option 2 

Approval for Shipment from Facility 80% $839,377 ($5,174) $834,203 

Acceptance 20% $209,844 $0.00 $209,844 

$1,049,221 ($5,174) $1,044,047 

            
    

    

   

        

  

      
 

   
 

  

    

  

   

  

       

  

   

             
            

             
    

               
              

 
 

     
      

    

– 

This project allows New Flyer the important opportunity to continue our strong relationship with Regional 
Transportation Commission of Washoe County (Reno). It also gives us the opportunity to deliver some of the 
most advanced vehicles available in North America. We thank you for your continued interest in New Flyer 
products and look forward to working with you again. 

This quote is open for acceptance for sixty (60) days. Please indicate your acceptance by providing a 
Purchase Order to New Flyer of America, attention to Adrian Graca, Business Segment Director – Municipal 
Transit Fleets at Adrian_Graca@newflyer.com. 

Sincerely, 

NEW FLYER OF AMERICA INC. 

Robby Tokar 
Technical Sales Manager 
C 431.294.7568 
robby_tokar@newflyer.com 

CC: Walter Yang – Regional Sales Manager 
Adrian Graca – Business Segment Director – Municipal Transit Fleets 
Cindy Campbell – Contract Administrator 

mailto:robby_tokar@newflyer.com
mailto:Adrian_Graca@newflyer.com


       

       

 
 
 
 

     

  

 

   

                 
     

 

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County 

Option for Ten (10) XDE40 Hybrid Buses 

Tab 2, Bus Price Summary 

Solicitation Requirements: 

N/A 

New Flyer Response: 

Please see the attached New Flyer’s Price Summary for Ten (10) – XDE40 buses for the Regional 
Transportation Commission of Washoe County]. 



 

  

 
     

 
  

  

  

    
                     

                     
                                                    
                    

  
          
                                                   
                           

         
                                                 

                          

        

 

  

 

Property: 
Option Origin: 

Sales Release No.: 
Quantity: 

Type: 
Price Change No.: 

Revision: 
Date: 

Authorized Signatures: 

New Flyer Authorization: 

Signature: 

Title: 

Date: 

Property Authorization: 

Signature: 

Title: 

Date: 

Price Change Summary 

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe 
County (Reno) 

20-046 
0 
10 

XDE40 
1 
E 

27-Jun-24 

Each Total 
Items Included in Bus Price 
Original Contract Price Base Coach 822,282.75 $ 8,222,827.50 $ 
Base Bus Price Change Total 226,938.39 $ 2,269,383.90 $ 
Contract Spares Base Bus Price Change Total -$ -$ 
Revised Price Base Bus (including ADA & delivery) 1,049,221.14 $ 10,492,211.40 $ 

Priced Separately Items 
Original Contract Price for Contract Spares (If priced separately) 
Contract Spares Changes (Priced Separately) Total -$ -$ 
Revised Contract Spares Priced Separately -$ 

Original Contract Price for Miscellaneous (If priced separately) 
Miscellaneous Price Change Total -$ -$ 
Revised Miscellaneous Priced Separately -$ 

Revised Total Contract Price 10,492,211.40 $ 

7/11/2024 



       

       

 
 
 
 

      

  

 

   

          

 

                   
   

 

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County 

Option for Ten (10) XDE40 Hybrid Buses 

Tab 3, Bus Price Change Detail 

Solicitation Requirements: 

N/A 

New Flyer Response: 

Please see the attached New Flyer’s Price Detail Sheet. 

This sheet includes all price changes that are required to go from the base bus to the proposed configuration, 
as requested. 



  

     
 

 

  

 

         
     

         
             

      
           

         
             

       
        

            
         

      

 
              

 
              

 
              

    
        

  
                 

     
      

         
   
     
   
     
      
     
    
    
     
            

     
    

        
       

    

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe 
County (Reno) 

20-046 

0 

10 

XDE40 

Price Change Detail 

Property: 

Option Origin: 

Sales Release No.: 

Quantity: 

Bus Type: 

Data 
Price Change Type Reference No. Option No. Option Group SRCR No. Description Price per coach Extended Total 

Base Bus Price Change 1 203 Suspension Front Delete E-Stroke (2,921.31) (29,213.10) 
2 205 Tires Change wheels from White powdercoat to Polish Durabright wheels 2,194.41 21,944.06 
4 241 Fuel System Change Stainless Steel Fuel tank to Polycarbon and Add DAVCO fuel system (1,723.70) (17,237.00) 
5 269 PA System Remove Amp and gooseneck mic (256.51) (2,565.10) 
6 246 Air, Brake & Lev System Change from Gemini to AD9 Tandem Air Dryer 186.72 1,867.17 
7 280 Passenger Signal Add Touch tape Stop request driver lamp 72.61 726.10 
8 273 Exterior Lamp Remove porch lights, change from one to two CRT stop, add RR reflectors (345.54) (3,455.41) 

10 304 Paint & Decal Add Customer Specific Paint Scheme 8,642.00 86,420.01 
13 306 Safety Equipment Add First aid kit and Bloodbourne kit 167.75 1,677.55 
14 420 Body A/P Before Paint Add Roof hatch and change the color of Corner Pillar 992.95 9,929.49 
15 422 Body A/P After Paint Remove Docket 90 - not required (4,199.00) (41,990.00) 
16 423 Advertising Frames Add Stainless Steel Ad Frame 597.32 5,973.20 

17 450 Flooring A/P 
Change Altro Black TFM 27892 Flooring and RR wheel house PNLs required, removing 
docket 90 (1,040.66) (10,406.64) 

18 460 Windows Changing windows to Arow Global - LAM framed 44% 6mm tip-in/fixed with film 3,502.76 35,027.63 

19 470 Destination Signs 
Add Hanover - Amber with FRT route sign, Trapeze AVA system, Zonar AVM, Antenna 
Nextbus, NF connect required 53,769.49 537,694.86 

20 491 Door Exit Add Class Pneumatic Medium Ameriview Acoustic system 3,620.91 36,209.10 

21 526 Seating & Stanchions 
Change to USSC Citipro 40P 2 x V-Pro USB, Recaro MC2 2 pt belt HTD, Arow Global 
DPS ext glass, 14 straps 26,185.95 261,859.47 

22 549 HVAC System Add floor, auxiliary, and ramp heaters 6,987.00 69,870.00 
23 580 Wheelchair Lift Change to NFIL ramp from Smart Rider Ramp (2,976.00) (29,760.00) 
24 600 Customer Options GFI Farebox 28,395.99 283,959.90 
25 600 Customer Options Safefleet Camera Survelliance system 14,868.62 148,686.24 
26 600 Customer Options Amerex Fire Suppression 5,921.18 59,211.83 
27 600 Customer Options Sportworks APEX3 Bike Rack 2,531.15 25,311.54 
28 600 Customer Options Hanover Software license fee for WDM 685.00 6,850.00 
29 600 Customer Options Hanover Wireless Data Manager Hosting 411.00 4,110.00 
30 600 Customer Options GFI License Fee 260.30 2,603.00 
31 600 Customer Options Trapeze Site Integration Labor 2,894.81 28,948.10 
32 600 Customer Options Trapeze Supplier Application Approval Labor 1,096.00 10,960.00 
33 600 Customer Options Instant tire chains , Equipment box, Coffee cup holder, SDS Trays 6,512.46 65,124.60 
34 420 Body A/P Before Paint Remove Impact Panels (1,573.69) (15,736.90) 
35 480 Mirrors Change to heated pullback windows (202.00) (2,020.00) 
36 600 Customer Options Remove tansfer cutter, ground straps, and tow connector (263.68) (2,636.80) 
37 600 Customer Options Add Mandatory Electrical Accessories for Hybrid Buses 71,944.10 719,441.00 

Base Bus Price Change Total 226,938.39 2,269,383.90 



       

       

 
 
 
 

     

  

 

   

        

 

             

 

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County 

Option for Ten (10) XDE40 Hybrid Buses 

Tab 4, Bus Warranty Proposal 

Solicitation Requirements: 

N/A 

New Flyer Response: 

Please see the attached New Flyer Warranty Proposal. 

Please note that Warranty Pricing is included as part of the Bus Price. 



  

 
    
 

 
 

  
  

 
 

  

              

                           
     

     

                    
                     

  

     

                    
                     
                   

                    
                

                 
  

                     
                      

  

 
                     
                      

  

   
                     
                       

             

                    
      

      

                     
      

             

 

    

             

       

  
                   

                  
         

   

                    
                   

                     
   

      
                  

          

   

                    

CONTRACT DELIVERABLES LIST Warranty 

CUSTOMER NAME 
BID NUMBER 2024-073 

SR # 
CUSTOMER CONTRACT # 

CUSTOMER PO # 
LD DATE 

BUS MODEL XDE40 
QUANTITY 10 

BASE AND EXTENDED WARRANTY 

Regional Transportation Commission of 
Washoe County 

MAJOR COMPONENT DESCRIPTION COMMENTS 
PROVIDER YEARS MILEAGE 

Base Bus Warranty New Flyer of America 1 50,000 Excluding scheduled maintenance items, acts of nature, or normal consumables 

Basic Bus Structure New Flyer of America 3 150,000 Body, and body structure shall consist of the components that are bolted or riveted to the structure, such as, exterior panels, interior 
panels, roof, ceiling, and driver’s barrier. 

Consists of all components that are welded together to form the main frame (skeleton) and body construction. The structural integrity 
guarantee covers against a significant loss of structural integrity of the assembly or its functional performance due to non corrosion related 

Chassis Structure (Integrity) New Flyer of America 12 500,000 failures. 

Consists of all components that are welded together to form the main frame (skeleton) and body construction. The corrosion guarantee 
covers against a significant loss of structural integrity of the assembly or its functional performance, resulting from a pertinent loss of cross-
section due to corrosion caused by normal environmental elements but excludes corrosion caused by aggressive road de-icers such as 

Chassis Structure (Corrosion) New Flyer of America 12 500,000 Magnesium Chloride or equivalents, unless New Flyer approved preventative measures are taken. The warranty shall be void if the Agency 
fails to conduct corrosion inspections and scheduled preventive maintenance procedures as specified in the Contractor’s maintenance 
manuals. The Agency shall maintain documentation, auditable by the Contractor, verifying service activities in conformance with the 
Contractor’s maintenance manuals. 
All repairs/warranty claims need to be handled through the local authorized repair facility. When the 3 year extended warranty is purchased 

Engine Cummins 2 Unlimited (5 years total) the following applies: Two Year Base (Full Coverage), years 3,4 & 5 covers components only as per manufacturer's 
warranty document. 

Hybrid Drive BAE 2 Unlimited 
All repairs/warranty claims need to be handled through the local authorized repair facility. When the 3 year extended warranty is purchased 
(5 years total) the following applies: Two Year Base (Full Coverage), years 3,4 & 5 covers components only as per manufacturer's 
warranty document. 

Axle (Front and Rear) MAN 5 300,000 
Excluding maintenance items & items that are not covered by the OEM's warranty. All friction materials are excluded from this limited 
warranty. Wear and third party items supplied with the axle (e.g. slack adjuster, seals and bearings, shocks, air bellows, radius rods, brake 
chambers) are not included in the 5 year warranty. Please see manufacturer's warranty document. 

A/C Thermo King 2 Unlimited Some limitations and exclusions may apply - Please see manufacturer's warranty document. All repairs/warranty claims need to be 
handled through the local authorized repair facility. 

Brake System New Flyer of America 1 50,000 Friction Material Excluded 

Destination Signs Twin Vision 6 Unlimited Some limitations and exclusions may apply - Please see manufacturer's warranty document. All repairs/warranty claims need to be 
handled through the local authorized repair facility. 

Door Systems Vapor 3 150,000 Excluding maintenance items & items that are not covered by the OEM's warranty 

Air Compressor Cummins 2 Unlimited 

Wheelchair Ramp New Flyer of America 1 50,000 

Electrical System Vansco 3 150,000 Excluding maintenance items & items that are not covered by the OEM's warranty 

LED Headlights J.W.Speaker 6 Unlimited Warranty covers parts only after first year 

Paint Axalta 5 Unlimited 

Some limitations and exclusions may apply - Please see manufacturer's warranty document. All repairs/warranty claims need to be 
Emission Control System Cummins 5 100,000 handled through the local authorized repair facility for Cummins components. Warranty includes Particulate Filter, DEF Components and 

Aftertreatment devices which should be submitted direct to New Flyer. 

Tires New Flyer of America 2 24,000 

New Flyer Industries Limited warrants the tires installed as original equipment on this vehicle only against defects in materials and 
workmanship which cause the vehicle to fail to comply with applicable U.S. and Canadian greenhouse gas emission limits (“Warrantable 
Emissions Failures”). This vehicle emissions limited express warranty relating to original equipment tires is valid for two (2) years or 24,000 
miles whichever occurs first. 
Aluminum Wheels, Emissions-related warranty on Neutral-Idle or Start/Stop idle reduction systems, as defined by the U.S. EPA (not 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions-Related WarrantNew Flyer of America 5 100,000 
including Allison Standard FuelSense 2.0, Restricted Neutral-at-Stop (NAS), and “Auto-Neutral” functions) 

2024-073 Washoe County Contract Deliverables TC 01.xlsx XDE40 Page 1 of 1 Issued 6/10/2024 1:31 PM 



       

       

 
 
 
 

     

  

 

   

        

 

                 
               
        

         

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County 

Option for Ten (10) XDE40 Hybrid Buses 

Tab 5, Bus Training Proposal 

Solicitation Requirements: 

N/A 

New Flyer Response: 

Please see the attached New Flyer Training Proposal. 

Please note that this proposal is for recommended training only. Training courses may be selected by the 
Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County. New Flyer’s training team is happy to advise on 
selecting the correct training for your needs. 

Corresponding prices are not included in the Bus Price. 



CONTRACT DELIVERABLES LIST CUSTOMER TRAINING 

DESCRIPTION 
RECOMMENDED MAXIMUM NUMBER OF 

STUDENTS PER CLASS 
QTY HRS. 

TOTAL SELLING 
PRICE AT BID 

Operator Orientation (Train-the-Trainer) 6 4 $986.85 

Maintenance Orientation 15 4 $986.85 

Preventive Maintenance Inspection 10 4 $986.85 

Multiplex System 10 32 $7,894.80 

Entrance & Exit Doors 10 4 $986.85 

Wheelchair Ramp 10 4 $986.85 

Brake Systems and Axles 10 16 $3,947.40 

Air System and ABS 10 8 $1,973.70 

Suspension and Steering 10 8 $1,973.70 

Electric Fan Drive 10 4 $986.85 

Coolant Loop Fill Procedure 10 4 $986.85 

Towing 10 4 $986.85 

Body and Structure 10 4 $986.85 

OEM/Subcontractor Supplied Training 

DESCRIPTION 
RECOMMENDED MAXIMUM NUMBER OF 

STUDENTS PER CLASS 
QTY HRS. 

TOTAL SELLING 
PRICE AT BID 

Engine Maintenance 10 16 $8,640.00 

HVAC Maintenance 8 8 $4,860.00 

Fire Suppression 10 8 $5,130.00 

Destination Sign 10 8 $4,860.00 

Hybrid Propulsion System Familiarization 8 16 $13,500.00 

Hybrid Propulsion System Troubleshooting 8 16 $13,500.00 

   
    

 
   

 

   

    
  

 
  
  

  

 

  

 

   

 

   

   

  

  

   

  

  

    
  

 
  
  

 

 

 

 

   

   

CUSTOMER NAME Reno - Washoe County 
2024-073 
Rev Draft 1 
XDE40 
10 

CURRENCY: 
USD BID/OPTION/SR NUMBER 

TECHNICAL SUMMARY 
BUS MODEL 

QUANTITY 

New Flyer Supplied Training 



       

       

 
 
 
 

     

  

 

   

        

 

           

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County 

Option for Ten (10) XDE40 Hybrid Buses 

Tab 6, Bus Publications Proposal 

Solicitation Requirements: 

N/A 

New Flyer Response: 

Please see the attached New Flyer Publications Proposal. 

Please note that Publication Pricing is included in the Bus Price. 



          
  

     
 

 
 

        
  

 
 

        
      

 

      

       

       

         
               

       
       

    

        
  

 
 

          

            

          

        

   
          

   

          

    

    

          

    

    

    

    

          
 

  

          

   

          

    

     

          

    

          

  

          

  

          
 

  

  

          

    

  

          
 

         

         

          

         

         

         

            

          

            

CONTRACT DELIVERABLES SHEET PUBLICATIONS rev a. May 29, 2024 0 RTC - Washoe County 
PRIMARY CUSTOMER NAME Reno 

PUBLICATIONS CUSTOMER NAME RTC - Washoe County 
BID NUMBER 2024-073 

SR # 
BUS MODEL XDE40 

QUANTITY 10 

This is for one XDE40 Option Build of 
10 Buses Only 

DESCRIPTION QTY CUSTOMER DELIVERY 
UPDATES 

(years) 
COMMENTS 

Emergency Responder Guide (8.5x11 laminated paper) 10 With First Bus Delivery 6 
Emergency information to be on board 
each bus 

Operator's Guide (8.5x11 3-hole) 10 With First Bus Delivery 6 

Parts Manual 5 30 Business days After Last Bus Delivery 6 

Service Manual 5 30 Business days After Last Bus Delivery 6 

Bus System Drawings Manual (11x17 3-hole regular paper includes 
air, electr, hydraulic, cooling, PLC HVAC layouts and schematics) 5 30 Business days After Last Bus Delivery 6 

TIV USB 5 30 Business days After Last Bus Delivery 6 
USB Includes only NF Manuals plus OEM 
manuals below identified with "*" 

This is for one XDE40 Option Build of 
10 Buses Only 

DESCRIPTION QTY CUSTOMER DELIVERY 
UPDATES 

(years) 
COMMENTS 

With First Bus Delivery or Soon After Receiving From OEM 
Supplier 

Fault Code Troubleshooting Manual (Vol 1 - 6) 1 " N/A PDF only available with hard copy 

Service Manual (Vol 1 - 2) 1 " N/A PDF only available with hard copy 

Operation & Maintenance Manual 1 " N/A PDF only available with hard copy 

Owners Manual 1 " N/A PDF not available 
With First Bus Delivery or Soon After Receiving From OEM 
Supplier 

HDS200 Hybridrive System Manual 1 " N/A * 

With First Bus Delivery or Soon After Receiving From OEM 
Supplier 

Unit Operation & Maintenance Manual 1 " N/A * 

Intelligaire III Controls Diagnostic Manual 1 " N/A * 

With First Bus Delivery or Soon After Receiving From OEM 
Supplier 

MH5 Cooling System Service Manual 1 " N/A * 

MH5 Cooling System Troubleshooting Manual 1 " N/A * 

ESS Oil Cooler Service Manual 1 " N/A * 

ESS Oil Cooler Troubleshooting Manual 1 " N/A * 

With First Bus Delivery or Soon After Receiving From OEM 
Supplier 

ABS Maintenance Manual 1 " N/A * 

With First Bus Delivery or Soon After Receiving From OEM 
Supplier 

Operation & Maintenance Manual 1 " N/A * 

With First Bus Delivery or Soon After Receiving From OEM 
Supplier 

System Operation and Maintenance Manual 1 " N/A * 

Modular Controller Operation and Maintenance Manual 1 " N/A * 

With First Bus Delivery or Soon After Receiving From OEM 
Supplier 

Thermo DC200 Workshop Manual 1 " N/A * 

With First Bus Delivery or Soon After Receiving From OEM 
Supplier 

MobileView User Manual 1 " N/A * 

With First Bus Delivery or Soon After Receiving From OEM 
Supplier 

DPS System Manual 1 " N/A * 

With First Bus Delivery or Soon After Receiving From OEM 
Supplier 

Hardware User Guides 1 " N/A * 

Software User Guides 1 " N/A * 

Thermo King HVAC OEM Manual Set (includes only the following) 

New Flyer Standard Bus Publications 

OEM Supplier Publications 

Cummins B6.7 (CM2450) Engine OEM Vendor Manual Set (includes only 
the following) 

BAE HDS200 Hybridrive OEM Manual Set (includes only the following) 

Arow Global OEM Manual Set (includes only the following) 

EMP Cooling System OEM Manual Set (includes only the following) 

WABCO ABS System OEM Manual (includes only the following) 

Vansco Multiplexing System OEM Manual (includes only the following) 

Destination Sign OEM Manual Set (includes only the following) 

Valeo Aux Coolant Heater System OEM Manual Set (includes only the 
following) 

Amerex FSS System OEM Manual Set (includes only the following) 

Safe Fleet Video Surveillance System OEM Manual Set (includes only the 
following) 



       

       

 
 
 
 

       

  

 

   

          

 

               
                

        

          

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County 

Option for Ten (10) XDE40 Hybrid Buses 

Tab 7, Bus Tools and Diagnostics Proposal 

Solicitation Requirements: 

N/A 

New Flyer Response: 

Please see the attached New Flyer Tools and Diagnostics Proposal. 

Please note that this proposal outlines New Flyer’s recommended tools and diagnostics package required to 
maintain the Xcelsior® bus. The package acts as a shopping list for the Regional Transportation Commission 
of Washoe County to select from, as required. 

The corresponding prices are not included in the Bus Price. 



    
    

 
   

 

                                   
    

    
 

 
         

         
       

       
      
       
      
       

     
  

 
         

      
        

   
  

   
    

 
  

   
   

    
 

     
    

   
     

     
     

    
   

    
    

       
    

 
     

      
 

       
        

        
       

        
        

       
       

   
    

        
        

      
    

    
    

    
    

    
    
    

    
     

   
        

        
    

     
     

     
      

    
   

      
       
     
    
    
      
       
       
      
   
   
      
      
     
     
    

CONTRACT DELIVERABLES LIST DIAGNOSTICS & TOOLS 
CUSTOMER NAME Reno - Washoe County 

BID/OPTION/SR NUMBER 2024-073 CURRENCY: 
TECHNICAL SUMMARY Rev Draft 1 USD 

BUS MODEL XDE40 
QUANTITY 10 

SHIPPING ADDRESS (IF 
DIFFERENT THAN ABOVE) COMMENTS DESCRIPTION QUOTED PART # 

BID 
QTY 

UNIT SELLING 
PRICE 

EXTENDED 
SELLING PRICE 

Diagnostic Equipment 
for use with all diagnostic software Panasonic FZ55 Toughbook Laptop 6502351 1 $3,713.91 $3,713.91 
Product Drivers - NEXIQ.com Nexiq USB Link™ 3 - WIFI/Bluetooth Edition 6494933 1 $1,181.98 $1,181.98 
INSITE™ Engine Diagnostics | Cummins Inc. Cummins Insite Software NPN 1 $0.00 $0.00 
Requires annual renewal Cummins Insite Lite (1st year subscription) 6339520 1 $1,661.65 $1,661.65 
Requires annual renewal Insite Lite - 1-yr Renewal 6495522 1 $1,661.65 $1,661.65 
Requires annual renewal Cummins Insite Pro (1st year subscription) 6339521 1 $1,372.99 $1,372.99 
Requires annual renewal Insite Pro - 1-yr Renewal 6495523 1 $1,372.99 $1,372.99 
Requires annual renewal Wabco ABS Software (1st yr subscription) 6334596 1 $432.62 $432.62 

Software - Wabco ABS 1-yr Renewal 6495817 1 $432.62 $432.62 
BAE IDS Software 6494673 1 $6,180.30 $6,180.30 

https://www.kvaser.com/downloads/ KVASER Interface 6399629 1 $571.68 $571.68 
Software included in kit Intelligaire III Diagnostic Software & Cables 6393934 1 $2,456.96 $2,456.96 
EMP : Drivers & Downloads (emp-corp.com) EMP Software NPN 1 $0.00 $0.00 
Software included in kit Valeo Diagnostic Software & Cables 6396448 1 $622.19 $622.19 

Valeo Adapter - Diagnostic 6492163 1 $109.65 $109.65 
kmeyers@hanoverdisplays.com Hanover HELEN Software 6401762 1 $15.45 $15.45 

Hanover Keylo Programming Device 6401761 1 $193.13 $193.13 
Hanover Keylo Programming Base Station 6401760 1 $270.39 $270.39 

http://divapps.parker.com/divapps/iqan/VanscoVMM Vansco Software NPN 1 $0.00 $0.00 
http://divapps.parker.com/divapps/iqan/VanscoDLA.h Vansco 1210 Chooser NPN 1 $0.00 $0.00 
PVSG Software (parker.com) PVSG Software NPN 1 $0.00 $0.00 

Cable - PVSG Interface 6487019 1 $56.74 $56.74 
Cable - Transtech VR Interface 6488984 1 $321.60 $321.60 

https://promo.parker.com/promotionsite/parker-sma Smartrider Software NPN 1 $0.00 $0.00 
Vapor Class System Diagnostic Interface Kit 6358421 1 $62.37 $62.37 

kkobel@Wabtec.com Vapor Class System Software NPN 1 $0.00 $0.00 
Datalogger - Vector GL1000 6473056 1 $3,243.10 $3,243.10 

darryl_desjarlais@newflyer.com Danfoss Software - Berendsen Pwr Strg NPN 1 $0.00 $0.00 
Cables Kit - Berendsen Pwr Strg 6490120 1 $396.39 $396.39 

Service Cable - IRMA APC Analyzer 479892 1 $47.90 $47.90 
Ethernet Cable - IRMA APC 6465569 1 $130.10 $130.10 

Special Tools & PPE 
Kit - Lift Tow Universal 6396565 1 $321.79 $321.79 
Kit - Lift Tow Receivers 6396567 1 $1,939.15 $1,939.15 

Xcelsior Flat Tow adapter (2 pcs. Per set) 6395097 1 $3,744.29 $3,744.29 
Assy - Frame Flat Towing 902990 1 $6,349.79 $6,349.79 

Jacking Adapters 434434 1 $1,142.77 $1,142.77 
Tool - Sway Bar Bushing Removal 566804 1 $460.91 $460.91 
Repair Kit - Disc Brakes & Calipers 6408310 1 $4,700.74 $4,700.74 

Torque Multiplier 6314711 1 $2,636.86 $2,636.86 
Hub Repair Kit - MAN VOK-07 Frt Axle 6408311 1 $9,473.69 $9,473.69 

Optional Hub Removal Hydraulic Tool Kit - MAN VOK-07 6458834 1 $6,040.35 $6,040.35 
King Pin Press Kit - MAN VOK-07 Frt Axle 6494532 1 $21,388.09 $21,388.09 

Hub Repair Kit - MAN HY1350 RR Axle 6408306 1 $6,214.42 $6,214.42 
ABS Sensor R&R Kit - MAN HY1350 RR Axle 6408307 1 $1,115.68 $1,115.68 

Pinion Seal Repair Kit - MAN HY1350 RR Axle 6444302 1 $3,046.36 $3,046.36 
Differential Repair Kit - MAN HY1350 RR Axle 6444303 1 $9,774.72 $9,774.72 

Optional Tool Kit - MAN HY1350 RR Axle 6444304 1 $41,032.96 $41,032.96 
Coolant System Pressure Tester 660817 1 $1,127.43 $1,127.43 

Kit - Coolant Pressure Fill 6484741 1 $4,556.43 $4,556.43 
Adj Tool - Strg Gear Box Press Relief 6465265 1 $334.20 $334.20 

Depth Punch - Strg Gear Box Press Relief 6465266 1 $185.67 $185.67 
Flow Meter Tester - Strg Gear Box 140809 1 $1,386.91 $1,386.91 

Puller Tool - Pitman Arm 6394270 1 $510.57 $510.57 
Refractometer-DEF 6392284 1 $193.01 $193.01 

Alignment Tool - Flex Connector 6360381 1 $906.88 $906.88 
Cummins B6.7 Service Tool Kit 6484144 1 $31,107.67 $31,107.67 

BAE ISG Gap Measurement Tool 6469543 1 $1,390.57 $1,390.57 
BAE Assy - Jig ACTM 6400475 1 $4,017.20 $4,017.20 

BAE Lever - Anti Rotation 6400476 1 $772.54 $772.54 
BAE Assy - Jig PSR 6400477 1 $1,699.58 $1,699.58 
BAE Assy - Jig ISG 6400478 1 $3,862.69 $3,862.69 

BAE Spanner - Socket Yoke 6400479 1 $1,854.09 $1,854.09 
BAE Table - Lift Scissor OTC 6400481 1 $13,905.68 $13,905.68 

BAE Blanket - Insulating 6400482 1 $2,626.63 $2,626.63 
BAE Eyebolt - M12 x 1.75 x 24 30mm 6400486 1 $30.90 $30.90 

BAE Eyebolt - M8 x 1.25 x 16 25mm 6400487 1 $21.63 $21.63 
BAE Lifting Hook - ACTM 6410750 1 $115.88 $115.88 

BAE Hardware - ACTM Lifting Hook 6410751 1 $1.55 $1.55 
BAE ESS Module - Lift Bar 6490630 1 $587.13 $587.13 

BAE ESS Module - Lifting Tool 6483360 1 $386.27 $386.27 
TK A/C Tool Kit - RLFE R407c 6459438 1 $32,963.25 $32,963.25 

Amerex Discharge Hose Blowout Adapter 052132 1 $187.26 $187.26 
Amerex Fire Alarm/Simulator Module 6484731 1 $383.49 $383.49 

HV Tools Clamp Meter - 1000A Fluke 376 6487900 1 $1,172.48 $1,172.48 
HV Tools Fluke 2 in 1 Multimeter - 1587FC 6400746 1 $1,784.72 $1,784.72 
HV Tools modular test lead kit 6473267 1 $338.37 $338.37 
HV Tools test probe flat blade 6473268 1 $45.46 $45.46 
HV Tools test probe back probe 6473269 1 $43.28 $43.28 
HV Tools Wiha Insulated Master Electrician's tool kit 6473445 1 $4,867.56 $4,867.56 
HV Tools wiha 1/4 in ratchet set insulated SAE 6473447 1 $708.94 $708.94 
HV Tools wiha 1/4 in ratchet set insulated Metric 6473448 1 $709.34 $709.34 
HV Tools 16 PC 3/8 drive socket set 6473449 1 $521.89 $521.89 
HV Tools 3/8 Extension set 6473450 1 $78.64 $78.64 
HV Tools 3/8 Extension set 6473451 1 $111.29 $111.29 
HV Tools wiha open end wrench insulated metric 6473452 1 $688.99 $688.99 
HV Tools wiha open end wrench insulated sae 6473453 1 $856.09 $856.09 
HV Tools Wiha insulated Serrated Tweezers Straight 6473454 1 $64.09 $64.09 
HV Tools Wiha insulated Serrated Tweezers Angled 6473455 1 $89.27 $89.27 
HV Tools Insulated Torque Wrench 1/4" 6473456 1 $1,000.58 $1,000.58 



                                   
    

    
 

    
    
   
        
          
      
      
         
   
   
    
     

        
        

        
        

        
        
        
        

        
        

        
        

        
        
        
        

       
          

   
      
      

      
       

      
       

      
      

      
    

     
  

  
 

    
    

   
     

  
   

  
       

    

SHIPPING ADDRESS (IF 
DIFFERENT THAN ABOVE) COMMENTS DESCRIPTION QUOTED PART # 

BID 
QTY 

UNIT SELLING 
PRICE 

EXTENDED 
SELLING PRICE 

HV Tools Insulated Torque Wrench 3/8" 6472024 1 $1,041.69 $1,041.69 
HV Tools Insulated Torque Wrench 1/2" 6473457 1 $1,146.63 $1,146.63 
HV Tools torque screwdriver set 6473458 1 $510.45 $510.45 
HV Tools insulated crimper 30 - 6 Awg 7" 6473459 1 $58.37 $58.37 
HV Tools wire striper 6 - 3/8 overall 20 to 10 6473460 1 $52.65 $52.65 
HV Tools insulated water pump pliers v-jaw 6473461 1 $113.45 $113.45 
HV Tools insolated hex key set 10pc metric 6473462 1 $298.71 $298.71 
HV Tools Long SAE Natural insulated hex key set 12 pc 6473463 1 $384.55 $384.55 
HV Tools bit driver 6473464 1 $120.17 $120.17 
HV Tools Stubby Bit Driver 6473465 1 $42.35 $42.35 
HV Tools Wiha Insulated "bitFlip" Set 6472034 1 $74.39 $74.39 
HV Tools Mini Screw Driver set 6473466 1 $132.86 $132.86 
PPE ARC Flash Protection Clothing Kit - 2PC Small 6471958 1 $860.24 $860.24 
PPE ARC Flash Protection Clothing Kit - 2PC Medium 6473412 1 $915.69 $915.69 
PPE ARC Flash Protection Clothing Kit - 2PC Large 6473413 1 $915.69 $915.69 
PPE ARC Flash Protection Clothing Kit - 2PC XL 6473414 1 $911.41 $911.41 
PPE ARC Flash Protection Clothing Kit - 2PC 2XL 6471962 1 $961.47 $961.47 
PPE ARC Flash Protection Clothing Kit - 2PC 3XL 6471963 1 $1,032.28 $1,032.28 
PPE ARC Flash Protection Clothing Kit - 2PC 4XL 6471964 1 $1,118.29 $1,118.29 
PPE ARC Flash Protection Clothing Kit - 2PC 5XL 6471965 1 $1,204.32 $1,204.32 
PPE ARC Flash Protection Clothing Kit - 1PC Small 6471966 1 $683.71 $683.71 
PPE ARC Flash Protection Clothing Kit - 1PC Medium 6473415 1 $683.71 $683.71 
PPE ARC Flash Protection Clothing Kit - 1PC Large 6473416 1 $683.71 $683.71 
PPE ARC Flash Protection Clothing Kit - 1PC XL 6473417 1 $683.71 $683.71 
PPE ARC Flash Protection Clothing Kit - 1PC 2XL 6473418 1 $972.35 $972.35 
PPE ARC Flash Protection Clothing Kit - 1PC 3XL 6471971 1 $1,079.16 $1,079.16 
PPE ARC Flash Protection Clothing Kit - 1PC 4XL 6471972 1 $1,107.12 $1,107.12 
PPE ARC Flash Protection Clothing Kit - 1PC 5XL 6471973 1 $1,081.49 $1,081.49 
PPE Balaclava Head Cover one size fits all 6473440 1 $61.12 $61.12 
PPE Hard Hat and Face Shield one size fits all 6368561 1 $409.91 $409.91 
PPE Fall Saftey Harness 425LBS 6473270 1 $232.41 $232.41 
PPE Black electrical glove kit, Size 7 6471976 1 $162.22 $162.22 
PPE Black electrical glove kit, Size 8 6473420 1 $170.34 $170.34 
PPE Black electrical glove kit, Size 8.5 6471978 1 $155.48 $155.48 
PPE Black electrical glove kit, size 9 6471979 1 $157.61 $157.61 
PPE Black electrical glove kit, Size 9.5 6473421 1 $155.48 $155.48 
PPE Black electrical glove kit, size 10 6473422 1 $153.30 $153.30 
PPE Black electrical glove kit, Size 10.5 6473423 1 $218.72 $218.72 
PPE Black electrical glove kit, size 11 6473424 1 $162.22 $162.22 
PPE Black electrical glove kit, size 12` 6473425 1 $155.48 $155.48 
PPE HV Blanket 3' x 3' 6473431 1 $406.76 $406.76 
PPE Blanket Clamp 9-1/2" L, 5" Opening 6473432 1 $35.72 $35.72 
PPE Glove Dust 0.5oz 6473433 1 $14.25 $14.25 
PPE Rescue Hook 6FT 6400745 1 $631.36 $631.36 
PPE Defibrillator Adult 6473177 1 $2,739.82 $2,739.82 
PPE Brady Personal Lockout Pouch Kit 6494427 1 $139.26 $139.26 
PPE Steel Lock Hasp with Tab 6473442 1 $17.86 $17.86 
PPE American lock A1106RED 6473443 1 $25.88 $25.88 
PPE Lock Out Tag (pk of 25) 6473444 1 $32.08 $32.08 
PPE Hv Warning sign 6473436 1 $20.77 $20.77 
PPE Arc Flash Warning sign 6473437 1 $14.88 $14.88 
PPE steering wheel covers 6473439 1 $79.79 $79.79 
PPE Cart - Safety Barricade System (up to 75ft) 6491772 1 $1,630.13 $1,630.13 
PPE Tape - Red HV Safety 6491845 1 $45.86 $45.86 



    

    

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County 

Option for Ten (10) XDE40 Hybrid Buses 

Tab 8, Bus Delivery Schedule 

Solicitation Requirements: 

N/A 

New Flyer Response: 

New Flyer’s Delivery Schedule for the proposed bus has not been determined, exact dates are not available 
at this time. Estimated line entry is Q3/Q4 2025. A delivery schedule will be forwarded to you when the 
dates have been determined. 



    

    

     

 

 

 

         

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County 

Option for Ten (10) XDE40 Hybrid Buses 

Tab 9, Bus Technical Summary 

Solicitation Requirements: 

N/A 

New Flyer Response: 

Please see the attached New Flyer Technical Summary for the proposed bus. 



  
     

   
      

  

    

  
      

  
         

         

 
         
         

 
   

 
     

       

  

 
         
         
   

    
      

   
          

     

        
   

       

      
      

  
        

 
   
   

  

  

   
   

    

       
   

   

     
      

Family Family Description Feature Feature Description Comments 
100-00 XCELSIOR COACH LENGTH X40 Xcelsior - 40' coach. 
100-03 STRUCTURAL MATERIAL CAR Carbon steel/ferritic sst. 
100-04 FUEL TYPE DIE Diesel, compatible up to 20% biodiesel. 
100-05 EPA CALENDAR YEAR 025 2025 

100-0B POWERTRAIN CAN BAUD RATE 500 500 kbps 

100-0Y BUS MODEL YEAR 025 2025 
201-01 FRONT BUMPER NFI Romeo Rim, three piece, front bumper. 

201-03 FRONT TOWING PROVISIONS 001 
Basic set-up, incorporated in front chassis. Tow adapters are 
required. 

201-05 REAR BUMPER NFI Romeo Rim, three piece, rear bumper with anti-ride feature. 

M.A.N. VOK-08-F, GAWR 18,078 lbs. With disc brakes. Hub 
203-01 FRONT AXLE 002 mount, Knorr cylinders, Ferodo lining with low copper (<5%) 

brake pads. 

203-02 
SECUREMENT OF BRAKE 
LININGS 

NFI Bonded. 

203-06 SHOCK ABSORBERS NFI Koni. 

203-0A 
FRT AXLE AND WHEEL SPLASH 
APRONS 

001 Basic, full width, fore of axles and wheels. 

203-0B RADIUS ROD BUSHINGS WIN Windowed 
M.A.N. 4.56:1. Model HY-1350-F. GAWR 28,660 lbs. With disc 

204-01 REAR AXLE 001 brakes, hub mount, Knorr cylinder, Ferodo lining with low 
copper (<5%) brake pads. 

204-03 REAR AXLE GEAR OIL PET Petroleum based. 
204-09 REAR AXLE DRAIN PLUGS EXT Magnetic external hex head. 

204-0A REAR AXLE MUD FLAP ONE 
One aft of rear axle. (Requirement is determined by local 
climate, ice build-up, high ambient temperature.) 

204-0C REAR WHEEL MUD FLAP 002 One aft of each rear wheel. 
205-01 TIRE SUPPLIER 002 Customer supplied tires. 

205-06 WHEELS ALD Alcoa 22.5" x 8.25" aluminum. Polished Durabright finish. 

205-0J STEERING AXLE TIRES 002 305/70R/22.5, Firestone CTRAZ (65 mph). 
205-0M REAR AXLE TIRES 002 305/70R/22.5, Firestone CTRAZ (65 mph). 

209-01 POWER STEERING PUMP ELC 
Berendsen electric power steering pump. Mounted at the 
front streetside. 

209-02 POWER STEERING HOSES GAT Gates G2XH 

209-03 
POWER STEERING DIAGNOSTIC 
FTGS 

REQ At steering box. 

209-05 POWER STEERING RESERVOIR REQ Required. 

209-06 
POWER STEERING FLUID 
INDICATOR 

PNL Required at instrument panel. 

209-08 POWER STEERING DRAIN PLUG MAG Magnetic plug. 

209-09 POWER STEERING UNIT VTX ZF TAS85, power assisted, frame mounted. 

209-0A 
POWER STEERING SYSTEM 
FLUID 

DEX Dexron III, mineral based. 

209-0B POWER STEERING SENSOR REQ Hydraulic level sensor required. 
219-01 FUEL/PROPULSION SYSTEM BHB BAE hybrid with B6.7 diesel engine. 



       
        

      

        

   
  

       

   
         
    

        

     
    

           

  
          

    
          
          

 
 

 
     

        

     

    

      

         

    
   

       

   
   

    

   
      

       

  
      

      
        

   

  
          

           
   

       

 
         

 
     

Cummins B6.7 2024 emissions-standard diesel engine, 280 
219-02 PROPULSION,HP,TORQUE,TYPE 007 horsepower (Engine output is controlled by Hybrid Drive). 

Refer to 100-05 for EPA/Engine Model Year. 

219-05 AIR COMPRESSOR E01 Direct coupled air compressor powered by electric motor. 

219-06 
AIR COMPRESSOR HIGH 
VOLTAGE INTERLOCK SWITCH 

BSC 
Not required, Junction box provided with tamperproof 
hardware. 

219-09 CUMMINS DIESEL FUEL FILTERS 003 
DP245 primary and Cummins secondary fuel filter system. The 
DP245 has built-in check valve. 

219-0B CUMMINS DIPSTICK,LOCATION CSS Static oil level indicator, on curbside of engine. 

219-0C 
ENGINE & TRANS FLUID FILL 
TAGS 

NFI For engine and transmission dipsticks. 

219-0D ROAD SPEED 065 Top road speed is governed. Set at 65 MPH (105 KPH). 

219-0H HYBRID DRIVE START/STOP STP 
Shuts off and restarts engine automatically to reduce idling at 
stops. 

219-0J 
BAE DRIVE MODES, SWITCH 
LOCATION 

SC1 
Shuts engine off with input/switch on side console, light up, 
allows operation for short distances (<500 yards at speeds < 
15 mph). 

219-0M 
TRANSMISSION/HYBRID 
DRIVE/TRACTION MOTOR 

005 As per BAE hybrid system, HDS200. 

219-0P TRANSMISSION SHIFTING NFI Foot on brake enables shift when in neutral. 

219-18 FLUID, TRANS/HYBRID DRIVES DDH Dura Drive HD synthetic 

219-1A ENG/TRANS OIL DRAIN PLUGS BSC OEM Provided 

219-1C AIR CLEANER DON Donaldson. Reusable housing with disposable cartridge/filter. 

219-1D AIR RESTRICTION INDICATOR MCH Mechanical gauge mounted directly on air intake tube. 

219-1E EXHAUST SYSTEM SCR Single module DPF/SCR combined. 

219-1F 
EXHAUST TAIL PIPE 
ORIENTATION 

001 Curved pipe set to 45 degrees to streetside. 

219-1G 
EXHAUST BLANKETS FOR 
CUMMINS DIESEL OR CNG 

BSC Provided for the exhaust tubes. 

219-1H 
EXHAUST REGEN SWITCH 
LOCATION 

SDS Single switch in destination sign panel required. 

219-1U ENGINE SWITCH BOX BSC Basic indicator configuration with run/start switch. 

Programmable CAN communicator. Standard Features: Engine 

219-22 
ENGINE COMPARTMENT 
GAUGES 

DIE 
Oil Pressure, Engine Water temperature, Tachometer, 
12V/24V battery voltage, Hour Meter, Exhaust Temp, Active 
Faults, Drivetrain Specific features. 

219-25 ENG SWITCHBOX KEYPAD 003 
Includes service light, fan reverse and coolant fill switches and 
start disabled, wait to start, low coolant, ECP coolant low and 
HEV maintenance required indicators. 

219-27 

219-2E 

219-2F 

ENGINE OIL FILL TUBE & CAP 

BELT GUARD 

BELT GUARD LATCHING 

BSC 

001 

001 

Basic Cummins supplied. 

The engine pulley guard hinged to open curbside. Yellow 
powder coated. 
SST adjustable draw latch. 



 
        

            

   
           

   
   

     

    

     
        

            
          

             
        

     
 

 

     
     
  

    
   

    
        

       
 

 
        

      

  
        

  
 

 

  

    

    
 

     

    
  
   

    
    

   
    

  
           

          
 

      
      

219-2H OIL SAMPLING ETP 
Required for engine and transmission, using KST probalizer 
fittings. 

219-2J OIL SAMPLING, EASY ACCESS 002 For engine probalizer fitting located at street side engine strut. 

219-2K DEF(DIESEL EXH FLUID) TANK MNL 
Manual fill is set in the lower curbside fusebox access door 
with NFIL fill cap. 

219-2U HYBRID DEPOT DRIVE REQ Required 
219-2V GEOFENCED HYBRID DRIVE 001 Geofencing using NFI Connect. 

219-2Z COOLANT PRESSURE FILL HOSE GAT Gates G2XH. 

Immediately shifts to neutral when propulsion system is 

219-31 
DIESEL HYBRID AUTO SHIFT TO 
NEUTRAL 

001 
selected in range and the parking brake is applied. Also, after 
a 5-minute delay, whenever the exit door brake interlock is 
applied. 

231-02 
RADIATOR,CAC,HYDR FLUID 
COOLER 

MHW 
EMP MH5 GEN4 with full diagnostic capabilities. 3 x 15" fans 
and 2 x 11" fans. Includes hybrid WEG cooler. 

231-04 
RADIATOR REVERSE FAN SW & 
DIAG LAMP 

REQ Keypad button. 

231-06 SURGE TANK 5GL 5 gallon cylindrical SST tank. 

231-08 
SURGE TANK ENG MAINT & 
DERATE SENSOR MFR 

FOZ Fozmula 

231-09 
SURGE TANK PRESSURE TEST 
PORT 

PVD Schrader valve fitting provided. 

231-0A 
SURGE TANK PRESSURE RELIEF 
VALVE 

001 Radiator cap (LEV-R VENT), built into surge tank cap. 

231-0B SURGE TANK SIGHT GLASS NFI Graduated sight glass (glass material). 
231-0C RAD TUBES SST SST 

231-0F COOLANT FLUID/ANTIFREEZE 001 
50/50 pre-mixed distilled water with ethylene glycol with anti-
corrosion additive and bittering agent. Pink fluid. 

231-0G 
TRANSMISSION/HYBRID DRIVE 
COOLER 

006 Built into rad for BAE hybrids with external pump. 

231-0J 
TRANSMISSION/HYBRID DRIVE 
COOLER PUMP 

NFI AMETEK pump 

231-0K COOLANT RECOVERY TANK REQ Required. 

241-01 DIESEL FUEL TANK MATERIAL POL Cross-linked polyethylene. 

241-02 
DIESEL TANK CAPACITY AND 
FILL TYPE 

1PF 100 useable US gallons. Pressure filled. 

241-03 DIESEL FILLER CAP POS Posi-snap flip type. 
241-04 DIESEL FUEL SENDER 001 Required. 

241-07 
DIESEL FUEL HOSES,ENGINE 
COMPT 

NFI GH100. 

241-08 
DIESEL FUEL LINES,TANK TO 
BULKHEAD 

NFI Orange, fuel grade nylon tubing. 

246-01 
AIR COMPRESSOR DISCHARGE 
LINE 

NFI Teflon 2807 SST braided hose. 

Combo Tank 1 (Wet Tank + Primary Brake Tank), Combo Tank 
246-02 BASIC AIR TANKS B01 2 (Front Axle Kneeling Tank + Accessory Air Tank), Secondary 

Brake Tank. 
246-04 AIR TANK DRAIN VALVES MNL Manual 1/4 turn valve. 
246-06 WET TANK DRAIN VALVE MAN Manual 1/4 turn valve. 



  
        

      

   
        

 
           

     

   
             

           
   

              
   

 
         

         

    
  

        

  
          

   
    

             

    
    

              

  

         
        

        
 

       

            

   
 

          
  

 
      

      

  
      

  
 

   

   
         
       

 
            
       

246-09 

246-0A 

RIDE HEIGHT SENSORS 

RIDE HEIGHT SETTINGS, 
NORMAL 

SP2 

SR1 

SmartRider electronic leveling system on front axle and 
Barksdale mechanical leveling valves on center/rear axles. 

Front ride height is 4.0" axle to bump stop. 

246-0E DOOR INTERLOCK ENE 
Applied to entrance and exit doors. Foot on brake to release 
interlock, applied via multiplex system programming. 

If the Master Run switch is in the OFF or PARK positions, the 
246-0G DRIVER'S PARK BRAKE ALARM 001 kneeling alarm is triggered to alert the driver that the park 

brake is not set. 

246-0H 
PARK BRAKE PRESSURE 
SETTING 

NFI 
40 psi auto-apply park brake valve. 60 psi pressure switch for 
park brake light activation. 

246-0K AIR DRYER 003 
Bendix AD9 Tandem air dryer with IPC (Integrated Puraguard 
Cartridge). 

246-0M AIR DRYER LOCATION BSW Behind the rear streetside wheelhouse, on the bulkhead. 

246-0U PARK BRAKE ACTUATION PUL Pull To Apply. 

246-0V 
PARK/EMERG BRAKE 
LOCATION 

PSC Park brake control location - on side console panel. 

246-13 FRONT TOW CONNECTOR NPT 
Male 1/4" NPT fitting with Series 20/30 coupler fitting, with 
tag. 

246-14 
FRONT AIR CONNECTOR 
ARRANGEMEN 

SS1 Located below the bumper, streetside. 

246-15 
FRONT AIR CHARGE 
CONNECTOR 

NPT 
Male 1/4" NPT fitting with Series 20/30 coupler fitting, with 
tag. 

246-16 
REAR AIR CHARGE FITTING 
LOCATION 

BSC Routed to curbside of engine. 

246-17 
REAR AIR CHARGE CONNECTOR 
TYPE 

NPT 
Male 1/4" NPT fitting with Series 20/30 coupler fitting, with 
tag. 
Synflex colour coded. Green: rear service brakes and supplies. 

246-1B FLEXIBLE AIR LINES NFI 
Red: front service brakes. Brown: parking brake. Black: 
accessories and brake hose. Yellow: compressor and governor. 
Blue: suspension. 

246-1E ABS NFI Wabco. 

246-1J FRONT CHARGE AIR ROUTING WET Direct charge to wet tank. 

246-1K REAR CHARGE AIR ROUTING AFT Connection after air dryer with direct path into wet tank. 

246-27 
AIR SYSTEM TRANSDUCER 
FAULT DETECTION 

001 
Transducer Fault Detection - Transducer voltage falls to 0V if 
transducer failure occurs. 

260-01 BATTERY MANAGEMENT TRA 
Transtech regulator w/Low Voltage Disconnect, temperature 
and current sensors to optimize battery life. 

260-02 
BATTERY VOLTAGE 
REGULATOR 

002 Transtech REG24C w/J1939 and data logging 

260-03 
BATTERY VOLTAGE 
REGULATOR LOCATION 

FUS Mounted inside fuse box. 

260-04 BATTERY TYPE / MFR 001 
Two East Penn 8D Flooded lead acid maintainable batteries. 
1425 CCA. Drop posts: 1/2" positive, 3/8" negative. 

260-05 BATTERY CABLES NFI 
Red heat shrink on 24 volt positive cable end and light blue 
heat shrink on 12 volt positive cable end. 



 

        
         

         
     

  
 

         
   

  
        

   
  

  

  
         

   

 
        

      

   
 

         
  

    
  

  
            

           
     

    
      

   

         
  

          

  
    

  
    

  

   
        

  
        

       
      

    
 

    

       
    

 
     

  
      

    
 

Slide out battery acid resistant polyethylene enclosure with 

260-09 BATTERY TRAY NFI 
SST sub frame, SST bearings and rubber isolation mounts. 
Located aft of the curbside rear wheelhouse. Note: battery 
access door opens to the side. 

260-0C 
POSITIVE BATTERY 
DISCONNECT SW 

001 
Required with quick access through flip-open door. Uses a 
micro-switch for engine shutdown. 

260-0E BATTERY VOLTAGE EQUALIZER A06 
Vanner 100 amp with J1939, battery State-of-Health monitor, 
and temperature /current sensor. 

260-0F 
JUMP START 
MANUFACTURER/TYPE 

A01 Anderson SB350 grey 

260-0G JUMP START LOCATION 005 
Mounted on underneath side of fusebox, accessible via the 
DEF fill access door 

260-0H 

260-0Y 

260-0Z 

START/STOP SWITCH 

BAE ELECTRONIC COOLING 
PACKAGE (ECP) 
BAE ENERGY STORAGE SYSTEM 
(ESS) 

REQ 

EMP 

NXT 

Start/Stop mode functionality Shuts off and restarts engine 
automatically to reduce idling at stops, required 

EMP cooler with Ametek pump for propulsion control and 
accessory power system. 

3G-32K (Next Gen) 

BAE MAPS-SDM3A. 2 APC (200 Amp @ 28V DC each). 3 API 
260-10 ACCESSORY POWER SUPPLY 2A3 (17.5 KW at 230 V 3-Ph AC each). XDE40/35 with electric 

accessories for use with Gen 2.5. 

260-15 
ROOF FAIRING / SKIRTS 
ENCLOSURE 

XDE Fairing with full length skirts for XDE's. 

260-1B 
BATTERY VOLTAGE EQUALIZER 
QUANTITY 

001 One 

269-01 P.A. AMPLIFIER MFR / TYPE AVA Included with AVA or AVL system. 
269-0G INTERIOR SPEAKER MFR TCB TCB 

269-0H PRIMARY INTERIOR SPEAKERS 006 Six: four to light panels, two above rear bench. 

269-0K 
EXTERIOR SPEAKERS, 
LOCATION 

ENT At basic location above entrance. 

269-0M EXTERIOR SPEAKER MFR SHE Shekonic 
269-0Z PRIMARY PA SYSTEM AVA To AVA/AVL System. 

269-13 EXTERIOR SPEAKER QUANTITY ES1 One 

269-1E EXTERIOR SPEAKER COIL 1CO Single coil 
273-01 HEADLIGHTS NFI NFIL Xcelsior LED low beam and high beam headlights. 
273-02 DAY RUN HEADLIGHTS REQ Required. 
273-03 FRONT TURN SIGNALS NFI NFIL amber LED. Integrated with headlight assembly. 
273-06 TAIL LIGHT ARRANGEMENT 006 Amber, red (stop/tail), red (stop/tail), white. 
273-07 TAIL LIGHTS MFR 4DG 4" Dialight LED, grommet mounted. 

273-08 
CENTER STOP / DECELERATION 
LIGHT SIZE 

BSC 18" X 1 " Dialight 

273-09 WHITE BACK-UP LIGHT MFR DLG 4" Dialight LED, grommet mounted. 

273-0A 
STOP LIGHTS ON WITH 
RTRDR/REGEN BRAKE 

REQ Required. 

273-0B 
STOP LIGHTS ON WITH PARK 
BRAKE OR INTERLOCK 

NFI When park brake or interlock are engaged. 

273-0E 
CENTER STOP / DECELERATION 
LIGHTS QTY 

002 Two 



    
 

      

     
 

      

   
    

     
    

   
         

   
     

   
  

        

      
    

   
            

                
 

    
 

   

           
   

  
         

 

 
           

       
   

  
 

  

  
 

 

   
      

  
    

  
 

          

     
       

    
   

    

273-0F 
CENTER STOP / DECELERATION 
LIGHTS LOCATION 

BS1 At lower edge of rear crown panel 

273-0H 
SIDE TURN SIGNALS,TYPE / QTY 
PER SIDE 

2DL 2 amber Dialight LED Lamps, 12 volt. 

273-0J 
SIDE TURN SIGNAL 
FUNCTIONALITY 

BSC Single intensity, Dialight LED lamps. 

273-0K 
SD TURN SGNL GUARD BRKT, 
MATERIAL/CTG 

ALU Aluminum, painted per paint scheme. 

273-0M 
CURBSIDE TURN SIGNALS 
LOCATION 

001 Lamps are aft of front and fore of rear wheelhouses. 

273-0N 
STREETSIDE TURN SIGNALS 
LOCATION 

01F Lamps are fore of all wheelhouses. 

273-0P 
KNEELING/RAMP LIGHT AT 
ENTRANCE 

NFI 2.5" Dialight LED. 

273-0T MARKER / CLEARANCE LIGHTS 001 Dialight LED without guard all around. 

273-0V REFLECTORS NFI Self-adhesive decals installed at NFIL basic positions. 
273-0W REAR LICENCE PLATE LIGHT SMT Smartrend LED. 

273-10 
TIMED SHUT-OFF,ENTR AREA 
LIGHTS 

BSC The program is set to shut the lights off when the door closes. 

273-12 
TIMED SHUT-OFF,EXIT AREA 
LIGHTS 

NFI 
The program is set to shut the lights off five seconds after the 
door closes. 

273-1F 
CENTER STOP / DECELERATION 
LIGHTS COLOR 

RED Red 

273-1P CENTER REAR REFLECTOR QTY 001 One 

273-1R 
MARKER / CLEARANCE LIGHTS 
FUNCTIONALITY 

NFI 
New Flyer standard marker/clearance light functionality to 
meet applicable FMVSS/CMVSS regulations. 

273-23 MARKER LIGHTS LOCATION NFI 
New Flyer standard marker light locations to meet applicable 
FMVSS/CMVSS regulations 
Day Run, Night Run, and Night Park modes illuminate the tail 

273-25 EXTERIOR LIGHTS DAY lamps, marker/clearance lamps, and license plate lamp. 
Mandatory for Canadian customers. 

273-26 
CENTER STOP/DECELERATION 
LIGHT FUNCTIONALITY 

STP Basic stop functionality. 

273-27 
CENTER STOP/DECELERATION 
LIGHT VOLTAGE 

12V 12 Volts. 

273-28 
CENTER REAR REFLECTOR 
LOCATION 

DHY At lower edge of rear crown panel 

277-02 
INTERIOR PASSENGER 
LIGHTING 

NFI NFIL LED lights, 24 VDC. 

277-04 
PASSENGER LIGHTING: 
OUTPUT INTENSITY 

001 0% 1st bank on each side, 100% for the remaining banks. 

277-07 
EXIT BASEPLATE / ELEC PNL 
ACCESS 

NFI At each exit door, through removable ad frame. 

277-0B 
TINTED LED PASSENGER LIGHT 
COVERS 

WHT White for all lights. 

277-0C FAREBOX LIGHT SMT One fixed LED light. 



         

           

    
 

  
    

   
   

      

   
   

   
  

 

    
 

 

   
         

   
           
          

  

  
         
         

 
             

 
    

 
 

    
          
 

    

  

      
 

   
   

         

          
   

 

   
     

      

   
 

277-0F DRIVER'S LIGHT 001 One sealed 2.5" white high output Smartrend LED light. 

277-0K SDS SERVICE LIGHT 1LL One LED lamp, provided at upper front of SDS enclosure. 

277-0M 
SDS SERVICE LIGHT SWITCH 
CONTROL 

BSW With switch. 

277-0N 
PROPULSION COMPARTMENT 
LIGHTS 

SMT Smartrend, four 1.38" LED lights. 

277-0V REAR DECK STEP LIGHT 
INTERIOR DOOR HEADER 

LED LED. 

277-0W LIGHTS, ANTI-GLARE SHIELD 
COLOR 

BLK With black anti-glare shield. 

INTERIOR DOOR HEADER 
277-0Y LIGHTS/ QUANTITY 

(ENTRANCE) 
SGL Single strip. 

277-11 
INTERIOR DOOR HEADER 
LIGHTS/ QUANTITY (EXIT) 

SGL Single strip. 

277-1A 
REAR PLC AND FUSEBOX 
SERVICE LIGHTS 

NFI Provided, LED. 

CURBSIDE FORWARD HVAC 
277-2B DUCT ORIENTATION ON LIGHT 

PANEL 
BSC Duct fixed pointed towards the aisle. 

277-2D 
INTERIOR LED LIGHT 
FUNCTIONALITY 

001 
All banks are dimmable. When doors are open, lights turn on 
to full intensity. When doors are closed, lights reduce to 
secondary output intensity. 
One basic electronic chime above driver. Chime has single 

280-01 PASSENGER SIGNAL CHIMES BSC tone which sounds once for regular activation, twice for 
wheelchair positions. 

280-0E 
TOUCHTAPE PASSENGER 
SIGNALS 

YLW 
Yellow. Installed on all pier panels and harness covers aft of 
front wheelhouses. 

280-0T 
PASSENGER SIGNAL TYPE AT 
WHEELCHAIR POSITIONS 

BSC Basic touchtape. 

280-0V PUSH BUTTON SIGNAL AT EXIT 001 
Mounted facing aisle on stanchion fore of exit, low profile 
recessed button. 

280-19 PUSH BUTTON SIGNAL TYPE NRQ Not required. 

284-01 ELECTRONIC CONTROL SYSTEM NFI Vansco. 

284-02 SYSTEM VOLTAGE NFI 24 VDC primary, 12 VDC secondary. 
284-03 SWITCHES NFI Water resistant. 

284-04 
SPARE INPUT/OUTPUT PORTS 
FOR MULTIPLEX SYSTEM 
MODULES 

NFI 
Minimum 10% input and 10% output, per electrical panel 
location. 

284-06 HAZARD WARNING LIGHTS NFI Front, side and rear lights flash for hazard warning. 

284-0B 
SDS ELECTRICAL PANEL 
ORIENTATION 

FCS Facing curbside. 

284-0D 
SDS ELECTRICAL PANEL 
LOCATION 

BSR Mounted on backside of SDS rack. 

284-0F ENTRANCE DOOR CONTROLLER B5P Basic with 5 position settings. 

284-0N 
PROPULSION SYSTEM RESET 
SWITCH 

NRQ Not required. 



 
        
     

     
      

          
           

         

    
         

   
 

    

 

     

      

  
            

            
          

            
   

         

    
 

    

    

   

       

       

   

 
         

      
         

        
          

  
   

  
 

        
            

        

   

286-01 INSTRUMENT PANEL BSC 
LCD display screen. Acrylic material with luminescent lighting, 
with Vansco Instrument Panel Cluster module. 

286-02 SHIFT SELECTOR LOCATION NFI located on instrument panel. 
286-03 EXTERIOR LAMP TEST NFI simultaneously depress both turn signals. 

Part of Vansco instrument panel cluster. Set to display miles. 
286-04 SPEEDOMETER VMI With odometer (the display can be toggled to show Trip1, Trip 

2, engine hours). Remove "engine hours" on battery buses. 

286-05 
AUDIBLE SOUND FOR TURN 
SIGNALS/HAZARDS 

BSC Using click sound for turn signal and for hazard warning. 

286-0C 
REGENERATIVE BRAKE DISABLE 
SWITCH LOCATION 

DRV In sawtooth panel above driver. 

286-0D SILENT ALARM REQ Required. 

286-0F SILENT ALARM SW LOCATION SCA At side console. 

286-0K SILENT ALARM SW TYPE 2X4 2x4 circuit switch required. 

286-0P 
DIAGNOSTICS PLUG 
LOCATIONS 

002 
Under the front dash (left of the steering column), at fwd face 
of the SDS barrier (above driver) and at the engine switch box 
and one BAE diagnostic connector at fwd face of the SDS. 

286-1N 
ADDITIONAL IP 
REQUIREMENTS 

BR1 
Brake application gauge and 1" red stop request light required 
on the instrument panel. 

289-01 SECUREMENT OF HARNESSES BSC Hellerman tyton clamps, with Panduit releasable cable ties. 

296-01 
WIRING DECAL,REAR PLC AND 
FUSEBOX 

NFI Provided, laminated. 

296-02 WIRING DECAL,SIDE CONSOLE LAM Laminated, shipped loose. 

296-07 
SIDE CONSOLE DOOR DECAL 
LANGUAGE 

ENG English 

298-01 WATER TEST DURATION 010 10 minutes. 

298-02 WATER TEST DURATION A/C 001 Water Test with A/C on. 

304-01 EXTERIOR PAINT TYPE NFI Axalta Imron Elite high solids polyurethane. 

304-06 HIGH VOLTAGE SAFETY DECALS REQ Required. 

Grit blasted frame, moisture cure zinc-rich primer (applied for 
304-07 CORROSION PROTECTION 12Y 12 year protection), anti-chip undercoating, corrosion 

preventive coating sprayed inside frame tubes up to roof line. 

304-09 EXTERIOR LOGOS,NFIL REQ NFI logos and Xcelsior logos in standard locations. 

304-0A 
EXT DECALS,CUSTOMER 
SPECIFIC 

REQ 
Required. Customer to provide the Engineering paint group 
with specific requirements. 

304-0D 
INTERIOR DECALS, CUSTOMER 
SPECIFIC 

REQ Required. 

English / Spanish. Passenger compartment decals are the 

304-0E 
PASSENGER COMPARTMENT 
DECAL LANGUAGE 

ENS 
decals within the area of the coach designed for the seating of 
passengers and that are intended primarily for passenger 
viewing. 

304-0F 
INTERIOR FLEET NUMBER 
DECALS 

REQ Required. 



  
         

       

   
            
          

 
   
  

 

  
  

  
      

 
           

   

  
           

  

    

    
  

    

               
          

 
     

       
    

  

       
      

    
           

  

    
     

     
 

         
      

  
 

         
       

   
        

   
  

  

             
   

   
         

    

304-0G 
MAINTENANCE DECAL 
LANGUAGE 

ENG 
English. Maintenance decals are the decals that will be 
referenced primarily when performing maintenance on the 
coach. 
NFIL basic ramp & kneeling decal (red on white) and an arrow 

304-0H KNEELING / RAMP DECALS BSC decal (red and black) provided near the kneeling / ramp 
deployment lights. 

304-0J AIR TANK DECALS NFI NFIL basic. 

304-0M 
EXT FLEET NUMBERS,NON-
ROOF 

NRF Required (non-reflective). 

304-0N 
EXTERIOR FLEET 
NUMBERS,ROOF 

NRF Required (non-reflective). 

304-0U HYBRID SAFETY DECALS REQ Required. 
304-0Z INTERIOR LOGOS, NFI REQ NFI logos at standard location. 

306-02 FIRE EXTINGUISHERS 5US 
5 lb ABC class. With gauge, hose and mounting bracket. UL 
compliant for US customers. 

306-03 FIRE EXTINGUISHER LOCATION DRV 
Mounted on the horizontal surface of the luggage rack fore of 
the driver's barrier. 

306-05 SAFETY TRIANGLE LOCATION DRV Behind the driver. 

306-08 FIRST AID KIT LOCATION DRV Behind driver. 

306-09 
BLOODBOURNE PROTECTION 
KIT 

CSB Required in CS equipment box. 

350-01 
DRIVER'S PEDALS, POSITION / 
TYPE 

BSC 
Brake pedal angle set at 45 degrees from pedal to floor. 
Throttle pedal angle set at 45 degrees from pedal to floor. 

350-04 BRAKE VALVES NFI E6. 
350-07 TURN SIGNAL SWITCHES BSC Basic switches, floor mounted. 
350-08 DIMMER SWITCH BSC Foot switch located beside side console panel. 

350-0D 
HAZARD WARNING LIGHT SW 
LOCATION 

BSC On side console. 

350-0G STEERING COLUMN DAT Douglas Autotech with tilt and telescopic features. 
350-0H STEERING WHEEL 18B 2 spoke, 18" diameter hard padded. 
350-0M DUAL HORN BSC Provided with splash shield. 
400-01 JACKING / LIFTING PADS 001 4" diameter round pads at front and rear chassis. 
420-02 EXTERIOR SIDE PANELS NFI Fiberglass. 

420-05 
CURB & STREET ENG,S/CONS 
DOORS,STRUTS 

LOC Supported by gas struts, one locking. 

420-06 
CURB & STREET ENG COMPT, 
BATTERY DOORS,LATCHES 

CRM 
Quarter turn chrome plated 5/16" square key latches. Also, 
used for the separate battery access door. 

420-07 
CURBSIDE PROPULSION 
COMPARTMENT DOOR 

001 
Includes battery disconnect switch access door (using a gas 
strut) and a DEF manual fill access door. 

420-09 
DEFROSTER ACCESS DOOR 
LATCHES 

CRM 4 quarter turn chrome plated 5/16" square key latches. 

420-0A 
STREET SIDE ENGINE 
(RADIATOR) ACCESS DOOR 

WAV With wavy screen. 

420-0B 
BATTERY COMPARTMENT 
DOOR 

SOL 
Solid door located aft of the curb side rear wheel, separate 
from the engine compartment. 

420-0C DIESEL FUEL FILL DOOR BSC 
Basic hinged door located forward of the curbside rear 
wheelhouse. 

420-0D SURGE TANK DOOR BSC Basic hinged door. 



           

     
         

          

   
       

   
  

        
   

  

    
   

   

    
   

   

         
 

  
           

              
 

  
 

         
   

    

   
 

     

     

    
   

     
 

          
       

 
    

 
   

    
       

  
     

   

         
 

420-0F SIDE CONSOLE DOOR LATCHES CHR Quarter turn chrome plated 5/16" square key quad latches. 

420-0G PROPULSION DOOR SOL Solid door with built-in handle. 
420-0H PROPULSION DOOR STRUTS TWO Two, the streetside strut has a locking mechanism. 

420-0J PROPULSION DOOR LATCHES CHR Quarter turn chrome plated 5/16" square key quad latches. 

420-0M 
REAR LICENSE PLATE 
RETENTION 

002 Centered with bottom retainer and two upper inserts. 

420-0N 
ENGINE DOOR PROXIMITY 
SWITCH 

PCS Required on curbside. 

420-0P RAIN GUTTER NFI 0.44" cross section bonded. drain holes and plugs 

420-0R 
ROOF HATCH INSTRUCTION 
LANGUAGE 

ENS English / Spanish. 

420-0T ROOF HATCH SIZE,FRONT X24 24" X 24" 
420-0U ROOF HATCH TYPE,FRONT BSC Basic hatch/vent. 

420-0V ROOF HATCH VENDOR,FRONT TRA Transpec Worldwide. 

420-15 ROOF HATCH SIZE,REAR X24 24" X 24" 
420-16 ROOF HATCH TYPE,REAR BSC Basic hatch/vent. 

420-17 ROOF HATCH VENDOR,REAR TRA Transpec Worldwide. 

420-1B WIPERS SMT 
Comotech motors 24 volt electric with Smartrend wet arm 
wipers. Intermittent. 

420-1E WINDSHIELD WASHER BOTTLE 5US 
5 US gallon with electric powered pump mounted using 4 weld 
nuts. 

420-1F 
WINDSHIELD WASHER FILL 
LOCATION 

NFI 
Accessed via a flip-out door built into the exterior side console 
access door. 

420-1G LOWER DRIVER'S VENT REQ Provided. 
420-1H FENDERS MOL Molded polyurethane. 
420-1M EXTERIOR UPPER REAR PNL Fiberglass panel with no door and no window. 

420-1T 
FRONT LICENSE PLATE 
LOCATION 

CEN On center of defroster door. 

420-1U 
FRONT LICENSE PLATE 
RETENTION 

004 Four inserts. 

420-24 WIPERS, MOTOR ARM LENGTH A01 34" long arm. 

420-25 WIPERS, WIPER BLADE LENGTH W01 26" long blade. 

420-26 
WIPERS, SPRAY STREAMS PER 
ARM 

S02 2 streams per arm. 

420-2B 
DRIP EDGE FOR REAR CROWN 
PANEL/HVAC DOOR 

REQ 
Drip Edge along the bottom edge of the Rear Crown 
Panel/HVAC door to divert water entering the 
engine/propulsion compartment. 

420-2C 
SS REAR UPPER CORNER 
PILLAR VENTING 

4RD 4 round screened openings. 

420-2D 
UPPER CORNER PILLAR DOOR 
LATCHES 

BSC Quarter turn chrome plate 5/16" square key latches. 

421-01 
INSULATION,SIDEWALL AND 
ROOF 

POL Polyisocyanurate foam. meets Docket 90 spec. 

421-02 INSULATION,EXHAUST CAVITY BGF Heat-resistant fiberglass mat. 

421-03 
INSULATION, PROPULSION 
COMPARTMENT 

ACO 
Noise reduction acoustical foam, retained by perforated 
aluminum panels. 



     
   

    

     
  

  

     
  

    
 

          
           
      

   

   

   
   

  
  

   
 

       

   
          

    
    

 
      

    
  

    
 

  

       

   
     
               

  

       
           

         

   
   

    

   
         

 
         

      
       

   
 

    

    
 

     

422-02 
CEILING PNLS AFT OF FRT 
W/HS INCL RR PLC 

WHT Antique white plastic, SST trim. 

422-03 
CEILING / HVAC COVER PANELS 
ABOVE FRT W/HS 

WHT Antique White fiberglass. 

422-04 
HVAC RTN AIR GRILLE DOOR 
LOCK 

1QL 2 quad latches. 

422-05 
ENTRANCE / DRIVER'S AREA 
PANELS COLOUR 

BLK 
Black. Includes dash, dest sign c/out, ent. mech. box, driver's 
o/head panels. and if used, ent. floor heat duct, frt. RH 
harness cover is black powder coated alum. 

422-06 
DRIVER'S CEILING PANEL 
MATERIAL 

MEL Melamine. 

422-07 
INTERIOR PIER PANEL 
MATERIAL 

THE Thermoplastic. 

422-08 PIER PANEL COLOUR WHT Antique white 

422-0A 
INTERIOR LWR SIDEWALL 
MATERIAL 

MEL Melamine 

422-0C 
INTERIOR SIDEWALL 
MELAMINE 

CHA Charcoal Grey Gloss 

422-0D 
INTERIOR PROPULSION COMPT 
ACCESS PANEL 

HIN A single hinged panel under the rear seat 

422-0E INTERIOR UPPER REAR PANEL CND 
Bulkhead panel covered with carpet / fabric material. Does not 
have large central access door. 

422-0F 
CARPET / FABRIC,UPR REAR 
INT PANEL 

CHA Charcoal Grey carpet with 1/2" plywood backing. 

422-0K 
C/S,S/S RR BULKHEAD ACCESS 
PANELS 

CPT Carpeted DB plywood. 

422-0M 
HRNS/AIR LINE COVERS AT 
UPPER DECK 

PFB Painted flat black. 

422-0N FRT DEST SIGN DOOR LATCHES SQL Short wing quad latches. 

422-0P DRIVER'S OVERHEAD PANEL NFI With locker. 
422-0R DRIVER'S LOCKER LATCH SQL Short wing quad latch. 

422-0T 
DRIVER'S COAT HOOK AND 
STRAP 

FWD 
Located on the forward face of the harness cover behind the 
driver. 
Above street side front wheelhouse. Incorporates driver's 

422-0U SECURE DIAGNOSTIC STATION SDS 
barrier. With four Take One pockets. Quantity of trays as per 
customer and / or as per electronic equipment within 
compartment. 

422-0V SDS ENCLOSURE COLOUR BLK Flat Black. 

422-0W 
SDS ENCLOSURE DOOR 
LATCHES 

KEY 5/16" square key quad latch. 

422-13 
FRONT SUNVISOR / 
ROLLERBLINDS 

B01 Black rollerblind. Scissor type with 20" travel and 44" wide. 

422-14 SIDE SUNVISOR/ROLLERBLIND B18 
Black rollerblind. Scissor type with 20" travel. 24" width 
covering the rear half of the window. 

422-15 SQUARE KEY T-HANDLE DRV Located at lower left of driver. 

422-16 
ENTRANCE MECHANISM BOX 
DOOR LATCH 

2SW Two short wing quad latches. 

422-18 
GRAB HANDLE NEAR FRONT 
ROOF HATCH 

REQ Required. 

422-19 FLOOR HEAT DUCT MATERIAL LEA Leathergrain textured SST. 



   
     

             

    
 

  

   
    

    
   

     

     
  

     

     
  

     

         
          

        

    
   

            
     

  
           

   
          

   

   
           

  
          

        
    

        

  
        

  

 
           

   
  

           
       

  

   
   

   

    
   

 

        
     

  
           

    
   

C/S,S/S REAR BULKHEAD 
422-1B ACCESS PANELS, OPENING 

METHOD 
REM Removable access panels. 

422-1R 
FRONT DASH, ACCESS PANEL 
LATCH 

BSC 
Quarter turn, black powder coated 5/16" square key quad 
latches. 

422-1W 
INTERIOR UPPER REAR PANEL, 
TRIM OPTIONS 

FLT Flat Trim Design 

422-23 
REAR PLC ENCLOSURE, 
LATCHES 

001 5/16" square key quad latch. 

423-01 
REAR EXTERIOR AD FRAME 
SIZE AND LOADING SIDE 

R01 Frame size 15"x66". Loading side, bottom. 

423-02 
SS EXTERIOR AD FRAME SIZE 
AND LOADING SIDE 

S03 Frame size 30"x144". Loading side, right. 

423-05 
CS EXTERIOR AD FRAME SIZE 
AND LOADING SIDE 

C07 Frame size 30"x108". Loading side, left. 

Lower deck uses pressure treated NT ACQ plywood. Upper 
450-02 FLOORING PLY deck uses composite for step and floor to the rear 

wheelhouses and NT DB ACQ plywood to the rear. 

450-03 
DRIVESHAFT / TRANSMISSION / 
DRIVE MOTOR ACCESS PANELS 

2AC 
Two panels set in the floor, one to access the driveshaft and 
the other to access the transmission. 

450-06 ALTRO FLOOR COVERING 001 
Black TFM 27892 (2.7 mm / 0.11" thick) for aisle and 
underseats. 

450-0A STEP TO UPPER DECK YLW 
Yellow anti-slip coating is applied to the edges and vertical 
faces of the step. 

450-0B FRONT AXLE STANDEE LINE YLW 
One yellow flooring safety line provided fore of the hump at 
the front axle. 

450-0C ENTRANCE NOSING B01 Nosing is 2" wide yellow anti-skid applied to the ramp. 
450-0D EXIT NOSING ALT 2.5" yellow nosing for Altro / Tarabus flooring. 

450-0F 
REAR SEAT RISER COVERING 
MATERIAL 

B01 Same material and colour as used for the flooring. 

450-0J 
DRIVER'S PLATFORM 
FLOORING 

A01 Altro, Black TFM 27892 (2.7 mm / 0.11" thick) 

450-0K DRIVER'S PLATFORM TRIM SST SST. 

450-0M OUTER WHEELHOUSES A01 
SST front and rear. The rear have provisions for tire chain 
clearance. 

450-0N 
INTERIOR FRONT W/HOUSE 
(LUGG RACK) COLOURS 

B01 
Matte black, painted stipple. An LED aisle light is provided on 
the streetside. Also, SST scuff guards are provided. 

450-0T TRIM UPPER DECK ALU Aluminum. 

450-13 
INTERIOR FRONT W/HOUSE 
(LUGG RACK), SCUFF GUARDS 

BSC Standard height scuff guard 

450-14 
EXIT DOOR, WHEELHOUSE AND 
UPPER DECK TRIM, MATERIAL 

ALU Aluminum Trim 

460-01 WINDSHIELDS 72B 
72% light transmittance green laminated. With blue shade 
band for street and curb sides. 

460-02 WINDSHIELD PROTECTIVE FILM REQ 
Required for coach delivery beyond a 500 mile radius of Final 
Assembly. 

460-04 
PASS / DRVR'S WINDOWS 
MANUFACTURER 

AGN Arow Global frame mounted. 



  
    

 
         

      

   
       

  
       

      
  

             
        

  
 

    
     

   

 
           

   
   

    

       

      
            

 
      

   

    
        

  
    

       

      

       

         

          

   
 

  
         

   
 

  

460-06 
FRAMED PASSENGER 
WINDOWS 

BFT Bottom is fixed, top tip-in. 

460-07 SDS WINDOW BSC 
Bottom is fixed, top is fixed. Glazing matches passenger 
window. 

460-09 FRAMED WINDOW GLAZING N01 Grey, 44% light transmittance, laminated. 

460-0B FRAMED WINDOW LOCKS 001 Locking set-screw. 
460-0C WINDOW FRAME COLOUR BLK All window frames are black anodized. 

Minimum quantity based on FMVSS requirements, local, 
460-0D WINDOW EMERGENCY EGRESS NFI state/provincial, federal regulations or customer spec 

whichever is greater. 

460-0E 
SIDE DESTINATION SIGN 
WINDOWS 

CSN 
Curb side. Fixed clear top and fixed bottom. Bottom matches 
passenger window glazing. (review 470 for side sign details). 

460-0G 
WINDOW GLAZING 
REPLACEMENT 

RAP Rapid replacement. 

460-0H 
PASS WINDOW LINERS AND 
COATINGS 

A06 3M multi-layer film on all windows. 

460-0J PASS WINDOW THICKNESS 6MM 6 mm. 

460-0M DRIVER'S WINDOW,FRAMED DSN 
With fore and aft sliding sashes. The forward sash has exterior 
and interior handles. Non-egress. 

460-0N 
AFT SASH,FRAMED DRIVER'S 
WINDOW 

HLA With interior handle and latch. 

460-0P DRIVER'S WINDOW GLAZING LAM Laminated with minimum 70% light transmittance. 

470-01 DESTINATION SIGNS MFR H03 Hanover, LED display system, EG4 

470-02 
DEST SIGN CONTROL UNIT 
LOCATION 

OVR 
Under driver's overhead panel at forward position of 
sawtooth panel. 

470-06 HANOVER FRT.DEST.SIGNS A01 Amber LED, 17 x 160 pixels. 

470-07 
FRONT DESTINATION SIGN 
GLASS 

LAM Laminated. 

470-0A 
CURB SIDE DESTINATION SIGN 
LOCATION 

2WI At the second window, aft of the entrance door. 

470-0D 
HANOVER CURBSIDE 
DEST.SIGNS 

A03 Amber LED, 15 X 112 

470-0G FRONT ROUTE SIGN HA2 Hanover LED, amber, 10 x 36 

470-0H REAR ROUTE SIGN,LOCATION UCS At the upper curb side. 

470-0M HANOVER REAR ROUTE SIGNS A01 Amber LED, 15 x 48. 

470-0P AVA / AVL SYSTEM TRA Trapeze Vontas (formerly Continental / Siemens) system 

470-10 AVA/AVL LED SIGN LOCATION REQ Required on the HVAC overhead enclosure at front. 

470-11 
AUTO VEHICLE MONITORING 
SYSTEM (AVM) 

ZON Zonar 

NEW FLYER CONNECT-
470-16 DIAGNOSTIC & MONITORING 

SYSTEM 
WOD Required without driver maneuver awareness system (DMAS). 

470-20 
NF CONNECT SUBSCRIPTION 
TERM 

002 2 years. 

470-22 GEOFENCE REQUIREMENT NRQ Not required 



  

    
        

    
  

    

             
 

               
  

    

    
        

    
  

    

             
 

               
  

     
 

         

          

 
          

  
        

    
 

 

   

   
   

 
 

  
 

  

   
 

      

 
  

   

    
       
  

    
   

 
  

480-02 
EXTERIOR MIRROR 
MANUFACTURER 

HAD Hadley. 

480-03 
EXTERIOR SS MIRROR GLASS 
STYLE 

2PC 2/1 (upper portion is flat, lower portion is convex). 

480-04 
EXTERIOR SS MIRROR GLASS 
SIZE 

815 8" x 15" 

480-05 
EXTERIOR SS MIRROR HEATING 
REQUIREMENTS 

REQ Heated. 

480-06 
EXTERIOR SS MIRROR POWER 
OPTIONS 

DUR 
Dual remote control. (The upper and lower portions are 
remote controlled.) 

480-08 
EXTERIOR SS MIRROR ARM 
FUNCTIONALITY 

PUL 
Pull back. Mirror arm is manually returned to its previously set 
position after deflection. 

480-09 STREET SIDE MIRROR MOUNT HIG High mount. 

480-0E 
EXTERIOR CS MIRROR GLASS 
STYLE 

2PC 2/1 (upper portion is flat, lower portion is convex). 

480-0F 
EXTERIOR CS MIRROR GLASS 
SIZE 

815 8" x 15" 

480-0G 
EXTERIOR CS MIRROR HEATING 
REQUIREMENTS 

REQ Heated. 

480-0H 
CURB SIDE MIRROR POWER 
OPTIONS 

DUR 
Dual remote control. (The upper and lower portions are 
remote controlled.) 

480-0K 
EXTERIOR CS MIRROR ARM 
FUNCTIONALITY 

PUL 
Pull back. Mirror arm is manually returned to its previously set 
position after deflection. 

480-11 
STREET / CURB SIDE HEATED 
MIRROR ACTIVATION 

SSC Controlled by switch at the side console with a light. 

480-13 DRIVER'S REAR VIEW MIRROR BC4 4 3/4" x 15 7/8", black, convex. 

480-14 SPOT MIRROR 6DF 
6" diameter flat mirror with short arm, located at curbside 
front. 

480-15 EXIT DOOR MIRROR 12C 
Convex, 12" diameter, mounted on curved modesty panel 
stanchion. 

480-26 
STREET/ CURB SIDE MIRROR 
ARM MATERIAL 

CAR Carbon steel 

490-01 ENTRANCE DOOR DRIVE SYS PNE Pneumatic 

490-02 ENTRANCE DOOR VAP Vapor slide glide. 

490-03 
ENTRANCE DOOR LIMIT 
SWITCH SET-UP 

MIC Micro-switch (mechanical). 

490-04 
ENTRANCE EMERGENCY 
RELEASE VALVE 

PVD Within mech box. 

490-05 
ENTRANCE DOOR MAGNETIC 
DUMP VALVE 

REQ required, located at baseplate venting entrance door 

490-07 
ENTR/EXIT 
FRANG.COVER,LANGUAGE 

ESP English and Spanish. 

490-09 
ENTRANCE DOOR COLOUR, 
INTERIOR 

BLK Black 

490-0B ENTRANCE DOOR HANDLES YLW Yellow powder coated. 
490-0K ENTRANCE DOOR GLAZING BSC Full length single piece, 72% green. 
490-0V ENTR/EXIT FRANG.COVER PER Perforated cover. 

490-0W 
ENT AND EXIT DOORS, 
INTERIOR AND EXTERIOR 
PANEL COLOR 

BLK Black Powder Coat 



   

 
         

   

     

  
        

    
            

           
  

   
         

   
 

      

              

  
          

       

    
   
    

 
       

   

  
  

    

    

  

  
   

 

   
 

    

   
 

 

    

  

   
         
   
    

  

491-01 EXIT DOOR DRIVE SYS PNE Pneumatic 

491-02 EXIT DOOR MED 
One rear curbside exit door. Medium Ameriview Vapor Slide 
Glide, 34.8" between panels. 

491-03 SLIDE GLIDE EXIT LIMIT SWITCH MIC Micro-switch (mechanical). 

491-04 EXIT DOOR CONTROL CLA 
Vapor Class Acoustic Sensing System. Activates door opening 
and detects obstruction on closing. 

491-05 
CLASS SYSTEM INSTRUCTION 
DECAL 

ESP 
English and Spanish, text and characters as per customer 
requirement. 

491-06 
CLASS SYSTEM VOICE 
ANNUNCIATION 

FES 
Female voice. English and Spanish instructions programmed as 
per customer requirement. 

491-0D EXIT DOOR SENSITIVE EDGE SVE 
Pneumatic sensitive vertical edge sensor provided at all exit 
doors. 

491-0H 
EXIT FRANGIBLE COVER 
SECUREMENT 

MAG Magnetic latch. 

491-0M EXIT DOOR ASSIST HANDLES 004 Yellow powdercoated, UPA-3 Aluminum 

491-0P EXIT DOOR GREEN LIGHT LED LED green light indicates that the exit door is set to open. 

491-0T EXIT DOOR ALARM B01 
Buzzer and red 'rear door open' indicator at the instrument 
panel activated when the sensitive edge is triggered. 

491-0U EXIT DOOR GLASS SIZE FUL Full length. 
491-0V EXIT DOOR GLAZING 6MM 6 mm 

491-12 
EXIT DOOR GREEN LIGHT 
MOUNTING ORIENTATION 

HOR Exit door green light mounted horizontally on baseplate 

526-01 
40' PASSENGER SEAT 
QUANTITY 

040 40 

526-04 
PASSENGER SEAT 
MANUFACTURER 

USS United State Seating 

526-05 USS PASSENGER SEAT MODEL CIT Citipro seats. 

526-09 REAR BENCH SEAT NFI 1-3-1 hinged seat. 

526-0A PASSENGER SEAT MOUNTING CAN Cantilever 

526-0B SEAT MOUNTED GRABRAIL THE Thermoplastic 

526-0C 
FIRST SEAT,CURBSIDE UPPER 
REAR 

FFA Forward facing. 

526-0D 
FIRST SEAT,STREETSIDE UPPER 
REAR 

FFA Forward facing. 

526-0F PASSENGER SEATING BARRIER PED Pedestal mounted barrier. 

526-0G 
SEAT POSITION,FORWARD OF 
REAR EXIT 

FFA Forward facing. 

526-0U RECARO DRIVER'S SEAT MODEL A02 Ergo MC2 

526-0V DRIVER'S SEATBELT EXTENDER REQ Required. 

526-0W DRIVER'S SEAT COVER VNL All vinyl. 
526-0Y DRIVER'S SEAT BELT LHS Lap belt with retractor on left hand side. 
526-10 DRIVER'S SEAT BELT COLOR ORA Orange 

526-14 
DRIVER'S SEAT BASE RISER 
MATERIAL 

BLK Black powdercoated steel. 



    
              

   
   

      

   
      

            
        

   
         
   

  

  
 

        
    

  
 

     
   

 

     
         

     
 

              

   
  

   
        

  
         

  
   

  

     
 

  

     
      

 
          

  
         

   
    

       

   
   

   
 

  
  

526-17 DRIVER'S SEAT HEADREST VNL Required, vinyl headrest. 

526-18 
WHEELCHAIR 
POSITIONS,QUANTITY 

B01 
Two. At basic locations, one aft of the curbside and one aft of 
the streetside front wheelhouses. 

526-19 
CS WHEELCHAIR RESTRAINT 
SYSTEM 

VPR Forward facing barrier with V-Pro front restraint. 

526-1A 
SS WHEELCHAIR RESTRAINT 
SYSTEM 

VPR Forward facing barrier with V-Pro front restraint. 

526-1D 
SHOULDER HARNESS,W/CHR 
RESTRAINTS 

FIX 
Secured to structure (pier panel),one on curbside and one on 
streetside. High mount harness location for aisle facing seats. 

526-1F 

526-1G 

526-1H 

STANCHION / GRABRAIL STYLE 

OVERHEAD HORIZONTAL 
GRABRAILS 
OVERHEAD GRABRAIL 
HANDHOLD STRAPS 

CUR 

SST 

GRY 

Curved style vertical stanchions. Using cast SST fittings for 
vertical and horizontal stanchions. 

SST 

Flexible grey PVC straps, secured to horizontal stanchions, 
locations as per customer spec. 

526-1J 
OVERHEAD GRABRAIL 
HANDHOLD STRAPS,QUANTITY 

014 Fourteen 

526-1K 
COLOR - STANCHIONS AT EXITS 
& RR RISER STEP 

YLW Yellow SST 

526-1N VERT AFT OF S/S FRT W/HOUSE VSS 
To match colour of vertical seat stanchions (see Option 526-
1T). 

526-1P 
VERT FORE OF C/S FRT 
W/HOUSE 

YLW Yellow SST 

526-1R 
VERT AFT OF C/S FRT 
W/HOUSE 

SEA 
To match colour of vertical seat stanchions (see option 526-
1T). 

526-1T 
COLOR - VERTICAL 
STANCHIONS AT SEATS 

SST SST 

526-22 
FRONT CURBSIDE LUGGAGE 
RACK 

001 Horizontal tube wrapping around fore, aisle, and aft sides 

526-23 FAREBOX GRABRAIL STYLE 005 
Wrap around stanchion, with black padding and basic dash 
stanchion. 

526-25 MODESTY PANEL MATERIAL MEL Melamine. 

526-26 
MODESTY PANEL MELAMINE 
COLOR 

CGG Charcoal Grey Gloss. 

526-27 
C/SIDE FORE UPR DECK MOD 
PNL, GAP 

NFI Approximately 2" diagonally. 

526-29 
BARRIER AT STREET SIDE REAR 
RISER 

MOD Modesty panel (material and color per 526-25/526-26). 

526-2J DRIVER'S DOOR ARE 
One piece, full height Arow Global driver's door with extended 
sliding glass top. 

526-2M BARRIER FWD OF EXIT(S) UPB Upper panel, 0.5" clear polycarbonate, basic width. 
526-2T EMERGENCY INSTRUCTIONS ESP English / Spanish. 

526-32 
DRIVER'S SEAT, FORE/AFT SEAT 
TRAVEL 

FA5 The fore / aft seat travel is 9". 

526-35 
DRIVER'S DOOR PANEL 
MATERIAL 

T01 5/16" AS2 Tempered glass. 

526-37 
FRONT CURBSIDE LUGGAGE 
RACK COLOR 

SST SST 

526-3B FAREBOX GRABRAIL COLOR BLK Black 
526-3J DRIVER'S SEAT HEATED REQ Required. 



     
 

  
          

  
          

 
    
      
       

    

 
        

 
           

  
        

          

     
        

     
          

       

    
         

    
   

   

    
 

          
           
        

    
 

          
           
        

           
       

 
        

          

 
       

  
  

 
   

     
    

 
          

           
  

  

526-3V 
SEAT FWD OF REAR BENCH 
SEAT 

FWD Forward facing. 

549-01 HVAC UNIT 1 TK6 
Thermo King RLFE rooftop A/C unit. Safety-Walk is provided 
for rooftop units. 

549-04 HVAC UNIT MOTOR TYPE NFI Brushless motor for primary heating & cooling system. 
549-05 REFRIGERANT 407 R-407C freon. 
549-06 HVAC AIR INTAKE AIR Recirculated air only. 
549-07 HVAC RETURN AIR FILTER RPF TK polyester (disposable) filter. 
549-0C HVAC SYSTEM VALVES BVB Brass ball valves with basic handles. 

549-0D A/C AND HEATER LINE CLAMPS IDE Ideal. 

549-0E A/C COMPRESSOR TND 
Electric driven compressors integrated into the main HVAC 
unit. 

549-0J HVAC ELECTRONICS TK1 
Thermo King Intelligaire 3, valid for A/C or heater units. With 
limited diagnostic capabilities. 

549-0K HVAC CONTROL PANELS TKH Thermo King, installed at the HVAC unit. 

549-0N A/C PRESSURE READINGS TK1 Obtained via the Thermo King Intelligaire 3 control panel. 

549-16 BOOSTER PUMP 260 Valeo SPump 260W CAN capable. 

549-1A DEFROSTER 004 
MCC 3 speed brushless SPAL blower, plastic end-caps, 
electrically controlled damper with on/off interlock. 

549-1E AUXILIARY/CABIN HEATER EV1 Valeo Thermo DC 200 (20 kw) @ 690V electric heater. 

549-1G AUXILIARY HEATER AIR INTAKE DIF In engine compartment, with diffuser. 

549-1M AUX HTR BYPASS FOR ENGINE REQ 
Required to route auxiliary heated coolant to engine when 
interior of coach is warm. 

549-1R 
ENTRANCE DOOR RAMP 
HEATER 

SIN Single speed, defroster controlled. 

549-20 
FRONT CURB SIDE FLOOR 
HEATER SYSTEM 

MS2 
Mobile Climate Control unit with low noise Spal blower. The 
casing is SST with plain finish with black plastic end caps. 
(note: exact position may be dependant on seating layout.) 

549-22 
FRONT STREET SIDE FLOOR 
HEATER SYSTEM 

MS2 
Mobile Climate Control unit with low noise Spal blower. The 
casing is SST with plain finish with black plastic end caps. 
(note: exact position may be dependant on seating layout.) 

580-01 FRONT WHEELCHAIR RAMP NFF NFIL ramp at front door. 32" wide, with 1:7 slope. 
580-02 FRONT RAMP CONTROL SWI Ramp switch at driver's instrument panel. 

Covered with Full Metal Jacket anti-skid treatment. The 
580-08 WHEELCHAIR RAMP,SURFACE 

KNEELING/RAMP 

FMJ leading edge is yellow FMJ, the side flanges are painted 
yellow. 

580-0G DEPLOYMENT WARNING 
BEEPER 

MED IP68-rated beeper, medium loud fast beep. 

FRONT KNEELING/RAMP 
580-0H DEPLOYMENT WARNING 

BEEPER LOCATION 
BSC Curbside under front mask. 

600-05 BACK-UP ALARM BSC Basic alarm located on curbside. 
600-0J SDS TRAY QUANTITY 004 Four trays total. 

Stainless Steel Material. Driver’s Step Length = 35”; Width = 
600-0M FAREBOX PEDESTAL 004 12.44”; Height = 6”; Pedestal Length = 12.38”; Width = 12.30”; 

Height = 1.12” 
600-0N FAREBOX GF3 41" Genfare FastFare 



     

   
          

 
   

 

      
 

    

           

     

  
 

   
   

   

  
           
   

  
          

 
   

 
         

         
     

    
   
      

    

  
   

    

  
 

 

  
 

   

  
    

  
  

   

  
   

     

   
  
   

  

600-0P FAREBOX,SUPPLIED BY 001 Supplied and installed by NFIL. 

600-0R FAREBOX POSITION / HOLES NFI 
Located in NFIL preferred position whether installed by NFIL or 
by customer. 

600-1D 
CURBSIDE FRONT EQUIPMENT 
BOX 

001 Standard box. 

600-23 COFFEE CUP HOLDER/TRAY CH4 Round coffee cup holder, black. 

600-26 
RADIO,COMMUNICATION 
SYSTEM 

AVA Included in the AVA/AVL system. 

600-29 
TRAFFIC SIGNAL CONTROL 
SYSTEM 

G02 
Model 2101 computer connected to GPS based system 
required. 

600-2G VIDEO SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM CIE Interior and exterior cameras. 

600-2H 
VIDEO SURVEILLANCE 
SYSTEM,MFR 

SFL SafeFleet (MobileView) 

600-31 FIRE SUPPRESSION AMM Amerex Modular system. 

600-32 
FIRE SUPPRESSION BOTTLE 
LOCATION 

BSC Streetside behind light panels. 

600-33 FIRE DETECTION SENSORS A03 
Amerex fire detection sensors - two at streetside and one at 
curbside of engine compartment. 

600-34 FIRE SUPPRESSION BOTTLE A25 
25 lb Amerex ABC dry chemical agent tank without inline 
blowout adapter. 

600-36 
FIRE SUPPRESSION DISPLAY 
PANEL LOCATION 

MID 
Under driver's overhead panel at middle position of sawtooth 
panel. 

600-3V 
BICYCLE RACK 
MANUFACTURER/MODEL 

A3F 
Sportworks, APEX3, front mounted. Review with engineering 
about the allowable projection by State. 

600-3W BICYCLE RACK MOUNTING BOL Bolted slide-in standoff. 
600-3Y BICYCLE RACK REMOVAL BOL Bolted rack. 
600-3Z BICYCLE RACK MATL/COLOR SAT SST, satin anti glare finish. 

600-42 BICYCLE RACK INSTRUCTIONS ESP English / Spanish 

600-4Y PASSENGER USB CHARGERS REQ Required. 

600-4Z 
PASSENGER USB CHARGER 
LOCATION 

SEA Incorporated (where available) into seats. 

600-5A 
AUTOMATIC PASSENGER 
COUNTER SYSTEM 

FUL Full system. 

600-5B 
AUTOMATIC PASSENGER 
COUNTER VENDOR 
AUTOMATIC PASSENGER 

IR3 IRIS/IRMA (provided by Trapeze) 

600-5K COUNTER (APC) EXIT DOOR 
BASEPLATE SENSOR, QTY 

ONE One 

600-5M 
IRIS/IRMA AUTOMATIC 
PASSENGER COUNTER (APC) 
MODEL 

IRM Matrix 

600-6F 
FAREBOX PEDESTAL 
TREATMENT 

BFM Black full metal jacket. 

600-6G FAREBOX PEDESTAL NOSING YFM Yellow full metal jacket. 

600-6H FAREBOX ORIENTATION FED Facing entrance door. 
600-6J FAREBOX OPTION, OCU REQ Required. 

600-6K 
FAREBOX OPTION, ELECTRONIC 
LOCK 

REQ Required. 

600-6M FAREBOX OPTION, TRIM REQ Required. 



   
 

  

   
     

   
  

   

   
 

    
 

   
 

   
  

   

       

600-6N 
FAREBOX OPTION, OCU 
MOUNTING LOCATION 

LRM L-bracket, RAM mount 

600-6R 
COFFEE CUP HOLDER/TRAY 
LOCATION 

CL2 On side face of side console. 

600-6V 
CURBSIDE FRONT EQUIPMENT 
BOX. LOCK/LATCH TYPE 

001 Paddle latch, no lock. 

600-7C 
FAREBOX OPTION, SMART 
CARD READER 

REQ Required. 

600-7E 
FAREBOX OPTION, 2D BAR 
CODE READER 

REQ Required. 

600-7G 
CURBSIDE FRONT EQUIPMENT 
BOX, COLOR 

BLK Black 

600-7N 

600-86 

CURBSIDE FRONT EQUIPMENT 
BOX. HINGE ORIENTATION 

INSTANT TIRE CHAINS 

001 

001 

Parallel to curbside window. 

Retractable tire chains for rear tires. 



  

 

 

 
 

     
 

 

 

  
 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.5.3

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: James Gee, Director of Public Transportation and Operations

  SUBJECT: Construction/Maintenance Quarterly Update on Transit Stops 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Acknowledge receipt of this quarterly Construction/Maintenance update on Transit Stops as presented to 
the Citizens Multimodal Advisory Committee on August 7, 2024. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

The Citizens Multimodal Advisory Committee (CMAC) provides information and advice regarding the 
construction, installation and maintenance of benches, shelters and transit stops for passengers of the RTC 
transit system as required by Nevada Assembly Bill 214 (2023). The Committee will have this topic as a 
discussion item at least four times a year. 

At the CMAC meeting on August 7, 2024, RTC staff gave a presentation to the Citizens Multimodal 
Advisory Committee regarding the following:  

Improvements Between April and July 2024 
• Schedules were updated for the May Service Change. 
• A new stop at Linden and Havard on Route 13 was installed as part of service change. 
• The bus stop at W. 4th after Ralston on Route 11 was removed due to new landscaping being 

installed. This stop previously had low ridership. 
• The bus stop at W. 8th and N. Virginia on Route 7 was removed as suggested by a Keolis driver 

due to safety and low ridership. 
• The bus stop at S. Virginia and Peckham was relocated, away from the parking lot entrance. 
• The bus stop at McCarran after Mae Anne was relocated, away from Truckee Meadows Water 

Authority (TMWA)’S facility. 
• Five shelters were installed at Valley and Sadleir (Route 2), 21st and Glendale (Route 9, 18), Edison 

and S. Rock (Route 14), Lemmon Dr. after N. Virginia (Route 7), Havard and Villanova (Route 
13). 

• Trash cans were installed at McCarran & W. 7th and McCarran & Mae Anne on Route 11. 
• A bench was installed at Linden & Kietzke for Route 13. 



  

Construction/Maintenance Quarterly Update on Transit Stops 
Page 2 

• Fixed damaged benches, shelter, signs. 
• The bus stops on Selmi Dr. have been improved as part of RTC’s Selmi Dr. Rehabilitation Project. 

Future/Ongoing Improvements 
• New bus stop signs are being installed. 
• New BRT signs will be installed. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



  

 

 
 

     
 

 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.6.1

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Laura Freed, Director of Administrative Services

  SUBJECT: Employee Health Insurance Memorandum of Understanding 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve a Memorandum of Understanding between the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) and 
Washoe County to formalize the terms and conditions upon which RTC will purchase employee health 
insurance coverage from Washoe County. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

According to staff research, the RTC has purchased health insurance for its employees since RTC became 
its own separate entity. This is fiscally prudent since the RTC active employees and retirees are a small 
group, and purchasing its own insurance would be much costlier to RTC. However, staff could not find 
any documentation of this relationship with Washoe County. Therefore, this MOU seeks to formalize the 
relationship that has existed between RTC and Washoe County for over 40 years. The MOU sets out the 
duties and responsibilities of each entity with respect to open enrollment periods, notification of qualifying 
events, notification of plan design changes, and billing, among other topics. 

The effective date of this MOU would be September 1, 2024. Washoe County staff is presenting this MOU 
at the August 20, 2024, Board of County Commissioners for its consideration. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The cost of health insurance premiums has been included in the approved budget. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



 
 

      

 

  

  

  

 

    

   

    

  

   

 

   

    

  

   

    

 

  

  

 

     

   

 

   

    

   

 

INTERLOCAL COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 

This Agreement is dated and effective as of September 1, 2024, by and between the Washoe 

County, Nevada (“COUNTY”) and the Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County, 

Nevada (“RTC”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the parties to this Agreement are public agencies and authorized to enter into 

agreements in accordance with Chapter 277 of NRS; and 

WHEREAS, RTC has paid COUNTY to participate in COUNTY’S program of health 

insurance coverage, including medical, dental, vision, and basic and manager’s life insurance 

coverage, for a number of years without a formal agreement; and 

WHEREAS, RTC wishes to continue purchasing health insurance coverage from 

COUNTY to ensure both taxpayer value and continuity of service for RTC employees and eligible 

retirees; and 

WHEREAS, RTC and COUNTY wish to formalize their agreement in writing; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and of the mutual covenants herein 

contained, it is mutually agreed by and between the parties as follows: 

RTC AGREES: 

1. To pay the cost of health insurance coverage as invoiced by COUNTY each month 

for each qualified RTC participant no later than the 20th day of the month for which the premiums 

provide coverage. 

2. To provide to COUNTY: 

a. Initial enrollment and eligibility information for each RTC employee within 10 

business days of the employees’ date of hire. 

b. Enrollment and eligibility information for each eligible RTC employee during 

open enrollment periods, to be provided to COUNTY no later than the last day 

of the open enrollment period as specified by COUNTY. 

c. Enrollment and eligibility information and documentation whenever an RTC 

employee experiences a Qualifying Event within 30-days of the Qualifying 

Event. 

3. To provide open enrollment information to all RTC employees as soon as 

practicable after COUNTY determines plan design changes for a given plan year. 

1 



     

    

  

   

 

   

 

    

     

  

 

 

 

   

   

   

      

   

   

 

   

 

       

   

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

4. To inform COUNTY of any changes to RTC’s policies regarding health insurance 

coverage, RTC employee or retiree eligibility, or other RTC policies that pertain to employee or 

retiree health care benefits no later than 60-days prior to the effective date of such change. 

5. To inform COUNTY no later than June 30 of any plan year of RTC’s intention to 

remove or add any health plan offering (i.e. intention to include the Washoe County Self-Funded 

QHDHP coverage for RTC employees and eligible RTC retirees) effective January 1 of the 

following year. 

6. To indemnify and hold the COUNTY harmless for errors or omissions made by RTC with 

respect to plan management and payments, including but not limited to: Failure to pay for the cost 

of health insurance premiums for RTC employees, untimely enrollment or failure to enroll their 

employees into the COUNTY’s program(s), misinforming RTC’s employees regarding the details 

of their benefit plans and/or eligibility information. 

COUNTY AGREES: 

1. To permit RTC to buy into the COUNTY program of health insurance group 

coverage, including, but not necessarily limited to: medical, dental, vision, and basic and 

manager’s life insurance coverage, for all eligible RTC employees and eligible retirees. 

2. To provide to RTC the invoice for enrollees’ coverage by the 5th of each month 

3. To notify RTC within 10 business days of Board of County Commission approval 

of the following calendar year’s Health Benefits Program which will include plan premium rates, 

plan benefit changes, changes in plan offerings, and changes in COUNTY-contracted medical or 

pharmacy third-party administrator or health plan carrier. 

4. To provide at least 30 days’ notice to RTC of any special offerings to COUNTY 

employees (e.g., wellness benefits, health fairs) for RTC’s voluntary participation in such 

offerings. 

a. NOTE: Offerings may be billable to RTC beyond the health plan premiums for 

covered RTC members. Voluntary participation in such offerings shall be 

invoiced by COUNTY to RTC at a pass-through rate of the charges for such 

offerings. 

2 



  

   

  

 

    

 

  

 

  
 

    
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

     
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

IT IS MUTUALLY AGREED: 

1. That the term of this Agreement shall commence upon approval by both the Board 

of Commissioners of RTC and the Board of Commissioners of COUNTY and continue until such 

time as either RTC or COUNTY notices the other party of intent to dissolve this Agreement. 

2. That either party may terminate this agreement with 180 business days’ notice to 

the other party. 

3. That each party will cooperate with the other party and their employees and agents 

in carrying out their respective responsibilities under this Agreement. 

4. That all communications/notices required pursuant to the Agreement shall be given 

as hereinafter provided, unless written notice of a new designee is sent certified or registered mail, 

to the other party, as follows: 

RTC: Laura Freed, Administrative Services Director 
or 
Christian Schonlau, Finance Director 
Regional Transportation Commission
1105 Terminal Way
Reno, Nevada 89502 
(775) 332-9520 

COUNTY: Ashley Berrington, HR Manager - Benefits 
Washoe County
1001 E. Ninth Street, Building A
Reno, Nevada 89512 
(775) 433-5935 

4. Subject to the limitations of Chapter 41, each party agrees to indemnify, defend and 

hold harmless the other party from and against any liability including, but not limited to, property 

damage and personal injury or death, proximately caused by the negligent acts or omissions of its 

officers, employees and agents arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

5. That the laws of the State of Nevada shall be applied in interpreting and construing 

this Agreement. 

6. That the legality or invalidity of any provision or portion of this Agreement shall 

not affect the validity of the remainder of the Agreement. 

7. That this Agreement constitutes the entire contract between the parties and shall 

not be modified unless in writing and signed by the parties. 

8. That it is not intended, and this Agreement shall not be construed, to provide any 

3 



 

 

 

  

 
 

  
 

 
 
   
  
 

 
 

 
   
  
 

person or entity not a party to this Agreement, with any benefits or cause of action or to obligate 

the parties to this Agreement to any entity or person not a party to this Agreement. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed 

by their authorized officers the day and year first above written. 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS, REGIONAL 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION OF WASHOE 
COUNTY, NEVADA 

Ed Lawson, Chair 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF WASHOE 
COUNTY, NEVADA 

Alexis Hill, Chair 

4 



  

 

 
    

 
  

  
  

 
 

  

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.6.2

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

 From: Andy Chao, Sr. Accountant

  SUBJECT: Asset Donation Log Q4-23 through the Q2-24 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Acknowledge receipt of the Asset Donation Log for the fourth quarter of calendar year 2023 through the 
second quarter of calendar year 2024. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

The log lists the items that were donated as outlined in RTC Management Policy P-58, effective 
November 1, 2023, through June 30, 2024. The Board requested that it be notified of any asset donations. 
The attached document details last three quarters’ donations made to charity or other government agencies.  
Staff feels the donations are appropriate and that there is a benefit to the community. This quarter’s 
donations were made to Reno Host Lions Club and Computer Corps. 

Reno Host Lions Club is a non-profit and a 100% volunteer organization. Its mission is to give children a 
chance to be part of the 21st Century by giving them computers in their homes through their Computers 
for Kids program. The Reno Host Lions Club accepts donations of used computers and gives them away 
preloaded with Linux to underprivileged children in Northern Nevada. 

ComputerCorps is a 501(c)(3) Non-Profit Organization that provides access to computers, training to 
underserved families, and is dedicated to helping provide job opportunities to individuals in the community 
while eliminating eWaste in our nation’s landfills. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

10/19/2018 Amended RTC Management Policy P-58 to allow for donation of unusable or obsolete assets 
and directed staff to present a quarterly list of all donations. 



   

 

           

     

     

     

     

     

      

  

   

      

    

  

  

 

  

  

   

  

 

 

     

        
            
               

ATTACHMENT A 

ASSET DONATION LOG - NOV 1 2023 - JUN 30 2024 

Qty Item Description Donated To Reason for Disposal Year Purchased 

WORKSTATION 

16 Dell OptiPlex 7060 RENO HOST LIONS CLUB OBSOLETE (1) 

2 Dell OptiPlex 7050 RENO HOST LIONS CLUB OBSOLETE (1) 

3 Dell OptiPlex 7040 RENO HOST LIONS CLUB OBSOLETE (1) 

1 Dell OptiPlex 9020 RENO HOST LIONS CLUB OBSOLETE (1) 

LAPTOP 

1 Dell Precision 5530 Laptop RENO HOST LIONS CLUB OBSOLETE (1) 

1 Dell Latitude C640 COMPUTERCORPS OBSOLETE (1) 

1 Dell XPS 13 9300 COMPUTERCORPS OBSOLETE (1) 

1 Dell Precision 5820 Tower RENO HOST LIONS CLUB OBSOLETE (1) 

PRINTERS 

1 HP LaserJet Pro 500 M570DN COMPUTERCORPS OBSOLETE (1) 

1 HP LaserJet M479FDW COMPUTERCORPS OBSOLETE (1) 

1 Dell Latitude 5480 

SERVERS 

8 Shoretel Switch COMPUTERCORPS OBSOLETE (1) 

1 Supermicro Super Server COMPUTERCORPS OBSOLETE (1) 

10 CISCO Catalyst Switch COMPUTERCORPS OBSOLETE (1) 
OTHER 

5 iPAD COMPUTERCORPS OBSOLETE (1) 

2 EPSON PowerLite 765C Projector COMPUTERCORPS OBSOLETE (1) 

1 TrippLite 8-Port KVM COMPUTERCORPS OBSOLETE (1) 

2 Infocus Projector COMPUTERCORPS OBSOLETE (1) 

1 Samsung DVD/VCR COMPUTERCORPS OBSOLETE (1) 

1 Microsoft Surface Pro RENO HOST LIONS CLUB OBSOLETE (1) 

(1) Expensed when purchased; date of purchase not tracked 
IT supplies/equipment replacement schedule is 5 years 
Printers are not replaced until broken or not cost effective 

Page 1 of 1 



  

 

 

     
   

 
 

 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.6.3

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Bill Thomas, AICP, Executive Director

  SUBJECT: Quarterly RTC Agency Goals and Strategic Roadmap Report 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Acknowledge receipt of a report regarding quarterly progress on the RTC Agency Goals and Strategic 
Roadmap - FY 2024 (Q4). 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

The RTC Strategic Roadmap outlines workplans for staff to accomplish the Board's direction. These 
workplans include detailed outcomes, champions, approaches, objectives, and measures of success for all 
goals. The Board also sets performance goals for the Agency on an annual basis. These goals are aligned 
with the Strategic Roadmap and reflect the Board's priorities for the Agency. When approving the most 
recent Strategic Roadmap and Agency Goals (FY25), the Board requested quarterly status updates on both 
items. This is the next requested quarterly update and includes the status of RTC Agency Goals and 
Strategic Roadmap for FY 2024 (Q4). 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funding for this item is included in the approved FY 2024 budget, and there is no additional cost in 
connection with this agenda item. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

5/17/2024 Received report regarding quarterly progress on RTC Agency Goals and Strategic Roadmap 
FY 2024 (Q3). 



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

'

'

Valued Public Transportation Goal YTD 
Progress 

Status 

Inclusive: Enhance mobility for all residents of Washoe County. Achieved 

KPI: Increase in passenger miles (RIDE). ↑ 12% 
KPI: Increase in jobs accessible with transit. ↑ 2.2K 
KPI: Increase in population with transit. ↑ 20K 
Focused: Ensure that service is safe, reliable, comfortable, and customer 
focused. Achieved 

KPI: On-time performance (RIDE). 85% 89% 
KPI: On-time performance (FlexRIDE). 85% 92% 
KPI: On-time performance (ACCESS). 85% 89% 
Efficient: Deliver service cost-effectively. Achieved 

KPI: Passengers per service hour (RIDE). 21 21 
KPI: Passengers per service hour (FlexRIDE). 3.25 3.36 
KPI: Passengers per service hour (ACCESS). 2 2 
Sustainable: Promote transit service as part of a sustainable future in Washoe 
County. Achieved 

KPI: Increase in ridership across all modes. ↑ 200K 
Enhance RTC s Role in Anticipating and Meeting Future Transportation 
Needs 

Goal YTD 
Progress 

Status 

NDOT Partnership: Strengthen our partnership with NDOT through funding 
agreements and shared strategic priorities to improved shared roads and take 
collective responsibility for the regional network. 

Off Target 

KPI: Number of NDOT roadways under design. 9 7 
KPI: Number of NDOT roadways under construction. 4 4 
Fair and Equitable Project Delivery: Establish a common agreement among the 
regional partners of the core elements of RTC projects. Achieved 

KPI: Sq. Ft. of pavement preservation completed. 15M 15M 
Regional Approach to Traffic Management: Reduce traffic delays, support 
transportation needs, and increase efficiencies through active regional traffic 
management. 

Achieved 

KPI: % of signals connected to high-speed fiber. 80% 77% 
Improve Our Community s Network Experience Goal YTD 

Progress 
Status 

RTP Process: Engage the community and partners to re-envision the regional 
network experience through a streamlined, data-based Regional Transportation 
Plan update. 

Achieved 

KPI: Number of projects under construction within RTP timeframe. 7 7 
Regional Transportation Network: Better define the regional transportation 
network. Achieved 

KPI: Average trip time (in McCarran) 20 11 
KPI: Average trip time (regional urban area) 30 11 
Regional Unfunded Needs Analysis: Conduct an unfunded needs analysis 
(including maintenance) with our regional partners and NDOT. Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: Develop scope of work.  
Q2 Milestone: Negotiation of contract.  
Q3 Milestone: Board approval of consultant contract.  
Q4 Milestone: Project kickoff.  
Public Engagement: Evolve our public engagement process with outreach that is 
robust, early, and context sensitive. Achieved 

KPI: Number of public engagement interactions - 2-way conversations. 24 30 
Financial and Organizational Stewardship Goal YTD 

Progress 
Status 

One Year Planning: Achieve annual budget adherence within 5% (Capital). Off Target 

KPI: Annual budget adherence within 5% (Street & Highway). 95% 73% 
Five Year Planning: Reach an Ending Fund Balance of two years of debt and one 
year of operating expenses through more thoughtful budgeting of capital projects. Off Target 

KPI: Funding available to deliver scheduled projects coming within 5% of estimate 
(Capital Improvement Projects). 

95% 63% 

Long-Range Planning: Expand the use of the long-range financial plan to be used 
as a decision-making tool for the agency. Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: Work with PFM to understand bonding capacity.  
Q2 Milestone: Align financial plan with RTIP update.  
Q3 Milestone: Gather consensus at Director Retreat.  
Q4 Milestone: Present data to Board.  
Fuel Tax: Actively work with state and regional partners to replace funding source. Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: Obtain legal opinion on statutory requirements of WC fee 
implementation. 

 

Q2 Milestone: Identify partner to evaluate approaches.  
Q3 Milestone: Agree on scope and receive proposal from partner/consultant.  

Q4 Milestone: Solicit scope of work and evaluate SIRC funding for future study.  

4.2 

4.3 

4.4 

3.2 

3.3 

3.4 

Objective 

4.1 

2.2 

2.3 

Objective 

3.1 

RTC Organizational Performance Summary 

1.4 

Objective 

2.1 

1.3 

Strategic Roadmap Goals 
Objective 

1.1 

1.2 



 

   

  

  

  

      

     

 

 

  

   

   

    
        

     
 

  

  

  

        
    

   

 

 

    

    

  

   

 

    

   
  

    

    

   

    

     

      

   

      

    

  

 

 

   

 

 

 

 
  

Engineering Status 

Begin Design: Achieved 

Lemmon Drive Segment 2 Traffic Improvements and Resiliency Jul-23 
Military Road Capacity Project Jan-24 
Pembroke Drive Capacity & Safety Jul-23 
Sun Valley Boulevard Improvements Oct-23 
Begin Project Construction: Achieved 

2024 Pavement Preservation Program May-24 
S Virginia Street & I580 Exit 29 Capacity & Safety Jun-24 
Steamboat Parkway Improvement & South Meadows Traffic Enhancements Apr-24 
Complete Project Construction: Achieved 

2023 Pavement Preservation Program Jan-24 
4th Street & Woodland Avenue Roundabout Sep-23 
Arrowcreek Parkway Rehabilitation Sep-23 
Oddie / Wells Corridor Multi-Modal Improvements Jun-24 
Sky Vista Parkway Widening & Rehabilitation Dec-23 
Execute a Memorandum of Understanding with the Nevada Department of 
Transportation, City of Reno, City of Sparks, and Washoe County to begin 
implementation of ITS Strategic Master Plan to operate the regional traffic signal 
system as a whole. 

Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: Develop scope of work. 
Q2 Milestone: RTC Board approval. 
Q3 Milestone: Local jurisdiction approval. 
Following adoption by RTC Board, implement the Street & Highway Policy, 
including detailed project timeframes for stakeholder information. Achieved 

KPI: Scope additions after 60% design. 
Identify and begin design on Reno Downtown Micromode project(s). Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: Create recommendation. 
Q2 Milestone: Reno City Council and RTC Board Approval. 
Q4 Milestone: Submission of ATIIP Grant application. 

Planning Status 

Initiate: Achieved 

Regional Freight Plan Aug-23 
Regional Travel Characteristics Study Sep-23 
Complete: Off Target 

South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development (TOD) Study 80% 
Active Transportation Plan 80% 
Complete a workplan for RTP update with tasks and milestones, including 
scenarios, alternative outcomes, and public engagement. Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: Director workshop of RTP update plan and schedule. 
Q2 Milestone: Project kick-off with consultant and schedule developed. 
Q3 Milestone: Board workshop including scenario development, visioning, and 
public engagement. 



Q4 Milestone: Engagement with public and local jurisdictions. 
Complete the Predictive Safety Tool to improve decision-making for the TE Spot 
Program. Off Target 

Q1 Milestone: Begin initial data collections and stakeholder engagement (UNR, 
NDOT). 



Q2 Milestone: Establish formal funding agreement with stakeholders. 
Q3 Milestone: Implementation of tool to make decisions about TE Spot Program. 
Q4 Milestone: Monitor and track progress post-implementation. 90% 
Complete upcoming MPO certification with FHWA. Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: Begin process initiation with FHWA. 
Q2 Milestone: Provide documentation. 
Q3 Milestone: Presentation to committee. 
Q4 Milestone: Board review of certification report. 
Update and modernize RTC website. Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: Complete site mapping. 
Q2 Milestone: Updated website goes live December 1. 

6.6 

5.2 

5.3 

Objective 

6.3 

6.5 

6.1 

6.2 

6.4 

5.4 

5.5 

5.6 

RTC Organizational Performance Summary 
FY 2024 RTC Goals 

Objective 

5.1 



 

   
   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Transportation Status 

Complete implementation of hydrogen fueling infrastructure. Off Target 

Q1 Milestone: Plans and permits completed and approved. 95% 
Q2 Milestone: Complete construction of the maintenance bay. 65% 
Q3 Milestone: Complete construction of the station. 50% 
Q4 Milestone: Open station. 0% 
Expand south Reno transit improvements (RIDE and FlexRIDE). Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: Evaluate staffing and ridership; Develop recommendation. 
Q2 Milestone: Finalize proposal. 
Q3 Milestone: Hold Public Hearing. 
Q4 Milestone: Implement recommended expansion. 
Identify and implement methods to enhance contractor-employee morale. Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: Complete employee morale survey; Start Employee Feedback 
Committee. 



Q2 Milestone: Implement Employee morale incentives, feedback, and 
improvements. 



Q3 Milestone: Participate in Local Bus Roadeo. 
Q4 Milestone: Participate in National Bus Roadeo. 
Implement the TOPS Marketing & Communications Plan, with a focus on the 
“Spanish-First” Campaign highlighted in the Plan. Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: Finalize and release solicitation. 
Q2 Milestone: Receive Board approval of consultant. 
Q4 Milestone: Evaluate success. 
Increase population with transit services, jobs accessible with transit services, and 
passenger miles. Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: Report. 
Q2 Milestone: Service change. 
Q3 Milestone: Report. 
Q4 Milestone: Service change. 
Explore transportation solutions to reduce vehicle miles traveled in the Washoe 
County Tahoe Area. Achieved 

KPI: Number of van pools to Tahoe. 12 | 19 
KPI: Total vehicle miles traveled (Tahoe).  ↑ | 78K 
Executive Status 

Actively work with state and regional partners to SUPPLEMENT fuel tax funding 
source. Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: Compile current RUC charge implementations throughout US. 

Q2 Milestone: Identify partner to evaluate approaches. 
Q3 Milestone: Agree on scope and receive proposal from partner/consultant. 

Q4 Milestone: Task State Lobbyist with BDR research efforts. 
Analyze local and regional maintenance needs and potential solutions via 
maintenance study. Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: Develop scope of work. 
Q2 Milestone: Negotiation of contract. 
Q3 Milestone: Board approval of consultant contract. 
Q4 Milestone: Project kickoff. 
Better align anticipated budget expenditures to street & highway project timelines. Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: Re-baseline eBuilder Project cost and budget estimates. 
Q2 Milestone: Update and maintain fund level fund mapping to track current year 
expenditures. 



Q3 Milestone: Use fund maps and eBuilder data combined to better align FY 25 
budget with expected project expenditures. 



Complete Climate Study of the Agency as a whole. Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: RFP & vendor negotiation completed. 
Q3 Milestone: Complete Study. 
Q3 Milestone: Present findings to Board. 
Lead a multi-county effort to define transportation future related to Washoe 
County, Tahoe-Reno Industrial Center, and Fernley. Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: Meet with chief executives from stakeholder agencies. 
Q2 Milestone: Secure consultant to prepare application for future roadway needs. 

Q3 Milestone: Define shared view of future transportation with stakeholders. 
Q4 Milestone: Outline next steps for multi-county transportation efforts in FY25. 

Make annual report to three local governments - Reno, Sparks, and Washoe 
County. Achieved 

Reno 
Sparks 
Washoe County 
Update Personnel Rules and Board By-laws, including a documented process for 
Executive Director annual review. Achieved 

Q1 Milestone: Draft updated p-rules identified as most urgent for 
recruiting/retention. 



Q2 Milestone: Board approval of recruiting/retention p-rules updates. 
Q3 Milestone: Board approval of updated bylaws, including Executive Director 
annual review. 



Q4 Milestone: Select format/outline for Personnel Rules re-write, to occur in FY 
25. 



Work with regional partners to define a grants program to solicit federal earmarks 
for local street improvements/preservation. Off Target 

Q1 Milestone: Redefine RTC grants management role to include grant opportunity 
identification. 



Q2 Milestone: Train new grants management staff on resources and notices. 

Q3 Milestone: Create earmark application guide for local jurisdictions. 
Q4 Milestone: Set up recurring grants opportunity email to jurisdiction on 
available funding opportunities and offer assistance in application where 
appropriate. 

0% 

Strategically adjust goals as needed throughout the year to respond to Board 
direction in a prompt manner. Achieved 

7.4 

Objective 

7.1 

7.2 

7.3 

8.9 

7.5 

7.6 

Objective 

8.1 

8.2 

8.3 

8.4 

8.5 

8.6 

8.7 

8.8 



  

 

  
 

 
 

  

  

   

   
  

      
   

 
  

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 5.1.

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Dale Keller, Director of Engineering

  SUBJECT: Public Hearing and Resolution Approving the Sale of Property to City of Reno 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Conduct a public hearing and adopt a resolution approving a purchase and sale agreement for the sale of 
property (APN 004-082-18; APN 004-061-29; APN 004-061-20; APN 004-061-26; APN 004-061-22; and 
APN 035-033-02) to the City of Reno. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

RTC acquired certain property between 1999 and 2004 for a planned US 395/Clear Acre/Sutro Interchange 
Improvement Project which was only partially completed. RTC no longer needs the property for the 
project or another roadway project.  

On July 19, 2024 the RTC Board adopted a resolution declaring an intention to sell property (APN 004-
082-18; APN 004-061-29; APN 004-061-20; APN 004-061-26; APN 004-061-22; and APN 035-033-02) 
to the City of Reno (“City”) as required by NRS 277.050(5). That resolution set this meeting as the time 
and place for a public hearing at which objections to the sale may be made by the electors of Washoe 
County as required by NRS 277.050(5)(c). Staff published notice of the adoption of the resolution and the 
time and place of this meeting pursuant to NRS 277.050(6). 

The “Purchase and Sale Agreement” is attached to this resolution. The sale price is $2,256,000. Following 
a public hearing on this item, the adoption of this resolution will approve the agreement and satisfy the 
requirements in NRS 277.050(7). The City Council is expected to consider approval of the agreement at 
its meeting on August 28. RTC and the City would then enter into the agreement and complete the sale.  
As part of the sale, the RTC Chair would execute and deliver a quitclaim deed conveying the Property as 
directed in this resolution and as required by NRS 277.055(7). The sale would be expected to be completed 
before the end of October. 



 

  

 

 
 

  

Public Hearing and Resolution Approving the Sale of Property to City of Reno 
Page 2 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The proceeds of the sale will be returned to the Street and Highway Fund and will be used for capital outlay 
on future roadway projects. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

7/19/2024 Adopted a resolution declaring an intention to sell property (APN 004-082-18; APN 004-
061-29; APN 004-061-20; APN 004-061-26; APN 004-061-22; and APN 035-033-02) to 
the City of Reno. 

10/20/2023 Authorized the Executive Director to negotiate the terms and conditions of the following 
agreements related to RTC property acquired as part of a planned US 395/Clear Acre/Sutro 
Interchange Improvement Project (APNs: 004-061-20, 004-061-22, 004-061-26, 004-061-
28, 004-082-18, 035-033-02): (1) a property exchange agreement with the Truckee 
Meadows Water Authority (TMWA) whereby TMWA will acquire a portion of the RTC 
property for a water tank site and facilities project, and RTC will acquire a TMWA parcel 
located at 9675 Western Skies Drive (APN: 140-051-23) for a planned roadway project; and 
(2) a purchase and sale agreement with the City of Reno for the sale of the remaining RTC 
property to the City of Reno for a public use related to affordable housing. 



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

  

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 24-10 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION AND 
THE CITY OF RENO 

WHEREAS, the Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County, Nevada 
(“RTC”) acquired certain property for a planned US 395/Clear Acre/Sutro Interchange 
Improvement Project that was only partially completed; and 

WHEREAS, the property was purchased under the threat of eminent domain proceedings 
by RTC pursuant to chapter 37 of the Nevada Revised Statutes (“NRS”); and 

WHEREAS, RTC no longer needs APN 004-082-18; APN 004-061-29; APN 004-061-
20; APN 004-061-26; APN 004-061-22; and APN 035-033-02 (the “Property”) for the project or 
another roadway project; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Reno (“City”) has represented that it intends to purchase the 
Property for a public use and purpose related to affordable housing; and  

WHEREAS, on July 19, 2024, the RTC Board of Commissioners adopted a resolution 
declaring RTC’s intention to sell the Property to the City pursuant to NRS 277A.255(1)(c) and 
NRS 277.050; and 

WHEREAS, on August 16, 2024, the RTC Board of Commissioners held a public hearing 
at which objections to the sale could be made by the electors of Washoe County. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE REGIONAL 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION OF WASHOE COUNTY, NEVADA: 

Section 1. RTC hereby approves the sale of the Property to the City at a price of 
$2,256,000 upon the terms of the “Purchase and Sale Agreement” attached hereto as Exhibit A 
(the “Purchase and Sale Agreement”).  

Section 2. The Executive Director is hereby authorized to execute and deliver the 
Purchase and Sale Agreement, and such additional agreements, certificates, and instruments as the 
Executive Director may deem necessary or desirable to give effect to the terms and conditions of 
the Purchase and Sale Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby.  

Section 3. The Executive Director is authorized to take such further actions to give 
effect to the transactions contemplated by the Purchase and Sale Agreement as the Executive 
Director may deem desirable in his discretion. 

Section 4. As required by NRS 277.050(7), upon the performance and compliance by 
the City of all the terms and conditions of the Purchase and Sale Agreement, the RTC Chair is 
hereby directed to execute and deliver a quitclaim deed conveying the Property to the City.   

Section 5. This resolution shall become effective on its passage and adoption. 

1 



 

 

      
 
  

 

PASSED, ADOPTED AND APPROVED on August 16, 2024. 

Chair 
Regional Transportation Commission of  
Washoe County 

2 



 

 
 

 
 

 

Exhibit A 

Purchase and Sale Agreement 



 

 

 
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
   

 
 

 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT 

This PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into 
as of the Effective Date (defined below), by and between the Regional Transportation Commission 
of Washoe County, Nevada, a regional transportation commission governed by Nevada Revised 
Statutes Chapter 277A (“Seller” or “RTC”), and City of Reno (“Buyer”) (Seller and Buyer each 
a “Party” and collectively, the “Parties”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, as part of Seller’s US 395/Clear Acre/Sutro Interchange Improvement 
Project (“Project”), Seller acquired title to certain parcels located at the southwest corner of Clear 
Acre Lane and Scottsdale Road in Reno, Nevada: APN 004-082-18; APN 004-061-29; APN 004-
061-20; APN 004-061-26; APN 004-061-22; and APN 035-033-02 (collectively, the “Parcels”). 

WHEREAS, Buyer has represented that it intends to purchase the property for a public 
use and purpose related to affordable housing.  

WHEREAS, on July 19, 2024, Seller’s Board of Commissioners adopted a resolution 
declaring Seller’s intention to sell the Parcels to Buyer. 

WHEREAS, on August 16, 2024, Seller’s Board of Commissioners heard objections, if 
any, to the proposed sale of the Parcels to Buyer.  Seller’s Board of Commissioners thereafter 
adopted a resolution approving the sale of all of Seller’s right, title, and interest in and to the 
Parcels to Buyer, authorizing the RTC Executive Director to execute this Agreement, and 
authorizing the RTC Chair to execute and deliver a quitclaim deed conveying the Parcels to Buyer 
upon performance of all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

WHEREAS, on August 28, 2024, Buyer’s City Council approved the purchase.   

NOW THEREFORE, for valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is 
hereby acknowledged, and subject only to the contingencies set forth herein, Buyer and Seller 
agree as follows: 

AGREEMENT 

1. Definitions. For the purpose of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the 
following definitions: 

1.1. “Affiliate” shall mean, with respect to any Person, a Person that directly or 
indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, has control of, is controlled by, or is under common 
control with, such Person. For these purposes, “control” means the possession, directly or 
indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management of any Person, whether 
through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise. 

1 



 

 

 
 

    
 

   

  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

1.2. “Closing Date” means the date upon which Closing (defined below) 
actually occurs, as such date may be modified pursuant to mutual agreement of Buyer and Seller; 
provided that such date is on or before October 31, 2024 (the “Outer Closing Date”). 

1.3. “Effective Date” means the later of (i) the date on which the Parties deliver 
a copy of this Agreement to Escrow Holder executed by both Buyer and Seller, and (ii) notice of 
such delivery and execution is given to each Party along with a copy of such executed Agreement. 
For the purposes of determining the “Effective Date,” the date on which the Escrow Holder sends 
an email to all Parties notifying them of the opening of escrow shall be deemed notice to each 
Party of the execution and delivery of the Agreement. 

1.4. “Escrow Holder” means Ticor Title of Nevada, Inc., 5441 Kietzke Lane, 
Suite 100, Reno, Nevada 89511 (attention: Luann Barnes). 

1.5. “Hazardous Substances” means any and all substances, materials and 
wastes which are regulated as hazardous or toxic under applicable local, state or federal law or 
which are classified as hazardous or toxic under local, state or federal laws or regulations, 
including, without limitation, (i) those substances included within the definitions of “hazardous 
substances,” “hazardous materials,” “toxic substances,” “solid waste,” “pollutant” or 
“contaminant” as such terms are defined by or listed in the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq.) (“CERCLA”), as 
amended by Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986 (Pub. L. 99-499 100 Stat. 
1613) (“SARA”), the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act (49 U.S.C. § 1801 et seq.), the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 (42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq.) (“RCRA”), the Toxic 
Substance Control Act (15 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq.), the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and 
Rodenticide Control Act (7 U.S.C. § 136 et seq.), the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 
(29 U.S.C. § 651 et seq.), the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act of 1986 
(42 U.S.C. § 11001 et seq.), the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments of 1984 (Public Law 
86-616 Nov. 9, 1984), the Federal Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq.), and in the regulations 
promulgated pursuant to such laws, all as amended, (ii) those substances listed in the United States 
Department of Transportation Table (49 CFR 172.101) or 40 CFR Part 302, both as amended, and 
(iii) any material, waste or substance which is (A) oil, gas or any petroleum or petroleum by- 
product, (B) asbestos, in any form, (C) polychlorinated biphenyls, (D) designated as a “hazardous 
substance” pursuant to Section 311 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.), as amended, 
(E) flammable explosives, or (F) radioactive materials. 

1.6. “Inspection Period” means the period beginning on the Effective Date and 
ending at 5:00 p.m. (Pacific Time) on the forty-fifth (45th) calendar day following the Effective 
Date. 

1.7. “Person” shall mean all natural persons, corporations, limited partnerships, 
general partnerships, limited liability companies, joint stock companies, joint ventures, 
associations, companies, trusts, banks, trust companies, land trusts, business trusts or other 
organizations, whether or not legal entities, and governments and branches agencies and political 
subdivisions thereof. 

2 



 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
  

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 

1.8. “Title Company” means Ticor Title of Nevada, Inc., 5441 Kietzke Lane, 
Suite 100, Reno, Nevada 89511 (attention: Luann Barnes). 

2. Sale of Property; Purchase Price. 

2.1. Sale of Property. Subject to the terms, covenants and conditions of this 
Agreement, Seller shall sell to Buyer, and Buyer shall purchase from Seller, all of Seller’s right, 
title and interest in and to the Parcels, as more particularly described in Exhibit A and depicted in 
Exhibit B, with all of Seller's right, title and interest in and to all water, air and mineral rights, 
interests, privileges, entitlements, utility deposits, easements, rights, improvements, hereditaments 
and appurtenances to said Parcels (collectively the “Property”). 

2.2. Purchase Price. The purchase price to be paid by Buyer to Seller for the 
Property is Two Million Two Hundred Fifty-Six Thousand and no/100 Dollars (US 
$2,256,000.00), which shall be in cash or other immediately available funds (the “Purchase 
Price”). 

2.3. No Financing Contingency. Buyer acknowledges that the Buyer’s 
obligation to consummate the transaction contemplated hereby is not contingent upon Buyer’s 
ability to obtain financing and that the Closing (defined below) will not be deferred to allow Buyer 
time to obtain financing. Buyer further acknowledges that no financing for this transaction will be 
provided by Seller, nor shall Buyer be permitted to assume Seller’s existing financing, if any. 

2.4. Payment of the Purchase Price. The Purchase Price shall be payable as 
follows: 

2.4.1. Deposit. On or before the date that is ten (10) calendar days after 
the Effective Date, Buyer shall initiate a wire transfer to Escrow Holder in the amount of five 
thousand and no/100 dollars (US $5,000.00) as a good faith deposit (the “Deposit”), which shall 
be applicable to the Purchase Price at Closing. The Deposit shall be nonrefundable after the 
expiration of the Inspection Period (if Buyer has not terminated the Agreement), except on 
account of the failure of any of Buyer’s Closing Conditions (defined below) and as otherwise 
set forth herein. The benefit of the Deposit shall be retained by Seller pursuant to Section 10.1 
if this Agreement is terminated or if the Closing does not occur by the Closing Date for any 
reason other than (a) upon the failure of a contingency or condition contained in Sections 3 or 
4.1, or (b) if this Agreement is terminated by Buyer in accordance with any of Sections 4.1.2, 
6.1, 6.2, 9.1, or 10.2, in which case the Deposit shall be immediately refunded by Escrow Holder 
to Buyer. 

2.4.2. Balance of Purchase Price. Buyer shall deposit into Escrow an 
amount equal to the Purchase Price, plus Buyer’s Closing Cost, minus the amount of the 
Deposit, less credits due to Buyer under Section 3.9 hereof (the “Cash Balance”) in the form of 
immediately available United States federal funds no later than the Closing Date. 

3 

https://5,000.00
https://2,256,000.00


 

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

  

 

 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

2.5. Interest. All funds received from or for the account of Buyer shall be 
deposited by Escrow Holder in an interest-bearing account with a federally insured state or national 
bank, redeemable on not more than one day’s notice. Interest shall accrue for the benefit of Buyer. 

3. Escrow; Closing Conditions and Other Closing Matters. 

3.1. Escrow. Upon the execution of this Agreement by Buyer and Seller, and 
the acceptance of this Agreement by Escrow Holder in writing, this Agreement shall constitute the 
joint escrow instructions of Buyer and Seller to Escrow Holder to open escrow (the “Escrow”) for 
the consummation of the sale of the Property to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement. Upon Escrow 
Holder’s receipt of the Deposit and Escrow Holder’s written acceptance of this Agreement, Escrow 
Holder shall send email confirmation of the opening of Escrow to all Parties in accordance with 
Section 1.3 above, and is authorized to act in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. If 
required by Escrow Holder, Buyer and Seller shall promptly execute general escrow instructions 
based upon this Agreement; provided, however, that if there is any conflict or inconsistency 
between such general escrow instructions and this Agreement, this Agreement shall control. Any 
disbursements made to the Parties by Escrow Holder shall be made with immediately available 
United States federal funds. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Buyer and Seller shall retain the right 
to deliver supplemental escrow instructions to Escrow Holder pertaining to the delivery and release 
of documents and similar matters. 

3.2. Closing Date. The consummation of the sale of the Property through 
Escrow shall close (the “Closing” or “Close of Escrow”) on the Closing Date (or such other date 
as may be agreed upon by the Parties) provided that all conditions to the Closing set forth in this 
Agreement have been satisfied or waived in writing by the Party intended to be benefited thereby. 
In the event that the Closing does not occur on or before the Outer Closing Date, this Agreement 
shall terminate and neither Party shall have any further obligation to the other except to the 
extent that failure to close was caused by default of Buyer or Seller, in which case the Parties shall 
have the remedies upon default described in Sections 10.1 and 10.2. 

3.3. Buyer’s Conditions to Closing. The Closing is subject to and contingent 
on the satisfaction of only the following conditions (collectively, “Buyer’s Conditions to 
Closing”) or the waiver of the same by Buyer in writing: 

3.3.1. Accuracy of Seller’s Representations and Warranties. All of the 
representations and warranties of Seller contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in 
all material respects as of the date made and as of the Closing. 

3.3.2. Seller’s Performance. Seller shall have timely performed, satisfied 
and complied in all material respects with all material covenants, agreements and conditions 
required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by Seller on or before the Closing 
Date. 

3.3.3. Title Policy. The Title Company is willing to issue the Title Policy 
complying with the requirements of Section 4.2 upon the payment of the premium therefor and the 
provision of any information or assurances from Seller required by the Title Company. 

4 



 

 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

3.3.4. No Adverse Action. There shall exist no pending or threatened 
action, suit or proceeding with respect to Seller or the Property before or by any court or 
administrative agency which seeks to restrain or prohibit, or to obtain damages or a discovery order 
with respect to, this Agreement or the consummation of the transaction contemplated hereby. 

3.4. Seller’s Conditions to Closing. The obligations of Seller to consummate 
the transactions provided for herein are subject to and contingent upon the satisfaction only of the 
following conditions or the waiver of same by Seller in writing: 

3.4.1. Accuracy of Buyer’s Representations and Warranties. All of the 
representations and warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in 
all material respects as of the date made and as of the Closing. 

3.4.2. Buyer’s Performance. Buyer shall have timely performed, satisfied 
and complied in all material respects with all material covenants, agreements and conditions 
required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by Buyer on or before the Closing Date. 

3.5. Closing Costs and Charges. 

3.5.1. Seller’s Costs. None. 

3.5.2. Buyer’s Costs. Buyer shall pay (a) all of the Escrow Holder’s 
escrow fees in connection with the Escrow; (b) recording fees payable in connection with the 
transfer of the Property to Buyer from Seller; (c) the cost of the Title Policy (including the cost of 
any endorsements); (d) the costs of any due diligence investigations conducted by or for the benefit 
of Buyer; and (e) all documentary and/or transfer taxes on the Deed, if any. 

3.5.3. Other Costs. All other costs relating to the Closing, if any, shall be 
borne by Buyer; provided, however, that, except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Agreement, 
each Party hereto shall be responsible for its own attorney’s fees and costs in connection herewith. 

3.6. Deposit of Documents by Seller. On or before the Closing Date, Seller 
shall deposit the following items into Escrow, each of which shall be duly executed and 
acknowledged by Seller where appropriate: 

(a) The Quitclaim Deed; 

(b) A Certification of Non-Foreign Status (the “Certification”); 

(c) All other documents as may reasonably be required by Escrow 
Holder or Buyer to close the Escrow in accordance with this 
Agreement. 

5 



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 

 
    

 
 

 
   

 
  

 
 

  

 
  

 
 

 

 

 

3.7. Deposit of Documents and Funds by Buyer. On or before the Closing 
Date, Buyer shall deposit the following items into Escrow, each of which shall be duly executed 
and acknowledged by Buyer where appropriate: 

(a) The Cash Balance; 

(b) All other funds and documents as may reasonably be required by 
Escrow Holder or Seller to close the Escrow in accordance with this 
Agreement. 

3.8. Delivery of Documents and Funds at Closing. Provided that all conditions 
to Closing set forth in this Agreement have been satisfied or, as to any condition not satisfied, 
waived by the Party intended to be benefited thereby, on the Closing Date, Escrow Holder shall 
conduct the Closing by recording and/or distributing the following documents and funds in the 
following manner: 

3.8.1. Recorded Documents. Record the Quitclaim Deed in the Official 
Records of Washoe County, Nevada; 

3.8.2. Purchase Price. Deliver to Seller the Purchase Price and such other 
funds, if any, as may be due to Seller by reason of net credits under this Agreement; 

3.8.3. Buyer’s Documents. Deliver to Buyer: (a) the original Title Policy 
(as soon as practicable after Closing, but in any event not later than ten (10) calendar days 
following the Closing); (b) the original Certification; and (c) a counterpart of the recorded 
Quitclaim Deed; 

3.8.4. Seller’s Documents. Deliver to Seller an original fully executed 
counterpart of every document executed by Buyer and copies of every other document delivered 
to Buyer. 

3.9. Prorations and Adjustments. Those items described below shall be 
adjusted and prorated and apportioned between the Parties on an accrual basis and/or other 
reasonable method, taking into account the extent to which the same are attributable to periods 
before and after the Closing Date. Net credits in favor of Buyer shall be deducted from the Purchase 
Price and net credits in favor of Seller shall be paid to Seller in cash through Escrow at the Closing. 

3.9.1. Taxes and Assessments. All real estate taxes and assessments 
(including without limitation ad valorem, school, intangible and use taxes) relating to the Property 
shall be prorated based on the current year’s tax bills. 

3.9.2. Operating Expenses. Any and all deposits and charges for services, 
utilities, or any other expenses incurred in the operation of the Property shall be prorated between 
the Parties. Seller and Buyer shall obtain billings and meter readings available as of the Closing 
Date to aid in any such prorations, if available. 

6 



 

 

  
 

 

  
   
 

  
 

      
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

4. Title Matters; Conveyance of the Property. 

4.1. Preliminary Title Report. Within five (5) calendar days of the Effective 
Date, Title Company shall cause to be provided to Buyer and Seller a preliminary title report for 
title insurance to be issued by Title Company with respect to the Property, together with copies of 
all underlying title documents described in such preliminary title report (collectively, the “PTR”). 

4.1.1. If Buyer disapproves of any item in the PTR, then Buyer shall so 
notify Seller in writing on or before the date that is seven (7) calendar days prior to the expiration of 
the Inspection Period. If Buyer does not timely object in writing to any exception or other matter in 
the PTR, then Buyer shall be deemed to have approved the PTR. Seller shall be obligated to cure 
any of Buyer’s objections as to monetary encumbrances, and shall have the right, but not the 
obligation, to notify Buyer on or before the date which is three (3) business days following receipt 
of any Buyer objections that Seller that Seller will cure any exception objected to by Buyer and, 
in such case, shall provide such documents or funds as shall reasonably be required by the Title 
Company to remove or to cure such disapproved items, and/or to obtain a bond or title commitment 
(or endorsement, subject to Buyer’s approval, which shall not be unreasonably withheld) removing 
the effect of such items as exceptions from the Title Policy.  Seller’s failure to deliver such notice 
to Buyer with respect to any disapproved item shall be deemed to be an election by Seller not to 
so remove or to cure such non-monetary encumbrance or obtain such a bond, title commitment or 
endorsement. 

4.1.2. If Seller elects not to remove or to cure any non-monetary 
encumbrance (or is otherwise deemed to have elected not to so remove or to cure the same), then 
Buyer shall have the right exercisable on or before the expiration of the Inspection Period to either 
(i) waive such exceptions to the Title Policy, and proceed to take title to the Property (and accept 
the Title Policy) subject to such exceptions, without any deduction or offset in the Purchase Price, 
and without any claim or cause of action against Seller, or (ii) terminate this Agreement, in which 
case the Deposit shall promptly be returned to Buyer, this Agreement shall terminate and the 
parties shall have no further rights or obligations hereunder, except those that are expressly stated 
to survive the Closing. 

4.2. Buyer’s Title Policy. At the Closing, Escrow Holder shall cause the Title 
Company, at Buyer’s sole cost, to issue to Buyer an ALTA Owner’s Policy of Title Insurance (the 
“Title Policy”) which shall be written with liability in the amount of the Purchase Price, and 
contain only such exceptions as are acceptable to Buyer in accordance with its title review pursuant 
to Section 4.1, and subject to Seller’s election to remove or not remove Buyer’s disapproved items 
pursuant to Section 4.1.1, and such endorsements as Buyer may require. If Buyer elects to obtain 
an ALTA Extended Coverage Policy of Title Insurance, Buyer shall also be responsible for the 
cost of any endorsements to the Title Policy Buyer may request. Escrow Holder shall cause a pro 
forma policy to be delivered to Buyer upon request. 

4.2.1. Conveyance of the Property. Seller shall convey title to the 
Property to Buyer by quitclaim deed in the form of Exhibit C attached hereto (the “Quitclaim 
Deed” or “Deed”). 

7 



 

 

 

 
 

  

 
 

 

 

  
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

4.3. Delivery of Possession. Seller shall deliver possession of the Property to 
Buyer at the Closing. 

5. Commissions. Buyer and Seller each represent and warrant to the other that there 
are no commissions, finder’s fees or brokerage fees arising out of the transactions contemplated 
by this Agreement as a result of Seller’s or Buyer’s actions. Seller shall be solely responsible for 
any and all liabilities, claims, demands, costs and expenses, including, without limitation, 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs in connection with claims for any such commissions, finders’ 
fees or brokerage fees arising out of Seller’s actions. Buyer shall be solely responsible for any and 
all liabilities, claims, demands, damages, costs and expenses, including, without limitation, 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs, in connection with claims for any such commissions, 
finders’ fees or brokerage fees arising out of Buyer’s actions. 

6. Damage or Destruction; Condemnation. 

6.1. Casualty Damage. If the Property is damaged by any casualty prior to the 
Close of Escrow, and the cost to repair such damage is in excess of $50,000.00, Buyer shall have 
the right, by giving notice to Seller before the Closing Date, to terminate this Agreement, in which 
case the Deposit shall promptly be returned to Buyer, this Agreement shall terminate and the 
parties shall have no further rights or obligations hereunder, except those that are expressly stated 
to survive the Closing. If Buyer does not elect to terminate this Agreement on account of a 
casualty, then this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and, at the Closing, Buyer shall 
take title to the Property subject to such casualty without any reduction or offset to the Purchase 
Price; provided, however, that in such event, Seller shall assign all insurance proceeds relating to 
such casualty event, if any, to Buyer at Closing, together with the amount of any deductible. 

6.2. Eminent Domain. If written notice from a governmental entity is received 
by Seller evidencing notice of intent to exercise its power of eminent domain of all or any portion 
of the Property or proceedings are commenced for the taking by exercise of the power of eminent 
domain of all or any portion of the Property, Buyer shall have the right, by giving notice to Seller, 
to terminate this Agreement, in which case the Deposit shall promptly be returned to Buyer, this 
Agreement shall terminate and the parties shall have no further rights or obligations hereunder, 
except those that are expressly stated to survive the Closing. If there is any right to terminate this 
Agreement pursuant to the preceding sentence but neither Party exercises such right, then this 
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect, and Buyer shall take title to the Property subject 
to such taking without any reduction or offset to the Purchase Price, but with an assignment of all 
rights to awards and compensation (and/or any awards and/or compensation received) on account 
of any such taking. 

6.3. Effect of Section 6. This Section is intended as an express provision with 
respect to the destruction, damage, or condemnation of the Property which supersedes the 
provisions of the Nevada Uniform Vendor and Purchaser Act, NRS 113.030 et seq. 

7. Seller’s Representations and Warranties. Seller represents and warrants to Buyer 
that as of the Effective Date and as of the Closing Date: 

8 

https://50,000.00


 

 

 

 
 

 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

   
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
    

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

7.1. Seller has the full power and authority to execute, deliver and perform its 
obligations under this Agreement; 

7.2. This Agreement and all agreements, instruments and documents herein 
provided to be executed by Seller, as the case may be, are and as of the Closing shall be duly 
authorized, executed and delivered by and are and shall be binding upon Seller; 

7.3. Seller is not a “foreign person”, “foreign partnership”, “foreign trust”, 
“foreign estate” or “disregarded entity” as those terms are defined in Section 1445 of the Internal 
Revenue Code; 

7.4. Seller has no knowledge of any condition on the Property that is or has been 
in violation of any environmental law and has not received any formal or informal notice from any 
governmental authority alleging that any condition on the Property is or has been in violation of 
any environmental law, or informing Seller that the Property is subject to investigation or inquiry 
regarding Hazardous Substances on the Property; 

7.5. There are no parties other than Seller in possession of any portion of the 
Property; 

7.6. During the term of this Agreement, Seller will not transfer the Property, or 
any part thereof, or create on the Property any easements, liens, mortgages, encumbrances, or other 
interests adversely affecting the use of the Property that will survive Closing or permit any changes 
in the zoning classification of the Property; 

7.7. There are no pending condemnations, litigation or other proceedings against 
or affecting any part of the Property of which Seller has actual notice, and to Seller’s actual 
knowledge no such actions or proceedings are threatened; and 

7.8. There are no service, maintenance, supply, management, or other contracts 
related to the operation of the Property by which Buyer or the Property will be bound after the 
Closing other than those contracts identified in the PTR. 

8. Buyer’s Representations and Warranties. Buyer represents and warrants to 
Seller that as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date: 

8.1. Buyer has the full power and authority to execute, deliver and perform 
Buyer’s obligations under this Agreement; 

8.2. This Agreement and all agreements, instruments and documents herein 
provided to be executed by Buyer, as the case may be, are and as of the Closing shall be duly 
authorized, executed and delivered by and are and shall be binding upon Buyer; and 

8.3. Buyer is not, nor will Buyer become, a person or entity with whom U.S. 
persons or entities are restricted from doing business under regulations of OFAC of the Department 
of the Treasury (including those named on OFAC’s Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked 

9 



 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 

 

 
   

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Persons List) or under any statute, executive order (including the September 24, 2001, Executive 
Order Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions with Persons Who Commit, Threaten to 
Commit, or Support Terrorism), or other governmental action and is not and will not engage in 
any dealings or transactions or be otherwise associated with such persons or entities. 

9. Inspection and Review; Access to the Property. 

9.1. Inspection of the Property. Buyer shall have until the expiration of the 
Inspection Period to make physical inspections of the Property; provided, however, Buyer shall 
notify Seller’s designated representative of its inspection activities and a representative of Seller 
shall have the right (but not obligation) to be present at any such inspections. If Buyer determines, 
in its sole discretion, that the Property is not suitable for Buyer’s intended use, Buyer may, subject 
to the terms hereof, terminate this Agreement by delivering written notice of its intent to terminate 
this Agreement to Seller before the expiration of the Inspection Period, in which case the Deposit 
shall promptly be returned to Buyer, this Agreement shall terminate and the parties shall have no 
further rights or obligations hereunder, except those that are expressly stated to survive the 
Closing. In the event that Buyer fails to deliver such termination notice before the expiration of 
the Inspection Period, Buyer will be deemed to have elected to move forward with the transaction. 
In the event that Buyer elects to terminate this Agreement for any reason, Buyer shall cause any 
reports, investigations, studies or other materials hired or prepared by or for Buyer relating to the 
Property (“Property Studies”) to be furnished to Seller promptly after such election. Access to the 
Property shall be subject to the following additional limitations and conditions: 

9.1.1. Buyer (or its agent as the case may be) shall possess worker’s 
compensation insurance reasonably in accordance with applicable law, and Buyer’s agent(s) shall 
possess commercial general liability or other appropriate insurance in an amount not less than 
$1,000,000 per occurrence; 

9.1.2. Buyer shall, at its own expense, promptly repair any damage caused 
by its investigation of the Property; 

9.1.3. To the extent limited in accordance with NRS 41.0305 to NRS 
41.039, inclusive, and only to such extent, Buyer shall protect, indemnify, defend and hold the 
Seller and Seller’s commissioners, officers, employees, and agents free and harmless from and 
against any and all claims, damages, liens, stop notices, liabilities, losses, costs and expenses, 
including reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs, directly arising from Buyer’s inspection and 
testing of the Property.  Buyer will assert the defense of sovereign immunity as appropriate in all 
cases, including indemnity actions. Buyer’s indemnity obligation for actions sounding in tort is 
limited in accordance with the provisions of NRS 41.035 or other applicable provisions or 
limitations; 

9.1.4. Buyer shall be responsible for the costs of repairing any and all 
damages to any portion of the Property arising from Buyer’s conducting such due diligence, 
inspections, surveys, tests, and studies. Buyer shall keep the Property free and clear of any 
mechanics’ liens or materialmen’s liens related to Buyers’ right of inspection and the activities 
contemplated by Section 9.1 of this Agreement; 

10 



 

 

 
 

 
 

  

 

 

 
 

 
  

 

   

 
     

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

9.1.5. Without Seller’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, Buyer shall not drill any test wells or engage in 
any other invasive testing or sampling of the Property; and 

9.2. Buyer acknowledges that prior to the Closing: (i) Buyer has or will have 
conducted such surveys and inspections, and made such tests and other studies of the Property to the 
extent Buyer deems necessary or advisable, and (ii) Seller has or will have provided Buyer with 
adequate opportunity to make such inspections and investigations concerning the Property, to the 
extent Buyer has, in Buyer’s discretion, deemed necessary or advisable as a condition precedent 
to Buyer’s purchase of the Property and to determine the physical, environmental, land use and 
other characteristics of the Property (including, without limitation, its subsurface) and its suitability 
for Buyer’s intended use. 

10. Default. 

10.1. BUYER DEFAULT. NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE 
CONTRARY CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT, IF BUYER HAS NOT TERMINATED 
THIS AGREEMENT IN WRITING PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION OF THE INSPECTION 
PERIOD AND IF THE SALE OF THE PROPERTY TO BUYER IS NOT CONSUMMATED AS 
AND WHEN CONTEMPLATED HEREIN (TIME BEING OF THE ESSENCE) FOR ANY 
REASON OTHER THAN (A) SELLER’S DEFAULT UNDER THIS AGREEMENT WHICH IS 
NOT PROMPTLY CURED AS PROVIDED IN SECTION 10.2 BELOW, OR (B) A 
TERMINATION PURSUANT TO AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANY SECTIONS 
HEREOF, OR (C) A FAILURE OF ANY CONTINGENCY OR CONDITION (OTHER THAN A 
FAILURE TO PERFORM BY SELLER, WHICH SHALL BE SUBJECT TO NOTICE AND 
CURE RIGHTS AS SET FORTH IN SECTION 10.2 BELOW) THEN FOLLOWING WRITTEN 
NOTICE TO BUYER AND THE EXPIRATION OF A TEN (10) CALENDAR DAY CURE 
PERIOD, SELLER SHALL HAVE NO FURTHER OBLIGATIONS OR LIABILITIES TO 
BUYER UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR OTHERWISE (EXCEPT AS TO THOSE THAT 
EXPRESSLY SURVIVE TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT) AND SELLER SHALL BE 
ENTITLED, AS ITS SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY, TO RETAIN THE DEPOSIT 
(INCLUDING ANY INTEREST THEREON) AS SELLER’S LIQUIDATED DAMAGES. THE 
PARTIES AGREE THAT IT WOULD BE IMPRACTICABLE AND EXTREMELY 
DIFFICULT TO ASCERTAIN THE ACTUAL DAMAGES SUFFERED BY SELLER AS A 
RESULT OF BUYER’S FAILURE TO COMPLETE THE PURCHASE OF THE PROPERTY 
PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT, AND THAT UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES 
EXISTING AS OF THE DATE OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
PROVIDED FOR IN THIS SECTION REPRESENTS A REASONABLE ESTIMATE OF THE 
DAMAGES WHICH SELLER WILL INCUR AS A RESULT OF SUCH FAILURE. THE 
PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THE PAYMENT OF SUCH LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
IS NOT INTENDED AS A FORFEITURE OR PENALTY, BUT IS INTENDED TO 
CONSTITUTE LIQUIDATED DAMAGES TO SELLER. 

11 



 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
  

  
 

 
  

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 

 

THE PARTIES HAVE SET FORTH THEIR INITIALS BELOW TO INDICATE THEIR 
AGREEMENT WITH THE LIQUIDATED DAMAGES PROVISION CONTAINED IN THIS 
SECTION. 

SELLER’S INITIALS BUYER’S INITIALS 

10.2. Seller Default. In the event Seller breaches or defaults with respect to any 
provision of this Agreement, including but not limited to the failure of any of Seller's 
representations and warranties to be accurate (for the purposes of this Section 10.2, collectively, a 
“breach”), then Buyer shall be entitled to deliver to Seller written notice of such breach, which 
notice shall set forth information about the nature of the breach. Seller shall have a period of ten 
(10) calendar days to cure such breach. If such breach remains uncured beyond the cure period 
described above, then Buyer may elect to terminate this Agreement by written notice to Seller and 
Escrow Agent, in which event an amount equal to the Deposit shall be refunded to Buyer as 
Buyer’s sole remedy. 

10.3. No Contesting Liquidated Damages. As material consideration to each 
Party’s agreement to the liquidated damages provisions stated above, each Party hereby agrees to 
and does hereby waive any and all rights whatsoever to contest the validity of the liquidated 
damage provisions for any reason whatsoever, including, but not limited to, that such provision 
was unreasonable under the circumstances existing at the time this Agreement was made.     

11. Property “AS IS”. BUYER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT, 
EXCEPT AS SPECIFICALLY PROVIDED IN SECTION 7, THE PROPERTY IS BEING SOLD 
“AS IS”, “WHERE IS” AND “WITH ALL FAULTS” AS OF CLOSING, WITHOUT ANY 
REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY WHATSOEVER AS TO ITS CONDITION, FITNESS 
FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE, MERCHANTABILITY OR ANY OTHER 
WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED. SELLER SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ANY 
WARRANTY, GUARANTY OR REPRESENTATION, ORAL OR WRITTEN, PAST OR 
PRESENT, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, CONCERNING THE PROPERTY, EXCEPT AS 
SPECIFICALLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT. BUYER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT 
BUYER IS PURCHASING THE PROPERTY BASED SOLELY UPON BUYER’S OWN 
INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATIONS AND FINDINGS AND NOT IN RELIANCE UPON ANY 
INFORMATION PROVIDED BY SELLER OR SELLER’S AGENTS OR CONTRACTORS, 
UNLESS SPECIFICALLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT. 

12. Additional Covenants and Agreements. 

12.1. Operating Covenants. From the Effective Date through the Closing Date, 
Seller shall cause the Property to be operated and maintained in a manner consistent with current 
practice and shall maintain such insurance policies with respect to the Property as would a 
reasonably prudent property owner. 

12 



 

 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 
   

  

 
  

 

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
  

 

12.2. Termination of Insurance. The policies of insurance currently in effect 
with respect to the Property (with such modifications as Seller deems appropriate) shall be 
terminated at or after the Closing, at Seller’s option in its sole and absolute discretion. 

13. Notices. All notices, demands, approvals, and other communications provided for 
in this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be effective upon the earliest of the following to 
occur when delivered to the recipient whether by (a) a nationally recognized overnight-guaranteed 
delivery service; or (b) United States mail. If the date on which any notice to be given hereunder 
falls on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, then such date shall automatically be extended to the 
next business day immediately following such Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday. The following 
addresses may be changed by written notice given in accordance with this Section: 

If to Seller: Regional Transportation Commission 
Attn: Bill Thomas 
1105 Terminal Way, Suite 211 
Reno, Nevada 89502 

If to Buyer: City of Reno 
Attn: Jackie Bryant 
1 East Second Street 
Reno City Hall 
Reno, NV 895201 

          If to Escrow Holder: Ticor Title of Nevada, Inc. 
Attn: Luann Barnes 
5441 Kietzke Lane, Suite 100 
Reno Nevada 89511 

14. Amendment; Complete Agreement. All amendments and supplements to this 
Agreement must be in writing and executed by Buyer and Seller. This Agreement, including the 
exhibits, attachments, documents and agreements to be delivered pursuant hereto, contains the 
entire agreement and understanding between Buyer and Seller concerning the subject matter of 
this Agreement and supersedes all prior agreements, terms, understandings, conditions, 
representations and warranties, whether written or oral, made by Buyer or Seller concerning the 
Property or the other matters which are the subject of this Agreement, including, without 
limitation, matters contained in any offering circular or marketing materials relating to the 
Property. 

15. Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in 
accordance with the internal laws of the State of Nevada without regard to rules concerning 
conflicts of law. The exclusive venue for any action to enforce or interpret this Agreement shall 
be the Second Judicial District, Washoe County, Nevada. 

16. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any 
Person or circumstance shall to any extent be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this 
Agreement (including the application of such provision to Persons or circumstances other than 

13 



 

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

those with respect to which it is held invalid or unenforceable) shall not be affected thereby, and 
each provision of this Agreement shall be valid and enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law. 
Without limiting the foregoing, to the extent any provision of this Agreement is prohibited by 
Nevada law, or is otherwise not authorized by Nevada law due to Buyer’s or Seller’s status as an 
instrumentality of the State of Nevada, such provision is unenforceable against such Party. 

17. Counterparts; Electronic Delivery. This Agreement may be executed in 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one 
agreement. Facsimile, DocuSign or other electronic copies of this Agreement and facsimile, 
DocuSign and other electronic signatures thereon shall have the same force, effect, and legal status 
of originals. 

18. Headings. The headings to sections of this Agreement are for convenient reference 
only and shall not be used in interpreting this Agreement. 

19. Time of Essence. Time is of the essence of this Agreement. 

20. Waiver. Except as expressly stated that a failure to act shall constitute to a waiver, 
no waiver by Buyer or Seller of any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement or any of their 
respective rights under this Agreement shall be effective unless such waiver is in writing and 
signed by the Party charged with the waiver. 

21. Third Parties. This Agreement is entered into for the sole benefit of Buyer and 
Seller and their respective permitted successors and assigns. No party other than Buyer and Seller 
and such permitted successors and assigns shall have any right of action under or rights or remedies 
by reason of this Agreement. 

22. Additional Documents; Further Assurances. Each Party agrees to perform any 
further acts and to execute and deliver such further documents which may be reasonably necessary 
to carry out the terms of this Agreement. 

23. Independent Counsel. Buyer and Seller each acknowledge that: (i) they have been 
represented by independent counsel in connection with this Agreement; (ii) they have executed 
this Agreement with the advice of such counsel; and (iii) this Agreement is the result of 
negotiations between the Parties hereto and the advice and assistance of their respective counsel. 
The Parties further acknowledge and agree that the normal rule of construction to the effect that 
any ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not be employed in the 
interpretation of this Agreement or any amendments or Exhibits hereto. 

24. Assignment. Buyer shall neither assign its rights nor delegate its obligations 
hereunder without obtaining Seller’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  Any purported or attempted assignment or 
delegation made in violation of this Section shall be void and of no effect. 

14 



 

 

  

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

25. Reservation. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to waive or 
limit either Party’s defense of sovereign immunity, which defense is hereby expressly reserved, 
nor to waive or limit the protections afforded to either Party under NRS 41.0305 to 41.039. 

26. Successors and Assigns. Subject to the restrictions on transfer set forth herein, this 
Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefits of the heirs, successors and assigns of 
the Parties hereto. 

27. Exhibits. Each reference to a Section, Exhibit or Schedule in this Agreement shall 
mean the sections of this Agreement and the exhibits and schedules attached to this Agreement, 
unless the context requires otherwise. Each such exhibit and schedule is incorporated herein by 
this reference. 

28. Business Days. If the date on which any act or event hereunder is to occur falls on 
a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, then such date shall automatically be extended to the next 
business day immediately following such Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday. 

29. Force Majeure. Except as provided elsewhere herein, if an Event of Force Majeure 
or Covid-19 Event of Force Majeure (as hereinafter defined) makes performance of an obligation 
or cure of a breach or default impossible, such performance or cure is excused for the duration of 
the event of force majeure provided that the obligated Party (i) within ten (10) business days after 
the commencement of the force majeure notifies the other Party of the nature of the event of force 
majeure, when it commenced, why it makes performance or cure impossible, and the expected 
duration (if known), and (ii) agrees to and does in fact diligently pursue remediation of the effects 
of the force majeure, and (iii) agrees to notify the other Party immediately when it becomes 
possible to commence efforts to cure the default. “Event of Force Majeure” means strikes, 
lockouts, war, civil unrest, rioting, government restrictions or moratoria, inclement weather, 
unavailability of labor or material despite reasonable diligence, material interruption of utility 
services, disease event, acts of God, terrorism or other similar events, provided that the same are (a) 
not reasonably foreseeable at the time of the execution of this Agreement (other than a COVID-
19 Event of Force Majeure, which Buyer and Seller acknowledge and agree is an Event of Force 
Majeure for purposes of this Agreement); and (b) beyond the reasonable control of Buyer or Seller, 
and not caused by the negligent or other intentional act or omission of Buyer or Seller. “COVID- 
19 Event of Force Majeure” means an Event of Force Majeure caused by the COVID- 19 pandemic 
in existence as of the Effective Date, and any subsequent Events of Force Majeure caused by or 
resulting from such COVID-19 pandemic, including measures taken by any governmental 
authority having jurisdiction that limits or prohibits the transactions contemplated under this 
Agreement. 

30. No Back-Up Offers. From and after the Effective Date until the earlier to occur of 
the Closing or termination of this Agreement, Seller shall deal exclusively and in good faith with 
Buyer and neither Seller nor any of its representatives, brokers, agents, affiliates and employees 
shall directly or indirectly make, accept, negotiate, entertain or otherwise pursue any back-up 
offers to sell the Property or engage in any other financing or other capital transaction regarding 
the Property. 

15 



 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date 
first above written. 

SELLER: 

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe 
County, Nevada 

By: 
Bill Thomas, AICP 
Executive Director 

Date: 

[SIGNATURE PAGES CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE] 

16 



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

BUYER: 

City of Reno 

Approved: 

By: 
          Hillary L. Shieve, Mayor 

Date: 

Approved as to form: 

By: 
          Jasmine Mehta, Deputy City Attorney 

[SIGNATURE PAGES CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE] 

17 



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  

By its execution below, Escrow Holder acknowledges receipt of the Deposit described in 
this Agreement, and agrees to hold and deliver the same and perform its other duties pursuant to 
the provisions of this Agreement. 

ACCEPTANCE BY ESCROW HOLDER: 

TICOR TITLE OF NEVADA, INC. 

By: 

Name: 

Its:  

Date: 

18 



 

 

 

  

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS 

19 















 

 

 

  

EXHIBIT B 

MAPS 

20 



PLAT TO ACCOMPANY

SHEET 1 OF 1
JOB NO.  8312048

RENO               WASHOE COUNTY               NEVADA

RTC TRANSFER PARCEL (APN 004-061-20)

TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 19 EAST, M.D.M.
BEING A PORTION OF THE NE 1/4 OF SECTION 36



PLAT TO ACCOMPANY

SHEET 1 OF 1
JOB NO.  8312048

RENO               WASHOE COUNTY               NEVADA

RTC TRANSFER PARCEL (APN 004-061-22)

TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 19 EAST, M.D.M.
BEING A PORTION OF THE NE 1/4 OF SECTION 36



PLAT TO ACCOMPANY

SHEET 1 OF 1
JOB NO.  8312048

RENO               WASHOE COUNTY               NEVADA

RTC TRANSFER PARCEL (APN 004-061-26)

TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 19 EAST, M.D.M.
BEING A PORTION OF THE NE 1/4 OF SECTION 36



PLAT TO ACCOMPANY

SHEET 1 OF 1
JOB NO.  8312048

RENO               WASHOE COUNTY               NEVADA

RTC TRANSFER PARCEL (APN 035-033-02)

TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 20 EAST, M.D.M.
BEING A PORTION OF THE NW 1/4 OF SECTION 31







S
R

E
T

T
6

WASHOE CO. 
35 36 1284.30 CITY OF RENO 587.57 355.17 128.44 

4

28
4.6

5 53.6 30 3 7.72 

C

12
3.7

4 
13

2.8
8 

HABLIS  DR 170.50 

19
73

.89
 

19
73

.84
 

U.  S.  

CA
BE

RN
ET

  P
KW

Y HWY.  395 

GA
MA

Y L
N 

CH
AB

LIS
 DR

 

Y AW MUSCAT 

CLE
AR

AC
RE

   L
AN

E   IT

19
73

.25
 

NA CT IHC

BO
OK

 03
 

CLA
RE

T C
T 

629.63 

26
4.0

0

29
.79

 

316.15 

40
.82

 

0 

86
.05

 0.09433.17 47
0.0

4 

C H
AR

DO
NN

AY
 ST

 

152.03 

126.19 
68.39 

35
0.0

0 149.41 

85.53 

44
.79

 

47.12 SELMI   DRIVE 

30
7.3

4 73 648.43 184.46 332.46 545.34 103.09 

15
2.4

2 . Y   N
P K W

15
8.9

4 

31
.44

 

266.80 

8 180.30 176.60 3S

Es
mt

. ELMI DR 

51
7.7

6 4 8.58

S  
CH

AR
DO

NN
AY

 ST
 

CO
LO

MB
AR

D W
AY

 

SE
MIL

LIO
N D

R 

Ro
ad

-W
ay

 
65

7.8
3 

65
7.9

0 
65

7.9
2 30.00 

CA
BE

RN
ET

 

180 220.00 

14
0.0

0 ' 

14
0.0

0 

10
0

19 

REISLING LOOP .35

80
.00

 327.18 2
220.00 80

.00
 

368.17 

B O U L E V A R D 

66
9.5

2 

C A R R A N 9 8.145

M c

3 H 3.6 T22 RON

Assessor's Map Number
POR. W 1/2 SEC. 36 004-08

T20N - R19EBOOK 35 BOOK 35 STATE OF NEVADA
WASHOE COUNTY

ASSESSOR'S OFFICE
26 25
Ê Ê 25 30Ê

Joshua G. Wilson, Assessor 
PAR.1
PM 1412 

PAR.B
PM 1283 

1001 East Ninth Street 

25 
004-082-17 36

50,550 sf 082

U
O

S
R

ET
16

.78

36 Ê 31 

Building D
Reno, Nevada 89512

(775) 328-2231

004-06 

Ê 

081 
004-06 

004-081-50
54.296 ac. 

004-06 Feet 

0 80 160 240 320 400 

1 inch = 400 feet 

PAR.A
PM 1283 

PAR. A Sparks
004-081-55

63.724 ac. 
P.M. 4787
004-081-58

12925 sf 

Reno

004-07004-081-60
11.32 ac.004-081-59

4.701 ac. 
PAR. B
P.M. 4787 

345.92ANNEX. TM 3641 
LOT 3
R/S 4288 035-01PAR.1

PM 1401
ANNEX. TM 3641 004-07 

035-67

004-42 
035-38035-0312.71

004-081-57
7.54 ac. 004-081-48

5.103 ac. 
004-06

59.26 004-08 004-07 

LOT 1R/S 4288
48398 sf 

E 1/4 COR. 004-14004-39 
103.09 

003-46 004-29
296.92Ê 003-36 004-13 004-09 004-32

Ê 004-19 004-33 

Å
004-081-56

004-14 
CENTER
SEC. 36 

004-39 004-14 created by CFB 07/17 2009: __________________________/
CFB 01/09/2013last updated: _________________________

area previously shown on map(s)
____________________________________ 

NOTE: This map was prepared for the use of the
Washoe County Assessor for assessment and
illustrative purposes only. It does not represent 
a survey of the premises. No liability is assumed 
as to the sufficiency or accuracy of the data
delineated hereon. 



A
tt

ac
hm

en
t B

 





 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

EXHIBIT C 

QUITCLAIM DEED 

21 



  

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

APNs: 004-082-18, 004-061-29, 004-061-20, 
004-061-26, 004-061-22, 035-033-02 

WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO: 
[City of Reno 
Attn: 
Address:] 

MAIL TAX STATEMENTS TO: 
Exempt 

QUITCLAIM DEED 

THIS DEED, made this ________ day of__________________________, 2024, between the 
REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION OF WASHOE COUNTY, hereinafter called 
GRANTOR, and the CITY OF RENO, hereinafter called GRANTEE, 

WITNESSETH: 

That the GRANTOR, for and in consideration of the sum of ONE DOLLAR ($1.00), lawful money 
of the United States of America and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt whereof is 
hereby acknowledged, does hereby remise, release and forever quitclaim unto the GRANTEE and 
to its assigns forever, all of GRANTOR'S right, title and interest in and to that certain real property, 
said real property, as more particularly described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto and made a part 
hereof. 

TOGETHER with all and singular the tenements, hereditaments and appurtenances thereunto 
belonging, or in anywise appertaining. 

SUBJECT TO any and all utility easements whether of record or not. 



  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

___________________________________________ 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said GRANTOR, by and through its officers thereunto duly 
authorized, has caused these presents to be executed the day and year first above written. 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF WASHOE COUNTY 

By: ____________________________________ 
Ed Lawson, Chair 

STATE OF NEVADA 
COUNTY OF WASHOE 

The above-instrument was acknowledged before me this ___________ day of 

______________, 2024, by Ed Lawson as Chair of the Regional Transportation Commission of 

Washoe County. 

Notary Public 

[Exhibits to be attached] 



  

 

  
  

  

 

  

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 6.1.

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Graham Dollarhide, Planning Manager

  SUBJECT: Draft Regional Freight Plan 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Receive a presentation from staff regarding the draft Regional Freight Plan. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

The purpose of the Regional Freight Plan is to provide a detailed understanding of the freight network and 
goods movement patterns in the Reno-Sparks area and to develop a corresponding needs assessment and 
prioritization process. The Plan will build upon the Nevada Statewide Freight Plan completed by the 
Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT) in 2022. 

The Plan includes an existing conditions analysis that identifies key elements of Northern Nevada’s freight 
transportation system and how they relate to one another and to the economy. The existing conditions data, 
coupled with stakeholder input, provide the foundation for development of policy and improvement 
recommendations through a strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats (SWOT) analysis. The result 
is a prioritization of freight corridors and investments that will build upon the critical urban freight 
corridors identified in the Nevada State Freight Plan to validate and expand corridors of significance. The 
Plan’s final recommendations include strategies for implementing these projects, which ultimately move 
towards meeting the goals of the Plan. 

Staff will provide a presentation on the plan, which is being proposed for adoption at the September RTC 
Board meeting. 

The item supports the FY2025 RTC Goal, "Complete: Regional Freight Plan." 



   

Draft Regional Freight Plan 
Page 2 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funding for the Regional Freight Plan was included in the FY 2022 – FY 2023 Unified Planning Work 
Program (UPWP) and carried forward to the current UPWP. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

04/21/2023 Approved the FY 2024-2025 UPWP. 
08/18/2023 Approved the Professional Services Agreement (PSA) for the Regional Freight Plan. 

































































































































  

 

   
  

 

 

 
  

 
  

  
     

    
    

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 6.2.

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Xuan Wang, PHD, PE, PTP, RSP2, Planning Manager

  SUBJECT: 2050 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) Update 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Receive a presentation from staff regarding the 2050 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) update. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

The RTP is the RTC’s long-range transportation plan as required under Title 23, Part 450 of the Code of 
Federal Regulations (CFR). It contains major transportation projects and programs for Washoe County 
for all modes of travel. It functions as the major tool for implementing long-range transportation planning.  
The RTP captures the community’s vision of the transportation system and identifies the projects, 
programs, and services necessary to achieve the vision that RTC, member entities, and NDOT will 
implement. 

The RTC initiated the development of the 2050 Regional Transportation Plan Update in the Fall of 2023.  
The purpose of the process is to identify the long-term guiding principles and goals for the regional 
transportation system and to identify the projects, programs, and services that will be implemented through 
2050. This plan will be based on a robust community engagement process and conducted in collaboration 
with partner agencies. The plan will address the safety, mobility, connectivity, and traffic operations issues 
that are resulting from strong population and employment growth in the region. Federal regulations require 
that the long-range planning document be updated every four years. The current RTP approval extends 
through March 2025. The schedule for the RTP update process allows for federal review and approval of 
the plan by March 2025. It is anticipated that the draft plan will be available for public and agency review 
in January 2025 with Board action by March 2025. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 



2050 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) Update 
Page 2 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

03/22/2024 Board Retreat: RTP process & community input. 
12/15/2023 Receive an update on the 2050 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) Update. 
03/19/2021 Adopted a resolution approving the 2050 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP). 



  

 

 
  

    

 
  

 
 

 

  

 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                          Agenda Item: 6.3.

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Marquis Williams, Senior Technical Planner

  SUBJECT: Draft Active Transportation Plan 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Receive a presentation from staff regarding the draft Active Transportation Plan. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

The Active Transportation Plan (ATP) will identify policies, programs and infrastructure options to support 
active modes as a viable transportation choice, especially for shorter trips. The Plan is to serve as the RTC’s 
strategy for improving non-vehicular mobility throughout urban Washoe County, and provide an overview 
of best practices, recommended policies, key partnerships, and outreach and educational activities to 
promote walking and rolling in the region. This plan will inform the Regional Transportation Plan and 
leverage future funding opportunities. 

The Plan calls for the development of neighborhood network plans (NNPs) which will allow for more 
targeted outreach with information relevant to community members. The NNPs will also recommend 
active transportation improvements that lead to a connected neighborhood instead of focusing on one 
individual corridor. As such, the ATP will provide the framework for these NNPs and lay the groundwork 
for an Active Transportation Program. With a dedicated program manager and funding, RTC plans to 
streamline the implementation process leading to more miles of high-quality, well-connected active 
transportation facilities on the road faster. 

Staff will provide a presentation on the plan, which is being proposed for adoption at the September RTC 
Board meeting. 

This item supports Strategic Roadmap Goal #2, "Promote neighborhood mobility" and FY2025 RTC Goal, 
"Establish the Active Transportation Plan program, including tracking of performance measures and 
collaboration with local jurisdictions’ applicable programs." 



  

Draft Active Transportation Plan 
Page 2 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funding for the Active Transportation Plan was included in the FY 2022 – FY 2023 Unified Planning 
Work Program (UPWP) and carried forward to the current UPWP. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

01/20/2023 Approved Professional Service Agreement with Alta Planning + Design, Inc. for 
development of the ATP. 

09/16/2022 Authorized the Request for Proposals for the ATP. 
02/18/2022 Approved Amendment 1 to the FY 2022-2023 UPWP. 
04/16/2021 Approved the FY 2022-2023 UPWP. 



















































































































































































































































































































































































  

 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 7.1.

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Bill Thomas, Executive Director

  SUBJECT: Executive Director Report 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Monthly verbal update/messages from RTC Executive Director Bill Thomas - no action taken. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 



  

 

 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 7.2.

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Paul Nelson, Government Affairs Officer

  SUBJECT: Federal Report Discussion 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Monthly verbal update/messages from Paul Nelson, RTC Government Affairs Officer on federal matters 
related to the RTC - no action will be taken. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



  

 

Meeting Date: 8/16/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 7.3.

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Tracy Larkin Thomason, NDOT Director

  SUBJECT: NDOT Report 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Monthly verbal update/messages from NDOT Director Tracy Larkin Thomason or designated NDOT 
Deputy Director - no action will be taken. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 


	Draft Meeting Minutes for 07/19/2024
	Procurement Activity Report
	Planning Activity Report
	Advisory Committee Report
	Engineering Activity Report
	Public Transportation and Operations Monthly Report
	Community and Media Outreach Activities July 2024
	South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development Plan
	ITS Program Support Master Services Agreement
	Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction ("Orange Book") Update PSA
	Sparks Boulevard / Ion Drive Traffic Signal Project PSA
	Administrative Settlement - Robert F. and Evelyn J. Gunn Living Trust
	Carahsoft Technology Corporation, Swiftly Software Subscription
	Purchase of Ten (10) Hybrid Diesel-Electric Buses, Transit Buses Master Contract No. 06719-0110
	Construction/Maintenance Quarterly Update on Transit Stops
	Employee Health Insurance Memorandum of Understanding
	Asset Donation Log Q4-23 through the Q2-24
	Quarterly RTC Agency Goals and Strategic Roadmap Report
	Public Hearing and Resolution Approving the Sale of Property to City of Reno
	Draft Regional Freight Plan
	2050 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) Update
	Draft Active Transportation Plan
	Executive Director Report
	Federal Report Discussion
	NDOT Report

	Date-Affidavit NC: 
	Affidavit Non-Collusion Name of Authorized Signatory: 
	Debarment Cert - Date: 
	Debarment - Printed Name of Signatory: 
	Debarment - Name of Signatory: 
	Title of Contractors Authorized Official: 
	Lobbying Cert - Date: 
	Name of Contractors Authorized Official: 


